Felix J. Kim Gavril W. Pasternak *Editors*

Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors



Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology

Volume 244

Editor-in-Chief J.E. Barrett, Philadelphia

Editorial Board

V. Flockerzi, Homburg M.A. Frohman, Stony Brook, NY P. Geppetti, Florence F.B. Hofmann, München M.C. Michel, Mainz C.P. Page, London W. Rosenthal, Jena K. Wang, Beijing More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/164

Felix J. Kim • Gavril W. Pasternak Editors

Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors



Editors Felix J. Kim Pharmacology & Physiology Drexel University College of Medicine Philadelphia, PA USA

Gavril W. Pasternak Molecular Pharmacology and Chemistry Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center New York, NY USA

ISSN 0171-2004 ISSN 1865-0325 (electronic) Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology ISBN 978-3-319-65851-3 ISBN 978-3-319-65853-7 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-65853-7

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017955085

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Pharmacology has evolved dramatically over the past several decades. Classical approaches were typically observational, using a range of bioassays and behavioral methods. While those approaches are still useful, today the field has moved into the molecular era as the molecular biology revolution and structural biology has shown us targets at the atomic level. The sigma receptors illustrate this evolution.

Sigma receptors were first described by Martin in 1976, based upon the unique constellation of actions of the benzomorphan SKF10,047 in the dog. Initially Martin classified them as opioid receptors based upon their reversal by the antagonist naloxone. Although not specified, Martin was likely using racemic (±) SKF10,047. This is important since only the (-)isomer has affinity for opioid receptors and was probably responsible for the naloxone reversibility he observed. With the resolution of the isomers, investigators redefined the sigma₁ receptor with the (+)isomer as a non-opioid receptor with a wide range of activities. A vast repertoire of agonists and antagonists were developed and sigma₁ binding sites were extensively described. However, in many respects sigma receptors remained an enigma. The cloning of the sigmal receptor subtype (Sigmal) in 1996 was a major step forward in our understanding of the protein, culminating with the recent report of its crystal structure. Antisense knockdown approaches revealed effects similar to those of antagonists, confirming the selectivity of many of their actions and supporting their classification. Yet, many questions remain. While the protein has functionally active binding sites, its classification as a "receptor" is in question, since it is structurally unrelated to any of the established receptor families and has no intrinsic transduction mechanism. Rather, its physiological and pharmacological activities appear to result from its modulation of other proteins.

Sigmal has been associated with a vast range of physiological effects and pathological processes, making it is difficult to provide an integrated assessment of Sigmal action. There is strong evidence for its chaperone role in the endoplasmic reticulum, but equally strong evidence illustrating its modulatory role on receptors and channels, as well as a host of intracellular processes. It physically associates with G-protein-coupled receptors, ion channels, and a large range of other proteins, raising the possibility that it functions as a structural protein, possibly a scaffolding protein. Yet, it is not inert since occupancy of specific recognition sites within the protein has profound effects on a number of systems. Integrating the wide range of activities has been difficult. Despite the marked advances in the field, we are left with many important questions to resolve.

This volume presents a timely summary of key perspectives on Sigma1 structure and function in a set of physiological and pathophysiological contexts. However, it remains a work in progress. It will be most interesting to see where the field moves in the next decade.

We thank Dr. James Barrett, Editor in Chief of the *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, for contacting us to prepare this volume. We thank Susanne Dathe, Balamurugan Elumalai and Gayathri Silembarasan of Springer Press for overseeing the production and publication of this volume. Finally, we thank all of the Sigma researchers who have persevered over the decades and have collectively contributed to a renaissance of this field.

Philadelphia, PA, USA New York, NY, USA Felix J. Kim Gavril W. Pasternak

Contents

Introduction to Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Recentors	1
Felix J. Kim	
Structural Insights into Sigmal Function	13
3D Homology Model of Sigma1 Receptor	27
Medicinal Chemistry of σ_1 Receptor Ligands: Pharmacophore Models, Synthesis, Structure Affinity Relationships, and Pharmacological	
Applications	51
Sigma-1 (σ_1) Receptor in Memory and Neurodegenerative Diseases Tangui Maurice and Nino Goguadze	81
Sigma-1 Receptor and Neuronal Excitability	109
Sigma-1 Receptor and Pain	131
Allosteric Modulation of Opioid G-Protein Coupled Receptors by Sigma ₁ Receptors	163
A Role for Sigma Receptors in Stimulant Self-Administration and Addiction	177
Sigma Receptors and Alcohol Use Disorders	219

Sigma1 Pharmacology in the Context of Cancer	237
Felix J. Kim and Christina M. Maher	
Molecular Probes for Imaging the Sigma-2 Receptor:	
In Vitro and In Vivo Imaging Studies	309
Chenbo Zeng, Elizabeth S. McDonald, and Robert H. Mach	

Introduction to Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors

Felix J. Kim

Contents

1	Historical Perspective	2
2	Objectives of this Volume	3
3	Insights into the Structure of Sigma1	4
4	Development of Sigma1 Medicinal Chemistry	5
5	Sigma1 Pharmacology in Neurodegeneration and Neuronal Excitability	5
6	Sigma1 as a Drug Target for Pain	6
7	Alcohol and Drug Abuse and Addiction	7
8	Sigma1 Pharmacology in the Context of Cancer	8
9	Sigma2 as a Target for Imaging Agents	8
10	Outlook	9
Ref	erences	10

Abstract

For over 40 years, scientists have endeavored to understand the so-called sigma receptors. During this time, the concept of sigma receptors has continuously and significantly evolved. With thousands of publications on the subject, these proteins have been implicated in various diseases, disorders, and physiological processes. Nevertheless, we are just beginning to understand what sigma proteins do and how they work. Two subtypes have been identified, Sigma1 and Sigma2. Whereas Sigma1 (also known as sigma-1 receptor, Sig1R, σ 1 receptor, and several other names) was cloned over 20 years ago, Sigma2 (sigma-2 receptor, σ 2 receptor) was cloned very recently and had remained a pharmacologically defined entity. In this volume, we will focus primarily on Sigma1. We will highlight

F.J. Kim (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_41

Department of Pharmacology and Physiology, Drexel University College of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: fjk33@drexel.edu

several key subject areas in which Sigma1 has been well characterized as well as (re)emerging areas of interest. Despite the large number of publications regarding Sigma1, several fundamental questions remain unanswered or only partially answered. Most of what we know about Sigma1 comes from pharmacological studies; however, a clearly defined molecular mechanism of action remains elusive. One concept has become clear; Sigma1 is not a traditional receptor. Sigma1 is now considered a unique pharmacologically regulated integral membrane chaperone or scaffolding protein. A number of landmark discoveries over the past decade have begun to reshape the concept of sigma receptors. With the rapid emergence of new information, development of new tools, and changing conceptual frameworks, the field is poised for a period of accelerated progress.

Keywords

Alcohol abuse • Allosteric modulation • Anchor patch • Cancer • Chaperone • Crystal structure • Drug addiction • Drug mechanism of action • Imaging agents • Medicinal chemistry • Neurodegeneration • Neuronal excitability • Nuclear magnetic resonance • Pain • Pharmacology • Puzzle • Scaffold • Selfadministration • Sigma1 • Sigma-1 receptor • Sigma2 • Sigma-2 receptor • Small molecule modulator • Three-dimensional homology model

1 Historical Perspective

The concept of sigma receptors has continually evolved for over four decades. While most in the field agree that they are important, there is little agreement on anything else. Even the nomenclature to describe the binding sites varies. In the literature, one will find: σ_1 receptor, $\sigma_1 R$, σ_2 receptor, sigma1 receptor, sigma2 receptor, sigma-1 receptor, sigma-2 receptor, sigma1 receptor, sigma2 receptor, Sig-1R, Sigma-R1, SigmaR1, Sigmar1, ALS16, AAG8, and Sigma1 (which is our preferred nomenclature for this subtype, to indicate that this unique protein is not a traditional receptor).

The story has undergone many twists and turns, and every decade since its original identification, major new developments and discoveries have attempted to redefine the field. Originally identified in 1976, Martin and colleagues proposed three distinct opioid receptor classes, mu, kappa, and sigma, based upon behavioral studies using morphine, ketocyclazocine, and the benzomorphan SKF10047. They noted that the opioid antagonist naltrexone antagonized them all, leading to the identification of sigma as an opioid receptor (Martin et al. 1976). In the original study, the SKF10047 stereoisomer used was not described; however, subsequent investigators used (+)-SKF10047 to define sigma binding sites and identified them as receptors that clearly were not opioid (Su 1982). Since then, a large number of chemically diverse compounds that have affinity for sigma receptors have been reported (reviewed in the chapter by Weber and Wunsch in this volume and more broadly reviewed, collectively in Cobos et al. 2008; Maurice and Su 2009; Narayanan et al. 2011). As more compounds with affinity for sigma binding sites became

available, the putative sigma receptors were subdivided into two categories: Sigma1 and Sigma2 based primarily on ligand binding studies (Hellewell and Bowen 1990).

The cloning of Sigma1 (Hanner et al. 1996) was a major milestone in the field. It revealed that Sigma1 was unlike any traditional receptor; indeed, it later became clear that Sigma1 shares no significant homology with any other protein encoded in the human genome. As the field advanced through the end of the twentieth and into the twenty-first century, although the label "receptor" continued (and continues) to be used, it became increasingly clear that Sigma1 does not fit the traditional definition of a receptor. In 2007, the notion that Sigma1 is not a receptor, but rather, a chaperone protein was introduced (Hayashi and Su 2007), and the notion that Sigma1 functions as an oligomeric structure was introduced in 2014 (Gromek et al. 2014). A three-dimensional (3-D) homology model was developed in 2011 (Laurini et al. 2011) and a solution phase structure was established by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) in 2015 (Ortega-Roldan et al. 2015). In 2016, the first crystal structure of Sigma1 was resolved (Schmidt et al. 2016). Very recently Alon and colleagues published the cloning of Sigma2 (Alon et al. 2017; Kim and Pasternak 2017). The crystal structure of Sigma2 is surely not far behind.

Functional studies in rodent models of behavior and in vitro cell based assays have implicated both subtypes of sigma receptor in a range of physiological and pathophysiological contexts: neurodegenerative diseases, neuronal plasticity, neuronal development, cognition, memory, learning, various types of pain, cancer, immune modulation, and many others. However, despite more than 4,000 publications on the subject over four decades, fundamental questions regarding what sigma proteins do in each context and how they work are unanswered or partially answered. This historical overview does not cover the hundreds of important discoveries and nuances of the twists and turns underlying the evolution of the field. A detailed and comprehensive history of sigma proteins would require multiple volumes from diverse perspectives. This volume will focus primarily on the literature regarding Sigma1 and will provide insights into the state of the field through a number of key examples.

2 Objectives of this Volume

So, what is the state of the field? The analogy of a puzzle comes to mind, and we see the more than 4,000 publications representing pieces of a complex jigsaw puzzle. Thus, our goal is to identify "anchor patches" of the Sigma1 puzzle, that is, key related findings that provide disproportionate insight into the structure and function of Sigma1 (concept of "anchor patches" reviewed in Cho et al. 2010). These include our current understanding of: Sigma1 structural biology; Sigma1 pharmacology; Sigma1 in neurodegeneration and neuronal plasticity; Sigma1 in cancer and its ligands in the context of cancer; Sigma protein radiotracers and imaging agents; Sigma1 in pain; Sigma1 ligands as non-opioid antinociceptive agents; and Sigma1 in drug abuse and addiction. This introduction to the volume *Sigma Proteins:* *Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors* provides a brief overview of the chapters that address some of the "anchor patches" to the sigma puzzle.

3 Insights into the Structure of Sigma1

For decades, sigma proteins have remained enigmatic binding sites, largely defined by the pharmacology of small molecule ligands. Recently, important advances have been made, which provide significant insight into our understanding of the structure and functionality of Sigma1. Perhaps the most exciting recent development has been the publication of the crystal structure of Sigma1 (Schmidt et al. 2016; Kruse 2016). The chapter by Kruse and colleagues entitled *Structural Insights into Sigmal* Function discusses their Sigma1 crystallographic studies and the technological innovations that enabled this landmark discovery. They propose that the crystal structure provides a framework to understand the published mutagenesis data and the diverse molecular pharmacology of Sigma1 ligands (Kruse 2016). The crystal structure shows a high resolution but static snapshot of Sigma1. With this information now available, it will be fascinating to investigate and elucidate the differential dynamic effects of Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors, agonists/activators, and membrane lipids/cholesterols on its conformation and subsequent modulation of Sigma1 associated proteins. The development of nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) approaches and in silico tools to analyze the structural biology and pharmacology of Sigma1 represents another major advance in the field. The 3-D homology model of Sigmal receptor chapter by Pricl and colleagues proposes a three-dimensional (3-D) model of Sigma1 generated from homology modeling techniques, and proposes how this approach can be applied as a docking model-based virtual drug screen for rational ligand design (Laurini et al. 2017).

Interestingly, the crystal structure and 3-D homology models do not match. For example, whereas previous biochemical studies proposed a two-transmembrane domain topology, the crystal structure shows a single transmembrane domain protein with a short ER-lumenal peptide and one relatively large cytoplasmic domain containing a cupin-like ligand-binding barrel (Schmidt et al. 2016; Kruse 2016). According to Pricl, this discrepancy raises a critical question: which is the true structure of Sigma1, the NMR solution-solved and in silico derived 3-D homology model or the X-ray-solved crystal structure? How can the differences between the two structures be explained? Pricl and colleagues propose that the Sigma1 protein may adopt different structures under solid (revealed by the crystal structure) and solution (revealed by the in silico and NMR models) states. Ultimately, Pricl and colleagues argue that the field still has a long way to go before it is able to provide an unequivocal answer to these questions. Resolution of these discrepancies and advances in our understanding of Sigma1 structure will position the field for new discoveries as well as re-evaluation of older data and models.

4 Development of Sigma1 Medicinal Chemistry

Perhaps one of the most daunting tasks in producing this volume was to provide clarity and coherence to the vast, diverse, and complex field of Sigma1 medicinal chemistry. Weber and Wunsch accept this challenge in their chapter entitled Medicinal Chemistry of Sigmal (σ_1) Receptor Ligands: Pharmacophore Models, Synthesis, Structure Affinity Relationships, and Pharmacological Approaches (Weber and Wunsch 2017). This chapter comprises two principal parts: (1) review of the various pharmacophore models for Sigma1 ligands and the role of the 3-D homology model and the crystal structure in future development; (2) the synthesis and biological properties of nine prototypic Sigma1 ligands. In addition to experimentally determined ligand binding affinity and molecular dynamics simulations based on a 3-D homology model, the authors present the following published data as readouts of biological properties; cancer cell growth and survival inhibition and apoptosis, neurite outgrowth in vitro, and data from pain behavioral assays. The authors also review the discovery and development of Sigma1 ligands as radiotracers for positron emission tomography (PET) and imaging agents, including an agent that is in clinical trials for central nervous system (CNS) imaging of patients suffering from major depression.

During the past decade, considerable progress has been made, and Weber and Wunsch present an encouraging outlook for the evolution of Sigma1 medicinal chemistry in light of recent structural discoveries as well as the advancement of a Sigma1 ligand, S1RA, through clinical trials for neuropathic pain (also discussed in the chapters by Vela and colleagues (Merlos et al. 2017)).

5 Sigma1 Pharmacology in Neurodegeneration and Neuronal Excitability

The vast majority of the Sigmal literature addresses aspects of neuropharmacology. In their chapter *Sigmal* (σ_1) *Receptor in Memory and Neurodegenerative Diseases*, Maurice and Goguadze review and discuss pharmacologic and genetic evidence of Sigmal involvement in learning and memory disorders, cognitive impairment, and neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, multiple sclerosis, and Huntington's disease (Maurice and Goguadze 2017). They review a number of recent publications that highlight the efficacy of drugs with affinity for Sigmal in mitigating symptoms associated with neurodegenerative disorders in preclinical rodent models. They also point out that compounds with affinity for Sigmal are in clinical trials, and that one Sigmal drug is in phase II clinical trials for Alzheimer's disease (Maurice and Goguadze 2017).

Sigma1 in neuronal signaling and regulation of ion channels is reviewed in the chapter by Kourrich entitled *Ion Channels and Neuronal Excitability* (Kourrich 2017). In this chapter, Kourrich describes and discusses Sigma1 dependent modulation of voltage gated ion channels (VGICs) and ligand gated ion channels (LGICs). He describes the range of proteins with which Sigma1 has been reported

to interact and proposes this as the reason for the plethora of neuronal functions in which Sigma1 has been implicated. Kourrich proposes that Sigma1 is an integral membrane protein at the plasma membrane, with extracellular N- and C-termini that regulates VGIC conductance at the cell surface, and proposes that Sigma1 is an atypical auxiliary regulatory subunit for ion channels for VGICs. He discusses the potential mechanisms to explain observed effects of Sigma1-associated activities on intrinsic and synaptic excitability, and how these mechanisms affect overall neuronal activity.

6 Sigma1 as a Drug Target for Pain

As Vela and colleagues emphasize in their chapter, *Sigma-1 Receptor and Pain*, there is a critical need for new potent and efficacious non-opioid analgesics or agents that increase the potency and efficacy of opioids in order to diminish or bypass their addictive properties and other serious, unwanted side effects (Merlos et al. 2017).

The authors review the literature as well as their own studies demonstrating the roles of Sigma1 in nociception. They discuss the pain-attenuated phenotype of the published *SIGMAR1* knockout mouse and the antinociceptive properties of Sigma1 putative antagonists/inhibitors in pain of varied etiology, including neuropathic, inflammatory, ischemic, visceral, and postoperative pain. They review the proposed mechanisms by which Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors elicit antinociceptive effects in peripheral as well as central nervous system (central) pain. They propose that unlike opioids, Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors do not alter normal sensory perception or mechanical and thermal sensitivity thresholds in normal animals but only exert antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic effects specifically under sensitizing or pathophysiological conditions such as chronic pain. The authors point out that Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors are thus not analgesics, as strictly defined, but rather antiallodynic and antihyperalgesic agents.

Finally, Vela and colleagues highlight and describe in detail S1RA (also known as E-52862), an investigational Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors currently in phase II clinical trials for chronic neuropathic pain and postoperative pain in combination with morphine. Clearly, the outcome of these clinical trials is of considerable interest to the field as it will confirm the potential of this new target, drug class, and approach to pain management.

Sigmal has been associated with myriad signaling and transduction systems over the decades. Evidence over the past 20 years has demonstrated that Sigmal ligands can modulate opioid analgesia in vivo and opioid receptor signaling mechanisms in vitro. In his chapter entitled *Allosteric Modulation of Opioid G-Protein Coupled Receptors by Sigma*₁ *Receptors*, Pasternak describes how Sigmal ligands can function as allosteric modulators of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) function through their association with the Sigmal (Pasternak 2017). He reviews the literature for evidence of the signal modulatory role of

Sigma1 on GPCR activity in various regions of the CNS and argues that the general actions of Sigma1 extend beyond its putative chaperone actions.

Sigmal antagonist/inhibitor potentiation of opioid analgesia highlights their potential use in combination with opioids, as opioid adjuvants, to selectively enhance analgesic effects while minimizing the dose of opioids, thus reducing side effects and potential for addiction and increasing the safety margin of opioid treatments. These data along with the antinociceptive properties of S1RA alone represent a promising new approach to safely treat intractable chronic pain conditions. Emergence of Sigmal ligands as novel, non-opioid pain relief agent is timely indeed, in light of the current opioid epidemic in the USA.

7 Alcohol and Drug Abuse and Addiction

Sigma proteins, both Sigma1 and Sigma2, historically have been described as modulators of the effects of psychomotor stimulants, such as cocaine and methamphetamine, and have been proposed as agents to mitigate stimulant drug abuse. However, the published results have been varied and the pharmacological mechanisms underlying these effects remain unclear. Katz and colleagues in their chapter, A Role for Sigma Receptors in Stimulant Self-Administration and Addic*tion*, review the effects of sigma receptor ligands (both putative agonists/activators and antagonists/inhibitors) in three relevant pharmacological assays of rodent behavior: stimulant discrimination, place-conditioning, and self-administration (Katz et al. 2017). The literature suggests that Sigma1 agonists/activators generally substitute for psychomotor stimulants in the discrimination assay, and Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors generally block stimulant effects in the place-conditioning assay. However, the responses are more complex and do not necessarily follow these general trends, and appear to be condition and context dependent. Interestingly, test subjects self-administered Sigma1 agonists/activators only after stimulant self-administration, suggesting that psychostimulants modify the status of Sigmal in a manner that creates independent reinforcement mechanisms. The authors observe that selective Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors do not block stimulant self-administration; however, nonselective Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors that also bind the dopamine transporter can decrease stimulant self-administration. Thus, they propose that concomitant targeting of both dopaminergic and sigma receptors selectively suppresses mechanisms involved in stimulant abuse and reveal the possibility of new drug combination strategies to prevent stimulant abuse.

Whereas extensive research has been performed regarding the neurobiological mechanisms underlying alcohol addiction, pharmacological intervention in alcohol abuse disorders remains limited and ultimately ineffective. In the chapter *Sigma Receptors and Alcohol Use Disorders*, Sabino and Cottone review emerging evidence suggesting that Sigma1 plays a role in the rewarding and reinforcing effects of alcohol, and that Sigma1 may be a novel target for the pharmacological treatment of alcohol use disorders (Sabino and Cottone 2016). This work builds upon established literature implicating Sigma1 in psychostimulant pharmacology. The

authors review the literature describing the efficacy of Sigma1 antagonists/ inhibitors in reducing excessive alcohol drinking and alcohol-seeking behavior in several animal models.

8 Sigma1 Pharmacology in the Context of Cancer

Most of the literature regarding Sigma1 describes it in the context of neuropharmacology; however, a number of publications over the years have suggested a role for Sigma1 in tumor biology. Although there is currently no clinically used anticancer drug that targets Sigma1, a growing body of evidence supports the potential of Sigma1 ligands as cancer therapeutic agents with a range of beneficial activities. Indeed, in preclinical models, compounds with affinity for Sigma1 have been reported to inhibit cancer cell proliferation and survival, tumor growth, cell adhesion and migration, to alleviate cancer-associated pain, and to have immunomodulatory properties. In their chapter *Sigma1 Pharmacology in the Context of Cancer*, Kim and Maher review and discuss the status of Sigma1 in cancer (Kim and Maher 2017).

The authors point out that although the literature supports a potential role for Sigma1 in cancer, fundamental questions regarding the pharmacological mechanism of action of Sigma1 ligands and the physiological relevance of aberrant SIGMAR1 transcript and Sigma1 protein expression in certain cancers remain unanswered or only partially answered. For example, there is no compelling evidence that SIGMAR1 is an oncogene or that Sigma1 is an oncogenic driver protein; however, several studies have demonstrated that cancer cells require functional, intact Sigma1 to grow, proliferate, and survive. Kim and Maher propose and provide preliminary direct and indirect evidence in support of the hypothesis that Sigma1 is a component of the cancer cell support machinery promoting protein and lipid homeostasis, that it facilitates protein interaction networks, and that it allosterically modulates the activity of its associated proteins. The authors propose that Sigmal ligands may be allosteric modulators of protein-protein interactions. This is consistent with the prevailing but unclearly defined notion that Sigma1 itself is devoid of intrinsic signaling or enzymatic activity, rather it acts as a modulator of the intracellular signaling and activities of other receptor systems. However, the biochemical mechanism by which Sigma1 elicits these effects remains unclear. Recent developments in Sigma1 structural biology should facilitate progress in this domain.

9 Sigma2 as a Target for Imaging Agents

Mach and colleagues review Sigma2 ligands as imaging tools in their chapter *Molecular Probes for Imaging the Sigma-2 Receptor:* In Vitro *and* In Vivo *Imaging Studies* (Zeng et al. 2017). The sigma-2 (σ_2) receptor or Sigma2 has been a pharmacologically defined entity for decades. Interestingly, studies with

9

radiolabeled probes have demonstrated that the level of Sigma2 binding sites correlates with the proliferative status of solid tumors (Wheeler et al. 2000). Thus, small molecule radiotracers with affinity and selectivity for Sigma2 have been evaluated in preclinical and more recently in clinical trials to assess the proliferative status of human tumors by positron emission tomography (PET) (Zeng et al. 2017). Of note, the authors describe the development and promising results from preliminary clinical imaging studies with [¹⁸F]ISO-1, a Sigma2 probe, in cancer patients.

The true utility of imaging Sigma2 in solid tumors as a diagnostic and/or predictive biomarker of therapeutic response will depend on a clearer understanding of what has remained an enigmatic pharmacological binding site until very recently. Since the writing of this volume, Sigma2 has been cloned and identified as transmembrane protein 97 (TMEM97), a relatively poorly understood integral membrane protein implicated in cholesterol metabolism (Alon et al. 2017; Kim and Pasternak 2017; Bartz et al. 2009). With the cloning of Sigma2/TMEM97, the compounds, radiotracers, and fluorescent probes developed for Sigma2 over the decades now have a biochemically defined target for pharmacological mechanism of action studies. And the field is poised to open another interesting new avenue of research.

10 Outlook

The sigma proteins have been primarily defined by the activities regulated by their ligands. In the case of Sigma1, it has no clearly defined signaling or enzymatic activity, and the pharmacology of Sigma1 ligands has been defined by the proteins with which it interacts. The myriad, context dependent effects of Sigma1 ligands present a complex picture. There is still much to be done to define unifying mechanisms of action of Sigma1 ligands. A fundamentally important question is what are the structural changes that define Sigma1 agonists/activators and antagonists/inhibitors, as these putative pharmacological activities have remained undefined at the molecular level. The structural insights and tools that have recently emerged will be instrumental in answering fundamental questions regarding how these proteins work, how ligands modulate their activity, and will accelerate drug discovery in this field.

The concept of the sigma receptor has evolved significantly over the past 40 years. Along the way, thousands of publications on the subject have provided key pieces to the sigma puzzle, and the field is in its best position yet to connect the puzzle pieces and to establish a clearer picture of the sigma proteins, how they work, and to explain their role in the diverse physiological and pathophysiological processes in which these proteins have been implicated.

References

- Alon A, Schmidt HR, Wood MD, Sahn JJ, Martin SF, Kruse AC (2017) Identification of the gene that codes for the sigma2 receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114:7160. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1705154114
- Bartz F, Kern L, Erz D, Zhu M, Gilbert D, Meinhof T, Wirkner U, Erfle H, Muckenthaler M, Pepperkok R, Runz H (2009) Identification of cholesterol-regulating genes by targeted RNAi screening. Cell Metab 10(1):63–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2009.05.009
- Cho TS, Avidan S, Freeman WT (2010) A probabilistic image jigsaw puzzle solver. In: Computer vision and pattern recognition 2010 I.E. conference, pp 183–190. doi:https://doi.org/10.1109/ CVPR.2010.5540212
- Cobos EJ, Entrena JM, Nieto FR, Cendán CM, Del Pozo E (2008) Pharmacology and therapeutic potential of sigma1 receptor ligands. Curr Neuropharmacol 6(4):344–366
- Gromek KA, Suchy FP, Meddaugh HR, Wrobel RL, LaPointe LM, Chu UB, Primm JG, Ruoho AE, Senes A, Fox BG (2014) The oligomeric states of the purified sigma-1 receptor are stabilized by ligands. J Biol Chem 289(29):20333–20344. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113. 537993
- Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Knaus HG, Striessnig J, Kempner E, Glossmann H (1996) Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian sigma1-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(15):8072–8077
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. Cell 131(3):596–610
- Hellewell SB, Bowen WD (1990) A sigma-like binding site in rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells: decreased affinity for (+)-benzomorphans and lower molecular weight suggest a different sigma receptor form from that of guinea pig brain. Brain Res 527(2):244–253
- Katz JL, Hiranita T, Hong WC, Job MO, McCurdy CR (2017) A role for sigma receptors in stimulant self-administration and addiction. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 164_2016_94
- Kim FJ, Maher CM (2017) Sigmal pharmacology in the context of cancer. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2017_38
- Kim FJ, Pasternak GW (2017) Cloning the sigma2 receptor: wandering 40 years to find an identity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(27):6888–6890. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1708155114
- Kourrich S (2017) Sigma-1 receptor and neuronal excitability. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi. org/10.1007/164_2017_8
- Kruse A (2016) Structural insights into Sigma1 function. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/164_2016_95
- Laurini E, Col VD, Mamolo MG, Zampieri D, Posocco P, Fermeglia M, Vio L, Pricl S (2011) Homology model and docking-based virtual screening for ligands of the σ1 receptor. ACS Med Chem Lett 2(11):834–839. https://doi.org/10.1021/ml2001505
- Laurini E, Marson D, Fermeglia M, Pricl S (2017) 3D homology model of Sigma1 receptor. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2017_35
- Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson JA, Huppler RE, Gilbert PE (1976) The effects of morphineand nalorphine-like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 197(3):517–532
- Maurice T, Goguadze N (2017) Sigma-1 (sigma1) receptor in memory and neurodegenerative diseases. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2017_15
- Maurice T, Su TP (2009) The pharmacology of sigma-1 receptors. Pharmacol Ther 124(2):195-206
- Merlos M, Romero L, Zamanillo D, Plata-Salaman C, Vela JM (2017) Sigma-1 receptor and pain. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2017_9
- Narayanan S, Bhat R, Mesangeau C, Poupaert JH, McCurdy CR (2011) Early development of sigma-receptor ligands. Future Med Chem 3(1):79–94. https://doi.org/10.4155/fmc.10.279

- Ortega-Roldan JL, Ossa F, Amin NT, Schnell JR (2015) Solution NMR studies reveal the location of the second transmembrane domain of the human sigma-1 receptor. FEBS Lett 589 (5):659–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2015.01.033
- Pasternak GW (2017) Allosteric modulation of opioid G-protein coupled receptors by Sigma1 receptors. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2017_34
- Sabino V, Cottone P (2016) Sigma receptors and alcohol use disorders. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2016_97
- Schmidt HR, Zheng S, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human sigma receptor. Nature 532:527. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17391
- Su TP (1982) Evidence for sigma opioid receptor: binding of [3H]SKF-10047 to etorphineinaccessible sites in guinea-pig brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 223(2):284–290
- Weber F, Wunsch B (2017) Medicinal chemistry of sigmal receptor ligands: pharmacophore models, synthesis, structure affinity relationships, and pharmacological applications. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2017_33
- Wheeler KT, Wang LM, Wallen CA, Childers SR, Cline JM, Keng PC, Mach RH (2000) Sigma-2 receptors as a biomarker of proliferation in solid tumours. Br J Cancer 82(6):1223–1232. https://doi.org/10.1054/bjoc.1999.1067
- Zeng C, McDonald ES, Mach RH (2017) Molecular probes for imaging the sigma-2 receptor: in vitro and in vivo imaging studies. Handb Exp Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_ 2016_96

Structural Insights into Sigma1 Function

Andrew Kruse

Contents

1	Introduction	14
2	Crystal Structure of Human Sigma1	15
3	Structural Basis for Ligand Recognition	17
4	Oligomerization	19
5	Implications for Sigma1 Function	20
6	Outlook	21
	6.1 Relationship to Erg2p and Enzymatic Activity	21
	6.2 Molecular Efficacy and Oligomerization	22
	6.3 Interactions with Other Proteins	22
Re	ferences	23

Abstract

Sigma1 (also known as this sigma-1 receptor) is an unusual and enigmatic transmembrane protein implicated in a diverse array of biological processes ranging from neurodegenerative disease to cancer. Despite decades of research, the molecular architecture of Sigma1 is only beginning to become clear. Recent work has established that Sigma1 is an oligomer, and crystallographic studies have now offered the first high-resolution views of its molecular structure. For the first time, these results provide a detailed framework to understand mutagenesis data and the molecular pharmacology of Sigma1 ligands. Structural data also raise new questions surrounding the mechanisms of ligand activity and the molecular basis for interactions between Sigma1 and other proteins. As Sigma1 research enters the structural era, the field is poised for new discoveries and reevaluation of old data and old models.

A. Kruse (🖂)

Department of Biological Chemistry and Molecular Pharmacology, Harvard Medical School, Seeley G. Mudd Building, 250 Longwood Ave., Boston, MA 02115, USA e-mail: Andrew_Kruse@hms.harvard.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_95

Keywords

Crystal structure • Ligand binding • Oligomer • Sigma1 • Sigma-1 receptor • X-ray crystallography

1 Introduction

Sigma1 (also known as the sigma-1 receptor) is an unusual transmembrane receptor first discovered 40 years ago and subsequently studied extensively for its pharmacological properties, which in some respects resemble those of opioid receptors (Walker et al. 1990). However, the development of photoaffinity probes and enantiomerically pure ligands later showed that Sigma1 resemblance to opioid receptors is largely superficial. Unlike opioid receptors, Sigma1 has a molecular weight of ~25 kDa, and it shows a strong preference for the (+) enantiomers of benzomorphan ligands. In contrast, true opioid receptors selectively bind the (-) enantiomer (Martin et al. 1984). Moreover, the effects of Sigma1 ligands are not antagonized by the opioid antagonists naltrexone and naloxone (Largent et al. 1987), which block agonist activity at the μ , δ , and κ opioid receptors. Finally, unlike the opioid receptors, Sigma1 does not appear to signal through heterotrimeric G proteins (Lupardus et al. 2000), further confirming its lack of relation to opioid receptors.

While Sigma1 was extensively characterized with respect to its pharmacology in the 1980s and early 1990s, the first structural insights regarding Sigma1 came only in 1996 when the protein was cloned from guinea pig liver (Hanner et al. 1996), and shortly thereafter from a human cell line (Kekuda et al. 1996) as well as mouse (Seth et al. 1997) and rat tissues (Seth et al. 1998). Remarkably, the sequence of Sigma1 shows no similarity to any other mammalian protein, but it possesses clear homology (30% sequence identity) to the yeast C8–C7 sterol isomerase Erg2p. Hydrophobicity analysis of the guinea pig Sigma1 protein sequence showed a single highly hydrophobic segment with a potential ER-retention signal at its amino terminus, suggesting a single-pass transmembrane topology with a short luminal tail at the amino-terminus and the majority of the protein located on the cytosolic side of the ER membrane. As discussed below, this single-pass transmembrane model was less widely accepted than later proposed architectures placing both the amino- and carboxy-termini in the ER lumen, although the prediction of a single-pass fold was ultimately shown to be correct.

The determination of the receptor's primary sequence led to extensive prediction and speculation regarding the three-dimensional structure of Sigma1. One report (Aydar et al. 2002) proposed a two-pass transmembrane architecture on the basis of antibody staining with Sigma1 fused to amino- and carboxy-terminal green fluorescent protein (GFP). An important caveat to this work, however, is that GFP is known to be poorly secreted (Li et al. 2002), and the amino-terminal fusion may have altered the insertion topology of the protein. The two-pass model was widely accepted as established fact, serving as the basis for efforts to map the position of the putative second transmembrane domain (Ortega-Roldan et al. 2015) and other studies using molecular modeling to predict the receptor's structure computationally (Laurini et al. 2011). In contrast, efforts to determine the Sigma1 structure experimentally lagged behind, hindered by the myriad challenges associated with biochemical manipulation of integral membrane proteins.

2 Crystal Structure of Human Sigma1

Beginning in 2007, a series of technological innovations revolutionized membrane protein crystallography, particularly for G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). Advances include the use of fusion proteins like T4 lysozyme (Rosenbaum et al. 2007), lipid mesophase crystallization techniques (Caffrey et al. 2012), microdiffraction (Smith et al. 2012), and novel detergents (Chae et al. 2010). Together, these methods have led to dozens of GPCR structures, and these approaches are increasingly finding application in membrane protein crystallography more generally.

To determine the structure of Sigma1, a GPCR-inspired approach was employed (Schmidt et al. 2016). The receptor was expressed using Sf9 insect cells to produce high levels of functional protein, which was then purified using lauryl maltose neopentyl glycol (LMNG), a protein-stabilizing detergent that has been widely used in the GPCR field. This detergent has an exceptionally low critical micelle concentration (Chung et al. 2012), and it has been shown to enhance stability of monomeric membrane proteins as well as preserve the stability of multi-protein complexes (Chae et al. 2010).

Purification of the full-length Sigma1 protein was achieved by antibody affinity chromatography, allowing rapid isolation of Sigma1 in high biochemical purity (Schmidt et al. 2016). Purified protein was then crystallized using the lipidic cubic phase (LCP) method (Caffrey et al. 2012). This approach entails reconstituting the protein in a liquid crystalline lipid bilayer and performing crystallization experiments with Sigma1 embedded in this membrane throughout the crystallogenesis process. Consequently, LCP crystals typically show arrays of protein molecules in flat membrane bilayers stacked together to form the crystal lattice. In the case of Sigma1, this approach led to structures (Schmidt et al. 2016) of the receptor bound to two chemically distinct ligands: PD144418, a high-affinity, selective antagonist (Lever et al. 2014; Akunne et al. 1997), and 4-IBP, a high-affinity ligand with an incompletely understood efficacy profile (John et al. 1994). These ligands were chosen by screening a small collection of compounds with 1 nM or higher affinity in crystallization trials, with PD144418 and 4-IBP showing the largest improvements in crystal size and appearance. While Sigma1 structure agrees closely with prior pharmacological data, it shows little similarity to previous computational models (Laurini et al. 2011), highlighting the challenges of predicting membrane protein structure ab initio.

The overall structure of the protein is unusual, with no significant resemblance to any other protein of known structure. Contrary to the prevailing view that the receptor possessed a two-pass transmembrane architecture, the structure reveals definitively that Sigma1 possesses only a single transmembrane domain, located at its amino terminus and encompassing residues 8 to 32. The remainder of the structure forms a single domain, with the ligand-binding site at its center. In the crystal, the receptor exists in a trimeric arrangement in which three protomers are intimately associated to form a flat triangle, with a transmembrane domain at each corner (Fig. 1 a, b). The entire membrane-proximal surface is flat and hydrophobic, and the presence of ordered lipid molecules indicates that this surface is likely buried within the membrane. The receptor thus contains structural elements typical of both transmembrane receptors and peripheral membrane proteins.

The carboxy-terminal cytosolic domain of Sigma1 comprises the bulk of the protein, encompassing residues from 33 to 223. The overall fold of this region is unlike any other protein crystallized to date, but at its core contains a cupin-like β -barrel which encloses the bound ligand (Fig. 2). The cupin fold is a conserved structural motif found in a wide variety of proteins, many of which are bacterial metalloenzymes. In most of these proteins, the barrel-like cupin fold is essential for binding to small-molecule substrates and catalytic metal ions (Dunwell et al. 2001). In most cases, these enzymes perform redox chemistry on small-molecule metabolites. In the case of Sigma1, this fold serves to envelope the ligand, occluding it entirely from solvent. The carboxy-terminal domain also contains the entire oligomerization interface, mediating the threefold non-crystallographic symmetry. Although each of the three protomers in the structure is crystallographically independent, they show no significant differences other than in orientation of the transmembrane domain. Lattice contacts are mostly mediated by these transmembrane domains, which pack in both parallel and antiparallel configurations to form the crystal.



Fig. 1 Overall structure of Sigma1: The overall fold of Sigma1 is unusual, with three protomers forming a triangular structure with a single transmembrane helix at each corner. The majority of the protein is located carboxy-terminal to the transmembrane domain, on the cytoplasmic surface of the membrane. (a) The structure is shown viewed parallel to the membrane plane. (b) The triangular architecture of the receptor is apparent when viewed through the membrane plane facing the cytosol



Fig. 2 Structure of the carboxy-terminal domain: The carboxy-terminal domain of Sigmal makes up the bulk of the protein. (a) Viewed from the side (i.e., parallel to the membrane) the cupin domain at the core of the protein is shaded in *blue*. The bound antagonist PD144418 is shown in *spheres* at the center of the cupin domain. (b) Viewed from the top (membrane-facing side) the major structural elements are visible. (c) A bacterial cupin protein (*light blue*, PDB ID 3BCW) is superimposed on Sigma1, showing the high degree of structural conservation. (d) A cluster of ordered lipids are observed in the crystal structure at the junction of the carboxy-terminal domain and the transmembrane helix (shown in *yellow sticks*, oxygen atoms in *red*). The flexible tails of the lipids are not crystallographically resolved

3 Structural Basis for Ligand Recognition

The structures of Sigma1 bound to two drug-like ligands offer the first detailed views of ligand recognition by the receptor. The two structures are remarkably similar to one another, with few differences in ligand/receptor interactions (Schmidt et al. 2016). Previous work using site-directed mutagenesis and radioligand-binding assays identified many of the key residues that are essential for ligand-binding activity. Among these, Asp126 and Glu172 are particularly notable, as mutation of either results in a profound loss of ligand-binding activity (Seth et al. 2001). The crystal structures show

that Glu172 serves as a counterion to the protonated ligand amine, directly interacting via a hydrogen bond. Like Glu172, Asp126 is also essential for high-affinity ligand binding. Unlike Glu172 however, it does not interact directly with the ligand. Instead, Asp126 engages in a 2.6 Å hydrogen bond with Glu172, indicating that it must be protonated and resulting in overall charge neutrality in the binding pocket when the ligand is bound. With the exception of Asp126 and Glu172, the ligand-binding site is hydrophobic overall, and is largely composed of aromatic residues. Figure 3 shows the structure of the ligand-binding site, highlighting residues in contact with the bound ligand.

The solvent-occluded charge–charge interaction in the binding site closely resembles similar ligand-binding modes observed in biogenic amine GPCRs, including receptors for acetylcholine (Haga et al. 2012; Kruse et al. 2012), dopamine (Chien et al. 2010), histamine (Shimamura et al. 2011), and serotonin (Wang et al. 2013; Wacker et al. 2013). In these receptors, the conserved residue Asp3.32 (Ballesteros– Weinstein numbering (Ballesteros and Weinstein 1995)) engages in a salt bridge with the protonated ligand amine, paralleling the role of Glu172 in Sigma1. Although Sigma1 is unrelated to the aminergic GPCRs in sequence, the close parallels in binding site structure offer an explanation for the cross-reactivity of ligands like haloperidol, which binds both D_2 dopamine receptor and Sigma1 with nanomolar potency. It is possible that the similar binding modes arise from convergent evolution of biogenic amine recognition sites, which could imply that Sigma1 acts as a receptor for a neurotransmitter or similar small molecule. However, as discussed below it remains unknown if Sigma1 indeed responds to any endogenous agonist.



Fig. 3 Structure of the ligand-binding site: The ligand-binding site of Sigma1 is shown in two different views. (a) An overall view of the binding site reveals the largely hydrophobic contacts between the ligand and Sigma1, with the exception of a salt bridge to Glu172. (b) The chemical structure of the bound ligand PD144418. (c) A close-up of the binding site shows the extended polar network including Asp126 and Tyr103 as hydrogen-bonding partners to Glu172

Surprisingly, the ligand-binding site in both of the crystal structures is entirely occluded from solvent, offering no possible path for ligand entry or egress. This shows that the protein must be able to undergo dynamic changes to allow ligands to bind and dissociation from the receptor, but the path of ligand entry and exit remains unknown. The enclosed ligand-binding site offers a clear explanation for the very slow binding kinetics of most sigma ligands (Itzhak 1989), contrasting with opioid receptors which show rapid binding kinetics at their highly exposed ligand-binding sites (Cassel et al. 2005).

In addition to drug-like small molecules, Sigma1 has also been shown to bind to a range of lipids, including sterols like progesterone as well as sphingolipids (Ramachandran et al. 2009). Because crystallization experiments were conducted in the absence of these molecules the structural basis for their interaction with Sigma1 remains unknown. Nonetheless, a cluster of four bound monoolein lipid molecules are observed in the structure in a cleft between the transmembrane domain and the carboxy-terminal domain. This region is flanked by Gln33, Leu100, Trp121, Val177, and Leu214, and may serve as a site for lipid regulation of Sigma1 activity.

4 Oligomerization

Recent work from multiple labs has shown evidence that the Sigma1 receptor is likely to function as an oligomer, with possible regulation of oligomerization state by small-molecule ligands (Mishra et al. 2015; Gromek et al. 2014). The crystal structures further support this idea, showing an intimately associated trimer formed by the carboxy-terminal domain of each protomer. The interaction surface is extensive, involving more than 30 residues in each protomer, primarily along loops of the adjacent β -strands in the cupin domain, particularly along the cytosolic face (Fig. 4a). The residues in the oligomerization interface are largely hydrophobic, although some hydrophilic amino acids are present at the periphery of the interface. Within the oligomerization interface Trp136 is among the most extensively engaged residues, embedded deeply within a hydrophobic pocket on the adjacent protomer formed by Phe83, Ala110, Leu111, and Trp169. A hydrogen-bonding network centered on Arg119 also links adjacent protomers (Fig. 4b), as does a threefold symmetric aromatic stacking interaction among Phe191 residues from each protomer (Fig. 4c). Importantly, the oligomerization interface is highly conserved in sequence, attesting to its functional importance.

Size-exclusion experiments with multi-angle light scattering (SEC-MALS) showed that purified Sigma1 in detergent exists in a range of oligomeric states, with molecular weights ranging from at least 140 up to 400 kDa (Schmidt et al. 2016). Similarly, other biochemical and pharmacological work has shown that Sigma1 exists in a range of oligomeric states in detergents, with high-molecular-weight species being stabilized by ligands (Gromek et al. 2014). Cell-based fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) studies have shown similar effects, as well as revealed agonist stabilization of low-molecular-weight species (Mishra et al. 2015). Taken together, these data indicate that oligomerization is an important feature of Sigma1 function, although the



Fig. 4 Oligomerization: The interactions among Sigma1 protomers are extensive, involving dozens of amino acids primarily on the cytosolic face of the trimer. Viewed from the cytosolic face most of the oligomerization contact residues are resolved, shown as *sticks*

mechanistic details of oligomerization changes and any regulation thereof remain to be fully elucidated.

5 Implications for Sigma1 Function

While the Sigma1 receptor has been extensively studied by ligand-binding assays, the identity of the endogenous ligand, if any, remains unclear. Proposed ligands include dimethyltryptamine (Fontanilla et al. 2009) (DMT), but this has been called into question (Keiser et al. 2009) because of the much higher affinity of DMT at serotonergic receptors including the 5-HT2A receptor, which binds to DMT with 100-fold higher affinity than does Sigma1. Moreover, the behavioral effects of DMT administration are abrogated in 5-HT_{2A} receptor knockout mice (Keiser et al. 2009). Given these results, the identity of any endogenous Sigma1 ligand remains unclear.

Indeed, it is possible that the term "receptor" is something of a misnomer, and Sigma1 may function in an altogether different manner than conventional receptor families. One intriguing possibility is suggested by the close sequence homology between Sigma1 and the fungal sterol isomerase *ERG2*. While it has been demonstrated that Sigma1 cannot complement *ERG2* gene deletion in yeast (Hanner et al. 1996), it remains possible that Sigma1 possesses enzymatic activity that has yet to be discovered. Alternatively, Sigma1 may be the result of evolutionary repurposing

of an enzyme to a receptor, converting an active site into a ligand-binding site for regulation of receptor function.

In addition to pharmacological research, Sigmal has been extensively probed in cell biological studies. This work has offered insight into a wide variety of aspects of Sigmal activity, suggesting a possible role as a multifunctional regulator of transmembrane signaling. Interactions have been reported with GPCRs (Kim et al. 2010), ion channels (Aydar et al. 2002; Balasuriya et al. 2014), and chaperone proteins (Hayashi and Su 2007), among many others (Su et al. 2016). Current structural data are insufficient to comment substantively on the nature of such interactions, but this will doubtless be an important area for future research. Importantly, the advent of structural data now allows more rational construct design and analysis for cellular work. In particular, many previous experiments used constructs designed based on incorrect topological models that identified residues 100–223 as the carboxy-terminal domain. We now know that residues 33–99 are also integral parts of this domain, contributing two out of ten beta strands and two out of four alpha helices. Accordingly, the interpretation of research that used only partial fragments of this domain may need to be reconsidered.

6 Outlook

With the advent of high-resolution structural data for Sigma1, the field is poised for new insights and reconsideration of previous models. The discovery that Sigma1 possesses only a single transmembrane domain in particular highlights the risks associated with overreliance on a single model, and should now guide informed design of modified receptor constructs in future work. Despite the important insights offered by recent structures, other key questions remain unanswered and several areas for future research are highlighted below. In the long term, a complete understanding of Sigma1 biology will require a molecular understanding of ligand binding, efficacy, and regulation of interactions with other proteins. In each respect, structural biology is likely to play a pivotal role.

6.1 Relationship to Erg2p and Enzymatic Activity

The sequencing of Sigma1 20 years ago offered the first clear connection to a protein of well-described function, revealing sequence similarity to the yeast sterol isomerase Erg2p. In fungi, this enzyme plays an essential role in ergosterol biosynthesis, catalyzing the transfer of a double bond between the C8 and C9 positions to a new site between the C8 and C7 carbons. In humans, the analogous reaction is catalyzed by the emopamil-binding protein (EBP), which is unrelated to Sigma1 and Erg2p in primary sequence (Moebius et al. 1997). The sequence similarity between Sigma1 and Erg2p implies that the latter is likely to possess a similar membrane-embedded fold. This would allow the hydrophobic lipid substrate (fecosterol) to access the

catalytic site, while the equally hydrophobic product (episterol) can then escape directly into the bilayer.

Despite their sequence similarity and conservation of the catalytic/ligand-binding glutamate (Glu174 in yeast Erg2p, Glu172 in human Sigma1), the Sigma1 receptor fails to complement *ERG2* gene deletion in yeast (Hanner et al. 1996). This fact has been taken as evidence for a lack of Sigma1 catalytic activity. Nonetheless, Sigma1 has not been directly assessed for its ability to catalyze the analogous transformation in cholesterol, and it remains possible that an enzymatic activity like that of EBP may in fact be present. The development of robust procedures for purification of homogenous, functional Sigma1 should now allow straightforward assessment of this possibility in the near future.

6.2 Molecular Efficacy and Oligomerization

Many Sigmal ligands have been classified as agonists and antagonists on the basis of their effects on animals (Nguyen et al. 2015). However, little is known regarding the molecular basis for ligand efficacy in terms of the specific receptor conformation(s) stabilized by agonists vs. antagonists. Cellular FRET data suggest a possible role for at least some Sigmal antagonists in stabilizing high-molecular-weight oligomers, while certain agonists suppress oligomerization (Mishra et al. 2015). Nonetheless, the molecular mechanistic basis for these effects remains unknown. While it is increasingly apparent that oligomerization is a key aspect of Sigmal function, its exact role and connection to ligand efficacy are likely to be important areas of research in years to come. In particular, elucidation of distinct conformations/oligomerization states is poised to be an important area for Sigmal structural biology.

6.3 Interactions with Other Proteins

Sigmal interactions with other proteins have been the subject of intense investigation for decades, with a wide range of proteins proposed as interaction partners (Su et al. 2016). Key areas for future work include validating these interactions with purified proteins, mapping sites of interaction, and determining the molecular basis for regulation of Sigmal/effector protein interactions. Recent advances in highresolution electron microscopy (Liao et al. 2013) are particularly exciting, as these techniques may allow investigation of Sigmal complexes with high-molecularweight putative binding partners like inositol phosphate receptors, for which electron microscopy structural data has recently become available (Fan et al. 2015).

References

- Akunne HC, Whetzel SZ, Wiley JN, Corbin AE, Ninteman FW, Tecle H, Pei Y, Pugsley TA, Heffner TG (1997) The pharmacology of the novel and selective sigma ligand, PD 144418. Neuropharmacology 36(1):51–62
- Aydar E, Palmer CP, Klyachko VA, Jackson MB (2002) The sigma receptor as a ligand-regulated auxiliary potassium channel subunit. Neuron 34(3):399–410
- Balasuriya D, D'Sa L, Talker R, Dupuis E, Maurin F, Martin P, Borgese F, Soriani O, Edwardson JM (2014) A direct interaction between the sigma-1 receptor and the hERG voltage-gated K+ channel revealed by atomic force microscopy and homogeneous time-resolved fluorescence (HTRF(R)). J Biol Chem 289(46):32353–32363. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.603506
- Ballesteros J, Weinstein H (1995) Integrated methods for modeling G-protein coupled receptors. Methods Neurosci 25:366–428
- Caffrey M, Li D, Dukkipati A (2012) Membrane protein structure determination using crystallography and lipidic mesophases: recent advances and successes. Biochemistry 51(32):6266–6288. doi:10.1021/bi300010w
- Cassel JA, Daubert JD, DeHaven RN (2005) [(3)H]Alvimopan binding to the mu opioid receptor: comparative binding kinetics of opioid antagonists. Eur J Pharmacol 520(1–3):29–36. doi:10. 1016/j.ejphar.2005.08.008
- Chae PS, Rasmussen SG, Rana RR, Gotfryd K, Chandra R, Goren MA, Kruse AC, Nurva S, Loland CJ, Pierre Y, Drew D, Popot JL, Picot D, Fox BG, Guan L, Gether U, Byrne B, Kobilka B, Gellman SH (2010) Maltose-neopentyl glycol (MNG) amphiphiles for solubilization, stabilization and crystallization of membrane proteins. Nat Methods 7(12):1003–1008. doi:10.1038/nmeth.1526
- Chien EY, Liu W, Zhao Q, Katritch V, Han GW, Hanson MA, Shi L, Newman AH, Javitch JA, Cherezov V, Stevens RC (2010) Structure of the human dopamine D3 receptor in complex with a D2/D3 selective antagonist. Science 330(6007):1091–1095. doi:10.1126/science.1197410
- Chung KY, Kim TH, Manglik A, Alvares R, Kobilka BK, Prosser RS (2012) Role of detergents in conformational exchange of a G protein-coupled receptor. J Biol Chem 287(43):36305–36311. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.406371
- Dunwell JM, Culham A, Carter CE, Sosa-Aguirre CR, Goodenough PW (2001) Evolution of functional diversity in the cupin superfamily. Trends Biochem Sci 26(12):740–746
- Fan G, Baker ML, Wang Z, Baker MR, Sinyagovskiy PA, Chiu W, Ludtke SJ, Serysheva II (2015) Gating machinery of InsP3R channels revealed by electron cryomicroscopy. Nature 527 (7578):336–341. doi:10.1038/nature15249
- Fontanilla D, Johannessen M, Hajipour AR, Cozzi NV, Jackson MB, Ruoho AE (2009) The hallucinogen N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) is an endogenous sigma-1 receptor regulator. Science 323(5916):934–937
- Gromek KA, Suchy FP, Meddaugh HR, Wrobel RL, LaPointe LM, Chu UB, Primm JG, Ruoho AE, Senes A, Fox BG (2014) The oligomeric states of the purified sigma-1 receptor are stabilized by ligands. J Biol Chem 289(29):20333–20344. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.537993
- Haga K, Kruse AC, Asada H, Yurugi-Kobayashi T, Shiroishi M, Zhang C, Weis WI, Okada T, Kobilka BK, Haga T, Kobayashi T (2012) Structure of the human M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor bound to an antagonist. Nature 482(7386):547–551. http://www.nature.com/nature/ journal/v482/n7386/abs/nature10753.html#supplementary-information
- Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Knaus HG, Striessnig J, Kempner E, Glossmann H (1996) Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian sigma1-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(15):8072–8077
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. Cell 131(3):596–610

- Itzhak Y (1989) Multiple affinity binding states of the sigma receptor: effect of GTP-binding protein-modifying agents. Mol Pharmacol 36(4):512–517
- John CS, Vilner BJ, Bowen WD (1994) Synthesis and characterization of [1251]-N-(N-benzylpiperidin-4-yl)-4-iodobenzamide, a new sigma receptor radiopharmaceutical: high-affinity binding to MCF-7 breast tumor cells. J Med Chem 37(12):1737–1739
- Keiser MJ, Setola V, Irwin JJ, Laggner C, Abbas AI, Hufeisen SJ, Jensen NH, Kuijer MB, Matos RC, Tran TB, Whaley R, Glennon RA, Hert J, Thomas KL, Edwards DD, Shoichet BK, Roth BL (2009) Predicting new molecular targets for known drugs. Nature 462(7270):175–181. doi:10.1038/nature08506
- Kekuda R, Prasad PD, Fei YJ, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1996) Cloning and functional expression of the human type 1 sigma receptor (hSigmaR1). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 229(2):553–558
- Kim FJ, Kovalyshyn I, Burgman M, Neilan C, Chien CC, Pasternak GW (2010) Sigma 1 receptor modulation of G-protein-coupled receptor signaling: potentiation of opioid transduction independent from receptor binding. Mol Pharmacol 77(4):695–703. doi:10.1124/mol.109.057083
- Kruse AC, Hu J, Pan AC, Arlow DH, Rosenbaum DM, Rosemond E, Green HF, Liu T, Chae PS, Dror RO, Shaw DE, Weis WI, Wess J, Kobilka BK (2012) Structure and dynamics of the M3 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor. Nature 482(7386):552–556. http://www.nature.com/nature/ journal/v482/n7386/abs/nature10867.html#supplementary-information
- Largent BL, Wikstrom H, Gundlach AL, Snyder SH (1987) Structural determinants of sigma receptor affinity. Mol Pharmacol 32(6):772–784
- Laurini E, Col VD, Mamolo MG, Zampieri D, Posocco P, Fermeglia M, Vio L, Pricl S (2011) Homology model and docking-based virtual screening for ligands of the sigma1 receptor. ACS Med Chem Lett 2(11):834–839. doi:10.1021/ml2001505
- Lever JR, Miller DK, Fergason-Cantrell EA, Green CL, Watkinson LD, Carmack TL, Lever SZ (2014) Relationship between cerebral sigma-1 receptor occupancy and attenuation of cocaine's motor stimulatory effects in mice by PD144418. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 351(1):153–163. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.216671
- Li J, Xu H, Bentley WE, Rao G (2002) Impediments to secretion of green fluorescent protein and its fusion from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biotechnol Prog 18(4):831–838. doi:10.1021/ bp020066t
- Liao M, Cao E, Julius D, Cheng Y (2013) Structure of the TRPV1 ion channel determined by electron cryo-microscopy. Nature 504(7478):107–112. doi:10.1038/nature12822
- Lupardus PJ, Wilke RA, Aydar E, Palmer CP, Chen Y, Ruoho AE, Jackson MB (2000) Membranedelimited coupling between sigma receptors and K+ channels in rat neurohypophysial terminals requires neither G-protein nor ATP. J Physiol 526(Pt 3):527–539
- Martin BR, Katzen JS, Woods JA, Tripathi HL, Harris LS, May EL (1984) Stereoisomers of [3H]-N-allylnormetazocine bind to different sites in mouse brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 231 (3):539–544
- Mishra AK, Mavlyutov T, Singh DR, Biener G, Yang J, Oliver JA, Ruoho A, Raicu V (2015) The sigma-1 receptors are present in monomeric and oligomeric forms in living cells in the presence and absence of ligands. Biochem J 466(2):263–271. doi:10.1042/BJ20141321
- Moebius FF, Striessnig J, Glossmann H (1997) The mysteries of sigma receptors: new family members reveal a role in cholesterol synthesis. Trends Pharmacol Sci 18(3):67–70
- Nguyen L, Lucke-Wold BP, Mookerjee SA, Cavendish JZ, Robson MJ, Scandinaro AL, Matsumoto RR (2015) Role of sigma-1 receptors in neurodegenerative diseases. J Pharmacol Sci 127 (1):17–29. doi:10.1016/j.jphs.2014.12.005
- Ortega-Roldan JL, Ossa F, Amin NT, Schnell JR (2015) Solution NMR studies reveal the location of the second transmembrane domain of the human sigma-1 receptor. FEBS Lett 589 (5):659–665. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2015.01.033
- Ramachandran S, Chu UB, Mavlyutov TA, Pal A, Pyne S, Ruoho AE (2009) The sigma1 receptor interacts with N-alkyl amines and endogenous sphingolipids. Eur J Pharmacol 609(1–3):19–26
- Rosenbaum DM, Cherezov V, Hanson MA, Rasmussen SG, Thian FS, Kobilka TS, Choi HJ, Yao XJ, Weis WI, Stevens RC, Kobilka BK (2007) GPCR engineering yields high-resolution

structural insights into beta2-adrenergic receptor function. Science 318(5854):1266–1273. doi:10.1126/science.1150609

- Schmidt HR, Zheng S, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human sigma1 receptor. Nature 532(7600):527–530. doi:10.1038/nature17391
- Seth P, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1997) Cloning and structural analysis of the cDNA and the gene encoding the murine type 1 sigma receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 241(2):535–540
- Seth P, Fei YJ, Li HW, Huang W, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1998) Cloning and functional characterization of a sigma receptor from rat brain. J Neurochem 70(3):922–931
- Seth P, Ganapathy ME, Conway SJ, Bridges CD, Smith SB, Casellas P, Ganapathy V (2001) Expression pattern of the type 1 sigma receptor in the brain and identity of critical anionic amino acid residues in the ligand-binding domain of the receptor. Biochim Biophys Acta 1540 (1):59–67
- Shimamura T, Shiroishi M, Weyand S, Tsujimoto H, Winter G, Katritch V, Abagyan R, Cherezov V, Liu W, Han GW, Kobayashi T, Stevens RC, Iwata S (2011) Structure of the human histamine H1 receptor complex with doxepin. Nature 475(7354):65–70. doi:10.1038/nature10236
- Smith JL, Fischetti RF, Yamamoto M (2012) Micro-crystallography comes of age. Curr Opin Struct Biol 22(5):602–612. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2012.09.001
- Su TP, Su TC, Nakamura Y, Tsai SY (2016) The sigma-1 receptor as a pluripotent modulator in living systems. Trends Pharmacol Sci. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2016.01.003
- Wacker D, Wang C, Katritch V, Han GW, Huang XP, Vardy E, McCorvy JD, Jiang Y, Chu M, Siu FY, Liu W, Xu HE, Cherezov V, Roth BL, Stevens RC (2013) Structural features for functional selectivity at serotonin receptors. Science 340(6132):615–619. doi:10.1126/science.1232808
- Walker JM, Bowen WD, Walker FO, Matsumoto RR, De Costa B, Rice KC (1990) Sigma receptors: biology and function. Pharmacol Rev 42(4):355–402
- Wang C, Jiang Y, Ma J, Wu H, Wacker D, Katritch V, Han GW, Liu W, Huang XP, Vardy E, McCorvy JD, Gao X, Zhou XE, Melcher K, Zhang C, Bai F, Yang H, Yang L, Jiang H, Roth BL, Cherezov V, Stevens RC, Xu HE (2013) Structural basis for molecular recognition at serotonin receptors. Science 340(6132):610–614. doi:10.1126/science.1232807

3D Homology Model of Sigma1 Receptor

Erik Laurini, Domenico Marson, Maurizio Fermeglia, and Sabrina Pricl

Contents

1	Introduction	28
2	Development of the Three-Dimensional Model of the Sigma1 Receptor	31
3	Validation of the Three-Dimensional Model of the Sigma1 Receptor	38
	3.1 Validation by Ligand Binding	38
	3.2 Validation by In Silico/In Vitro Mutagenesis	40
	3.3 Validation by Solution CD-NMR	44
4	Does the Solution Structure of the Sigma1 Receptor Compare with Its Solid-State	
	Conformation?	44
5	Conclusions and Future Work	47
Re	eferences	48

Abstract

This chapter presents the three-dimensional (3D) model of the Sigma1 receptor protein as obtained from homology modeling techniques. We show the applicability of this structure to docking-based virtual screening and discuss combined in silico/in vitro mutagenesis studies performed to validate the structural features of the Sigma1 receptor model and to qualify/quantify the prominent role of specific amino acid residues in ligand binding. The validation of the virtual 3D Sigma1 receptor model and its reliable applicability to docking-based virtual

S. Pricl (🖂)

E. Laurini • D. Marson • M. Fermeglia

Molecular Simulation Engineering (MOSE) Laboratory, Department of Engineering and Architecture (DEA), University of Trieste, Via Valerio 6, 34127 Trieste, Italy

Molecular Simulation Engineering (MOSE) Laboratory, Department of Engineering and Architecture (DEA), University of Trieste, Via Valerio 6, 34127 Trieste, Italy

National Interuniversity Consortium for Material Science and Technology (INSTM), Research Unit MOSE-DEA, University of Trieste, Via Valerio 6, 34127 Trieste, Italy e-mail: sabrina.pricl@dia.units.it

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_35

screening is of significance for rational ligand design, even in light of the recently reported crystal structure for the Sigma1 receptor.

Keywords

Homology modeling • In silico mutagenesis • In vivo mutagenesis • MM/PBSA • Model validation

1 Introduction

The Sigma1 gene (7 kbp), consisting of four exons and four introns, is located on the human chromosome 9, band p13 (Prasad et al. 1998), a region associated with several psychiatric disorders (Ishiguro et al. 1998; Ohi et al. 2011). Its encoded protein, the Sigma1 receptor, was cloned from guinea pig liver for the first time in 1996 (Kekuda et al. 1996); shortly afterward, it was obtained from rat and mouse brain, rat kidney, and a human choriocarcinoma cell line (Hanner et al. 1996; Seth et al. 1998a, b; Pan et al. 1998; Mei and Pasternak 2001). The polypeptide consists of 223 amino acids, with a predicted molecular weight of 25.3 kilodaltons (kDa). Sigma1 receptors of different species share very high sequence identity (>93%) but do not show homology to any other mammalian protein. Intriguingly, the Sigma1 receptor reveals a 30% identity, a 67% homology, and a similar ligand binding profile to the yeast Δ^8/Δ^7 -sterol isomerase, encoded by the *erg2* gene (Moebius et al. 1997; Hanner et al. 1996; Chen et al. 2007). Yet, the Sigma1 receptor is devoid of sterol isomerase activity.

To date, no endogenous ligand of the Sigma1 receptor has been unequivocally identified. However, neurosteroids such as progesterone and pregnenolone have been discussed as potential natural Sigma1 receptor ligands (Su et al. 1988; Ganapathy et al. 1999). Sigmal receptors bind cholesterol and accumulate in cholesterol-dense regions of the cell (e.g., lipid rafts) (Palmer et al. 2007). Recently, N,N-dimethyltryptamine was also postulated to be the endogenous Sigma1 receptor ligand (Fontanilla et al. 2009), despite its weak inhibition constant ($K_i = 15.4 \mu$ M). In contrast, several synthetic molecules belonging to different structural classes have been reported to bind the Sigma1 receptor with very high affinity and selectivity. Dextrorotatory benzomorphans like (+)-pentazocine and (+)-Nallylnormetazocine (a.k.a. (+) SKF-10047), which have been classified as Sigma1 receptor agonists, bind the receptor in the low nanomolar range (e.g., $K_i = 3$ nM and 18 nM, respectively) (McCann and Su 1990; Tam and Cook 1984; Bowen et al. 1993; Cagnotto et al. 1994; Klouz et al. 2002). Other ligands such as haloperidol or 4-methoxy-3-N,N-dipropylbenzeneethanamine (NE-100), classified as Sigma1 antagonists (Tam and Cook 1984; McCann and Su 1990; Okuyama and Nakazato 1996), also show high binding affinity to the Sigma1 receptor ($K_i = 4$ nM and 13 nM, respectively). Psychostimulants (e.g., cocaine, $K_i = 2 \mu M$ (Sharkey et al. 1988)), fungicides (e.g., fenpropimorph, $K_i = 0.005$ nM (Moebius et al. 1997)), anxiolytics (e.g., opipramol, $K_i = 50$ nM (Rao et al. 1990), anti-Alzheimer drugs (e.g., donepezil, $K_i = 14.6$ nM (Koki et al. 1999), centrally active antitussives (e.g., (+)-dextromethorphan, $K_i = 151$ nM (Chou et al. 1999)), and antidepressants (e.g.,

fluvoxamine, sertraline, and S-(+) fluoxetine, $K_i = 36$ nM, 57 nM, and 120 nM, respectively (Narita et al. 1996)) are also endowed with high to moderate affinity to the Sigma1 receptor.

Further investigations of the *SIGMAR1* gene (Ganapathy et al. 1999) revealed the existence of a splice variant at exon 3. The resulting Sigma1 receptor variant, bearing a 31-residue deletion mutation (from Arg119 to Gly149), was no longer able to bind ligands like [³H]haloperidol, [³H](+)-pentazocine, and [³H]-(+)-3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-1-propylpiperidine ([³H](+)-PPP). The same group analyzed a Sigma1 receptor variant bearing three point mutations (Ala13Thr, Leu28Pro, and Ala86Val), and found that the binding affinity of [³H]haloperidol for this mutated receptor isoform was reduced by 60% compared to the wild type protein.

Initial studies of the structure of the Sigmal receptor, based on hydrophobicity analysis of receptor primary structure, led to the hypothesis that the protein was characterized by one single transmembrane domain, spanning residues Ala92-Gly112 as shown in the left panel of Fig. 1 (Kekuda et al. 1996; Seth et al. 1998a, b). Subsequent reports proposed that the receptor comprises two transmembrane domains (shown in the right panel of Fig. 1), namely the TMI spanning residues Ala10 to Leu30, and the TMII spanning residues Gln80 to Leu100 (Pan et al. 1998; Aydar et al. 2002). In addition, a third putative membrane flanking hydrophobic region spanning residues Gly176 to Thr203 was proposed (Palmer et al. 2007; Hayashi and Su 2007).

Finally, the same hydrophobicity analysis revealed two more hydrophobic domains within the primary sequence of the Sigma1 receptor: the so-called *steroid* binding domain like I and II (SBDL I and II), thus named because of their homology with the *steroid* binding domains of yeast and other fungal Δ^8/Δ^7 -sterol isomerases (Chen et al. 2007).

SBDL I and II comprise residues Gly91 to Thr109 (SBDL I) and Gly176 to Gln194 (SBDL II), respectively. SBDL I partially overlaps with the TMII domain,



Fig. 1 (*Left*) First cartoon model of the Sigmal receptor with only one transmembrane domain. (*Right*) Cartoon model of the Sigmal receptor with two transmembrane domains


whereas SBDL II is positioned in the membrane flanking region of the receptor C-terminal end, as shown in Fig. 2.

Two other structurally important elements have been identified. The first is a typical arginine-arginine endoplasmic reticulum retention signal near the N terminus of the protein, and the second, two GlyXXXGly motifs, a signature that occurs with high frequency in membrane proteins that favor helix–helix interactions (Polgar et al. 2004).

In the last two decades site directed mutagenesis (Seth et al. 2001) and photoaffinity labeling experiments (Kahoun and Ruoho 1992) were performed to characterize the structure of the receptor and its binding site. According to these studies, the anionic amino acids Asp126 and Glu172 were found to be essential for haloperidol binding, most likely by interacting with a cationic moiety of the ligand. Replacement of residues Ser99, Tyr103, Leu105, and Leu106 – all belonging to the SBDLI – by alanine also revealed that a Tyr103Ala mutation had the strongest influence on binding of both agonist ((+)-pentazocine) and antagonist (NE-100) compounds. In separate studies, the tyrosine residues at positions 173, 205, and 206 were also found to be important for cholesterol binding (Yamamoto et al. 1999; Palmer et al. 2007; Pal et al. 2008). A photo-activated cocaine derivative bound to Asp188, however, ligand binding was abolished when more than 15 amino acids of the C-terminus of the receptor were removed (Kahoun and Ruoho 1992). Intramolecular transfer of the photoaffinity label [¹²⁵I]IABM indicated that the SBDLI and SBDLII of the Sigma1 receptor are juxtaposed. It was suggested that the receptor TMI, the SBDLI, and the SBDLII form the Sigma1 ligand binding site, since another photoaffinity label ([¹²⁵I]IAF) was detected both on the SBDLI and the SBDLII after enzymatic digestion (Pal et al. 2008). Altogether, these findings led to the hypothesis that the Sigmal ligand binding site is formed by SBDL I, SBDL II, and a part of the TMI domain, as schematically illustrated in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3 Cartoon of the putative Sigma1 structure and of its ligand binding site consisting of TMI (*dark gray*), SBDL I (*light green*), and SBDL II (*light pink*) as hypothesized from photoaffinity studies. The binding site is *encircled* in the transparent, *light purple area*

2 Development of the Three-Dimensional Model of the Sigma1 Receptor

In 2011 our group developed for the first time a 3D model for the Sigma1 receptor (Laurini et al. 2011) based on a combination of molecular modeling and simulation methodologies, involving the following sequential steps: (a) generation and optimization of the complete 3D model of the receptor by homology modeling techniques (Bordoli et al. 2008); (b) 3D homology model refinement exploiting information derived from ligand docking (Evers et al. 2003) and preliminary mutagenesis experiments (Seth et al. 2001) as spatial restraints; (c) docking of a series of bioactive ligands including, among others, (+)-pentazocine and haloperidol, into the putative binding site, estimation of their binding affinity via the Molecular Mechanics/Poisson-Boltzmann Surface Area (MM/PBSA) method (Srinivasan et al. 1998), and comparison of the in silico ligand scoring with available experimental activities (Zampieri et al. 2009); and (d) design of a set of new ligands with different degrees of affinity for the protein based on the derived receptor model to test the predictive capability of the Sigma1 receptor 3D model.

The computational protocol adopted in steps (a) and (b) involved modeling the three receptor TM regions (i.e., the three α -helices spanning residues 10–30, 80–100, and 180–200, respectively), and prediction of the overall secondary structure of the protein, which included a few β -strands in the C-terminal half (residues 111–116, 133–135, 144–146, and 158–164), and some loops, as shown in the left panel of Fig. 4.

For this approach, four different protein sequences having identity \geq 30% with specific portions of the Sigma1 receptor sequence and available X-ray structure deposited in the Protein Data Bank (i.e., 3CIA.pdb, 1I24.pdb, 2Z2Z.pdb, and 2Q8I.







Fig. 5 (*Left*) Side view of the equilibriums structure of the Sigmal receptor 3D homology model in a solvated membrane environment. The protein secondary structure is depicted as a *green ribbon*. POPC molecules are shown in mixed representation of CPK spheres and balls-and-sticks. Atom color code: O, *red*; C, *light gray*; N, *light blue*; and P, *orange*. The portion of the lipid bilayer surrounding the Sigmal receptors has been rendered transparent for graphical purposes. Hydrogen atoms, water molecules, ions and counterions are not shown to maintain clarity. (*Right*) Ramachandran plot generated from the MD refined 3D homology model of the Sigmal receptor (Laurini et al. 2011)

pdb) were retrieved. Accordingly, each corresponding receptor/template sequence was aligned (Fig. 4, right panel), and the Cartesian coordinates for the Sigma1 residues in structurally conserved regions were obtained from the corresponding sequence in the template PDB file. The first part of the N-terminal domain of the protein, spanning residues 1–16, showed no homology with any other proteins in all queried databases and thus was built de novo. Finally, the overall receptor 3D structure was built by linking the different template-based homology models and creating and optimizing the missing loop portions via several refinement processes. The structure was slightly adjusted to fully match the results of secondary structure predictions, and optimized for backbone and side chain conformation.

This initial 3D model was inserted manually into a 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-snglycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC) membrane model, with the two transmembrane helices parallel to the *xy* plane, and with *z* in the direction normal to the membrane. Next, the entire system was subjected to extensive molecular dynamics (MD) refinement in water at the physiological ionic strength of 150 mM NaCl to attain the energetically stable and favorable protein conformation illustrated in the left panel of Fig. 5.

The MD-refined homology model of the Sigma1 receptor obtained at the end of the optimization procedure had high stereochemical quality, with 221 over 223 total receptor residues found in the most favored regions, while only two residues residing in generously allowed regions of the corresponding Ramachandran plot (Ramachandran et al. 1963) (Fig. 5, right panel). Other stereochemical parameters such as dihedral angles, covalent geometry, and planarity were also examined. Thus, PROCHECK G-factors (Laskowski et al. 1993) were all close to zero, and all

values were well within the acceptable limits.¹ The overall packing quality of the 3D Sigma1 receptor optimized model was inspected using the atomic contact analysis of WHATIF (Vriend 1990), which yielded a z-score of -0.89.² The packing quality of each single receptor amino acid was also evaluated by running VERIFY-3D (Lüthy et al. 1992): the compatibility score above zero in the corresponding graph (an indication of the residue side-chain environment) suggested that the model is characterized by an overall self-consistency in terms of sequence-structure compatibility. The excellent quality of the overall 3D homology model of the Sigma1 receptor was also reflected in the value of the corresponding PROSA normalized z-score value (Sippl 1993) of 0.98.³ Such a high value of the PROSA z-score approaches those typical of high resolution crystal structures, further supporting that the proposed model is characterized by very good backbone conformation quality.

It is noteworthy that the overall accuracy of a protein homology model is related to the percentage sequence identity (SI) upon which the model is based, together with the relationship between the structural and sequence similarity of target and template proteins. High-accuracy comparative models are generally based on more than 50% SI to their templates. Medium-accuracy comparative models are based on 30-50% SI, while low-accuracy comparative models rely on less than 30% of SI. Other factors such as template selection and alignment accuracy usually have a significant impact on the quality of the resulting final model, especially for models based on less than 40% sequence identity to the templates (Baker and Sali 2001). Specifically, many methods often fail to correctly align protein pairs with 20-30% pairwise sequence identity, and indeed a portion of the Sigma1 receptor was modeled in this so-called twilight zone (Rost 1999). However, given that (1) it is also often possible to correctly predict features of the target protein that do not occur in the template structure, (2) errors in functionally important regions in homology models are relatively low because the functional regions (e.g., binding sites) tend to be more conserved in evolution than the rest of the fold, and (3) all Sigma1 receptor ligands considered for successive docking and affinity scoring (vide infra) against the receptor 3D homology model yielded K_i values in line with the corresponding experimental data, it can be confidently concluded that the proposed homology model is characterized by overall correct protein folding.

The Sigma1 receptor homology 3D model and the relevant binding site were identified by exploiting the currently available preliminary information on sequence–structure relationships and mutagenesis studies (Seth et al. 2001) and some ligand-binding pharmacophore requirements (Zampieri et al. 2009). To validate the 3D model, a set of nine Sigma1 ligands were docked into the protein binding cavity and subsequently scored for receptor affinity via MM/PBSA calculations (step c) (Laurini et al. 2011). Haloperidol, (+)-pentazocine, and

¹Reasonable values for the G-factor in PROCHECK fall between 0 and -0.5, the best models displaying values closest to 0.

²WHATIF normality index (z-score) values for valid structures should be greater than -5.0.

³PROSA normalized z-score values >0.70 are indicative of a good structure.



Fig. 6 Chemical structure of the set of nine ligands, fenpropimorph, (+)-pentazocine, and haloperidol used for docking and affinity scoring against the Sigma1 receptor 3D homology model (Laurini et al. 2011)

fenpropimorph – three structurally diverse Sigma1 receptor ligands – were included for further testing and comparison (Fig. 6).

According to the MM/PBSA theory, the free energy of binding ΔG_{bind} between the Sigma1 receptor and each of its ligands can then be calculated as:

$$\Delta G_{\text{bind}} = \Delta E_{\text{MM}} + \Delta G_{\text{solv}} - T\Delta S \tag{1}$$

where ΔG_{bind} is the ligand binding free energy in water, ΔE_{MM} is the ligand/ receptor interaction energy, ΔG_{solv} is the solvation free energy, and $-T\Delta S$ is the conformational entropy contribution to binding.

Equation (1), $\Delta E_{\rm MM}$ is calculated from molecular mechanics (MM) interaction energies as: $\Delta E_{\rm MM} = \Delta E_{\rm vdW} + \Delta E_{\rm ele}$, where $\Delta E_{\rm vdW}$ and $\Delta E_{\rm ele}$ are the van der Waals and Coulombic contribution to ligand/protein association. $\Delta G_{\rm solv}$, that is the free energy exchange in ligand and protein desolvation upon complex formation, is also given by the sum of two terms, the electrostatic contribution to solvation $\Delta G_{\rm PB}$ (which can be obtained by numerically solving the Poisson-Boltzmann equations and calculating the relevant electrostatic energy according to the electrostatic potential) (Gilson et al. 1988) and the nonpolar $\Delta G_{\rm NP}$ contribution to solvation, proportional to the so-called solvent accessible surface (Sitkoff et al. 1994). The last term in Eq. (1), i.e., the change in solute entropy upon association $-T\Delta S$, can be calculated through normal-mode analysis (Wilson et al. 1995). Once the values of the ΔG_{bind} are estimated, the corresponding K_i values for each ligand/protein ensemble can be obtained using the fundamental thermodynamic relationship:

$$\Delta G_{\text{bind}} = RT \ln K_i \tag{2}$$

The application of the MM/PBSA to scoring the binding affinity of the selected ligand set to the Sigma1 receptor not only correctly ranked the entire series of nine compounds but also the three structurally diverse prototypical Sigma1 ligands haloperidol, (+)-pentazocine, and fenpropimorph. Indeed, for all of these molecules, an excellent agreement ($R^2 = 0.93$) between computed and experimental affinities of these ligand series was obtained (see Fig. 7, left panel). This represented the first validation of the 3D homology model of the Sigma1 receptor and its ligand binding site.

The set of compounds used in step (c) included a series of benzamide and benzoxazolone derivatives, characterized by K_i values spanning 4 orders of magnitude (0.098–1,147 nM), in order to test the ability of the model to rank high-, intermediate-, and low-affinity ligands. Next, the high-affinity benzoxazolone derivative **1** (Fig. 6, $K_i = 0.098$ nM) was specifically analyzed in silico to characterize all important protein–ligand interactions in the receptor binding site (right panel in Fig. 7). According to these simulations, the anionic amino acid Asp126



Fig. 7 (*Left*) Linear correlation obtained between the calculated Sigma1 receptor ligand K_i values and the corresponding experimental K_i values (correlation coefficient $R^2 = 0.93$) for the 12 compounds shown in Fig. 5. (*Right*) Zoomed view of the high-affinity benzoxazolone derivative **1** ($K_i = 0.098$ nM) in complex with the Sigma1 receptor 3D homology model. The compound is shown as *atom-colored sticks*-and-*balls* (C, *gray*; O, *red*; N, *blue*; Cl, *green*; H atoms are not shown for clarity). The receptor is portrayed as a *salmon pink ribbon*. The main protein residues involved in ligand binding are visualized as *sticks*, *labeled*, and *colored* according to the underlying interaction with the receptor: Arg119 and Trp121, π interactions, *cyan*; Asp126, salt bridge (SB), *red*; Ile128, Glu172, and Tyr173, hydrophobic interactions, *steel blue*; Thr151 and Val 152, hydrogen bond (HB), *green*. The receptor hydrophobic cavity lined by the side chains of Ile128, Glu172, and Tyr173 is highlighted by the relevant van der Waals surface (*steel blue*). SB and HB are evidenced by *black broken lines*. Water and membrane molecules, ions and counterions are not shown for clarity (Laurini et al. 2011)

forms a salt bridge with the basic amino moiety in the piperidine ring, whereas Glu172 interacts with the benzoxazolone heterocycle by electrostatic interactions. The hydrogen bond formed between the NH of the protein backbone peptidic bond between Thr151 and Val152 and the oxygen atom of the carbonyl moiety of the benzoxazolone anchors the compound in place. π - π stabilizing interactions between Trp121 and the *p*-chlorophenyl ring as well as between Tyr173 and the phenyl ring of the benzoxazolone part of the ligand further stabilize the ligand-protein complex. The basic residue Arg119 interacts with the *p*-chlorophenyl moiety of the compound by van der Waals forces, while Ile128 stabilizes the molecule in its binding pocket by hydrophobic interactions with the aromatic phenyl ring of the benzoxazolone system.

The last step of preliminary validation of the 3D Sigma1 receptor model and of its binding site (step d) involved the design of a new group of ligands using the spatial and energetic information derived from the 3D model itself. Using this approach, compounds **10**, **11**, and **12** were conceived (Fig. 8) and ranked as high, moderate, and low affinity ligands in the Sigma1 receptor 3D model, according to the in silico $\Delta G_{\text{bind}}/K_i$ values shown in Table 1.

Importantly, these predicted affinities were confirmed by the corresponding experimental values of binding constant K_i , thereby validating the predictive features of the Sigma1 receptor 3D model.



Fig. 8 Chemical structures of the new ligands design to test the predictive validity of the Sigma1 receptor 3D homology model in assisted drug design/virtual screening

Table 1 Binding free energies ΔG_{bind} for the set of three new Sigma1 receptor ligands designed exploiting the developed Sigma1 receptor 3D homology model

	10	11	12
ΔG_{bind} (kcal/mol)	-11.31 ± 0.38	-10.02 ± 0.35	-7.75 ± 0.37
K_i (calculated) (nM)	5.20	45.7	2,100
K_i (experimental) (nM)	1.85 ± 0.25	30.3 ± 1.69	$1,\!578\pm135$

The experimental and calculated K_i , as estimated from the corresponding ΔG_{bind} values, are also reported for comparison. Calculated K_i values were obtained from the corresponding ΔG_{bind} using Eq. (2) (Laurini et al. 2011)

3 Validation of the Three-Dimensional Model of the Sigma1 Receptor

3.1 Validation by Ligand Binding

Since its original presentation, the 3D model of the Sigma1 receptor has been the subject of extensive validation by ligand binding performed by our group in collaboration with other teams (Laurini et al. 2012, 2013, 2014; Meyer et al. 2012; Rossi et al. 2013a, b; Zampieri et al. 2014, 2015; Weber et al. 2014). For example, in the first paper of the series (Laurini et al. 2012), the 3D model of the Sigma1 receptor was used to design 33 new structurally diverse ligands, based on phenvl(piperidin-1-vl)methanone. *N*-benzvlpiperidin-4-vl-acetamide. and Nbenzylpiperidin-4-yl-benzamide scaffolds, respectively. Their rank order potency in Sigma1 receptor binding was calculated by molecular dynamics simulations. Also, the main interactions involved in receptor/ligand binding were analyzed by applying a *per residue* free energy deconvolution (Gohlke et al. 2003) and in silico alanine scanning mutagenesis (Massova and Kollman 1999). Subsequently, all compounds were synthesized and tested for empirical Sigma1 binding affinity in vitro. The agreement between in silico and in vitro results (Fig. 9, left panel) confirmed the reliability of the proposed Sigma1 3D model in the a priori prediction of the affinity of new Sigma1 ligands. Moreover, it also corroborated the currently available biochemical data concerning the Sigma1 receptor amino acid residues considered essential for ligand binding (Fig. 9, right panel).

In a second example, the work of Meyer et al. (2012) marked another milestone in deciphering structural details of ligand binding to the Sigma1 receptor. In this



Fig. 9 (*Left*) Comparison of experimental and Sigma1 3D homology model-based predicted K_i values for the 33 compounds featuring the phenyl(piperidin-1-yl)methanone (*open square*) and the *N*-benzylpiperidin-4-yl-acetamide and *N*-benzylpiperidin-4-yl-benzamide scaffolds (*filled circles*), respectively ($R^2 = 0.89$). (*Right*) Free energy of binding (ΔG_{bind}) values of WT and mutant Sigma1 3D receptor models bearing an alanine residue at positions 126, 128, 151, 152, 172, 173, and 182 in complex with one *N*-benzylpiperidin-4-yl-acetamide derivative. As can be seen, the compound is less affine to all mutant receptor isoforms (i.e., the corresponding ΔG_{bind} values are less negative with respect to the wild-type (WT) protein), indicating the importance of the selected residue – and of Asp126 in particular – in ligand binding (Laurini et al. 2012)



Fig. 10 Correlation (*left panel*) between experimental and in silico predicted free energies of binding (and, hence K_i values, see Eq. (2)) values obtained by docking-MM/PBSA scoring 40 regioisomeric spirocyclic thiophene derivatives bearing an aryl moiety on the α -position or β -position (*right panel*) using the 3D Sigma1 receptor model (Meyer et al. 2012)



Fig. 11 Equilibrated MD snapshots of template compounds of α -arylated (*left*) and β -arylated (*right*) derivatives in complex with the Sigma1 receptor. The images are zoomed views of the receptor binding site. The protein structure is depicted as a transparent *lime green* and *forest green ribbon*, respectively, while both ligands are shown in *atom-colored sticks* and *balls* (C, *gray*; O, *red*; S, *yellow*; N, *blue*). Hydrogen atoms, water and membrane molecules, ions and counterions are omitted for clarity. The amino acid residues mainly involved in the interaction with the ligands are highlighted as *colored sticks* and *labeled*. Salt bridge and H-bond interactions are shown as *dotted black lines* (Meyer et al. 2012)

study, an excellent correlation (Fig. 10, left panel) was again obtained between experimental and in silico K_i values estimated by docking and MM/PBSA scoring 40 regioisomeric spirocyclic thiophene derivatives bearing an aryl moiety on the α -position or β -position (Fig. 10, right panel) using the 3D model of the Sigmal receptor. Most importantly, however, these calculations further unveiled a reverse binding mode of the molecules bearing the phenyl substituent in the β position with respect to those featuring the same group in the α position, as shown in Fig. 11; such an opposite molecular orientation was required in order for these classes of compounds to fulfill all receptor/ligand stabilizing interactions (see Fig. 11).

3.2 Validation by In Silico/In Vitro Mutagenesis

In a recent study, we confirmed previously reported structural features of the Sigma1 receptor and its binding site, and we further characterized the role of several key residues involved in receptor–ligand binding (Brune et al. 2014). Specifically, we performed a combined in silico/in vitro study to analyze the molecular interactions of the Sigma1 receptor with its prototypical agonist, (+)-pentazocine. Accordingly, first 23 alanine (or glutamic/aspartic acid)-mutant Sigma1 receptor isoforms were generated, and their interactions with (+)-pentazocine were determined experimentally (Fig. 12).

Next, the same mutagenesis scheme was reproduced in silico on the 3D homology model of the receptor, and all direct and/or indirect effects exerted by the mutant residues on the protein–agonist interactions were reproduced and rationalized, thereby casting a new light on the structural biology of the Sigma1 receptor and its ligand binding site.

The main results from this study highlighted the following structural features of the Sigma1 receptor.

Sigmal Receptor Binding Site Residues The following interactions were found to be essential for (+)-pentazocine binding: (1) a permanent salt bridge between the NH⁺ moiety of (+)-pentazocine and the COO⁻ group of Asp126 (with an average dynamic length (ADL) of 3.93 ± 0.09 Å), (2) a stable hydrogen bond between the carboxylate group of Glu172 and the hydroxyl substituent of (+)-pentazocine (ADL of 1.98 ± 0.04 Å), (3) a T-stacking π - π interaction between the side chains of



Fig. 12 Specific binding of $[{}^{3}H](+)$ -pentazocine at a concentration of 40 nM to different alanine/ glutamic/aspartic acid mutants to the human Sigma1 receptor. Specific binding refers to agonist binding to the wild-type (WT) receptor (100%, first column). A specific binding <30% indicates a strong influence of that particular amino acid on ligand binding, $30\% \leq$ specific binding $\leq 70\%$ indicates a moderate influence on ligand binding, whereas a specific binding higher than >70%indicates no influence of the mutated residue on ligand binding (Brune et al. 2014). For readability, the single letter amino acid notation is adopted in this figure



Fig. 13 (*Left*) Equilibrated molecular dynamics (MD) snapshot of the WT Sigma1 receptor in complex with (+)-pentazocine. The image is a close-up of the receptor binding site. The ligand is shown as *colored balls* and *sticks* (C, *gray*; N, *blue*; O, *red*). The protein residues mainly involved in the interaction with (+)-pentazocine are highlighted as *labeled colored sticks*. Salt bridges and H-bond interactions are shown as *solid* and *dotted black lines*, respectively. (*Right*) Comparison of the equilibrated MD snapshots of the WT Sigma1 receptor (*orange*) and the Tyr103Ala (*gold*) mutants in complex with (+)-pentazocine. In both panels, hydrogen atoms, water and membrane molecules, ions and counterions are omitted for clarity

Tyr120 and Trp121 and the heteroaromatic condensed rings of (+)-pentazocine, and (4) highly stabilizing van der Waals and electrostatic interactions between Arg119, Ile128, and Tyr173 and the aliphatic/aromatic portions of the ligand (see Fig. 13, left panel). The salt bridge and the hydrogen bond involving Asp126 and Glu172 are responsible for stabilizing contributions of -2.89 and -1.83 kcal/mol, respectively. Substantial van der Waals and electrostatic interactions are further contributed by Arg119 (-0.98 kcal/mol), Tyr120 (-1.49 kcal/mol), Trp121 (-1.37 kcal/mol), Ile128 (-2.04 kcal/mol), and Tyr173 (-1.95 kcal/mol). Thr151 and Val152 additionally contribute -0.36 and -0.38 kcal/mol, respectively, to the stabilization of (+)-pentazocine–Sigma1 receptor binding.

Mutating residues Arg119, Ile128, and Tyr173 within the Sigma1 receptor binding site into alanine lead to an almost complete loss of ligand binding, as predicted from simulation. Accordingly, the favorable hydrophobic interactions exerted by these two residues in the binding of (+)-pentazocine are lost upon alanine substitution, resulting in 2.47 kcal/mol and 2.70 kcal/mol decrease in affinity (ΔG_{bind}) for Ile128Ala and Tyr173Ala, respectively (in agreement with the experimental specific binding = 1% and 0.4% for the two residues, Fig. 12). On the other hand, the affinity of the Tyr120Ala and Trp121Ala Sigma1 receptor mutants for (+)-pentazocine was only partly reduced (specific binding values of 62 and 76%, respectively, Fig. 12). The relevant modeling analysis reveals that, although each of these two aromatic residues concurs in stabilizing (+)-pentazocine binding mainly via $\pi - \pi$ interactions, the effect of mutating either of these two positions to alanine results in an apt rearrangement of the alternative residue side chain within the binding site and, hence, partially compensating receptor affinity loss, with an unfavorable variation in ΔG_{bind} of 0.68 kcal/mol for Tyr120Ala and 1.54 kcal/mol for Trp121Ala, respectively.

The position of residues Asp126 and Glu172, each carrying a negative charge each, within the Sigma1 receptor binding site is strategic for (+)-pentazocine binding. In this respect, the elongation of the residue side chain from aspartate to glutamate at position 126 is somewhat tolerated (affinity loss of 0.89 kcal/mol), resulting in a mild rearrangement of the protein binding pocket that preserves the main network of interactions between the ligand and the protein, the corresponding reduction in chain (specific binding 54%, Fig. 12). On the contrary, shortening the residue side chain in the Glu172Asp mutant fully abrogates the ability of the protein to bind the agonist, with a decrease of (+)-pentazocine/receptor affinity of 2.14 kcal/mol (specific binding of 0%).

Sigmal Receptor Residues Belonging to the SBDL1 and SBDLII Domains A systematic substitution of the polar (Ser and Thr) and aromatic (Phe and Tyr) amino acids of these protein regions with alanine unequivocally demonstrated that while polar residues were required in the SBDLI domain to maintain the Sigmal receptor binding site geometry, analogous substitutions in the SBDLII domain barely influenced (+)-pentazocine binding, if at all. Thus, mutating the polar and aromatic amino acids of SBDLI (Ser101, Tyr103, and Phe107) to alanine both in silico and in vitro led to a considerable decrease in the level of (+)pentazocine binding (ΔG_{bind} loss in the range 2.13–1.86 kcal/mol, experimental specific binding between 18 and 30%, Fig. 12). A likely explanation of these results is that, according to the 3D Sigma1 model, all three alanine-mutated residues are in the proximity of its transmembrane domain and, during the long molecular dynamics simulation, they promote a substantial modification of both the binding site and the surrounding protein regions (see Fig. 13, right panel). As anticipated above, in the case of the SBDLII domain residues (Thr181, Phe184, Thr189, and Phe189), the presence of alanine at these positions only modest or nil variation in receptor affinity was predicted (ΔG_{bind} variation in the range 0.59–0.03 kcal/mol), consistent with the corresponding experimental findings (specific binding 93–100%, Fig. 12). A comparison of the membrane-bound 3D model of the wild-type (WT) and SDBLII mutated Sigma1 receptor isoforms reveals that the presence of mutations at the SBDLII domain does not lead to substantial alteration of the membrane and the protein binding site and/or overall structure. Accordingly, all ligand-receptor interactions detected for the WT complex are maintained in this as well as in all other SBDLII mutated complexes examined, with no subsequent significant differences in ligand binding mode or strength.

Of note, in a previous study SBDLII was postulated to be part of the Sigmal receptor ligand binding site (Pal et al. 2008). Our studies do not support this hypothesis. It has been further proposed that SBDLII is responsible for anchoring the Sigmal receptor to the membrane and, in so doing, stabilizing the 3D structure of the protein. Once again, our combined in vitro/in silico experiments do not support this model. Taken together, our findings lead to the conclusion that the SBDLI domain is part of the binding site of the Sigmal receptor and, as such, mutations in this domain lead to a salient decrease in receptor–ligand affinity. In stark contrast, our data suggest that the SBDLII domain does not belong to the

Sigma1 receptor ligand binding site; accordingly, mutations in this protein domain exert only a marginal effect on ligand binding.

Sigmal Receptor Residues Belonging to the C-Terminal End As mentioned in Section 1, Sigma1 receptor ligand binding is abrogated when more than 15 amino acids are removed from the C-terminal end of the protein (Kahoun and Ruoho 1992). Our group further investigated this aspect by deleting 7, 15, and 23 aa residues from the C-terminal end of the Sigma1 receptor and determined the affinity of the truncated receptors for (+)-pentazocine (Brune et al. 2014). As expected, elimination of 15 and 23 C-terminal amino acids resulted in the loss of (+)pentazocine binding ability (Fig. 12). Also, removal of only seven residues from the receptor C-terminal end led to a considerable decrease in the level of (+)pentazocine binding (specific binding 37%, Fig. 12). Again, these experimental data were consistent with in silico assays based on the 3D homology model of the Sigmal receptor. While the major deletions resulted in a partially unfolded structure of the receptor missing a large portion of the ligand binding site, the affinity of the seven residue-truncated protein for (+)-pentazocine remained low, with a ΔG_{bind} value of -8.80 kcal/mol. The corresponding loss of 1.22 kcal/mol with respect to the WT receptor correlates with the 63% decrease in affinity reported by in vitro mutagenesis (Fig. 12). The seven deleted residues are not directly involved in ligand binding; however, the missing Tyr-Leu-Phe-Gly-Asn-Asp-Pro sequence results in a structural modification of the receptor that, like a domino effect, propagates along the protein backbone to the binding site. This overall configuration rearrangement directly affects three Sigma1 receptor residues most important for ligand binding, namely Arg119, Asp126, and Glu172. In particular, the interaction of Asp126 with (+)-pentazocine becomes less favorable by 1.54 kcal/mol with respect to the WT receptor, while Glu172 decreases its contribution by 1.68 kcal/mol.

Sigmal Receptor Binding Site Distal Residues The last part of our Sigma1 receptor combined in vitro/in silico mutagenesis study was devoted to ascertain whether other residues could play a critical role in binding (+)-pentazocine. Thus, several alternative positions between the SBDLI and SBDLII receptor domains were mutated into alanine. Computer-based alanine mutagenesis results suggested that the Val145Ala and Phe146Ala mutants should result in minor or minimal changes in the protein binding site conformation, the estimated corresponding decrease in affinity being 0.13 kcal/mol, 0.60 kcal/mol, respectively. These predictions were confirmed by the corresponding specific binding values, as shown in Fig. 12. In contrast, changing the basic amino acid Arg175 and the two polar residues Ser125 and Thr127 into alanine was predicted to exert a moderate (Ser125Ala and Thr127Ala) to strong (Arg175Ala) influence on (+)-pentazocine binding, resulting in a decrease in receptor affinity of 1.45 kcal/mol, 1.24 kcal/mol, and 2.02 kcal/mol for the three residues, respectively. These in silico mutagenesis data were confirmed by experimental specific binding values of 49, 45, and 10%, as shown in Fig. 12. The Ser125Ala and Thr127Ala mutations transform the environment in the

proximity of the negatively charged Asp126 from polar to hydrophobic; this, in turn, increases the ADL of the involved salt bridges with (+)-pentazocine (4.76 and 4.69 Å for Ser125Ala and Thr127Ala, respectively) and, hence, weakens their strength. The case of the Arg175Ala mutant is more complex, as experiments detect a significantly reduced affinity of this mutant Sigma1 isoform for (+)-pentazocine (specific binding 10%, Fig. 12). The calculated ΔG_{bind} is 2.02 kcal/mol lower than that of the WT Sigma1 complex, although this residue is not directly involved in (+)-pentazocine binding. Importantly, however, the corresponding molecular dynamics simulation trajectory reveals that Arg175 forms a stable, bifurcated hydrogen bond with the side chains of Tyr120 and Arg114. These residues, in turn, stabilize the conformation of Tyr173 for productive binding via another direct hydrogen. The vanishing of all these interactions upon mutating Arg175 into alanine then explains the salient reduction of Sigma1 receptor mutant affinity for its agonist ligand.

3.3 Validation by Solution CD-NMR

In 2015, Ortega-Roldan and coworkers published a combined solution circular dichroism (CD)-nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) study of a Sigma1 receptor construct in which only the first transmembrane domain and the eight-residue N-terminus have been removed (Ortega-Roldan et al. 2015). According to these authors, and independently of our published 3D homology Sigma1 receptor model, the secondary structure schematic of essentially the entire receptor was derived. In essence, the second transmembrane helix, TM2, was found to be composed of residues 91–107, which corresponds closely to the SBDLI. The cytosolic domain contains three α -helices, the third cytosolic helix cH3 (residues 81–85) being somewhat more mobile compared with the other two helices cH1 and cH2, and a modest increase in mobility of the GGW motif that joins this third cytosolic helical motif to the TM2 helix was observed.

Importantly, the experimentally determined secondary structure of the Sigma1 receptor strongly correlates with our 3D homology model, as shown in Fig. 14.

This work then constitutes the final and definitive experimental validation of the 3D homology model of the Sigma1 receptor in its monomeric form.

4 Does the Solution Structure of the Sigma1 Receptor Compare with Its Solid-State Conformation?

While writing this chapter, in early 2016 the first X-ray structure of the Sigma1 receptor was solved by Kruse and co-workers (Schmidt et al. 2016). Quite surprisingly, the solid-state structure of the receptor looks completely different from the one independently proposed by our group (Laurini et al. 2011) and solved by NMR by Schnell and colleagues (Ortega-Roldan et al. 2015), as discussed above. Indeed,



Fig. 14 (*Top*) Secondary structural motifs of the Sigmal receptor as determined by solution NMR (Ortega-Roldan et al. 2015) and (*bottom*) of the validated 3D homology model. α -helical domains are portrayed as orange cylinders, β -sheet motifs are shown as *blue arrows*, while *gray lines* represent coils and unstructured regions. In the *top panel* sequence, the TM1 region is not reported as it was missing in the Sigmal construct used in the experiment. Ortega-Roldan et al. (2015) indicated the presence of two small helices (H1 and H2, *light orange cylinders*) involving residues 121–130 and 168–174, respectively. However, these authors declare that these residues exhibited a mixed propensity for helical and extended conformation. Therefore, given the approximation of the experimental technique involved, the structure of the Sigmal receptor region including residues 120–180 agrees in both models



Fig. 15 Rendering of the solved X-ray structure of the Sigma1 receptor (PDB file: 5HK1.pdb). The three receptor chains are colored in *blue*, *green*, and *light gray*, respectively

according to Kruse himself in different public interviews (Kruse 2016), the receptor "looks a lot different from what it was supposed to look like" (see Fig. 15).

First, in contrast to the structure proposed on the basis of biochemical, molecular, in silico, and NMR data, the X-ray structure of the protein features only one instead of two transmembrane domains. Next, according to Kruse, the solid-state structure of the receptor has a "strange triangular fold," and is composed by a trimeric structure consisting of three identical copies of itself. Third, it docks unusually "half in and half out" of the membrane, rather than being completely embedded within it or floating in the cytoplasm. To support the peculiarity of the Sigma1 receptor solid-state structure, Kruse concluded his interview (Kruse 2016) by stating, "It's unlike any other protein structure we've ever seen."

So, some questions naturally arise: Which is the true structure of the Sigma1 receptor? Should we rely on the solution-solved or the X-ray-solved structure? How can such a significant difference between the two structures be explained?

In our opinion, the first question still has a long way to go before the field will be able to provide an unequivocal answer. Yet, some arguments can be proposed in response to the latter two questions. As discussed in the preceding sections of this chapter, our 3D homology model is supported by experimental ligand binding studies, mutagenesis studies, and most importantly, by the NMR studies published by Schnell and colleagues. Given the perfect match between the in silico derived model and the NMR solved structure (see Fig. 14), it is difficult to believe that the identity of the two (homology and NMR) receptor structures is a matter of pure serendipity.

The significant differences between NMR and crystal structures of membrane proteins may arise from a combination of differences in several factors, such as (1) structure determination methods, (2) environment of a packed crystal versus solution, (3) the hydrophobic environment of the membrane bilayer, (4) the membrane mimetic, and (5) specific lipid/detergent types used. The conditions adopted in the two procedures (in silico/NMR and solid state) were indeed different (micelles vs. nanodiscs and different membrane-mimetic compositions), coupled to the different solvent, temperature and protein expression/purification conditions, might result in different protein structures. In our opinion, to support the validity of the X-ray structure compared to the one derived from solution studies, it would have been informative to perform X-ray experiments under the conditions adopted for NMR/in silico experiments and vice versa (i.e., same membrane shape – micelles – and same membrane composition).

It is noteworthy that Kruse himself highlights the difficulty in explaining how a ligand can access the binding site in his model. Quoting the author: "Given the highly occluded structure of the binding pocket, it remains unclear how ligands enter and exit this site" (Schmidt et al. 2016).

There are many publications that support the two-transmembrane domain structure of the Sigma1 receptor which, of note, were not discussed by Kruse in the light of his proposed protein model.

Indeed, the two-transmembrane domain model of the Sigma1 receptor was originally proposed based on biochemical and molecular biology studies. Here are some examples. The first study to support this view was by Aydar et al. (2002). According to this study, data derived from N- and C-terminal GFP-Sigma1 receptor expression in *Xenopus* oocytes support the conclusion that the Sigma1 receptor contains two transmembrane domains, resulting in an extracellular loop of approximately 50 amino acids and an intracellular C-terminal domain of approximately 120 amino acids.

Next, according to the work of Hayashi and Su (2007) in Chinese hamster ovary cells, the topological model of the Sigma1 receptor supports the two-transmembrane model initially proposed by Aydar et al. (2002). Hayashi and colleagues combined immunocytochemistry and protease protection assays to conclude that the Sigma1 receptor possesses two transmembrane domains with amino acid residues 29–92 projecting into the cytosol and the segment starting from residue 113 to the end of the C-terminus comprising a long ER lumenal domain (Hayashi and Su 2007).

In vitro oligomeric forms of the maltose-binding protein (MBP)–Sigma1 fusion protein (MBP–S1R) (tetramer/hexamer/octamer) have been reported which depend on a helix–helix dimerization GXXXG sequence in the putative second transmembrane domain (Gromek et al. 2014).

Ruoho and colleagues have very recently devised a further experiment according to which the N- and C-termini of the Sigma1 receptor are on the same side of the membrane, again supporting the two-transmembrane structure of the receptor (Ruoho, personal communication).

In conclusion, in the light of the above arguments and pending more experimental data on the structure of the Sigma1 receptor, we propose that the protein adopts different structures under solid (revealed by the crystal structure) and solution states (revealed by the in silico and NMR models).

5 Conclusions and Future Work

This chapter reviews our current knowledge of the secondary and 3D structure of the Sigma1 receptor. There is still much work to be done in the field of Sigma1 receptor structural biology. For example, our laboratory is currently working to model the structure of the putative dimeric/oligomeric forms of the Sigma1 receptor, as shown in Fig. 16.

Fig. 16 Equilibrated molecular dynamics simulation of the dimeric model of the Sigma1 receptor. One receptor chain is portrayed as a *red ribbon*, the other as a *blue* one. Membrane molecules are evidenced as *gray sticks*. Water molecules, ions and counterions are shown as *light blue* transparent *small spheres*



The road to understanding the structural biology of the Sigma1 receptor is defined but insufficiently cobbled. The challenge of resolving the discrepancies in the field are undeniably worth all possible efforts.

References

- Aydar E, Palmer CP, Klyachko VA, Jackson MB (2002) The sigma receptor as a ligand-regulated auxiliary potassium channel subunit. Neuron 34:399–410
- Baker D, Sali A (2001) Protein structure prediction and structural genomics. Science 294:93–96
- Bordoli F, Kiefer F, Arnold K et al (2008) Protein structure homology modeling using SWISS-MODEL workspace. Nat Protoc 4:1–13
- Bowen WD, De Costa BR, Hellewell SB et al (1993) [3H](+)-pentazocine: a potent and highly selective benzomorphan based probe for Sigma1 receptors. Mol Neuropharmacol 3:117–126
- Brune S, Schepmann D, Klempnauer KH, Marson D, Dal Col V, Laurini E, Fermeglia M, Wünsch B, Pricl S (2014) The sigma enigma: in vitro/in silico site-directed mutagenesis studies unveil σ1 receptor ligand binding. Biochemistry 53:2993–3003
- Cagnotto A, Bastone A, Mennini T (1994) [3H](+)-pentazocine binding to rat brain σ1 receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 266:131–138
- Chen Y, Hajipour AR, Sievert MK, Arbabian M, Ruoho AE (2007) Characterization of the cocaine binding site on the Sigma1 receptor. Biochemistry 46:3532–3542
- Chou YC, Liao JF, Chang WY, Lin MF, Chen CF (1999) Binding of dimemorfan to Sigma1 receptor and its anticonvulsant and locomotor effects in mice, compared with dextromethorphan and dextrorphan. Brain Res 821:516–519
- Evers A, Gohlke H, Klebe G (2003) Ligand-supported homology modeling of protein binding sites using knowledge-based potentials. J Mol Biol 334:327–345
- Fontanilla D, Johannessen M, Hajipour AR et al (2009) The hallucinogen N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) is an endogenous Sigma1 receptor regulator. Science 323:934–937
- Ganapathy ME, Prasad PD, Huang W et al (1999) Molecular and ligand-binding characterization of the σ -receptor in the Jurkat human T lymphocyte cell line. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289: 251–260
- Gilson MK, Sharp KA, Honig BH (1988) Calculating the electrostatic potential of molecules in solution: method and error assessment. J Comput Chem 9:327–335
- Gohlke H, Kiel C, Case DA (2003) Insights into protein–protein binding by binding free energy calculation and free energy decomposition for the Ras–Raf and Ras–RalGDS complexes. J Mol Biol 330:891–913
- Gromek KA, Suchy FP, Meddaugh HR et al (2014) The oligomeric states of the purified Sigma1 receptor are stabilized by ligands. J Biol Chem 289:20333–20344
- Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A et al (1996) Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian Sigma1-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:8072–8077
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca²⁺ signaling and cell survival. Cell 131:596–610
- Ishiguro H, Ohtsuki T, Toru M et al (1998) Association between polymorphisms in the type 1 sigma receptor gene and schizophrenia. Neurosci Lett 257:45–48
- Kahoun JR, Ruoho AE (1992) (125I)iodoazidococaine, a photoaffinity label for the haloperidolsensitive sigma receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:1393–1397
- Kekuda R, Prasad PD, Fei YJ, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1996) Cloning and functional expression of the human type 1 Sigma receptor (hSigmaR1). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 229: 553–558
- Klouz A, Sapena R, Liu J et al (2002) Evidence for Sigma1-like receptors in isolated rat liver mitochondrial membranes. Br J Pharmacol 135:1607–1615

- Koki K, Hitomi H, Yuji I et al (1999) TAK-147, an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, increases choline acetyltransferase activity in cultured rat septal cholinergic neurons. Neurosci Lett 260: 5–8
- Kruse AC (2016) https://phys.org/news/2016-04-unique-receptor-linked-neurodegeneration.html
- Laskowski RA, MacArthur MW, Moss DS, Thornton JM (1993) PROCHECK: a program to check the stereochemical quality of protein structures. J Appl Crystallogr 26:283–291
- Laurini E, Dal Col V, Mamolo MG et al (2011) Homology model and docking-based virtual screening for ligands of the σ 1 receptor. ACS Med Chem Lett 2:834–839
- Laurini E, Marson D, Dal Col V et al (2012) Another brick in the wall. Validation of the σ 1 receptor 3D model by computer-assisted design, synthesis, and activity of new σ 1 ligands. Mol Pharm 9:3107–3126
- Laurini E, Da Col V, Wünsch B, Pricl S (2013) Analysis of the molecular interactions of the potent analgesic S1RA with the σ 1 receptor. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 23:2868–2871
- Laurini E, Harel D, Marson D et al (2014) Identification, pharmacological evaluation and binding mode analysis of novel chromene and chromane based σ 1 receptor ligands. Eur J Med Chem 83:526–533
- Lüthy R, Bowie JU, Eisenberg D (1992) Assessment of protein models with three-dimensional profiles. Nature 356:83–85
- Massova I, Kollman PA (1999) Computational alanine scanning to probe protein-protein interactions: a novel approach to evaluate binding free energies. J Am Chem Soc 121: 8133-8143
- McCann DJ, Su TP (1990) Haloperidol-sensitive (+)[3H]SKF-10,047 binding sites (σ sites) exhibit a unique distribution in rat brain subcellular fractions. Eur J Pharmacol 188:211–218
- Mei J, Pasternak GW (2001) Molecular cloning and pharmacological characterization of the rat Sigma1 receptor. Biochem Pharmacol 62:349–355
- Meyer C, Schepmann D, Yanagisawa S et al (2012) Pd-catalyzed direct C-H bond functionalization of spirocyclic σ 1 ligands: generation of a pharmacophore model and analysis of the reverse binding mode by docking into a 3D homology model of the σ 1 receptor. J Med Chem 55:8047–8065
- Moebius FF, Reiter RJ, Hanner M, Glossmann H (1997) High affinity of Sigma1-binding sites for sterol isomerization inhibitors: evidence for a pharmacological relationship with the yeast sterol C8-C7 isomerase. Br J Pharmacol 121:1–6
- Narita N, Hashimoto K, Tomitaka SI, Minabe Y (1996) Interactions of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors with subtypes of σ receptors in rat brain. Eur J Pharmacol 307:117–119
- Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Yasuda Y et al (2011) The SIGMAR1 gene is associated with a risk of schizophrenia and activation of the prefrontal cortex. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35:1309–1315
- Okuyama S, Nakazato A (1996) NE-100: a novel sigma receptor antagonist. CNS Drug Rev 2:226–237
- Ortega-Roldan JL, Ossa F, Amin NT, Schnell JR (2015) Solution NMR studies reveal the location of the second transmembrane domain of the human Sigma1 receptor. FEBS Lett 589:659–665
- Pal A, Chu UB, Ramachandran S et al (2008) Juxtaposition of the steroid binding domain-like I and II regions constitutes a ligand binding site in the σ -1 receptor. J Biol Chem 283: 19646–19656
- Palmer CP, Mahen R, Schnell E, Djamgoz MBA, Aydar E (2007) Sigma1 receptors bind cholesterol and remodel lipid rafts in breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 67:11166–11175
- Pan YX, Mei J, Xu J et al (1998) Cloning and characterization of a mouse $\sigma 1$ receptor. J Neurochem 70:2279–2285
- Polgar O, Robey RW, Morisaki K et al (2004) Mutational analysis of ABCG2: role of the GXXXG motif. Biochemistry 43:9448–9456
- Prasad PD, Li HW, Fei YJ et al (1998) Structure, analysis of promoter region, and chromosomal localization of the human type 1 σ receptor gene. J Neurochem 70:443–451
- Ramachandran GN, Ramakrishnan C, Sasisekharan V (1963) Stereochemistry of polypeptide chain configurations. J Mol Biol 7:95–99

- Rao TS, Cler JA, Mick SJ et al (1990) Neurochemical characterization of dopaminergic effects of opipramol, a potent sigma receptor ligand, in vivo. Neuropharmacology 29:1191–1197
- Rossi D, Marra A, Picconi P et al (2013a) Identification of RC-33 as a potent and selective $\sigma 1$ receptor agonist potentiating NGF-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells. Part 2: g-scale synthesis, physicochemical characterization and in vitro metabolic stability. Bioorg Med Chem 21:2577–2586
- Rossi D, Pedrali A, Gaggeri R et al (2013b) Chemical, pharmacological, and in vitro metabolic stability studies on enantiomerically pure RC-33 compounds: promising neuroprotective agents acting as σ_1 receptor agonists. ChemMedChem 8:1514–1527
- Rost B (1999) Twilight zone of protein sequence alignments. Protein Eng 12:85-94
- Schmidt HR, Zheng S, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human σ1 receptor. Nature 532:527–530
- Seth P, Fei YJ, Li HW, Huang W, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1998a) Cloning and functional characterization of a σ receptor from rat brain. J Neurochem 70:922–931
- Seth P, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1998b) Cloning and characterization of the type 1 sigma receptor from rat brain and structural analysis of the murine gene coding for the receptor. FASEB J 12: A161–A161
- Seth P, Ganapathy ME, Conway SJ et al (2001) Expression pattern of the type 1 sigma receptor in the brain and identity of critical anionic amino acid residues in the ligand-binding domain of the receptor. Biochim Biophys Acta, Mol Cell Res 1540:59–67
- Sharkey J, Glen KA, Wolfe S, Kuhar MJ (1988) Cocaine binding at σ receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 149:171–174
- Sippl MJ (1993) Boltzmann's principle, knowledge-based mean fields and protein folding. An approach to the computational determination of protein structures. J Comput Aided Mol Des 7: 473–501
- Sitkoff D, Sharp KA, Honig BH (1994) Accurate calculation of hydrate free energies using macroscopic solvent models. J Phys Chem 98:1978–1988
- Srinivasan J, Cheatham TE III, Cieplak P, Kollman PA, Case DA (1998) Continuum solvent studies of the stability of DNA, RNA and phosphoramidate-DNA helices. J Am Chem Soc 120: 9401–9409
- Su TP, London ED, Jaffe JH (1988) Steroid binding at δ receptors suggests a link between endocrine, nervous, and immune systems. Science 239:219–221
- Tam SW, Cook L (1984) Sigma opiates and certain antipsychotic drugs mutually inhibit (+)-[3H] SKF 10,047 and [3H]haloperidol binding in guinea pig brain membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 81:5618–5621
- Vriend G (1990) WHAT IF: a molecular modeling and drug design program. J Mol Graph 8:52-56
- Weber F, Brune S, Korpis K et al (2014) Synthesis, pharmacological evaluation, and σ 1 receptor interaction analysis of hydroxyethyl substituted piperazines. J Med Chem 57:2884–2894
- Wilson EB, Decius JC, Cross PC (1995) Molecular vibrations. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Yamamoto H, Miura R, Yamamoto T et al (1999) Amino acid residues in the transmembrane domain of the type 1 sigma receptor critical for ligand binding. FEBS Lett 445:19–22
- Zampieri D, Mamolo MG, Laurini E et al (2009) Synthesis, biological evaluation, and threedimensional in silico pharmacophore model for Sigma(1) receptor ligands based on a series of substituted benzo[d]oxazol-2(3H)-one derivatives. J Med Chem 52:5380–5393
- Zampieri D, Laurini E, Vio L et al (2014) Synthesis and receptor binding studies of some new arylcarboxamide derivatives as Sigma1 ligands. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 24:1021–1025
- Zampieri D, Laurini E, Vio L et al (2015) Improving selectivity preserving affinity: new piperidine-4-carboxamide derivatives as effective Sigma1-ligands. Eur J Med Chem 90:797–808

Medicinal Chemistry of σ₁ Receptor Ligands: Pharmacophore Models, Synthesis, Structure Affinity Relationships, and Pharmacological Applications

Frauke Weber and Bernhard Wünsch

Contents

1	Introduction	52
2	Pharmacophore Models	53
3	Ligands Introduction	55
4	Homologous 2-Piperazinealkanols	57
5	Bicyclic Piperazines	60
6	Spirocyclic σ_1 Receptor Ligands	64
	6.1 Homologous Fluoroalkyl Derivatives	64
	6.2 Spirocyclic Ligands with Exocyclic Amino Moiety	66
7	1,3-Dioxanes	69
8	Arylalkenylamines	71
9	Morpholinoethoxypyrazoles	72
10	3,4-Dihydro-2(1 <i>H</i>)-quinolones	74
11	Conclusion	76
Refe	erences	76

Abstract

In the first part of this chapter, we summarize the various pharmacophore models for σ_1 receptor ligands. Common to all of them is a basic amine flanked by two hydrophobic regions, representing the pharmacophoric elements. The development of computer-based models like the 3D homology model is described as

F. Weber (🖂)

Institute of Pharmaceutical and Medicinal Chemistry, Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, Corrensstr. 48, Münster 48149, Germany e-mail: fwebe 01@uni-muenster.de

B. Wünsch

Institute of Pharmaceutical and Medicinal Chemistry, Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, Corrensstr. 48, Münster 48149, Germany

Cells-in-Motion Cluster of Excellence (EXC 1003 - CIM), University Münster, Münster, Germany

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_33

well as the first crystal structure of the σ_1 receptor. The second part focuses on the synthesis and biological properties of different σ_1 receptor ligands, identified as 1-9. Monocyclic piperazines 1 and bicyclic piperazines 2 and 3 were developed as cytotoxic compounds, thus the IC₅₀ values of cell growth and survival inhibition studies are given for all derivatives. The mechanism of cell survival inhibition, induction of time-dependent apoptosis, of compound ent-2a is discussed. Experimentally determined σ_1 affinity shows good correlation with the results from molecular dynamics simulations based on a 3D homology model. Spirocyclic compounds 4 and 5 represent well-established σ_1 receptor ligands. The homologous fluoroalkyl derivatives 4 have favorable pharmacological properties for use as fluorinated PET tracers. The (S)-configured fluoroethyl substituted compound (S)-4b is under investigation as PET tracer for imaging of σ_1 receptors in the brain of patients affected by major depression. 1,3-Dioxanes **6c** and **6d** display a very potent σ_1 antagonist profile and the racemic 1,3-dioxane 6c has high anti-allodynic activity at low doses. The arylpropenylamines 7 are very potent σ_1 receptor ligands with high σ_1/σ_2 selectivity. The top compound 7g acts as an agonist as defined by its ability to potentiate neurite outgrowth at low concentrations. Among the morpholinoethoxypyrazoles 8, 8c (known as S1RA) reveals the most promising pharmacokinetic and physicochemical properties. Due to its good safety profile, 8c is currently being investigated in a phase II clinical trial for the treatment of neuropathic pain. The most potent ligand 9e of 3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinolones 9 shows promising anti-nociceptive activity in the formalin test.

Keywords

Pharmacological data • Structure (σ_1) affinity relationships • Synthesis • σ_1 Receptor ligands • σ_1 Receptor pharmacophore models

1 Introduction

The sigma-1 (σ_1) receptor is a membrane-bound protein distributed in the central nervous system and in peripheral organs like heart, kidney, and liver (Weissman et al. 1988; Samovilova et al. 1988; Ela et al. 1994). The σ_1 receptor is mainly localized at the endoplasmic reticulum and the mitochondria-associated membranes. Ruoho et al. have shown that the σ_1 receptor consists of two transmembrane regions connected by a loop. Both *C*- and *N*-terminus are located extracellularly or in the ER lumen (Chu and Ruoho 2016). Two additional hydrophobic regions of the σ_1 receptor were identified by Fontanilla et al. named steroid binding domain-like regions (SBDL I and II). With the help of *N*-substituted photoaffinity labels it was shown that the SBDL I overlaps with one of the two transmembrane regions of the σ_1 receptor forming the ligand-binding domain together with the SBDL II (Ruoho et al. 2012). σ_1 Receptors were shown to take part in the regulation of ion channels (e.g., K⁺ and Ca²⁺) and in the modulation of neurotransmitter systems (Lupardus et al. 2000; Hong and Werling 2000; Hayashi

and Su 2007). In the brain, the σ_1 receptor is particularly well expressed in areas associated with memory and emotion (Mash and Zabetian 1992). Steroids like progesterone (Su et al. 1988; Schwarz et al. 1989) and N.N-dimethyltryptamine (Fontanilla et al. 2009) were previously discussed to be endogenous ligands but their σ_1 receptor binding affinities are low compared with those of sphingosines showing high affinity in the low-nanomolar range (Ruoho et al. 2012). Since many centrally active drugs show high σ_1 affinity, σ_1 receptors represent promising targets for the research and development of drugs to treat several neurological or neuropsychiatric disorders like depression, psychosis, and cocaine abuse (Hascoet et al. 1995; Matsumoto et al. 2001; Sharkey et al. 1988; Bermack and Debonnel 2001; Ishikawa et al. 2007; Skuza and Rogoz 2006). The fact that many human cancer cell lines show up-regulated levels of σ_1 receptors brought them into focus for the development of new antitumor drugs and cancer diagnostics (Hashimoto and Ishiwata 2006). Based on various studies, Chen and Pasternak postulated that the σ_1 receptor functions as an endogenous anti-opioid receptor system (Chien and Pasternak 1993). By investigation of different σ_1 receptor ligands in animal models it was shown that σ_1 agonists inhibit morphine-induced analgesia whereas σ_1 antagonists potentiate opioid induced analgesia (Chien and Pasternak 1994, 1995). The fact that σ_1 knockout mice show reduced pain response in the formalin test but not hypersensitivity after treatment with capsaic lead to interest in σ_1 receptors as a target in the treatment of neuropathic pain (Entrena et al. 2009).

For the development of new potent σ_1 receptor ligands with high affinity several pharmacophore models have been developed and optimized. Herein the pharmacophore models reported so far are summarized and compared with respect to existing ligands.

2 Pharmacophore Models

In 1994, Glennon et al. reported a two-dimensional pharmacophore model based on deconstruction–reconstruction analysis of different flexible σ_1 receptor ligands. In this model, two hydrophobic regions flanking a basic amine represent the pharmacophoric elements required for high σ_1 affinity. A distance of 6–10 Å between the amine moiety and the primary hydrophobic region and of 2.5–3.9 Å between the amine group and the secondary hydrophobic region provides optimal binding conditions. The amine could be of primary, secondary, or tertiary nature. In case of a tertiary amine, only small substituents are allowed, whereas the amine could also be part of a ring system (e.g., piperazine ring). The primary hydrophobic region favors smaller substituents like a three-carbon chain. As the two hydrophobic binding pockets of the σ_1 receptor tolerate bulky groups, the size of substituents can vary slightly without decreasing binding affinity (Fig. 1) (Glennon et al. 1994; Glennon 2005).

Laggner et al. presented in 2005 the first computer-aided three-dimensional pharmacophore model (Fig. 2) based on 23 structurally very different σ_1 ligands.



Fig. 1 Pharmacophore model of Glennon (2005)



Fig. 2 3D- σ_1 -Pharmacophore model of Laggner et al. (2005) *red*: positive ionizable group; *blue*: hydrophobic regions

The pharmacophoric elements consist of a positive ionizable group like an amine and four hydrophobic features. The calculated distances between the pharmacophoric elements are in good agreement with the results obtained by Glennon et al. (1994).

In 2009, Zampieri et al. designed another computer-based model containing five pharmacophoric elements (Fig. 3) (Zampieri et al. 2009). The model included three hydrophobic areas in total (depicted in blue and pink), whereby two of them should have aromatic character (blue). A basic center (red) is located at a distance of 7.01 and 8.50 Å from the aromatic moieties and at a distance of 3.58 Å from the further hydrophobic elements. These distances are comparable to those postulated in the models of Glennon and Laggner. Additionally, the Zampieri model established an H-bond acceptor function, which was already defined in a pharmacophore model by Gilligan et al. This model was published in the early 1990s and did not differentiate between σ_1 and σ_2 ligands (Gilligan et al. 1992).

In 2011, Laurini et al. published the first computer-based 3-dimensional (3D) homology model of the σ_1 receptor. For the identification of a reliable ligand-binding domain, results of docking studies, mutagenesis studies, structure–affinity-relationship studies, and pharmacophore models were combined. The validation of the homology model was implemented by docking studies of well-known σ_1 ligands at the postulated binding site of the receptor, calculation of free binding



Fig. 3 Pharmacophore model of Zampieri et al. (2009) *red*: basic center; *green*: H-bond acceptor; *blue*: aromatic hydrophobic area; *pink*: hydrophobic area

energy, and comparison with the experimentally determined σ_1 affinities of these ligands (Laurini et al. 2011, 2012).

Schmidt et al. have just published a crystal structure of the σ_1 receptor for the first time (Schmidt et al. 2016). This structure was determined in complex with two different σ_1 receptor ligands, PD144418 and 4-IBP. Contrary to the early findings of Fontanilla and Ruoho (Ruoho et al. 2012) as well as Aydar et al. only one transmembrane domain of the σ_1 receptor was found in the crystal structure (Schmidt et al. 2016). This contradicts also the solution nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) results of Ortega-Roldan et al. (2015) which closely match the findings of the 3D homology model of Laurini et al. (2011).

3 Ligands Introduction

In the literature, a great variety of σ_1 receptor ligand classes are reported. These classes include piperazines 1, bicyclic compounds of type 2 and 3, spirocyclic compounds 4 and 5, 1,3-dioxanes 6, arylalkenylamines 7, morpholinoethoxypyrazoles 8, and 3,4-dihydro-2(1*H*)-quinolones 9 (Fig. 4). The synthesis and the pharmacological properties of these ligands are presented herein.



Fig. 4 Representative σ_1 receptor ligands of different compound classes. Inhibition of σ_1 receptor radioligand binding at 1 μ M concentration of test compound. *PMB p*-methoxybenzyl; *Naph* naphthyl



7a-f HCI

	Ar	NR ₂	K _i (σ ₁)
7a	4-Ph-PhCH ₂	piperidine	0.86 nM
7b	2-Naph	piperidine	0.97 nM
7c	4-Ph-PhCH ₂	4-benzylpiperidine	7.0 nM
7d	2-Naph	4-benzylpiperidine	23 nM
7e	4-Ph-PhCH ₂	morpholine	12 nM
7f	Ph	morpholine	>1000 nM



8a-f

	R^1	R^2	R ³	K _i (σ ₁)
8a	tert-buty	Н	н	>1000 nM
8b	4-chlorophenyl	н	н	18 nM
8c	2-Naph	CH_3	н	17 nM
8d	2-Naph	CH_3	CH ₃	139 nM
8e	3,4-dichlorophenyl	CH_3	CH ₃	9.4 nM
8f	3,4-dichlorophenyl	CH_3	C(C=O)CH ₃	741 nM



9a-i

	R ¹	n	NR ₂ `	K _i (σ ₁)
9a	PhCH ₂	2	morpholine	> 2000 nM
9b	PhCH ₂	3	morpholine	15 nM
9c	н	3	piperidine	89 nM
9d	CH ₃	3	piperidine	34 nM
9e	PhCH ₂	3	piperidine	1.84 nM
9f	4-F-Ph-CH ₂	3	piperidine	1.22 nM
9g	PhCH ₂	4	morpholine	60 nM
9h	PhCH ₂	5	morpholine	88 nM
9i	PhCH ₂	6	morpholine	682 nM

Fig. 4 (continued)

4 Homologous 2-Piperazinealkanols

Piperazines 1 with different hydroxyalkyl side chains represent well-established σ_1 receptor ligands. A broad structure affinity relationship study was performed based on 2-hydroxyethyl substituted piperazines with high σ_1 affinity and their larger and smaller homologs bearing hydroxypropyl or hydroxymethyl side chains. The cytotoxic activity against human cancer cell lines was tested by in vitro cell survival assays (Weber et al. 2014; Holl et al. 2012; Bedurftig and Wunsch 2004).

(S)-Serine, (S)-aspartic acid, and (S)-glutamic acid as enantiomerically pure amino acids of nature's chiral pool were used for the synthesis of homologous piperazinealkanols **1a-g**. The first reaction step includes the esterification of the particular amino acid. The dioxopiperazines **11** were prepared from the aminoesters **10** HCl in a three-step reaction sequence consisting of reductive alkylation, chloroacetylation, and ring closure with different primary amines. Reduction with



Scheme 1 Synthesis of homologous 2-piperazinealkanols **1**. Reagents and reaction conditions: (a) $(H_3C)_3SiCl$, CH_3OH , room temperature (rt), 16 h; (b) (1) Ph-CH=O, NEt₃, CH_2Cl_2 , rt, 16 h; (2) NaBH₄, CH₃OH, 0 °C, 40 min; (3) ClCH₂COCl, NEt₃, CH₂Cl₂, rt, 2.5 h; (4) R¹-NH₂, NEt₃, CH₃CN, rt, 16 h–3 d; (c) LiAlH₄, THF, reflux, 16 h. *PMB p*-methoxybenzyl, 2-*NaphCH*₂ 2-naphthyl (Weber et al. 2014; Holl et al. 2012; Bedurftig and Wunsch 2004)

LiAlH₄ led to the piperazinealkanols **1a-g** (Scheme 1). Reduction of the ester moiety of **11d** (n = 1, R = CO₂CH₃) followed by Wittig reaction of the resulting aldehyde with methyl(triphenylphosphoranylidene)acetate and subsequent reduction of the α , β -unsaturated ester led to the homologous hydroxybutyl piperazine **1g** (Weber 2012).

The σ_1 and σ_2 affinity of hydroxyalkyl piperazines **1a-g** was tested with tissue membrane preparations of animal origin (guinea pig brain, rat liver). Selected ligands (**1d-g**) were also assayed with membrane preparations bearing human σ_1 receptors to evaluate ligand-binding affinity towards σ_1 receptors from different species (Table 1).

For a high σ_1 affinity, the length of hydroxyalkyl side chain and the size of the residues at both *N*-atoms are of particular importance. Short side chains like hydroxymethyl and hydroxyethyl are well-tolerated by the σ_1 receptor leading to K_i values in the range of 4–20 nM. The σ_1 affinity of the hydroxypropyl piperazines is more than tenfold lower (e.g., **1f**, $K_i = 275$ nM). The extension of the side chain by another methylene moiety in case of hydroxybutyl piperazine **1f** leads to an increased σ_1 affinity, but the K_i value of 52 nM remained higher than the K_i value measured for hydroxymethyl and hydroxyethyl derivatives. In accordance with the pharmacophore model of Glennon postulating two hydrophobic regions, the *N*-methyl substituted piperazine **1c** does not show high σ_1 receptor affinity. The affinity increases by the introduction of a larger residue such as cyclohexylmethyl or *p*-methoxybenzyl group.

The hydroxyethyl derivatives show almost the same σ_1 affinity as the hydroxymethyl derivatives, but show reduced σ_2 affinity than hydroxyethyl piperazines. Regarding the σ_1/σ_2 selectivity, it becomes clear that the hydroxyethyl

Table (Inhibition o	f cancer cell g	rowth by piper	razinealkanols	la-g com	pared with	σ_1 and σ_2	binding aff	ìnity			
				σ1/	$\sigma_1 K_1$	IC ₅₀	IC ₅₀	IC ₅₀				
	$\sigma_1 (\mathrm{gp})^a K_i$ [nM] \pm SEM	$\sigma_2 (rat)^b K_i$ [nM] $\pm SEM$	$\sigma_1 (hu)^c K_i$ [nM] \pm SEM	σ ₂ selectivity (ratio)	(calc) [nM]	[μM] RT4 ^d	[µM] 5637°	[μΜ] Α-427 ^f	IC ₅₀ [µM] LCLC-103H ^g	IC ₅₀ [µM] DAN-G ^h	IC ₅₀ [µM] MCF-7 ⁱ	IC ₅₀ [µM] RPMI 8226 ⁱ
1a	12 ± 1.4	70 ± 10	1	6	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1b	20 ± 6.0	>1,000	1	50	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
lc	28% ^k	27% ^k	1	1	1	>20	>20	>20	>20	>20	>20	>20
1d	4.2 ± 1.1	116 ¹	21 ± 4	28	35	>20	>20	14 ± 5	>20	>20	6.8 ± 8.4	1
(ent)-	1.9 ± 0.4	60 ± 11	23 ± 8	32	1	1	>20	>20	>20	>20	1	>20
1d												
le	4.7 ± 1.8	69 ± 24	6.8 ± 2.3	15	11	>20	2.1 ± 1.9	2.5 ± 2.6	>20	>20	15 ± 2	7.3 ± 3.9
1f	275 ¹	690 ¹	711	3	1	>20	8.0 ± 5.6	>20	>20	>20	>20	>20
1 8	52 ¹	348 ¹	54 ± 26	7	I	>20	6.0 ± 4.0	9.6 ± 5.1	>20	>20	>20	>20
^a Guinez ^b Guinez ^c PRMI ^c PRMI ^c PBladde ^f Small (^f Small (^f Small (^f Small (^f Multiplit ^h Pancre ^b Parest ^h Multiplit ^k Inhibit ^k Rhhibit	 i pig brain (gp er (rat) 8226 human c adder cancer i r cancer lung cance sell lung cance as cancer e myeloma e myeloma from one mean) ancer cell line cell line er and binding at	· (hu) · [hu] μΜ concent other results at	tration of test of	compound	(% inhibi	tion)			_		

Medicinal Chemistry of σ_1 Receptor Ligands: Pharmacophore ...

derivatives are more than tenfold selective for the σ_1 over the σ_2 receptor. The PMB-substituted compound **1b** provides the best selectivity in this set of compounds with a σ_2 affinity of >1,000 nM. As a result of further chain extension, the σ_2 affinity increases leading to decreased selectivity (**1f**, K_i (σ_2) = 690 nM, **1g**, K_i (σ_2) = 348 nM).

The σ_1 affinity of **1d-g** measured with membrane preparations from a human cancer cell line (RPMI 8226) is slightly reduced compared to the affinity measured with the guinea pig brain membrane preparations. Because the same trend was found for the reference compounds haloperidol and (+)-pentazocine it can be assumed that the results of both assays are well comparable.

As the enantiomer of **1d** prepared in the same manner from (*R*)-aspartic acid shows the same σ_1 affinity, it could be assumed that the stereochemistry has only negligible influence on σ_1 receptor affinity and selectivity over the σ_2 subtype ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 1.9 \text{ nM}, \sigma_1/\sigma_2 = 32$).

The σ_1 affinity obtained with human receptor preparations was supported by docking of the ligands in the putative binding site of the 3D σ_1 receptor homology model. The calculated free binding energies are in good accordance with their recorded affinities towards the σ_1 receptor. For the most potent human σ_1 receptor ligand **1g** ($K_{i,exp.} = 6.8 \text{ nM}$) a ΔG_{bind} of $-10.85 \pm 0.36 \text{ kcal/mol}$ was calculated which corresponds to an estimated $K_i(\sigma_1)_{calcd}$ value of 11.2 nM, consistent with the experimentally determined K_i values (Weber et al. 2014).

The cell growth inhibition potential of piperazinealkanols **1c-g** was tested in seven human tumor cell lines. The potent σ_1 receptor ligand **1e** inhibited the growth and survival of the bladder cancer cell line 5637, the small cell lung cancer cell line A427, and the multiple myeloma cell line RPMI 8226 in the low micromolar range. Even at high concentrations (20 μ M) of **1e**, a growth inhibition activity could not be found for the bladder cancer cell line DAN-G. Additionally only low activity was found for the breast cancer cell line MCF-7, indicating a selective mechanism of growth and survival inhibition. Further investigation of the mechanism associated with the inhibitory activity of **1e** was performed with RPMI 8226 cells and revealed an increase in the amount of early apoptotic cells after 48 h compared to the untreated control.

5 Bicyclic Piperazines

In order to investigate the influence of conformational restriction on σ_1 receptor affinity bicyclic compounds of type **2** and **3** with diazabicycloalkan scaffold were designed by intramolecular connection of the 2-hydroxyalkyl side chain of piperazines **1** with *C*-5 of the piperazine ring. Propano- and butano-bridged homologs of **2** and **3** with diazabicyclo[3.2.2]nonane and diazabicyclo[4.2.2]decane scaffold were synthesized by an expansion of the ethano-bridge by one or two



Scheme 2 Synthesis of bicyclic diazabicycloalkanols **2** and **3**. Reagents and reaction conditions: (a) n = 1: NaHMDS, THF, $-78 \degree C$, 40 min, then (H₃C)₃SiCl, $-78 \degree C$, 1 h, then rt, 2 h (Weber et al. 2016); n = 2: LiHMDS, THF, $-78 \degree C$, 30 min, then (H₃C)₃SiCl, $-78 \degree C$, 0.5 h, then rt, 3 h (Geiger et al. 2007); n = 3: LiHMDS, THF, $-78 \degree C$, 30 min, then (H₃C)₃SiCl, $-78 \degree C$, 2 h, then rt, 0.5 h (Sunnam 2010); (b) n = 0: 1. 0.5 M HCl, THF, rt, 16 h; 2. LiAlH₄, THF, reflux, 16 h (Weber et al. 2016); n = 1: 1. *p*-TosOH, THF, H₂O, rt, 16 h; 2. LiBH₄, THF, -90 °C, 3.5 h; 3. LiAlH₄, THF, reflux, 16 h (Geiger et al. 2007) n = 2: 1. *p*-TosOH, THF, H₂O, rt, 16 h; 2. LiBH₄, THF, $-90 \degree C$, 2.5 h; 3. LiAlH₄, THF, reflux, 15 h (Sunnam 2010)

methylene moieties to elucidate the effect of bridge size on σ_1 receptor affinity (Geiger et al. 2007; Weber et al. 2016; Sunnam 2010).

Homologous dioxopiperazines 11 (n = 1-3) with different substitution pattern of the *N*-atoms were used as starting material for the synthesis of bicyclic compounds 2 and 3 (Scheme 2). The dioxopiperazine 11 (n = 3) was synthesized from racemic-2-aminoadipic acid in the same manner as explained for dioxopiperazines 11 (n = 1,2) in Scheme 1. The mixed methyl silyl ketals 12 were obtained by Dieckmann analogous cyclization of 11. The Dieckmann analogous cyclization gave only low yields for the dioxopiperazines 11 (n = 1) with acetate side chain due to the rigidity of the resulting products 12 (n = 0). The (*R*)-configuration of the ketalic center of 12 was shown by X-ray crystal structure analysis (Holl et al. 2008). Hydrolysis and reduction of 12 led to the bicyclic alcohols 2 and 3. The enantiomers *ent*-2 and *ent*-3 were obtained starting with (*R*)-configured amino acids.

In piperazinealkanols 1 the hydroxyalkyl side chain can adopt several conformations and, moreover, the piperazine ring can adopt two conformations, leading to an axial or equatorial orientation of the side chain resulting in different distances between the pharmacophoric elements. In the bicyclic alcohols 2 and 3 the additional bridge over the piperazine ring reduces the flexibility of the ring system and its hydroxyalkyl side chain. As a result of conformational restriction, the pharmacophoric elements are fixed in a defined arrangement minimizing the loss of entropy during binding and thus increasing the overall free binding energy.

The σ_1 and σ_2 receptor affinity of the bicyclic alcohols **2** and **3** was determined with tissue membrane preparations from guinea pig brain (for σ_1) and rat liver (for

 σ_2). Compounds **2a-d** and **3a-d** were also tested against human σ_1 receptors from multiple myeloma RPMI 8226 cell line membrane preparations (Geiger et al. 2007; Weber et al. 2016).

Almost all cyclohexylmethyl substituted compounds **2a-d** and **3a-d** show high σ_1 receptor affinity with K_i values in the low-nanomolar range. The only exceptions are *ent*-**2a** and **3c**, both with a K_i value of 23 nM. The extension of the ethano-bridge of **2a-c** and **3a-c** by a methylene moiety does not influence σ_1 receptor affinity since the propane-bridged homologs **2d,e** and **3d,e** show approximately the same affinity. Only **2e** and *ent*-**2e** show K_i values in the three-digit nanomolar range ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 125$ and 118 nM). However, the introduction of a second methylene moiety leads to a salient decrease in σ_1 receptor affinity, which implies that butano-bridged diazabicycloalkanols **2f** and **3f** are not tolerated by the σ_1 receptor.

The stereochemistry has only low impact on σ_1 receptor affinity since all four stereoisomers **2a**, *ent*-**2a**, **3a**, and *ent*-**3a** show the same σ_1 receptor affinity. However, in case of PMB-substituted derivatives, **2e** and *ent*-**2e** show lower σ_1 receptor affinity than **3e** and *ent*-**3e**.

The σ_1 affinity determined with human σ_1 receptor material is in good accordance with the σ_1 affinity obtained with σ_1 receptors from guinea pig brain.

Compared with the flexible hydroxyethyl piperazines 1b, 1d, and 1g, the corresponding ethano-bridged piperazines 2a-c and 3a-c reveal the same σ_1 receptor affinity. However, the conformational restriction of the hydroxypropyl piperazines 1d led to increased σ_1 receptor affinity of 2e and 3e. That is due to the higher flexibility of the hydroxypropyl piperazines 1d, e compared to their shorter hydroxyethyl homologs 1a-d. This is not valid for the butano-bridged piperazines 2f and 3f which display very low σ_1 affinity, indicating that the bridge size is too bulky for the binding pocket. Obviously the size of the butano-bridged outweighed its positive effect of conformational restriction.

The σ_1/σ_2 selectivity varies from low preference for the σ_1 receptor (**2c**: $\sigma_1/\sigma_2 = 2$) up to high selectivity for the σ_1 receptor (**3d**: $\sigma_1/\sigma_2 = 178$). The PMB-substituted derivative *ent*-**3e** ($\sigma_1/\sigma_2 = 227$) showed the highest σ_1/σ_2 selectivity.

The bicyclic compounds **2a-d** and **3a-d** were docked into the binding site of the 3D homology model to determine the free binding energies. Figure 5 illustrates the identified interactions between the high affinity compound *ent-3a* ($K_i(\sigma_{1human}) = 1.6$ nM) and the human σ_1 receptor (Weber et al. 2016).



	$\sigma_1 (\mathrm{gp})^{\mathrm{a}} K_i$ [nM] \pm SEM	$\sigma_2 (\text{rat})^{\text{b}} K_{\text{i}}$ [nM] ± SEM	$\sigma_1 (hu)^c K_i$ [nM] \pm SEM	$\sigma_1/$ σ_2 selectivity	σ ₁ K _i (calc) [nM]	IC ₅₀ [µM] RT4 ^d	IC ₅₀ [μΜ] 5637 ^e	IC ₅₀ [μM] A-427 ^f	IC ₅₀ [µM] LCLC- 103H ^g	IC ₅₀ [µM] MCF-7 ^h
2a	4.8 ± 0.7	36 ± 9.0	3.2 ± 0.4	7	19	>20	>20	16.5 ± 6.2	>20	>20
3a	6.9 ± 1.6	60 ± 26	2.4 ± 0.2	6	22	>20	9.2 ± 6.3	9.8 ± 4.3	>20	>20
<i>ent-</i> 2a	23 ± 13	197 ± 18	2.8 ± 1.0	6	12	>20	4.8 ± 3.1	2.8 ± 1.7	>20	>20
<i>ent-</i> 3a	5.7 ± 2.6	501 ± 21	1.6 ± 0.4	88	9.7	>20	>20	11.2 ± 4.8	>20	>20
2b	8.0 ± 2.0	51 ± 16	13 ± 5.0	6	6.3	12.9 ± 7.3	4.3 ± 1.8	2.3 ± 0.9	10.4 ± 0.9	7.0 ± 4.1
3b	7.1 ± 1.8	157 ± 21	7.2 ± 3.9	22	8.5	11.3 ± 5.9	4.9 ± 1.2	6.0 ± 3.8	8.8 ± 2.0	6.8 ± 1.5
2c	8.7 ± 1.2	20 ± 7.0	27 ± 9.0	2	15	I	4.9 ± 4.1	1.6 ± 1.2	3.2	1
3с	23 ± 6.0	334 ± 18	73 ± 6.0	15	18	1	>10	4.5 ± 5.7	>10	1
2d	6.0 ± 0.2	65 ± 7.0	6.4 ± 0.9	11	20	>20	>20	7.6 ± 4.7	>20	14 ± 2.8
3d	1.6 ± 0.1	284 ± 72	2.2 ± 1.1	178	17	>20	>20	10.3 ± 2.9	>20	16 ± 2.8
2e	125 ± 18	705 ⁱ	1	6	1	95 ± 14^{j}	103 ± 7.7^{j}	46 ± 11^{j}	96 ± 11^{j}	96 ± 14^{j}
3e	6.5 ± 0.7	806 ⁱ	1	124	1	93 ± 10^{i}	88 ± 10^{i}	46 ± 12^{j}	94 ± 6.9^{i}	91 ± 9.4^{j}
ent- 2e	118 ± 5.0	441 ⁱ	1	4	I	67 ± 4.2^{i}	88 ± 4.5 ⁱ	33 ± 7.8 ⁱ	77 ± 18^{j}	73 ± 9.4 ^j
ent- 3e	7.5 ± 2.1	1,700 ⁱ	1	227	1	72 ± 1.2^{i}	72 ± 33^{j}	46 ± 8.6^{j}	80 ± 3.3^{i}	76 ± 1.9^{j}
2f	298 ± 28	4,800 ⁱ	I	162	1	1	1	1	1	1
3f	25% ^k	640 ⁱ	1	I	1	1	1	1	1	1
	•									

 Table 2
 Pharmacological data for diazabicycloalkanols 2 and 3

^aGuinea pig brain (gp) ^bRat liver (rat) ^cPDMT 8226 calls (hu)

^cRPMI 8226 cells (hu) ^dBladder cancer

Bladder cancer

fSmall cell lung cancer

^gLarge cell lung cancer

hBreast cancer

Result from one measurement. All other results are from three independent experiments

Relative cell growth (%) in relation to an untreated control

kInhibition of radioligand binding at 1 µM concentration of the test compound

The calculated free binding energies of all docked compounds are in good accordance with the experimentally determined receptor binding data. For *ent*-**3a** the calculated ΔG_{bind} is -10.93 ± 0.34 kcal/mol corresponding to a calculated K_i value of 9.7 nM. This K_i value is in good agreement with the K_i values recorded with σ_1 receptors from guinea pig brain ($K_i = 5.7$ nM) and from human RPMI 8226 cell ($K_i = 1.6$ nM) membrane preparations.

The cell growth inhibition potential of compounds **2a-e** and **3a-e** was evaluated in five different cancer cell lines (Table 2). The naphthylmethyl substituted derivatives **2b** and **3b** similarly inhibited the growth and survival of all tested cell lines. The benzyl substituted derivatives **3a** and *ent*-**2a** and the biphenylylmethyl substituted compound **2c** show moderate inhibition of cell growth of the bladder cell line 5637. A clear correlation between σ_1 receptor affinity and growth and survival inhibition could not be determined, however, we did discern a trend revealing sensitivity of A-427 cell line against all tested bicyclic compounds. With the exception of **2b** and **3b**, growth and survival of the other cell lines were not inhibited at compound concentrations up to 10 or 20 μ M.

The bridge size does not show additional influence on σ_1 receptor affinity. The K_i values of **2d** and **3d** are in the same range as the K_i values of the ethano-bridged compounds **2a-c** and **3a-c**. Although IC₅₀ values are not available for compounds **2e** and **3e**, cell growth of only 33–46 % could be detected for the A-427 cell line, whereas the growth of the other cell lines was not inhibited (Geiger et al. 2007).

Further experiments directed to elucidate the mechanism of cell growth inhibition showed that *ent*-**2a** induced apoptosis in A-427 cells in a time-dependent manner (Weber et al. 2016).

6 Spirocyclic σ_1 Receptor Ligands

Spirocyclic compounds **4** represent high affinity σ_1 receptor ligands with a favorable pharmacological profile for use as fluorinated PET tracers. The homologous fluoroalkyl derivatives **4a-d** bind σ_1 receptor with K_i values in the low-nanomolar range and show high selectivity over the σ_2 receptor. The (*S*)-configured fluoroethyl substituted compound (*S*)-**4b** is currently investigated as PET tracer for imaging of σ_1 receptors in the CNS of patients suffering from major depression (Fischer et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2013; James et al. 2012). The spirocyclic σ_1 receptor ligands **5** bearing an exocyclic amino moiety allow diverse modifications by the introduction of two *N*-substituents. Furthermore, the existence of cis/trans isomerism increases the diversity of this compound class (Rack et al. 2011).

6.1 Homologous Fluoroalkyl Derivatives

The homologous fluoroalkyl derivatives **4a-d** were developed from the 2-benzofuran **15**, a ligand with high σ_1 receptor affinity ($K_i = 1.1$ nM) and high selectivity over the σ_2 receptor ($K_i = 1,280$ nM) and over 60 other receptors and ion



Scheme 3 Synthesis of homologous fluoroalkyl derivatives 4. Reagents and reaction conditions (a) HC(OCH₃)₃, p-TosOH, CH₃OH, reflux, 16 h; (b) (1) n-BuLi, 1-benzylpiperidin-4-one, THF, -95 °C, 2 h, rt, 4 h; (2) TosOH, CH₃OH, rt, 7 d; (Maier and Wunsch 2002a) (c) n = 1: (1) trimethylsilyl cyanide, tetracyanoethylene, CH₃CN, reflux, 4 h; (2) H₂SO₄, EtOH, reflux, 7.5 h; (3) LiAlH₄, Et₂O, -15 °C, 30 min; (Maier and Wunsch 2002a) n = 3: (1) allyltrimethylsilane, BF₃'OEt₂, CH₂Cl₂, -25 °C, 20 min, 0 °C, 4 h; (2) 9-BBN, THF, rt, 16 h; (3) H₂O₂, NaOH, -25 °C, 45 min, rt 1 h; (Maestrup et al. 2009) (d) DAST, CH₂Cl₂, -78 °C to rt., 17 h; (Maestrup et al. 2009) (e) [(CH₂O)₂CHCH₂PPh₃Br], K₂CO₃, TDA-1, CH₂Cl₂, reflux, 6 d; (f) (1) n-BuLi, THF, 1-benzylpiperidin-4-one, -78 °C, 1 h, rt, 16 h; (2) HCl, THF, rt, 2 h; (g) n = 2: NaBH₄, CH₃CN, 0 °C, 15 min, rt, 16 h; (Maestrup et al. 2011) n = 4: (1) ethoxycarbonylmethylentriphenylphosphorane, K₂CO₃, THF, reflux, 23 h; (2) H₂, Pd/C, EtOH, 1 bar, rt, 15 min; (3) LiAlH₄, THF, -20 °C, 30 min; (Grosse Maestrup 2010) (h) DAST, CH₂Cl₂, -78 °C to rt, 18–21 h (Maestrup et al. 2011)

channels like the hERG K⁺-channel. To eliminate the metabolically unstable acetalic function and to open up the possibility to introduce a fluorine atom into the molecule, a fluoroalkyl residue was installed instead of the acetalic moiety.

The synthesis of fluoroalkyl derivatives **4a-d** started with the acetalization of 2-bromobenzaldehyde **13** to yield the dimethyl acetal **14** (Scheme 3). Homologation of **13** with a Wittig reagent provided the α , β -unsaturated acetal **17**. Halogenmetal-exchange of the acetals **14** and **17** with *n*-BuLi followed by addition of 1-benzylpiperidin-4-one and subsequent transacetalization afforded the spirocyclic 2-benzofurans **15** and **18**. The 2-benzofuranes **15** and **18** served as key intermediates for the synthesis of alcohols **16**. The alcohols were reacted with diethylaminosulfur trifluoride (DAST) to provide the homologous fluoroalkyl
	n	$\sigma_1 (gp)^a K_i [nM] \pm SEM$	$\sigma_2 (rat)^b K_i [nM]$	σ_1/σ_2 selectivity
4a	1	0.74 ± 0.34	550 ^c	743
4b	2	0.59 ± 0.20	785 ^c	1,331
4c	3	1.4 ± 0.26	837 ^c	620
4d	4	1.2 ± 0.46	489 ^c	422
(S)-4b	2	2.3 ± 0.2	897 ^c	390
(<i>R</i>)-4b	2	0.57 ± 0.06	1,650 ^c	2,895

Table 3 σ_1 and σ_2 binding affinities of homologous fluoroalkyl derivatives **4**

^aGuinea pig brain (gp)

^bRat liver (rat)

^cResult from one measurement. All other results are from three independent experiments, and data presented as mean $K_i \pm \text{SEM}$ (standard error of the mean)

derivatives **4** (Maestrup et al. 2009, 2011; Grosse Maestrup 2010; Maier and Wunsch 2002a, b).

The σ_1 and σ_2 receptor affinity of the homologous fluoroalkyl derivatives 4 was determined with receptor material from guinea pig brain (σ_1) and rat liver (σ_2).

All four fluoroalkyl homologs **4a-d** bind with very high affinity to the σ_1 receptor $(K_i(\sigma_1) = 0.59-1.4 \text{ nM})$ with high selectivity over the σ_2 subtype (Table 3). The fluoroethyl derivative **4b**, termed fluspidine, shows the most promising ligand-binding profile $[K_i(\sigma_1) = 0.59 \text{ nM}, K_i(\sigma_2) = 785 \text{ nM})].$

All four compounds **4a-d** were also synthesized in their [¹⁸F]-labeled form for the use as PET tracers. For radiosynthesis, the alcohols 14 were transformed into the corresponding tosylates. Nucleophilic substitution of the tosylates with K[¹⁸F]F complexed with the cryptand Kryptofix 2.2.2 led to the [¹⁸F] labeled spirocyclic σ_1 receptor ligands $[^{18}F]$ **4a-d** with high radiochemical purity (>98%) and radiochemical yield (40–50%) with reaction times <30 min (Fischer et al. 2011; Maestrup et al. 2009; Maisonial et al. 2011, 2012). Because of the high target affinity and selectivity, [¹⁸F]**4b** was further evaluated in animal studies with female CD-1 mice. $[^{18}F]$ 4b showed fast and sufficient brain uptake (3.9 and 4.7%ID/g) and high metabolic stability in vivo (>94% parent compound in plasma samples after 30 min, only one metabolite was found). Good concordance between expression of σ_1 receptors and binding site occupancy with [¹⁸F]**4b** was found by ex vivo brain section imaging (Fischer et al. 2011). Due to the promising properties of the racemic compound $[^{18}F]$ 4b, the enantiomers (*R*)- and (*S*)- $[^{18}F]$ 4b were separated by chiral HPLC of the tosylate **13b** (Holl et al. 2013). The σ_1 receptor affinity was 0.57 nM for (R)-[¹⁸F]4b and 2.3 nM for (S)-[¹⁸F]4b. Thus, the (R)-enantiomer is the eutomer.

6.2 Spirocyclic Ligands with Exocyclic Amino Moiety

For the synthesis of spirocyclic ligands with exocyclic amino moiety, the dimethyl acetal **19** was reacted in a bromine lithium exchange to give an aryllithium



Scheme 4 Synthesis of spirocyclic ligands **5** with exocyclic amino moiety. Reagents and reaction conditions (a) (1) (methoxymethyl)triphenylphosphonium chloride, KO^tBu, THF, -10 °C, then rt, 16 h; (2) *p*TosOH'H₂O, MeOH, reflux, 72 h; (b) (1) *n*-BuLi, THF, -78 °C, 20 min; (2) cyclohexane-1,4-dione, -78 °C, 2 h, rt, 1 h; (3) CHCl₃, HCl, rt, 1.5 h; (4) benzylamine, THF, HOAc, NaBH(OAc)₃, rt, 2 h; (5) R-CHO, NaBH(OAc)₃, CH₂Cl₂, rt, 23 h (Rack et al. 2011)

	R	$\sigma_1 (gp)^a K_i [nM] \pm SEM$	$\sigma_2 (rat)^b K_i [nM] \pm SEM$	σ_1/σ_2 selectivity
cis-5a	CH ₃	24 ± 4.7	329 ^c	14
<i>trans-</i> 5a	CH ₃	43 ± 18	>1,000	23
cis-5b	C ₂ H ₅	107 ± 25	666 ± 106	6
cis-5c	C ₅ H ₁₁	>1,000	719 ^c	-
cis-5d	PhCH ₂	>1,000	>1,000	-

Table 4 σ_1 and σ_2 binding affinity of spirocyclic ligands **5** with exocyclic amino moiety

^aGuinea pig brain (gp)

^bRat liver (rat)

^cResult from one measurement. All other results are from three independent experiments, and data presented as mean $K_i \pm \text{SEM}$ (standard error of the mean)

intermediate. After addition to cyclohexane-1,4-dione followed by transacetalization under acidic conditions, reductive amination with benzylamine and NaBH(OAc)₃ led to the diastereomeric benzylamines *cis*-**5e** and *trans*-**5e** ($\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{H}$, Scheme 4). In order to investigate the influence of the second *N*-substituent, the benzylamines **5e** were transformed into different tertiary amines. Each isomer can adopt different conformations with axially or equatorially oriented amino substituents.

The σ_1 and σ_2 receptor affinity of spirocyclic ligands with exocyclic amino moiety **5** was determined with membrane preparations obtained from guinea pig brain (for σ_1) and rat liver (for σ_2) (Table 4).

The shift of the basic amino group to a position outside of the spirocyclic ring was envisaged to come closer to the required distances between the pharmacophoric elements (benzene ring and amino moiety) according to the models of Glennon and Laggner. The benzylpiperidin **15** (Fig. 6) shows high σ_1 receptor affinity and high selectivity over the σ_2 subtype and over other receptors and ion channels. It was found that small residues at the *N*-atom resulted in low σ_1 affinity whereas a benzyl group turned out to be optimal. The important role of the *N*-benzyl moiety can be explained by the pharmacophore model of Glennon et al. The benzene ring of the annulated pyrane ring interacts with the primary



Fig. 6 Distance calculation of spirocyclic σ_1 receptor ligands with endocyclic *N* (15) and exocyclic amino moiety (*trans*-5a and *cis*-5a)

hydrophobic region and the benzyl moiety of the *N*-atom interacts with the secondary hydrophobic region. However, the distance between the *N*-atom and the primary hydrophobic region was too small for both conformers with axially and equatorially oriented phenyl ring. Ideally, the distance should be 6-10 Å due to the pharmacophore model of Glennon et al. In case of **15** the distance was found to be 5.7 and 5.1 Å for the equatorial and axial conformer, respectively (Fig. 6). Therefore it was decided to extend the distance between the *N*-atom and the *O*heterocycle-annulated benzene ring by exclusion of the *N*-atom from the piperidine ring, resulting in spirocyclic compounds **5** with exocyclic amino group. Another advantage of an exocyclic amino moiety is the possibility to install and to modify two different residues at the *N*-atom.

As a result of the shift of the basic group, the distances between the *N*-atom and the *O*-heterocycle-annulated benzene ring of *cis*-**5a** and *trans*-**5a** are in good concordance with the distances postulated by Glennon et al. However, the decrease in σ_1 affinity ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 24$ and 43 nM) (Rack et al. 2011) provides an example of how receptor binding affinity does not strictly correspond with pharmacophore

models. Other considerations like entropic factors should be noted. The introduction of the benzylamino moiety leads to an increased flexibility of the *N*-substituent.

The σ_1 receptor affinity of **5** also depends on the second *N*-substituent. Only small groups are tolerated. For small methyl and ethyl groups, the K_i values are 24 and 107 nM, respectively. Bulky residues like pentyl- or benzyl substituents lead to a salient decrease in σ_1 binding affinity ($K_i(\sigma_1) > 1,000$ nM). Generally, *cis*-configured diastereomers show higher σ_1 binding affinity than their *trans*-configured diastereomers.

7 1,3-Dioxanes

Racemic 1,3-dioxane **6c** represents a very potent σ_1 receptor antagonist (Utech et al. 2011). With these compounds σ_1 binding affinity depends on the relative configuration of the substituents at the 2- and 4-position, size of the oxygen containing heterocycle, and length of the aminoalkyl side chain. Since the racemic compound **6c**, consisting of a six-membered *O*-heterocycle combined with an aminoethyl side chain, was found to be a promising candidate as σ_1 receptor ligand, the enantiomers were synthesized and their pharmacology evaluated.

For the synthesis of enantiomerically pure 1,3-dioxanes 6, the enantiomeric azidodiols (S)-22 and (R)-22 were prepared from diester 20 in high enantiomeric excess (Scheme 5). After silvlation of 20 and subsequent reduction, the resulting diol 21 was converted into the azidodiols (S)-22 and (R)-22 following two different pathways using lipases as chiral catalysts. Stereoselective acetalization of (S)-22 and (R)-22 with benzaldehyde or acetophenone led to enantiomerically pure azido-



Scheme 5 Synthesis of enantiomerically pure 1,3-dioxanes 6. Reagents and reaction conditions. (a) (1) Me₂PhSiCl, imidazole, CH₂Cl₂; (2) LiBH₄, Et₂O; (b) (1) IPA, lipase *Candida Antarctica* B, MTBE; (2) lipase *Burkholderia cepacia*, NaHCO₃; (3) Zn(N₃)₂ (pyridine)₂, DIAD, PPh₃, toluene; (4) K₂CO₃, CH₃OH; (5) HCl; (c) (1) IPA, lipase *Burkholderia cepacia*, MTBE; (2) Zn(N₃)₂ (pyridine)₂, DIAD, PPh₃, toluene; (3) K₂CO₃, CH₃OH; (4) HCl; (Kohler and Wunsch 2006, 2012) (d) (1) Ph-C(=O)R¹, pTosOH, toluene, Dean Stark apparatus, 4 h; (2) H₂, Pd/C, rt, 5 h; R² = PhCH₂: (3) benzaldehyde, NaBH(OAc)₃, CH₂Cl₂, rt, 16 h (Kohler et al. 2012). *IPA* isopropenyl acetate, *MTBE* methyl *tert*-butyl ether, *DIAD* diisopropyl azodicarboxylate

	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	$\sigma_1 (gp)^a K_i [nM] \pm SEM$	NMDA $(p)^{b} K_{i} [nM] \pm SEM$
(<i>S</i> , <i>R</i>)-6a	Н	Н	>10,000	>10,000
(<i>R</i> , <i>S</i>)-6a	Н	Н	>10,000	>10,000
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-6b	CH ₃	Н	>10,000	46 ± 17
(<i>S</i> , <i>S</i>)-6b	CH ₃	Н	>10,000	6,120 ± 630
(<i>S</i> , <i>R</i>)-6c	Н	PhCH ₂	6.0 ± 1.0	>10,000
(<i>R</i> , <i>S</i>)-6c	Н	PhCH ₂	50 ± 19	>10,000
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-6d	CH ₃	PhCH ₂	17 ± 2	>10,000
(<i>S</i> , <i>S</i>)-6d	CH ₃	PhCH ₂	11 ± 3	>10,000

Table 5 σ_1 and NMDA receptor binding affinities of 1,3-dioxanes **6a-d**

^aGuinea pig brain (gp)

^bPig brain cortex (p)

1,3-dioxanes, which were subsequently reduced with H_2 and Pd/C to obtain the primary amines **6a** and **6b**. Further functionalization of the amino moiety was performed by reductive monobenzylation with benzaldehyde and NaB(OAc)₃ to yield the benzylamines **6c** and **6d**.

The σ_1 and σ_2 receptor affinity of 1,3-dioxanes **6** was determined with tissue membrane preparations from guinea pig brain (for σ_1) and rat liver (for σ_2). The 1,3-dioxanes **6** were also tested against the PCP binding site of the NMDA receptor using pig brain cortex membrane preparations (Table 5).

We found that both enantiomers of the primary amines **6a** and **6b** do not bind σ_1 ($K_i(\sigma_1) > 10,000 \text{ nM}$) in this assay. According to the pharmacophore model of Glennon et al. (Glennon 2005; Glennon et al. 1994) affinity for σ_1 should increase by introducing an *N*-benzyl group as a second hydrophobic residue flanking the basic amino moiety as it is shown for the secondary amines **6c** and **6d**. In the case of benzylamines the orientation of the phenyl ring at the 1,3-dioxane ring has minimal influence on σ_1 affinity as **6a** and **6b** show comparable K_i values of 6.0 and 17 nM for the (4*R*)-configured enantiomers and 50 and 11 nM for the (4*S*)-configured enantiomers. Compound (*S*,*R*)-**6c** with equatorially oriented 2-phenyl moiety shows high σ_1 affinity ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 6.0 \text{ nM}$).

Regarding σ_1/σ_2 selectivity, we found that primary amines **6a** and **6b** do not bind σ_1 and the benzyl amines **6c** and **6d** bind σ_2 with low affinity ($K_i(\sigma_2) > 200$ nM).

Depending on the absolute configuration the primary amines **6b** with axially oriented phenyl moiety reveal high affinity to the PCP binding site of the NMDA receptor with K_i values of 46 nM ((R,R)-**6b**) but only 6,120 nM for (S,S)-**6b**, respectively. The equatorial orientation of the phenyl ring (**6a**) as well as the introduction of a benzyl group at the amino moiety (**6c** and **6d**) led to complete loss of NMDA affinity (K_i (NMDA) > 10,000 nM).

The benzyl substituted 1,3-dioxane (*S*,*R*)-**6c** represents the most potent candidate among the secondary amines with high σ_1 affinity ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 6.0$ nM) and high selectivity over the σ_2 subtype and the NMDA receptor.

In further studies performed with racemic **6c** ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 19$ nM), promising results were obtained in a capsaicin-induced pain assay with mice. In these studies,



Scheme 6 Synthesis of arylalkenylamines **7a-f**. Reagents and reaction conditions (**a**) HNR₂, PEG 400, rt; (**b**) (1) Ar-Br, t-BuLi, Et₂O, -78 °C to rt; (2) 37% HCl, rt; (3) 1 M NaOH; (4) 37% HCl, rt; (5) crystallization from acetone (Rossi et al. 2011). *Naph* naphthyl

	$\sigma_1 (gp)^{a} K_i$	$\sigma_2 (rat)^{b} K_i$	$\sigma_1/$			
	$[nM] \pm SEM$	$[nM] \pm SEM$	σ_2 selectivity	clogP	clogD	MW
7a	0.86 ± 0.4	111 ± 21	129	5.32	3.82	291.43
7b	0.97 ± 0.3	35 ± 9	36	4.66	3.07	265.39
7c	7.0 ± 0.9	18 ± 1.7	3	7.19	5.60	381.55
7d	23 ± 2.6	16 ± 1.1	1	6.53	4.86	355.52
7e	12 ± 2.0	386 ± 27	33	4.25	4.17	293.40
7f	>1,000	>1,000	-	2.61	2.51	217.31
7 g	0.70 ± 0.3	103 ± 10	147	5.43	3.00	293.45

Table 6 σ_1 and σ_2 affinity of arylalkenylamines **7a-g**

^aGuinea pig brain ^bRat liver

even a very low dose of 0.25 mg/kg, *rac*-6c has high anti-allodynic activity (Utech et al. 2011).

8 Arylalkenylamines

Arylpropenylamines of type 7 show high σ_1 binding affinity and high σ_1/σ_2 selectivity. The influence of the novel σ_1 ligands on nerve growth factor (NGF)-induced neurite outgrowth was evaluated in the in vitro PC12 cell neurite sprouting assay.

Michael addition of cylic amines to unsaturated ketone 23 led to the β -aminoketones 24. Subsequent nucleophilic aryllithium addition followed by dehydration with HCl provided the arylalkenylamines 7, which were crystallized as HCl salts (*E*)-7a-f (Scheme 6). The racemic arylalkylamine 7g was obtained by catalytic hydrogenation of 7a.

The σ_1 and σ_2 receptor binding affinity of compounds **7a-g** HCl was tested using guinea pig brain (for σ_1) and rat liver (for σ_2) membrane preparations. Additionally, the selectivity towards the PCP binding site of the NMDA receptor and against μ -and κ -opioid receptors was determined (Table 6).

Piperidinyl substituted compounds **7a** and **7b** reveal high σ_1 receptor affinity independent of the aromatic residue ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 0.86$ and 0.97 nM). Interestingly, naphthalen-2-yl- or biphenyl-4-yl residues appear to be important for high σ_1

binding affinity of morpholinyl substituted compounds since only low σ_1 affinity is found when a phenyl substituent is present as aromatic moiety (7f, $K_i(\sigma_1)$) >1,000 nM). The tested compounds show high selectivity over the σ_2 receptor subtype, opioid receptors, and NMDA receptors (the PCP binding site). High σ_2 binding affinity was found only for 4-benzylpiperidinyl substituted derivatives 7c and 7d, with K_i values of 18 and 16 nM, respectively. 7a represents the most potent and selective σ_1 receptor ligand of this set of compounds ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 0.86$ nM, $\sigma_1/\sigma_2 = 129$). Therefore the corresponding arylalkylamine 7g was included in this Receptor binding studies revealed similar σ_1 binding study. affinity $(K_i(\sigma_1) = 0.70 \text{ nM})$ and selectivity $(\sigma_1/\sigma_2 = 147)$ (Rossi et al. 2011).

clog*P* and clog*D* values were calculated for **7a-g.** Their drug-like properties were confirmed according to Lipinski's "rule of five." With the exception of **7c** (log*D* > 5) all compounds fulfill the "rule of five," i.e., clog*D* <5, molecular weight < 500, H-bond acceptors <10, and H-bond donors <5.

In order to determine whether the top compounds **7a** and **7g** function as agonists or antagonists their influence on nerve growth factor (NGF)-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells was evaluated. **7g** potentiated the neurite outgrowth at lower concentrations, consistent with agonist activity. This effect was blocked by co-treatment with the σ_1 receptor antagonist BD-1063, demonstrating the participation of σ_1 receptors. In contrast, (*E*)-**7a** did not significantly increase neurite sprouting (Rossi et al. 2011).

9 Morpholinoethoxypyrazoles

Substituted 1-arylpyrazoles with a basic amino function represent a promising class of σ_1 receptor antagonists. For high σ_1 binding affinity, the distance between the basic amino moiety and the pyrazole ring is of major importance. In previous studies an ethylenoxy spacer and a morpholino residue as the *N*-component resulted in high σ_1 affinity and excellent selectivity over the σ_2 subtype.

For the synthesis of morpholinoethoxypyrazoles **8a-f**, the 3-hydroxypyrazole **28** was prepared in a two-step reaction sequence starting from arylhydrazines **25**. At first the terminal amino group of hydrazines **25** was protected by acetylation (Scheme 7). Reaction of **26** with β -ketoesters **27** led to the 3-hydroxypyrazoles **28** with high regioselectivity. Subsequent reaction with 4-(2-chloroethyl)morpholine provided the morpholinoethoxypyrazoles **8a-f** (Diaz et al. 2012).

The σ_1 and σ_2 binding affinity of morpholinoethoxypyrazoles **8a-f** was determined with human σ_1 receptors (from transfected HEK-293 cell membrane preparations) and membrane preparations from guinea pig brain (for σ_2).

Generally, the morpholinoethoxypyrazoles **8a-f** show only very low affinity for the σ_2 receptor. Affinity for σ_1 depends on the substitution pattern of the pyrazole ring. Substitution at position 1 with aromatic residues (**8b-f**) produces high σ_1 binding affinity. Non-aromatic residues (*tert*-butyl, **8a**) produce a salient decrease in σ_1 binding affinity (Table 7). Only small residues (e.g., CH₃, H) are tolerated at 4and 5-position of the pyrazole ring. In the naphthyl series even a methyl group in



Scheme 7 Synthesis of morpholinoethoxypyrazoles **8a-f**. Reagents and reaction conditions (a) Ac₂O, toluene, rt; (b) PCl₃, 50 °C, 2 h; NaH, DMF, 60 °C, 4 h; (c) 4-(2-chloroethyl)morpholine, K₂CO₃, NaI, DMF, 95 °C, 18 h (Diaz et al. 2012)

	D1	D ²	53	σ_1 (h) ^a K_i	$\sigma_2 (gp)^b K_i$	$\sigma_1/$
	R.	R ²	R	$[nM] \pm SEM$	$[nM] \pm SEM$	σ_2 selectivity
8a	tert-butyl	Н	Н	>1,000	>1,000	-
8b	4-	Н	Н	18 ± 1.5	357 ± 357	20
	Chlorophenyl					
8c	2-Naph	CH ₃	Η	17 ± 7.0	>1,000	-
8d	2-Naph	CH ₃	CH ₃	139 ± 9	>1,000	-
8e	3,4-	CH ₃	CH ₃	9.4 ± 1.8	351 ± 400	37
	Dichlorophenyl					
8f	3,4-	CH ₃	C(=O)	741 ± 134	>1,000	_
	Dichlorophenyl		CH ₃			

Table 7 σ_1 and σ_2 binding affinity of morpholinoethoxypyrazoles **8a-f**

^aHuman σ_1 receptor from transfected HEK-293 cell membrane preparations (h) ^bGuinea pig brain membrane preparations (gp)

position 4 seems to be detrimental for high σ_1 affinity (**8d**, $K_i(\sigma_1) = 139$ nM). The introduction of larger moieties in position 4 (e.g., **8f**, C(=O)Me) produces a salient decrease in σ_1 binding affinity ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 741$ nM). The 5-alkoxy regioisomer of the most promising ligand **8c** ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 17$ nM) shows a complete loss of σ_1 affinity ($K_i > 1,000$ nM) (Diaz et al. 2012).

The high σ_1 binding affinity of naphthylpyrazole **8c** (also known as S1RA and E-52862) cannot be explained completely by the common pharmacophore models. The 2-[1-(2-naphthyl)pyrazol-3-yloxy]ethyl moiety fits well into the primary hydrophobic region of the Glennon model, tolerating sterically demanding residues. However, the morpholine ring does not fulfill the requirements to address the second hydrophobic region.

Ligands **8** with excellent σ_1 receptor binding affinity and selectivity were further evaluated for their activity at the hERG channel and for efficacy in mouse models of neuropathic pain. Naphthylpyrazole **8c** proved to be the most promising candidate with regard to metabolic stability, interaction with the hERG channel (IC₅₀ > 10 µM), and analgesic activity in different pain models (Diaz et al. 2012). It was found that **8c** shows dose-dependent analgesic effects in both the capsaicin-induced hypersensitivity and the formalin-induced pain model. In the partial sciatic nerve ligation mouse model, **8c** shows dose-dependent inhibition of thermal hypersensitivity and mechanical allodynia, comparable to the effects of pregabalin, the gold-standard for the treatment of neuropathic pain.

The selectivity of **8c** towards 170 other targets including various receptors and ion channels was shown. With the exception of moderate affinity for the human serotonin 5-HT_{2B} receptor (K_i (5-HT_{2B}) = 328 nM) other targets were not engaged by **8c**. The antagonist profile of **8c** was verified using phenytoin as an allosteric modulator of σ_1 .

The chemical properties of **8c** meet Lipinski's "rule of five." The pharmacokinetic properties were evaluated in mice. Due to the acceptable solubility and high metabolic stability, a good oral bioavailability can be assumed.

In light of all of the aforementioned properties, **8c** entered clinical trials. Passing the single and multiple dose phase I clinical study provided proof-of-concept that **8c** is safe and well tolerated by healthy humans. Thus, the development of **8c** will be continued into phase II clinical trials (Abadias et al. 2013).

10 3,4-Dihydro-2(1H)-quinolones

3,4-Dihydro-2(1*H*)-quinolones **9** were developed following the idea of combining a piperidine or morpholine basic element (as realized in the σ_1 receptor antagonist **8**c) with the quinolone scaffold, which was identified as the interacting element at the σ_1 receptor (Oshiro et al. 2000). The aim was to obtain compounds with high affinity for the σ_1 receptor and potent anti-nociceptive properties as shown for S1RA.

For the synthesis of quinolones 9, 7-hydroxyquinolone 29 was alkylated with dibromoalkans with various length of the alkyl group (Scheme 8). Subsequent reaction with morpholine or piperidine led to the amines 30, which were converted into 1-alkylated quinolones 9 by reaction with benzyl bromides or iodomethane in presence of NaH (Lan et al. 2014).

The σ_1 and σ_2 affinity of quinolones **9** was determined in competition experiments using guinea pig brain membrane preparations (Table 8).

The distance between the quinolone scaffold and the morpholine ring has a strong impact on σ_1 binding affinity. Whereas **9a** with an ethylene spacer has negligible affinity for σ_1 ($K_i(\sigma_1) > 2,000$ nM), the corresponding homolog **9b** bearing three CH₂ moieties in the side chain binds σ_1 with high affinity ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 14.8$ nM). Elongation by introduction of additional methylene moieties



Scheme 8 Synthesis of quinolones 9. Reagents and reaction conditions (a) (1) $Br(CH_2)_nBr$, K_2CO_3 , acetone, reflux; (2) HNR_2 , K_2CO_3 , KI, CH_3CN , reflux; (b) NaH, DMF or THF, 0–50 °C (Lan et al. 2014)

	R ¹	n	NR ₂ '	$ \sigma_1 (gp)^a K_i [nM] \pm SEM $	$ \sigma_2 (gp)^a K_i [nM] \pm SEM $	σ_1/σ_2 selectivity
9a	PhCH ₂	2	Morpholine	>2,000	>2,000	-
9b	PhCH ₂	3	Morpholine	14.8 ± 0.8	471 ± 38	32
9c	Н	3	Piperidine	89 ± 14	288 ± 52	3
9d	CH ₃	3	Piperidine	34 ± 3	357 ± 131	10
9e	PhCH ₂	3	Piperidine	1.84 ± 0.33	662 ± 42	360
9f	4-F-Ph-	3	Piperidine	1.22 ± 0.45	$1,301 \pm 204$	1,066
	CH ₂					
9 g	PhCH ₂	4	Morpholine	60 ± 4.4	530 ± 46	9
9 h	PhCH ₂	5	Morpholine	88 ± 5.1	$1,811 \pm 37$	20
9i	PhCH ₂	6	Morpholine	682 ± 31	2,000	-

Table 8 σ_1 and σ_2 binding affinity of 3,4-dihydro-2(1*H*)-quinolinones **9**

^aGuinea pig brain (gp)

decreased σ_1 affinity in the order n = 3 > n = 4 > n = 5 > n = 6. Compound 9i, with a hexamethylene linker, had the lowest σ_1 binding affinity of this set of compounds with a K_i value of 682 nM. Replacement of the morpholine ring of the most potent ligand 9b of this series by a piperidine ring led to an almost tenfold increase in σ_1 binding affinity ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 1.84$ nM). For the promising piperidine derivatives, the effect of the quinolinone *N*-substituent on σ_1 receptor binding was evaluated by synthesizing different substituted analogs 9c, 9d, and 9f. It has been found that small residues led to decreased σ_1 affinity compared with the *N*-benzyl substituted derivative 9e ($K_i(\sigma_1) = 1.84$ nM). In the case of substitution with a proton or a methyl group, the K_i values were only 89 nM (9c) or 34 nM (9d). The substitution of the phenyl ring with an electron-withdrawing fluorine atom led to a slight increase in σ_1 binding affinity (9f, $K_i(\sigma_1) = 1.22$ nM).

Regarding σ_1/σ_2 selectivity, it was found that the most potent σ_1 ligand **9f** has also the highest selectivity with a $\sigma_2 K_i > 1,000$ nM. For the piperidine derivatives **9c-f**, the σ_2 affinity increased with decreased size of substituents. The secondary lactam **9c** shows the highest σ_2 affinity and the lowest σ_1/σ_2 selectivity of this set of compounds ($K_i(\sigma_2 = 288 \text{ nM}, \sigma_1/\sigma_2 = 3$). The chain length between the quinolone scaffold and the morpholine residue also influences affinity for the σ_2 receptor. Compounds **9a** (n = 2), **9h** (n = 5), and **9i** (n = 6) do not show σ_2 affinity. However, compounds **9b** and **9g** with a trimethylene or tetramethylene linker displayed moderate σ_2 affinity, with a K_i of approximately 500 nM.

The most potent ligand **9f** was further evaluated for its anti-nociceptive activity in the formalin-induced pain assay. It was found that **9f** dose-dependently reduced both phases of the pain response with ED_{50} values of 49.4 ± 4.1 and 50.5 ± 2.5 mg/kg for the acute phase I and the longer-lasting tonic phase II, respectively. The σ_1 antagonist activity of **9e** was shown using phenytoin as an allosteric modulator of σ_1 .

11 Conclusion

During the past several years, the fields of σ_1 receptor chemistry and pharmacology have made remarkable progress. Various pharmacophore models of σ_1 ligands, a 3D homology model of the σ_1 receptor, its structure in solution (NMR), and its structure in the solid state (X-ray crystallography) have been reported, allowing a closer look at the binding properties of σ_1 receptors to their ligands. Evidence of σ_1 as a promising target for the development of new therapeutic approaches has been demonstrated. The σ_1 antagonist S1RA (**8c**) is currently in clinical trials for the treatment of neuropathic pain. Bicyclic piperazines **2** and **3** inhibit the growth of small cell lung cancer cells (A-427 cells) in a dose-dependent manner, demonstrating their potential as new tumor therapeutics. The (*S*)-configured spirocyclic σ_1 antagonist **4b** (fluspidine) with a fluoroethyl side chain has been developed as tracer for positron emission tomography (PET) and is currently in clinical trials for imaging and analysis of the brain of patients suffering from major depression.

Acknowledgement This work was supported by the *Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft*, which is gratefully acknowledged. The authors would like to thank Susann Rath and Melanie Bergkemper for their proofreading and especially Dirk Schepmann for his helpful input in developing this review.

References

- Abadias M, Escriche M, Vaque A, Sust M, Encina G (2013) Safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of single and multiple doses of a novel sigma-1 receptor antagonist in three randomized phase I studies. Br J Clin Pharmacol 75:103–117
- Bedurftig S, Wunsch B (2004) Chiral, nonracemic (piperazin-2-yl)methanol derivatives with sigma-receptor affinity. Bioorg Med Chem 12:3299–3311
- Bermack JE, Debonnel G (2001) Modulation of serotonergic neurotransmission by short- and long-term treatments with sigma ligands. Brit J Pharmacol 134:691–699
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1993) Functional antagonism of morphine analgesia by (+)-pentazocine-evidence for an anti-opioid sigma(1) system. Eur J Pharmacol 250:R7–R8
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1994) Selective antagonism of opioid analgesia by a sigma-system. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 271:1583–1590
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1995) Sigma-antagonists potentiate opioid analgesia in rats. Neurosci Lett 190:137–139
- Chu UB, Ruoho AE (2016) Biochemical pharmacology of the sigma-1 receptor. Mol Pharmacol 89:142–153
- Diaz JL, Cuberes R, Berrocal J, Contijoch M, Christmann U, Fernandez A et al (2012) Synthesis and biological evaluation of the 1-Arylpyrazole class of sigma(1) receptor antagonists: identification of 4-{2-[5-methyl-1-(naphthalen-2-yl)-1H-pyrazol-3-yloxy]ethyl}morpholine (S1RA, E-52862). J Med Chem 55:8211–8224
- Ela C, Barg J, Vogel Z, Hasin Y, Eilam Y (1994) Sigma-receptor ligands modulate contractility, Ca++ influx and beating rate in cultured cardiac myocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 269:1300–1309

- Entrena JM, Cobos EJ, Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Gris G, Del Pozo E et al (2009) Sigma-1 receptors are essential for capsaicin-induced mechanical hypersensitivity: studies with selective sigma-1 ligands and sigma-1 knockout mice. Pain 143:252–261
- Fischer S, Wiese C, Maestrup EG, Hiller A, Deuther-Conrad W, Scheunemann M et al (2011) Molecular imaging of sigma receptors: synthesis and evaluation of the potent sigma(1) selective radioligand [F-18]fluspidine. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 38:540–551
- Fontanilla D, Johannessen M, Hajipour AR, Cozzi NV, Jackson MB, Ruoho AE (2009) The hallucinogen N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) is an endogenous sigma-1 receptor regulator. Science 323:934–937
- Geiger C, Zelenka C, Weigl M, Frohlich R, Wibbeling B, Schepmann D et al (2007) Synthesis of bicyclic sigma receptor ligands with cytotoxic activity. J Med Chem 50:6144–6153
- Gilligan PJ, Cain GA, Christos TE, Cook L, Drummond S, Johnson AL et al (1992) Novel piperidine sigma receptor ligands as potential antipsychotic-drugs. J Med Chem 35:4344–4361
- Glennon RA (2005) Pharmacophore identification for sigma-1 (sigma(1)) receptor binding: application of the "deconstruction reconstruction elaboration" approach. Mini-Rev Med Chem 5:927–940
- Glennon RA, Ablordeppey SY, Ismaiel AM, Elashmawy MB, Fischer JB, Howie KB (1994) Structural features important for sigma(1) receptor-binding. J Med Chem 37:1214–1219
- Grosse Maestrup E (2010) Synthese, Charakterisierung und Optimierung fluorierter σ₁ Rezeptor-Liganden zur Entwicklung eines PET-Tracers für die Hirnforschung. Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster
- Hascoet M, Bourin M, Payeur R, Lombet A, Peglion JL (1995) Sigma ligand S14905 and locomotor activity in mice. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 5:481–489
- Hashimoto K, Ishiwata K (2006) Sigma receptor ligands: possible application as therapeutic drugs and as radiopharmaceuticals. Curr Pharm Des 12:3857–3876
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca2+ signaling and cell survival. Cell 131:596–610
- Holl R, Dykstra M, Schneiders M, Frohlich R, Kitamura M, Wurthwein EU et al (2008) Synthesis of 2,5-Diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octanes by Dieckmann analogous cyclization. Aust J Chem 61:914–919
- Holl R, Schepmann D, Wunsch B (2012) Homologous piperazine-alcanols: chiral pool synthesis and pharmacological evaluation. MedChemComm 3:673–679
- Holl K, Falck E, Kohler J, Schepmann D, Humpf HU, Brust P et al (2013) Synthesis, characterization, and metabolism studies of fluspidine enantiomers. ChemMedChem 8:2047–2056
- Hong WM, Werling LL (2000) Evidence that the sigma(1) receptor is not directly coupled to G proteins. Eur J Pharmacol 408:117–125
- Ishikawa M, Ishiwata K, Ishii K, Kimura Y, Sakata M, Naganawa M et al (2007) High occupancy of sigma-1 receptors in the human brain after single oral administration of fluvoxamine: a positron emission tomography study using [C-11]SA4503. Biol Psychiatry 62:878–883
- James ML, Shen B, Zavaleta CL, Nielsen CH, Mesangeau C, Vuppala PK et al (2012) New positron emission tomography (PET) radioligand for imaging sigma-1 receptors in living subjects. J Med Chem 55:8272–8282
- Kohler J, Wunsch B (2006) Lipase catalyzed enantioselective desymmetrization of a prochiral pentane-1,3,5-triol derivative. Tetrahedron-Asymmetry 17:3091–3099
- Kohler J, Wunsch B (2012) Conversion of a pentane-1,3,5-triol derivative using lipases as chiral catalysts and possible function of the lid for the regulation of substrate selectivity and enantioselectivity. Biocatal Biotransformation 30:217–225
- Kohler J, Bergander K, Fabian J, Schepmann D, Wunsch B (2012) Enantiomerically pure 1,3-Dioxanes as highly selective NMDA and sigma(1) receptor ligands. J Med Chem 55:8953–8957
- Laggner C, Schieferer C, Fiechtner B, Poles G, Hoffmann MD, Glossmann H et al (2005) Discovery of high-affinity ligands of sigma(1) receptor, ERG2, and emopamil binding protein by pharmacophore modeling and virtual screening. J Med Chem 48:4754–4764

- Lan Y, Chen Y, Xu XQ, Qiu YL, Liu SC, Liu X et al (2014) Synthesis and biological evaluation of a novel sigma-1 receptor antagonist based on 3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinolinone scaffold as a potential analgesic. Eur J Med Chem 79:216–230
- Laurini E, Dal Col V, Mamolo MG, Zampieri D, Posocco P, Fermeglia M et al (2011) Homology model and docking-based virtual screening for ligands of the sigma(1) receptor. ACS Med Chem Lett 2:834–839
- Laurini E, Marson D, Dal Col V, Fermeglia M, Mamolo MG, Zampieri D et al (2012) Another brick in the wall. Validation of the sigma(1) receptor 3D model by computer-assisted design, synthesis, and activity of new sigma(1) ligands. Mol Pharm 9:3107–3126
- Lupardus PJ, Wilke RA, Aydar E, Palmer CP, Chen YM, Ruoho AE et al (2000) Membranedelimited coupling between sigma receptors and K+ channels in rat neurohypophysial terminals requires neither G-protein nor ATP. J Physiol-London 526:527–539
- Maestrup EG, Fischer S, Wiese C, Schepmann D, Hiller A, Deuther-Conrad W et al (2009) Evaluation of spirocyclic 3-(3-fluoropropyl)-2-benzofurans as sigma(1) receptor ligands for neuroimaging with positron emission tomography. J Med Chem 52:6062–6072
- Maestrup EG, Wiese C, Schepmann D, Brust P, Wunsch B (2011) Synthesis, pharmacological activity and structure affinity relationships of spirocyclic sigma(1) receptor ligands with a (2-fluoroethyl) residue in 3-position. Bioorg Med Chem 19:393–405
- Maier CA, Wunsch B (2002a) Novel spiropiperidines as highly potent and subtype selective sigma-receptor ligands. Part 1. J Med Chem 45:438–448
- Maier CA, Wunsch B (2002b) Novel sigma receptor ligands. Part 2. SAR of spiro[[2]benzopyran-1,4'-piperidines] and spiro[[2]benzofuran-1,4'-piperidines] with carbon substituents in position 3. J Med Chem 45:4923–4930
- Maisonial A, Maestrup EG, Fischer S, Hiller A, Scheunemann M, Wiese C et al (2011) A F-18-labeled fluorobutyl-substituted spirocyclic piperidine derivative as a selective radioligand for PET imaging of sigma(1) receptors. ChemMedChem 6:1401–1410
- Maisonial A, Maestrup EG, Wiese C, Hiller A, Schepmann D, Fischer S et al (2012) Synthesis, radiofluorination and pharmacological evaluation of a fluoromethyl spirocyclic PET tracer for central sigma(1) receptors and comparison with fluoroalkyl homologs. Bioorg Med Chem 20:257–269
- Mash DC, Zabetian CP (1992) Sigma receptors are associated with cortical limbic areas in the primate brain. Synapse 12:195–205
- Matsumoto RR, McCracken KA, Pouw B, Miller J, Bowen WD, Williams W et al (2001) N-alkyl substituted analogs of the sigma receptor ligand BD1008 and traditional sigma receptor ligands affect cocaine-induced convulsions and lethality in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 411:261–273
- Ortega-Roldan JL, Ossa F, Amin NT, Schnell JR (2015) Solution NMR studies reveal the location of the second transmembrane domain of the human sigma-1 receptor. FEBS Lett 589:659–665
- Oshiro Y, Sakurai Y, Sato S, Kurahashi N, Tanaka T, Kikuchi T et al (2000) 3,4-Dihydro-2(1H)quinolinone as a novel antidepressant drug: synthesis and pharmacology of 1-[3-[4-(3-chlorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]propyl]-3,4-dihydro-5-methoxy-2(1H)-quinolinone and its derivatives. J Med Chem 43:177–189
- Rack E, Frohlich R, Schepmann D, Wunsch B (2011) Design, synthesis and pharmacological evaluation of spirocyclic sigma(1) receptor ligands with exocyclic amino moiety (increased distance 1). Bioorg Med Chem 19:3141–3151
- Rossi D, Pedrali A, Urbano M, Gaggeri R, Serra M, Fernandez L et al (2011) Identification of a potent and selective sigma(1) receptor agonist potentiating NGF-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells. Bioorg Med Chem 19:6210–6224
- Ruoho AE, Chu UB, Ramachandran S, Fontanilla D, Mavlyutov T, Hajipour AR (2012) The ligand binding region of the sigma-1 receptor: studies utilizing photoaffinity probes, sphingosine and N-alkylamines. Curr Pharm Des 18:920–929
- Samovilova NN, Nagornaya LV, Vinogradov VA (1988) (+)-[H-3]Skf 10,047 binding-sites in rat-liver. Eur J Pharmacol 147:259–264

- Schmidt HR, Zheng SD, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human sigma 1 receptor. Nature 532:527–530
- Schwarz S, Pohl P, Zhou GZ (1989) Steroid binding at sigma-opioid receptors. Science 246:1635–1637
- Sharkey J, Glen KA, Wolfe S, Kuhar MJ (1988) Cocaine binding at sigma-receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 149:171–174
- Skuza G, Rogoz Z (2006) Effect of BD 1047, a sigma(1) receptor antagonist, in the animal models predictive of antipsychotic activity. Pharmacol Rep 58:626–635
- Su TP, London ED, Jaffe JH (1988) Steroid binding at sigma-receptors suggests a link between endocrine, nervous, and immune-systems. Science 240:219–221
- Sunnam SK (2010) Synthesis of 7,9-diazabicyclo(4.2.2)decanes as conformationally restricted sigmal ligands and kappa agonists. Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster
- Utech T, Kohler J, Buschmann H, Holenz J, Vela JM, Wunsch B (2011) Synthesis and pharmacological evaluation of a potent and selective sigma(1) receptor antagonist with high Antiallodynic activity. Arch Pharm 344:415–421
- Wang X, Li Y, Deuther-Conrad W, Xie F, Chen X, Cui MC et al (2013) Synthesis and biological evaluation of F-18 labeled fluoro-oligo-ethoxylated 4-benzylpiperazine derivatives for sigma-1 receptor imaging. Bioorg Med Chem 21:215–222
- Weber F (2012) Synthese und Beziehungen zwischen Struktur, σ-Rezeptoraffinität und cytotoxischer Aktivität von überbrückten Piperazin-Derivaten und deren flexibler Analoga. Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster
- Weber F, Brune S, Korpis K, Bednarski PJ, Laurini E, Dal Col V et al (2014) Synthesis, pharmacological evaluation, and sigma(1) receptor interaction analysis of hydroxyethyl substituted Piperazines. J Med Chem 57:2884–2894
- Weber F, Brune S, Borgel F, Lange C, Korpis K, Bednarski PJ et al (2016) Rigidity versus flexibility: is this an issue in sigma(1) receptor ligand affinity and activity? J Med Chem 59:5505–5519
- Weissman AD, Su TP, Hedreen JC, London ED (1988) Sigma-receptors in post-mortem human brains. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 247:29–33
- Zampieri D, Mamolo MG, Laurini E, Florio C, Zanette C, Fermeglia M et al (2009) Synthesis, biological evaluation, and three-dimensional in silico pharmacophore model for sigma (1) receptor ligands based on a series of substituted benzo[d]oxazol-2(3H)-one derivatives. J Med Chem 52:5380–5393

Sigma-1 (σ_1) Receptor in Memory and Neurodegenerative Diseases

Tangui Maurice and Nino Goguadze

Contents

1	The Sigma-1 (σ_1) Receptor in Cellular Physiology	82					
2	Role of σ_1 Receptors in Learning and Memory						
3	Genetic Evidence in Support of a Role for σ_1 Receptors in Neurodegenerative Diseases	86					
4	Pharmacological Evidence That σ_1 Receptor Ligands Engage Neuroprotective						
	Mechanisms in Neurodegenerative Disease	88					
	4.1 Alzheimer's Disease	88					
	4.2 Parkinson's Disease	92					
	4.3 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis						
	4.4 Multiple Sclerosis	96					
	4.5 Huntington's Disease	97					
5	Conclusions	99					
Re	ferences	100					

Abstract

The sigma-1 (σ_1) receptor has been associated with regulation of intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis, several cellular signaling pathways, and inter-organelle communication, in part through its chaperone activity. In vivo, agonists of the σ_1 receptor enhance brain plasticity, with particularly well-described impact on learning and memory. Under pathological conditions, σ_1 receptor agonists can induce cytoprotective responses. These protective responses comprise various complementary pathways that appear to be differentially engaged

T. Maurice (🖂)

N. Goguadze

INSERM U1198, University of Montpellier, Montpellier 34095, France e-mail: tangui.maurice@umontpellier.fr

INSERM U1198, University of Montpellier, Montpellier 34095, France Institute of Chemical Biology, Ilia State University, Tbilisi 0162, Georgia e-mail: nino.goguadze.2@iliauni.edu.ge

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_15

according to pathological mechanism. Recent studies have highlighted the efficacy of drugs that act through the σ_1 receptor to mitigate symptoms associated with neurodegenerative disorders with distinct mechanisms of pathogenesis. Here, we will review genetic and pharmacological evidence of σ_1 receptor engagement in learning and memory disorders, cognitive impairment, and neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, multiple sclerosis, and Huntington's disease.

Keywords

Alzheimer's disease • Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis • Huntington's disease • Learning and memory • Multiple sclerosis • Neuroprotection • Parkinson's disease • σ_1 polymorphisms • σ_1 receptor

1 The Sigma-1 (σ_1) Receptor in Cellular Physiology

The sigma-1 (σ_1) receptor was initially thought to be a subtype of opioid receptors (Martin et al. 1976). It is now clearly defined as a unique membrane-associated protein (Hanner et al. 1996; Schmidt et al. 2016) with chaperone activity (Hayashi and Su 2007). It is expressed in tissue throughout the body including central nervous system (CNS) cells, in neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia (Alonso et al. 2000). Its amino acid sequence predicts a 26 kDa protein (Hanner et al. 1996; Schmidt et al. 2016). It is expressed primarily in the intracellular endomembrane networks where it associates with the glucose-related protein 78/binding immunoglobulin protein (GRP78/BiP) (Hayashi and Su 2007). It has been reported to be enriched at mitochondria-associated endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membranes (MAM) (Hayashi and Su 2007) where it regulates interorganelle calcium exchange. It also has been reported to be expressed at the plasma membrane where it associates with ceramide-enriched lipid rafts microdomains (Hayashi and Su 2007, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2010). The σ_1 receptor acts as a chaperone, binding several client proteins.

It can be activated or inactivated by numerous pharmacological compounds, including psychostimulants, antipsychotics, opioids, muscarinic receptor ligands, D2 dopamine receptor ligands, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor ligands, monoamine transporters inhibitors, serotonin reuptake inhibitors, monoamine oxidase inhibitors, steroids, some peptides like neuropeptide Y, and calcitonin generelated peptide [reviewed in (Maurice and Su 2009)]. Under physiological conditions, the σ_1 receptor is thought to be associated with the ER-resident chaperone BiP at MAM (Hayashi and Su 2007). Under acute cellular stress or in response to treatment with agonists, the σ_1 receptor dissociates from BiP and binds alternate client or partner proteins including the inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃) receptor, thus enhancing calcium entry into the mitochondria (Hayashi et al. 2000; Hayashi and Su 2007). Ca²⁺ entry into mitochondria promotes redox reactions and ATP production, thereby regulating Ca²⁺-dependent enzymes in the tricarboxylic acid cycle (Rizzuto et al. 2004). Recently, an alternative mechanism of Ca²⁺ modulation

by the σ_1 receptor has been proposed. Brailoiu et al. (2016) described that the psychostimulant drug cocaine inhibits store-operated Ca²⁺ entry (SOCE), a Ca²⁺ influx mechanism promoted by depletion of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores, in rat brain microvascular endothelial cells through a σ_1 receptor-dependent mechanism. Cocaine-induced SOCE inhibition was blocked by shRNA knockdown of the σ_1 receptor or the σ_1 receptor antagonists BD1063 and NE100. The σ_1 receptor therefore may regulate Ca²⁺ homeostasis by various intracellular signal transduction pathways involving protein–protein interactions. The σ_1 receptor appears to constitute a unique class of protein that influences a range of cellular systems. It has been shown that ectopic overexpression of σ_1 receptor or treatment with σ_1 receptor agonists can counteract ER stress, whereas decreasing its expression enhances apoptosis (Hayashi and Su 2007). In addition, after activation, σ_1 receptor can translocate to the plasma membrane or other cell compartments and bind to various receptors and membrane-associated proteins, including ion channels, kinases, G-protein coupled receptors, or trophic factor receptors (Martina et al. 2007; Navarro et al. 2010, 2013; Kourrich et al. 2013).

Among other effects with evident physiological impacts on brain plasticity and memory, activation of the σ_1 receptor modulates voltage-gated ion channels involved in the initiation and shaping of action potentials (Soriani et al. 1999; Zhang and Cuevas 2002), NMDA-induced neuronal firing in the hippocampus (Monnet et al. 1990; Martina et al. 2007), and recruitment and coupling of Ca^{2+} dependent nitric oxide synthase (NOS) to postsynaptic density protein-95 (PSD95) (Cao et al. 2005; Yang et al. 2010). The σ_1 receptor is also able to shape cellular plasticity in neuronal cells by directly modulating the activity of pleiotropic transcription factors such as nuclear factor kB (NFkB), cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) response element-binding (CREB) protein, and c-fos. These transcription factors are involved in the modulation of pro- and anti-inflammatory genes as well as cell death and survival (Meunier and Hayashi 2010). At the plasma membrane, the σ_1 receptor may directly control dendritic spine arborization by increasing Rac-GTP, in part by regulating levels of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Tsai et al. 2009). A direct interaction between the σ_1 receptor and Rac1-GTPase was described in brain mitochondria (Natsvlishvili et al. 2015). The σ_1 receptor therefore constitutes a unique class of proteins influencing and participating in a wide range of biological pathways, including Ca²⁺ signaling at the ER and controlling several families of ion channels at the plasma membrane and MAM. The σ_1 receptor helps to maintain ER-mitochondria exchanges and trigger transcription factor expression. The σ_1 receptor-mediated neuromodulation, affecting several cellular pathways, has an important role on brain plasticity either in physiological conditions, particularly learning and memory processes, or on brain preservation, particularly during neurodegenerative insults.

2 Role of σ_1 Receptors in Learning and Memory

Agonists of the σ_1 receptor are effective anti-amnesic compounds. This has been demonstrated in a number of pharmacological and pathological models of learning and memory impairment in rodents. In particular, new σ_1 agonists are routinely validated in vivo against scopolamine-induced learning deficits, a model of muscarinic acetylcholine receptor (mAChR) blockade. For instance, the σ_1 receptor agonist LS-1-137, an N-(1-benzylpiperidin-4-yl)phenylacetamide analog (Malik et al. 2015), the σ_1 receptor agonist (4R,5S)-2-(5-methyl-2-oxo-4-phenylpyrrolidin-1-yl)-acetamide [E1R; (Zvejniece et al. 2014)], or the mixed mAChR/ σ_1 receptor agonists ANAVEX1-41 or ANAVEX2-73, two diphenyl-3-furanmethanamine derivatives (Espallergues et al. 2007; Villard et al. 2009) have recently been characterized as anti-amnesic drugs against scopolamine-induced learning impairment. The efficacy of σ_1 receptor agonists as symptomatic drugs in cognition has been described not only in cholinergic amnesia models (e.g., scopolamine, mecamylamine, p-chloroamphetamine, forebrain lesions) but also in glutamatergic models of learning deficit. Learning impairment induced by the noncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist dizocilpine (MK-081) has been used to demonstrate that the positive modulation exerted by the σ_1 receptor on NMDA neurotransmission, suggested in vitro (Monnet et al. 1992b, 1995) and in vivo using extracellular recordings of the NMDA-induced firing of pyramidal neurons in the CA3 hippocampal area (Monnet et al. 1990, 1992a), has behavioral consequences. The efficacy of σ_1 receptor agonists in alleviating dizocilpine-induced learning impairment also points to the potential utility of these drugs in treating schizophrenia-related cognitive deficits, in particular since hypoglutamatergy models have been considered as highly pertinent for mimicking the negative symptoms of schizophrenia (Meltzer et al. 2013). Interestingly, σ_1 receptor ligands tested in both the scopolamine and dizocilpine models showed a similar active dose-range in vivo (Villard et al. 2009, 2011). Activation of the σ_1 receptor therefore appeared to similarly modulate the activity of the two neurotransmission systems involved in memory processes in the limbic and cortical structures, namely the cholinergic and glutamatergic systems.

The cholinergic system is crucial for learning, consolidation, and retrieval phases of the memory processes. Cholinergic basal forebrain neurons in the *nucleus basalis magnocellularis* innervate the cerebral cortex, amygdaloid complex, and hippocampus, all structures involved in memory formation (Aigner 1995). Activation of σ_1 receptors by agonists provokes ACh release. This has been shown both in vitro and in vivo. (+)-SKF-10,047, igmesine, and cutamesine (SA4503) potentiate KCl-induced release of [³H]-ACh from rat hippocampal slices (Junien et al. 1991; Horan et al. 2002). (+)-SKF-10,047, (+)-3-PPP, (+)-pentazocine, DTG, and cutamesine acutely and dose-dependently increase extracellular ACh levels in the frontal cortex and hippocampus as measured by in vivo microdialysis in freely moving rats (Matsuno et al. 1993, 1995). The mechanism by which these σ_1 receptor ligands induce ACh release involves Ca²⁺ mobilization through IP₃ receptor and voltage-gated K⁺ and Ca²⁺ channels (Hayashi et al. 2000; Foskett et al. 2007).

Some σ_1 receptor agonists enhance NMDA-induced firing in the hippocampus at very low doses (Monnet et al. 1990, 1992a, b, 1995). Neuroactive steroids with affinity for σ_1 receptors such as dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) sulfate or pregnenolone sulfate enhanced paired-pulse facilitation or facilitate induction of frequency-dependent long-term potentiation (LTP) in rat hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells (Schiess and Partridge 2005; Chen et al. 2006). The latter effect was proposed to involve Src-dependent NMDA receptor signaling and regulation of the tyrosine phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunit 2B (NR2B). Tyrosine phosphorylation of NR2B decreased after reversible forebrain ischemia in rats and improved after repetitive administration of DHEA sulfate, whereas NR1 remained unchanged (Li et al. 2006). Moreover, (+)-SKF-10,047, PRE-084, and (+)pentazocine increased the expression of NR2A and NR2B, as well as PSD95, in the rat hippocampus (Pabba et al. 2014). Treatment with σ_1 receptor agonists leads to increased interaction between NR2 subunits and σ_1 receptors and promotes trafficking of NMDA receptors to the cell surface. The σ_1 receptor interacts with NMDA receptors through the regulation of a small conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ current (SK channels). Using patch-clamp whole-cell recordings in CA1 pyramidal cells of rat hippocampus, Martina et al. (2007) described that (+)-pentazocine potentiated NMDA receptor responses and LTP by preventing the opening of SK channels, a channel known to shunt NMDA receptor responses. These electrophysiological parameters were examined in σ_1 receptor knockout (SIGMAR1 KO) mice. Using whole-cell patch-clamp recordings from CA1 pyramidal neurons, Snyder et al. (2016) observed no change in action potential or basic cellular characteristics and no change in presynaptic function, as indicated by a similar paired-pulse ratio and miniature excitatory postsynaptic current frequency. The AMPA and NMDA receptors were unaffected, with no difference in AMPA/NMDA ratio or decay kinetics, in SIGMAR1 KO compared to wild-type mice (Snyder et al. 2016). However, a small but significant reduction in the magnitude of LTP was measured, suggesting that basic cellular physiology is unaffected after σ_1 receptor ablation, but the neuronal network is partially compromised. At the behavioral level, young male SIGMAR1 KO mice, at 2 months of age, showed signs of anxiety in procedures including the open-field, passive avoidance and elevated plus-maze, and an enhanced response to stress in the forced swim test (Chevallier et al. 2011). In male animals, the σ_1 receptor ablation therefore increased stress and anxiety responses but memory responses were unchanged. However, female SIGMAR1 KO mice showed memory alterations in spontaneous alternation and water-maze learning paradigms, and this phenotype increased with age. Of note, both 2- and 14-month old female SIGMAR1 KO mice showed decreased plasma levels of 17β -estradiol and a supplementation treatment with the hormone reversed the memory deficits in young and aged mice (Chevallier et al. 2011). This suggested that σ_1 receptor ablation has a developmental impact on the steroidal tonus.

Agonists of the σ_1 receptor are promising symptomatic drugs in rodent models of cognitive alterations related to pathological aging and neurodegenerative diseases. First, igmesine and PRE-084, in the low mg/kg dose-range, improved learning ability in the senescence-accelerated mouse SAMP/8 (Maurice et al. 1996). Second,

these compounds also alleviated the memory deficits induced by amyloid toxicity in pharmacological models of Alzheimer's disease (AD). (+)-pentazocine, PRE-084, cutamesine, dimemorphan, ANAVEX1-41, ANAVEX2-73, and σ_1 receptor binding neuroactive steroids attenuated learning deficits in mice that received a direct intracerebroventricular injection of oligomerized $A\beta_{25,35}$ peptide, which produces neurotoxicity closely related to AD pathology (Maurice et al. 1996; Zussy et al. 2011). All σ_1 receptor agonists alleviated the A β_{25-35} -induced learning impairments in spatial or nonspatial tasks involving short-term as well as long-term memory. These effects were blocked by BD1047, haloperidol, BMY-14,802, and progesterone, all putative σ_1 receptor antagonists (Maurice et al. 1998; Wang et al. 2003; Espallergues et al. 2007; Villard et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2012; Maurice 2016). Of note, whereas they blocked σ_1 receptor agonist effects, the antagonists alone did not alter behavior (positively or negatively) in these models. Agonists of the σ_1 receptor are thus promising agents to treat AD symptoms, with active doses similar to or lower than the reference drugs such as rivastigmine, galantamine, and memantine (Meunier et al. 2006). The symptomatic efficacy of these compounds remains to be confirmed in a transgenic mouse model of AD.

3 Genetic Evidence in Support of a Role for σ₁ Receptors in Neurodegenerative Diseases

The gene encoding the human σ_1 receptor, *SIGMAR1*, is located on chromosome 19 band p13 and contains four exons and three introns. Polymorphisms have been identified that link *SIGMAR1* to vulnerability to or protection against neurological and psychiatric diseases. First, an association with a genetic variant of the σ_1 receptor carrying the mutation E102Q and juvenile amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) was observed in a consanguineous family, with an autosomal recessive pattern (Al-Saif et al. 2011). This highly conserved mutation among patients is located within a predicted transmembrane domain of the σ_1 receptor. Expression of *SIGMAR1*^{E102Q} in NSC34 motor neuron-like cells revealed aberrant subcellular distribution of the mutated protein, and cells expressing the mutant protein were more sensitive to apoptosis induced by ER stress (Al-Saif et al. 2011). However, another report suggested that impact of mutations in σ_1 receptor may not be so common in ALS, since only one mutation, T58C, present in the 3'-untranslated region, was identified in a population of 728 Korean ALS patients (Kim et al. 2014). The latter report questioned the causative role of σ_1 receptor mutations in ALS.

Luty et al. (2010) identified, in Australian and Polish patients with frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) and motor neuron disease (MND), a nonpolymorphic mutation (c.672*51G>T) in the 3'-untranslated region of *SIGMAR1* that increased *SIGMAR1* transcripts in lymphocytes and brain tissue. A morphological examination of the hippocampus showed that overexpression of the σ_1 receptor shunted TDP-43 and fused-in-sarcoma (FUS) proteins from the nucleus to the cytoplasm by 2.3- and 5.2-fold, respectively. Treatment of SK-NMC and SK-N-SH cells with σ_1 receptor ligands significantly altered translocation of TDP-43. The authors concluded that *SIGMAR1* may be a causative gene for familial FTLD-MND with a unique neuropathology that differs from other FTLD and MND cases, and that σ_1 receptor drugs may be potential therapeutic agents for TDP-43/FUS proteinopathies (Luty et al. 2010).

Several studies have suggested links between two polymorphisms identified in populations from different origin and the vulnerability to AD: G241T/C240T and Q2P (Uchida et al. 2005; Huang et al. 2011; Feher et al. 2012). In a population of 239 Japanese patients with AD, these two polymorphisms were in complete linkage disequilibrium with each other resulting in two haplotypes: GC241-240/Q2 and TT241-240/P2. The TT241-240/P2 homozygosity of the SIGMAR1 gene significantly reduced the risk of AD in apolipoprotein E (apoE) e4 carriers, suggesting a protective role for this haplotype in AD (Uchida et al. 2005). In a study involving 322 Hungarian late-onset AD patients and 250 elderly control individuals, the polymorphisms also appeared in nearly complete linkage disequilibrium resulting in the two previously observed predominant haplotypes (Feher et al. 2012). An association between the TT241-240/P2 variant and the risk for developing AD was observed. A potential modest interaction of the co-presence of this haplotype with apoE ε 4 allele was noted on the risk for AD (Feher et al. 2012). In a study involving an Australian cohort with 82 AD subjects and a Chinese cohort with 330 cases, a significant genetic interaction was found between the apoE ε 4 carriers and the P2 haplotype in both populations (Huang et al. 2011). In non-ApoE ε 4 carriers, patients with the P2 variant had increased cognitive dysfunction and more neurofibrillary tangles, indicative of an advanced stage of AD. However, in a group of 219 Polish patients with late-onset AD, no significant difference for the SIGMAR1 allele, genotype, haplotype, and diplotype distributions was observed as compared with the control patients group. Moreover, no interaction with apoE £4 carriers was found (Maruszak et al. 2007).

Polymorphisms and association analyses have suggested possible interactions in other neuropsychiatric diseases. In a Japanese population, Kishi et al. (2010) described a genetic association between *SIGMAR1* and major depressive disorder (MDD). After selecting the single nucleotide mutation rs1800866 (i.e., the Q2P genotype) in *SIGMAR1* for association analysis, they detected an association of the phenotype (MDD or controls) with the Q2P genotype. However, they found no association between response to serotonin reuptake inhibitor antidepressant treatment and the Q2P genotype. However, the observation suggested that the Q2P genotype may play a role in the pathophysiology of MDD in the Japanese population (Kishi et al. 2010).

Contradictory results have been reported regarding *SIGMAR1* polymorphisms and schizophrenia. Three early studies presented negative results. Ohmori et al. (2000) reported no significant difference in the distribution of the G241T and G240T polymorphisms among 129 schizophrenic patients and 140 controls. Uchida et al. (2003) described no significant association between *SIGMAR1* and schizophrenia in a meta-analysis comprising 636 schizophrenic and 779 control subjects that included previous studies and a case-control association study, between two polymorphisms of *SIGMAR1*, G-241T/C-240T and Q2P, and schizophrenia in a Japanese population. Satoh et al. (2004) analyzed the distribution of *SIGMAR1*

polymorphisms in 100 schizophrenic and 104 control subjects and no significant association was found between the T-485 A, GC-241-240TT, O2P, and G620A (A211O) variants and schizophrenia and clinical characteristics. However, more recently, two studies reported evidence in support of an association between the O2P polymorphism and schizophrenia in Japanese populations. First, Takizawa et al. (2009) analyzed 40 schizophrenic patients and 60 healthy control subjects. In schizophrenics, even after controlling for the effect of medication, the hemodynamic response in the prefrontal cortex of the Q2 genotype group was significantly greater than that of the P2 carriers. Clinical symptoms were, however, not different between the two genetic subgroups. Second, Ohi et al. (2011) did a meta-analysis of the association between the functional Q2P polymorphism and schizophrenia using combined samples, 1.254 schizophrenic patients and 1.574 healthy control subjects from previously published studies, and an additional sampling of 478 patients and 631 controls. They reported evidence in support of an association between O2P and schizophrenia, without heterogeneity across studies. Patients with schizophrenia showed lower bilateral activation of the prefrontal cortex and P2 carriers had significantly lower activation of the right prefrontal cortex, compared to subjects with the Q2 genotype. Additional evidence, particularly in ethnically diverse populations, is needed. However, these recent studies suggest that certain SIGMAR1 polymorphisms could be associated with an increased risk of schizophrenia.

Finally, the T485A polymorphism has been implicated in alcoholism. In a population of 307 alcoholic patients and 302 control subjects, Miyatake et al. (2004) observed that the transcriptional activity of the A485 allele and the TT241-240 allele was significantly reduced compared with that of the T485 allele and the GC241-240 allele and that the frequencies of the A485 allele and the TT241-240/P2 haplotype were significantly higher in control subjects compared with alcoholic subjects. They concluded that T485A and GC241-240/TT may be functional polymorphisms, and the A485 allele and TT241-240/P2 haplotype are possible protective factors in the development of alcoholism (Miyatake et al. 2004).

Pharmacological Evidence That σ₁ Receptor Ligands Engage Neuroprotective Mechanisms in Neurodegenerative Disease

4.1 Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of dementia in the world. According to the World Health Organization, 47.5 million people have dementia, and 7.7 million new cases appear per year. By 2025, the number of people aged 65 and older with AD is estimated to reach 7.1 million in the USA (data from the Alzheimer's Association). AD is clinically characterized by progressive cognitive impairment evolving towards dementia and death. At the physiopathological level, the presence of extracellular senile plaques composed primarily of amyloid- β peptide (A β) and the intracellular accumulation of neurofibrillary tangles, due to

aggregation of hyper- and abnormally phosphorylated Tau protein signal the disease and contribute to its complex pathogenesis (Selkoe 2004). Neurodegeneration indeed involves complex synergies between oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction, proteotoxic and cellular stress, calcium imbalance, neuroinflammation, hypoxia, DNA damage, synaptic alterations, and apoptosis. Clinically, the diagnosis is mainly based on cognitive evaluation using the minimental status examination (MMSE) score, but magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of hippocampal volume, visualization of plaques using positron emission tomography (PET), and analyses of blood markers like A β species or phosphorylated forms of Tau are being developed as diagnostic tools. With regard to treatment, only symptomatic therapies are currently available for AD. Standard medical treatments include the cholinesterase inhibitors donepezil, rivastigmine, galantamine, or the noncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist memantine. Psychotropic medications are used to treat secondary symptoms of AD, such as depression, agitation, and sleep disorder. More effective therapeutic agents are needed, and σ_1 receptor ligands may meet some of these needs. However, a better understanding of the σ_1 receptor in the context of AD pathophysiology will be crucial for the discovery and development of effective and potentially curative treatment strategies.

Curative treatment must simultaneously block Aß species generation (leading ultimately to the formation of senile plaques), prevent the hyperphosphorylation of Tau (responsible for the intracellular accumulation of neurofibrillary tangles), preserve mitochondrial integrity, boost neuritogenesis and dendrite connectivity, and stimulate neurogenesis to repopulate neuronal cells and maintain circuitry. Current medications based on cholinesterase inhibitors or the NMDA receptor antagonist have only demonstrated moderate efficacy in symptom management. A first achievement to enlarge the therapeutic means in AD would be to establish an effective neuroprotective agent. Depending on their impact on A β load and Tau hyperphosphorylation, such a compound may help to preserve brain structural integrity and restore altered clearance systems for aggregated amyloid and Tau species. It must, however, present a sufficiently wide mechanism of action to be able to significantly attenuate neurodegenerative disease associated oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, hypoxia, apoptotic pathways, and other processes. Since activation of the σ_1 receptor results in modulation of numerous cytoprotective pathways, σ_1 receptor agonists appeared as promising candidates and, indeed, some of them demonstrated neuroprotective properties in preclinical experimental models of AD. In vitro, the selective σ_1 receptor agonists PRE-084 and (-)-MR22 prevented A β_{25-35} -induced toxicity in rat neuronal cultures (Marrazzo et al. 2005). Afobazole, a mixed σ_1 and σ_2 receptor ligand, inhibited the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increase in rat cortical neurons after prolonged exposure to $A\beta_{25-35}$ (Behensky et al. 2013). Afobazole decreased nitric oxide (NO) production in response to $A\beta_{25-35}$, but did not affect the increase in ROS. The reductions in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and NO levels by afobazole were associated with a decrease in neuronal cell death, decreased expression of pro-apoptotic proteins Bax and caspase-3, and increased expression of the anti-apoptotic protein, Bcl-2 (Behensky et al. 2013). Interestingly, microglia also play an important role in σ_1 receptor-mediated cytoprotection against A β_{25-35}

toxicity in vitro (Behensky et al. 2013). Treatment with afobazole decreased microglial activation in response to A β , as indicated by reduced membrane ruffling and cell migration. It protected against cell death and against the induction of Bax and caspase-3 elicited by prolonged exposure of microglia to A β_{25-35} . Afobazole also prevented the decrease in ATP observed in microglia after a 24 h exposure to A β_{25-35} . These cytoprotective activities of afobazole were mediated in part by the σ_1 receptor and potentially through purinergic receptors as well (Behensky et al. 2013). These observations support the notion that the cytoprotective effects of targeting the σ_1 receptor not only involve multiple transduction systems and cellular organelles, but also regulate different cellular responses in neuronal and glial cells.

In vivo, the σ_1 receptor agonists PRE-084, (–)-MR22, ANAVEX1-41, ANAVEX2-73, DHEA, DHEA sulfate, and pregnenolone sulfate were neuroprotective in pharmacological models of AD (Meunier et al. 2006; Villard et al. 2009, 2011; Aly et al. 2011; Antonini et al. 2011; Yang et al. 2012; Lahmy et al. 2013). These σ_1 receptor ligands were administered either acutely before or chronically after injection of the pharmacological toxicant (AB25-35 peptide or aluminum chloride). The AB peptide was injected either intracerebroventricularly or locally into the hippocampal formation, and alone or combined with 192 IgG-saporin, to induce a more severe cholinergic lesion (Antonini et al. 2011). Learning impairment was prevented or attenuated in these models. These beneficial effects were accompanied by neuroprotection. Markers of oxidative stress, cholinergic tonus, neuroinflammation, induction of apoptotic pathways, and cell loss were attenuated by the σ_1 receptor agonists (Meunier et al. 2006; Villard et al. 2009, 2011; Aly et al. 2011; Antonini et al. 2011; Yang et al. 2012). In two studies, the selective σ_1 receptor agonists (-)-MR22 and PRE-084 significantly prevented APP and A β_{1-42} accumulation in the brain following 192 IgG-saporin and/or A β_{25-35} injection (Antonini et al. 2011; Lahmy et al. 2013). Lahmy et al. (2013) also examined activation of the main kinase involved in Tau hyperphosphorylation, glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK- 3β), and the level of hyperphosphorylated Tau at physiological or pathological epitopes in A_{β25-35}-treated mice. PRE-084 and ANAVEX2-73 decreased GSK-3 β activation and Tau hyperphosphorylation. Moreover, Fisher et al. (2016) very recently reported that AF710B, a mixed M1 mAChR/ σ_1 receptor agonist, administered at 10 µg/kg for 2 months to female 3xTg-AD mice, attenuated learning impairment in the water-maze, decreased BACE1 levels, GSK3ß activity, p25/CDK5 levels, and neuroinflammation. AF710B also diminished soluble and insoluble $A\beta_{1,40}$ and $A\beta_{1,42}$ accumulation, the number of plaques, and Tau hyperphosphorylation (Fisher et al. 2016). These observations suggested that chronic treatment with a σ_1 receptor agonist can alleviate accumulation of amyloid species and hyperphosphorylated Tau, a prerequisite for an effective neuroprotective and disease-modifying therapeutic agent in AD. Further studies with transgenic animal models will be important to confirm this promising observation with AF710B.

An endogenous ligand for the σ_1 receptor remains unknown. In light of the shifting paradigm that the σ_1 receptor may actually be a chaperone and not a receptor *stricto* sensu, it is conceivable that the assumption that the σ_1 receptor should have a traditionally defined endogenous ligand may be inaccurate.

Nevertheless, several endogenous molecules such as neuropeptides, neurosteroids, and the trace amine N,N-dimethyltryptamine (Su et al. 1988; Fontanilla et al. 2009) or even physiological changes, like oxidative stress (Meunier and Hayashi 2010) and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress (Hayashi and Su 2007), also have been shown to trigger σ_1 receptor activation. This raises the question of whether the σ_1 receptor functions as an endogenous neuroprotection system. To address this question, we combined invalidation of σ_1 receptor expression (using SIGMAR1 KO mice or repeated NE100 treatment) and induction of amyloid toxicity (using $A\beta_{25-35}$ injection or cross-breeding with APP_{Swe} mice to generate APP_{Swe} / SIGMAR1 KO mice) (Maurice et al. 2010, 2015). The intracerebroventricular injection of A $\beta_{25,35}$ peptide provoked learning deficits and oxidative stress in the hippocampus at lower doses in SIGMAR1 KO mice compared to wild-type animals (Maurice et al. 2010). When σ_1 receptor expression was absent in APP_{Swe}/ SIGMAR1 KO mice, animals showed significantly decreased survival compared with APP_{Swe} mice, SIGMAR1 KO mice, and wild-type animals. The spontaneous alternation response of APP_{Swe}/SIGMAR1 KO animals was lower than single transgenic and control lines between 2 and 12 months of age. Eight-month-old APP_{Swe}/SIGMAR1 KO mice showed impaired place learning in the water-maze and increased ROS level in the hippocampus, but expression of hippocampal synaptic markers (PSD95, synaptophysin) was unchanged (Maurice et al. 2015). Therefore, it appears that the absence of σ_1 receptor can worsen A β toxicity and behavioral deficits.

It must be noted that Yin et al. (2015) reported different results. The authors injected A β_{25-35} in heterozygous SIGMAR1 KO mice and reported that the peptide injection impaired spatial memory and caused cell death of pyramidal cells in the hippocampal CA1 region of wild-type mice, whereas it did not cause such impairments in heterozygous SIGMAR1^{+/-} mice. A β_{25-35} injection in wild-type mice modified the levels of NMDA-activated currents and NR2B phosphorylation in the hippocampal CA1 region in an NE100-sensitive manner. However, the $A\beta_{25,35}$ injection in SIGMAR1^{+/-} mice induced a slight increase in NMDA-activated currents and NR2B phosphorylation. Treatment with PRE-084 caused the same changes in NMDA-activated currents and NR2B phosphorylation as those in A β_{25-35} -treated wild-type or SIGMAR1^{+/-} mice. These results suggested that partial ablation of σ_1 receptor can reduce $A\beta_{25-35}$ -induced neuronal cell death and cognitive deficits by suppressing A β_{25-35} -enhanced NR2B phosphorylation. However, the report by Yin et al. (2015) is not in complete contradiction with Maurice and colleagues (2010, 2015), since Yin et al. did not use homozygous SIGMAR1 KO mice, which present no σ_1 receptor expression in the forebrain. Rather, these data suggest that the impact of the σ_1 receptor on amyloid toxicity could be complex, depending on levels of σ_1 receptor expression and activity.

Although there is growing evidence in support of the σ_1 receptor as a therapeutic target in AD, the impact of the pathology on the expression level of σ_1 receptor is still poorly documented, particularly in terms of precise densities in the vulnerable brain structures and during the different phases of the disease. Using autoradiography and the non-selective σ_1/σ_2 receptor ligand ³H-DTG, a significant 26% loss of

binding sites was noted in the CA1 *stratum pyramidale* region of the hippocampus of AD patients as compared to healthy controls (Jansen et al. 1993). The loss of σ_1/σ_2 sites correlated with a 29% loss of pyramidal cells. Then, a loss of σ_1 sites was observed using PET imaging in the brain of AD patients (Mishina et al. 2008). The binding potency of ¹¹C-SA4503 was reduced in the frontal lobe, temporal lobe, occipital lobe, cerebellum, and thalamus of early AD patients compared to healthy control subjects, however, this was not observed in the hippocampus (Mishina et al. 2008). It therefore appears that in AD, a decreased level of σ_1 receptor in certain brain regions is associated with specific cell loss in vulnerable cell populations in those regions. However, correlation between the decrease in σ_1 receptor binding potency and pathological stage or its response to a σ_1 receptor agonist-based treatment has not been established.

4.2 Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a progressive multi-system neurodegenerative disease affecting people mainly in later years of life. The prevalence of PD in developed countries is generally estimated at 0.3% of the population and about 1% in people over 60 years of age (de Lau and Breteler 2006). The prevalence increases with age both for men and women (de Rijk et al. 1997). The disease is characterized by specific neuropathological hallmarks. There is formation of abnormal spherical bodies mainly composed of α-synuclein protein, named Lewy bodies, and spindleor thread-like Lewy neurites in the neuronal soma, starting at precise induction sites and progressing in a topographically predictable sequence within the brain (Braak et al. 2004). Degeneration of dopaminergic nigrostriatal neurons presenting Lewy bodies is regarded as the primary neuropathological correlate of motor impairment in PD, but glutamatergic, cholinergic, GABAergic, tryptaminergic, noradrenergic, and adrenergic neurons may show similar intracellular damage (Braak and Braak 2000). A key pathological factor of PD is mitochondrial dysfunction which is closely related to increased ROS formation. Complex I deficiencies of the respiratory chain account for the majority of unfavorable neural apoptosis generation and are considered one of the primary sources of ROS in PD. It has also been reported that genetic mutations in proteins including α -synuclein, parkin, and phosphatase and tensin homolog induced putative kinase (PINK) are linked to the familial forms of PD. Mutations of these genes have been known to affect mitochondrial function and increase oxidative stress. The exact cause is still undetermined and, although there is presently no cure, treatments such as medication and surgery are used to manage its symptoms (Sveinbjornsdottir 2016). The clinical symptoms in PD are usually defined by motor disturbances but there may be disturbances in several other functions of the nervous system. The symptoms are categorized into motor and non-motor symptoms, and some of them may be provoked or aggravated by the dopaminergic treatment (Sveinbjornsdottir 2016). Evidence that σ_1 receptor activity impacts dopaminergic neurotransmission was initially described in the mid-1980s (Freeman and Bunney 1984; Wachtel and White 1988). More recently,

the σ_1 receptor has been shown to bind dopaminergic psychostimulants such as cocaine and methamphetamine and to be involved in their behavioral and cellular effects including hyperactivity, addiction, and neurotoxicity [for reviews, see (Maurice et al. 2002; Maurice and Romieu 2004; Maurice and Su 2009; Yadid et al. 2010; Robson et al. 2012)]. Analyses of the cellular role of σ_1 receptors in DA neurons confirmed their interest in PD. For instance, Mori et al. (2012) described an association between σ_1 receptors and dopamine (DA)-induced cytotoxicity in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells. Physiologically relevant concentrations of DA provoked apoptosis in SIGMAR1 knockdown CHO cells and a synergistic conversion of nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) p105 to its active form p50, known to down-regulate the transcription of the anti-apoptotic factor Bcl-2 (Mori et al. 2012). Endogenous σ_1 receptors therefore tonically inhibit the proteasomal conversion/ activation of NF- κ B induced by physiological DA, suggesting that the σ_1 receptor may be a therapeutic target for the treatment of PD. The mapping of σ_1 receptors in PD was reported by Mishina et al. (2005), using PET imaging with $[^{11}C]SA4503$. The authors assessed whether σ_1 receptors are altered in the damaged dopaminergic system. The binding potential of [¹¹C]SA4503 appeared significantly lower in the more damaged side of the anterior putamen but with no BP difference between PD patients and controls. DA release was therefore reduced asymmetrically in the putamen of early PD. The authors suggested that $[^{11}C]SA4503$ PET could be an indicator of presynaptic dopaminergic damage in PD (Mishina et al. 2005). In a recent report, Francardo et al. (2014) treated mice presenting a striatal lesion with 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA), a pertinent pharmacological model of PD, with the σ_1 receptor agonist PRE-084. At 0.3 mg/kg, the drug produced a gradual improvement of spontaneous forelimb use. The behavioral recovery paralleled the increase in DA fiber density in the denervated striatum, a modest recovery of DA levels, and an upregulation of BDNF and GDNF neurotrophic factors and their downstream effectors ERK1/2 and Akt (Francardo et al. 2014). No effect of PRE-084 treatment was observed in SIGMAR1 KO mice lesioned with 6-OHDA, confirming the pharmacology. Interestingly, σ_1 receptor immunoreactivity was observed in astrocytes and neurons in the substantia nigra and striatum and its intracellular distribution was modified by PRE-084. The σ_1 receptor therefore appeared to regulate an endogenous neuroprotection mechanism and restorative plasticity in experimental PD, suggesting therapeutic potential for effective σ_1 receptor agonists.

However, Hong et al. (2015) reported contradictory results using the 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) model in mice, a mitochondrial neurotoxicant targeting nigrostriatal DA neurons. The authors proposed that σ_1 receptor *deficiency* could reduce MPTP-induced death of dopaminergic neurons through suppression of NMDA receptor function and DA transporter expression. They used heterozygous and homozygous *SIGMAR1* KO (*SIGMAR1*^{+/-} and *SIGMAR1*^{-/-}, respectively) mice and observed that MPTP treatment for 5 weeks in wild-type mice caused motor deficits and DA neurons death in substantia nigra *pars compacta* with an increase in NMDA receptor NR2B phosphorylation. This was not observed in *SIGMAR1* KO mice. The σ_1 receptor antagonist NE100 or the NR2B inhibitor Ro25-6981 alleviated the motor deficits and death of DA neurons in MPTP-treated wild-type mice. But (MPTP + PRE-084)-treated *SIGMAR1*^{+/-} mice showed similar motor deficits and loss of DA neurons as MPTP-treated wild-type mice. Pharmacological and genetic inactivation of σ_1 receptor suppressed the expression of DA transporter in substantia nigra, and it was corrected by NMDA. PRE-084 enhanced DA transporter expression in wild-type mice or *SIGMAR1*^{+/-} mice (Hong et al. 2015). These data, which contradicted all the previously reported cellular and pharmacological observations, were obtained in a different model as used by Francardo et al. (2014). Since MPTP is a mitochondrial toxicant, a putative direct or indirect interaction of MPTP with σ_1 receptor, localized preferentially at the mitochondria-associated ER membranes (MAM) (Hayashi and Su 2007) and therefore impacting directly mitochondrial physiology, could explain these results. A further characterization of the model is therefore necessary to reconcile the data of Hong et al. (2015) and Francardo et al. (2014).

However, σ_1 receptor agonists appear as the most promising agents for developing neuroprotective treatment strategies, particularly in PD. As it has been reported in animal models, σ_1 receptor ligands are effective in early stages of the disease. It will be important to study what happens in later stages of disease that might shift, inactivate, or otherwise change response of the receptor: is it due to inactivation/ involvement of σ_1 receptor in different biochemical process or due to other changes in the cells' requirements of σ_1 receptors associated with progression of the pathology? Furthermore, what is the role of σ_1 receptor in prodromal/preclinical markers of PD, non-motor, extra-nigral symptoms including olfactory and autonomic dysfunctions or cognitive and sleep disturbances?

4.3 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is the most widespread type of motor neuron disease and has become the third most common neurodegenerative disease in the world (Logroscino et al. 2010). It is a fatal condition clinically presented by progressive weakness, atrophy, and spasticity of muscle tissue reflecting the degeneration of both upper and lower motor neurons in the cortex, brainstem, and spinal cord. There has been no effective therapeutic approach to halt the progression of the disease so far. Currently, symptom management treatments directed at the clinical manifestation of the disease are the only available ALS therapies. Riluzole, a drug that reduces the levels of excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate, is one of the medications which is able to give several months of extended life to patients with ALS (Cheah et al. 2010). Presentation, course, and progression of ALS are heterogeneous. Most cases of the disease are diagnosed based on symptoms, physical signs, electromyography, and tests excluding the overlapping conditions (Hardiman et al. 2011). However, the etiology of ALS is not fully understood and data show that 90% of ALS cases are sporadic cases (sALS). The other 10% are familial cases (fALS), with a Mendelian mode of inheritance. It suggests that genetic factors may play an important role in ALS (Forbes et al. 2004). However in fALS, more than 20 causative genes have been identified and a number of potential causative or disease-modifying genes that have also been described. It remains therefore challenging to detect pathogenic mutations or risk variants for each ALS individual.

Mavlyutov et al. (2013) first demonstrated that the lifespan of the SOD1^{G93A} mouse model of ALS decreases when crossed with SIGMAR1 KO mice. In the disease, synaptic coverage of motoneuron (MN) somas by C-terminals remained until death while most other synapses retracted (Pullen and Athanasiou 2009). The σ_1 receptor remains in C-terminals of degenerating MN, suggesting that it could act as a halting factor on increased MN excitability, known as one of the pathological hallmarks of ALS (Pambo-Pambo et al. 2009; Mavlyutov et al. 2013). Administration of σ_1 receptor agonists extended the lifespan of SOD1^{G93A} mice (Mancuso et al. 2012). The σ_1 receptor agonist PRE-084 improved locomotor function and motor neuron survival in presymptomatic and early symptomatic mutant SOD1^{G93A} mice (Mancuso et al. 2012). Peviani et al. (2014) tested the efficacy of PRE-084 in a model of spontaneous MN degeneration, the wobbler mouse. Their results demonstrated that PRE-084, caused an increase of BDNF levels in the gray matter, improved motor neuron survival, ameliorated paw abnormality and grip strength performance, modulated astrocytosis and of macrophage/microglia as part of the mechanisms involved in σ_1 receptor-mediated neuroprotection (Peviani et al. 2014). Another σ_1 receptor agonist, SA4503, has been tested in in vitro and in vivo models of ALS. SA4503 prevented SOD1^{G93A}-induced cytotoxicity in NSC34 cells and extended the survival time of SOD1^{G93A} mice (Ono et al. 2014). BD1047, a σ_1 receptor antagonist, blocked the SA4503 cytoprotective effect. Expression of SOD1^{G93A} produced mitochondrial dysfunction in NSC34 cells and associated increase in oxidative and ER stress. The σ_1 receptor agonists have demonstrated antioxidant effects in multiple studies and this mechanism may contribute to the cytoprotective effects of σ_1 agonists in MN cell death and neuroprotection in SOD1^{G93A} mutant mice. SA4503 also upregulates the levels of Akt and ERK1/2. For proliferation and maturation of neural precursors the activation of these pathways plays an important role (Li et al. 2001). MN cells in patients with sALS or fALS and SOD1 mutant mice show decreased levels of phosphorylated Akt (Cheah et al. 2010). Fluvoxamine and dehydroepiandrosterone, acting as σ_1 receptor agonists, also induce phosphorylation of Akt. The σ_1 agonists PRE-084 and 4PPBP induce ERK1/2 phosphorylation in neuronal cells (Maurice and Su 2009; Mavlyutov et al. 2011).

The σ_1 receptor is involved in multiple intracellular pathways in neuronal cells. Immunoelectron microscopy studies showed that σ_1 receptors are localized in subsurface cisternae in C-terminals. Muscarinic type 2 acetylcholine receptors (M2 mAChR), voltage-gated potassium channels (Kv2.1), and small conductance calcium-activated potassium channels (SK) channels are located at C-terminals in the postsynaptic plasma membrane. Subsurface cisternae in postsynaptic densities is believed to correlate with postsynaptic hyperpolarization (Fujimoto et al. 1980; Henkart et al. 1976). It also has been shown that in MN, activation of M2 mAChR inhibits SK channels that reduces after hyperpolarization and as a consequence increases excitability (Mavlyutov et al. 2013). *SIGMAR1* KO mice show higher MN excitability than their wild-type counterparts, consistent with the notion that the absence of σ_1 receptor prevents activation of Kv2.1 and/or SK channels. The mechanism by which the σ_1 receptor regulates and controls excitation in MN likely involves multiple pathways. In C-terminals, the σ_1 receptor is in close physical proximity to Kv2.1 and SK channels, and their interaction has been observed in several cellular responses (He et al. 2012; Mavlyutov et al. 2010). SK channels are activated by an increase in the concentration of intracellular calcium through N-type Ca²⁺ channels.

Calcium dysregulation and excitotoxicity are the predominant mechanisms associated with pathogenesis in ALS (Grosskreutz et al. 2010; Van Den Bosch et al. 2006). It has, for instance, been reported that blood serum from ALS patients induces abnormal NMDA receptor activation (Texido et al. 2011) and that the excitation/inhibition imbalance in MNs of SOD1^{G93A} mice is due to an increased density of glutamatergic synapses, which could lead to enhanced Ca²⁺ influx into cells (Sunico et al. 2011). Control of NMDA receptor hyperactivation may therefore be an effective approach to preventing MN damage. Indeed, σ_1 receptor agonists have been shown to suppress NMDA currents in rat retinal ganglion cells through a PKC-dependent mechanism (Zhang et al. 2011), to prevent Ca²⁺ dysregulation, and to promote neuroprotection in rat cortical neurons by modulating Ca²⁺ influx through NMDA receptors (Lockhart et al. 1995). Furthermore σ_1 receptor ligands can protect MNs in organotypic cultures against excitotoxicity (Guzman-Lenis et al. 2009) and increase PKC-specific phosphorylation of NR1 subunits in spinal MNs (Mancuso et al. 2012). In the latter study, the authors describe that chronic administration of PRE-084 in SOD1^{G93A} mice from 8 to 16 weeks of age can improve the maintenance of the amplitude of muscle action potentials of MNs and locomotor behavior, and preserve neuromuscular connections and MNs in the spinal cord. PRE-084 also extended survival in both female and male mice by more than 15% (Mancuso et al. 2012). The mechanism of action involved an induction of PKC-specific phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor in SOD1^{G93A} animals and a reduction of microglial reactivity (Mancuso et al. 2012). Agonists of the σ_1 receptor may therefore exert a dual therapeutic action by modulating NMDA receptor-dependent Ca²⁺ influx to protect MNs as well as microglial reactivity to ameliorate the MN environment.

4.4 Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a progressive demyelinating disease characterized by disseminated lesions within the nervous system, most likely caused by an autoimmune response to self-antigens (Haghikia et al. 2013). Worldwide, there are an estimated 2.5 million patients suffering from MS, with women twice as frequently affected as men. Pathologically, in the early phase of the disease, perivascular inflammatory infiltrates are observed in the brain, optic nerve, and spinal cord. These infiltrates contain mononuclear immune cells, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, as well as B cells, monocytes, and macrophages. These infiltrates form plaques, the

end stage of inflammation, characterized by demyelination, astrogliosis, and neuronal as well as axonal degeneration (Compston and Coles 2008; Hohlfeld et al. 2016).

The role of dendritic cells, microglia, and macrophages in the immune invasion of the brain is essential. Dendritic cells present antigen to autoreactive T-cells (Lande et al. 2008; Serafini et al. 2006) and microglial cells trigger the inflammatory response. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) induced in mice is a clinically relevant animal model that mimicks several aspects of the disease (Gold et al. 2006; Steinman and Zamvil 2005). Recently, Oxombre et al. (2015) used the EAE model to demonstrate the protective effects of a novel σ_1 receptor agonist, chemically based on a tetrahydroisoquinoline-hydantoin structure. EAE was induced in SJL/J female mice by active immunization with myelin proteolipid protein (PLP) [139–151] peptide. A prophylactic treatment with the compound prevented mononuclear cell accumulation and demyelination in brain and spinal cord and increased T2 B-cells and regulatory T-cells, resulting in an overall reduction in the progression of EAE. The authors concluded that the novel σ_1 receptor agonist decreased the magnitude of inflammation in EAE. The effect was associated with increased proportions of B-cell subsets and regulatory T-cells (Oxombre et al. 2015).

4.5 Huntington's Disease

Huntington's disease (HD) is an autosomal, dominantly inherited neurodegenerative disease, caused by an expansion of cytosine-adenine-guanine (CAG) repeats in the first exon of the huntingtin gene, which encodes the huntingtin (Htt) protein (Dorsey et al. 2013). The inherited mutation results in production of an elongated polyQ mutant huntingtin protein (mHtt). The expansion of CAG repeats leads to the formation of intracellular and intranuclear aggregates in affected neurons (Orr et al. 1993). Patients with HD rapidly develop severe mental and physical disability due to brain atrophy and loss of neurons in the striatum and cerebral cortex (Huntington 1872). No cure or treatment to prevent the progression of HD is currently available. The cellular Htt protein is expressed in most tissues and is involved in protein trafficking, postsynaptic signaling, vesicle transport, transcriptional regulation, and regulation of cell death. Accumulation of the mHtt variant results in alteration of gene transcription, energy production, dysregulation of neurotransmitter metabolism, and activation of intracellular pathways, particularly those leading to ER stress (Reijonen et al. 2008). ER stress and oxidative damage are linked through close communication between the ER and mitochondria. Both play a major role in the neurodegenerative processes in HD (Gil and Rego 2008; Reijonen et al. 2010).

Several recent studies have shown that activation of σ_1 receptor may play a neuroprotective role in HD. First, Hyrskyluoto et al. (2013) showed in an in vitro study using PC6.3 cells overexpressing mHtt that PRE-084 counteracted the toxicity and increased the antioxidative and anti-apoptotic responses of the cells. The cytoprotective effect of PRE-084 involved an upregulation of calpastatin and induction of the NF-KB pathway (Hyrskyluoto et al. 2013). Second, Miki et al. (2015) showed that accumulation of σ_1 receptor is observed in the nuclear inclusions seen in HD. Using HeLa cells transfected with N-terminal mHtt, they observed that cells harboring mHtt produced σ_1 receptor-positive nuclear inclusions. Small interfering-RNA targeting σ_1 receptor (SIGMAR1 siRNA) and epoxomicin a specific inhibitor of the proteasome, significantly impaired accumulation of aggregates in the cytoplasm and nucleus. Leptomycin B, a specific inhibitor of exportin 1, also provoked nuclear inclusions. Htt became insoluble after treatments with SIGMAR1 siRNA and epoxomicin. Proteasome activity increased concurrently along with Htt accumulation but was reduced in SIGMAR1 siRNA-transfected cells. In contrast, overexpression of σ_1 receptor was associated with decreased number and size of mHtt-containing nuclear inclusions (Miki et al. 2015). However, in this study, the σ_1 receptor agonist PRE-084 and antagonist BD1063 had no effect on cellular viability and proteasome activity. Nevertheless. these findings suggested that in HD the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway is implicated in nuclear inclusion formation, and that the σ_1 receptor participates in the degradation of aberrant proteins in the nucleus via ER-associated degradation machinery.

Third, pridopidine's effect in HD has recently been proposed to involve mainly its agonist action at σ_1 receptors. Pridopidine (4-[3-methanesulfonyl-phenyl]-1propyl-piperidine), formerly known as ACR16, is a compound from the phenylpiperidine group of molecules, known as "dopamine stabilizers" or "dopidines" (Pettersson et al. 2010). This class of compounds is being widely investigated in neurodegenerative diseases, including HD (Feigin 2011; Reilmann 2013). Pridopidine is structurally related to 3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-N-n-propylpiperidine (3-PPP), a racemate whose enantiomers have different effects on dopamine receptors. The (+)3-PPP enantiomer is a weak agonist while the (-)3-PPP enantiomer is a weak antagonist (Mulder et al. 1985). Both drugs have high affinity for the σ_1 receptor, with (+)3-PPP having greater σ_1 receptor binding affinity than (-)3-PPP (Largent et al. 1986a, b; McCann and Su 1991). The structurally related compound (S)-(-)-3-(3-methanesulfonyl-phenyl)-1-propyl-piperidine (OSU6162) binds σ_1 receptors with nanomolar affinity (Sahlholm et al. 2013) and occupies σ_1 receptors rather than dopamine D2 receptors at behaviorally active doses. The authors report a 57% reduction in [¹¹C]SA4503 binding in rats with a dose of 3 mg/kg OSU6162 and 85% inhibition of [¹¹C]SA4503 binding with 15 mg/kg pridopidine, compared to only a 44–66% reduction of [¹¹C]raclopride binding to D2 receptors was observed at 60 mg/kg OSU6162 (Sahlholm et al. 2015). The neuroprotective effect of pridopidine in HD was evaluated using in vivo and in vitro models by Squitieri et al. (2015). These models comprise R6/2 transgenic mice expressing exon 1 of human Htt with approximately 160 CAG repeats and conditionally immortalized mouse striatal knock-in cells expressing endogenous levels of wild-type (STHdh7/7) or mHtt (STHdh111/111). In these models, pridopidine protected cells from apoptosis and improved motor performance and prolonged lifespan in R6/2 mice. The drug enhanced expression of BDNF and DARPP32 in the striatum of the transgenic mice and induced remodelling of mHtt aggregates. The anti-apoptotic effect was due to enhancement of ERK activation and was blocked by NE100, indicating that the neuroprotective actions of pridopidine are σ_1 receptor-mediated. NE100 alone had no effect on cell survival or signaling in this study. Taken together, these findings support the idea that compounds with affinity for the σ_1 receptor have neuroprotective and diseasemodifying properties in HD models and represent potential therapeutic agents for effectively treating the disease.

5 Conclusions

Accumulating evidence supports the notion that selective and non-selective σ_1 receptor ligands may be effective therapeutic agents for neurodegenerative diseases. Inactivation of the σ_1 receptor in animal models exacerbated the pathology and genetic studies suggested that some polymorphisms in the SIGMAR1 gene could potentiate or appear as risk factors affecting the vulnerability to develop the pathology. These findings are concordant with the notion that σ_1 receptor activity is an important determinant of neuroprotection. Described as a potential *endogenous* neuroprotection system or as a pluripotent modulator in living system by some authors (Maurice and Su 2009; Su et al. 2016), the actions of the σ_1 receptor may in fact rely on its association with multiple cellular pathways or at least a complex mode of action. Direct modulation of neurotransmitter activity or second messenger systems, regulation of trophic factors and cytokine activities, modulation of local Ca²⁺ mobilization, preservation of mitochondrial integrity, regulation of transcription factors and gene expression, and activation of ER stress pathways are among the cellular processes affected by σ_1 receptor modulation. The present review has highlighted that PRE-084 is among the most extensively published σ_1 receptor ligands in neurodegenerative disease so far and may serve as a reference compound for future drug discovery and development. It has been reported to be efficacious at 0.3–1 mg/kg doses in models of amnesia, AD, PD, ALS, and HD. Its in vitro and in vivo effects have been described in more than a hundred publications, many of which report comparator data against drugs that are currently in clinical trials, including igmesine, SA4503, and ANAVEX2-73. Finally, a phase II clinical trial is in progress with a σ_1 receptor drug in AD. Other trials may be initiated in the near future and the data generated will be crucial to validate the σ_1 receptor as a drug target in neurodegenerative diseases and better understand the real clinical potential of σ_1 receptor ligands as therapeutic agents in cognitive impairments and neurodegenerative pathologies.

Acknowledgements Nino Goguadze thanks the Euroeast exchange program for Ph.D. students.

References

- Aigner TG (1995) Pharmacology of memory: cholinergic-glutamatergic interactions. Curr Opin Neurobiol 5(2):155–160
- Alonso G, Phan V, Guillemain I, Saunier M, Legrand A, Anoal M, Maurice T (2000) Immunocytochemical localization of the sigma(1) receptor in the adult rat central nervous system. Neuroscience 97(1):155–170
- Al-Saif A, Al-Mohanna F, Bohlega S (2011) A mutation in sigma-1 receptor causes juvenile amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Neurol 70(6):913–919. doi:10.1002/ana.22534
- Aly HF, Metwally FM, Ahmed HH (2011) Neuroprotective effects of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) in rat model of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Biochim Pol 58(4):513–520
- Antonini V, Marrazzo A, Kleiner G, Coradazzi M, Ronsisvalle S, Prezzavento O, Ronsisvalle G, Leanza G (2011) Anti-amnesic and neuroprotective actions of the sigma-1 receptor agonist (–)-MR22 in rats with selective cholinergic lesion and amyloid infusion. J Alzheimers Dis 24 (3):569–586. doi:10.3233/jad-2011-101794
- Behensky AA, Yasny IE, Shuster AM, Seredenin SB, Petrov AV, Cuevas J (2013) Stimulation of sigma receptors with afobazole blocks activation of microglia and reduces toxicity caused by amyloid-beta25-35. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 347(2):458–467. doi:10.1124/jpet.113.208348
- Braak H, Braak E (2000) Pathoanatomy of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol 247(Suppl 2):Ii3–I10. doi:10.1007/pl00007758
- Braak H, Ghebremedhin E, Rub U, Bratzke H, Del Tredici K (2004) Stages in the development of Parkinson's disease-related pathology. Cell Tissue Res 318(1):121–134. doi:10.1007/s00441-004-0956-9
- Brailoiu GC, Deliu E, Console-Bram LM, Soboloff J, Abood ME, Unterwald EM, Brailoiu E (2016) Cocaine inhibits store-operated Ca2+ entry in brain microvascular endothelial cells: critical role for sigma-1 receptors. Biochem J 473(1):1–5. doi:10.1042/bj20150934
- Cao J, Viholainen JI, Dart C, Warwick HK, Leyland ML, Courtney MJ (2005) The PSD95-nNOS interface: a target for inhibition of excitotoxic p38 stress-activated protein kinase activation and cell death. J Cell Biol 168(1):117–126. doi:10.1083/jcb.200407024
- Cheah BC, Vucic S, Krishnan AV, Kiernan MC (2010) Riluzole, neuroprotection and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Curr Med Chem 17(18):1199–1942
- Chen L, Miyamoto Y, Furuya K, Dai XN, Mori N, Sokabe M (2006) Chronic DHEAS administration facilitates hippocampal long-term potentiation via an amplification of Src-dependent NMDA receptor signaling. Neuropharmacology 51(3):659–670. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm. 2006.05.011
- Chevallier N, Keller E, Maurice T (2011) Behavioural phenotyping of knockout mice for the sigma-1 (sigma(1)) chaperone protein revealed gender-related anxiety, depressive-like and memory alterations. J Psychopharmacol 25(7):960–975. doi:10.1177/0269881111400648
- Compston A, Coles A (2008) Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 372(9648):1502–1517. doi:10.1016/ s0140-6736(08)61620-7
- de Lau LM, Breteler MM (2006) Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol 5 (6):525–535. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(06)70471-9
- de Rijk MC, Tzourio C, Breteler MM, Dartigues JF, Amaducci L, Lopez-Pousa S, Manubens-Bertran JM, Alperovitch A, Rocca WA (1997) Prevalence of parkinsonism and Parkinson's disease in Europe: the EUROPARKINSON collaborative study. European Community Concerted Action on the epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 62 (1):10–15
- Dorsey ER, Beck CA, Darwin K, Nichols P, Brocht AF, Biglan KM, Shoulson I (2013) Natural history of Huntington disease. JAMA Neurol 70(12):1520–1530. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol. 2013.4408
- Espallergues J, Lapalud P, Christopoulos A, Avlani VA, Sexton PM, Vamvakides A, Maurice T (2007) Involvement of the sigmal (sigmal) receptor in the anti-amnesic, but not

antidepressant-like, effects of the aminotetrahydrofuran derivative ANAVEX1-41. Br J Pharmacol 152(2):267–279. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0707386

- Feher A, Juhasz A, Laszlo A, Kalman J Jr, Pakaski M, Kalman J, Janka Z (2012) Association between a variant of the sigma-1 receptor gene and Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 517 (2):136–139. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2012.04.046
- Feigin A (2011) Pridopidine in treatment of Huntington's disease: beyond chorea? Lancet Neurol 10(12):1036–1037. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(11)70247-2
- Fisher A, Bezprozvanny I, Wu L, Ryskamp DA, Bar-Ner N, Natan N, Brandeis R, Elkon H, Nahum V, Gershonov E, LaFerla FM, Medeiros R (2016) AF710B, a novel M1/sigma1 agonist with therapeutic efficacy in animal models of Alzheimer's disease. Neurodegener Dis 16 (1–2):95–110. doi:10.1159/000440864
- Fontanilla D, Johannessen M, Hajipour AR, Cozzi NV, Jackson MB, Ruoho AE (2009) The hallucinogen N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) is an endogenous sigma-1 receptor regulator. Science 323(5916):934–937
- Forbes RB, Colville S, Swingler RJ (2004) The epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS/MND) in people aged 80 or over. Age Ageing 33(2):131–134. doi:10.1093/ageing/ afh013
- Foskett JK, White C, Cheung KH, Mak DO (2007) Inositol trisphosphate receptor Ca2+ release channels. Physiol Rev 87(2):593–658. doi:10.1152/physrev.00035.2006
- Francardo V, Bez F, Wieloch T, Nissbrandt H, Ruscher K, Cenci MA (2014) Pharmacological stimulation of sigma-1 receptors has neurorestorative effects in experimental parkinsonism. Brain 137(Pt 7):1998–2014. doi:10.1093/brain/awu107
- Freeman AS, Bunney BS (1984) The effects of phencyclidine and N-allylnormetazocine on midbrain dopamine neuronal activity. Eur J Pharmacol 104(3–4):287–293
- Fujimoto S, Yamamoto K, Kuba K, Morita K, Kato E (1980) Calcium localization in the sympathetic ganglion of the bullfrog and effects of caffeine. Brain Res 202(1):21–32
- Gil JM, Rego AC (2008) Mechanisms of neurodegeneration in Huntington's disease. Eur J Neurosci 27(11):2803–2820. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06310.x
- Gold R, Linington C, Lassmann H (2006) Understanding pathogenesis and therapy of multiple sclerosis via animal models: 70 years of merits and culprits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis research. Brain 129(Pt 8):1953–1971. doi:10.1093/brain/awl075
- Grosskreutz J, Van Den Bosch L, Keller BU (2010) Calcium dysregulation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Cell Calcium 47(2):165–174. doi:10.1016/j.ceca.2009.12.002
- Guzman-Lenis MS, Navarro X, Casas C (2009) Selective sigma receptor agonist 2-(4-morpholinethyl)1-phenylcyclohexanecarboxylate (PRE084) promotes neuroprotection and neurite elongation through protein kinase C (PKC) signaling on motoneurons. Neuroscience 162(1):31–38. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.03.067
- Haghikia A, Hohlfeld R, Gold R, Fugger L (2013) Therapies for multiple sclerosis: translational achievements and outstanding needs. Trends Mol Med 19(5):309–319. doi:10.1016/j.molmed. 2013.03.004
- Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Knaus HG, Striessnig J, Kempner E, Glossmann H (1996) Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian sigma1-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(15):8072–8077
- Hardiman O, van den Berg LH, Kiernan MC (2011) Clinical diagnosis and management of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurol 7(11):639–649. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2011.153
- Hayashi T, Maurice T, Su TP (2000) Ca(2+) signaling via sigma(1)-receptors: novel regulatory mechanism affecting intracellular Ca(2+) concentration. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 293 (3):788–798
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2003) Sigma-1 receptors (sigma(1) binding sites) form raft-like microdomains and target lipid droplets on the endoplasmic reticulum: roles in endoplasmic reticulum lipid compartmentalization and export. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 306(2):718–725
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2004) Sigma-1 receptors at galactosylceramide-enriched lipid microdomains regulate oligodendrocyte differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(41):14949–14954

- Hayashi T, Su TP (2005) The potential role of sigma-1 receptors in lipid transport and lipid raft reconstitution in the brain: implication for drug abuse. Life Sci 77(14):1612–1624
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. Cell 131(3):596–610
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2010) Cholesterol at the endoplasmic reticulum: roles of the sigma-1 receptor chaperone and implications thereof in human diseases. Subcell Biochem 51:381–398. doi:10. 1007/978-90-481-8622-8_13
- He YL, Zhang CL, Gao XF, Yao JJ, Hu CL, Mei YA (2012) Cyproheptadine enhances the I(K) of mouse cortical neurons through sigma-1 receptor-mediated intracellular signal pathway. PLoS One 7(7):e41303. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0041303
- Henkart M, Landis DM, Reese TS (1976) Similarity of junctions between plasma membranes and endoplasmic reticulum in muscle and neurons. J Cell Biol 70(2 pt 1):338–347
- Hohlfeld R, Dornmair K, Meinl E, Wekerle H (2016) The search for the target antigens of multiple sclerosis, part 2: CD8+ T cells, B cells, and antibodies in the focus of reverse-translational research. Lancet Neurol 15(3):317–331. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(15)00313-0
- Hong J, Sha S, Zhou L, Wang C, Yin J, Chen L (2015) Sigma-1 receptor deficiency reduces MPTP-induced parkinsonism and death of dopaminergic neurons. Cell Death Dis 6:e1832. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.194
- Horan B, Gifford AN, Matsuno K, Mita S, Ashby CR Jr (2002) Effect of SA4503 on the electrically evoked release of (3)H-acetylcholine from striatal and hippocampal rat brain slices. Synapse 46(1):1–3. doi:10.1002/syn.10107
- Huang Y, Zheng L, Halliday G, Dobson-Stone C, Wang Y, Tang HD, Cao L, Deng YL, Wang G, Zhang YM, Wang JH, Hallupp M, Kwok J, Chen SD (2011) Genetic polymorphisms in sigma-1 receptor and apolipoprotein E interact to influence the severity of Alzheimer's disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 8(7):765–770
- Huntington G (1872) On chorea. Med Surg Reporter 26:317-321
- Hyrskyluoto A, Pulli I, Tornqvist K, Ho TH, Korhonen L, Lindholm D (2013) Sigma-1 receptor agonist PRE084 is protective against mutant huntingtin-induced cell degeneration: involvement of calpastatin and the NF-kappaB pathway. Cell Death Dis 4:e646. doi:10.1038/cddis. 2013.170
- Jansen KL, Faull RL, Storey P, Leslie RA (1993) Loss of sigma binding sites in the CA1 area of the anterior hippocampus in Alzheimer's disease correlates with CA1 pyramidal cell loss. Brain Res 623(2):299–302
- Junien JL, Roman FJ, Brunelle G, Pascaud X (1991) JO1784, a novel sigma ligand, potentiates [3H]acetylcholine release from rat hippocampal slices. Eur J Pharmacol 200(2–3):343–345
- Kim HJ, Kwon MJ, Choi WJ, Oh KW, Oh SI, Ki CS, Kim SH (2014) Mutations in UBQLN2 and SIGMAR1 genes are rare in Korean patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurobiol Aging 35(8):e1957–e1958. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.03.001
- Kishi T, Yoshimura R, Okochi T, Fukuo Y, Kitajima T, Okumura T, Tsunoka T, Kawashima K, Yamanouchi Y, Kinoshita Y, Umene-Nakano W, Naitoh H, Nakamura J, Ozaki N, Iwata N (2010) Association analysis of SIGMAR1 with major depressive disorder and SSRI response. Neuropharmacology 58(7):1168–1173. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.02.013
- Kourrich S, Hayashi T, Chuang JY, Tsai SY, Su TP, Bonci A (2013) Dynamic interaction between sigma-1 receptor and Kv1.2 shapes neuronal and behavioral responses to cocaine. Cell 152 (1–2):236–247. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.004
- Lahmy V, Meunier J, Malmstrom S, Naert G, Givalois L, Kim SH, Villard V, Vamvakides A, Maurice T (2013) Blockade of Tau hyperphosphorylation and Abeta(1)(-)(4)(2) generation by the aminotetrahydrofuran derivative ANAVEX2-73, a mixed muscarinic and sigma(1) receptor agonist, in a nontransgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(9):1706–1723. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.70
- Lande R, Gafa V, Serafini B, Giacomini E, Visconti A, Remoli ME, Severa M, Parmentier M, Ristori G, Salvetti M, Aloisi F, Coccia EM (2008) Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in multiple
sclerosis: intracerebral recruitment and impaired maturation in response to interferon-beta. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 67(5):388–401. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e31816fc975

- Largent BL, Gundlach AL, Snyder SH (1986a) Pharmacological and autoradiographic discrimination of sigma and phencyclidine receptor binding sites in brain with (+)-[3H]SKF 10,047, (+)-[3H]-3-[3-hydroxyphenyl]-N-(1-propyl)piperidine and [3H]-1-[1-(2-thienyl)cyclohexyl] piperidine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 238(2):739–748
- Largent BL, Gundlach AL, Snyder SH (1986b) Sigma receptors on NCB-20 hybrid neurotumor cells labeled with (+)[3H]SKF 10,047 and (+)[3H]3-PPP. Eur J Pharmacol 124(1–2):183–187
- Li BS, Ma W, Zhang L, Barker JL, Stenger DA, Pant HC (2001) Activation of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI-3K) and extracellular regulated kinases (Erk1/2) is involved in muscarinic receptor-mediated DNA synthesis in neural progenitor cells. J Neurosci 21 (5):1569–1579
- Li Z, Zhou R, Cui S, Xie G, Cai W, Sokabe M, Chen L (2006) Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate prevents ischemia-induced impairment of long-term potentiation in rat hippocampal CA1 by up-regulating tyrosine phosphorylation of NMDA receptor. Neuropharmacology 51 (5):958–966. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2006.06.007
- Lockhart BP, Soulard P, Benicourt C, Privat A, Junien JL (1995) Distinct neuroprotective profiles for sigma ligands against N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), and hypoxia-mediated neurotoxicity in neuronal culture toxicity studies. Brain Res 675(1–2):110–120
- Logroscino G, Traynor BJ, Hardiman O, Chio A, Mitchell D, Swingler RJ, Millul A, Benn E, Beghi E (2010) Incidence of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in Europe. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 81(4):385–390. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2009.183525
- Luty AA, Kwok JB, Dobson-Stone C, Loy CT, Coupland KG, Karlstrom H, Sobow T, Tchorzewska J, Maruszak A, Barcikowska M, Panegyres PK, Zekanowski C, Brooks WS, Williams KL, Blair IP, Mather KA, Sachdev PS, Halliday GM, Schofield PR (2010) Sigma nonopioid intracellular receptor 1 mutations cause frontotemporal lobar degeneration-motor neuron disease. Ann Neurol 68(5):639–649. doi:10.1002/ana.22274
- Malik M, Rangel-Barajas C, Sumien N, Su C, Singh M, Chen Z, Huang RQ, Meunier J, Maurice T, Mach RH, Luedtke RR (2015) The effects of sigma (sigma1) receptor-selective ligands on muscarinic receptor antagonist-induced cognitive deficits in mice. Br J Pharmacol 172 (10):2519–2531. doi:10.1111/bph.13076
- Mancuso R, Olivan S, Rando A, Casas C, Osta R, Navarro X (2012) Sigma-1R agonist improves motor function and motoneuron survival in ALS mice. Neurotherapeutics 9(4):814–826. doi:10.1007/s13311-012-0140-y
- Marrazzo A, Caraci F, Salinaro ET, Su TP, Copani A, Ronsisvalle G (2005) Neuroprotective effects of sigma-1 receptor agonists against beta-amyloid-induced toxicity. Neuroreport 16 (11):1223–1226
- Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson JA, Huppler RE, Gilbert PE (1976) The effects of morphineand nalorphine- like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 197(3):517–532
- Martina M, Turcotte ME, Halman S, Bergeron R (2007) The sigma-1 receptor modulates NMDA receptor synaptic transmission and plasticity via SK channels in rat hippocampus. J Physiol 578(Pt 1):143–157
- Maruszak A, Safranow K, Gacia M, Gabryelewicz T, Slowik A, Styczynska M, Peplonska B, Golan MP, Zekanowski C, Barcikowska M (2007) Sigma receptor type 1 gene variation in a group of Polish patients with Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 23(6):432–438. doi:10.1159/000101990
- Matsuno K, Matsunaga K, Senda T, Mita S (1993) Increase in extracellular acetylcholine level by sigma ligands in rat frontal cortex. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 265(2):851–859
- Matsuno K, Senda T, Kobayashi T, Mita S (1995) Involvement of sigma 1 receptor in (+)-Nallylnormetazocine-stimulated hippocampal cholinergic functions in rats. Brain Res 690 (2):200–206

- Maurice T (2016) Protection by sigma-1 receptor agonists is synergic with donepezil, but not with memantine, in a mouse model of amyloid-induced memory impairments. Behav Brain Res 296:270–278. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.09.020
- Maurice T, Lahmy V, Strehaiano M, Dekeuwer A, Naert G, Desrumeaux C, Villard V, Chevallier N (2015) Genetic invalidation or pharmacological activation of the sigma-1 chaperone protein modulates toxicity in the transgenic hAPPSwe mouse line. French Soc Neurosci Abstr
- Maurice T, Martin-Fardon R, Romieu P, Matsumoto RR (2002) Sigma(1) (sigma(1)) receptor antagonists represent a new strategy against cocaine addiction and toxicity. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 26(4):499–527
- Maurice T, Roman FJ, Su TP, Privat A (1996) Beneficial effects of sigma agonists on the age-related learning impairment in the senescence-accelerated mouse (SAM). Brain Res 733 (2):219–230
- Maurice T, Romieu P (2004) Involvement of the sigmal receptor in the appetitive effects of cocaine. Pharmacopsychiatry 37(Suppl 3):S198–S207. doi:10.1055/s-2004-832678
- Maurice T, Su TP (2009) The pharmacology of sigma-1 receptors. Pharmacol Ther 124 (2):195–206
- Maurice T, Su TP, Privat A (1998) Sigma1 (sigma 1) receptor agonists and neurosteroids attenuate B25-35-amyloid peptide-induced amnesia in mice through a common mechanism. Neuroscience 83(2):413–428
- Maurice T, Villard V, Duhr F, Chevallier N (2010) Amyloid toxicity induced by in vivo injection of Aβ2535 oligomeric preparations is enhanced after pharmacologic or genetic invalidation of the sigma-1 chaperone protein. Soc Neurosci Abstr Program No 2477 San Diego, CA
- Mavlyutov TA, Epstein ML, Andersen KA, Ziskind-Conhaim L, Ruoho AE (2010) The sigma-1 receptor is enriched in postsynaptic sites of C-terminals in mouse motoneurons. An anatomical and behavioral study. Neuroscience 167(2):247–255. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.02.022
- Mavlyutov TA, Epstein ML, Verbny YI, Huerta MS, Zaitoun I, Ziskind-Conhaim L, Ruoho AE (2013) Lack of sigma-1 receptor exacerbates ALS progression in mice. Neuroscience 240:129–134. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.02.035
- Mavlyutov TA, Nickells RW, Guo LW (2011) Accelerated retinal ganglion cell death in mice deficient in the sigma-1 receptor. Mol Vis 17:1034–1043
- McCann DJ, Su TP (1991) Solubilization and characterization of haloperidol-sensitive (+)-[3H] SKF-10,047 binding sites (sigma sites) from rat liver membranes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257 (2):547–554
- Meltzer HY, Rajagopal L, Huang M, Oyamada Y, Kwon S, Horiguchi M (2013) Translating the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist model of schizophrenia to treatments for cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 16(10):2181–2194. doi:10.1017/ s1461145713000928
- Meunier J, Hayashi T (2010) Sigma-1 receptors regulate Bcl-2 expression by reactive oxygen species-dependent transcriptional regulation of nuclear factor kappaB. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 332(2):388–397. doi:10.1124/jpet.109.160960
- Meunier J, Ieni J, Maurice T (2006) The anti-amnesic and neuroprotective effects of donepezil against amyloid beta25-35 peptide-induced toxicity in mice involve an interaction with the sigma1 receptor. Br J Pharmacol 149(8):998–1012. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706927
- Miki Y, Tanji K, Mori F, Wakabayashi K (2015) Sigma-1 receptor is involved in degradation of intranuclear inclusions in a cellular model of Huntington's disease. Neurobiol Dis 74:25–31. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2014.11.005
- Mishina M, Ishiwata K, Ishii K, Kitamura S, Kimura Y, Kawamura K, Oda K, Sasaki T, Sakayori O, Hamamoto M, Kobayashi S, Katayama Y (2005) Function of sigmal receptors in Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurol Scand 112(2):103–107. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.2005. 00432.x
- Mishina M, Ohyama M, Ishii K, Kitamura S, Kimura Y, Oda K, Kawamura K, Sasaki T, Kobayashi S, Katayama Y, Ishiwata K (2008) Low density of sigmal receptors in early Alzheimer's disease. Ann Nucl Med 22(3):151–156. doi:10.1007/s12149-007-0094-z

- Miyatake R, Furukawa A, Matsushita S, Higuchi S, Suwaki H (2004) Functional polymorphisms in the sigmal receptor gene associated with alcoholism. Biol Psychiatry 55(1):85–90
- Monnet FP, Blier P, Debonnel G, de Montigny C (1992a) Modulation by sigma ligands of N-methyl-D-aspartate-induced [3H]noradrenaline release in the rat hippocampus: G-protein dependency. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 346(1):32–39
- Monnet FP, Debonnel G, de Montigny C (1992b) In vivo electrophysiological evidence for a selective modulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate-induced neuronal activation in rat CA3 dorsal hippocampus by sigma ligands. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 261(1):123–130
- Monnet FP, Debonnel G, Junien JL, De Montigny C (1990) N-methyl-D-aspartate-induced neuronal activation is selectively modulated by sigma receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 179 (3):441–445
- Monnet FP, Mahe V, Robel P, Baulieu EE (1995) Neurosteroids, via sigma receptors, modulate the [3H]norepinephrine release evoked by N-methyl-D-aspartate in the rat hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(9):3774–3778
- Mori T, Hayashi T, Su TP (2012) Compromising sigma-1 receptors at the endoplasmic reticulum render cytotoxicity to physiologically relevant concentrations of dopamine in a nuclear factorkappaB/Bcl-2-dependent mechanism: potential relevance to Parkinson's disease. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 341(3):663–671. doi:10.1124/jpet.111.190868
- Mulder AH, Draper R, Sminia P, Schoffelmeer AN, Stoof JC (1985) Agonist and antagonist effects of 3-PPP enantiomers on functional dopamine autoreceptors and postsynaptic dopamine receptors in vitro. Eur J Pharmacol 107(3):291–297
- Natsvlishvili N, Goguadze N, Zhuravliova E, Mikeladze D (2015) Sigma-1 receptor directly interacts with Rac1-GTPase in the brain mitochondria. BMC Biochem 16:11. doi:10.1186/s12858-015-0040-y
- Navarro G, Moreno E, Aymerich M, Marcellino D, McCormick PJ, Mallol J, Cortes A, Casado V, Canela EI, Ortiz J, Fuxe K, Lluis C, Ferre S, Franco R (2010) Direct involvement of sigma-1 receptors in the dopamine D1 receptor-mediated effects of cocaine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(43):18676–18681. doi:10.1073/pnas.1008911107
- Navarro G, Moreno E, Bonaventura J, Brugarolas M, Farre D, Aguinaga D, Mallol J, Cortes A, Casado V, Lluis C, Ferre S, Franco R, Canela E, McCormick PJ (2013) Cocaine inhibits dopamine D2 receptor signaling via sigma-1-D2 receptor heteromers. PLoS One 8(4):e61245. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061245
- Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Yasuda Y, Fukumoto M, Yamamori H, Umeda-Yano S, Kamino K, Ikezawa K, Azechi M, Iwase M, Kazui H, Kasai K, Takeda M (2011) The SIGMAR1 gene is associated with a risk of schizophrenia and activation of the prefrontal cortex. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35(5):1309–1315. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2011.04.008
- Ohmori O, Shinkai T, Suzuki T, Okano C, Kojima H, Terao T, Nakamura J (2000) Polymorphisms of the sigma(1) receptor gene in schizophrenia: an association study. Am J Med Genet 96 (1):118–122
- Ono Y, Tanaka H, Takata M, Nagahara Y, Noda Y, Tsuruma K, Shimazawa M, Hozumi I, Hara H (2014) SA4503, a sigma-1 receptor agonist, suppresses motor neuron damage in in vitro and in vivo amyotrophic lateral sclerosis models. Neurosci Lett 559:174–178. doi:10.1016/j.neulet. 2013.12.005
- Orr HT, Chung MY, Banfi S, Kwiatkowski TJ Jr, Servadio A, Beaudet AL, McCall AE, Duvick LA, Ranum LP, Zoghbi HY (1993) Expansion of an unstable trinucleotide CAG repeat in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. Nat Genet 4(3):221–226. doi:10.1038/ng0793-221
- Oxombre B, Lee-Chang C, Duhamel A, Toussaint M, Giroux M, Donnier-Marechal M, Carato P, Lefranc D, Zephir H, Prin L, Melnyk P, Vermersch P (2015) High-affinity sigma1 protein agonist reduces clinical and pathological signs of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Br J Pharmacol 172(7):1769–1782. doi:10.1111/bph.13037
- Pabba M, Wong AY, Ahlskog N, Hristova E, Biscaro D, Nassrallah W, Ngsee JK, Snyder M, Beique JC, Bergeron R (2014) NMDA receptors are upregulated and trafficked to the plasma

membrane after sigma-1 receptor activation in the rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 34 (34):11325–11338. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.0458-14.2014

- Pambo-Pambo A, Durand J, Gueritaud JP (2009) Early excitability changes in lumbar motoneurons of transgenic SOD1G85R and SOD1G(93A-low) mice. J Neurophysiol 102 (6):3627–3642. doi:10.1152/jn.00482.2009
- Pettersson F, Ponten H, Waters N, Waters S, Sonesson C (2010) Synthesis and evaluation of a set of 4-phenylpiperidines and 4-phenylpiperazines as D2 receptor ligands and the discovery of the dopaminergic stabilizer 4-[3-(methylsulfonyl)phenyl]-1-propylpiperidine (huntexil, pridopidine, ACR16). J Med Chem 53(6):2510–2520. doi:10.1021/jm901689y
- Peviani M, Salvaneschi E, Bontempi L, Petese A, Manzo A, Rossi D, Salmona M, Collina S, Bigini P, Curti D (2014) Neuroprotective effects of the sigma-1 receptor (S1R) agonist PRE-084, in a mouse model of motor neuron disease not linked to SOD1 mutation. Neurobiol Dis 62:218–232. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2013.10.010
- Pullen AH, Athanasiou D (2009) Increase in presynaptic territory of C-terminals on lumbar motoneurons of G93A SOD1 mice during disease progression. Eur J Neurosci 29 (3):551–561. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06602.x
- Reijonen S, Kukkonen JP, Hyrskyluoto A, Kivinen J, Kairisalo M, Takei N, Lindholm D, Korhonen L (2010) Downregulation of NF-kappaB signaling by mutant huntingtin proteins induces oxidative stress and cell death. Cell Mol Life Sci 67(11):1929–1941. doi:10.1007/ s00018-010-0305-y
- Reijonen S, Putkonen N, Norremolle A, Lindholm D, Korhonen L (2008) Inhibition of endoplasmic reticulum stress counteracts neuronal cell death and protein aggregation caused by N-terminal mutant huntingtin proteins. Exp Cell Res 314(5):950–960. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr. 2007.12.025
- Reilmann R (2013) The pridopidine paradox in Huntington's disease. Mov Disord 28 (10):1321–1324. doi:10.1002/mds.25559
- Rizzuto R, Duchen MR, Pozzan T (2004) Flirting in little space: the ER/mitochondria Ca2+ liaison. Sci STKE 2004(215):re1. doi:10.1126/stke.2152004re1
- Robson MJ, Noorbakhsh B, Seminerio MJ, Matsumoto RR (2012) Sigma-1 receptors: potential targets for the treatment of substance abuse. Curr Pharm Des 18(7):902–919
- Sahlholm K, Arhem P, Fuxe K, Marcellino D (2013) The dopamine stabilizers ACR16 and (–)-OSU6162 display nanomolar affinities at the sigma-1 receptor. Mol Psychiatry 18(1):12–14. doi:10.1038/mp.2012.3
- Sahlholm K, Sijbesma JW, Maas B, Kwizera C, Marcellino D, Ramakrishnan NK, Dierckx RA, Elsinga PH, van Waarde A (2015) Pridopidine selectively occupies sigma-1 rather than dopamine D2 receptors at behaviorally active doses. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 232 (18):3443–3453. doi:10.1007/s00213-015-3997-8
- Satoh F, Miyatake R, Furukawa A, Suwaki H (2004) Lack of association between sigma receptor gene variants and schizophrenia. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 58(4):359–363. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2004.01268.x
- Schiess AR, Partridge LD (2005) Pregnenolone sulfate acts through a G-protein-coupled sigmallike receptor to enhance short term facilitation in adult hippocampal neurons. Eur J Pharmacol 518(1):22–29. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2005.06.007
- Schmidt HR, Zheng S, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human sigma receptor. Nature. doi:10.1038/nature17391
- Selkoe DJ (2004) Cell biology of protein misfolding: the examples of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. Nat Cell Biol 6(11):1054–1061. doi:10.1038/ncb1104-1054
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Capello E, Mancardi GL, Aloisi F (2006) Dendritic cells in multiple sclerosis lesions: maturation stage, myelin uptake, and interaction with proliferating T cells. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 65(2):124–141. doi:10.1097/01.jnen. 0000199572.96472.1c
- Snyder MA, McCann K, Lalande MJ, Thivierge JP, Bergeron R (2016) Sigma receptor type 1 knockout mice show a mild deficit in plasticity but no significant change in synaptic

transmission in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. J Neurochem 138(5):700-709. doi:10. 1111/jnc.13695

- Soriani O, Foll FL, Roman F, Monnet FP, Vaudry H, Cazin L (1999) A-current down-modulated by sigma receptor in frog pituitary melanotrope cells through a G protein-dependent pathway. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289(1):321–328
- Squitieri F, Di Pardo A, Favellato M, Amico E, Maglione V, Frati L (2015) Pridopidine, a dopamine stabilizer, improves motor performance and shows neuroprotective effects in Huntington disease R6/2 mouse model. J Cell Mol Med 19(11):2540–2548. doi:10.1111/ jcmm.12604
- Steinman L, Zamvil SS (2005) Virtues and pitfalls of EAE for the development of therapies for multiple sclerosis. Trends Immunol 26(11):565–571. doi:10.1016/j.it.2005.08.014
- Su TP, London ED, Jaffe JH (1988) Steroid binding at sigma receptors suggests a link between endocrine, nervous, and immune systems. Science 240(4849):219–221
- Su TP, Su TC, Nakamura Y, Tsai SY (2016) The sigma-1 receptor as a pluripotent modulator in living systems. Trends Pharmacol Sci 37(4):262–278. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2016.01.003
- Sunico CR, Dominguez G, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Osta R, Montero F, Moreno-Lopez B (2011) Reduction in the motoneuron inhibitory/excitatory synaptic ratio in an early-symptomatic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain Pathol 21(1):1–15. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2010.00417.x
- Sveinbjornsdottir S (2016) The clinical symptoms of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 139(Suppl 1):318–324. doi:10.1111/jnc.13691
- Takizawa R, Hashimoto K, Tochigi M, Kawakubo Y, Marumo K, Sasaki T, Fukuda M, Kasai K (2009) Association between sigma-1 receptor gene polymorphism and prefrontal hemodynamic response induced by cognitive activation in schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 33(3):491–498. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2009.01.014
- Texido L, Hernandez S, Martin-Satue M, Povedano M, Casanovas A, Esquerda J, Marsal J, Solsona C (2011) Sera from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients induce the non-canonical activation of NMDA receptors "in vitro". Neurochem Int 59(6):954–964. doi:10.1016/j.neuint. 2011.07.006
- Tsai SY, Hayashi T, Harvey BK, Wang Y, Wu WW, Shen RF, Zhang Y, Becker KG, Hoffer BJ, Su TP (2009) Sigma-1 receptors regulate hippocampal dendritic spine formation via a free radicalsensitive mechanism involving Rac1xGTP pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106 (52):22468–22473. doi:10.1073/pnas.0909089106
- Uchida N, Ujike H, Nakata K, Takaki M, Nomura A, Katsu T, Tanaka Y, Imamura T, Sakai A, Kuroda S (2003) No association between the sigma receptor type 1 gene and schizophrenia: results of analysis and meta-analysis of case-control studies. BMC Psychiatry 3:13. doi:10. 1186/1471-244x-3-13
- Uchida N, Ujike H, Tanaka Y, Sakai A, Yamamoto M, Fujisawa Y, Kanzaki A, Kuroda S (2005) A variant of the sigma receptor type-1 gene is a protective factor for Alzheimer disease. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 13(12):1062–1066. doi:10.1176/appi.ajgp.13.12.1062
- Van Den Bosch L, Van Damme P, Bogaert E, Robberecht W (2006) The role of excitotoxicity in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1762 (11–12):1068–1082. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2006.05.002
- Villard V, Espallergues J, Keller E, Alkam T, Nitta A, Yamada K, Nabeshima T, Vamvakides A, Maurice T (2009) Antiamnesic and neuroprotective effects of the aminotetrahydrofuran derivative ANAVEX1-41 against amyloid beta(25-35)-induced toxicity in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 34(6):1552–1566. doi:10.1038/npp.2008.212
- Villard V, Espallergues J, Keller E, Vamvakides A, Maurice T (2011) Anti-amnesic and neuroprotective potentials of the mixed muscarinic receptor/sigma 1 (sigma1) ligand ANAVEX2-73, a novel aminotetrahydrofuran derivative. J Psychopharmacol 25(8):1101–1117. doi:10.1177/0269881110379286

- Wachtel SR, White FJ (1988) Electrophysiological effects of BMY 14802, a new potential antipsychotic drug, on midbrain dopamine neurons in the rat: acute and chronic studies. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 244(1):410–416
- Wang HH, Chien JW, Chou YC, Liao JF, Chen CF (2003) Anti-amnesic effect of dimemorfan in mice. Br J Pharmacol 138(5):941–949. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0705117
- Yadid G, Sudai E, Maayan R, Gispan I, Weizman A (2010) The role of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) in drug-seeking behavior. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 35(2):303–314. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2010.03.003
- Yang R, Chen L, Wang H, Xu B, Tomimoto H, Chen L (2012) Anti-amnesic effect of neurosteroid PREGS in Abeta25-35-injected mice through sigmal receptor- and alpha7nAChR-mediated neuroprotection. Neuropharmacology 63(6):1042–1050. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.07.035
- Yang ZJ, Carter EL, Torbey MT, Martin LJ, Koehler RC (2010) Sigma receptor ligand 4-phenyl-1-(4-phenylbutyl)-piperidine modulates neuronal nitric oxide synthase/postsynaptic density-95 coupling mechanisms and protects against neonatal ischemic degeneration of striatal neurons. Exp Neurol 221(1):166–174. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.10.019
- Yin J, Sha S, Chen T, Wang C, Hong J, Jie P, Zhou R, Li L, Sokabe M, Chen L (2015) Sigma-1 (sigma(1)) receptor deficiency reduces beta-amyloid(25-35)-induced hippocampal neuronal cell death and cognitive deficits through suppressing phosphorylation of the NMDA receptor NR2B. Neuropharmacology 89:215–224. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.09.027
- Zhang H, Cuevas J (2002) Sigma receptors inhibit high-voltage-activated calcium channels in rat sympathetic and parasympathetic neurons. J Neurophysiol 87(6):2867–2879
- Zhang XJ, Liu LL, Jiang SX, Zhong YM, Yang XL (2011) Activation of the zeta receptor 1 suppresses NMDA responses in rat retinal ganglion cells. Neuroscience 177:12–22. doi:10. 1016/j.neuroscience.2010.12.064
- Zussy C, Brureau A, Delair B, Marchal S, Keller E, Ixart G, Naert G, Meunier J, Chevallier N, Maurice T, Givalois L (2011) Time-course and regional analyses of the physiopathological changes induced after cerebral injection of an amyloid beta fragment in rats. Am J Pathol 179 (1):315–334. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.03.021
- Zvejniece L, Vavers E, Svalbe B, Vilskersts R, Domracheva I, Vorona M, Veinberg G, Misane I, Stonans I, Kalvinsh I, Dambrova M (2014) The cognition-enhancing activity of E1R, a novel positive allosteric modulator of sigma-1 receptors. Br J Pharmacol 171(3):761–771. doi:10. 1111/bph.12506

Sigma-1 Receptor and Neuronal Excitability

Saïd Kourrich

Contents

1	Introduction	110		
2	The Sig-1R: An Atypical Auxiliary Subunit for Ion Channels			
3 Synaptic Transmission (Ligand Gated Ion Channels, LGICs): Pre- and Postsynaptic				
	Evidence	113		
	3.1 Presynaptic Mechanisms	114		
	3.2 Postsynaptic Mechanisms	114		
4	Neuronal Intrinsic Excitability: Focus on VGICs	116		
	4.1 Voltage-Gated Ca ²⁺ Channels	118		
	4.2 Voltage-Gated Na ⁺ Channels	119		
	4.3 Voltage-Gated K ⁺ Channels	120		
5	Overall Neuronal Excitability	121		
	5.1 Is Sig-1R Critical for the Regulation of Basal Neuronal Excitability?	121		
	5.2 Net Effect of Sig-1R Activation on Overall Neuronal Excitability	122		
6	Concluding Remarks	124		
Re	eferences			

Abstract

The sigma-1 receptor (Sig-1R), via interaction with various proteins, including voltage-gated and ligand-gated ion channels (VGICs and LGICs), is involved in a plethora of neuronal functions. This capability to regulate a variety of ion channel targets endows the Sig-1R with a powerful capability to fine tune neuronal excitability, and thereby the transmission of information within brain circuits. This versatility may also explain why the Sig-1R is associated to numerous diseases at both peripheral and central levels. To date, how the Sig-1R chooses its targets and how the combinations of target modulations

S. Kourrich (🖂)

e-mail: Said.Kourrich@UTSouthwestern.edu

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Department of Psychiatry, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, 2201 Inwood Road, Dallas, TX 75390-9070, USA

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_8

alter overall neuronal excitability is one of the challenges in the field of Sig-1Rdependent regulation of neuronal activity. Here, we will describe and discuss the latest findings on Sig-1R-dependent modulation of VGICs and LGICs, and provide hypotheses that may explain the diverse excitability outcomes that have been reported so far.

Keywords

AMPA receptor • Auxiliary subunit • Calcium channels • Chaperone protein • Intrinsic excitability • NMDA receptor • Potassium channels • Sigma-1 receptor • Sodium channels • Voltage-gated ion channels

1 Introduction

Brain function is governed by an extraordinarily complex, yet organized, neuronal network wherein information transmission is controlled by constant interactions between synaptic and intrinsic cellular excitability factors (Fig. 1). The first, synaptic excitability, controls the transmission of chemical signals at synapses. These chemical signals are heavily influenced by excitatory (glutamate) and inhibitory (γ-Aminobutyric acid, GABA) neurotransmitters that will bind to postsynaptic glutamate (i.e., mainly AMPA and NMDA receptors, AMPARs and NMDARs, respectively) and GABA receptors (GABAR), respectively. The second, intrinsic excitability, translates these chemical signals into an electrical signal that will travel, if strong enough to generate action potentials, to axon terminals and induce the release of neurotransmitters (i.e., chemical signals) and thereby convey information to the next neuron. Altogether, these two factors work in concert to generate global neuronal excitability. Conceptually, intrinsic excitability factors include any elements located on the soma, dendrites, or axon that are "remote" from the synapse but either passively or actively modulate membrane excitability. For the sake of brevity, this chapter will refer only to the elements contributing to the active membrane properties, i.e., the generation of action potentials and the characteristics of repetitive firing processes that are mainly controlled by the interplay between voltage-gated sodium (Na⁺), potassium (K⁺), and calcium (Ca²⁺) channels (Hille 2001). Because ion channels occupy various but nonetheless specific subcellular compartments (Lujan 2010; Bredt and Nicoll 2003), their subcellular localization and functional states alter various aspects of neuronal transmission, including action potential generation, conduction along the axon, neurotransmitter release, and postsynaptic receptor sensitivity. During each of these steps, various types of ion channels open and close in a timely and coordinated manner, a process that shapes action potentials waveform, frequency, and thereby appropriately convey information. To ensure appropriate information transmission, neurons rigorously regulate the function, transcription, translation, and subcellular targeting of these ion channels to the right final destinations. Ion channel auxiliary subunits play a key role in these functions, e.g., Kvßs and KChips (Kv channel-interacting proteins) for K⁺ channels (Vacher et al. 2008; Maffie and Rudy 2008); $Ca_v\alpha_2\delta$, $Ca_v\beta$, and $Ca_v\gamma$



Fig. 1 Compartmentalization of synaptic and intrinsic excitability factors within the cell. A signal received by a neuron through presynaptic neurotransmitter release (1) travels through successive subcellular compartments before it can transmit the information to the next neuron. At the synaptic level (1), glutamate, via activation of AMPARs and NMDARs (synaptic excitability factors), generates an excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP) that is influenced by intrinsic factors (such as VGICs: K⁺, Na⁺, and Ca²⁺ channels) as it travels along the dendrite (2), soma (3), axon hillock and the axon initial segment (4) (compartment rich in Na⁺ channels). If an EPSP is strong enough to depolarize the membrane to action potential threshold, then action potentials are generated and will be further influenced by intrinsic factors, for example those located at the nodes of Ranvier (5), as they travel along the axon, until they reach the axon terminal (6), where they will trigger neurotransmitter release. Modulation of ion channel function at any of these steps can result in plasticity of intrinsic excitability, and thereby alter the generation or conduction of action potentials. (Reproduced from Kourrich et al. 2015)

subunits for Ca^{2+} channels (Arikkath and Campbell 2003; Vacher et al. 2008); $Na_v\beta$ for Na⁺ channels (Calhoun and Isom 2014; Vacher et al. 2008); and stargazin for AMPARs (Bredt and Nicoll 2003). While these auxiliary subunits have been extensively studied, the regulatory power of the Sig-1R, emerging as a new auxiliary subunit (Aydar et al. 2002), is scarcely understood. To date these regulatory functions have been investigated mostly using heterologous expression systems, including cell culture models and Xenopus oocytes (Aydar et al. 2002; Crottes et al. 2011; Kinoshita et al. 2012; Kourrich et al. 2012). Because little, if any, is known about the regulatory functions of the sigma-2 receptor (Sig-2R) subtype, this chapter discusses findings from Sig-1R's studies and will use the term Sig-R when the receptor subtype was not identified. Furthermore, although the Sig-1R can also modulate a plethora of other neurotransmitter and neuromodulator systems, including dopaminergic (Fishback et al. 2010; Moreno et al. 2014; Navarro et al. 2010, 2013), serotoninergic (Bermack and Debonnel 2001; Fishback et al. 2010), histaminergic (Moreno et al. 2014), and cholinergic (van Waarde et al. 2011), for brevity, this chapter focuses on direct interactions of Sig-1Rs with VGICs and LGICs that are directly relevant to neuronal excitability and synaptic transmission.

The first section, supported by recent data, raises the hypothesis that the Sig-1R is an atypical auxiliary regulatory subunit for ion channels, and particularly for VGICs. The second and third sections summarize the state of knowledge on Sig-1R-dependent regulation of LGICs and VGICs, respectively. And the fourth section discusses mechanisms that could explain the observed effects of Sig-1Rs activity on neuronal intrinsic and synaptic excitability, and thus, how they affect overall neuronal activity.

2 The Sig-1R: An Atypical Auxiliary Subunit for Ion Channels

Auxiliary subunits are non-conducting, modulatory components of the multiprotein ion channel complexes that underlie normal neuronal signaling. Although the concept of auxiliary subunits has not been clearly defined, they usually fulfill several criteria, such as the capability to: (1) directly modulate the biophysical properties of the α pore-forming subunits; (2) participate to the assembly, trafficking and surface expression of the pore-forming subunits; (3) regulate ion currents in ligand-independent manner; and (4) alter pharmacological interactions or bind drugs directly. The Sig-1R fulfills all of these criteria. It directly modulates the biophysical properties of channels (Avdar et al. 2002; Kinoshita et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2009), contributes to trafficking and surface distribution of channels (Balasuriya et al. 2014; Crottes et al. 2011; Kinoshita et al. 2012; Kourrich et al. 2013), regulates ion currents in ligand-dependent and independent manner (Aydar et al. 2002; Kinoshita et al. 2012), binds drugs directly (Hayashi et al. 2011; Kourrich et al. 2012), and directly interacts with the pore-forming subunit (Balasuriya et al. 2012, 2013, 2014). However, indirect evidence suggests that other typical criteria that define auxiliary subunits, including its presence in purified channel complexes and both stable and integral association with the pore-forming α subunits, are not shared by the Sig-1R. For example, in both heterologous expression system (NG108-15 cell line) and in brain tissue, only a marginal level of Sig-1Rs coimmunoprecipitated with native Kv1.2 α pore-forming subunits (Kourrich et al. 2013).

Although these functional characteristics support the idea that the Sig-1R is an auxiliary subunit for voltage-gated ion channels (VGICs), other characteristics seem to belong exclusively to the Sig-1R, which makes this chaperone protein atypical and unique in its kind. Typically, VGIC auxiliary subunits are transmembrane or cytoplasmic proteins located at the plasma membrane or in its vicinity (i.e., plasmalemma level) (Vacher et al. 2008). In contrast, the Sig-1R is present in various subcellular compartments, including plasmalemma, plasma membrane, nucleus, mitochondrial and ER membrane, and extracellular space (Hayashi and Su 2003, 2007; Su et al. 2010; Luty et al. 2010; Shioda et al. 2012). Furthermore, while ion channels auxiliary subunits are commonly associated to specific ion channel subfamilies, the Sig-R associates with channel proteins from very different

classes and superfamilies (VGICs and LGICs) (Kourrich et al. 2012). However, recent studies showed that in some cases, other ion channel auxiliary subunits exhibit these unique features as well. For example, NCA localization factor-1 (NLF-1) functions as a unique Na⁺ leak channel auxiliary subunit that is located at the ER level (Xie et al. 2013), and emerging evidence suggests, although rarely reported, that the regulatory functions of channel family-specific auxiliary subunits can be extended to other channel superfamilies. For example, the Na⁺ channel auxiliary subunits Na_v β modulate voltage-gated K⁺ channels (Calhoun and Isom 2014), e.g., Na_v β 1 regulates cell-surface expression of the voltage-gated K⁺ channel Kv4.2 (Marionneau et al. 2012).

To date, Sig-1R has been shown to associate and directly regulate both VGICs that belong to all superfamilies (Na⁺, K⁺, and Ca²⁺) and ionotropic glutamate receptors (NMDARs), which make the Sig-1R a powerful and pluripotent regulator of neuronal activity, from synaptic transmission to intrinsic excitability.

3 Synaptic Transmission (Ligand Gated Ion Channels, LGICs): Pre- and Postsynaptic Evidence

Mechanistically, excitatory synaptic transmission depends on both presynaptic glutamate release and postsynaptic ionotropic glutamate receptors functions. Although it is evident that Sig-1Rs modulate excitatory transmission in both central (CNS) (Bergeron et al. 1993; Bermack and Debonnel 2005; Monnet et al. 1990; Yamamoto et al. 1995; Liang and Wang 1998; Zhang et al. 2011) and peripheral nervous systems (PNS) (Kim et al. 2008; Yoon et al. 2010), the cellular mechanism and the site of action through which and where the Sig-1R operates are less clear. This could reflect, as discussed below, subcellular-specific actions of Sig-1Rs on pre- or postsynaptic receptors – actions that would depend on the brain region and on the mechanisms of action, i.e., direct versus indirect (i.e., via second messenger systems).

To date and historically, most of the studies revealed a role for the Sig-1R in the regulation of NMDAR-mediated transmission and some evidence supports a role for the Sig-1R in the regulation of GABA_AR- (GABA type A receptor) (Zheng 2009; Mtchedlishvili and Kapur 2003) and AMPAR-mediated transmission (Liang and Wang 1998; Meyer et al. 2002; Ohi et al. 2011). Briefly, although selective antagonists were not yet available, pharmacological studies using combination of non-selective Sig-Rs ligands suggest that the Sig-1R has the potential to modulate NMDAR-mediated transmission bidirectionally. These modulations occur in both the CNS and PNS, including the CA3 field of rat dorsal hippocampus (Bergeron et al. 1993; Bermack and Debonnel 2005; Monnet et al. 1990), cultured neuronal cells from fetal rat telencephalon (Yamamoto et al. 1995), pyramidal cells of medial prefrontal cortex (Liang and Wang 1998), spinal cord (Kim et al. 2008; Yoon et al. 2010), and retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) (Zhang et al. 2011).

3.1 Presynaptic Mechanisms

Via a Sig-1R-dependent mechanism, endogenous neuroactive steroid pregnenolone sulfate (PREGS) enhances the frequency but not the amplitude of AMPARmediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs) in cultured hippocampal neurons (Meyer et al. 2002). This effect was accompanied by a decrease in paired-pulse facilitation, an electrophysiological phenotype that indicates enhanced probability of presynaptic glutamate release. This adaptation was prevented by pertussis toxin-induced blockade of Gi/o-coupled receptor and dependent on elevation of intracellular Ca^{2+} . Interestingly, this effect is reminiscent of Dong et al. (2007) study, which showed that Sig-1R activation by dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS), another endogenous neuroactive steroid, promotes presvnaptic glutamate release in the rat prelimbic cortex via activation of dopamine 1 receptor (D1R) (Dong et al. 2007). At a first glance, because D1R is coupled to Gs and not to Gi/o, these two adaptations appear to be mediated by different mechanisms. However, one way to reconcile these seemingly contradictory findings is to examine the particular G protein coupling with metabotropic heteromeric complexes. For example, Sig-1Rs via heteromeric complexes modulate several presynaptic metabotropic receptors that play a role in presynaptic glutamate release, e.g., dopamine 1 receptor (D1R) (Ferraro et al. 2012), 5-HT receptors (Marek and Aghajanian 1998; Hawkins 2013), and histamine H3 receptor (H3R) (Brown et al. 2001; Brown and Reymann 1996). The latter, H3R, is coupled to Gi/o and depending on brain regions can be located predominantly on pre- or postsynaptic side (Brown et al. 2001; Ellenbroek 2013). H3R and D1R can heterodimerize, and these complexes are coupled with Gi (Ellenbroek 2013). Importantly, through direct binding, Sig-1R activation regulates D1R-H3R signaling (Moreno et al. 2014). Although the signal transduction triggered by activation of the Sig-1-D1-H3 receptor complex is still unclear, this complex represents an interesting molecular candidate for Sig-1R-dependent modulation of presynaptic glutamate release.

3.2 Postsynaptic Mechanisms

(+)-SKF 10,047 activation of Sig-1Rs suppresses NMDAR- but not AMPARmediated evoked EPSCs in different types of RGCs. Because this mechanism was not accompanied by changes in AMPAR-mediated miniature EPSCs, it was interpreted that Sig-1Rs activation did not alter spontaneous presynaptic release of glutamate (Zhang et al. 2011). Consistent with postsynaptic mechanism, combining pharmacological and electrophysiological approaches in brain slices, Zhang et al. (2012) reported that methylphenidate (i.e., Ritalin), a drug used for Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), enhances NMDAR- but not non-NMDAR (presumably AMPAR)-mediated transmission (Zhang et al. 2012). This effect required PLC/IP3/PKC signaling pathway and was independent of catecholamine release or methylphenidate-induced increase in the concentration of DA and norepinephrine in the synaptic cleft, and therefore, likely involves a post-synaptic



Fig. 2 Schematic illustrating direct regulation of Na^+ , Ca^{2+} , and K^+ voltage-gated ion channels by the sigma-1 receptor (Sig-1R). Upon ligand stimulation (e.g., cocaine, (+)-pentazocine, PRE-084), Sig-1Rs dissociate from binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP) (i), another endoplasmic reticulum (ER) chaperone protein, and then translocate from the mitochondrion-associated ER membrane

Fig. 2 (continued) (MAM, interface between mitochondrion and ER) to the ER and plasmalemma. Acting as an interorganelle signaling modulator, Sig-1R regulates a variety of functional proteins, both directly and indirectly. Here are represented only the regulations mediated by direct interaction with Sig-1R protein targets. Dashed pointed and flathead arrows indicate positive and negative regulations, respectively. On the one hand, Sig-1R can upregulate ion channel expression at the plasma membrane either through the regulation of subunit trafficking activity (hERG) (Crottes et al. 2011) or a mechanism that is still unidentified (Kv1.2) (Kourrich et al. 2013). Sig-1R activation by (+)-SKF10,047 can also enhance binding with NMDARs, a mechanism that may play a role in NMDAR subunit trafficking to the cell surface (Balasuriya et al. 2013; Pabba et al. 2014). On the other hand, Sig-1R can inhibit ion currents through modulation of target biophysical properties (Kv1.3, Kv1.4) (Aydar et al. 2002; Kinoshita et al. 2012) and likely trafficking mechanisms (Na_v1.5) (Johannessen et al. 2009) (Balasuriya et al. 2012). This can occur through both ligand-independent (Kv1.3, Kv1.4) (Aydar et al. 2002; Kinoshita et al. 2012) and ligand-dependent mechanisms (Kv1.4) (Aydar et al. 2002). Interestingly, Sig-1R can both enhance (Sabeti et al. 2007) and inhibit (Tchedre et al. 2008) L-type Ca²⁺ current; however, it is still unknown whether these two opposing effects are both mediated through a protein-protein interaction mechanism

mechanism. It is only recently that a study using atomic force microscopy (AFM) imaging demonstrated that Sig-1Rs can interact directly with NMDARs (Balasuriya et al. 2013) (Fig. 2). However, the nature and subunit-specificity of this interaction remain unclear. While this study found that the Sig-1R interacts with NMDARs via binding with GluN1 subunit (and not GluN2A) (Balasuriya et al. 2013), another study, using a less stringent approach, found that the Sig-1R coimmunoprecipitates with GluN2 subunits in rat hippocampus (Pabba et al. 2014). Because GluN1 antibody was not used, Sig-1R indirectly binding with GluN2 through direct binding with GluN1 cannot be excluded. Interestingly, they have also found that Sig-1R activation by (+)-SKF10,047 enhances this interaction, a mechanism that appears to play a role in NMDAR subunits trafficking to the cell surface.

In summary, the Sig-1R can modulate excitatory glutamate transmission via both pre- and postsynaptic mechanisms. Depending on the subcellular site of action, Sig-1R activation can either lead to changes in mechanism that regulate presynaptic glutamate release or modulate NMDA receptor activity via direct protein–protein association on the postsynaptic side. However, it is still unknown whether the functional relationship between the Sig-1R and NMDARs is constrained to the regulation of subunits trafficking to the surface or involves the modulation of NMDAR function as well.

4 Neuronal Intrinsic Excitability: Focus on VGICs

Sig-1R-dependent modulations of excitatory glutamate transmission will directly alter the capability of the neuron to generate an excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP). This EPSP is influenced by intrinsic factors (such as VGICs: K^+ , Na⁺, and Ca²⁺ channels) as it travels along the dendrite, soma, axon hillock, and the axon initial segment (compartment rich in Na⁺ channels). At this level, if an EPSP is

Functional			
effects	Experimental system	Evidence	Refs
Ca ²⁺ currents			
\downarrow N, L, P/Q and R-type	Parasympathetic intracardiac neurons; superior cervical ganglia (cell culture)	2nd messenger systems and G proteins not required	Zhang and Cuevas (2002) ^a
↓L-type	Retinal ganglion cells (cell culture)	co-IP	(Tchedre et al. 2008)
Na ⁺ currents			
↓Na _v 1.5	Cardiac myocytes; cell lines (cell culture)	2nd messenger systems and G proteins not required; AFM	(Johannessen et al. 2009; Fontanilla et al. 2009; Balasuriya et al. 2012)
K ⁺ currents	·		·
$\downarrow I_{\rm A}$	Neurohypophysial terminals (pituitary gland slices)	2nd messenger systems and G proteins not required	(Lupardus et al. 2000)
$\downarrow I_{\rm K(DR),} \\ I_{\rm BK}$	Parasympathetic intracardiac neurons (cell culture)	2nd messenger systems and G proteins not required	(Zhang and Cuevas 2005)
$ \begin{array}{c} \downarrow I_{\rm A} \\ ({\rm Kv1.4}) \end{array} $	Xenopus oocytes; rat posterior pituitary gland	co-IP	(Aydar et al. 2002)
† <i>I</i> _{hERG}	Xenopus oocytes; HEK cells; human K562 myeloid leukemia cells	co-IP; AFM	(Crottes et al. 2011; Balasuriya et al. 2014)
↓Kv1.3	Xenopus oocytes; HEK 293 cells	co-IP	(Kinoshita et al. 2012)
↑Kv1.2	Brain tissue (NAc and PFC); cell lines (NG108-15 and Neuro2A)	co-IP	(Kourrich et al. 2013)

Table 1 Summary of direct effects of Sig-1R activation on VGICs

AFM atomic force microscopy, *co-IP* coimmunoprecipitation, I_A A-type K+ current, I_{BK} largeconductance Ca2+-activated K+ current, I_{hERG} human ether-à-gogo K+ current, $I_{K(DR)}$ delayed outwardly rectifying K+ current

^aRank order potency of various Sig-R ligands suggests these effects may be through Sig-2R

strong enough to depolarize the membrane to action potential threshold, then action potentials are generated and will be further influenced by intrinsic factors as they travel along the axon until they reach the axon terminal where they will trigger neurotransmitter release. Through both indirect and direct physical interaction the Sig-1R regulates various VGICs, and thereby has the capability to modulate both the generation and the conduction of action potentials. This section summarizes evidence supporting direct regulation of VGICs by the Sig-1R and its resulting effects on ion channel functions (Table 1, Fig. 2).

4.1 Voltage-Gated Ca²⁺ Channels

 Ca^{2+} controls neuronal activity both directly and indirectly. For example, influx of Ca^{2+} from extracellular to intracellular compartments through voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channels triggers activity-dependent neurotransmitter release at the synaptic level. Ca^{2+} can also act as a second messenger to trigger specific intracellular signaling pathways. Overall, while Na⁺ and K⁺ channels are involved in processes requiring fast transduction signal, Ca²⁺ plays a role in both fast synaptic transmission and slow changes in neuronal function through the regulation of intracellular signaling pathways (Catterall 2010; Dolphin 2009). Sig-Rs strongly modulate intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration in both neuronal and non-neuronal cells, a process that can occur through the regulation of both Ca^{2+} entry through the plasma membrane and Ca²⁺ mobilization from endoplasmic stores (Hayashi et al. 2000; Hayashi and Su 2001) [for reviews see (Fishback et al. 2010; Maurice and Su 2009; Su et al. 2010)]. This regulatory function is mediated through either direct or indirect action of the Sig-1R on Ca²⁺ channels. Probably the first studies that have suggested that Sig-Rs (Sig-1R and Sig-2R were not distinguished vet) can be associated to Ca^{2+} channels, and thereby directly modulate their functions, came from indirect evidence in the 1990s (Brent et al. 1997; Church and Fletcher 1995; Rothman et al. 1991). Using binding, pharmacological and electrophysiological assays, the effects of various Sig-R ligands were tested on neuronal Ca^{2+} dynamics. However, it was unclear whether these inhibitory actions on Ca^{2+} dynamics were mediated by the Sig-1R, Sig-2R, or both, or whether Sig-R ligands used at high concentrations (i.e., micromolar) were acting directly on Ca^{2+} channels rather than on Sig-Rs. It was until the discovery of highly selective toxins for specific voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels that it became evident that Sig-Rs could be both associated with and regulate voltagegated Ca²⁺ channels (Brent et al. 1997).

To date, the L-type voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channel is the only one to have been identified as a direct target for the Sig-1R in the nervous system (Tchedre et al. 2008). On the one hand, data from cultured RGCs provided unequivocal evidence, via co-immunoprecipitation assays, for physical interaction between Sig-1Rs and L-type Ca^{2+} channels (Fig. 2, Table 1). In this preparation, the Sig-1R agonist (+)-SKF10,047 directly inhibited Ca^{2+} currents – an effect prevented by the Sig-1R antagonist BD1047 (Tchedre et al. 2008). On the other hand, using brain slices preparation, PREGS activation of Sig-1Rs triggered an L-type Ca^{2+} channel-dependent LTP in CA1 region of the hippocampus. This form of plasticity was NMDAR-independent but dependent on Sig-1R-induced increase in L-type Ca^{2+} currents (Sabeti et al. 2007). The Sig-1R antagonist BD1047 prevented PREGS facilitation of L-type Ca^{2+} channel-dependent LTP and mimicked the effect of nimodipine, a specific L-type Ca^{2+} channel blocker (Sabeti et al. 2007).

Although this section focuses on Ca^{2+} currents mediated by voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channels directly involved in the regulation of neuronal excitability, it is worth noting that Sig-1R also binds and regulates non-voltage-gated Ca^{2+} -permeable channels. This includes: (1) regulation of IP3 receptors [reviewed in (Fishback et al. 2010; Maurice and Su 2009; Su et al. 2010], which result in proper ER to

mitochondria Ca^{2+} signaling and thought to regulate mitochondrial bioenergetics (Hayashi and Su 2007) [reviewed in (Fishback et al. 2010; Su et al. 2010)]; and (2) plasma membrane acid-sensing ion channels 1a (ASIC1a) (Carnally et al. 2010; Herrera et al. 2008), which results in ASIC1a-mediated Ca²⁺ currents inhibition and consequent intracellular Ca²⁺ accumulation (Herrera et al. 2008).

Taken together, while it is clear that Sig-1R modulates Ca^{2+} channels, the modulation, depending on the physiological context, can be direct or indirect, and facilitatory or inhibitory. This highlights the complexity and diversity in Sig-1R actions on Ca^{2+} signaling and even suggests that the Sig-1R can exert opposite effects depending on the brain regions or neuronal subtypes.

4.2 Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channels

Direct interaction and modulation of Na⁺ channel functions by Sig-1R has been reported only recently (Fontanilla et al. 2009; Johannessen et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2010) (Table 1). Sig-1R activation in mouse cardiac myocytes and fibroblast-like cell lines [e.g., COS-7 and human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293)] by (+)-SKF10,047, (+)-pentazocine (Johannessen et al. 2009) or N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT, Sig-1R putative endogenous ligand) (Fontanilla et al. 2009) inhibits $Na_v 1.5$ mediated currents without altering its biophysical properties (Johannessen et al. 2009) (Fig. 2). This effect was attenuated in cells from SIGMAR1 knock-out mice. Further analysis showed that Sig-1R inhibits $Na_v 1.5$ -mediated currents without requiring ATP or GTP (Johannessen et al. 2009), suggesting G-protein- and protein kinase-independent mechanisms. AFM imaging of co-isolated Sig-1R/Nav1.5 protein complexes provided unequivocal evidence for Sig-1R and Na_v1.5 proteinprotein association, a process that also occurs in intact cells (Balasuriya et al. 2012) (Fig. 2, Table 1). Interestingly, only a small portion (6%) of the two proteins appeared to interact, suggesting that the Sig-1R may be involved in Na $_v$ 1.5 trafficking or maturation, a process that is reminiscent of Sig-1R-dependent regulation of K ⁺ channels (Crottes et al. 2011; Kinoshita et al. 2012; Kourrich et al. 2013). Functionally, although Johannessen et al. (2009) did not observe Sig-1R-mediated changes in Na⁺ current biophysical properties (Johannessen et al. 2009), Zhang et al. (2010) found that Sig-1R ligand activation shifted steady-state inactivation of Na⁺ channels to more negative potentials, which resulted in delayed action potential latency and decreased firing rate (Zhang et al. 2010).

In summary, Sig-1R has the capability to decrease Na⁺ channel functions via two mechanisms, decreasing Na⁺ current and Na⁺ channel availability when needed. Taken together, and in contrast to bidirectional action of Sig-1R on Ca²⁺ currents, only inhibitory actions of Sig-1R on Na⁺ currents have been reported so far.

4.3 Voltage-Gated K⁺ Channels

Sig-1R modulates various K⁺ channels in both non-neuronal and neuronal cells. This modulation can involve either indirect mechanisms or direct protein-protein interactions [reviewed in (Kourrich et al. 2012)]. Among the seminal studies that linked Sig-1R to K⁺ currents (Bartschat and Blaustein 1988; Kennedy and Henderson 1990; Wu et al. 1991), Morio et al. (1994) were among the first to suggest direct regulation of K⁺ channels by Sig-Rs (Morio et al. 1994). Although Sig-R antagonists were not used, the study provided convincing pharmacological and electrophysiological evidence showing that Sig-R agonists block a tonic and outward K⁺ conductance. Disrupting second messenger systems with pertussis toxin, cholera toxin, forskolin, phorbol-12,13-dibutvrate, and absence of GTP in the recording pipette did not prevent Sig-R-induced blockade of the K⁺ current, suggesting direct coupling between Sig-Rs and the identified channel. Studies from early 2000s provided additional evidence, in which disrupting ATP- and GTP-dependent processes in rodent neurohypophysial nerve terminals (Lupardus et al. 2000) or in parasympathic intracardiac neurons (Zhang and Cuevas 2005) did not prevent Sig-1R agonists from attenuating various K⁺ currents (delayed outward rectifier K⁺ current, I_{KDR} ; large conductance Ca²⁺-sensitive K⁺ channels, I_{BK} ; and M-current). Although Sig-1R agonists were used at high concentrations (up to 100 µM), which can lead to unspecific and direct pharmacological blockade of K ⁺ channels (Lamy et al. 2010; Lupardus et al. 2000), data showed that when Sig-1Rs agonists were applied on *Xenopus* oocytes that do not express Sig-1R, K⁺ channels were unresponsive, ruling out inhibition through direct drug interaction with these K⁺ channels. Nonetheless, the evidence was still indirect.

Today, unequivocal evidence for direct physical interaction between Sig-1Rs and K⁺ channels is accumulating (Aydar et al. 2002; Crottes et al. 2011; Kinoshita et al. 2012; Kourrich et al. 2013; Balasuriya et al. 2014) (Fig. 2, Table 1). Regarding the Kv family, and particularly the Kv1 subfamily, a seminal study (Aydar et al. 2002), combining electrophysiological recordings and co-immunoprecipitation data from posterior pituitary gland and Xenopus oocytes, showed that the Sig-1R inhibits K⁺ currents formed by Kv1.4 subunits through a direct protein-protein interaction, and consistent with co-localization studies in CHO-K1 cells (Mavlyutov and Ruoho 2007). Interestingly, Sig-1R differentially inhibited Kv1.4-mediated current through ligand-dependent or independent mechanisms, a functional relationship suggesting that the Sig-1R may act as a ligand-regulated auxiliary K⁺ channel subunit. Similar to these findings, co-expression in Xenopus oocytes of Sig-1Rs and Kv1.3 channels, a slowly inactivating outward voltagegated K⁺ channel that is predominantly expressed in T lymphocytes (Panyi et al. 2004) and in cerebellum (Vacher et al. 2008), resulted in Kv1.3-mediated currents inhibition by accelerating channel inactivation in ligand-independent manner (Kinoshita et al. 2012). However, most of these studies were performed using reductionist models (e.g., heterologous expression system in cell cultures and Xenopus oocytes; and neuroendocrinal tissue in vitro), and it is only recently that Sig-1Rs have been found to bind to Kv channels in the brain and that external

stimuli boost the formation of these complexes, which results in long-lasting changes in both neuronal excitability and behavior (Kourrich et al. 2013). In brief, via protein-protein association Sig-1Rs contribute to basal trafficking of Kv1.2 channels in the nucleus accumbens (NAc, brain region involved in reward and motivation), the prefrontal cortex (PFC, brain region involved in decisionmaking), and in heterologous expression system (NG108-15 and Neuro2A cell lines), suggesting that the association between Kv1.2 and Sig-1Rs is a conserved mechanism. This study also provided both physiological and behavioral relevance to such functions of the Sig-1R in the intact animal. Specifically, systemic in vivo cocaine injections upregulate Kv1.2-mediated current in NAc neurons, a mechanism that is caused by enhanced and persistent protein-protein association between Sig-1Rs and Kv1.2 channels at the membrane. This adaptation was correlated to locomotor response to cocaine and was maintained long after cessation of cocaine administration (up to 14 days), which demonstrates that Sig-1R binding to K^+ channels can undergo enduring experience-driven plasticity that has direct consequences on behavior.

Sig-1R has been reported to be overexpressed in cancer cell lines (Crottes et al. 2013) where, via direct physical interaction (Balasuriya et al. 2014; Crottes et al. 2011), it functions as a chaperone enhancing maturation and membrane expression of the human ether-à-gogo K⁺ channel (hERG, also known as Kv11.1), a voltage-dependent K⁺ channel that regulates cardiac repolarization (Sanguinetti et al. 1995; Trudeau et al. 1995).

In summary, Sig-1R bidirectionally modulates K^+ currents, an effect that occurs through direct protein–protein interaction and resulting either in modulation of K^+ channels functions (Aydar et al. 2002; Kinoshita et al. 2012) or regulation of subunit maturation and trafficking to the cell surface (Crottes et al. 2011; Balasuriya et al. 2014; Kourrich et al. 2013).

5 Overall Neuronal Excitability

5.1 Is Sig-1R Critical for the Regulation of Basal Neuronal Excitability?

Because Sig-1R modulates so many client proteins, it is surprising that knocking out Sig-1R does not lead to more dramatic effects on behavior and neuronal activity. It is even more striking that knock-out of classical auxiliary subunits that regulate only a limited number of VGICs leads to profound changes in various cellular functions (Giese et al. 1998; Pongs et al. 1999; Martinez-Espinosa et al. 2014; Sun et al. 2011), and thereby leads to diseases such as epilepsy (Heilstedt et al. 2001), long QT syndrome (Schulze-Bahr et al. 1997; Splawski et al. 1997), muscle-related disorders (e.g., familial periodic paralysis, disorder of skeletal muscle) (Abbott and Goldstein 2001), and in some cases to premature death (Arikkath and Campbell 2003). However, based on the absence of both clear behavioral and physiological phenotypes observed in naïve Sig-1R KO mice

(Langa et al. 2003), it becomes legitimate to wonder whether the Sig-1R is critical for the regulation of basal neuronal activity and behavior. One might hypothesize that Sig-1R function becomes critical only when the system is challenged. This point can be supported by both behavioral and cellular evidence.

For example and regarding behavior, while Sig-1R knockout models do not exhibit notable changes in basal behavior, animals exhibit impairments when they must learn and memorize new information (Entrena et al. 2009; Chevallier et al. 2011), having to cope with depression (Chevallier et al. 2011; Sabino et al. 2009), or having to assess pain levels (Cendan et al. 2005). To further support this hypothesis, activation of the Sig-1R plays a protective role when the system is challenged as reported for several disorders of the nervous system or affects, including amnesia, depression, neuropathic pain, Alzheimer's disease, and stroke (Maurice and Su 2009). Altogether, the Sig-1R may have little role to play in healthy systems and would play a beneficial role only upon dysregulations of cellular functions. An exception to this hypothesis is the consensus in the field that Sig-1R activation contributes to the development of drug addiction (Katz et al. 2011) and cancer (Crottes et al. 2013).

To date, at the cellular excitability level, application of Sig-1R antagonists alone in various in vitro preparations or in intact animals has no effect on Ca^{2+} dynamics (Cuevas et al. 2011; Pan et al. 2014; Tchedre et al. 2008), K⁺ currents (Kourrich et al. 2013), and Na⁺ currents (Zhang et al. 2009). And shRNA-mediated Sig-1R knockdown in the NAc shell in vivo does not alter basal neuronal excitability either (Kourrich et al. 2013). However, it is noteworthy to mention that acute pharmacological blockade of Sig-1R cannot be compared with lasting protein knockdown conferred by shRNAs. Data indicate that shRNA-induced Sig-1R knockdown in cell culture preparations reduces hERG (Crottes et al. 2011) and Na_v1.5 current densities (Balasuriya et al. 2012).

Although the question of whether the Sig-1R is critical for the regulation of basal neuronal excitability remains open, in summary and as an analogy, the role of the Sig-1R could be compared to the police, where its role is minimal in safe environment but becomes critical when safety and order are compromised.

5.2 Net Effect of Sig-1R Activation on Overall Neuronal Excitability

The regulatory functions of the Sig-1R on various aspects that control neuronal activity are diverse, including the regulation of post-translational biogenesis of ion channels, their trafficking to the plasma membrane, ligand-independent modulation of VGIC functions, and modulation of neurotransmitter release. Contributions of these processes are often brain region- and cell type-specific, resulting in complex effects on neuronal excitability and thereby on brain circuits' function. What dictates the net effect of these Sig-1R-dependent modulations on mechanisms that control overall neuronal activity is one of today's challenges in the field of Sig-1R and neuronal excitability. The complexity and diversity of Sig-1R's targets

has been the main issue limiting the understanding of how Sig-1R functions affect CNS activity.

For example, inhibition of Na⁺ currents by the Sig-1R (Johannessen et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2009) should decrease action potential firing, whereas inhibition of K^+ currents (Avdar et al. 2002; Crottes et al. 2011; Kinoshita et al. 2012) should, in contrast, increase action potential firing. To add a supplementary level of complexity, depending on the neuroanatomical site of action, the Sig-1R facilitates (Sabeti et al. 2007) or inhibits (Tchedre et al. 2008) voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels. And investigating the role of Sig-1R on neuronal intrinsic excitability is further challenged by the complexity and diversity of ion channel subtypes, e.g., over 100 genes have already been cloned for the pore-forming α subunits of K+ channels alone (Lujan 2010). Thus, it is expected that future studies will reveal novel ion channel targets of Sig-1R, and therefore, inferring the changes in firing capacity from changes in individual (or even several) currents may be misleading (Marder and Goaillard 2006). One way to approach this task is to measure firing properties before and after Sig-1R manipulation. Because of the factors discussed below, it is not surprising that the few studies that measured so far the effect of Sig-1R activation on basal firing have provided mixed results, showing both excitation and inhibition (Cheng et al. 2008; Zhang and Cuevas 2005; Zhang et al. 2009; Lucas et al. 2008; Ceci et al. 1988). Below are examples of biological factors that may explain the various neuronal responses to Sig-1R stimulation:

First, the availability of the targets is probably one of the most influential factors. Subtypes of Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and K⁺ channels are heterogeneously and not proportionately distributed throughout the nervous system. Combined with variability in their subcellular distribution (Lujan 2010; Nusser 2009), these factors are likely to influence the resulting effect of Sig-1R activation on neuronal firing.

Second and reminiscent of the previous point, the intracellular milieu and molecular substrates available may also play important roles. Indeed, protein kinases [e.g., extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)] and the Sig-1R can mutually regulate one another (Cormaci et al. 2007; Moriguchi et al. 2011). Protein kinases are strong modulators of VGICs (Cerda and Trimmer 2010). Therefore, variations in the types and levels of activity of protein kinases may lead to differential effects of Sig-1R activation on neuronal excitability. Further, a characteristic that defines neuronal types is the level of tonic activity, which suggests that modulatory effects mediated through the Sig-1R will also be influenced by neuronal and/or neural system basal activity.

Third, a factor that is often underestimated is age. Studies on age-dependent changes of Sig-1R levels have provided mixed results (Ishiwata et al. 2003; Phan et al. 2003); however, the levels of neuroactive steroids (important Sig-1R endoge-nous ligands) decrease with age (Maurice et al. 2001). As mentioned earlier, the action of neurosteroids on Sig-1Rs can affect both VGICs and LGICs, which indicates that endogenous age-related variations in neurosteroid levels could also contribute to physiological regulation of neuronal activity. This raises concerns when investigating the effects of Sig-1R stimulation on neuronal excitability using preparations from animals of different ages. In other words, exogenous

experimental conditions may interact with the endogenous level of neuroactive steroids and lead to different functional outcomes. For example, administration of the same concentration of neuroactive steroids to preparations from animals of different ages may lead to unexpected variability when neuronal excitability or synaptic transmission is investigated, an example that is well illustrated by the effects of PREGS on excitatory glutamate transmission (Zheng 2009). This factor may also lead to different behavioral effects when neurosteroids are administered in vivo.

Taken together, the net effect of Sig-1R activation on neuronal activity may depend on several factors, including the level of Sig-1R expression, availability of Sig-1R target proteins, anatomical and subcellular localization of VGICs, and the intracellular milieu, a factor that is influenced by the level of basal neuronal activity and age.

6 Concluding Remarks

In summary, Sig-1R, through various means and diverse targets, is capable of affecting each stage of neuronal transmission. This may explain why Sig-1R is associated with many brain functions and neurological disorders. A clear, region-specific understanding of how Sig-1Rs can regulate neuronal activity through the modulation of VGICs and LGICs will provide information not only on how Sig-1Rs participate in shaping neuronal activity, but also on how its disruption can lead to symptoms observed in brain disorders. However, one of the important challenges in the field is to establish causal relationships between specific Sig-1R-triggered signaling pathways, or specific Sig-1R-protein associations, and physiological outcomes. This advancement in basic biochemical and cellular mechanisms will contribute to the development of treatments that could target specific Sig-1R-associated diseases and disorders.

References

- Abbott GW, Goldstein SA (2001) Potassium channel subunits encoded by the KCNE gene family: physiology and pathophysiology of the MinK-related peptides (MiRPs). Mol Interv 1 (2):95–107
- Arikkath J, Campbell KP (2003) Auxiliary subunits: essential components of the voltage-gated calcium channel complex. Curr Opin Neurobiol 13(3):298–307
- Aydar E, Palmer CP, Klyachko VA, Jackson MB (2002) The sigma receptor as a ligand-regulated auxiliary potassium channel subunit. Neuron 34 (3):399–410. doi: S0896627302006773 (pii)
- Balasuriya D, Stewart AP, Crottes D, Borgese F, Soriani O, Edwardson JM (2012) The sigma-1 receptor binds to the Nav1.5 voltage-gated Na+ channel with 4-fold symmetry. J Biol Chem 287(44):37021–37029. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.382077
- Balasuriya D, Stewart AP, Edwardson JM (2013) The sigma-1 receptor interacts directly with GluN1 but not GluN2A in the GluN1/GluN2A NMDA receptor. J Neurosci 33 (46):18219–18224. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3360-13.2013

- Balasuriya D, D'Sa L, Talker R, Dupuis E, Maurin F, Martin P, Borgese F, Soriani O, Edwardson JM (2014) A direct interaction between the sigma-1 receptor and the hERG voltage-gated K+ channel revealed by atomic force microscopy and homogeneous time-resolved fluorescence (HTRF(R)). J Biol Chem 289(46):32353–32363. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.603506
- Bartschat DK, Blaustein MP (1988) Psychotomimetic sigma-ligands, dexoxadrol and phencyclidine block the same presynaptic potassium channel in rat brain. J Physiol 403:341–353
- Bergeron R, Debonnel G, De Montigny C (1993) Modification of the N-methyl-D-aspartate response by antidepressant sigma receptor ligands. Eur J Pharmacol 240(2–3):319–323
- Bermack JE, Debonnel G (2001) Modulation of serotonergic neurotransmission by short- and long-term treatments with sigma ligands. Br J Pharmacol 134(3):691–699. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp. 0704294
- Bermack JE, Debonnel G (2005) Distinct modulatory roles of sigma receptor subtypes on glutamatergic responses in the dorsal hippocampus. Synapse 55(1):37–44. doi:10.1002/syn. 20085
- Bredt DS, Nicoll RA (2003) AMPA receptor trafficking at excitatory synapses. Neuron 40 (2):361–379
- Brent PJ, Herd L, Saunders H, Sim AT, Dunkley PR (1997) Protein phosphorylation and calcium uptake into rat forebrain synaptosomes: modulation by the sigma ligand, 1,3-ditolylguanidine. J Neurochem 68(5):2201–2211
- Brown RE, Reymann KG (1996) Histamine H3 receptor-mediated depression of synaptic transmission in the dentate gyrus of the rat in vitro. J Physiol 496(Pt 1):175–184
- Brown RE, Stevens DR, Haas HL (2001) The physiology of brain histamine. Prog Neurobiol 63 (6):637–672
- Calhoun JD, Isom LL (2014) The role of non-pore-forming beta subunits in physiology and pathophysiology of voltage-gated sodium channels. Handb Exp Pharmacol 221:51–89. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-41588-3_4
- Carnally SM, Johannessen M, Henderson RM, Jackson MB, Edwardson JM (2010) Demonstration of a direct interaction between sigma-1 receptors and acid-sensing ion channels. Biophys J 98 (7):1182–1191. doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2009.12.4293
- Catterall WA (2010) Signaling complexes of voltage-gated sodium and calcium channels. Neurosci Lett 486(2):107–116. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2010.08.085
- Ceci A, Smith M, French ED (1988) Activation of the A10 mesolimbic system by the sigmareceptor agonist (+)SKF 10,047 can be blocked by rimcazole, a novel putative antipsychotic. Eur J Pharmacol 154(1):53–57
- Cendan CM, Pujalte JM, Portillo-Salido E, Montoliu L, Baeyens JM (2005) Formalin-induced pain is reduced in sigma(1) receptor knockout mice. Eur J Pharmacol 511(1):73–74. doi:10. 1016/j.ejphar.2005.01.036
- Cerda O, Trimmer JS (2010) Analysis and functional implications of phosphorylation of neuronal voltage-gated potassium channels. Neurosci Lett 486(2):60–67. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2010.06. 064
- Cheng ZX, Lan DM, Wu PY, Zhu YH, Dong Y, Ma L, Zheng P (2008) Neurosteroid dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate inhibits persistent sodium currents in rat medial prefrontal cortex via activation of sigma-1 receptors. Exp Neurol 210(1):128–136. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2007. 10.004
- Chevallier N, Keller E, Maurice T (2011) Behavioural phenotyping of knockout mice for the sigma-1 (sigma(1)) chaperone protein revealed gender-related anxiety, depressive-like and memory alterations. J Psychopharmacol 25(7):960–975. doi:10.1177/0269881111400648
- Church J, Fletcher EJ (1995) Blockade by sigma site ligands of high voltage-activated Ca2+ channels in rat and mouse cultured hippocampal pyramidal neurones. Br J Pharmacol 116 (7):2801–2810
- Cormaci G, Mori T, Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Protein kinase a activation down-regulates, whereas extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation up-regulates sigma-1 receptors in B-104 cells:

implication for neuroplasticity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 320(1):202–210. doi:10.1124/jpet.106. 108415

- Crottes D, Martial S, Rapetti-Mauss R, Pisani DF, Loriol C, Pellissier B, Martin P, Chevet E, Borgese F, Soriani O (2011) Sig1R protein regulates hERG channel expression through a posttranslational mechanism in leukemic cells. J Biol Chem 286(32):27947–27958. doi: M111.226738 (pii) 10.1074/jbc.M111.226738
- Crottes D, Guizouarn H, Martin P, Borgese F, Soriani O (2013) The sigma-1 receptor: a regulator of cancer cell electrical plasticity? Front Physiol 4:175. doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00175
- Cuevas J, Behensky A, Deng W, Katnik C (2011) Afobazole modulates neuronal response to ischemia and acidosis via activation of sigma-1 receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 339 (1):152–160. doi:10.1124/jpet.111.182774
- Dolphin AC (2009) Calcium channel diversity: multiple roles of calcium channel subunits. Curr Opin Neurobiol 19(3):237–244. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2009.06.006
- Dong LY, Cheng ZX, Fu YM, Wang ZM, Zhu YH, Sun JL, Dong Y, Zheng P (2007) Neurosteroid dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate enhances spontaneous glutamate release in rat prelimbic cortex through activation of dopamine D1 and sigma-1 receptor. Neuropharmacology 52 (3):966–974. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2006.10.015
- Ellenbroek BA (2013) Histamine H(3) receptors, the complex interaction with dopamine and its implications for addiction. Br J Pharmacol 170(1):46–57. doi:10.1111/bph.12221
- Entrena JM, Cobos EJ, Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Gris G, Del Pozo E, Zamanillo D, Baeyens JM (2009) Sigma-1 receptors are essential for capsaicin-induced mechanical hypersensitivity: studies with selective sigma-1 ligands and sigma-1 knockout mice. Pain 143(3):252–261. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2009.03.011
- Ferraro L, Frankowska M, Marcellino D, Zaniewska M, Beggiato S, Filip M, Tomasini MC, Antonelli T, Tanganelli S, Fuxe K (2012) A novel mechanism of cocaine to enhance dopamine d2-like receptor mediated neurochemical and behavioral effects. An in vivo and in vitro study. Neuropsychopharmacology 37(8):1856–1866. doi:10.1038/npp.2012.33
- Fishback JA, Robson MJ, Xu YT, Matsumoto RR (2010) Sigma receptors: potential targets for a new class of antidepressant drug. Pharmacol Ther 127(3):271–282. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera. 2010.04.003
- Fontanilla D, Johannessen M, Hajipour AR, Cozzi NV, Jackson MB, Ruoho AE (2009) The hallucinogen N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) is an endogenous sigma-1 receptor regulator. Science 323(5916):934–937. doi:10.1126/science.1166127
- Giese KP, Storm JF, Reuter D, Fedorov NB, Shao LR, Leicher T, Pongs O, Silva AJ (1998) Reduced K+ channel inactivation, spike broadening, and after-hyperpolarization in Kvbeta1.1deficient mice with impaired learning. Learn Mem 5(4–5):257–273
- Hawkins RD (2013) Possible contributions of a novel form of synaptic plasticity in Aplysia to reward, memory, and their dysfunctions in mammalian brain. Learn Mem 20(10):580–591. doi:10.1101/lm.031237.113
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2001) Regulating ankyrin dynamics: roles of sigma-1 receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(2):491–496. doi:10.1073/pnas.021413698
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2003) Intracellular dynamics of sigma-1 receptors (sigma(1) binding sites) in NG108-15 cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 306(2):726–733. doi:10.1124/jpet.103.051292
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. Cell 131(3):596–610. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.036
- Hayashi T, Maurice T, Su TP (2000) Ca(2+) signaling via sigma(1)-receptors: novel regulatory mechanism affecting intracellular Ca(2+) concentration. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 293 (3):788–798
- Hayashi T, Tsai SY, Mori T, Fujimoto M, Su TP (2011) Targeting ligand-operated chaperone sigma-1 receptors in the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders. Expert Opin Ther Targets 15 (5):557–577. doi:10.1517/14728222.2011.560837
- Heilstedt HA, Burgess DL, Anderson AE, Chedrawi A, Tharp B, Lee O, Kashork CD, Starkey DE, Wu YQ, Noebels JL, Shaffer LG, Shapira SK (2001) Loss of the potassium channel beta-

subunit gene, KCNAB2, is associated with epilepsy in patients with 1p36 deletion syndrome. Epilepsia 42(9):1103–1111

- Herrera Y, Katnik C, Rodriguez JD, Hall AA, Willing A, Pennypacker KR, Cuevas J (2008) Sigma-1 receptor modulation of acid-sensing ion channel a (ASIC1a) and ASIC1a-induced Ca2+ influx in rat cortical neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 327(2):491–502. doi:10.1124/jpet. 108.143974
- Hille B (2001) Ionic channels of excitable membranes, 3rd edn. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA
- Ishiwata K, Kobayashi T, Kawamura K, Matsuno K (2003) Age-related changes of the binding of (3h)SA4503 to sigma1 receptors in the rat brain. Ann Nucl Med 17(1):73–77
- Johannessen M, Ramachandran S, Riemer L, Ramos-Serrano A, Ruoho AE, Jackson MB (2009) Voltage-gated sodium channel modulation by sigma-receptors in cardiac myocytes and heterologous systems. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 296(5):C1049–C1057. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00431. 2008
- Katz JL, Su TP, Hiranita T, Hayashi T, Tanda G, Kopajtic T, Tsai SY (2011) A role for sigma receptors in stimulant self administration and addiction. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 4 (6):880–914. doi:10.3390/ph4060880
- Kennedy C, Henderson G (1990) Inhibition of potassium currents by the sigma receptor ligand (+)-3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-N-(1-propyl)piperidine in sympathetic neurons of the mouse isolated hypogastric ganglion. Neuroscience 35(3):725–733
- Kim HW, Roh DH, Yoon SY, Seo HS, Kwon YB, Han HJ, Kim KW, Beitz AJ, Lee JH (2008) Activation of the spinal sigma-1 receptor enhances NMDA-induced pain via PKC- and PKA-dependent phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit in mice. Br J Pharmacol 154 (5):1125–1134. doi:10.1038/bjp.2008.159
- Kinoshita M, Matsuoka Y, Suzuki T, Mirrielees J, Yang J (2012) Sigma-1 receptor alters the kinetics of Kv1.3 voltage gated potassium channels but not the sensitivity to receptor ligands. Brain Res 1452:1–9. doi: S0006-8993(12)00432-5 (pii) 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.02.070
- Kourrich S, Su TP, Fujimoto M, Bonci A (2012) The sigma-1 receptor: roles in neuronal plasticity and disease. Trends Neurosci 35(12):762–771. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2012.09.007
- Kourrich S, Hayashi T, Chuang JY, Tsai SY, Su TP, Bonci A (2013) Dynamic interaction between sigma-1 receptor and Kv1.2 shapes neuronal and behavioral responses to cocaine. Cell 152 (1–2):236–247. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.004
- Lamy C, Scuvee-Moreau J, Dilly S, Liegeois JF, Seutin V (2010) The sigma agonist 1,3-di-o-tolylguanidine directly blocks SK channels in dopaminergic neurons and in cell lines. Eur J Pharmacol 641(1):23–28. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.05.008
- Langa F, Codony X, Tovar V, Lavado A, Gimenez E, Cozar P, Cantero M, Dordal A, Hernandez E, Perez R, Monroy X, Zamanillo D, Guitart X, Montoliu L (2003) Generation and phenotypic analysis of sigma receptor type I (sigma 1) knockout mice. Eur J Neurosci 18(8):2188–2196
- Liang X, Wang RY (1998) Biphasic modulatory action of the selective sigma receptor ligand SR 31742A on N-methyl-D-aspartate-induced neuronal responses in the frontal cortex. Brain Res 807(1–2):208–213
- Lucas G, Rymar VV, Sadikot AF, Debonnel G (2008) Further evidence for an antidepressant potential of the selective sigmal agonist SA 4503: electrophysiological, morphological and behavioural studies. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 11(4):485–495. doi:10.1017/S1461145708008547
- Lujan R (2010) Organisation of potassium channels on the neuronal surface. J Chem Neuroanat 40 (1):1–20. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2010.03.003
- Lupardus PJ, Wilke RA, Aydar E, Palmer CP, Chen Y, Ruoho AE, Jackson MB (2000) Membranedelimited coupling between sigma receptors and K+ channels in rat neurohypophysial terminals requires neither G-protein nor ATP. J Physiol 526(Pt 3):527–539. doi: PHY_0675 (pii)
- Luty AA, Kwok JB, Dobson-Stone C, Loy CT, Coupland KG, Karlstrom H, Sobow T, Tchorzewska J, Maruszak A, Barcikowska M, Panegyres PK, Zekanowski C, Brooks WS,

Williams KL, Blair IP, Mather KA, Sachdev PS, Halliday GM, Schofield PR (2010) Sigma nonopioid intracellular receptor 1 mutations cause frontotemporal lobar degeneration-motor neuron disease. Ann Neurol 68(5):639–649. doi:10.1002/ana.22274

- Maffie J, Rudy B (2008) Weighing the evidence for a ternary protein complex mediating A-type K + currents in neurons. J Physiol 586(Pt 23):5609–5623. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2008.161620
- Marder E, Goaillard JM (2006) Variability, compensation and homeostasis in neuron and network function. Nat Rev Neurosci 7(7):563–574. doi:10.1038/nrn1949
- Marek GJ, Aghajanian GK (1998) The electrophysiology of prefrontal serotonin systems: therapeutic implications for mood and psychosis. Biol Psychiatry 44(11):1118–1127
- Marionneau C, Carrasquillo Y, Norris AJ, Townsend RR, Isom LL, Link AJ, Nerbonne JM (2012) The sodium channel accessory subunit Navbeta1 regulates neuronal excitability through modulation of repolarizing voltage-gated K(+) channels. J Neurosci 32(17):5716–5727. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6450-11.2012
- Martinez-Espinosa PL, Yang C, Gonzalez-Perez V, Xia XM, Lingle CJ (2014) Knockout of the BK beta2 subunit abolishes inactivation of BK currents in mouse adrenal chromaffin cells and results in slow-wave burst activity. J Gen Physiol 144(4):275–295. doi:10.1085/jgp.201411253
- Maurice T, Su TP (2009) The pharmacology of sigma-1 receptors. Pharmacol Ther 124 (2):195–206. doi: S0163-7258(09)00141-7 (pii) 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.07.001
- Maurice T, Urani A, Phan VL, Romieu P (2001) The interaction between neuroactive steroids and the sigma1 receptor function: behavioral consequences and therapeutic opportunities. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 37(1–3):116–132
- Mavlyutov TA, Ruoho AE (2007) Ligand-dependent localization and intracellular stability of sigma-1 receptors in CHO-K1 cells. J Mol Signal 2:8. doi:10.1186/1750-2187-2-8
- Meyer DA, Carta M, Partridge LD, Covey DF, Valenzuela CF (2002) Neurosteroids enhance spontaneous glutamate release in hippocampal neurons. Possible role of metabotropic sigmallike receptors. J Biol Chem 277(32):28725–28732. doi:10.1074/jbc.M202592200
- Monnet FP, Debonnel G, Junien JL, De Montigny C (1990) N-methyl-D-aspartate-induced neuronal activation is selectively modulated by sigma receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 179 (3):441–445
- Moreno E, Moreno-Delgado D, Navarro G, Hoffmann HM, Fuentes S, Rosell-Vilar S, Gasperini P, Rodriguez-Ruiz M, Medrano M, Mallol J, Cortes A, Casado V, Lluis C, Ferre S, Ortiz J, Canela E, McCormick PJ (2014) Cocaine disrupts histamine H3 receptor modulation of dopamine D1 receptor signaling: sigma1-D1-H3 receptor complexes as key targets for reducing cocaine's effects. J Neurosci 34(10):3545–3558. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4147-13.2014
- Moriguchi S, Yamamoto Y, Ikuno T, Fukunaga K (2011) Sigma-1 receptor stimulation by dehydroepiandrosterone ameliorates cognitive impairment through activation of CaM kinase II, protein kinase C and extracellular signal-regulated kinase in olfactory bulbectomized mice. J Neurochem 117(5):879–891. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07256.x
- Morio Y, Tanimoto H, Yakushiji T, Morimoto Y (1994) Characterization of the currents induced by sigma ligands in NCB20 neuroblastoma cells. Brain Res 637(1–2):190–196
- Mtchedlishvili Z, Kapur J (2003) A presynaptic action of the neurosteroid pregnenolone sulfate on GABAergic synaptic transmission. Mol Pharmacol 64(4):857–864. doi:10.1124/mol.64.4.857
- Navarro G, Moreno E, Aymerich M, Marcellino D, McCormick PJ, Mallol J, Cortes A, Casado V, Canela EI, Ortiz J, Fuxe K, Lluis C, Ferre S, Franco R (2010) Direct involvement of sigma-1 receptors in the dopamine D1 receptor-mediated effects of cocaine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(43):18676–18681. doi:10.1073/pnas.1008911107
- Navarro G, Moreno E, Bonaventura J, Brugarolas M, Farre D, Aguinaga D, Mallol J, Cortes A, Casado V, Lluis C, Ferre S, Franco R, Canela E, McCormick PJ (2013) Cocaine inhibits dopamine D2 receptor signaling via sigma-1-D2 receptor heteromers. PLoS One 8(4):e61245. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061245
- Nusser Z (2009) Variability in the subcellular distribution of ion channels increases neuronal diversity. Trends Neurosci 32(5):267–274. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2009.01.003
- Ohi Y, Tsunekawa S, Haji A (2011) Dextromethorphan inhibits the glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the nucleus tractus solitarius of guinea pigs. J Pharmacol Sci 116(1):54–62

- Pabba M, Wong AY, Ahlskog N, Hristova E, Biscaro D, Nassrallah W, Ngsee JK, Snyder M, Beique JC, Bergeron R (2014) NMDA receptors are upregulated and trafficked to the plasma membrane after sigma-1 receptor activation in the rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 34 (34):11325–11338. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0458-14.2014
- Pan B, Guo Y, Kwok WM, Hogan Q, Wu HE (2014) Sigma-1 receptor antagonism restores injuryinduced decrease of voltage-gated Ca2+ current in sensory neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 350 (2):290–300. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.214320
- Panyi G, Varga Z, Gaspar R (2004) Ion channels and lymphocyte activation. Immunol Lett 92 (1–2):55–66. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2003.11.020
- Phan VL, Urani A, Sandillon F, Privat A, Maurice T (2003) Preserved sigma1 (sigma1) receptor expression and behavioral efficacy in the aged C57BL/6 mouse. Neurobiol Aging 24 (6):865–881
- Pongs O, Leicher T, Berger M, Roeper J, Bahring R, Wray D, Giese KP, Silva AJ, Storm JF (1999) Functional and molecular aspects of voltage-gated K+ channel beta subunits. Ann N Y Acad Sci 868:344–355
- Rothman RB, Reid A, Mahboubi A, Kim CH, De Costa BR, Jacobson AE, Rice KC (1991) Labeling by (3H)1,3-di(2-tolyl)guanidine of two high affinity binding sites in guinea pig brain: evidence for allosteric regulation by calcium channel antagonists and pseudoallosteric modulation by sigma ligands. Mol Pharmacol 39(2):222–232
- Sabeti J, Nelson TE, Purdy RH, Gruol DL (2007) Steroid pregnenolone sulfate enhances NMDAreceptor-independent long-term potentiation at hippocampal CA1 synapses: role for L-type calcium channels and sigma-receptors. Hippocampus 17(5):349–369. doi:10.1002/hipo.20273
- Sabino V, Cottone P, Parylak SL, Steardo L, Zorrilla EP (2009) Sigma-1 receptor knockout mice display a depressive-like phenotype. Behav Brain Res 198(2):472–476. doi:10.1016/j.bbr. 2008.11.036
- Sanguinetti MC, Jiang C, Curran ME, Keating MT (1995) A mechanistic link between an inherited and an acquired cardiac arrhythmia: HERG encodes the IKr potassium channel. Cell 81 (2):299–307. doi: 0092-8674(95)90340-2 (pii)
- Schulze-Bahr E, Wang Q, Wedekind H, Haverkamp W, Chen Q, Sun Y, Rubie C, Hordt M, Towbin JA, Borggrefe M, Assmann G, Qu X, Somberg JC, Breithardt G, Oberti C, Funke H (1997) KCNE1 mutations cause jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome. Nat Genet 17 (3):267–268. doi:10.1038/ng1197-267
- Shioda N, Ishikawa K, Tagashira H, Ishizuka T, Yawo H, Fukunaga K (2012) Expression of a truncated form of the endoplasmic reticulum chaperone protein, sigma1 receptor, promotes mitochondrial energy depletion and apoptosis. J Biol Chem 287(28):23318–23331. doi:10. 1074/jbc.M112.349142
- Splawski I, Tristani-Firouzi M, Lehmann MH, Sanguinetti MC, Keating MT (1997) Mutations in the hminK gene cause long QT syndrome and suppress IKs function. Nat Genet 17 (3):338–340. doi:10.1038/ng1197-338
- Su TP, Hayashi T, Maurice T, Buch S, Ruoho AE (2010) The sigma-1 receptor chaperone as an inter-organelle signaling modulator. Trends Pharmacol Sci 31(12):557–566. doi:10.1016/j.tips. 2010.08.007
- Sun W, Maffie JK, Lin L, Petralia RS, Rudy B, Hoffman DA (2011) DPP6 establishes the A-type K(+) current gradient critical for the regulation of dendritic excitability in CA1 hippocampal neurons. Neuron 71(6):1102–1115. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.08.008
- Tchedre KT, Huang RQ, Dibas A, Krishnamoorthy RR, Dillon GH, Yorio T (2008) Sigma-1 receptor regulation of voltage-gated calcium channels involves a direct interaction. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 49(11):4993–5002. doi:10.1167/iovs.08-1867
- Trudeau MC, Warmke JW, Ganetzky B, Robertson GA (1995) HERG, a human inward rectifier in the voltage-gated potassium channel family. Science 269(5220):92–95
- Vacher H, Mohapatra DP, Trimmer JS (2008) Localization and targeting of voltage-dependent ion channels in mammalian central neurons. Physiol Rev 88(4):1407–1447. doi: 88/4/1407 (pii)10. 1152/physrev.00002.2008

- van Waarde A, Ramakrishnan NK, Rybczynska AA, Elsinga PH, Ishiwata K, Nijholt IM, Luiten PG, Dierckx RA (2011) The cholinergic system, sigma-1 receptors and cognition. Behav Brain Res 221(2):543–554. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2009.12.043
- Wu XZ, Bell JA, Spivak CE, London ED, Su TP (1991) Electrophysiological and binding studies on intact NCB-20 cells suggest presence of a low affinity sigma receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257(1):351–359
- Xie L, Gao S, Alcaire SM, Aoyagi K, Wang Y, Griffin JK, Stagljar I, Nagamatsu S, Zhen M (2013) NLF-1 delivers a sodium leak channel to regulate neuronal excitability and modulate rhythmic locomotion. Neuron 77(6):1069–1082. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.01.018
- Yamamoto H, Yamamoto T, Sagi N, Klenerova V, Goji K, Kawai N, Baba A, Takamori E, Moroji T (1995) Sigma ligands indirectly modulate the NMDA receptor-ion channel complex on intact neuronal cells via sigma 1 site. J Neurosci 15(1 Pt 2):731–736
- Yoon SY, Roh DH, Seo HS, Kang SY, Moon JY, Song S, Beitz AJ, Lee JH (2010) An increase in spinal dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS) enhances NMDA-induced pain via phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit in mice: involvement of the sigma-1 receptor. Neuropharmacology 59(6):460–467. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.06.007
- Zhang H, Cuevas J (2002) Sigma receptors inhibit high-voltage-activated calcium channels in rat sympathetic and parasympathetic neurons. J Neurophysiol 87(6):2867–2879
- Zhang H, Cuevas J (2005) Sigma receptor activation blocks potassium channels and depresses neuroexcitability in rat intracardiac neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 313(3):1387–1396. doi:10. 1124/jpet.105.084152
- Zhang H, Katnik C, Cuevas J (2009) Sigma receptor activation inhibits voltage-gated sodium channels in rat intracardiac ganglion neurons. Int J Physiol Pathophysiol Pharmacol 2(1):1–11
- Zhang H, Katnik C, Cuevas J (2010) Sigma receptor activation inhibits voltage-gated sodium channels in rat intracardiac ganglion neurons. Int J Physiol Pathophysiol Pharmacol 2(1):1–11
- Zhang XJ, Liu LL, Wu Y, Jiang SX, Zhong YM, Yang XL (2011) Sigma receptor 1 is preferentially involved in modulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated light-evoked excitatory postsynaptic currents in rat retinal ganglion cells. Neurosignals 19(2):110–116. doi:10. 1159/000326784
- Zhang CL, Feng ZJ, Liu Y, Ji XH, Peng JY, Zhang XH, Zhen XC, Li BM (2012) Methylphenidate enhances NMDA-receptor response in medial prefrontal cortex via sigma-1 receptor: a novel mechanism for methylphenidate action. PLoS One 7(12):e51910. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0051910
- Zheng P (2009) Neuroactive steroid regulation of neurotransmitter release in the CNS: action, mechanism and possible significance. Prog Neurobiol 89(2):134–152. doi:10.1016/j. pneurobio.2009.07.001

Sigma-1 Receptor and Pain

Manuel Merlos, Luz Romero, Daniel Zamanillo, Carlos Plata-Salamán, and José Miguel Vela

Contents

1	Introduction	132		
2	Localization of $\sigma_1 R$ in Relation to Pain Transmission: Central Vs Peripheral			
	2.1 Effect of $\sigma_1 R$ Antagonists at Central Sites: Inhibitory Effect on Central Sensitization	134		
	2.2 Effect of $\sigma_1 R$ Antagonists at Peripheral Sites: Inhibitory Effect on Peripheral			
	Sensitization	136		
3	Neuroprotective Effects of $\sigma_1 R$ Antagonists in Relation to Pain	137		
4	$\sigma_1 R$ Pain Interactome	138		
	4.1 Ion Channels	139		
	4.2 G Protein-Coupled Receptors and Intracellular Second Messenger Machinery	144		
5	Oligomerization			
6	Changes in $\sigma_1 R$ Receptor Expression in Pain Conditions			
7	Electrophysiological Studies	146		
8	Neurochemical Studies			
9	Pharmacological Vs Genetic Modulation of the $\sigma_1 R$ in Pain: Similarities and Differences	149		
10	Concluding Remarks	153		
Refe	erences	154		

Abstract

There is a critical need for new analgesics acting through new mechanisms of action, which could increase the efficacy respect to existing therapies and/or reduce their unwanted effects. Current preclinical evidence supports the modulatory role of the sigma-1 receptor ($\sigma_1 R$) in nociception, mainly based on the pain-attenuated phenotype of $\sigma_1 R$ knockout mice and on the antinociceptive effect exerted by $\sigma_1 R$

M. Merlos • L. Romero • D. Zamanillo • C. Plata-Salamán Drug Discovery and Preclinical Development, ESTEVE, Barcelona, Spain

J.M. Vela (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Drug Discovery and Preclinical Development, ESTEVE, Barcelona, Spain Parc Científic de Barcelona, Baldiri Reixac 4-8, 08028 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: jvela@esteve.es

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_9

antagonists on pain of different etiology, very consistently in neuropathic pain, but also in nociceptive, inflammatory, and visceral pain. $\sigma_1 R$ is highly expressed in different pain areas of the CNS and the periphery, particularly dorsal root ganglia (DRG), and interacts and modulates the functionality of different receptors and ion channels. Accordingly, antinociceptive effects of $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists both acting alone and in combination with other analgesics have been reported at both central and peripheral sites. At the central level, behavioral, electrophysiological, neurochemical, and molecular findings support a role for $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists in inhibiting augmented excitability secondary to sustained afferent input. Moreover, the involvement of $\sigma_1 R$ in mechanisms regulating pain at the periphery has been recently confirmed. Unlike opioids, $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists do not modify normal sensory mechanical and thermal sensitivity thresholds but they exert antihypersensitivity effects (antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic) in sensitizing conditions, enabling the reversal of nociceptive thresholds back to normal values. These are distinctive features allowing $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists to exert a modulatory effect specifically in pathophysiological conditions such as chronic pain.

Keywords

Allodynia • Analgesia • Antinociception • Chronic pain • E-52862 • Hyperalgesia • S1RA • Sigma-1 receptor

1 Introduction

Acute pain has evolved as a key physiological alert system for avoiding noxious stimuli and protecting damaged regions of the body by discouraging physical contact and movement (Jamieson et al. 2014). Conversely, chronic pain has been recognized as pain that persists beyond normal healing time and hence lacks the acute warning function of physiological nociception. Chronic pain, defined as pain lasting or recurring for more than 3–6 months, may be associated with many common diseases or considered a disease by itself. It can be debilitating, with those affected typically suffering psychological disturbance and significant activity restrictions. Chronic pain is a frequent condition, affecting an estimated 20% of people worldwide and accounting for 15%–20% of physician visits (Treede et al. 2015). Moreover, chronic pain is accompanied with other comorbidities, such as depression, deeply affecting patient's quality of life. Unfortunately, currently available treatments provide the modest improvements in pain and minimum improvements in physical and emotional functioning (Turk et al. 2011). Thus, the unmet medical need in the pain area is huge, and particularly relevant in difficult-to-treat pain modalities, such as neuropathic pain.

Despite massive efforts coming from basic science and clinical research, pain management remains a clinical challenge, with many patients still suffering with unrelieved or undertreated pain. There is a lack of real breakthrough innovation in the field (Kissin 2010; Labianca et al. 2012) and thus a need for new drugs acting through new mechanisms of action, which could increase the efficacy of existing therapies and/or reduce their unwanted effects.

The sigma-1 receptor ($\sigma_1 R$), a unique ligand-regulated chaperone protein with no precedent and no homology to known proteins (Almansa and Vela 2014), has become one among the new and most promising pharmacological targets in pain. $\sigma_1 R$ was found to be unique, with no significant similarity with any other known mammalian protein receptors, and to have about 90% amino acid identity and 95% similarity across species (Hanner et al. 1996; Kekuda et al. 1996; Seth et al. 1997). From a functional point of view, the $\sigma_1 R$ physically interacts with a variety of receptors and ion channels or elements of their transduction machinery and acts as a modulator of their activity. At the endoplasmic reticulum, the $\sigma_1 R$ acts as a ligand-operated molecular chaperone regulating Ca²⁺ flow via inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃) receptors (Hayashi and Su 2007; Su et al. 2010). σ_1 Rs, through their molecular chaperone activity, regulate protein folding/degradation, oxidative stress, and cell survival (see Havashi (2015) for a review). In the plasma membrane, $\sigma_1 R$ interacts with components of the plasma membrane-bound signal transduction to modulate the activity of neurotransmitter receptors and ion channels, including K⁺ channels, Ca²⁺ channels, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), and opioid receptors (see Zamanillo et al. (2013) for a review). Interestingly, its activity can be modulated (enhanced or inhibited) by $\sigma_1 R$ ligands in an agonist-antagonist manner.

The purpose of this review is to summarize the current knowledge on the involvement of $\sigma_1 R$ in pain modulation. First, regarding the site of action, the role of $\sigma_1 R$ in central sensitization phenomena has been reported at the behavioral, electrophysiological, neurochemical, and molecular levels. In contrast, the involvement of $\sigma_1 R$ in mechanisms regulating pain at the periphery has been recently confirmed and requires further investigation. Second, due to the chaperoning activity of the $\sigma_1 R$, the current understanding of its interaction with different other molecular targets involved in pain transduction, transmission, and processing is summarized. Third, we have addressed the role of $\sigma_1 R$ in pain gathering at the experimental level using genetic approaches, i.e., by the use of $\sigma_1 R$ knockout (KO) mice or antisense probes, as well as pharmacological tools, including nonselective marketed drugs and experimental drugs in discovery and clinical development phases. The use of $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice has been critical to identify the $\sigma_1 R$ as a modulator of activity-induced sensitization of pain pathways. Accordingly, $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice are insensitive or show attenuated expression of pain behaviors in chemically induced (e.g., formalin and capsaicin) and neuropathic pain models (Cendan et al. 2005b; Entrena et al. 2009b; de la Puente et al. 2009; Nieto et al. 2012, 2014; Gonzalez-Cano et al. 2013; Gris et al. 2014; Tejada et al. 2014). These genetic as well as pharmacological findings using several $\sigma_1 R$ ligands (see Vela et al. (2015) for a review) provided evidence to consider $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists as an innovative and alternative approach for treating pain, especially neuropathic pain but also other sensitizing pain conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, several discrepancies between the information coming from the $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice and pharmacological approaches have been reported and the possible causes are discussed.

Preclinical evidence has pointed out their potential as an adjuvant therapy to enhance opioid analgesia, without increasing the side effects associated with opioid use (Chien and Pasternak 1994; Vidal-Torres et al. 2013; Sanchez-Fernandez et al. 2013, 2014). The modulation of opioid system by the $\sigma_1 R$ is fully covered in another

chapter of this book. As an advantage over opioids, $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists do not alter normal basic pain behavior as they do not modify the normal sensory mechanical and thermal perception in the absence of sensitizing stimuli. That is, $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists exert antiallodynic and antihyperalgesic effects in sensitizing conditions, enabling the reversal of diminished nociceptive thresholds back to normal values, but they do not modify normal sensory thresholds in non-sensitizing conditions, i.e., in normal conditions, in the absence of injury or other inductors of pain hypersensitivity (Chien and Pasternak 1995; Kim et al. 2008; Entrena et al. 2009b; Romero et al. 2012). Among the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists, E-52862 (also known as S1RA) is the leading compound in the field and the only currently being developed for the treatment of pain. It was identified in a medicinal chemistry program as a highly active and selective $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist (Diaz et al. 2012). It was safe, well-tolerated, and showed good pharmacokinetic profile following oral administration to human volunteers in phase I studies (Abadias et al. 2013) and it is currently undergoing Phase II clinical trials for the treatment of different types of pain.

2 Localization of $\sigma_1 R$ in Relation to Pain Transmission: Central Vs Peripheral

 $\sigma_1 R$ is expressed in several areas of the CNS specialized in nociceptive signaling processing, including the dorsal horn (DH) of the spinal dorsal cord, thalamus, periaqueductal gray (PAG), basolateral amygdala, and rostroventral medulla (RVM) (Alonso et al. 2000; Phan et al. 2005). $\sigma_1 R$ is also expressed in peripheral dorsal root ganglia (DRG) neurons (Guitart et al. 2004; Bangaru et al. 2013). Importantly, its high density in DRG, in which $\sigma_1 R$ expression is roughly an order of magnitude higher than in several CNS areas involved in pain signaling, points to a functional role of peripheral $\sigma_1 R$ in pain modulation (Sanchez-Fernandez et al. 2014). $\sigma_1 R$ is expressed by both sensory neurons and satellite cells in rat DRGs and its expression is regulated in axotomized neurons and in accompanying satellite glial cells (Bangaru et al. 2013). In accordance with $\sigma_1 R$ anatomical distribution, the antinociceptive effects of $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists both when acting alone and in combination with opioids to enhance opioid analgesia have been reported at both central and peripheral sites. A systematic review of $\sigma_1 R$ -dependent central and peripheral mechanisms in pain processing and development can be found in Romero et al. (2016).

2.1 Effect of $\sigma_1 R$ Antagonists at Central Sites: Inhibitory Effect on Central Sensitization

Central sensitization is responsible for many of the temporal, spatial, and threshold changes in pain sensibility and exemplifies the fundamental contribution of the CNS to the generation of pain hypersensitivity. Central sensitization results from changes in the properties of neurons in the CNS. Thus, pain is no longer coupled to the presence, intensity, or duration of noxious peripheral stimuli as it occurs in acute nociceptive pain. Instead, central sensitization produces pain hypersensitivity by exaggerating the sensory response elicited by nociceptive suprathreshold stimuli and allowing the response to subthreshold stimuli, including those that usually evoke innocuous sensations (D'Mello and Dickenson 2008).

An inhibitory effect has been attributed to $\sigma_1 R$ antagonism on central sensitization phenomena, as supported at the behavioral (animal pain models), electrophysiological (spinal wind-up recordings), neurochemical (spinal release of neurotransmitters), and molecular (NMDAR function regulation) levels. Activation of primary afferent nociceptive fibers subsequent to intradermal injection of some chemical irritants, including capsaicin or formalin, into the plantar skin of the hind paw in rodents or into the skin of humans produces acute/immediate nociceptive behaviors followed by long-lasting, secondary mechanical hypersensitivity (e.g., mechanical allodynia) that results from central sensitization (O'Neill et al. 2012). Interestingly, capsaicin was unable to induce mechanical hypersensitivity in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice, and the effect in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice was mimicked in wild-type (WT) animals treated with BD1063, BD1047, or NE100, three $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists which dose-dependently inhibited capsaicin-induced mechanical allodynia (Entrena et al. 2009b). Other $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists including haloperidol and its metabolites I and II (Entrena et al. 2009a), E-52862 (Romero et al. 2012) and some spirocyclic thiophene bioisosteres (Oberdorf et al. 2008), 1'-benzyl-3-methoxy-3Hspiro[[2]benzofuran-1,4'-piperidine] (Wiese et al. 2009), and a 1,3-dioxane ligand 2 (Utech et al. 2011) also produced antiallodvnic effects in the capsaicin model. In addition, the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist PRE-084 reversed the effect of antagonists (Entrena et al. 2009a, b), further supporting the role played by $\sigma_1 R$ in capsaicin-induced central sensitization phenomena. In the formalin-induced pain model in mice, both phases of pain were reduced by approximately 55% in mice lacking $\sigma_1 R$ in comparison to WT animals (Cendan et al. 2005b). Shortly after this study, the same authors reported that haloperidol and its metabolites I and II, which have affinity for $\sigma_1 R$, dose-dependently inhibited formalin-induced pain in mice through a mechanism likely involving antagonism on $\sigma_1 R$ (Cendan et al. 2005a). Subsequent studies using selective and prototypical $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists such as E-52862 (Romero et al. 2012; Vidal-Torres et al. 2014) and BD1047 (Kim et al. 2006), and novel $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists based on pyrimidine (Lan et al. 2014a) or 3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinolinone (Lan et al. 2014b) scaffolds corroborated these initial findings and pointed to the spinal cord and supraspinal CNS regions as sites for the σ_1 R-mediated modulation of formalin sensitization. The spinal cord was first pointed out in the study by Kim et al. in mice, where intrathecal (i.t.) pretreatment with the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist BD1047 dose-dependently reduced formalin-induced pain behaviors in the second phase, but not in the first phase of the formalin test, concomitant with reduced formalin-evoked Fos expression in spinal DH neurons (Kim et al. 2006). In addition to the spinal cord, supraspinal sites were supported by the finding in rats that i.t. pretreatment with E-52862 attenuated the formalin-induced flinching behavior, but not lifting/ licking behaviors, whereas E-52862 also attenuated lifting/licking when intracerebroventricularly (i.c.v.) injected (Vidal-Torres et al. 2014). In this way, it is interesting to note that flinching is a spinal response whereas lifting/licking behaviors are supraspinal responses (Coderre et al. 1994), and that both spinal and supraspinal descending modulation of central neural plasticity occur in formalin-induced pain (Coderre et al. 1994;

Vaccarino and Chorney 1994). Therefore, it is concluded that $\sigma_1 R$ acts in the CNS at both spinal and supraspinal sites to modulate pain sensitization following sustained peripheral activation of nociceptors by formalin.

2.2 Effect of σ₁R Antagonists at Peripheral Sites: Inhibitory Effect on Peripheral Sensitization

Increasing evidence suggests that activity from the periphery is essential, not only to initiate but also to maintain pain (Richards and McMahon 2013). Experience from clinical studies using lidocaine and capsaicin patches, local steroids, and regional anesthesia, among others, clearly demonstrates that blocking the peripheral nociceptive input is an effective strategy to relieve chronic pain. Studies focused on finding new analgesic strategies with a peripheral site of action merit further efforts, as targeting the periphery could be a good approach to overcome the typical side effects related to CNS actions of current analgesics.

Although the role of peripheral $\sigma_1 R$ in pain has not been extensively studied (Tejada et al. 2014), recent pieces of information are actually confirming their involvement in mechanisms regulating pain, both when administered alone or in combination with opioids. Systemic administration of the selective $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist E-52862 produced an attenuation of the flinching and lifting/licking behaviors in the formalin test in rats, which was concomitant with an enhancement of noradrenaline levels and a reduction of formalin-evoked glutamate release in the spinal DH. Although a supraspinal effect was confirmed by the local (i.c.v) administration of E-52862 in the ipsilateral paw (but not in the contralateral) reduced lifting/licking behaviors in phase I and II of the formalin test (Vidal-Torres et al. 2014).

Recent studies have also evaluated the role of $\sigma_1 R$ in inflammatory pain (Gris et al. 2014; Parenti et al. 2014; Tejada et al. 2014; for review see Gris et al. (2015)). Systemic administration of several $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists was effective in the carrageenan- and complete Freund adjuvant-induced pain models. Particularly, the study by Tejada et al. described the importance of peripheral $\sigma_1 R$ in the carrageenan-induced pain model in mice. The local (i.pl.) administration of the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist PRE-084 abolished the systemic antihypersensitive effect of the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists BD1063 and E-52862. Moreover, the i.pl. administration of the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist E-52862 in the inflamed paw was sufficient to completely reverse inflammatory hyperalgesia. The antihyperalgesic effect of locally administered E-52862 was reverted by the i.pl. administration of the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist PRE-084 and was absent in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice, thus confirming that the peripheral antihyperalgesic effect of E-52862 was mediated through $\sigma_1 R$. As a conclusion, a number of reports have revealed the possibility of targeting peripheral $\sigma_1 R$ to ameliorate inflammatory hyperalgesia (Gris et al. 2015; Tejada et al. 2014). A peripheral σ_1 R-related mechanism might be more relevant in the modulation of inflammatory pain than in pain evoked by other etiologies because this type of pain is characterized by a pronounced enhancement of nociceptor responsiveness (peripheral sensitization) in response to the inflammatory mediators released at the inflammation site (Xu and

Yaksh 2011). Due to its pleiotropic chaperoning nature and acting downstream to the activation of different receptors and channels, $\sigma_1 R$ could modulate the intracellular signaling of a variety of pro-algesic mediators released at the inflamed site. Among them, bradykinin and nitric oxide (NO) are key mediators released during inflammation contributing to peripheral sensitization (Wang et al. 2006; Petho and Reeh 2012). $\sigma_1 R$ activation enhances both bradykinin-induced Ca²⁺ signaling in neuronal-like cell cultures (Hayashi et al. 2000) and NO signaling (Roh et al. 2011). In addition, pain sensitization after peripheral inflammation involves plastic changes mediated by an increase in spinal excitatory neurotransmission together with activation of kinases, including ERK1/2, which are known to be modulated by $\sigma_1 R$ (de la Puente et al. 2009).

In addition to inflammatory pain, the contribution of peripheral $\sigma_1 R$ to ischemic pain has been recently demonstrated in a rat model of hind limb thrombus-induced mechanical allodynia (Kwon et al. 2016). $\sigma_1 R$ expression significantly increased in skin, sciatic nerve, and DRG at 3 days post-thrombus-induced ischemic pain in rats. Authors suggested a facilitating effect of $\sigma_1 R$ on acid-sensing ion channels (ASICs) and purinergic P2X receptors, as i.pl. injection of the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist BD1047 reduced mechanical allodynia synergistically with the ASIC blocker amiloride and the P2X antagonist TNP-ATP (Kwon et al. 2016). Regarding neuropathic pain, $\sigma_1 R$ antagonism has been shown to restore injury-induced decrease in voltage-gated Ca²⁺ current in dissociated rat DRG neurons following spinal nerve ligation but had no effect on control and non-injured DRGs, which is discussed as an antinociceptive mechanism as inward Ca²⁺ currents are required for natural suppression of repetitive firing via opening of Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels (Pan et al. 2014).

3 Neuroprotective Effects of $\sigma_1 R$ Antagonists in Relation to Pain

Neuroprotective but also neurotoxic roles have been attributed to $\sigma_1 R$ in the CNS by mechanisms involving modulation of cellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis, excitotoxicity, oxidative and nitrosative damage, and endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondrial stress. Indeed, both $\sigma_1 R$ agonists (DeCoster et al. 1995; Shimazu et al. 2000; Vagnerova et al. 2006; Mancuso et al. 2012; Griesmaier et al. 2012) and antagonists (DeCoster et al. 1995; Shimazu et al. 2000; Schetz et al. 2007; Luedtke et al. 2012) have been reported to exert protective effects on neurons using different in vitro and/or in vivo experimental approaches. In the context of pain, it has been reported that $\sigma_1 R$ antagonism exerts a preventive effect against peripheral neuropathy. In particular, genetic inactivation ($\sigma_1 R$ KO mice) and pharmacological blockade of $\sigma_1 R$ prevented paclitaxel-induced sensory nerve mitochondrial abnormalities, concomitant with the prevention of paclitaxelinduced cold and mechanical allodynia (Nieto et al. 2014). In contrast, the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist SA4503, but not the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist NE100, produced antinociceptive effects against chemotherapeutic-induced neuropathic pain in rats (Tomohisa et al. 2015). Mitochondrial function/dysfunction has been suggested as a causal or contributory mechanism of normal sensory processing and chronic pain, not only in painful peripheral neuropathies evoked by chemotherapy but also in diabetes and HIV (Flatters 2015). σ_1 Rs at the

endoplasmic reticulum–mitochondrion contact are known to regulate mitochondrial function, including intramitochondrial Ca²⁺ homeostasis, oxidative stress, and cellular bioenergetics (Su et al. 2010; Hayashi 2015). The role played by $\sigma_1 R$ in regulating pain-related mitochondrial dysfunction merits further investigation.

4 $\sigma_1 R$ Pain Interactome

The $\sigma_1 R$, as a ligand-operated chaperone, is able to interact with other proteins including receptors, enzymes, or ion channels, many of which are involved in nociception. Figure 1 shows the known regions of the $\sigma_1 R$ that are involved in its direct interaction with other protein partners. In the receptor's N terminal part, there appears to be the interaction motifs for the NMDAR NR1 subunit, as well as the small fiveamino acid dimerization motif for the $\sigma_1 R$ (Rodriguez-Munoz et al. 2015). Whether other interacting partners, like, for instance, ion channels described to interact with the $\sigma_1 R$, do use this N terminal part of the receptor is still unknown. Interestingly, in the other part of the receptor, the C terminal part comprising from the transmembrane domain, several proteins share the same interaction region with the $\sigma_1 R$ (Ortega-Roldan et al. 2013; Su et al. 2016). These proteins are the ankyrin B, BiP, and IP₃ receptors that along with the $\sigma_1 R$ play important roles in endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ homeostasis. Also, as explained above, while in control situations the $\sigma_1 R$ interacts mainly with ankyrin B and BiP, a reduction of these interactions and an increase in the interaction with IP_3 receptors are observed following a pathological stress insult (Su et al. 2016). These data point out that ankyrin B, BiP, and IP₃ receptors are competing each other for their binding with the $\sigma_1 R$ and that some interactions prevail over the others depending on the surrounding intracellular environmental conditions. Also, although the interaction region with these proteins is relatively large and the particular amino acids involved in each of them are not completely known, the fact that this competition exists between them suggests that at least part of those interaction regions must be shared. Interestingly, this competition is regulated as well by $\sigma_1 R$ ligands. New information regarding the interaction motifs of $\sigma_1 R$ partners to know better which regions of the receptor are responsible for chaperone activity and which partners can interact simultaneously or through a competitive manner is needed.

Pain is a very complex pathological condition and either nociceptive or neurogenic pain involves various interactive mechanisms at different neuronal levels such as peripheral nociceptors, spinal cord, or supraspinal levels. At all those levels, many chemical mediators and their molecular targets are engaged to code for and transmit the pain sensation (Millan 1999). $\sigma_1 R$, playing its role as a chaperone protein, has been implicated in the regulation of many of those other molecular targets, including receptors, enzymes, and ion channels that are involved in pain sensation and transmission. Our objective in this section is to summarize $\sigma_1 R$ molecular partners, linking the regulation of these interactions to nociception, and thus describing the $\sigma_1 R$ pain interactome.


Fig. 1 Diagram of known sigma-1 receptor ($\sigma_1 R$) motifs involved for interaction with their molecular partners and residues involved in ligand recognition. Protein–protein interaction domains are represented above the $\sigma_1 R$ sequence diagram, while the residues involved in ligand recognition are represented below. Regions of the $\sigma_1 R$ that mediate the interaction with the NR1 subunit of NMDA receptors and its oligomerization are comprised in the N terminal part of the receptor delimited till the first sterol binding domain. The C terminal part of the $\sigma_1 R$ starting from the first sterol binding domain is a region of the receptor clearly involved in its chaperone role as it serves to interact with proteins such as the IP₃ receptors, BiP, and ankyrin B. The recently described unique transmembrane domain (TM) and the β -barrel domain, which is involved in ligand-binding, and both steroid binding domains (SBDLs) are also depicted (Schmidt et al. 2016). Studies involving deletion of the 119–149 or 209–223 amino acid regions, mutations, or photolabeling of C94, S99, Y103, L105, L106, D126, E172, D188, and V190 have implicated all these amino acids in ligand recognition

4.1 Ion Channels

4.1.1 Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels

Nociceptors detect noxious stimuli and transmit this sensation to the CNS by means of action potentials. The fast upstroke of the action potential is generated through sodium channel activation (Liu and Wood 2011). A direct interaction of $\sigma_1 R$ with neuronal sodium channels has not been described yet, but $\sigma_1 Rs$ have been shown to co-immunoprecipitate with Nav1.5, the cardiac sodium channel, when transfected in tsA201 cells (Balasuriya et al. 2012). Both the nonselective $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist haloperidol and the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist (+)-pentazocine have been described to disrupt the Nav1.5/ $\sigma_1 R$ interaction, haloperidol being more effective in reducing this interaction (Balasuriya et al. 2012). Accordingly, independent on the agonistic or antagonistic nature of ligands, $\sigma_1 R$ agonists (+)-SKF-10047 and (+)-pentazocine and nonselective $\sigma_1 R/\sigma_2 R$ ligands including haloperidol (antagonist) and 1,3-di-o-tolyl-guanidine (DTG) (agonist) all reversibly inhibited Nav1.5 channels to varying degrees in HEK-293, COS-7 cells, and neonatal mouse cardiac myocytes (Johannessen et al. 2009). Patch-clamp recordings in HEK293 cells stably expressing the human cardiac Nav1.5 also revealed inhibitory modulation by some σR ligands, such as (+)-SKF-10047 and dimethyltryptamine (DMT), which was reverted by progesterone to varying degrees, consistent with antagonism of σ_1 and/or σ_2 receptors, and in some cases by $\sigma_1 R$ knockdown with small interfering RNA (Johannessen et al. 2011). Similarly, patch-clamp experiments in isolated intracardiac neurons from neonatal rats revealed that the nonselective $\sigma_1 R/\epsilon$ $\sigma_2 R$ agonist DTG and the $\sigma_1 R$ selective agonist (+)-pentazocine inhibited voltagegated sodium channels. The selective $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist BD1063 did not modulate the current but inhibited DTG block of sodium currents by \sim 50%, suggesting that the effects involve, at least in part, $\sigma_1 Rs$ (Zhang et al. 2009). Action potential generation through very fast inactivating sodium current is followed by a non-inactivating or persistent current that normally comprises about 5% of the whole sodium current generated. This persistent sodium current has been involved in the setting of the membrane resting potential in a subthreshold range regulating repetitive firing and enhancing synaptic transmission (Kiss 2008). Nav1.8 is a tetrodotoxin-resistant voltage-gated sodium ion channel that is expressed specifically in the DRG, in small-diameter unmyelinated sensory neurons, and is involved in nociception. It has been described that human $Na_v 1.8$ channel displays slower inactivation kinetics and a larger persistent current than already described for this channel in other species (Han et al. 2015). It is tempting to speculate that the interaction of $\sigma_1 R$ described for the Na_v1.5 could as well apply for other sodium channels involved in pain, such as $Na_v 1.8$ channels, and that its regulation of persistent sodium current in neuronal areas involved in pain could explain part of its role in nociception. Nevertheless, studies investigating the relationship between $\sigma_1 R$ and sodium channels have been hampered by the lack of selectivity of several of the pharmacological tools utilized, thus precluding generalized conclusions. As an example, $\sigma_1 R$ agonists such as (+)-SKF-10047, dextromethorphan, and DTG have been found to directly inhibit $Na_v 1.2$ and $Na_v 1.4$ currents, apparently through a σ_1 R-independent mechanism (Gao et al. 2012).

4.1.2 Voltage-Gated Potassium Channels

While sodium channels play a very prominent role in action potential generation producing depolarization, potassium counterparts play the opposite role leading to repolarization. The opening of potassium channels generates a hyperpolarizing potassium efflux across the membrane that counteracts inward ion conductance to limit neuronal excitability and firing rate (Tsantoulas and McMahon 2014). Not surprisingly, a role for potassium channels in nociceptive processing has been described (Tsantoulas and McMahon 2014). Cell lysates from nucleus accumbens medial shell tissue immunoprecipitated with specific $K_v 1.2$ antibodies were shown to co-immunoprecipitate the $\sigma_1 R$ (Kourrich et al. 2013). This interaction was further confirmed in double transfected NG108-15 cells. $K_v 1.2$ are delayed rectifier channels activated by slight membrane depolarization and are involved in the transient slowly inactivating potassium currents I_D. In CNS neurons, $K_v 1.2$ channels are mainly localized at the axon initial segment where they modulate action potential threshold and firing rates, as well as nerve terminals where they control neurotransmitter release. In the peripheral nervous system, $K_v 1.2$ are found in the soma and juxtaparanodes of medium-large DRG neurons and are largely decreased after axotomy what may contribute to the hyperexcitable phenotype observed after such type of injury. Diminished Kv1.2 activity contributes to mechanical and cold neuropathic pain by depolarizing the resting membrane potential, reducing threshold current, and augmenting firing rates in myelinated neurons (Tsantoulas and McMahon 2014). Aydar and colleagues using co-immunoprecipitation techniques demonstrated a direct interaction with the K_y 1.4 subtype in transfected xenopus oocytes and in rat posterior pituitary tissue. Not only a $\sigma_1 R$ agonist could elicit a decrease in $K_v 1.4$ conductance in double transfected oocytes but also the expression of the $\sigma_1 R$ altered the functional activity of $K_y 1.4$ expressed in these cells. In the presence of co-expressed $\sigma_1 R$, $K_y 1.4$ inactivated at a faster rate, and although net current efflux was also diminished, the voltage dependence of channel activation showed no change (Aydar et al. 2002). $\sigma_1 R$ agonists could elicit a decrease in $K_v 1.4$ conductance in double transfected oocytes, but the coexpression of $\sigma_1 R$ with $K_{y} 1.4$ resulted in a faster rate of channel inactivation, a reduction in net current efflux and no change in the channel voltage-dependence activation. This ligand independent regulation and the physical interaction with $K_v 1.4$ suggest a function for $\sigma_1 R$ as auxiliary subunits for voltage-activated potassium channels (Kourrich et al. 2013). An important observation is that $K_v 1.4$ channels are the only $K_y 1 \alpha$ subtype expressed in small-diameter DRG neurons, meaning that this channel subtype is in charge of potassium conductance in Aδ and C nociceptor fibers (Rasband et al. 2001). The regulation of this subtype of potassium channel by $\sigma_1 R$ in this particular type of nociceptors is consistent with the regulatory role that $\sigma_1 R$ plays in pain modulation.

4.1.3 Voltage-Gated Calcium Channels

Voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCC) are other ion channels involved in neuronal action potentials that contribute to pain pathophysiology (Perret and Luo 2009). They are comprised of five different families, N, T, L, P/Q, and R-type, all of which are present at some extent at the central and peripheral nervous system playing a role in neurotransmitter release, membrane depolarization and hyperpolarization, enzyme activation and inactivation, and gene regulation (Perret and Luo 2009). Tchedre and colleagues, based on co-immunoprecipitation studies, proposed the interaction between the $\sigma_1 R$ and the L-type VGCC endogenously expressed in the RGC-5 retinal ganglion cell line (Tchedre et al. 2008). At the functional level, they found that the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist (+)-SKF-10047 inhibited potassium chloride-induced Ca2+ influx in the RGC-5 cell line and Ca²⁺ currents in rat cultured primary RGCs (Tchedre et al. 2008). Also in retinal ganglion cells, co-localization studies demonstrated that $\sigma_1 Rs$ and L-type VGCCs co-localized and calcium imaging studies showed that $\sigma_1 R$ agonists (+)-SKF10047 and (+)-pentazocine inhibited calcium ion influx through activated VGCCs (L-type). Antagonist treatment using BD1047 potentiated Ca²⁺ influx through activated VGCCs and abolished inhibitory effects of the $\sigma_1 R$ agonists (Mueller et al. 2013). Similar data were obtained using rat intracardiac and superior cervical ganglia neurons where sigma ligands could decrease peak Ca²⁺ channel currents of N, P/Q, and R-types (Zhang and Cuevas 2002). In addition to affecting a broad population of calcium channel types, $\sigma_1 R$ ligands altered the biophysical properties of these channels,

accelerating channel inactivation rate and shifting the voltage dependence of both steady-state inactivation and activation toward more negative potentials. Both $\sigma_1 R$ agonists and antagonists depressed Ca²⁺ channel currents, with a rank order of potency (haloperidol > ibogaine > (+)-pentazocine > DTG) consistent with the effects being mediated by $\sigma_2 R$ and not by $\sigma_1 R$ (Zhang and Cuevas 2002). A similar behavior has been described in dissociated rat DRG neurons, as $\sigma_1 R$ agonists (+)-pentazocine and DTG inhibited Ca^{2+} currents in patch-clamp experiments (Pan et al. 2014). The effect was ascribed to $\sigma_1 R$ activation as it was blocked by the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists BD1063 or BD1047. Both (+)-pentazocine and DTG showed similar inhibitory effect on axotomized DRG neurons as they shifted the voltage-dependent activation and steadystate inactivation of VGCC to the left and accelerated VGCC inactivation rate in both control and axotomized DRG neurons. On the contrary, while the antagonist BD1063 had no effect by itself in normal non-injured DRGs, its application increased Ca²⁺ currents in axotomized ones (Pan et al. 2014). Pan and colleagues already noticed these paradoxical results, as $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists exert antinociceptive effects while $\sigma_1 R$ agonists are pronociceptive, and it is also known that painful nerve injury is accompanied by reduction of Ca²⁺ current in axotomized sensory neurons, which in turn results in elevated sensory neuron excitability. Similarly, it should be noted that Ca²⁺ current inhibition by compounds such as gabapentin or pregabalin is also an antinociceptive strategy. The complexity and heterogeneity of calcium channel signaling throughout neuronal regions involved in pain was argued in order to explain this apparent contradiction. While at the DH terminals, calcium channel activity controls neurotransmitter release and its blockade results in less neurotransmission and hence pain relief, calcium channel inhibition elsewhere (and particularly at the periphery) can result in inhibition of calcium-activated potassium channels that are in control of after-hyperpolarization, membrane excitability, and firing frequency, leading to an opposite final output. That is, lowered inward Ca²⁺ current has the dominant, overriding effect of decreasing outward current through calcium-activated potassium channels, thus reducing after-hyperpolarization and thereby increasing excitability. Antagonism of sensory neuron $\sigma_1 Rs$ at peripheral sites, including DRGs, may thus relieve pain by rescuing Ca²⁺ currents required for natural suppression of repetitive firing via opening of calcium-activated potassium channels.

4.1.4 Calcium-Activated Potassium Channels

Apart from voltage-sensitive potassium channels, $\sigma_1 R$ has been described to regulate non-voltage-dependent, small conductance (SK) calcium-activated potassium channels (Martina et al. 2007). SK potassium channels are non-voltage-sensitive, potassium selective, and activated by an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations. SK channels activation, through the Ca²⁺ increases produced after action potentials, mediates membrane hyperpolarization, which limits firing frequency of repetitive action potentials (Vergara et al. 1998). Ca²⁺ entry after synaptic activation opens SK channels that act to limit the amplitude of synaptic potentials and reduce Ca²⁺ influx through NMDARs (Ngo-Anh et al. 2005). It has also been established that Ca²⁺ influx through NMDAR could open Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels in several systems. Using the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist (+)pentazocine and patch-clamp whole-cell recordings in CA1 pyramidal cells of rat hippocampus, potentiation of NMDAR-mediated responses was found to occur via inhibition of SK channels, that would normally reduce the amplitude of synaptic potentials reducing Ca²⁺ influx through NMDARs (Martina et al. 2007). Moreover, the enhanced NMDAR activity was translated into an increased synaptic plasticity as evidenced by a long-term potentiation effect (Martina et al. 2007). Another study also found that DTG inhibited SK channel in midbrain dopaminergic neurons and transiently transfected HEK-293 cells, but other $\sigma_1 R$ agonists such as carbetapentane, (+)-SKF-10047, and PRE-084 had no or little effect. The effect of DTG was not affected by high concentrations of the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist BD1047, which argues against a coupling of $\sigma_1 Rs$ to SK channels and suggests that DTG directly blocks SK channels (Lamy et al. 2010). Thus, in the absence of further studies, it is difficult to know whether $\sigma_1 R$ actually regulates NMDAR via SK channels or if it is a ligand- or cell type-dependent finding.

4.1.5 Acid-Sensing Ion Channels

ASICs are cationic (sodium-permeable) channels activated by extracellular protons which are responsible for acid-evoked currents in neurons. They are involved in nociception but also in learning, memory, and in pathological conditions such as ischemic stroke (Osmakov et al. 2014). A direct interaction between $\sigma_1 R$ and ASIC using atomic force microscopy (AFM) in double transfected HEK cells has been described, which can be modulated by $\sigma_1 R$ ligands. The $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist haloperidol was able to reduce the ASIC1a/ σ_1 R binding about 50% (Carnally et al. 2010). Moreover, σ_1 R/ASIC physical interaction has also functional consequences. Thus, $\sigma_1 R$ agonists decreased acidinduced ASIC1a currents and intracellular Ca²⁺ elevations in rat cortical neurons (Herrera et al. 2008), an effect ascribed to $\sigma_1 R$ engagement because the inhibitory effect was counteracted by $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists. In contrast, in ischemic pain induced by hindlimb thrombus, the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist BD1047 reduced mechanical allodynia at the periphery synergistically with the ASIC blocker amiloride, whereas the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist PRE-084 induced mechanical allodynia when coadministered with an acidic pH solution, thus suggesting that $\sigma_1 R$ activation facilitates ASICs to promote pain (Kwon et al. 2016).

4.1.6 Ligand-Gated Calcium Channels

Ligand-gated calcium channels such as the glutamate NMDAR also interact with $\sigma_1 R$. Increased Ca²⁺ influx through NMDAR and increased level of phosphorylation of these glutamate receptors have been reported following $\sigma_1 R$ activation (Monnet et al. 2003; Roh et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2008). This increase in the NMDAR phosphorylation state and activity is accompanied by enhanced pain behaviors. Recently, a direct physical interaction of the $\sigma_1 R$ with the C terminal of the NMDAR NR1 subunit has been described (Balasuriya et al. 2013; Sanchez-Blazquez et al. 2014b; Rodriguez-Munoz et al. 2015) both in vitro and in vivo using different technical approaches including bimolecular fluorescent complementation in double transfected CHO cells, in vitro pull-down assays, co-immunoprecipitation, or co-localization immunohistochemistry from PAG. This physical interaction also modulates the cross-talk between opioid analgesia and NMDAR activity (Pasternak et al. 1995; Garzon et al. 2012).

Garzon's group have shown how $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists are able to uncouple the $\sigma_1 R$ -NMDAR association while increasing opioid analgesia and reducing the development of opioid tolerance. All these evidences suggest a role of the $\sigma_1 R$ in the regulation of synaptic plasticity, as NMDAR has been described to mediate different forms of plasticity including long-term potentiation and central sensitization, phenomena linked to forms of pain facilitation such as hyperalgesia and allodynia (Sandkuhler 2000; Rygh et al. 2002).

4.2 G Protein-Coupled Receptors and Intracellular Second Messenger Machinery

Several G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), including targets clearly involved in pain modulation such as the cannabinoid CB_1 and μ -opioid (MOR) receptors, have been described as $\sigma_1 R$ partners (Kim et al. 2010; Sanchez-Blazquez et al. 2014a). $\sigma_1 R$ modulation of opioid receptors was initially described by Chien and Pasternak (1993, 1994) demonstrating that $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists potentiate opioid analgesia. At the in vitro level, Kim and colleagues demonstrated both a physical, by co-immunoprecipitation experiments, and a functional interaction between MOR and $\sigma_1 R$ in transfected HEK cells. The functional consequences of such an interaction were assessed by means of a GTP γ S assay, antagonists increasing opioid efficacy by shifting the EC₅₀ values of opioid-induced GTPyS binding by three- to tenfold to the left (Kim et al. 2010). A detailed review of the interaction between MOR and $\sigma_1 R$ is covered in another chapter of this book. Cannabinoid receptors also play a role in analgesia and they have been shown to be distributed both in peripheral and CNS regions important for pain transmission (Romero-Sandoval et al. 2015). Similarly to MOR, a physical interaction with $\sigma_1 R$ has been described for CB₁ receptors (Sanchez-Blazquez et al. 2014a). A functional in vivo relationship between these two receptors was demonstrated using the tail-flick test. The NMDAR increased its activity in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice and it was no longer regulated by cannabinoids as in WT counterparts. Moreover, NMDAR antagonism in the $\sigma_1 R$ KO animals produced no effect on cannabinoid analgesia. Pharmacological intervention showed similar results, because antagonizing $\sigma_1 R$ prevented NMDAR antagonists from reducing CB1 receptor-induced analgesia. For both σ_1 R-MOR-NMDAR and σ_1 R-CB₁-NMDAR protein complexes, histidine triad nucleotide binding protein 1 (HINT1) has been shown to be another interacting partner. Inhibitors of HINT1 enzymatic activity have been described to enhance morphineinduced analgesia while reducing the development of opioid tolerance (Garzon et al. 2015). A direct physical interaction between this protein and the $\sigma_1 R$ has been shown recently (Sanchez-Blazquez et al. 2014a) and the coordinated interaction of HINT1 and $\sigma_1 R$ with NMDAR and its GPCRs partners is able to control the analgesia mediated through those GPCRs. Nociceptors are activated by diverse mediators, such as glutamate, bradykinin, and substance P, which act through GPCRs coupled to $G\alpha q$ proteins. These Goq proteins lead to the activation of the phospholipase C (PLC) cascade of intracellular second messengers leading to the release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores (Tappe-Theodor et al. 2012). The ability of $\sigma_1 R$ to modulate this pathway,

and so indirectly GPCRs coupled to the PLC-inositol triphosphate (IP₃)-calcium signaling cascade, represents another link to pain modulation. $\sigma_1 R$ activation has been also shown to stimulate PLC to produce diacylglycerol (DAG) and IP₃ (Morin-Surun et al. 1999), which in turn leads to the activation of IP_3 receptors and efflux of intracellular Ca^{2+} to the cytoplasm. There is growing evidence that $\sigma_1 R$ is an important player at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) regulating Ca^{2+} homeostasis. In such a role, $\sigma_1 R$ interacts directly with ankyrin B, BiP, or IP₃ receptors (Hayashi and Su 2001, 2007; Shioda et al. 2012) and ultimately regulates intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization from the ER to mitochondria in the mitochondria-associated ER membrane (MAM) (Shioda et al. 2012). $\sigma_1 R$ activation leads to a diminished interaction with ankyrin and BiP, an increase in its interaction with IP_3 receptor, and finally a stabilization of IP₃ receptors, thus facilitating Ca^{2+} efflux. $\sigma_1 R$ agonists caused the dissociation of ankyrin B and IP₃ receptors and this activity correlated with the ability of these ligands to potentiate intracellular Ca^{2+} mobilization induced by bradykinin. This increase in Ca²⁺ could be reversed by a $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist (Hayashi et al. 2000). Similarly, in CHO cells overexpressing a C terminal EYFP tagged $\sigma_1 R$, agonists, such as (+)-pentazocine and PRE-084, caused very significant uncoupling of the $\sigma_1 R$ -BiP complex, whereas antagonists, such as NE100 or haloperidol, were not able to modify that complex at all.

5 Oligomerization

 $\sigma_1 R$ interacts with itself (Pal et al. 2007; Mishra et al. 2015). A GXXXG motif is involved in the oligomerization process, as mutations of this $\sigma_1 R$ region reduced the number of receptors in higher oligomeric states and favored smaller oligomeric forms (Fig. 1) (Gromek et al. 2014). These higher order oligomers have been also demonstrated more recently by means of FRET spectrometry (Mishra et al. 2015). Moreover, only oligomeric and not the monomeric forms of $\sigma_1 R$ could bind the specific agonist (+)-pentazocine. Another finding by Gromek and colleagues was that ligand binding to $\sigma_1 R$ oligomers could prevent the formation of the monomer form, emphasizing the important role that $\sigma_1 R$ oligomers have on its pharmacology. Thus, pharmacological activity of $\sigma_1 R$ ligands, including their pro- or antinociceptive activities, could be at least in part consequence of their influence in regulating and/or interacting with $\sigma_1 R$ oligomeric states. Recently, a trimeric crystal structure with agonist and antagonist bound ligands (one ligand per monomer) has been described (Schmidt et al. 2016).

6 Changes in $\sigma_1 R$ Receptor Expression in Pain Conditions

As mentioned above, the $\sigma_1 R$ is expressed in areas important for pain control such as DRG neurons, DH spinal cord, thalamus, PAG, and RVM. It is expressed by both sensory neurons and satellite cells in rat DRG (Bangaru et al. 2013). Its expression in the spinal cord is upregulated during the induction phase of neuropathic

pain following sciatic nerve constriction (Roh et al. 2008; Moon et al. 2014; Son and Kwon 2010) and in the brain 10 weeks after the induction of diabetic neuropathy (Mardon et al. 1999). Moreover, $\sigma_1 R$ expression significantly increased in skin, sciatic nerve, and DRG at 3 days in a model of thrombus-induced pain in rats (Kwon et al. 2016). On the contrary, $\sigma_1 R$ expression has been reported to be reduced in spinal cords following chemotherapy (oxaliplatin and paclitaxel) treatment (Tomohisa et al. 2015) and in axotomized neurons and accompanying satellite glial cells following spinal nerve ligation in rats (Bangaru et al. 2013). Therefore, regulation of $\sigma_1 R$ expression in neuropathic pain does not provide a direct explanation for pain relief after $\sigma_1 R$ blockade but could instead represent an adaptive counteracting mechanism.

7 Electrophysiological Studies

Intrinsic DH neurons receive efferent nociceptive stimuli and are also responsible for sending the nociceptive input to supraspinal structures (Almeida et al. 2004). Repetitive stimulation of the dorsal root at stimulus intensities activating nociceptive fibers, but not non-nociceptive sensory fibers, produces an amplification of the nociceptive signals in the spinal cord known as wind-up response. Wind-up is a short-term, frequency-dependent, amplification mechanism distinct from long-term potentiation, central sensitization, and pain hypersensitivity/hyperalgesia, but it is a form of homosynaptic central facilitation of nociceptive messages and a correlate of such phenomena (Dickenson and Sullivan 1987; Herrero et al. 2000). Pharmacological $\sigma_1 R$ antagonism modulates spinal excitability, as shown in isolated mice spinal cords superfused with the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist E-52862 and stimulated electrically. E-52862 did not modify the Aβ-fiber-mediated non-nociceptive signaling and the response to single stimuli at C-fiber intensity, which is consistent with the behavioral observation that $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists did not alter the normal perception of sensory subthreshold and nociceptive suprathreshold inputs in non-sensitizing conditions (Cendan et al. 2005a; Entrena et al. 2009a; Romero et al. 2012). However, E-52862 dose-dependently inhibited the spinal wind-up phenomenon when repetitive stimulation of nociceptive afferent C-fibers was applied (Romero et al. 2012; Mazo et al. 2015). Accordingly, spinal wind-up amplification of the nociceptive signals was highly reduced in spinal cords from $\sigma_1 R$ KO compared to WT mice (de la Puente et al. 2009). Hence, electrophysiological data point to a modulatory role of $\sigma_1 R$ on spinal excitability, whereby pharmacological antagonism or the absence of the receptor in KO mice inhibits the amplified spinal response that would normally arise from repetitive nociceptor stimulation. Inhibition of spinal hyperexcitability could underlie the effects exerted by $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists on a wide variety of pain conditions in which sustained, repetitive afferent drive following injection of some chemical irritants (e.g., capsaicin and formalin), tissue injury/inflammation, or nerve damage comes to the spinal cord.

8 Neurochemical Studies

The spinal cord is an important gateway for peripheral pain signals transmitted to the brain. In chronic pain states, painful stimuli trigger afferent fibers in the DH to release neuropeptides and neurotransmitters, including excitatory (e.g., glutamate) and inhibitory (e.g., GABA) neurotransmitters (Thomas Cheng 2010). Modulation by $\sigma_1 R$ of formalin-evoked changes in neurotransmitter levels in the spinal DH was investigated using concentric microdialysis in the ipsilateral DH of awake, freely moving rats (Vidal-Torres et al. 2014). Levels of three key neurotransmitters were measured as a neurochemical correlate of three major neuronal components regulating DH neurons and accounting for spinal sensitization: glutamate for primary activating afferent inputs to the DH, GABA for local inhibitory DH interneurons. and noradrenaline for supraspinal descending inhibitory modulation of the DH. Formalin-induced nociception enhanced glutamate levels in the DH spinal cord, which is coherent with the activation of afferent glutamatergic nociceptive fibers. Systemic administration of the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist E-52862 exerted antinociceptive effects on formalininduced pain concomitantly with attenuation of formalin-evoked glutamate release and enhancement of noradrenaline levels in the spinal DH. GABA levels were not modified. These data suggest that pharmacological blockade of $\sigma_1 R$ reduces peripheral activating glutamatergic nociceptive inputs and enhances noradrenergic descending inhibitory inputs to the DH, but it does not modify the activity of GABAergic inhibitory DH interneurons. Interestingly, i.t. pretreatment with the alpha $2(\alpha_2)$ -adrenergic receptor antagonist idazoxan prevented the systemic antinociceptive effect of E-52862, suggesting that antinociception elicited by $\sigma_1 R$ blockade depends on the activation of descending inhibitory pathways, which results in enhancement of noradrenaline release into the spinal cord and activation of spinal α_2 -adrenoceptors. Noradrenaline could act on presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors on central projections of formalin-sensitive DRGs to inhibit glutamate release to the superficial DH laminae. Glutamate is released into the DH spinal cord following activation of sensory afferents and its sustained release following sustained stimulation of nociceptors promotes plastic changes leading to spinal amplification of nociceptive messages. Thus, this excitatory amino acid plays a major role in central sensitization phenomena, including wind-up, and the behavioral manifestations of pain sensitization/hypersensitivity (D'Mello and Dickenson 2008; Latremoliere and Woolf 2009). Noradrenaline plays a major role in descending pathways that influence nociceptive signaling in the DH of the spinal cord. Descending inhibition largely involves the release of noradrenaline in the spinal cord from brainstem nuclei such as the locus coeruleus (LC), acting predominantly at the α_2 -adrenoceptors, and inhibiting transmitter release from primary afferent terminals and suppressing firing of projection neurons in the DH (Millan 2002; D'Mello and Dickenson 2008). The descending noradrenergic pathways from the brainstem to the DH may also undergo plastic changes in chronic pain states, which results in an increased inhibitory drive that has been suggested to be a homeostatic mechanism counteracting the increased spinal excitability (D'Mello and Dickenson 2008). Accordingly, the finding that E-52862 inhibited formalin-evoked glutamate but enhanced noradrenaline release in the DH (Vidal-Torres et al. 2014) is in agreement with a



Fig. 2 $\sigma_1 R$ involvement in pain modulation: neurochemistry studies in the spinal cord. Two major pathways are involved in the mechanism of action of $\sigma_1 R$ antagonism in the formalin-induced pain: the inhibition of the spinal excitatory synaptic transmission (Glutamate, Glu levels reduction) and the activation of descending inhibitory systems (Noradrenaline, NA levels enhancement) (Vidal-Torres et al. 2014). Regarding dorsal horn (DH) Glu levels reduction, we hypothesize that $\sigma_1 R$ antagonism reduces the formalin-induced increase in Glu levels by: (1) a direct $\sigma_1 R$ -mediated inhibition of Glu release from the central DRG endings (modulated by $\sigma_1 R$ located presynaptically at the DH central endings or/and postsynaptically at the peripheral endings, which would equally involve hyperpolarization of the first order neuron) or/and (2) an indirect presynaptic, NA-mediated inhibition of Glu release from central afferent endings through presynaptic α_2 -adrenoreceptors. This inhibition on Glu release would result in lower activation of NMDAR in postsynaptic second order neurons transmitting pain to upper CNS areas. Regarding DH NA levels increase, $\sigma_1 R$ antagonism-induced enhancement of NA levels could be a consequence of direct σ_1 R-mediated: (1) direct increase of NA release at the DH, (2) NA degradation inhibition, (3) inhibition of NA reuptake (NET), or/and (4) activation of supraspinal NAergic neurons projecting to the DH. In any case, increased NA spinal levels are known to produce antinociception via: (1) activation of α_2 -adrenoreceptors located presynaptically in primary central afferents, which ultimately results in a reduction of Glu and substance P release from the central endings and (2) postsynaptic activation of α_2 -adrenoreceptors located in second order DH neurons, then hyperpolarizing DH neurons and reducing the NMDAR-induced increase of NR1 subunit phosphorylation

modulatory role of $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists in activity-dependent plastic changes, by promoting plasticity of descending inhibitory pathways and stopping down the plastic excitatory synaptic strengthening in the DH (Fig. 2).

9 Pharmacological Vs Genetic Modulation of the $\sigma_1 R$ in Pain: Similarities and Differences

As mentioned in the previous sections, there is plenty of evidence supporting the modulatory role of $\sigma_1 R$ in nociception, mainly based on the pain-attenuated phenotype of $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice and on the antinociceptive effect exerted by $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists. The focus of this section falls on analyzing similarities and differences in the antihypersensitivity profile when using genetic ($\sigma_1 R$ KO) and pharmacological ($\sigma_1 R$ antagonists) approaches. Three different scenarios have emerged (Fig. 3):

- σ_1 R-KO mice develop pain similarly to WT mice and σ_1 R antagonists exert no antinociceptive effect in WT mice.
- $\sigma_1 R$ -KO mice do not develop pain or pain is attenuated and $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists exert antinociceptive effect in WT mice.
- σ_1 R-KO mice develop pain similarly to WT mice and σ_1 R antagonists exert antinociceptive effect in WT mice.



Fig. 3 Genetic inactivation ($\sigma_1 R$ KO) versus pharmacological blockade ($\sigma_1 R$ antagonists). Similarities and differences in their impact in several pain models. *MA* mechanical allodynia, *MH* mechanical hyperalgesia, *TH* thermal hyperalgesia, *CA* cold allodynia, *KO* knockout, *WT* wild type

 $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice are a useful genetic tool to study the involvement of $\sigma_1 R$ in several pain types, given that naïve KO mice perceive and respond normally to stimuli of different nature, including mechanical and thermal ones. Thus, the absence of $\sigma_1 R$ in KO mice has been shown to not interfere with the perception of several acute pain stimuli or with the motor response required for paw withdrawal (de la Puente et al. 2009; Entrena et al. 2009b; Nieto et al. 2012; Gonzalez-Cano et al. 2013; Sanchez-Fernandez et al. 2013; Gris et al. 2014; Tejada et al. 2014). In the same way and unlike opioid drugs, $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists fail to modify pain by themselves in classical models of thermal and mechanical acute nociception, as seen in the tailflick, the hot plate, the von Frey, and the paw pressure tests in rodents (Marrazzo et al. 2006; Entrena et al. 2009a; Sanchez-Fernandez et al. 2013). $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice showed attenuated pain responses in both phases of the formalin test (Cendan et al. 2005b) and did not develop mechanical hypersensitivity following capsaicin sensitization (Entrena et al. 2009b). The pharmacological antagonism of $\sigma_1 R$ produced similar results. Accordingly, the nonselective $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists haloperidol and its metabolites I and II and also E-52862 inhibited formalin-induced pain (Cendan et al. 2005a; Romero et al. 2012) and somatic capsaicin-induced sensitization in mice (Entrena et al. 2009a; Romero et al. 2012).

Regarding neuropathic pain models, cold and mechanical hypersensitivity were strongly attenuated in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice treated with paclitaxel (Nieto et al. 2012) or exposed to partial sciatic nerve ligation (PSNL) (de la Puente et al. 2009). However, $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice developed thermal hyperalgesia following PSNL (de la Puente et al. 2009). Interestingly, the pharmacological antagonism of $\sigma_1 R$ produced beneficial effects in all of these pain-related manifestations in WT mice. Chronic administration with $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists prevented the development of cold and mechanical allodynia induced by paclitaxel (BD1063 and E-52862) or PSNL (E-52862) in WT mice (Nieto et al. 2012; D'Mello and Dickenson 2008). E-52862 also prevented the development of thermal hyperalgesia induced by PSNL, although this behavior is present in the $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice (D'Mello and Dickenson 2008). Moreover, the acute administration of $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists dose-dependently reversed both paclitaxel- or PSNL-induced hypersensitivity after it had fully developed (D'Mello and Dickenson 2008; Roh et al. 2011). From a mechanistic point of view, $\sigma_1 R$ KO did not show increased diphosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated kinase (pERK) in the spinal cord after paclitaxel administration or PSNL (Roh et al. 2011; de la Puente et al. 2009). Thus, reduced ERK activation could contribute to the observed effects after pharmacological blockade or $\sigma_1 R$ genetic inactivation. In the intracolonic capsaic visceral pain model, $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice have shown a reduction in the number of pain behaviors as compared to WT mice but developed referred mechanical hyperalgesia similar to WT mice (Chien and Pasternak 1995). Several $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists (i.e., BD1063, NE100, and E-52862) inhibited the number of behavioral responses induced by capsaicin and also reversed the referred mechanical hyperalgesia to the control threshold in WT mice (Chien and Pasternak 1995). These drugs produced no change in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice, supporting a σ_1 R-related mechanism for their effects.

Two different models of inflammatory pain have been explored in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice, the acute inflammation induced by carrageenan and the chronic inflammation induced

by Complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA). In the carrageenan-induced inflammatory pain model, $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice did not develop mechanical (paw pressure) hyperalgesia (Tejada et al. 2014) but developed mechanical (von Frey) allodynia and thermal (radiant heat) hyperalgesia (Gris et al. 2014; Tejada et al. 2014). $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists (i.e., BD1063 and E-52862) reversed inflammatory mechanical hyperalgesia, mechanical allodynia, and thermal hyperalgesia in WT mice, an effect which is reduced when combined with the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist PRE-084. However, this effect was mediated by $\sigma_1 R$ as BD1063 and E-52862 had no effect on thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice (Gris et al. 2014; Tejada et al. 2014). The antiedematous effects do not account for the decreased hyperalgesia, since carrageenan-induced edema was unaffected in $\sigma_1 R$ KO or by systemic $\sigma_1 R$ pharmacological antagonism (Tejada et al. 2014; Gris et al. 2014). Like in carrageenan-induced inflammatory pain model, the genetic inactivation of $\sigma_1 R$ failed to prevent the development of CFA-induced mechanical allodynia (von Frey filaments). However, the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist E-52862 reversed CFAinduced mechanical allodynia only in WT mice, but not in KO mice, supporting an on-target mechanism for the effects of this drug (Gris et al. 2014).

Taken together, these data indicated that the lack of $\sigma_1 R$ clearly impacts on the development of neuropathic pain but it did not impact on acute nociceptive pain and partially on the development of inflammatory or visceral pain. Because nociceptive, neuropathic, visceral, and inflammatory pains are known to involve different pathways, the different phenotypes observed in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice suggest, depending on the pain model and the readout, a different involvement of the $\sigma_1 R$ system in the mechanisms underlying hypersensitivity (Gris et al. 2015). In contrast, systemically administered $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists provided efficacy in all pain-related behaviors evaluated in WT mice (except in acute nociceptive pain), including those developed by $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice (i.e., mechanical allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia induced by carrageenan, mechanical allodynia induced by CFA, referred mechanical hyperalgesia induced by intracolonic capsaicin, and thermal hyperalgesia induced by PSNL) (Fig. 3). This fact brings out the difference between the effect of genetics (i.e., the absence of the receptor and associated adaptive changes) and the pharmacological blockade of $\sigma_1 R$ (i.e., the modulatory effect of a ligand at the time of the test) (Gris et al. 2015; Zamanillo et al. 2013).

Several possible explanations may account for the different analgesic effect profiles generated by genetic and pharmacological approaches. First, some of the differences could be attributed to the lack of selectivity of many of the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists used in the literature, in contrast to the complete and specific inhibition in $\sigma_1 R$ KO. In fact, many compounds of very different structural classes and with different therapeutic applications, such as antipsychotics (e.g., haloperidol and chlorpromazine), antidepressants (e.g., fluvoxamine, sertraline, and clorgyline), antitussives (carbetapentane, dextromethorphan, and dimemorfan), drugs for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's disease (amantadine) or Alzheimer's disease (memantine and donepezil), and drugs of abuse (cocaine and methamphetamine) can bind, with high to moderate/weak affinity and with no selectivity, to $\sigma_1 R$ and some of them have been used (e.g., haloperidol) to characterize $\sigma_1 R$ pharmacology (Zamanillo et al. 2013; Almansa and Vela 2014). Other compounds (e.g., panamesine, rimcazole, eliprodil, and others) have been developed as $\sigma_1 R$ ligands, but their selectivity against $\sigma_2 R$ and/or other targets is far from optimal. However, the lack of selectivity cannot be longer supported as an explanation considering results coming from selective compounds such as E-52862. E-52862 shows high affinity for $\sigma_1 R$ (Ki = 17 nM) and a good $\sigma_1 R/\sigma_2 R$ selectivity ratio (>500). Moreover, it is selective over a panel of 170 molecular targets. It behaves as an antagonist, penetrates the blood–brain barrier, and binds to $\sigma_1 R$ in the CNS. Occupancy of $\sigma_1 R$ in the CNS by E-52862 significantly correlated with its antinociceptive effects (Romero et al. 2012). The use of E-52862 as a highly selective $\sigma_1 R$ in the pain modulation. Furthermore, and even more convincing, its activity disappears when administered to $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice.

A second possible explanation is that, unlike the pharmacological treatment in WT mice which produces temporary blockade of $\sigma_1 R$, $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice are completely deficient in $\sigma_1 R$ function throughout development and adult life. We therefore speculate that pain-related behaviors developed in $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice may be related to the developmental effects of global $\sigma_1 R$ deletion and this cannot be mimicked by treating with antagonists to adult WT mice. Although our initial characterization of $\sigma_1 R$ KO mice did not reveal any overt phenotype, compared with their WT litter mates (Langa et al. 2003), some subtle changes at the level of gene expression may exist throughout life, leading to altered neuroadaptation. This notion of a unique, early development effect by the genetic KO approach has been suggested to account for the discrepancy between genetic KO and pharmacological blockade approaches (Gingrich and Hen 2000). Thus, some effects may not be due to the absence of the receptor in the adult mouse but to the lack of the receptor at some earlier point in development. This has been shown for serotonin 5-HT_{1A} receptors. A developmentally controlled rescue strategy showed that postnatal developmental expression of 5-HT_{1A} receptors is important to establish anxiety-like behavior in adult mice (Gross et al. 2002). In addition, there are studies reporting compensatory effects and conflicting results between pharmacological and genetic inactivation in different cases such as the role of adenosine A2A receptors in psychostimulant-induced behavioral responses and gene expression profiles (Chen et al. 2000, 2003; Yu et al. 2005), the role of 5-HT₇ receptors in depression (Guscott et al. 2005), GABAergic modulation of seizure activity (Voss et al. 2010), endocannabinoid signaling (Min et al. 2010), and the role of δ -subunit-containing γ -aminobutyric acid subtype A receptors in nociception (Bonin et al. 2011), among others. Conditional/inducible mutation approaches, that first allow the mouse to develop and mature normally prior to ablation of the gene of interest, could be of interest to understand discrepancies noted between pharmacological and genetic inactivation.

A third possibility arises from the chaperone nature of $\sigma_1 R$, which exert their action by physical protein–protein interactions. Accordingly, the absence of the regulatory mechanism in KO mice is not equivalent to the decrease or gain of function promoted by a $\sigma_1 R$ ligand through conformational changes relating to and affecting the activity of the target protein with which $\sigma_1 R$ interacts. In other words, the absence of the modulatory system, as in KO mice, precludes the regulation by ligands, but it does not mimic the modulatory effect elicited by a $\sigma_1 R$ ligand.

10 Concluding Remarks

The effects reported with $\sigma_1 R$ ligands (pronociceptive in the case of agonists and antinociceptive in the case of antagonists) are consistent with a role for $\sigma_1 R$ in central sensitization and pain hypersensitivity and suggest a potential therapeutic use of $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists for the management of neuropathic pain and other pain conditions including inflammatory, visceral, ischemic, postoperative, and orofacial pain. The $\sigma_1 R$ acts as a modulator of the intracellular signaling incurred upon activation of several receptors, enzymes, and ion channels relevant in pain transmission and processing, but the $\sigma_1 R$ is devoid of its own specific signaling machinery. Ligands acting on $\sigma_1 R$ can amplify or reduce the signaling initiated when the target protein that the $\sigma_1 R$ is interacting with becomes activated, but they are per se inactive. On this basis, $\sigma_1 R$ ligands have been postulated as ideal therapeutic drugs, effective only under pathological conditions, but inactive in normal resting/healthy conditions. Thus, while having no effects by themselves, $\sigma_1 R$ ligands exert their modulatory activity under conditions involving a disturbance, such as chronic pain. In other words, under normal physiological conditions most target proteins are not affected by $\sigma_1 R$ ligands. This concept is very important in terms of safety and tolerability, as an ideal analgesic drug should be able to modify the stressed/dysfunctional pathway without affecting normal physiological functions. In the case of $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists, no adverse events have been described in rodents at doses exerting antinociceptive effects based on preclinical studies. Unlike other analgesics (e.g., opioids), $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists do not modify the normal sensory perception, and normal/baseline nociceptive thresholds are not modified when $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists are administered to normal animals. Only when the system is sensitized and hypersensitivity (i.e., allodynia and hyperalgesia) occurs following prolonged noxious stimulation (e.g., capsaicin or formalin injection) or persistent abnormal afferent input (e.g., nerve injury or inflammation), a $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist can exert its effect, which is the reversion of the diminished pain thresholds back to normal sensitivity thresholds. Accordingly, $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists are not strictly analgesics; they are antiallodynic and antihyperalgesic drugs. Moreover, there is plenty of data supporting the combination of $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists with opioid therapy, which may result in a potentiation of opioid analgesia without significant increase in unwanted effects. These observations mean that lower doses of opioids, with less side effects but efficacious based on the selective enhancement of the analgesic effect, could be potentially used if $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists are used as opioid adjuvants.

Overall, based on the preclinical data, the use of selective $\sigma_1 R$ antagonists could represent a promising efficacious and safe strategy to approach difficult-to-treat chronic pain conditions including neuropathic pain, and to enhance analgesic efficacy and increase the safety margin of opioids. In this regard, the most advanced investigational $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist, E-52862, exhibited an acceptable safety, tolerability, pharmacodynamic, and pharmacokinetic profile in phase I studies and is now in phase II studies in chronic neuropathic pain and in postoperative pain in combination with morphine. The outcome of clinical studies with the $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist E-52862 will be of great interest to assess the potential of this new therapeutic approach to pain management.

References

- Abadias M, Escriche M, Vaque A, Sust M, Encina G (2013) Safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of single and multiple doses of a novel sigma-1 receptor antagonist in three randomized phase I studies. Br J Clin Pharmacol 75(1):103–117. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04333.x
- Almansa C, Vela JM (2014) Selective sigma-1 receptor antagonists for the treatment of pain. Future Med Chem 6(10):1179–1199. doi:10.4155/fmc.14.54
- Almeida TF, Roizenblatt S, Tufik S (2004) Afferent pain pathways: a neuroanatomical review. Brain Res 1000(1–2):40–56. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2003.10.073
- Alonso G, Phan V, Guillemain I, Saunier M, Legrand A, Anoal M, Maurice T (2000) Immunocytochemical localization of the sigma(1) receptor in the adult rat central nervous system. Neuroscience 97(1):155–170
- Aydar E, Palmer CP, Klyachko VA, Jackson MB (2002) The sigma receptor as a ligand-regulated auxiliary potassium channel subunit. Neuron 34(3):399–410
- Balasuriya D, Stewart AP, Crottes D, Borgese F, Soriani O, Edwardson JM (2012) The sigma-1 receptor binds to the Nav1.5 voltage-gated Na+ channel with 4-fold symmetry. J Biol Chem 287(44):37021–37029. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.382077
- Balasuriya D, Stewart AP, Edwardson JM (2013) The sigma-1 receptor interacts directly with GluN1 but not GluN2A in the GluN1/GluN2A NMDA receptor. J Neurosci 33(46):18219–18224. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3360-13.2013
- Bangaru ML, Weihrauch D, Tang QB, Zoga V, Hogan Q, Wu HE (2013) Sigma-1 receptor expression in sensory neurons and the effect of painful peripheral nerve injury. Mol Pain 9:47. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-9-47
- Bonin RP, Labrakakis C, Eng DG, Whissell PD, De Koninck Y, Orser BA (2011) Pharmacological enhancement of delta-subunit-containing GABA(A) receptors that generate a tonic inhibitory conductance in spinal neurons attenuates acute nociception in mice. Pain 152(6):1317–1326. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2011.02.011
- Carnally SM, Johannessen M, Henderson RM, Jackson MB, Edwardson JM (2010) Demonstration of a direct interaction between sigma-1 receptors and acid-sensing ion channels. Biophys J 98 (7):1182–1191. doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2009.12.4293
- Cendan CM, Pujalte JM, Portillo-Salido E, Baeyens JM (2005a) Antinociceptive effects of haloperidol and its metabolites in the formalin test in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 182(4):485–493. doi:10.1007/s00213-005-0127-z
- Cendan CM, Pujalte JM, Portillo-Salido E, Montoliu L, Baeyens JM (2005b) Formalin-induced pain is reduced in sigma(1) receptor knockout mice. Eur J Pharmacol 511(1):73–74. doi:10. 1016/j.ejphar.2005.01.036
- Chen JF, Beilstein M, Xu YH, Turner TJ, Moratalla R, Standaert DG, Aloyo VJ, Fink JS, Schwarzschild MA (2000) Selective attenuation of psychostimulant-induced behavioral responses in mice lacking A(2A) adenosine receptors. Neuroscience 97(1):195–204
- Chen JF, Moratalla R, Yu L, Martin AB, Xu K, Bastia E, Hackett E, Alberti I, Schwarzschild MA (2003) Inactivation of adenosine A2A receptors selectively attenuates amphetamine-induced behavioral sensitization. Neuropsychopharmacology 28(6):1086–1095. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300152
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1993) Functional antagonism of morphine analgesia by (+)-pentazocine: evidence for an anti-opioid sigma 1 system. Eur J Pharmacol 250(1):R7–R8
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1994) Selective antagonism of opioid analgesia by a sigma system. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 271(3):1583–1590
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1995) Sigma antagonists potentiate opioid analgesia in rats. Neurosci Lett 190(2):137–139
- Coderre TJ, Yashpal K, Henry JL (1994) Specific contribution of lumbar spinal mechanisms to persistent nociceptive responses in the formalin test. Neuroreport 5(11):1337–1340
- D'Mello R, Dickenson AH (2008) Spinal cord mechanisms of pain. Br J Anaesth 101(1):8–16. doi:10.1093/bja/aen088

- de la Puente B, Nadal X, Portillo-Salido E, Sanchez-Arroyos R, Ovalle S, Palacios G, Muro A, Romero L, Entrena JM, Baeyens JM, Lopez-Garcia JA, Maldonado R, Zamanillo D, Vela JM (2009) Sigma-1 receptors regulate activity-induced spinal sensitization and neuropathic pain after peripheral nerve injury. Pain 145(3):294–303. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2009.05.013
- DeCoster MA, Klette KL, Knight ES, Tortella FC (1995) Sigma receptor-mediated neuroprotection against glutamate toxicity in primary rat neuronal cultures. Brain Res 671(1):45–53
- Diaz JL, Cuberes R, Berrocal J, Contijoch M, Christmann U, Fernandez A, Port A, Holenz J, Buschmann H, Laggner C, Serafini MT, Burgueno J, Zamanillo D, Merlos M, Vela JM, Almansa C (2012) Synthesis and biological evaluation of the 1-arylpyrazole class of sigma (1) receptor antagonists: identification of 4-{2-[5-methyl-1-(naphthalen-2-yl)-1H-pyrazol-3-yloxy] ethyl}morpholine (S1RA, E-52862). J Med Chem 55(19):8211–8224. doi:10.1021/jm3007323
- Dickenson AH, Sullivan AF (1987) Subcutaneous formalin-induced activity of dorsal horn neurones in the rat: differential response to an intrathecal opiate administered pre or post formalin. Pain 30 (3):349–360
- Entrena JM, Cobos EJ, Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Baeyens JM, Del Pozo E (2009a) Antagonism by haloperidol and its metabolites of mechanical hypersensitivity induced by intraplantar capsaicin in mice: role of sigma-1 receptors. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 205(1):21–33. doi:10.1007/s00213-009-1513-8
- Entrena JM, Cobos EJ, Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Gris G, Del Pozo E, Zamanillo D, Baeyens JM (2009b) Sigma-1 receptors are essential for capsaicin-induced mechanical hypersensitivity: studies with selective sigma-1 ligands and sigma-1 knockout mice. Pain 143(3):252–261. doi:10.1016/ j.pain.2009.03.011
- Flatters SJ (2015) The contribution of mitochondria to sensory processing and pain. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 131:119–146. doi:10.1016/bs.pmbts.2014.12.004
- Gao XF, Yao JJ, He YL, Hu C, Mei YA (2012) Sigma-1 receptor agonists directly inhibit Nav1.2/ 1.4 channels. PLoS One 7(11):e49384. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0049384
- Garzon J, Rodriguez-Munoz M, Sanchez-Blazquez P (2012) Direct association of mu-opioid and NMDA glutamate receptors supports their cross-regulation: molecular implications for opioid tolerance. Curr Drug Abuse Rev 5(3):199–226
- Garzon J, Herrero-Labrador R, Rodriguez-Munoz M, Shah R, Vicente-Sanchez A, Wagner CR, Sanchez-Blazquez P (2015) HINT1 protein: a new therapeutic target to enhance opioid antinociception and block mechanical allodynia. Neuropharmacology 89:412–423. doi:10.1016/j. neuropharm.2014.10.022
- Gingrich JA, Hen R (2000) The broken mouse: the role of development, plasticity and environment in the interpretation of phenotypic changes in knockout mice. Curr Opin Neurobiol 10 (1):146–152
- Gonzalez-Cano R, Merlos M, Baeyens JM, Cendan CM (2013) Sigma1 receptors are involved in the visceral pain induced by intracolonic administration of capsaicin in mice. Anesthesiology 118(3):691–700. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e318280a60a
- Griesmaier E, Posod A, Gross M, Neubauer V, Wegleiter K, Hermann M, Urbanek M, Keller M, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U (2012) Neuroprotective effects of the sigma-1 receptor ligand PRE-084 against excitotoxic perinatal brain injury in newborn mice. Exp Neurol 237(2):388–395. doi:10. 1016/j.expneurol.2012.06.030
- Gris G, Merlos M, Vela JM, Zamanillo D, Portillo-Salido E (2014) S1RA, a selective sigma-1 receptor antagonist, inhibits inflammatory pain in the carrageenan and complete Freund's adjuvant models in mice. Behav Pharmacol 25(3):226–235. doi:10.1097/FBP.0000000000000038. 35-201406000-00005 [pii]
- Gris G, Cobos EJ, Zamanillo D, Portillo-Salido E (2015) Sigma-1 receptor and inflammatory pain. Inflamm Res 64(6):377–381. doi:10.1007/s00011-015-0819-8
- Gromek KA, Suchy FP, Meddaugh HR, Wrobel RL, LaPointe LM, Chu UB, Primm JG, Ruoho AE, Senes A, Fox BG (2014) The oligomeric states of the purified sigma-1 receptor are stabilized by ligands. J Biol Chem 289(29):20333–20344. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.537993

- Gross C, Zhuang X, Stark K, Ramboz S, Oosting R, Kirby L, Santarelli L, Beck S, Hen R (2002) Serotonin1A receptor acts during development to establish normal anxiety-like behaviour in the adult. Nature 416(6879):396–400. doi:10.1038/416396a
- Guitart X, Codony X, Monroy X (2004) Sigma receptors: biology and therapeutic potential. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 174(3):301–319. doi:10.1007/s00213-004-1920-9
- Guscott M, Bristow LJ, Hadingham K, Rosahl TW, Beer MS, Stanton JA, Bromidge F, Owens AP, Huscroft I, Myers J, Rupniak NM, Patel S, Whiting PJ, Hutson PH, Fone KC, Biello SM, Kulagowski JJ, McAllister G (2005) Genetic knockout and pharmacological blockade studies of the 5-HT7 receptor suggest therapeutic potential in depression. Neuropharmacology 48 (4):492–502. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2004.11.015
- Han C, Estacion M, Huang J, Vasylyev D, Zhao P, Dib-Hajj SD, Waxman SG (2015) Human Na (v)1.8: enhanced persistent and ramp currents contribute to distinct firing properties of human DRG neurons. J Neurophysiol 113(9):3172–3185. doi:10.1152/jn.00113.2015
- Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Knaus HG, Striessnig J, Kempner E, Glossmann H (1996) Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian sigma1-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(15):8072–8077
- Hayashi T (2015) Conversion of psychological stress into cellular stress response: roles of the sigma-1 receptor in the process. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 69(4):179–191. doi:10.1111/pcn. 12262
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2001) Regulating ankyrin dynamics: roles of sigma-1 receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(2):491–496
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. Cell 131(3):596–610
- Hayashi T, Maurice T, Su TP (2000) Ca(2+) signaling via sigma(1)-receptors: novel regulatory mechanism affecting intracellular Ca(2+) concentration. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 293(3):788–798
- Herrera Y, Katnik C, Rodriguez JD, Hall AA, Willing A, Pennypacker KR, Cuevas J (2008) Sigma-1 receptor modulation of acid-sensing ion channel a (ASIC1a) and ASIC1a-induced Ca2+ influx in rat cortical neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 327(2):491–502. doi:10.1124/jpet.108.143974
- Herrero JF, Laird JM, Lopez-Garcia JA (2000) Wind-up of spinal cord neurones and pain sensation: much ado about something? Prog Neurobiol 61(2):169–203
- Jamieson DG, Moss A, Kennedy M, Jones S, Nenadic G, Robertson DL, Sidders B (2014) The pain interactome: connecting pain-specific protein interactions. Pain 155(11):2243–2252. doi:10. 1016/j.pain.2014.06.020
- Johannessen M, Ramachandran S, Riemer L, Ramos-Serrano A, Ruoho AE, Jackson MB (2009) Voltage-gated sodium channel modulation by sigma-receptors in cardiac myocytes and heterologous systems. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 296(5):C1049–C1057
- Johannessen M, Fontanilla D, Mavlyutov T, Ruoho AE, Jackson MB (2011) Antagonist action of progesterone at sigma-receptors in the modulation of voltage-gated sodium channels. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 300(2):C328–C337. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00383.2010
- Kekuda R, Prasad PD, Fei YJ, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1996) Cloning and functional expression of the human type 1 sigma receptor (hSigmaR1). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 229 (2):553–558
- Kim HW, Kwon YB, Roh DH, Yoon SY, Han HJ, Kim KW, Beitz AJ, Lee JH (2006) Intrathecal treatment with sigma1 receptor antagonists reduces formalin-induced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunit 1 and the second phase of formalin test in mice. Br J Pharmacol 148(4):490–498. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706764
- Kim HW, Roh DH, Yoon SY, Seo HS, Kwon YB, Han HJ, Kim KW, Beitz AJ, Lee JH (2008) Activation of the spinal sigma-1 receptor enhances NMDA-induced pain via PKC- and PKAdependent phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit in mice. Br J Pharmacol 154(5):1125–1134. doi:10.1038/bjp.2008.159
- Kim FJ, Kovalyshyn I, Burgman M, Neilan C, Chien CC, Pasternak GW (2010) Sigma 1 receptor modulation of G-protein-coupled receptor signaling: potentiation of opioid transduction

independent from receptor binding. Mol Pharmacol 77(4):695–703. doi:10.1124/mol.109. 057083. [pii]

- Kiss T (2008) Persistent Na-channels: origin and function. A review. Acta Biol Hung 59(Suppl):1–12. doi:10.1556/ABiol.59.2008.Suppl.1
- Kissin I (2010) The development of new analgesics over the past 50 years: a lack of real breakthrough drugs. Anesth Analg 110(3):780–789. doi:10.1213/ANE.0b013e3181cde882
- Kourrich S, Hayashi T, Chuang JY, Tsai SY, Su TP, Bonci A (2013) Dynamic interaction between sigma-1 receptor and Kv1.2 shapes neuronal and behavioral responses to cocaine. Cell 152 (1–2):236–247. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.004
- Kwon SG, Roh DH, Yoon SY, Choi SR, Choi HS, Moon JY, Kang SY, Kim HW, Han HJ, Beitz AJ, Oh SB, Lee JH (2016) Role of peripheral sigma-1 receptors in ischaemic pain: potential interactions with ASIC and P2X receptors. Eur J Pain 20(4):594–606. doi:10.1002/ejp.774
- Labianca R, Sarzi-Puttini P, Zuccaro SM, Cherubino P, Vellucci R, Fornasari D (2012) Adverse effects associated with non-opioid and opioid treatment in patients with chronic pain. Clin Drug Investig 32(Suppl 1):53–63. doi:10.2165/11630080-00000000-00000
- Lamy C, Scuvee-Moreau J, Dilly S, Liegeois JF, Seutin V (2010) The sigma agonist 1,3-di-o-tolylguanidine directly blocks SK channels in dopaminergic neurons and in cell lines. Eur J Pharmacol 641(1):23–28. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.05.008
- Lan Y, Chen Y, Cao X, Zhang J, Wang J, Xu X, Qiu Y, Zhang T, Liu X, Liu BF, Zhang G (2014a) Synthesis and biological evaluation of novel sigma-1 receptor antagonists based on pyrimidine scaffold as agents for treating neuropathic pain. J Med Chem 57(24):10404–10423. doi:10. 1021/jm501207r
- Lan Y, Chen Y, Xu X, Qiu Y, Liu S, Liu X, Liu BF, Zhang G (2014b) Synthesis and biological evaluation of a novel sigma-1 receptor antagonist based on 3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinolinone scaffold as a potential analgesic. Eur J Med Chem 79:216–230. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.04. 019
- Langa F, Codony X, Tovar V, Lavado A, Gimenez E, Cozar P, Cantero M, Dordal A, Hernandez E, Perez R, Monroy X, Zamanillo D, Guitart X, Montoliu L (2003) Generation and phenotypic analysis of sigma receptor type I (sigma 1) knockout mice. Eur J Neurosci 18(8):2188–2196
- Latremoliere A, Woolf CJ (2009) Central sensitization: a generator of pain hypersensitivity by central neural plasticity. J Pain 10(9):895–926. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2009.06.012
- Liu M, Wood JN (2011) The roles of sodium channels in nociception: implications for mechanisms of neuropathic pain. Pain Med 12(Suppl 3):S93–S99. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011. 01158.x
- Luedtke RR, Perez E, Yang SH, Liu R, Vangveravong S, Tu Z, Mach RH, Simpkins JW (2012) Neuroprotective effects of high affinity sigmal receptor selective compounds. Brain Res 1441:17–26. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2011.12.047
- Mancuso R, Olivan S, Rando A, Casas C, Osta R, Navarro X (2012) Sigma-1R agonist improves motor function and motoneuron survival in ALS mice. Neurotherapeutics 9(4):814–826. doi:10.1007/s13311-012-0140-y
- Mardon K, Kassiou M, Donald A (1999) Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes on neuronal sigma receptors in the rat brain. Life Sci 65(23):PL 281–PL 286
- Marrazzo A, Parenti C, Scavo V, Ronsisvalle S, Scoto GM, Ronsisvalle G (2006) In vivo evaluation of (+)-MR200 as a new selective sigma ligand modulating MOP, DOP and KOP supraspinal analgesia. Life Sci 78(21):2449–2453. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2005.10.005
- Martina M, Turcotte ME, Halman S, Bergeron R (2007) The sigma-1 receptor modulates NMDA receptor synaptic transmission and plasticity via SK channels in rat hippocampus. J Physiol 578(Pt 1):143–157
- Mazo I, Roza C, Zamanillo D, Merlos M, Vela JM, Lopez-Garcia JA (2015) Effects of centrally acting analgesics on spinal segmental reflexes and wind-up. Eur J Pain 19(7):1012–1020. doi:10.1002/ejp.629
- Millan MJ (1999) The induction of pain: an integrative review. Prog Neurobiol 57(1):1-164
- Millan MJ (2002) Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol 66(6):355-474

- Min R, Di Marzo V, Mansvelder HD (2010) DAG lipase involvement in depolarization-induced suppression of inhibition: does endocannabinoid biosynthesis always meet the demand? Neuroscientist 16(6):608–613. doi:10.1177/1073858410373281
- Mishra AK, Mavlyutov T, Singh DR, Biener G, Yang J, Oliver JA, Ruoho A, Raicu V (2015) The sigma-1 receptors are present in monomeric and oligomeric forms in living cells in the presence and absence of ligands. Biochem J 466(2):263–271. doi:10.1042/BJ20141321
- Monnet FP, Morin-Surun MP, Leger J, Combettes L (2003) Protein kinase C-dependent potentiation of intracellular calcium influx by sigmal receptor agonists in rat hippocampal neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 307(2):705–712. doi:10.1124/jpet.103.053447
- Moon JY, Roh DH, Yoon SY, Choi SR, Kwon SG, Choi HS, Kang SY, Han HJ, Beitz AJ, Oh SB, Lee JH (2014) Sigmal receptors activate astrocytes via p38 MAPK phosphorylation leading to the development of mechanical allodynia in a mouse model of neuropathic pain. Br J Pharmacol 171(24):5881–5897. doi:10.1111/bph.12893
- Morin-Surun MP, Collin T, Denavit-Saubie M, Baulieu EE, Monnet FP (1999) Intracellular sigmal receptor modulates phospholipase C and protein kinase C activities in the brainstem. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(14):8196–8199
- Mueller BH 2nd, Park Y, Daudt DR 3rd, Ma HY, Akopova I, Stankowska DL, Clark AF, Yorio T (2013) Sigma-1 receptor stimulation attenuates calcium influx through activated L-type voltage gated calcium channels in purified retinal ganglion cells. Exp Eye Res 107:21–31. doi:10. 1016/j.exer.2012.11.002
- Ngo-Anh TJ, Bloodgood BL, Lin M, Sabatini BL, Maylie J, Adelman JP (2005) SK channels and NMDA receptors form a Ca2+-mediated feedback loop in dendritic spines. Nat Neurosci 8 (5):642–649. doi:10.1038/nn1449
- Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Sanchez-Fernandez C, Cobos EJ, Entrena JM, Tejada MA, Zamanillo D, Vela JM, Baeyens JM (2012) Role of sigma-1 receptors in paclitaxel-induced neuropathic pain in mice. J Pain 13(11):1107–1121. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2012.08.006. S1526-5900(12)00782-1 [pii]
- Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Canizares FJ, Cubero MA, Vela JM, Fernandez-Segura E, Baeyens JM (2014) Genetic inactivation and pharmacological blockade of sigma-1 receptors prevent paclitaxel-induced sensory-nerve mitochondrial abnormalities and neuropathic pain in mice. Mol Pain 10:11. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-10-11
- O'Neill J, Brock C, Olesen AE, Andresen T, Nilsson M, Dickenson AH (2012) Unravelling the mystery of capsaicin: a tool to understand and treat pain. Pharmacol Rev 64(4):939–971. doi:10.1124/pr.112.006163
- Oberdorf C, Schepmann D, Vela JM, Diaz JL, Holenz J, Wunsch B (2008) Thiophene bioisosteres of spirocyclic sigma receptor ligands. 1. N-substituted spiro[piperidine-4,4'-thieno[3,2-c] pyrans]. J Med Chem 51(20):6531–6537. doi:10.1021/jm8007739
- Ortega-Roldan JL, Ossa F, Schnell JR (2013) Characterization of the human sigma-1 receptor chaperone domain structure and binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP) interactions. J Biol Chem 288(29):21448–21457. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.450379
- Osmakov DI, Andreev YA, Kozlov SA (2014) Acid-sensing ion channels and their modulators. Biochemistry 79(13):1528–1545. doi:10.1134/S0006297914130069
- Pal A, Hajipour AR, Fontanilla D, Ramachandran S, Chu UB, Mavlyutov T, Ruoho AE (2007) Identification of regions of the sigma-1 receptor ligand binding site using a novel photoprobe. Mol Pharmacol 72(4):921–933
- Pan B, Guo Y, Kwok WM, Hogan Q, Wu HE (2014) Sigma-1 receptor antagonism restores injuryinduced decrease of voltage-gated Ca2+ current in sensory neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 350 (2):290–300. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.214320
- Parenti C, Marrazzo A, Arico G, Cantarella G, Prezzavento O, Ronsisvalle S, Scoto GM, Ronsisvalle G (2014) Effects of a selective sigma 1 antagonist compound on inflammatory pain. Inflammation 37(1):261–266. doi:10.1007/s10753-013-9736-6
- Pasternak GW, Kolesnikov YA, Babey AM (1995) Perspectives on the N-methyl-D-aspartate/ nitric oxide cascade and opioid tolerance. Neuropsychopharmacology 13(4):309–313. doi:10. 1016/0893-133X(95)00084-Q

- Perret D, Luo ZD (2009) Targeting voltage-gated calcium channels for neuropathic pain management. Neurotherapeutics 6(4):679–692. doi:10.1016/j.nurt.2009.07.006
- Petho G, Reeh PW (2012) Sensory and signaling mechanisms of bradykinin, eicosanoids, plateletactivating factor, and nitric oxide in peripheral nociceptors. Physiol Rev 92(4):1699–1775. doi:10.1152/physrev.00048.2010
- Phan VL, Miyamoto Y, Nabeshima T, Maurice T (2005) Age-related expression of sigmal receptors and antidepressant efficacy of a selective agonist in the senescence-accelerated (SAM) mouse. J Neurosci Res 79(4):561–572. doi:10.1002/jnr.20390
- Rasband MN, Park EW, Vanderah TW, Lai J, Porreca F, Trimmer JS (2001) Distinct potassium channels on pain-sensing neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(23):13373–13378. doi:10. 1073/pnas.231376298
- Richards N, McMahon SB (2013) Targeting novel peripheral mediators for the treatment of chronic pain. Br J Anaesth 111(1):46–51. doi:10.1093/bja/aet216
- Rodriguez-Munoz M, Sanchez-Blazquez P, Herrero-Labrador R, Martinez-Murillo R, Merlos M, Vela JM, Garzon J (2015) The sigma1 receptor engages the redox-regulated HINT1 protein to bring opioid analgesia under NMDA receptor negative control. Antioxid Redox Signal 22 (10):799–818. doi:10.1089/ars.2014.5993
- Roh DH, Kim HW, Yoon SY, Seo HS, Kwon YB, Kim KW, Han HJ, Beitz AJ, Na HS, Lee JH (2008) Intrathecal injection of the sigma(1) receptor antagonist BD1047 blocks both mechanical allodynia and increases in spinal NR1 expression during the induction phase of rodent neuropathic pain. Anesthesiology 109(5):879–889. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e3181895a83
- Roh DH, Choi SR, Yoon SY, Kang SY, Moon JY, Kwon SG, Han HJ, Beitz AJ, Lee JH (2011) Spinal neuronal NOS activation mediates sigma-1 receptor-induced mechanical and thermal hypersensitivity in mice: involvement of PKC-dependent GluN1 phosphorylation. Br J Pharmacol 163(8):1707–1720. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01316.x
- Romero L, Zamanillo D, Nadal X, Sanchez-Arroyos R, Rivera-Arconada I, Dordal A, Montero A, Muro A, Bura A, Segales C, Laloya M, Hernandez E, Portillo-Salido E, Escriche M, Codony X, Encina G, Burgueno J, Merlos M, Baeyens JM, Giraldo J, Lopez-Garcia JA, Maldonado R, Plata-Salaman CR, Vela JM (2012) Pharmacological properties of S1RA, a new sigma-1 receptor antagonist that inhibits neuropathic pain and activity-induced spinal sensitization. Br J Pharmacol 166(8):2289–2306. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.01942.x
- Romero L, Merlos M, Vela JM (2016) Antinociception by sigma-1 receptor antagonists: central and peripheral effects. Adv Pharmacol 75:179–215. doi:10.1016/bs.apha.2015.11.003
- Romero-Sandoval EA, Asbill S, Paige CA, Byrd-Glover K (2015) Peripherally restricted cannabinoids for the treatment of pain. Pharmacotherapy 35(10):917–925. doi:10.1002/phar.1642
- Rygh LJ, Tjolsen A, Hole K, Svendsen F (2002) Cellular memory in spinal nociceptive circuitry. Scand J Psychol 43(2):153–159
- Sanchez-Blazquez P, Rodriguez-Munoz M, Garzon J (2014a) The cannabinoid receptor 1 associates with NMDA receptors to produce glutamatergic hypofunction: implications in psychosis and schizophrenia. Front Pharmacol 4:169. doi:10.3389/fphar.2013.00169
- Sanchez-Blazquez P, Rodriguez-Munoz M, Herrero-Labrador R, Burgueno J, Zamanillo D, Garzon J (2014b) The calcium-sensitive sigma-1 receptor prevents cannabinoids from provoking glutamate NMDA receptor hypofunction: implications in antinociception and psychotic diseases. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 17(12):1943–1955. doi:10.1017/S1461145714000029
- Sanchez-Fernandez C, Nieto FR, Gonzalez-Cano R, Artacho-Cordon A, Romero L, Montilla-Garcia A, Zamanillo D, Baeyens JM, Entrena JM, Cobos EJ (2013) Potentiation of morphineinduced mechanical antinociception by sigma(1) receptor inhibition: role of peripheral sigma (1) receptors. Neuropharmacology 70:348–358. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.03.002. S0028-3908(13)00098-1 [pii]
- Sanchez-Fernandez C, Montilla-Garcia A, Gonzalez-Cano R, Nieto FR, Romero L, Artacho-Cordon A, Montes R, Fernandez-Pastor B, Merlos M, Baeyens JM, Entrena JM, Cobos EJ (2014) Modulation of peripheral mu-opioid analgesia by sigma1 receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 348 (1):32–45. doi:10.1124/jpet.113.208272

Sandkuhler J (2000) Learning and memory in pain pathways. Pain 88(2):113-118

- Schetz JA, Perez E, Liu R, Chen S, Lee I, Simpkins JW (2007) A prototypical sigma-1 receptor antagonist protects against brain ischemia. Brain Res 1181:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2007. 08.068
- Schmidt HR, Zheng S, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human sigma1 receptor. Nature 532(7600):527–530. doi:10.1038/nature17391
- Seth P, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1997) Cloning and structural analysis of the cDNA and the gene encoding the murine type 1 sigma receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 241(2):535–540
- Shimazu S, Katsuki H, Takenaka C, Tomita M, Kume T, Kaneko S, Akaike A (2000) Sigma receptor ligands attenuate N-methyl-D-aspartate cytotoxicity in dopaminergic neurons of mesencephalic slice cultures. Eur J Pharmacol 388(2):139–146
- Shioda N, Ishikawa K, Tagashira H, Ishizuka T, Yawo H, Fukunaga K (2012) Expression of a truncated form of the endoplasmic reticulum chaperone protein, sigmal receptor, promotes mitochondrial energy depletion and apoptosis. J Biol Chem 287(28):23318–23331. doi:10. 1074/jbc.M112.349142
- Son JS, Kwon YB (2010) Sigma-1 receptor antagonist BD1047 reduces allodynia and spinal ERK phosphorylation following chronic compression of dorsal root ganglion in rats. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 14(6):359–364. doi:10.4196/kjpp.2010.14.6.359
- Su TP, Hayashi T, Maurice T, Buch S, Ruoho AE (2010) The sigma-1 receptor chaperone as an inter-organelle signaling modulator. Trends Pharmacol Sci 31(12):557–566. doi:10.1016/j. tips.2010.08.007. S0165-6147(10)00153-7 [pii]
- Su TP, Su TC, Nakamura Y, Tsai SY (2016) The sigma-1 receptor as a pluripotent modulator in living systems. Trends Pharmacol Sci 37(4):262–278. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2016.01.003
- Tappe-Theodor A, Constantin CE, Tegeder I, Lechner SG, Langeslag M, Lepcynzsky P, Wirotanseng RI, Kurejova M, Agarwal N, Nagy G, Todd A, Wettschureck N, Offermanns S, Kress M, Lewin GR, Kuner R (2012) Galpha(q/11) signaling tonically modulates nociceptor function and contributes to activity-dependent sensitization. Pain 153(1):184–196. doi:10. 1016/j.pain.2011.10.014
- Tchedre KT, Huang RQ, Dibas A, Krishnamoorthy RR, Dillon GH, Yorio T (2008) Sigma-1 receptor regulation of voltage-gated calcium channels involves a direct interaction. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 49(11):4993–5002. doi:10.1167/iovs.08-1867
- Tejada MA, Montilla-Garcia A, Sanchez-Fernandez C, Entrena JM, Perazzoli G, Baeyens JM, Cobos EJ (2014) Sigma-1 receptor inhibition reverses acute inflammatory hyperalgesia in mice: role of peripheral sigma-1 receptors. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 231(19):3855–3869. doi:10.1007/s00213-014-3524-3
- Thomas Cheng H (2010) Spinal cord mechanisms of chronic pain and clinical implications. Curr Pain Headache Rep 14(3):213–220. doi:10.1007/s11916-010-0111-0
- Tomohisa M, Junpei O, Aki M, Masato H, Mika F, Kazumi Y, Teruo H, Tsutomu S (2015) Possible involvement of the sigma-1 receptor chaperone in chemotherapeutic-induced neuropathic pain. Synapse 69(11):526–532. doi:10.1002/syn.21844
- Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Bennett MI, Benoliel R, Cohen M, Evers S, Finnerup NB, First MB, Giamberardino MA, Kaasa S, Kosek E, Lavand'homme P, Nicholas M, Perrot S, Scholz J, Schug S, Smith BH, Svensson P, Vlaeyen JW, Wang SJ (2015) A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. Pain 156(6):1003–1007. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000160
- Tsantoulas C, McMahon SB (2014) Opening paths to novel analgesics: the role of potassium channels in chronic pain. Trends Neurosci 37(3):146–158. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2013.12.002
- Turk DC, Wilson HD, Cahana A (2011) Treatment of chronic non-cancer pain. Lancet 377 (9784):2226–2235. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60402-9
- Utech T, Kohler J, Buschmann H, Holenz J, Vela JM, Wunsch B (2011) Synthesis and pharmacological evaluation of a potent and selective sigmal receptor antagonist with high antiallodynic activity. Arch Pharm (Weinheim) 344(7):415–421. doi:10.1002/ardp.201000365
- Vaccarino AL, Chorney DA (1994) Descending modulation of central neural plasticity in the formalin pain test. Brain Res 666(1):104–108

- Vagnerova K, Hurn PD, Bhardwaj A, Kirsch JR (2006) Sigma 1 receptor agonists act as neuroprotective drugs through inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase. Anesth Analg 103 (2):430–434 (table of contents). doi:10.1213/01.ane.0000226133.85114.91
- Vela JM, Merlos M, Almansa C (2015) Investigational sigma-1 receptor antagonists for the treatment of pain. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 24(7):883–896. doi:10.1517/13543784.2015. 1048334
- Vergara C, Latorre R, Marrion NV, Adelman JP (1998) Calcium-activated potassium channels. Curr Opin Neurobiol 8(3):321–329
- Vidal-Torres A, de la Puente B, Rocasalbas M, Tourino C, Bura SA, Fernandez-Pastor B, Romero L, Codony X, Zamanillo D, Buschmann H, Merlos M, Baeyens JM, Maldonado R, Vela JM (2013) Sigma-1 receptor antagonism as opioid adjuvant strategy: enhancement of opioid antinociception without increasing adverse effects. Eur J Pharmacol 711(1–3):63–72. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2013. 04.018. S0014-2999(13)00323-3 [pii]
- Vidal-Torres A, Fernandez-Pastor B, Carceller A, Vela JM, Merlos M, Zamanillo D (2014) Effects of the selective sigma-1 receptor antagonist S1RA on formalin-induced pain behavior and neurotransmitter release in the spinal cord in rats. J Neurochem 129(3):484–494. doi:10.1111/ jnc.12648
- Voss LJ, Melin S, Jacobson G, Sleigh JW (2010) GABAergic compensation in connexin36 knockout mice evident during low-magnesium seizure-like event activity. Brain Res 1360:49–55. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.09.002
- Wang H, Ehnert C, Brenner GJ, Woolf CJ (2006) Bradykinin and peripheral sensitization. Biol Chem 387(1):11–14. doi:10.1515/BC.2006.003
- Wiese C, Grosse Maestrup E, Schepmann D, Vela JM, Holenz J, Buschmann H, Wunsch B (2009) Pharmacological and metabolic characterisation of the potent sigma1 receptor ligand 1'-benzyl-3-methoxy-3H-spiro[[2]benzofuran-1,4'-piperidine]. J Pharm Pharmacol 61(5):631–640. doi:10. 1211/jpp/61.05.0012
- Xu Q, Yaksh TL (2011) A brief comparison of the pathophysiology of inflammatory versus neuropathic pain. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 24(4):400–407. doi:10.1097/ACO.0b013e32834871df
- Yu L, Haverty PM, Mariani J, Wang Y, Shen HY, Schwarzschild MA, Weng Z, Chen JF (2005) Genetic and pharmacological inactivation of adenosine A2A receptor reveals an Egr-2-mediated transcriptional regulatory network in the mouse striatum. Physiol Genomics 23(1):89–102. doi:10. 1152/physiolgenomics.00068.2005
- Zamanillo D, Romero L, Merlos M, Vela JM (2013) Sigma 1 receptor: a new therapeutic target for pain. Eur J Pharmacol 716(1–3):78–93. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.01.068
- Zhang H, Cuevas J (2002) Sigma receptors inhibit high-voltage-activated calcium channels in rat sympathetic and parasympathetic neurons. J Neurophysiol 87(6):2867–2879
- Zhang H, Katnik C, Cuevas J (2009) Sigma receptor activation inhibits voltage-gated sodium channels in rat intracardiac ganglion neurons. Int J Physiol Pathophysiol Pharmacol 2(1):1–11

Allosteric Modulation of Opioid G-Protein Coupled Receptors by Sigma₁ Receptors

Gavril W. Pasternak

Contents

1	Introduction	164
2	Sigma ₁ Modulation of Opioid Actions in Mice	165
	2.1 Modulation of Morphine Analgesia by (+)Pentazocine and Haloperidol in Mice	165
	2.2 Role of Sigma ₁ Receptors in Delta and Kappa Opioid Analgesia and Strain	
	Differences in Mice	165
	2.3 Non-analgesic Actions	167
3	Sigma ₁ Modulation of Opioid Actions in Rats	168
4	Molecular Studies of Sigma ₁ Receptors	169
	4.1 Allosteric Modulation of Opioid Receptor Transduction by Sigma ₁ Receptors	170
	4.2 Physical Association of Sigma ₁ and Opioid Receptors	171
5	Conclusion	172
Re	ferences	173

Abstract

Since their proposal in 1976, the concept of sigma₁ receptors has been continually evolving. Initially thought to be a member of the opioid receptor family, molecular studies have now identified its genes and established its structure crystallographically. Much effort has now revealed its importance as a chaperone in the endoplasmic reticulum, but its functions extend beyond this. Sigma₁ receptors have been associated with a host of signaling systems. Evidence over the past 20 years has established the modulatory effects of sigma₁ ligands on opioid systems. Despite their inability to bind directly to opioid receptors, sigma₁ ligands can modulate

G.W. Pasternak (🖂)

Department of Neurology and Molecular Pharmacology Program, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY 10021, USA

Department of Neurology, Molecular Pharmacology Program, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, 1275 York Ave, New York, NY 10065, USA e-mail: pasterng@mskcc.org

opioid analgesia in vivo and signal transduction mechanisms in vitro. Furthermore, sigma₁ receptors can physically associate with GPCRs. Together, these findings show that sigma₁ ligands can function as allosteric modulators of GPCR function through their association with the sigma₁ receptors, which are in direct physical association with opioid receptors, members of the G-protein coupled family of receptors.

Keywords

Allosteric modulator • Allosterism • Analgesia • GPCR • Opioid • Sigma₁ receptor • Transduction

1 Introduction

Sigma receptors were first proposed by Martin based upon the pharmacology of the benzomorphan SKF10,047 (Martin et al. 1976). In this initial report, Martin found that the actions of SKF10,047, including the behavioral effects, were reversed by the classical opioid antagonist naltrexone, leading him to consider this an opioid receptor. Since then, the concept of sigma₁ receptors has evolved. Since the (-)benzomorphans SKF10.047 and (-)pentazocine also label traditional opioid receptors with high affinity, their (+) isomers are now used to define sigma₁ receptors, clearly separating them from opioid receptors that are highly selective for (-) isomers. Today the term refers to a protein with a structure unrelated to any established class of receptor (Hanner et al. 1996; Kekuda et al. 1996; Seth et al. 1997, 1998; Pan et al. 1998; Mei and Pasternak 2001). The crystal structure of the sigma₁ receptor has been published (Schmidt et al. 2016). It has a trimeric architecture with a single transmembrane domain and an intracellular binding pocket for each monomer. The function of sigma₁ receptors has remained enigmatic. Unlike classical receptors, it has no identified transduction systems. It has been associated with the endoplasmic reticulum and has chaperone actions (Hayashi and Su 2007) and associates with many proteins in various classes, many of them receptors and channels (Monnet et al. 1996; Aydar et al. 2002; Su and Hayashi 2003; Martina et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2010).

This chapter will focus on the interactions of sigma₁ receptors with opioid receptors, members of the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) family. It will review the evidence for a modulatory role of sigma₁ receptors on GPCR function involving select actions and locations within the central nervous system, extending the general actions of sigma₁ receptors beyond their chaperone actions.

2 Sigma₁ Modulation of Opioid Actions in Mice

2.1 Modulation of Morphine Analgesia by (+)Pentazocine and Haloperidol in Mice

Opiate analgesics are often used in combination with other classes of drugs in the hope of enhancing analgesia while limiting side effects (Payne and Pasternak 1992, 1998). These adjuncts cover a wide range of classes, from antihistamines to anti-depressants. While some are analgesic, others are not. In the course of exploring the pharmacology of the stereoisomers of pentazocine, we observed interesting interactions between (+)pentazocine and opioid actions (Chien and Pasternak 1993, 1994, 1995a, 1995b; Pasternak 1994; Chien et al. 1997; King et al. 1997; Pan et al. 1998; Mei and Pasternak 2001, 2002, 2007; Pasternak 2007).

(-)Pentazocine is a mixed kappa agonist/mu antagonist with high binding affinity at both mu and kappa opioid receptors. Clinically, in the USA, it is supplied as a racemate, containing both the (-) and (+) isomers, leading us to look at each independently. In view of its antagonist properties against mu opioid receptors, it was not surprising to observe that the pentazocine lowered morphine analgesia in a mouse model. However, when the two stereoisomers were examined, they were equipotent (Fig. 1a) (Chien and Pasternak 1994). Since (+)pentazocine does not have appreciable affinity for any of the opioid receptors, it was assumed that the lowering of morphine analgesia was secondary to interactions with sigma receptors. This was confirmed in several ways. Haloperidol is an established neuroleptic that is active against both sigma₁ asnd D2 dopamine receptors. Haloperidol potentiated morphine analgesia, shifting its analgesic ED₅₀ twofold in CD-1 mice (Fig. 1b). This effect was independent of its actions on D2 dopamine receptors. (-)Sulpiride is a potent neuroleptic active at D2 dopamine receptors that differs from haloperidol in that (-)sulpiride does not bind to sigma₁ receptors. Unlike haloperidol, (-)sulpiride did not potentiate morphine analgesia. In addition, haloperidol, but not sulpiride, reversed the diminished morphine response due to (+)pentazocine (Fig.1b). Studies in a D2 dopamine receptor knockout mouse showed that dopamine receptors can influence opioid analgesia directly, but haloperidol still enhanced morphine analgesia in the D2 knockout mice, validating the role of sigma₁ receptors in the modulation of opioid analgesia (King et al. 2001).

2.2 Role of Sigma₁ Receptors in Delta and Kappa Opioid Analgesia and Strain Differences in Mice

Like morphine analgesia, the sigma₁ system impacts both delta and kappa opioid analgesia (Fig. 1c; Table 1). (+)Pentazocine decreased, in a dose-dependent manner, the analgesic actions of the delta opioid peptide DPDPE ([D-Ala²,D-Pen²,D-Pen⁵]enkephalin), the kappa₁ opioid U50,488H, and naloxone benzoylhydrazone (NalBzoH), which acts through a truncated splice variant of the mu opioid receptor gene *Oprm1* (Pan et al. 2001; Majumdar et al. 2011; Lu et al. 2015). In vivo, sigma₁ receptors are tonically active, initially indicated by the ability of haloperidol to enhance

Fig. 1 Effect of (+)pentazocine on opioid analgesia in mice. (a) Groups of mice (n = 20) received morphine (5 mg/kg, s.c.) alone or with the indicated dose of the specified pentazocine stereoisomer. (b) Groups of mice (n = 20)received morphine (5 mg/kg, s.c.) alone or with haloperidol (0.5 mg/kg, sc.) or (-)sulpiride (200 mg/kg, s.c.) (*left side*). Additional groups received the same treatments along with (+)pentazocine (5 mg/kg, s.c.). (c) Groups of mice (n = 10) received U50,488H (5 mg/kg, s.c.), naloxone benzoylhydrazone (NalBzoH) (50 mg/kg, s.c.), or [D-Ala², D-Pen², D-Pen⁵] enkephalin (DPDPE) (300 ng, i.t.) alone or with the indicated dose of (+)pentazocine. Data from the literature (Chien and Pasternak 1994)



morphine analgesia. Similarly, haloperidol significantly potentiated the actions of U50,488H and NalBzoH. The inactivity of (–)sulpiride confirmed a role for sigma₁,

		ED ₅₀	ED ₅₀					
Opioid	Strain	Control	Control		Haloperidol			
Morphine	CD-1	4.5	mg/kg, s.c.	2.3	mg/kg, s.c.	2		
DPDPE	CD-1	312	ng, i.t.	103	ng, i.t.	3		
U50,488H	CD-1	4.8	mg/kg, s.c.	1.8	mg/kg, s.c.	2.7		
	BALB-C	16.0	mg/kg, s.c.	1.9	mg/kg, s.c.	8.9		
NalBzoH	CD-1	55.3	mg/kg, s.c.	21.4	mg/kg, s.c.	2.6		
	BALB-C	10% resp	onse at 100 mg/kg	23.2	mg/kg, s.c.			

Table 1 Effect of haloperidol on opioid analgesic potency

 ED_{50} values were determined for the indicated drug/route in the specified mouse strain. The ratio of ED_{50} values is also presented. In addition to enhancing analgesic potency with shifts to the left of the ED_{50} values, haloperidol also eliminated the strain differences in potency for U50,488H and NalBzoH seen in control values. Data from the literature (Chien and Pasternak 1994)

and not D2 dopamine receptors. Thus, sigma₁ receptors modulate the analgesic activity of all three classes of opioid receptors: Mu, Delta, and Kappa.

Patients vary markedly in their sensitivity to opioids, with some requiring far higher doses than others (Payne and Pasternak 1992, 1998). These differences are recapitulated in various mouse strains, which also show marked differences in their sensitivity to opioids (Table 1) (Moskowitz et al. 1985; Pick et al. 1991; Marek et al. 1993; Mogil et al. 1995). This was quite pronounced with the kappa drugs U50,488H and NalBzoH. U50,488H was almost fourfold more potent in CD1 than in BALB-C mice. A greater difference was observed for NalBzoH, where a dose almost twice the ED₅₀ in CD-1 mice gave less than 10% response in BALB-C mice. In both cases, haloperidol increased their potency. However, haloperidol also eliminated the differences in potency between the two strains (Table 1) (Chien and Pasternak 1994). Thus, tonic activity of sigma₁ receptors may contribute to strain differences in analgesic sensitivity.

2.3 Non-analgesic Actions

Opioids such as morphine have a range of actions other than analgesia, including inhibition of gastrointestinal (GI) transit, which contributes to their constipating effect. Although both morphine analgesia and the inhibition of GI transit are mediated through mu receptors, they differ in their sensitivity to several selected antagonists, including naloxonazine (Heyman et al. 1988; Paul and Pasternak 1988). These observations provided some of the first suggestions that it may be possible to separate analgesia from undesired side effects. Differences between morphine analgesia and GI transit extend to their sensitivity to sigma₁ systems as well.

Morphine diminishes GI transit in a dose-dependent manner. Although (+)pentazocine effectively lowered morphine analgesia, it had no effect upon morphineinduced inhibition of GI transit (Fig. 2) (Chien and Pasternak 1994). The inhibition of transit was equivalent with and without (+)pentazocine at both morphine doses.

Morphine lethality results, in large part, by its respiratory depressant effects. At a morphine dose that was lethal in 70% of mice, (+)pentazocine had no effect, implying



that sigma₁ receptors do not modulate this activity (Chien and Pasternak 1994). This selective increase of analgesia and not either lethality or inhibition of GI transit may prove useful clinically by increasing the therapeutic index.

3 Sigma₁ Modulation of Opioid Actions in Rats

The actions of σ drugs on opiates were not limited to mice. Rats displayed similar effects (Chien and Pasternak 1995b; Mei and Pasternak 2007). (+)Pentazocine reduced the analgesic actions of all classes of opioids. Like mice, rats also displayed tonic sigma₁ activity, as evidenced by the ability of haloperidol to potentiate analgesia. Although haloperidol was inactive alone in the tail flick assay, it enhanced morphine, U50,488H, and NalBzoH analgesia in rats. Again, (-)sulpiride was ineffective, confirming a sigma₁ mechanism. However, these interactions became far more complicated when examined in specific regions of the brain, specifically the periaqueductal gray (PAG), the rostral ventral medulla (RVM), and the locus ceruleus (LC) (Mei and Pasternak 2007).

Morphine is a potent analgesic when administered directly into various regions of the brain (Pert and Yaksh 1974; Rossi et al. 1994; Mei and Pasternak 2007). (+)Pentazocine diminishes morphine analgesia when both drugs are given systemically, but a different pattern emerged when specific brainstem loci were examined (Mei and Pasternak 2007). (+)Pentazocine potently reduced morphine analgesia in a dosedependent manner in both the RVM and the LC at doses under 1 μ g, but not in the PAG (Fig. 3a). These microinjection studies also revealed another difference. While haloperidol significantly enhanced the response in the RVM, it was not effective in either the PAG or LC (Fig. 3b). The lack of a haloperidol effect in the PAG is consistent with its insensitivity to (+)pentazocine which suggests the absence of a sigma₁ contribution to mu analgesia in this site. However, sigma₁ receptor is



modulatory in the LC, so the lack of a haloperidol effect there more likely implies the absence of tonic sigma₁ activity.

Together, these observations indicate that sigma₁ receptor modulation of morphine action is not universal. The rat microinjection studies show that its actions are restricted to selected regions of the brain. Furthermore, sigma₁ receptors are not involved with either the inhibition of GI transit or lethality. Thus, the modulation of opioid actions by sigma₁ receptors is itself modulated.

4 Molecular Studies of Sigma₁ Receptors

For many years, a number of questions were raised regarding the sigma₁ receptor, including its structure. The cloning of the sigma₁ receptor was a major advance in our understanding of the protein (Hanner et al. 1996; Kekuda et al. 1996; Seth et al. 1997, 1998; Pan et al. 1998; Mei and Pasternak 2001). Despite its close association with opioid receptors, the sigma₁ receptor shows no homology to traditional GPCRs, such as the opioid receptors. It is relatively small and the recent crystallization of the protein reveals a trimeric structure with each monomer containing a single transmembrane

domain with a large intracellular C-terminus that contains the binding pocket (Schmidt et al. 2016). When expressed, the cloned sigma₁ receptor retained all the binding characteristics expected from earlier studies from brain and other tissues. This validation was important since many of the drugs used to characterize the protein were not selective. More detailed analysis has now identified a number of alternatively spliced variants of the sigma₁ receptor (Pan et al. 2017), but their significance has not yet been fully defined.

A persistent question is whether or not the protein is actually a receptor. The ability to demonstrate opposing actions with different chemical structures led to the widespread use of the terms agonist and antagonist, despite the absence of a defining function for the protein. Conceptually, the designation of antagonist is supported by antisense studies (King et al. 1997; Pan et al. 1998). Downregulation of sigma₁ receptors using antisense oligodeoxynucleotides administered centrally potentiated opioid analgesia, actions similar to those of "antagonists." Downregulation of sigma₁ receptor mRNA by approximately 65% shifted the analgesic activity of morphine, U50,488H, DPDPE, and NalBzoH by three- to fourfold (Table 2) (Pan et al. 1998). Thus, the actions of "antagonists" corresponded to the loss of the protein. As our understanding of the protein at the molecular level has advanced, no transduction system associated with the protein has been identified. However, the long history of the use of the terms "receptor," "antagonist," and "agonist" is heavily entrenched and not likely to be abandoned.

4.1 Allosteric Modulation of Opioid Receptor Transduction by Sigma₁ Receptors

The behavioral studies implied an allosteric modulation of opioid receptors by sigma₁ receptors. This concept is supported by molecular studies exploring the interactions of mu opioid receptors and sigma₁ receptors (Kim et al. 2010). Sigma₁ antagonist BD1047 did not compete opioid receptor binding, confirming that it has no direct interaction with the opioid receptors, and did not stimulate ³⁵S-GTPγS binding by

	ED ₅₀									
Drug	Saline		Mismatch		Antisense		Antisense shift			
Morphine	5.3	mg/kg, s.c.	5.5	mg/kg, s.c.	1.9	mg/kg, s.c.	3			
U50,488H	10	mg/kg, s.c.	9.7	mg/kg, s.c.	3.4	mg/kg, s.c.	3			
DPDPE	6.1	i.c.v.	6.4	i.c.v.	2.1	μg, i.c.v.	3			
NalBzoH	96	mg/kg, s.c.	91	mg/kg, s.c.	19.7	mg/kg, s.c.	4.6			

 Table 2
 Effect of antisense targeting the sigma1 receptor on opioid analgesia

 ED_{50} values were determined for each drug in CD-1 mice following treatment with either saline, an inactive mismatch oligodeoxynucleotide, or an antisense oligodeoxynucleotide. Data from the literature (Pan et al. 1998)

itself. Inclusion of BD1047 also did not change the Bmax of ³H-DAMGO binding, a measure of the number of the receptors in the assay. However, BD1047 significantly potentiated the ability of the mu opioid peptide DAMGO to stimulate ³⁵S-GTP γ S binding in brain, shifting the ED₅₀ more than 25-fold to the left (Fig. 4). This stimulation was limited to a shift in the potency, with no change in the maximal stimulation. This raises an interesting issue. Since the affinity of the opioid was unaffected, the shift in the dose–response curve implied a greater intrinsic activity since a similar level of stimulation could now be elicited with a lower receptor occupancy. Thus, BD1047 allosterically modulated the functional actions of DAMGO through its binding to the sigma₁ receptor, enhancing its intrinsic activity. Similar effects were observed in cell lines and with other receptor classes, suggesting a more general modulation of GPCR (Kim et al. 2010).

4.2 Physical Association of Sigma₁ and Opioid Receptors

The modulation of opioid-induced ³⁵S-GTP γ S binding by sigma₁ antagonists implied a physical interaction between the two proteins. One advantage of having the cloned receptors is the ability to tag them with different epitopes, enabling their efficient immunoprecipitation. In this approach, the receptor complex is gently solubilized to prevent dissociation of proteins from the receptor complex. The complex is then immunoprecipitated with an antibody to one protein and the material is then examined by Western blot using an antibody against the second protein. When examined, we observed a direct interaction between the sigma₁ receptor and the mu opioid



Fig. 4 Effect of the sigma₁ antagonist BD1047 on DAMGO stimulation of ³⁵S-GTP γ S binding. Dose–response curves of DAMGO-induced stimulation of ³⁵S-GTP γ S binding alone (F, *solid line*) or combined with 10 nM BD1047 (E, *broken line*). The EC₅₀ of DPDPE alone is 209 and 12.3 nM in the presence of BD1047 (10 nM; *P* < 0.002, determined by two-way ANOVA). *B*max values, 189 and 176%, respectively, are not significantly different. Data from the literature (Kim et al. 2010)

receptor (Fig. 5) (Kim et al. 2010). Only membranes from cell containing both proteins showed evidence of physical association. Also, note that the co-immunoprecipitation also showed the lower molecular weight immature form of Flag-MOR-1, consistent with an association of the two receptors in the endoplasmic reticulum.

5 Conclusion

For many years, sigma₁ receptors have raised questions. Their cloning answered many of these and the recent crystallographic structure has given us major insights. However, many questions remain regarding their function. Evidence supports a major role as a chaperone in the endoplasmic reticulum, but their ability to modulate GPCR function suggests a broader range of actions as well. Sigma₁ ligands presumably modulate opioid actions by binding to the sigma₁ receptor which then modulates opioid function allosterically through protein–protein interactions. This allosteric modulation is not restricted to mu opioid receptors but extends to a number of different GPCRs. However, it is not a universal interaction, as shown by the variations in response in different brain regions, which is consistent with its distribution in the brain, which is not uniform (McCann et al. 1994). In addition, it varies among different pharmacological functions.



Fig. 5 Co-immunoprecipitation of epitope tagged mu opioid receptor MOR-1 and sigma₁ receptors. Co-immunoprecipitation experiments were performed using detergent-soluble cell membranes prepared from HEK293T Flag-MOR-1 and sigma₁-HA stably transfected cells. Immunoprecipitated samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE. All apparent molecular masses are represented in kilodaltons. *Left panel*: HA-Sigma₁ receptor was immunoprecipitated (IP) with agarose bead-coupled HA antibody and eluted and run on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. To detect Flag-MOR-1, the gel was immunoblotted (IB) with an anti-Flag antibody and a band seen only in lysates from cells coexpressing both Flag-MOR-1 and MOR-1-HA. The mature Flag-MOR-1 is seen at approximately 70 kDa and the immature form (i.e., non-glycosylated) at 45 kDa. Data from the literature (Kim et al. 2010)

Studies of sigma₁ receptors are reminiscent of the analogy of the blind men examining an elephant, with each grasping different places on the animal and coming away with very different descriptions of the animal. Sigma₁ receptors have a wide range of functions and they all should be explored. They function as chaperones, associate with various cellular systems (Monnet et al. 1996; Aydar et al. 2002; Hayashi and Su 2003, 2007; Martina et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2010), and are involved with a range of diseases, ranging from addiction to pain to psychiatric disorders (Maurice and Su 2009; Crottes et al. 2013; Rousseaux and Greene 2015). Integrating all its activities into a general understanding of sigma₁ function should be the ultimate goal of the field.

Acknowledgements The work described was supported, in part, by research grants (DA7242 and DA6241) from the National Institute on Drug Abuse and a Core Grant (CA08748) from the National Cancer Institute to MSKCC.

References

- Aydar E, Palmer CP, Klyachko VA, Jackson MB (2002) The sigma receptor as a ligand-regulated auxiliary potassium channel subunit. Neuron 34:399–410
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1993) Functional antagonism of morphine analgesia by (+)-pentazocine: evidence for an anti-opioid sigma 1 system. Eur J Pharmacol 250:R7–R8
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1994) Selective antagonism of opioid analgesia by a sigma system. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 271:1583–1590
- Chien C-C, Pasternak GW (1995a) (–)-Pentazocine analgesia in mice: interactions with a σ receptor system. Eur J Pharmacol 294:303–308
- Chien CC, Pasternak GW (1995b) Sigma antagonists potentiate opioid analgesia in rats. Neurosci Lett 190:137–139
- Chien CC, Carroll FI, Brown GP, Pan YX, Bowen W, Pasternak GW (1997) Synthesis and characterization of [^{125}I]3'(–)-iodopentazocine, a selective σ_1 receptor ligand. Eur J Pharmacol 321:361–368
- Crottes D, Guizouarn H, Martin P, Borgese F, Soriani O (2013) The sigma-1 receptor: a regulator of cancer cell electrical plasticity? Front Physiol 4:175
- Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Knaus HG, Striessnig J, Kempner E, Glossmann H (1996) Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian sigma₁-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:8072–8077
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2003) Sigma-1 receptors (sigma(1) binding sites) form raft-like microdomains and target lipid droplets on the endoplasmic reticulum: roles in endoplasmic reticulum lipid compartmentalization and export. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 306:718–725
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion Interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. Cell 131:596–610
- Heyman JS, Williams CL, Burks TF, Mosberg HI, Porreca F (1988) Dissociation of opioid antinociception and central gastrointestinal propulsion in the mouse: studies with naloxonazine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 245:238–243
- Kekuda R, Prasad PD, Fei Y-J, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V, Fei YJ (1996) Cloning and functional expression of the human type 1 sigma receptor (hSigmaR1). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 229:553–558
- Kim FJ, Kovalyshyn I, Burgman M, Neilan C, Chien CC, Pasternak GW (2010) Sigma 1 receptor modulation of G-protein-coupled receptor signaling: potentiation of opioid transduction independent from receptor binding. Mol Pharmacol 77:695–703

- King MA, Pan Y-X, Mei J, Chang A, Xu J, Pasternak GW (1997) Enhanced kappa opioid analgesia by antisense targeting the σ1 receptor. Eur J Pharmacol 331:R5–R6
- King MA, Bradshaw S, Chang AH, Pintar JE, Pasternak GW (2001) Potentiation of opioid analgesia in dopamine₂ receptor knockout mice: evidence for a tonically active anti-opioid system. J Neurosci 21:7788–7792
- Lu Z, Xu J, Rossi GC, Majumdar S, Pasternak GW, Pan YX (2015) Mediation of opioid analgesia by a truncated 6-transmembrane GPCR. J Clin Invest 125:2626–2630
- Majumdar S, Grinnell S, Le Rouzic V, Burgman M, Polikar L, Ansonoff M, Pintar J, Pan YX, Pasternak GW (2011) Truncated G protein-coupled mu opioid receptor MOR-1 splice variants are targets for highly potent opioid analgesics lacking side effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:19776–19783
- Marek P, Mogil JS, Belknap JK, Sadowski B, Liebeskind JC (1993) Levorphanol and swim stressinduced analgesia in selectively bred mice: evidence for genetic commonalities. Brain Res 608:353–357
- Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson JA, Huppler RE, Gilbert PE (1976) The effects of morphineand nalorphine-like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 197:517–532
- Martina M, Turcotte ME, Halman S, Bergeron R (2007) The sigma-1 receptor modulates NMDA receptor synaptic transmission and plasticity via SK channels in rat hippocampus. J Physiol 578:143–157
- Maurice T, Su TP (2009) The pharmacology of sigma-1 receptors. Pharmacol Ther 124:195-206
- McCann DJ, Weissman AD, Su T-P (1994) sigma-1 and sigma-2 sites in rat brain: comparison of regional, ontogenetic, and subcellular patterns. Synapse 17:182–189
- Mei J, Pasternak GW (2001) Molecular cloning and pharmacological characterization of the rat sigma₁ receptor. Biochem Pharmacol 62:349–355
- Mei J, Pasternak GW (2002) Sigma1 receptor modulation of opioid analgesia in the mouse. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 300:1070–1074
- Mei J, Pasternak GW (2007) Modulation of brainstem opiate analgesia in the rat by sigma 1 receptors: a microinjection study. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 322:1278–1285
- Mogil JS, Marek P, Flodman P, Spence MA, Sternberg WF, Kest B, Sadowski B, Liebeskind JC (1995) One or two genetic loci mediate high opiate analgesia in selectively bred mice. Pain 60:125–135
- Monnet FP, De Costa BR, Bowen WD (1996) Differentiation of sigma ligand-activated receptor subtypes that modulate NMDA-evoked [3H]-noradrenaline release in rat hippocampal slices. Br J Pharmacol 119:65–72
- Moskowitz AS, Terman GW, Carter KR, Morgan MJ, Liebeskind JC (1985) Analgesic, locomotor and lethal effects of morphine in the mouse: strain comparisons. Brain Res 361:46–51
- Pan YX, Mei J, Xu J, Wan BL, Zuckerman A, Pasternak GW (1998) Cloning and characterization of a mouse sigmal receptor. J Neurochem 70:2279–2285
- Pan Y-X, Xu J, Mahurter L, Bolan EA, Xu MM, Pasternak GW (2001) Generation of the mu opioid receptor (MOR-1) protein by three new splice variants of the *Oprm* gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:14084–14089
- Pan L, Pasternak DA, Xu J, Xu M-M, Pasternak GW, Pan Y-X (2017) Isolation and characterization of alternatively spliced variants of the mouse sigmal receptor gene, Sigmar1. PLoS Biol 12(3):e0174694
- Pasternak GW (1994) Anti-opioid activity of sigma1 systems. Regul Pept 54:219-220
- Pasternak GW (2007) Sigma1 receptors and the modulation of opioid analgesia. In: Matsumoto RR, Bowen WD, Su T-P (eds) Sigma receptors: chemistry, cell biology and clinical implications. Springer, New York, NY, pp 337–350
- Paul D, Pasternak GW (1988) Differential blockade by naloxonazine of two μ opiate actions: analgesia and inhibition of gastrointestinal transit. Eur J Pharmacol 149:403–404
- Payne R, Pasternak GW (1992) Pain. In: Johnston MV, Macdonald RL, Young AB (eds) Principles of drug therapy in neurology. F.A. Davis, Philadelphia, PA, pp 268–301

- Payne R, Pasternak GW (1998) Pain. In: Coyles SJEJT (ed) Pharmacological management of neurological and psychiatric disorders. McGraw-Hill, New York, NY, pp 429–457
- Pert A, Yaksh TL (1974) Sites of morphine induced analgesia in primate brain: relation to pain pathways. Brain Res 80:135–140
- Pick CG, Cheng J, Paul D, Pasternak GW (1991) Genetic influences in opioid analgesic sensitivity in mice. Brain Res 566:295–298
- Rossi GC, Pasternak GW, Bodnar RJ (1994) μ and δ opioid synergy between the periaqueductal gray and the rostro-ventral medulla. Brain Res 665:85–93
- Rousseaux CG, Greene SF (2015) Sigma receptors [sigmaRs]: biology in normal and diseased states. J Recept Signal Transduct Res:1–62
- Schmidt HR, Zheng S, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human σ1 receptor. Nature 532(7600):527–530
- Seth P, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1997) Cloning and structural analysis of the cDNA and the gene encoding the murine type 1 sigma receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 241:535–540
- Seth P, Fei YJ, Li HW, Huang W, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1998) Cloning and functional characterization of a σ receptor from rat brain. J Neurochem 70:922–931
- Su TP, Hayashi T (2003) Understanding the molecular mechanism of sigma-1 receptors: towards a hypothesis that sigma-1 receptors are intracellular amplifiers for signal transduction. Curr Med Chem 10:2073–2080
A Role for Sigma Receptors in Stimulant Self-Administration and Addiction

Jonathan L. Katz, Takato Hiranita, Weimin C. Hong, Martin O. Job, and Christopher R. McCurdy

Contents

1	Introduction	178
2	Drug Discrimination	180
3	Place Conditioning	185
4	Drug Self-Administration	196
5	Working Hypotheses for Mechanisms Underlying or R: Dopamine Transporter Interactions	211
Re	ferences	212

Abstract

Sigma receptors (σRs) are structurally unique proteins that function intracellularly as chaperones. Historically, σRs have been implicated as modulators of psychomotor stimulant effects and have at times been proposed as potential avenues for modifying stimulant abuse. However, the influence of ligands for σRs on the effects of stimulants, such as cocaine or methamphetamine, in various preclinical procedures related to drug abuse has been varied. The present paper reviews the effects of σR agonists and antagonists in three particularly relevant procedures: stimulant discrimination, place conditioning, and selfadministration. The literature to date suggests limited σR involvement in the discriminative-stimulus effects of psychomotor stimulants, either with σR

W.C. Hong

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Butler University, Indianapolis, IN 46208, USA

C.R. McCurdy

© Springer International Publishing AG 2016

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_94

J.L. Katz (🖂) • T. Hiranita • M.O. Job

Psychobiology Section, Intramural Research Program, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health, Department of Health and Human Services, Baltimore, MD 21224, USA e-mail: jkatz@intra.nida.nih.gov

Department of BioMolecular Sciences, School of Pharmacy, University of Mississippi, Oxford, MS 38677, USA

agonists substituting for the stimulant or with σR antagonists blocking stimulant effects. In contrast, studies of place conditioning suggest that administration of σR antagonists or down-regulation of σR protein can block the place conditioning induced by stimulants. Despite place conditioning results, selective σR antagonists are inactive in blocking the self-administration of stimulants. However, compounds binding to the dopamine transporter and blocking σRs can selectively decrease stimulant self-administration. Further, after selfadministration of stimulants, σR agonists are self-administered, an effect not seen in subjects without that specific history. These findings suggest that stimulants induce unique changes in σR activity, and once established, the changes induced create redundant, and dopamine independent reinforcement pathways. Concomitant targeting of both dopaminergic pathways and σR proteins produces a selective antagonism of those pathways, suggesting new avenues for combination chemotherapies to specifically combat stimulant abuse.

Keywords

Chaperone protein • Cocaine • Drug abuse • Methamphetamine • Reinforcing effects • Self-administration • Sigma receptor (σR)

1 Introduction

Due to its initial association with opioid receptors (Martin et al. 1976), a focus of much of the behavioral research on compounds thought to act on σ Rs has been related to drug abuse. Some of the first compelling findings that σ Rs may be involved in psychomotor stimulant effects came from studies with the σ R antagonists,¹ rimcazole and BMY 14802, that demonstrated blockade of cocaine-induced locomotor stimulation (e.g., Menkel et al. 1991), as well as σ R ligand modulation of dopaminergic function (see review by Werling et al. 2007). Further studies showed that locomotor responses enhanced by repeated cocaine or meth-amphetamine administration were also blocked by σ R antagonists (Ujike et al. 1992a, b; Witkin et al. 1993). Still other studies found that convulsive effects and lethality induced by cocaine are blocked by σ R antagonists (e.g., Mésangeau et al. 2008), and that σ_1 R antisense injected via indwelling cannulas to the lateral

¹The designation of σR ligands as agonists or antagonists stems from initial conceptions of these proteins as G-protein coupled receptors. As the understanding of these proteins has evolved and it has become clear that they function as intracellular chaperones, there remain observations that ligands for these proteins have different effects and some can block the actions of others (Hayashi and Su 2007; Katz et al. 2016). Most of the designations of these ligands as agonists or antagonists are less than definitive and accrue from in vivo observations that might not meet the strictest pharmacological standards. Absent more definitive results we will designate compounds as agonists or antagonists according to common usage within the scientific community. Complicating the picture are studies indicating subtypes of σRs . Where necessary in discussions herein we use designations of σR subtype selectivity based on radioligand binding results which are shown in Table 1.

	$\sigma_1 K_i$ value	$\sigma_2 K_i$ value ^a	$\sigma_1 K_i$ value/	
Compound	(95% CLs)	(95% CLs)	$\sigma_2 K_i$ value	Original report
AC 927	53.1 (45.6–61.8)	78.9 (48.2–129)	0.673	Hiranita et al. (2011a)
Allopregnanolone	3,090 (2,140–4,450)	6,390 (4,320–9,450)	0.484	Previously unpublished
AZ-66	4.70 (4.06–5.45)	1.35 (0.911–2.00)	3.48	Katz et al. (2016)
BD1008	2.13 (1.77–2.56)	16.6 (13.0–21.1)	0.128	Garcés-Ramírez et al.(2011)
BD1047	3.13 (2.68–3.65)	47.5 (36.7–61.4)	0.066	Garcés-Ramírez et al. (2011)
BD1063	8.81 (7.15–10.9)	625 (447–877)	0.014	Garcés-Ramírez et al. (2011)
CM 156	2.02 (1.80–2.25)	0.677 (0.459–1.00)	2.98	Previously unpublished
CM 304	0.684 (0.552–0.847)	388 (215–702)	0.002	Katz et al. (2016)
CM 353	1,120 (905–1,380)	4.48 (2.66–7.55)	250	Katz et al. (2016)
CM 398	1,490 (1,200–1,860)	4.50 (2.78–7.27)	331	Katz et al. (2016)
DTG	57.4 (49.3–66.7)	21.9 ^b (14.8–32.4)	2.62	Garcés-Ramírez et al. (2011)
DUP 734	1.25 (1.13–1.38)	45.6 (38.4–54.2)	0.027	Previously unpublished
Fluvoxamine	26.1 (22.7–29.9)	244 (51.1–1,170)	0.107	Previously unpublished
Haloperidol	2.91 (2.69–3.14)	19.6 (15.6–24.6)	0.148	Northcutt et al. (2015)
NE-100	2.48 (2.13–2.88)	121 (91.9–159)	0.020	Hiranita et al. (2011a)
(+)-Pentazocine	4.59 ^b (4.26–4.97)	224 (195–257)	0.020	Hiranita et al. (2013b)
PRE-084	53.2 (44.8–63.2)	32,100 (23,100–44,700)	0.002	Garcés-Ramírez et al. (2011)
Progesterone	638 (547–744)	2,760 (898–8,460)	0.231	Previously unpublished
Rimcazole	883 (661–1,180)	238 (171–329)	3.71	Hiranita et al. (2011a)
SH 3-24	22.9 (18.5–28.2)	20.0 (15.7–25.6)	1.15	Hiranita et al. (2011a)
SH 3-28	19.0 (15.3–23.6)	47.2 (40.4–55.2)	0.403	Hiranita et al. (2011a)
(+)-SKF 10,047	58.7 (49.0–70.4)	1,470 (236–9,410)	0.040	Previously unpublished

Table 1 Affinities of various compounds in specifically binding to σ_1 , or σ_2 receptors, as well as subtype selectivity

Compound	$\sigma_1 K_i$ value (95% CLs)	$\sigma_2 K_i \text{ value}^a$ (95% CLs)	$\sigma_1 K_i$ value/ $\sigma_2 K_i$ value	Original report
(±)-SM-21	2,760 (1,700–4,470)	263 (166–409)	10.5	Katz et al. (2016)
SN 79	78.6 (65.2–94.7)	11.3 (7.91–16.3)	6.96	Katz et al. (2016)
SN 167	392 (317–485)	16.1 (10.4–24.9)	24.3	Katz et al. (2016)

Table 1 (continued)

The values listed are K_i values with 95% confidence limits (CLs) in parentheses, with exceptions as noted

^aThe values reported for all compounds were determined using identical assay conditions. For the [³H]DTG assay [in the presence of (+)-pentazocine], the data often modeled better for two than one binding site, and the K_i values for the higher affinity site are displayed in the table, as that site is the site recognized as the $\sigma_2 R$. The low affinity site is currently not identified. Obtained values for the low affinity DTG site and their 95% CLs in nM were as follows: BD1008: 20,500 (9,640–43,500); BD1047: 55,300 (25,000–122,000); BD1063: 53,700 (16,500–174,000); DTG 3,520 (257–4,820); rimcazole: 25,900 (3,620–185,000); SH 3-24:12,700 (1,300–124,000); AC927: 55,200 (6,860–444,000); CM 304: 12,800 (87.7–1,860,000); (±)-SM 21: 30,800 (4,730–200,000): SN 79: 9,130 (2,860–29,100); SN 167: 373,000 (89,500–1,560,000); CM 398: 180,000 (2,230–14,500,000)

^bThe value for affinity of (+)-pentazocine at σ_1 , and DTG at σ_2 receptors are K_d values obtained from homologous competition studies

ventricles attenuated the convulsive and locomotor stimulant effects of cocaine, whereas a mismatch sequence was relatively less active (Liu et al. 2007b).

Although the blunting of stimulant-induced locomotor stimulation or acute toxicity has been well documented (see review by Matsumoto et al. 2014), interactions with other behavioral effects closely related to stimulant abuse liability have been explored less thoroughly. The present chapter will review the literature on effects of compounds acting at σ Rs with regard to various behavioral effects related to the abuse liability of stimulants or the antagonism of effects of stimulants. Close attention will be paid to three behavioral effects: discriminative-stimulus effects of drugs, place conditioning, and drug self-administration. Each of these effects is more closely related to the abuse of drugs per se, than are locomotor stimulation, either sensitized or acute, and the toxicity found at high doses of stimulants. Both σ R agonist and antagonist effects will be reviewed as appropriate, and with some exceptions, the focus will be on compounds presently thought to be selective for σ Rs (Table 1).

2 Drug Discrimination

In these procedures, subjects are placed in a chamber typically with two levers on which the subjects are trained to press with food reinforcement. At the completion of training, responses on only one of the levers intermittently produces reinforcement during sessions preceded by drug injection and responses on the other produce reinforcement only after vehicle injections. These training sessions are conducted to establish the stimuli arising from drug injection as discriminative for allocation of responses to one of the two levers.² Once trained, the subjects can be tested with various doses of the training drug, or doses of other compounds with the degree of responding on the drug-appropriate lever thought to be an indication of shared interoceptive effects and mechanism with the training drug. Additionally, putative antagonists can be tested to determine whether they shift responding on the drug-appropriate lever. A shift down or rightward of the training drug dose-effect curve by a putative antagonist is evidence of physiologic or competitive antagonism by the test compound. Although drug-discrimination studies do not bear directly on the abuse liability of the involved drugs, it has substantial pharmacological specificity, and can be used effectively for various purposes, not the least of which is pharmacological characterization of unknowns (e.g., Holtzman 1985; Schuster and Johanson 1988).

Several studies have assessed the ability of σR ligands to substitute for the discriminative-stimulus effects of psychomotor stimulants (Table 2). For example, Cohen and Sanger (1994) reported a lack of cocaine-like discriminative-stimulus effects of σR ligands (DTG, haloperidol, rimcazole and BMY 14802) in rats, with later replications of those results with DTG and rimcazole (Katz et al. 2003; Ukai et al. 1997). Several other σR ligands (AC 927, SA4503, trishomocubanes) have failed to produce full cocaine-like discriminative-stimulus effects in rats (Liu et al. 2007a; Matsumoto et al. 2011; Rodvelt et al. 2011a). The lack of cocaine-like discriminative-stimulus effects of DTG was extended to the selective $\sigma_1 R$ agonist PRE-084 with various routes of administration (Hiranita et al. 2011b). Moreover, the lack of stimulant-like discriminative-stimulus effects of σR agonists, (+)pentazocine and SA4503, was substantiated when substituted in rats trained to 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine methamphetamine discriminate or (MDMA) (Mori et al. 2014b; Rodvelt et al. 2011b). Results with σR antagonist pretreatments further support a lack of involvement of σR systems in the discriminative-stimulus effects of stimulants. For example, several σR antagonists (rimcazole, AC 927, NE 100) failed to block the discriminative-stimulus effects of cocaine (Cohen and Sanger 1994; Katz et al. 2003; Matsumoto et al. 2011) or MDMA (Mori et al. 2014b) in rats (Table 2).

The substitution for non-competitive *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonists, including phencyclidine (PCP), ketamine, or dextromethorphan by σR agonists has also been examined. In two studies (+)-pentazocine has consistently lacked PCP- or dextromethorphan-like discriminative-stimulus effects in rats (Holtzman 1994; Mori et al. 2001). Results with DTG have been mixed. Holtzman (1989) reported full substitution for PCP (at a 2.0 mg/kg training dose) in rats with others reporting no substitution (at a 1.25 mg/kg PCP training dose; Willetts and

²Full explanations and in-depth analyses of conditioning processes involved in the various behavioral procedures described in this chapter may be found in Catania (2013).

Authors		Training drug		
(Publication	Subject	(dose in mg/kg,	Test drug (dose in	Outcomes (doses in
year)	species	route)	mg/kg, route)	mg/kg)
Cocaine				
Cohen and Sanger (1994)	Rat	Cocaine (6, i.p)	DTG (5), haloperidol (0.25), rimcazole (10), BMY 14802 (10)	No effects on cocaine DS: DTG Partial attenuation of cocaine DS: haloperidol Enhancement of cocaine DS: rimcazole, BMY 14802
Ukai et al. (1997)	Rat	Cocaine (10, i.p.)	DTG (1 or 10, s.c.)	No substitution Enhancement of cocaine DEC: DTG (10)
Katz et al. (2003)	Rat	Cocaine (10, i.p.)	Substitution (i.p.): rimcazole (3–30), SH 3-24 (0.3–17), SH 3-28 (3–17), GBR 12909 (3–100) Pretreatment (i.p.) against cocaine DEC (1–10, i.p.): rimcazole (5.6 and 10), SH 3-24 (5.6 and 10), SH 3-28 (5.6–17), GBR 12909 (10 and 17)	Full substitution: GBR 12909 No substitution: rimcazole, SH 3-24, SH 3-28 Dose-dependent enhancement of cocaine DEC: rimcazole, GBR 12909 No effects on cocaine DEC: SH 3-24, SH 3-28
Liu et al. (2007a)	Rat	Cocaine (10, i.p.)	Trishomocubanes, TC1 (10–100) and TC4 (3–30)	Partial substitution: TC1 (≤30% @ 56), TC4 (≤20% @ 3, 10 and 30)
Hiranita et al. (2011b)	Rat	Cocaine (10, i.p.)	PRE-084 (1–56, i.p.), DTG (0.1–17, i.p.), PRE-084 (1–32, s.c.), DTG (0.32–10, s.c.), PRE-084 (0.032–5.6, i.v.), DTG (0.32–5.6, i.v.), WIN 35,428 (0.1–3.2, i.p.), methylphenidate (0.32–3.2, i.p.)	Full substitution: WIN 35,428, methylphenidate No substitution: PRE-084 (i.p., s.c. or i.v.), DTG (i.p., s.c. or i.v.)
Matsumoto et al. (2011)	Rat	Cocaine (10, i.p.)	AC 927 substitution (1–10, i.p.) or pretreatment (3 and 5.6, i.p.)	Partial substitution: (≤40% @ 10) Dose-dependent enhancement of cocaine DEC

Table 2 Discriminative-stimulus effects of σR agonists (substitution for abused drugs and pretreatment)

	1			
Authors (Publication	Subject	Training drug (dose in mg/kg.	Test drug (dose in	Outcomes (doses in
year)	species	route)	mg/kg, route)	mg/kg)
Rodvelt et al.	Rat	Cocaine (5, i.p.)	SA4503 (0.3–30, i.p.)	Partial substitution at 3.0
(2011a)			SA4503 (1, i.p.)	No effect on cocaine or <i>d</i> -amphetamine DEC
			SA4503 (0.3 and 1, i.p.)	Dose-dependent enhancement of <i>dl</i> - methamphetamine DEC
Methylphenida	ite			
Mori et al.	Rat	Methylphenidate	Substitution:	Full substitution:
(2014b)		(5.0, i.p.)	methamphetamine (0.125–1, s.c.), MDMA (0.625–2.5, s.c.), apomorphine (0.1–1, s.c.) Pretreatment against methylphenidate (0.625–5.0, s.c.) DEC:	methamphetamine, No substitution: MDMA Partial substitution: apomorphine No effects on methylphenidate DEC: NE 100
			NE 100 (3, i.p.)	
d-Methamphet	amine			
Witkin et al. (1993)	Rat	<i>d</i> - Methamphetamine (1, i.p.)	NPC 16377 (10 and 17, i.p.)	No substitution
Rodvelt et al. (2011b)	Rat	<i>dl</i> - Methamphetamine (0.5, s.c.)	SA4503 (0.3, 1, 3, i.p.)	Partial substitution No effect on cocaine or <i>d</i> - amphetamine DECs Upward shift in <i>dl</i> - methamphetamine DEC
MDMA				
Mori et al. (2014b)	Rat	MDMA (2.5, s.c.)	Substitution: (+)- pentazocine (0.3–10, i.p.), methamphetamine (0.25–2.0, s.c.), methylphenidate (1.25–5, i.p.) Pretreatment against MDMA (0.625–2.5, s.c.) DS: NE 100 (3, i.p.)	No substitution: methylphenidate, (+)-pentazocine, methamphetamine No effect on MDMA DS: NE 100
PCP				
Willetts and Balster (1988)	Rat	PCP (1.25, i.p.)	DTG (2–12, i.p.)	No substitution

Table 2	(continued)
---------	-------------

	1			
Authors		Training drug		
(Publication	Subject	(dose in mg/kg,	Test drug (dose in	Outcomes (doses in
year)	species	route)	mg/kg, route)	mg/kg)
Holtzman (1989)	Rat	PCP (2.0, i.p.)	DTG (0.25–4.0, s.c.)	Full substitution
Witkin et al. (1993)	Rat	PCP (1.5, i.p.) or (+)-MK 801 (0.2, i.p.)	NPC 16377 (1–17, i.p.)	No substitution
Mori et al. (2001)	Rat	PCP (1.5, i.p.)	Substitution (i.p.): (+)-pentazocine (10 and 30), cocaine (5.6–17), (+)-SKF-10,047 (0.3–10), (+)-MK 801 (0.01–0.2) Pretreatment (i.p.) against DS (i.p.) of PCP (1.5), (+)-MK 801 (0.2) and (+)-SKF-10047 (10): NE-100 (5), BMY-14802 {5 [PCP, (+)-MK 801 and (+)-SKF-10047] or 10 [only PCP]}	Full substitution: (+)-SKF-10,047, (+)-MK 801 No substitution: (+)-pentazocine Partial substitution: cocaine (≤30%) No effects on DS of PCP, (+)-MK 801 or (+)-SKF- 10047: NE-100, BMY-14802
Ketamine				
Narita et al. (2001a)	Rat	Ketamine (5, i.p.)	Pretreatment against ketamine DEC (1.25–5, i.p.): NE 100 (1, i.p.) Pretreatment against ketamine DS (5, i.p.): NE 100 (0.3–3, i.p.)	Small rightward shift in ketamine DEC No effects of NE 100 on ketamine DS
Narita et al. (2001b)	Rat	Ketamine (5, i.p.)	DTG (0.3–3, s.c.), ketamine (1.25–5, i.p.), PCP (0.1–1, i.p.), (+)- MK 801 (0.003–0.030, i.p.)	Full substitution: PCP, (+)-MK 801 Partial substitution: DTG
Dextromethor	phan			
Holtzman (1994)	Rat	Dextromethorphan (30, s.c.)	Substitution (i.p. or s.c.): DTG (0.3–10), (+)-pentazocine (0.3–10), (+)-SKF- 10,047 (0.3–3), PCP (0.1–1), (+)-MK 801 (0.003–0.03), morphine (0.1–3.0) Pretreatment (i.p. or s.c.) against dextromethorphan DS (30, s.c.): DTG (0.3–10), (+)- pentazocine (0.3–10)	Full substitution: (+)-SKF-10,047, PCP, (+)-MK 801 No substitution: DTG, (+)- pentazocine, morphine No effects on dextromethorphan DS: DTG, (+)- pentazocine

Table 2 (continued)

DEC dose-effect curve, DS discriminative stimulus

Balster 1988), partial substitution for ketamine (Narita et al. 2001b), and a failure to substitute for dextromethorphan (Holtzman 1994).

Several papers have reported training discriminative-stimulus effects of σR ligands (Table 3). Steinfels et al. (1988) trained the discrimination of (+)-pentazocine in rats and found complete substitution with (+)-SKF-10,047. Additionally, PCP only partially substituted for (+)-pentazocine. In contrast, (+)-pentazocine and DTG failed to substitute for (+)-SKF-10,047 in squirrel monkeys, or dextromethorphan in rats (Balster 1989; Holtzman 1993, 1994; Singh et al. 1990). Holtzman (1989) reported discriminative-stimulus effects of DTG in rats, that was accompanied by full substitution with (+)-pentazocine, (+)-SKF-10,047, PCP or morphine. However, the mixed $\sigma R/dopamine$ receptor antagonist haloperidol was without effects on the discriminative-stimulus effects of DTG, suggesting that those effects of DTG were not pharmacologically specific to the σR system.

In summary, the drug-discrimination literature indicates that the interoceptive stimulus effects of psychomotor stimulants, and likely the mechanisms for those effects, do not primarily involve the σR system as evidenced by a lack of substitution by agonists and by the lack of blockade by σR antagonists. Further, the pharmacology of compounds acting at σRs is distinct from that of compounds acting at NMDA glutamate or dopamine receptors.

3 Place Conditioning

During experimental sessions using these procedures, subjects (typically rodents) are placed in a chamber most often with two compartments.³ The two compartments in which the place conditioning occurs have different features such as flooring (grids or mesh), wall decorations (solid or stripes), or types of bedding. During "pre-conditioning" sessions, subjects are initially allowed to ambulate throughout the different compartments, and their allocation of time in each is recorded as baseline. During subsequent "conditioning sessions" the compound under study is injected and the subject is restricted to one compartment. Vehicle injections typically precede daily conditioning sessions in which the subject is confined to the alternate compartment. These sessions are conducted to affect a Pavlovian (classical) conditioning of the distinctive stimuli of the compartment with the drug effect. During a subsequent drug-free post-conditioning test, the subject is given access to both compartments as in pre-conditioning sessions, and time allocation in each is again recorded. An increase compared to preconditioning in time allocated to the drug-paired compartment is considered an indication of an effective place conditioning, with the distinctive features of the drug-paired compartment as the conditional stimuli and the drug effect as the unconditional

³In some instances, there is a third, middle, compartment in which subjects are placed at the start of sessions. Time spent in this starting compartment is not typically considered, as the critical variable is time spent in the drug-paired compartment.

	1		1	
Authors (Publication	Subject	Training drug (dose in mg/kg,	Test drug (dose in	Outcomes (dose in
year)	species	Toute)	mg/kg, toute)	mg/kg)
(+)-Pentazocii	ne		a i i i i i	
Steinfels et al. (1988)	Rat	(+)-Pentazocine (2.0, s.c.)	Substitution (s.c.): (+)-pentazocine (0.02–2.0), (+)-SKF- 10,047 (0.04–1.0), PCP (0.04–1.0)	Full substitution: (+)-pentazocine, (+)-SKF-10,047 Partial substitution: PCP (\leq 50% @ 2.0)
DTG				
Holtzman (1989)	Rat	DTG (3.0, s.c.)	Substitution: DTG (0.25–4, s.c.), haloperidol (0.01–0.3, s.c.), (+)-pentazocine (0.3–30, s.c.), <i>d</i> - amphetamine (0.1–3.0, s.c.), (+)-SKF-10,047 (0.03–1, s.c.), PCP (0.1–3.0, i.p.), TCP (0.03–0.56, s.c.), morphine (0.1–10, s.c.), pentobarbital (1.0–17.5, s.c.) Pretreatment against DTG DS (3, s.c.): haloperidol (0.01–0.3, s.c.)	Full substitution (ED ₅₀ , 95%CL): DTG (0.48, 0.42–0.54), (+)-pentazocine (6.0, 5.5–6.5), (+)-SKF- 10,047 (0.15, 0.12–0.18), PCP (0.35, 0.31–0.39), morphine (0.83, 0.72–0.94) No substitution: haloperidol, <i>d</i> - amphetamine, pentobarbital Partial substitution: TCP (\leq 80%) No effect on DTG DS (3 mg/kg): heloageidol
(+)-SKF-10.04	17			naloperidor
Balster	Rat	(+)-SKF-10.047	Substitution (in) and	No substitution and
(1989)	Kät	(10, i.p.)	pretreatment (i.p.) and pretreatment (i.p.) against (+)-SKF- 10,047 DS (10, i.p.): haloperidol (0.006–0.4)	no effects on (+)- SKF-10,047 DS: haloperidol
		(+)-SKF-10,047 (5, i.p.)	Substitution (i.p.): DTG (0.5–8), (+)-SKF-10,047 (1.7–30), PCP (0.1–10), ketamine (1–30), Pretreatment (i.p.) with (+)-SKF-10,047 (5, i.p.): DTG (0.5–8)	Full substitution [ED ₅₀ , 95%CL (µmol/kg)]: (+)-SKF- 10,047 [11.1 (8.7–14.1)], PCP [1.9 (1.4–2.5)], ketamine [12.2 (9.1–16.5)], No substitution: DTG No effects on (+)-SKF-10,047 DS: DTG,

Table 3 Discriminative-stimulus effects of σR agonists and antagonists

Authors		Training drug		
(Publication	Subject	(dose in mg/kg,	Test drug (dose in	Outcomes (dose in
year)	species	route)	mg/kg, route)	mg/kg)
Singh et al. (1990)	Rat	(+)-SKF-10,047 (3.0, s.c.)	Substitution (s.c. unless noted): DTG (3–30), <i>d</i> - amphetamine (0.25–1.0), <i>R</i> (–)- apomorphine (0.075–0.5), (+)- SKF-10,047 (0.8–3.0), PCP (0.25–2.0), (+)-MK- 801 (0.075–0.5, i.p.) Pretreatment (s.c.) against (+)-SKF- 10,047 DS (3.0, s.c.): DTG (3–30), haloperidol (0.025–0.4), BMY-14802 (1–30)	Full substitution: (+)-SKF-10,047, PCP, (+)-MK-801 No substitution: DTG, <i>d</i> - amphetamine, <i>R</i> (–)- apomorphine No effects on (+)- SKF-10,047 DS: DTG, haloperidol, BMY-14802
Holtzman (1993)	Squirrel monkey	(+)-SKF-10,047 (1.0, i.m.)	Substitution (i.m.): (+)-pentazocine (1.0–4.0), DTG (1.0–8.0), haloperidol (0.008–0.064), BMY 14802 (0.25–4.0), (+)-SKF-10,047 (0.25–2.0), TCP (0.008–0.032), PCP (0.032–0.205), (+)- MK-801 (0.0005–0.004), morphine (0.25–4.0) Pretreatment (i.m.) against (+)-SKF- 10,047 (1.0, i.m.) DS: haloperidol (0.008–0.064), BMY 14802 (0.64–4.0) Pretreatment (i.m.) against PCP DS (0.25, i.m.): haloperidol (0.008–0.064), BMY 14802 (0.25–2.0)	Full substitution (ED ₅₀ , 95%CL): (+)- SKF-10,047 (0.50, 0.40–0.62), TCP (0.016, 0.010–0.028), PCP (0.089, 0.072–0.110) No substitution: (+)- pentazocine, DTG, haloperidol, BMY 14802, morphine Partial substitution: (+)-MK-801 (\leq 72%) Partial attenuation of (+)-SKF-10,047 DS: haloperidol, BMY 14802 No effects on PCP DS: haloperidol, BMY 14802

Table 3 (continued)

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	, ,			
Authors (Publication	Subject	Training drug (dose in mg/kg,	Test drug (dose in	Outcomes (dose in
year)	species	route)	mg/kg, route)	mg/kg)
Pregnanolone				
Engel et al. (2001)	Rat	Pregnanolone (5, i.p.)	All i.p.: (+)-SKF- 10,047 (5–20), morphine (1–9), pregnanolone (1–10), pentobarbital (1–10), midazolam (0.1–5), ethanol (500–2,000), (+)-MK 801 (0.05–0.2)	Full substitution (ED50, 95%CL): (+)-SKF-10,047 (9.7, 6.0–15.6), pentobarbital (2.9, 2.2–3.8), pregnanolone (1.7, 1.3–2.2), midazolam (0.5, 0.2–1.2), ethanol (900, 700–1,100), Partial substitution: morphine, (+)-MK 801
Dextromethorp	ohan			
Holtzman (1994)	Rat	Dextromethorphan (30, s.c.)	Substitution (i.p. or s.c.): DTG (0.3–10), (+)-pentazocine (0.3–10), (+)-SKF- 10,047 (0.3–3), PCP (0.1–1), (+)-MK 801 (0.003–0.03), morphine (0.1–3.0) Pretreatment (i.p. or s.c.) against dextromethorphan DS (30, s.c.): DTG (0.3–10), (+)- pentazocine (0.3–10)	Full substitution (ED50, 95%CL): (+)-SKF-10,047 (2.05, 1.50–2.81), PCP (0.34, 0.17–0.68), (+)-MK 801 (0.013, 0.007–0.024) No substitution: DTG, (+)- pentazocine, morphine No effects on dextromethorphan DS: DTG, (+)- pentazocine
BMY 14802	1	1	1	1
Vanecek et al. (1998)	Pigeon	BMY 14802 (5.6, i.m.)	Substitution (i.m.): DTG (1.0–18), haloperidol (0.032–3.2), rimcazole (1.8–100), BMY-14802 (0.32–32), (+)-SKF- 10,047 (0.1–18), PCP (0.1–10) Pretreatment (i.m.) against BMY-14802 DEC (0.32–10, i.p.): DTG (5.6)	Full substitution (ED50, 95%CL): BMY-14802 (1.5, 1.0–2.1) No substitution: DTG, haloperidol, rimcazole, (+)-SKF- 10,047, PCP, No effects on BMY 14802 DEC: DTG

Table 3 (continued)

TCP N-[1-(2-thienyl)cyclohexyl]-piperidine, *95%CL* 95% confidence limit. *DS* discriminative stimulus, *ED50* dose that produces a 50% effect or an effect in 50% of the population

stimulus. Allocation of greater time in post- compared to pre-conditioning may be considered a result of conditioned reinforcing effects of the conditional stimulus which results in the increase in time allocation. Those increases in time allocation are thought to provide an indication of the reinforcing effects and potential for abuse of the tested compound. Alternatively, a decrease in time allocated to the drug-paired compartment is also considered an indication of an effective place conditioning, but rather a noxious effect of the conditional stimuli due to an unconditional noxious effect of the drug. Assessments of the literature utilizing this procedure have indicated that it has reasonable predictive validity for drugs of abuse, though it has its share of false positives and negatives (e.g., Bardo and Bevins 2000; Carr et al. 1989).

Several studies have examined place conditioning with σR ligands (Table 4). Most of these experiments were conducted as controls for studies of the potential antagonism by the σR ligands of the place conditioning produced by drugs of abuse. Consequently, the dose ranges examined are often more restricted than those desirable for a full assessment of the effects of the σR ligands. Nonetheless, none of the studies conducted to date have demonstrated place conditioning with any of the σR ligands, agonists or antagonists, when administered alone in naïve rodents (Table 4). However, it appears that cocaine exposure can render σR agonists active in vivo. For example, a study using a reinstatement model reported that σR agonists, igmesine and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), alone reinstated extinguished place preference for cocaine (Romieu et al. 2004). This curious result is an augury of later findings using drug self-administration procedures (see below).

The extensive studies conducted by T. Maurice and colleagues were the first studies reporting antagonism of stimulant-induced place conditioning in mice (Romieu et al. 2000, 2002, 2003, 2004). In those studies (Table 5), the σ R ligands were administered in combination with cocaine, either 10 or 20 mg/kg, before conditioning sessions. As reported, the σ R antagonists, NE 100, BD1047, and progesterone blocked acquisition of cocaine-induced place conditioning. Additionally, the same compounds blocked the "expression" of place conditioning when administered only during the post-conditioning test session. Finally, knock-down of σ_1 Rs with centrally administered σ_1 R antisense oligodeoxynucleotide inhibited the development of cocaine-induced place conditioning with controls exhibited place conditioning (Romieu et al. 2000). Several subsequent studies replicated these effects on place conditioning with cocaine in mice using other σ R antagonists such as the σ_1 preferential, AC 927 (Matsumoto et al. 2011), and YZ-185 (Sage et al. 2013), or conditioning with methamphetamine (Rahmadi et al. 2013).

Interestingly, the σ antagonist, CM 156, was inactive when administered with cocaine in mice, i.e. it failed to block the place conditioning induced by cocaine (Xu et al. 2010). However, when administered alone during the post-conditioning test it blocked the "expression" of place conditioning (Table 6). In a follow-up study (Xu et al. 2012) the mouse brain tissues were collected immediately after the

Authors		Conditioning drug		
(Publication	Subject	(dose in mg/kg unless	Test drug	
year)	species	noted, route)	(dose, route)	Outcomes
Agonists				
Nam et al. (2012)	Mouse	Dextromethorphan (35, i.p.)	BD1047 (1 and 2, i.p.), SM 21 (5 and 10, i.p.)	Neither compound induced place conditioning or aversion
Romieu et al. (2003)	Mouse	DHEA (5, 10, and 20, s.c.), Igmesine (10 and 30 mg/kg, i.p.), Pregnenolone (10, and 20, s.c.)	None	DHEA, igmesine, or pregnenolone (agonists) did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Romieu et al. (2002)	Mouse	Igmesine (10, 30, and 60, i.p.) PRE-084 (10, 30, and 60, i.p.)	None	Igmesine or PRE-084 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Bhutada et al. (2012)	Mouse	PRE-084 (0.001–10 µg/ mouse, i.c.v.)	None	PRE-084 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Mori et al. (2014a)	Rat	SA4503 (0.3–3, s.c.)	None	SA4503 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Horan et al. (2001)	Rat	SA4503 (1 and 3, i.p.)	None	SA4503 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Antagonists		·	·	·
Matsumoto et al. (2011)	Mouse	AC 927 (5 and 10, i.p.)	None	AC 927 did not induce significant place conditioning or aversion, though there was a non-significant trend towards place aversion
Bhutada et al. (2012)	Mouse	BD1047 (0.1–10 μg/ mouse, i.c.v.)	None	BD1047 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Chen et al. (2011)	Rat	BD1047 (3, i.p.)	None	BD1047 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Romieu et al. (2000)	Mouse	BD1047 (1, 3, and 10, i.p.) NE 100 (1, 3, and 10, i.p.)	None	NE 100 or BD1047 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Romieu et al. (2003)	Mouse	BD1047 (10, i.p.), Progesterone (10, 20, and 40, s.c.), Finasteride (25, b.i.d., a 5α -reductase inhibitor)	None	BD1047, progesterone or finasteride did not induce place conditioning or aversion

Table 4Place conditioning with σR Ligands

Authors (Publication year)	Subject species	Conditioning drug (dose in mg/kg unless noted, route)	Test drug (dose, route)	Outcomes
Nam et al. (2012)	Mouse	BD1047 (1 and 2, i.p.), SM 21 (5 and 10, i.p.)	None	BD1047 and SM 21 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Mori et al. (2012)	Rat	NE 100 (0.3 and 1, i.p.)	None	NE 100 did not induce place conditioning or aversion
Sage et al. (2013)	Mouse	YZ-185 (0.042, 3.16, and 31.6, unspecified route of administration)	None	YZ-185 did not induce place conditioning or aversion

Table 4 (continued)

behavioral assessments. Alterations in gene expression were determined by cDNA microarray analysis with four genes (metastasis associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1, tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation protein, and transthyretin) involved in processes related to neuro-adaptive change and RNA editing. Each was consistently upregulated by cocaine when compared to saline controls. Those upregulations were also found to be reversed by CM 156, with quantitative real time PCR confirming the reversal in three of the four genes. The results suggest that σ R antagonism can reverse relatively long-term molecular changes associated with stimulant reinforcement.

A previous study by Romieu et al. (2002) found that the σR antagonists, NE100 and BD1047, blocked both place conditioning and the expression of place conditioning induced by cocaine in mice. However, the σR antagonist, YZ-185, blocked the development of cocaine place conditioning in mice, but not its expression (Sage et al. 2013).

There are fewer studies of the effects of σR agonists on stimulant-induced place conditioning. Romieu et al. (2003) found that DHEA, igmesine, and pregnenolone enhanced cocaine place conditioning in mice, and that the enhancement was blocked by BD1047. However, Mori et al. (2014a) found that the σR agonist, SA4503 (1 and 3 mg/kg), attenuated acquisition of place conditioning induced by cocaine, methamphetamine, and morphine in rats, whereas (+)-pentazocine was inactive, which begs the question of whether the effect was mediated by σRs , or whether the 3.0 mg/kg dose of (+)-pentazocine was too low to enhance the place conditioning.

In summary, the findings from studies of place conditioning have several consistencies. One of these is that neither σR agonists nor antagonists have effects of their own as unconditional stimuli. Further, the σR antagonists appear to consistently block the acquisition of place conditioning with stimulants. However, the effects of σR agonists are less consistent. This is not the only instance in which σR agonists and antagonists do not have diametrically opposed effects. The effects of CM 156 on the expression of an already developed place conditioning and

Authors (Publication	Subject	Conditioning drug (dose in mg/kg/	Test drug (dose in	Outcomes (dose where indicated is in
Year)	species	day, route)	mg/kg/day, route)	mg/kg/day)
Romieu et al. (2000)	Mouse	Cocaine (20 for 4 days, i.p.)	BD1047 (1, 3, and 10 for 4 days, i.p.), NE 100 (1, 3, and 10 for 4 days, i.p.), $\sigma_1 R$ antisense (i.c. v.)	NE 100, BD1047, or $\sigma_1 R$ antisense blocked cocaine place conditioning
Romieu et al. (2002)	Mouse	Cocaine (20 for 4 days, i.p.)	BD1047 (1, 3, and 10 for 4 days, i.p.), NE 100 (1, 3, and 10 for 4 days, i.p.)	NE 100 or BD1047 blocked cocaine place conditioning
		BTCP (10 for 4 days, i.p.)	BD1047 (1, and 3 for 4 days, i.p.), NE 100 (3, and 10 for 4 days, i.p.)	NE 100 or BD1047 blocked BTCP place conditioning
Romieu et al. (2003)	Mouse	Cocaine (10 for 4 days, i.p. or s.c.)	DHEA (5, 10, and 20, s.c.), igmesine (10, i.p.), pregnenolone (10, and 20, s.c.), BD1047 (10, i.p.), progesterone (20, i. p.)	DHEA, igmesine, and pregnenolone enhanced cocaine place conditioning BD1047 blocked cocaine place conditioning and its enhancement by the steroidal agonists Progesterone blocked cocaine place conditioning and its enhancement by igmesine
		Cocaine (20 for 4 days, i.p. or s.c.)	Progesterone (10, 20, and 40, s. c.), finasteride (25 mg/kg, b.i.d. for 6 days)	Progesterone (but not 40) and finasteride blocked cocaine place conditioning. Progesterone (40) partially but seemingly blocked acquisition of cocaine place conditioning

Table 5 Antagonism by σR ligands of acquisition of stimulant place conditioning

Authors (Publication Year)	Subject	Conditioning drug (dose in mg/kg/ day, route)	Test drug (dose in	Outcomes (dose where indicated is in mg/kg/day)
Romieu et al. (2004)	Mouse	Cocaine (30 for 4 days, i.p.)	Ignesine (1, 3, and 10 mg/kg, i.p.), DHEA (10, 20, and 40 mg/kg, s.c.), BD1047 (3, 10, and 30 mg/kg, i.p.) σ_1 antisense (i.c.v.)	Reinstatement of place conditioning with: 1) Cocaine (15 mg/ kg, i.p.) which was blocked by BD1047 or σ ₁ antisense 2) Igmesine (10 mg/ kg, i.p.) and DHEA (40 mg/kg, s.c.) which was blocked by BD1047 (30 mg/ kg, i.p.) 3) PCP (5 mg/kg, i. p.), morphine (5 mg/ kg, i.p.) 3) PCP (5 mg/kg, i. p.), morphine (5 mg/ kg, i.p.), and nicotine (0.5 mg/kg, i.p.) which was blocked by BD1047 (30 mg/kg, i.p.) 4) Ethanol (1,000, i. p.) was enhanced by BD1047 (30 mg/kg, i.p.) Igmesine and DHEA alone reinstated cocaine place conditioning BD1047 (30 mg/kg, i.p.) alone did not reinstate cocaine place conditioning
Matsumoto et al. (2011)	Mouse	Cocaine (10 and 20 for 4 days, i.p.)	AC 927 (5 and 10 for 4 days, i.p.)	AC 927 attenuated cocaine place conditioning [Conditioning with AC 927 (5 and 10) produced a non- significant trend suggesting noxious effects.]
Xu et al. (2012)	Mouse	Cocaine (20 for 4 days, i.p.)	CM 156 (1–20, i.p.)	CM 156 failed to block cocaine place conditioning
Sage et al. (2013)	Mouse	Cocaine (20 for 3 days)	YZ-185 (0.042, 1.31, and 13.1 for 3 days)	YZ-185 (13.1) fully blocked cocaine place conditioning

Table 5 (continued)

Authors (Publication Year)	Subject species	Conditioning drug (dose in mg/kg/ day, route)	Test drug (dose in mg/kg/day, route)	Outcomes (dose where indicated is in mg/kg/day)
Mori et al. (2014a)	Rat	Cocaine (4 for 3 days, i.p.)	SA4503 (1 and 3 for 3 days, s.c.), (+)- pentazocine (3 for 3 days, s.c.)	SA4503 dose- dependently but partially attenuated place conditioning of cocaine (+)-pentazocine did not block place conditioning of cocaine
Dextromethorp	han			
Nam et al. (2012)	Mouse	Dextromethorphan (35 for 14 days, i. p.)	BD1047 (1 and 2 for 14 days, i.p.), SM 21 (5 and 10 for 14 days, i.p.)	BD1047 partially attenuated dextromethorphan place conditioning SM 21 was without effects on dextromethorphan place conditioning
Methamphetam	ine			
Mori et al. (2014a)	Rat	Methamphetamine (2 for 3 days, i.p.)	SA4503 (1 and 3 for 3 days, s.c.), (+)- pentazocine (3 for 3 days, s.c.)	SA4503 partially attenuated place conditioning of methamphetamine (+)-Pentazocine did not block place conditioning of methamphetamine
Rahmadi et al. (2013)	Mouse	Methamphetamine (1 for 3 days, s.c.)	Fluoxetine (20 for 3 days, i.p.), NE 100 (1 for 3 days, i. p.)	NE 100 fully reversed a fluoxetine-induced decrease in methamphetamine place conditioning
РСР				
Nabeshima et al. (1996) *Original source: Kitaichi et al. (1995)	Rat	PCP (4 for 3 days, i.p.)	NE 100 (0.03–0.1 for 3 days, p.o.)	NE-100 did not block PCP conditioned aversion

Table 5 (continued)

BTCP benzothiophenylcyclohexylpiperidine

associated long-term changes in gene expression show promise for examining how σRs may contribute to chronic stimulant abuse, and hopefully the inconsistencies among outcomes with different compounds might be resolved with the examination of a wider dose range and more mechanistic studies.

Table 6 Antagonisn	n of express	tion of place conditioning with of	R ligands	
Authors (Publication year)	Subject species	Conditioning drug (dose in mg/kg/day, route)	Test drug (dose in mg/kg, route)	Outcomes (dose in mg/kg)
Cocaine				
Romieu et al. (2002)	Mouse	Cocaine (20 for 4 days, i.p.)	BD1047 (1, 3, and 10, i.p.), NE 100 (3 and 10, i.p.)	NE 100 or BD1047 blocked cocaine place conditioning
Romieu et al. (2004)	Mouse	Cocaine (30 for 4 days, i.p.)	Igmesine (1, 3, and 10, i.p.), DHEA (10, 20, and 40, s.c.), BD1047 (3, 10, and 30, i.p.),	Reinstatement of place conditioning with: 1) Cocaine (15, i.p.) which was blocked by BD1047 or $\sigma_i R$ antisense
			$\sigma_1 R$ antisense	2) Igmesine (10, i.p.) and DHEA (40, s.c.) which was blocked by BD1047 (30, i.p.)
				3) PCP (5, i.p.), morphine (5, i.p.), and nicotine (0.5,
				1.p.) which was blocked by BD104/ (30, 1.p.) 4) Ethanol (1,000, i.p.) was enhanced by BD1047
				(30, i.p.)
				Igmesine and DHEA alone reinstated cocaine place
				BD1047 (30, i.p.) alone did not reinstate cocaine
				place conditioning
Xu et al. (2010)	Mouse	Cocaine (20 for 4 days, i.p.)	CM 156 (1–20, i.p.)	CM 156 dose-dependently but partially blocked
				expression of cocaine place conditioning
Xu et al. (2012)	Mouse	Cocaine (20 for 4 days, i.p.)	CM 156 (1–20, i.p.)	CM 156 dose-dependently but partially blocked
				expression of cocaine place conditioning
Sage et al. (2013)	Mouse	Cocaine (20 for 3 days,	YZ-185 (0.042, 1.31, and 13.1,	YZ-185 did not block cocaine place conditioning
		unspecified route of	unspecified route of	
		administration)	administration)	
Fritz et al. (2011)	Rat	Cocaine (15 for 4 days, i.p.,	BD1047 (10, i.p.)	BD1047 fully blocked cocaine place conditioning
		unspecified regarding bias)		

4 Drug Self-Administration

In procedures of this type an easily repeatable response produces an intravenous drug injection through a chronic indwelling catheter. The rate at which the subject responds is recorded and is compared to the rate of response when vehicle is substituted for the stimulant. This procedure is generally thought to be the "gold standard" for assessments of the abuse liability of compounds, and is often used to assess the effects of potential medical treatments for drug abuse (see reviews by Grabowski et al. 2004; Horton et al. 2013; O'Connor et al. 2011).

Because σR agonists were at one point believed to be in a similar pharmacological class with PCP, the earliest studies examining self-administration of σR ligands compared them to PCP. In one of the first of these (Slifer and Balster 1983), enantiomers of the original prototype σR agonist, SKF-10,047, were compared with PCP for their reinforcing effects in rhesus monkeys trained to self-administer cocaine (Fig. 1). Previous studies had demonstrated that the racemic SKF-10,047 failed to substitute for ketamine or codeine in rhesus monkeys (Young and Woods 1981), though stereoselectivity of the σR specific effects of SKF-10,047 was yet to be demonstrated (e.g. Brady et al. 1982; Su 1982). In the paper by Slifer and Balster (1983), neither the racemate nor the (–)-enantiomer of SKF-10,047 (which has kappa agonist opioid effects (Martin et al. 1984; Picker and Dykstra 1987; Slifer



Fig. 1 Self-administration of PCP, (+)-SKF-10,047, (-)-SKF-10,047, or (\pm) -SKF-10,047 when substituted for cocaine in male rhesus monkeys trained to self-administer cocaine (50 µg/kg/injection). Ordinates: Injections per session. Abscissae: Drug dose in µg/kg/injection, log scale. Each point represents the mean (\pm SEM) of three subjects. Symbols above C represent injections/ session when vehicle was substituted for cocaine. Note that only PCP and (+)-SKF-10,047 maintained self-administration responding above vehicle levels. Adapted from Slifer and Balster (1983) and used with permission from RL Balster

and Dykstra 1987)) substituted for cocaine, whereas the (+)-enantiomer did substitute for cocaine. At the time of the study a specific σR had not been identified, and a similarity of the self-administration of PCP suggested that SKF-10,047 had PCP-like pharmacology. And indeed even when a σR had been identified, it was established that (+)-SKF-10,047 had affinity for both σRs and, as with PCP, the NMDA binding site (Chou et al. 1999; Lever et al. 2016; Shin et al. 2005).

 σR Agonist Self-Administration In the course of studies examining the effects of σR antagonists on cocaine self-administration (described below) in rats, the effects of the σR agonists, DTG and PRE-084, were also studied (Hiranita et al. 2010). Surprisingly, each of these compounds produced a dose-related enhancement of cocaine self-administration, evidenced by a leftward shift in the cocaine dose-effect curve. This shift was similar to the effects of dopamine uptake inhibitors on cocaine self-administration (Barrett et al. 2004; Hiranita et al. 2009; Schenk 2002). As dopamine uptake inhibitors are themselves self-administered, subsequent studies assessed whether σR agonists would be self-administered. In those studies, subjects with a history of cocaine self-administration readily self-administered the σR receptor agonists, DTG and PRE-084 (Hiranita et al. 2010).

The reinforcing effects of the σR agonists in cocaine-experienced subjects posed the question of whether these compounds would be self-administered in experimentally naïve subjects (Hiranita et al. 2013a). Using a dose of PRE-084 that was self-administered at the highest rate in the previous study (Hiranita et al. 2010), as well as (+)-pentazocine in a second group of rats, the $\sigma_1 R$ agonists were made available for self-administration in experimentally naïve rats. Over the course of 28 daily experimental sessions, responses on one of two available levers produced a $\sigma_1 R$ agonist injection, either PRE-084 or (+)-pentazocine in the separate groups of rats. Responses on the alternate lever had no scheduled consequences. The 28 sessions of $\sigma_1 R$ agonist availability is about three-fold greater than the number sufficient for the acquisition of cocaine self-administration under these same conditions. Nonetheless, over the course of those sessions there was no appreciable self-administration of either $\sigma_1 R$ agonist. Further, doses of PRE-084 ranging from 0.1 to 10.0 mg/kg/inj were similarly inactive (Hiranita et al. 2013a).

The same subjects were subsequently allowed to self-administer cocaine (0.32 mg/kg/inj) over the course of 14 daily sessions. During those sessions acquisition of cocaine self-administration was obtained with each response producing a cocaine injection. After acquisition of cocaine self-administration, previously inactive doses of both PRE-084 or (+)-pentazocine (each at 0.32 mg/kg/inj) were in different groups of rats substituted for cocaine. During the subsequent ten consecutive sessions, responding was well-maintained by either $\sigma_1 R$ agonist on the same (right) lever on which responses previously produced cocaine injections (Fig. 2a, b). Over the course of the next seven sessions, each response on the left lever, which previously had no effect, now produced injections of the $\sigma_1 R$ agonists, with



Fig. 2 Selective $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration after cocaine experience, but not after experience with food reinforcement. Each point represents the mean (\pm SEM) of six subjects. (a, b) Selfadministration of selective $\sigma_1 R$ agonists PRE-084 or (+)-pentazocine when each response produced an injection. Ordinates: Responses per sec. Abscissae: Sequential daily sessions. Reversal of active and inactive levers, extinction, and reacquisition each had the effects expected for a reinforcing agent (see text for an explanation). (c) A history of consistent responding maintained by food reinforcement was not sufficient to induce reinforcing effects of PRE-084. Ordinates: Responses per sec. Abscissae: Sequential daily sessions. (d) Cumulative responses of a representative subject in real time. Abscissae: elapsed time during experimental sessions. Ordinates: cumulative responses emitted. Each food presentation or PRE-084 injection produced a diagonal slash mark on the record. The first record is from the last session of responding maintained by food presentation; responding was so frequent that the slash marks are contiguous and render the cumulative record as a *thick line*. The second record is from the immediately following session, which was the first session in which there was an opportunity to self-administer PRE-084 (0.32 mg/kg/injection), conducted the day following the last session with food reinforcement. This record shows the extinction of responding previously maintained by food reinforcement despite response-dependent PRE-084 injections. The record from the tenth session confirms the absence of acquisition of PRE-084 self-administration. Statistical significance levels are indicated where appropriate as p < 0.001 (***) or p < 0.05 (*) as compared with responding on the inactive lever (post-hoc Bonferroni t-test). Adapted from Hiranita et al. (2013a)

responses on the right lever no longer having effects (extinction, EXT). During the first of these sessions, subjects switched to responding on the left, newly active, lever and responding on the previously active, right, lever was virtually eliminated (Fig. 2a, b). Subsequently responses on neither of the levers had consequences and responding decreased to low rates on both. Finally, $\sigma_1 R$ agonist injections were again made available for responses on one of the levers and responding was promptly re-established (Fig. 2a, b; Hiranita et al. 2013a).

A similar study was conducted with food-reinforced responding in rats (Hiranita et al. 2013a). After lever-press training with each response producing a food pellet, surgical catheterization, recovery, and another five daily sessions of food reinforcement, PRE-084 (0.32 mg/kg/inj) replaced food presentations as the consequence for responding. Over the next five daily sessions, response rates progressively declined to low rates (Fig. 2c). Cumulative records of responding (Fig. 2d) show the constant high rate of responding during the last session of food reinforcement, a negatively accelerated temporal pattern of responding during the first session of PRE-084 selfadministration characteristic of extinction (e.g., Catania 2013), and the low overall rate of occasional responding that occurred for the remainder of the 28 daily sessions of PRE-084 self-administration. These results indicate that the selfadministration of PRE-084 after cocaine self-administration was not simply due to high persistent rates of operant responding per se, regardless of the consequence, which continued once the schedule of $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration was superimposed. Additionally, as the subjects received relatively large numbers of PRE-084 injections within the first several sessions when substituted for food (Fig. 2c, d), its lack of self-administration after food reinforcement was not likely due to inadequate exposure to the contingency between responses and consequent PRE-084 injection.

The generality of the induction of $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration was assessed in an additional study (Hiranita et al. 2013b). Rats were trained to self-administer the dopamine releaser, d-methamphetamine (0.1 mg/kg/inj), the mu-opioid receptor agonist, heroin (0.01 mg/kg/inj), and the non-competitive NMDA receptor/channel antagonist ketamine (0.32 mg/kg/inj). Each of the doses used was one that produced maximal rates of self-administration in previous studies. As with cocaine, selfadministration of *d*-methamphetamine induced reinforcing effects of PRE-084 and (+)-pentazocine (0.032 - 1.0)mg/kg/inj, each). In contrast, neither selfadministration of heroin nor ketamine induced $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration (0.032-10 mg/kg/inj, each). Though the $\sigma_1 R$ agonists did not maintain responding in subjects with histories of heroin or ketamine self-administration, substitution for those drugs was obtained with other compounds; remifentanil substituted for heroin and (+)-MK 801 substituted for ketamine (Hiranita et al. 2013b).

The pharmacological mechanisms involved in the self-administration of cocaine were contrasted with those for $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration in studies with antagonists (Hiranita et al. 2013b). Rats were trained under a fixed-ratio (FR) 5-response schedule of cocaine self-administration (each fifth response produced an injection) with doses increasing across components of the daily experimental sessions. In the first component responses had no scheduled consequences (extinction or EXT), whereas in subsequent components, separated by 2-min "timeout" periods with all chamber lights off and no scheduled consequences for responses, the dose/injection was increased from 0.03 to 1.0 mg/kg. Details of the procedure or similar ones have been published elsewhere (Barrett et al. 2004; Hiranita et al. 2009; Schenk 2002).



Fig. 3 Effects of antagonists on cocaine and PRE-084 self-administration. Ordinates: Responses per sec. Abscissae: Cocaine or PRE-084 injection dose in mg/kg, log scale. Rats (N=6) were trained to self-administer cocaine under a fixed-ratio (FR) five-response schedule of reinforcement. Sessions were divided into five 20-min components with different doses of cocaine available in successive components. Consequences of responding in the successive components were: 0 mg/ kg (no injection or "extinction," EXT) or, in the subsequent four components, doses of 0.032-1.0 mg/kg/injection. All antagonists were administered intraperitoneally (i.p.), 30 or 5 min (BD1063) before sessions. Each point represents the mean (\pm SEM) of response rates on the active of two levers in the chamber. (a) Effects of SCH 39166, a selective dopamine D₁-like receptor antagonist; (b) Effects of L-741,626, a selective dopamine D_2 -like receptor antagonist. (c) Effects of haloperidol, a non-selective σ /dopamine receptor antagonist. Each of the dopamine antagonists produced a dose-related rightward shift in the cocaine self-administration dose-effect curve. (d) The preferential $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist, BD1063, did not substantially affect cocaine selfadministration. (e, f) The selective dopamine antagonists did not substantially affect PRE-084 selfadministration. (g, h) Both haloperidol and BD1063 dose-dependently decreased maximal PRE-084 self-administration. Adapted from Hiranita et al. (2013a)

The dopamine D_1 -like receptor antagonist, SCH 39166, shifted the cocaine selfadministration dose-effect curve to the right in a dose-related manner (Fig. 3a). Similar effects were obtained with the dopamine D_2 receptor preferential antagonist, L-741,626 (Fig. 3b). The non-selective dopamine antagonist haloperidol also produced dose-related rightward shifts in the cocaine self-administration doseeffect curve with its highest dose producing an insurmountable antagonism across the cocaine doses studied (Fig. 3c). In contrast, the σR antagonist BD1063 was inactive against cocaine self-administration over a range of doses from 1 to 32 mg/ kg (Fig. 3d).

In these same subjects PRE-084 was occasionally substituted for cocaine, with and without antagonist pretreatments. In contrast to the antagonism of cocaine self-administration, the dopamine antagonists, SCH 39166, and L-741,626 (Fig. 3e, f), were inactive against PRE-084 self-administration. In contrast, both haloperidol

(Fig. 3g) and BD1063 (Fig. 3h) blocked the self-administration of PRE-084 in a dose-related manner. Both of these compounds have been reported to possess σR antagonist effects (de Costa et al. 1993; Hayashi and Su 2007). Taken together, the antagonism studies suggest that self-administration of $\sigma_1 R$ agonists is independent of dopamine systems, distinguishing it from stimulant and opioid agonist self-administration.

The difference in the blockade of cocaine and PRE-084 self-administration deserves some further discussion. As most effectively demonstrated with haloperidol the antagonism of cocaine self-administration can be characterized as a rightward shift in its dose-effect curve. In contrast, the effects of haloperidol on PRE-084 self-administration can be characterized as a dose-dependent decrease in the maximal effect. There is currently no adequate explanation of these differences. However, the bitonic nature of the cocaine self-administration doseeffect curve may provide some direction. With certainty multiple and differing behavioral and pharmacological mechanisms contribute to the two limbs of the selfadministration dose-effect curve (see Katz 1989; Woods et al. 1987; Zernig et al. 2007 for a description). One hypothetical explanation would derive from a minimal sensitivity to σR antagonism of the mechanisms contributing to the descending limb of the curve. A good example of a pharmacological analysis of another bitonic curve has been published (Collins et al. 2005). That analysis maps out a clear way to proceed, though at this juncture, mechanisms for the descending limb of the $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration curve are uncertain. The uncertainty makes the pharmacological analysis an interesting guessing game.

To shed more light on the potential dopamine independence of the reinforcing effects of PRE-084, its effects on dopamine concentrations in the nucleus accumbens shell of rats were examined (Garcés-Ramírez et al. 2011). The nucleus accumbens shell has been recognized as a critical brain structure for the effects of abused drugs (Pontieri et al. 1995; Tanda et al. 1997). PRE-084 produced a doserelated increase in extracellular dopamine at doses from 1.0 to 10 mg/kg, though the increase was substantially less than the maximal increase produced by cocaine (Fig. 4a). The absence of effects of PRE-084 in calcium-free Ringer's solution (Fig. 4b) indicated that the obtained increases in dopamine were the result of a physiological vesicular calcium-dependent release. Nonetheless, the effects of PRE-084 were significant only at the highest dose, which is 100-fold higher than the minimal self-administered dose (see filled symbols in Fig. 3e-h). This comparison of doses suggests that dopamine was not involved in the reinforcing effects of the lower self-administered doses of PRE-084. To further assess these effects of PRE-084 on dopamine, the effects of the σR antagonists, BD1063 and BD1008 were studied in combination with PRE-084 (Fig. 4c, d). In contrast to the selfadministration results, neither antagonist appreciably altered the effects of PRE-084 on dopamine, consistent with the suggestion that reinforcing effects of PRE-084 were dopamine independent.

The results of these studies indicate that experience with indirect-acting dopamine agonists induces reinforcing effects of previously inactive $\sigma_1 R$ agonists. Because ongoing high rates of food reinforced behavior did not function similarly, and because changing the consequences of responses on two levers accordingly



Fig. 4 Effects of an intravenous (i.v.) injection of PRE-084 on extracellular dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens shell in rats. (a) Effects of a single i.v. injection of cocaine or PRE-084. Ordinates: Percent change in dopamine levels (for first 30 min after injection). Abscissae: Drug dose in mg/kg, log scale. Each point represents the mean (\pm SEM) of the amount of dopamine in dialysate samples, expressed as percentage of basal values (N = 4-8). Note that PRE-084 was more than 30-fold less potent than cocaine in increasing dopamine levels and less effective at the highest dose tested. (b) Effects of removal of calcium (Ca⁺⁺) from the perfusion Ringer's solution on PRE-084 induced increase in dopamine levels. Ordinates: Percent changes in dopamine levels at each 10-min sampling period. Abscissae: Time in min. Dopamine samples were collected each 10 min. Microdialysis probes were perfused with Ca⁺⁺-free Ringer's solution from 60 min before an injection of PRE-084 (filled symbols above the solid line). Each point represents the mean $(\pm SEM)$ of dopamine levels expressed as percentage of basal values (N = 4). Note that PRE-084 was inactive when Ca^{++} was removed. (c, d) Effects of pretreatment with BD1063 (10 mg/kg i.p., a preferential $\sigma_1 R$ antagonist, or BD1008 (10–30 mg/kg i.p.), a nonselective σR antagonist, on PRE-084 induced increases in dopamine levels. Ordinates: Percent changes in dopamine levels at each 10-min sampling period. Abscissae: Time in min. Dopamine samples were collected every 10 min. BD1063 and BD1008 were administered 30 min before an injection of PRE-084 (N = 4). Note that the effects of PRE-084 were insensitive to the pretreatment with σR antagonists. Adapted from Garcés-Ramírez et al. (2011)

changed the behavior, this effect of the organism's history is not simply due to some kind of response persistence. The induction of $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration, at this point, is related to the dopamine transporter as that target is common to cocaine and methamphetamine, but not heroin or ketamine. However, once induced the reinforcing effects of $\sigma_1 R$ agonists are independent of dopamine systems.

As indicated above, cocaine binds to σRs (Garcés-Ramírez et al. 2011; Sharkey et al. 1988), though with affinity less than that for the dopamine transporter (Garcés-Ramírez et al. 2011). However, a recent study with mice (Lever et al. 2016) indicates that in vivo doses of cocaine occupying $\sigma_1 Rs$ are about 2.5-fold higher than those that occupy the dopamine transporter. Further concentrations of cocaine in rat brain achieved with systemic injection are in the µM range (Nicolaysen et al. 1988; Pettit and Pettit 1994) and sufficient for binding to $\sigma_1 Rs$. Affinity for σRs has also been reported for methamphetamine (e.g., Hiranita et al. 2014: Nguyen et al. 2005). Thus it is possible that actions at $\sigma_1 Rs$ contribute to the behavioral effects of cocaine involved in its abuse. It is further suggested that once induced, $\sigma_1 R$ agonist actions of these stimulants may function as an additional pathway by which these compounds exert their reinforcing effects. It is therefore hypothetically possible that this redundant pathway to reinforcement by these two stimulants may play an essential role in the intractability to medical treatment of stimulant abuse, particularly when those treatments target dopamine systems. This consideration suggests novel approaches for the development of combination chemotherapies to combat stimulant dependence.

 σR Antagonist Effects on Stimulant Self-Administration As mentioned above, the first studies of interactions between σR agonists and stimulants found antagonism of locomotor stimulant effects and several subsequent studies documented that σR antagonists blocked place conditioning produced by various drugs of abuse (Table 5). However, the first attempt to block self-administration of a fixed unit dose of cocaine (0.25 mg/inj) with the σR antagonist, BD1047 failed to find an effect across a range of doses from 1 to 30 mg/kg (Martin-Fardon et al. 2007). Subsequent studies also reported a lack of effect on cocaine self-administration of several σR antagonists (BD1047, BD1008, BD1063, AC 927, NE100) across a wide range of antagonist doses as well as cocaine unit doses (Hiranita et al. 2010, 2011a).

Interestingly, the σR antagonist rimcazole and two of its analogs differed from other σR antagonists. Rimcazole was developed for the treatment of schizophrenia (Gilmore et al. 2004). However, the compound failed in clinical trials due to lack of efficacy as well as some frequency of seizures. Previous reports had suggested mixed results of interactions of rimcazole or its analogs with cocaine. For example, Matsumoto et al. (2001) showed antagonism of cocaine-induced acute toxicity (convulsions and lethality) by rimcazole and several of its analogs. In contrast, Katz et al. (2003) reported antagonism of locomotor stimulant effects; however, there were minimal effects if any of these compounds on cocaine discriminativestimulus effects. In studies of cocaine self-administration (Hiranita et al. 2011a),



Fig. 5 Effects of presession treatments with rimcazole and its analogs (SH 3-24 and SH 3-28) on responding maintained by cocaine injections or food presentations. Each point represents the mean \pm SEM (N = 6). Rimcazole and its analogs were administered i.p. at 5 min before sessions. (A-C) Effects of presession treatments with rimcazole and its analogs on cocaine selfadministration. Ordinates: Responses per second. Abscissae: Cocaine injection dose in mg/kg, log scale. Note that rimcazole and its analogs dose-dependently decreased the maximal rates of responding maintained by cocaine injections. (D-F) Effects of presession treatments with rimcazole and its analogs on responding maintained by cocaine injections (0.32 mg/kg/injection) or food presentations (fourth component, each). Ordinates, response rates as percentage of control response rates (sessions before drug tests) for cocaine- and food-maintained responding. Abscissae, Drug dose in mg/kg (i.p.), log scale. A separate group of subjects were trained to respond to food reinforcement under an FR five-response schedule of reinforcement identical to that of cocaine self-administration. Rates of responding were from the fourth 20-min component of the session with responding maintained by injections of cocaine (0.32 mg/kg/injection) or food presentation. Note that rimcazole and its analogs were at least three-fold more potent in decreasing cocaine self-administration than in decreasing food-reinforced behavior. Adapted from Hiranita et al. (2011a)

rimcazole and its *N*-propylphenyl analogs, [3-(*cis*-3,5-dimethyl-4-[3-phenylpropyl]-1-piperazinyl)-propyl]diphenylamine hydrochloride (SH 3-24) and 9-[3-(*cis*-3,5-dimethyl-4-[3-phenylpropyl]-1-piperazinyl)-propyl]carbazole hydrobromide (SH 3-28), dose-dependently decreased maximal cocaine self-administration (Fig. 5, top panels). Additionally, these decreases in self-administration were selective, as they were obtained at doses that had no effects on comparable responding maintained by food reinforcement (Fig. 5, bottom panels).

Previous studies (Izenwasser et al. 1993; Valchar and Hanbauer 1993) indicated that rimcazole has affinity for the dopamine transporter as well as σRs . Subsequent studies confirmed that the analogs examined also had affinity for both the dopamine transporter and σRs (Hiranita et al. 2011a; Husbands et al. 1999; see Table 1).

Nonetheless, the combination of those actions seems an unlikely indication of targets that could produce the cocaine-antagonist effects found with rimcazole and its analogs. As indicated above selective σR antagonists have no effect on stimulant self-administration, whereas dopamine transport inhibitors enhance the self-administration of cocaine (Barrett et al. 2004; Hiranita et al. 2009; Schenk 2002). It was unclear on the face of it how a combination of inactivity and enhancement would produce a dose-dependent decrease in maximal cocaine self-administration.

To further examine this combination of effects selective σR antagonists and dopamine transport inhibitors were examined alone and in combination on cocaine self-administration in rats (Hiranita et al. 2011a). As is typical, the cocaine doseeffect curve was an inverted U-shaped function of cocaine unit dose per injection (Fig. 6A–C, filled symbols). A dose of nomifensine (0.32 mg/kg) that had no effect on cocaine self-administration when administered alone (data not shown) was studied in combination with the σR antagonists, BD1008, BD1047, and BD1063. The dose of nomifensine was the highest dose that did not shift the cocaine doseeffect curve leftward. As previously reported none of the σR antagonists had appreciable effects on cocaine self-administration. When administered in combination however there was a σR antagonist dose-dependent decrease in the maximal self-administration of cocaine (Fig. 6A-C, open symbols). Similar results were obtained with combinations of the dopamine uptake inhibitors, WIN 35,428 and methylphenidate, with these same σR antagonists (Hiranita et al. 2011a). Additionally, the combination of WIN 35,428 and BD1008 was found effective in blocking *d*-methamphetamine but not heroin or ketamine self-administration (Hiranita et al. 2014).

The combinations of σR antagonists and dopamine uptake inhibitors, as with rimcazole and its analogs, produced selective effects on cocaine self-administration (Hiranita et al. 2011a). Figure 6D–F shows that the particular combinations of nomifensine and σR antagonists that decreased cocaine self-administration produced little if any decrease in rates of responding maintained by food presentation in rats. That selectivity was also obtained with combinations of WIN 35,428 or methylphenidate and each of the σR antagonists, though the selectivity was somewhat reduced for the combination of WIN 35,428 and BD1063 (Hiranita et al. 2011a).

That similar interactions were obtained with structurally different dopamine uptake inhibitors and different σR antagonists suggests that this decrease in efficacy of cocaine in the self-administration procedure was not an idiosyncratic effect of a particular combination of compounds but was more generally a result of a fundamental dynamic interaction among the compounds. The somewhat different effects of WIN 35,428 in combination with BD1063 may be related to its particular pharmacology. WIN 35,428 has equal affinity for σ_1 and σ_2 receptor subtypes whereas the other two dopamine uptake inhibitors had higher affinity for σ_1 compared to σ_2 receptors (Hiranita et al. 2011a). BD1063 has greater selectivity for $\sigma_1 Rs$ compared to the other σR antagonists (Matsumoto et al. 1995; Table 1). Thus it is possible that the $\sigma_2 R$ affinity of WIN 35,428 is not sufficiently blocked by



Fig. 6 Effects of presession treatments with dopamine uptake inhibitors combined with σR antagonists on cocaine self-administration. Ordinates: Responses per sec (A–C) or response rates as percentage of control response rates (sessions before drug tests) for cocaine- and food-maintained responding (D–F). Abscissae: Cocaine injection dose in mg/kg, log scale (A–C) or drug dose in mg/kg (i.p.), log scale (D–F). Each point represents the mean ± SEM (N=6). Nomifensine (0.32 mg/kg, 5 min prior) was combined with BD1008, BD1047, and BD1063 (each at doses of 1.0, 3.2, and 10 mg/kg and at 5, 15, or 5 min prior to sessions, respectively). All injections were i.p. See Fig. 5 for more details. Note that each σR antagonist dose-dependently decreased the maximal rates of responding maintained by cocaine injections when combined with nomifensine. Also, the antagonism of cocaine self-administration was obtained at the combined doses that were inactive against food-reinforced responding. Adapted from Hiranita et al. (2011a)

BD1063. Speculating further, it is possible that a direct effect of WIN 35,428 on $\sigma_2 Rs$ interferes with the antagonism.

The discovery of highly selective σR subtype antagonists (Chu et al. 2015; James et al. 2012) allowed studies to address whether the antagonism of cocaine self-administration in rats by dual inhibition of the dopamine transporter and σRs was specific to a particular σR subtype (Katz et al. 2016). Radioligand displacement studies confirmed that CM 304 was approximately 600-fold selective for the $\sigma_1 R$ whereas CM 398 was 330-fold selective for the $\sigma_2 R$ subtype (Table 1; Katz et al.



Fig. 7 Effects of presession treatments with dopamine uptake inhibitors (methylphenidate and nomifensine) combined with the selective σ_1 or σ_2 receptor antagonists, respectively, CM 304 or CM 398, on responding maintained by cocaine injections or food presentations. Each point represents the mean \pm SEM (N = 6). All compounds were administered 5 min before sessions. (**A–D**) Ordinates: Response rates in responses per second. Abscissae: Cocaine injection dose (mg/ kg, i.v.). Note that only CM 304 dose-dependently decreased the maximal rates of responding maintained by cocaine injections when combined with the dopamine uptake inhibitors. (**E**, **F**) Ordinates: Response rates as percentage of control response rates (sessions prior to drug tests). Abscissae: Dose in mg/kg of CM 304 administered i.p., log scale. See Fig. 5 for more details. Note that the antagonism of cocaine self-administration was obtained at the combined doses that were inactive against food-reinforced responding. Adapted from Katz et al. (2016)

2016). Combinations of CM 398 with either methylphenidate (1.0 mg/kg) or nomifensine (0.32 mg/kg) were without effects on cocaine self-administration (Fig. 7A, B). In contrast, CM 304 dose-dependently decreased maximal cocaine

self-administration when combined with either methylphenidate or nomifensine (Fig. 7C, D). Further, neither CM 304 nor CM 398 when administered alone was active in blocking cocaine self-administration. Most important, combinations of CM 304 with either dopamine uptake inhibitor decreased cocaine self-administration at dose combinations that had no effects on food-maintained responding (Fig. 7E, F). These results indicate that the selective effect of concomitant inhibition of dopamine transport and antagonism of σRs is due to specific blockade of $\sigma_1 Rs$.

Reinstatement Martin-Fardon et al. (2007) examined the effects of BD1047 on "reinstatement" of cocaine self-administration. Though there are several variants of procedures so labeled, most involve three phases. In the first two of these, subjects are trained to self-administer a drug, followed by an extinction phase in which responses no longer produce injections (in some variants of the procedure this extinction phase is eliminated). In the final testing phase, various treatments are assessed for their effectiveness in increasing (reinstating) the now low rate of responding. The treatments that increase rates of responding during the reinstatement tests include response-independent administration of the drug previously selfadministered immediately before the reinstatement test, subjecting the subjects to any of several kinds of noxious stimuli (e.g., electric shock) as presumed stressors, or presentation of stimuli previously paired with drug injections. It is typically asserted that an increase in the rate of responding during the reinstatement test is a model of relapse to drug taking, or that the renewed responding reflects craving for the drug. Various test drugs have been examined for their efficacy in blunting the reinstating effects of any of the above-mentioned treatments with the supposition that such a blunting is evidence of the potential for a therapeutic effect of the test drug. For a critical review of this procedure and its validation see Katz and Higgins (2003).

In the study by Martin-Fardon et al. (2007) responding was initially maintained by cocaine during sessions in which white noise was presented. During the extinction phase the white noise was turned off and cocaine injections were discontinued. When response rates decreased to low values, tests were conducted in which the white noise was again presented though cocaine injections remained unavailable. The reintroduction of white noise significantly increased rates of responding and that effect was attenuated by BD1047 at doses of 20 and 30 mg/kg. Additionally, a 1.5-fold higher dose was necessary to decrease reinstated responding in a separate group of subjects for which responding was formerly maintained by sweetened condensed milk, suggesting some selectivity of BD1047 for responding formerly maintained by cocaine. The authors note several cautions with regard to overinterpreting the obtained effects, in particular, that only one σR antagonist was examined (Martin-Fardon et al. 2007).

Results of a study on the effects of σR antagonists on self-administration of cocaine (Hiranita et al. 2010) may clarify the generality of the effects of σR antagonists on reinstatement phenomena (Martin-Fardon et al. 2007). In that study, i.v. cocaine was self-administered by rats during daily experimental sessions



Fig. 8 Effects of presession treatments with selective σR antagonists on responding during the extinction component for cocaine injections or food presentations. Ordinates: Responses rates as percentage of control response rates (sessions before drug tests) during the extinction component. Abscissae: Drug dose in mg/kg (i.p.), log scale. Each point represents the mean \pm SEM (N = 6). BD1008, BD1047, and BD1063 were administered i.p. at 5, 15, or 5 min prior to sessions, respectively. See Fig. 5 for more details. None of the tested σR antagonists had significant effects on responding during cocaine extinction. Further, the doses tested ranged from those having no effects to those that decreased responding during food extinction. Adapted from Hiranita et al. (2010)

that were divided into five components. Cocaine dose was systematically increased during the components following the first. In that initial component, as in many reinstatement procedures, responses produced only a change in the stimuli previously presented when cocaine was injected. A second group of rats was studied in an analogous manner but with food presentation rather than cocaine (Hiranita et al. 2010). Figure 8 shows rates of responding during that extinction component during sessions preceded by vehicle injections (points above 0) and those after treatment with the several σR antagonists (points above dose values of 3.2–32.0 mg/kg). None of the tested σR antagonists had significant effects on responding during cocaine extinction. Further, the doses tested ranged from those having no effects to those that decreased responding during food extinction. These findings indicate that selective decreases in responding during extinction or cocaine self-administration produced by σR antagonists on responding are limited in their generality.

Comment on Discrepancies in Results Obtained with Self-Administration and Place-Conditioning Procedures It is noteworthy that selective σR antagonists interfere with place conditioning induced by cocaine, but not its self-administration. These differences may be related to the species studied, as most of the placeconditioning studies, with the exception of Mori et al. (2014a), used mice. In contrast, the self-administration studies were conducted using rats. The difference may also be due to differences in the fundamental nature of the assessments of "reinforcing" effects inherent in the two procedures. In place conditioning there is a contingency relation between two stimuli, whereas in self-administration procedures there is a contingency relation between a response and a stimulus.

As originally noted by Martin-Fardon et al. (2007), the studies showing a lack of effect of σR antagonists on cocaine self-administration were with behavior that was previously established whereas the place-conditioning studies assessed the effects of σR antagonists on the acquisition of the conditioned behavior. It would therefore be of value to assess the effects of σR antagonists on the acquisition of cocaine self-administration. Extensive studies by T. Maurice and colleagues have shown various σR agonists can reverse learning and memory deficits in a variety of preclinical models (for a review see Maurice 2007), suggesting that those effects may underlie the effects of σR antagonists have been inactive when assessed alone. However, as those assessments have most often been controls for studies of interactions with σR agonists, it remains possible that broader studies might reveal actions in procedures designed to assess learning and memory.

If indeed the effects of σR antagonists on stimulant place conditioning were due to a more generalized impairment of conditioning, the effect should be evident in place-conditioning procedures independently of the drug used as an unconditional stimulus. Indeed, there are several studies showing blockade by various σR antagonists of place conditioning induced by compounds from several pharmacological classes, including ethanol (Bhutada et al. 2012; Maurice et al. 2003), morphine (Chen et al. 2011; Vidal-Torres et al. 2013; Wu et al. 2007), and U-50,488H (Mori et al. 2012). Complicating the picture are a few reports of attenuation of place conditioning by the σR agonist SA4503 (Horan et al. 2001; Mori et al. 2012). Nonetheless, these studies suggest that the interference of place conditioning by σR antagonists may not be specific to stimulants and may occur more generally, an outcome consistent with an effect on the conditioning process rather than the specific reinforcing effects of the stimulants.

Whatever the ultimate behavioral mechanism of the effects of σR antagonists on place conditioning, the seemingly disparate outcome compared to the results with stimulant self-administration procedures emphasizes that a consideration of the methods used, and the environmental circumstances surrounding the effects, can be critical to the outcome. The behaviors expressed in self-administration, place conditioning, and other procedures used to assess reinforcing effects are a function of a limited set of overlapping variables. Behavior is complexly determined, and as such, drugs may have quite different effects that depend on the conditions of the study. Stated differently, it would be foolish to consider these different behavioral procedures as simply a "read out" of a unitary underlying neuronal circuit.

5 Working Hypotheses for Mechanisms Underlying σR: Dopamine Transporter Interactions

The induction of σR agonist self-administration by stimulants together with the data on the antagonism of cocaine self-administration by combinations of σR antagonists and dopamine transport inhibitors suggests a mechanism that involves both short-term and long-term effects. The induction of reinforcing effects of σR agonists by stimulant self-administration likely relies upon an immediate interaction of the σR and the dopamine transporter. Preliminary studies by Khoshbouei and colleagues (Lin et al. 2012) and by Hong et al. (2013) have documented such interactions. These studies have shown the co-immunoprecipitation of $\sigma_1 R$ and dopamine transporter in transfected cells, suggesting potential direct protein–protein interactions among these entities. This interaction appears to involve the transmembrane domain of $\sigma_1 R$, as a splice variant of $\sigma_1 R$ lacking most of the C-terminal domain showed a stronger association with the dopamine transporter, compared with the full-length $\sigma_1 R$ (Hong et al. 2013). Interestingly co-immunoprecipitation was enhanced in the presence of methamphetamine (Lin et al. 2012).

It has been reported that increased membrane cholesterol content enhanced binding B_{max} of the cocaine analogue, WIN 35,428, to the dopamine transporter. Further, substituted cysteine accessibility studies suggested that the effect of cholesterol was due to a change in the conformational equilibrium of the dopamine transporter to favor a conformation open to the extracellular space (Hong and Amara 2010). Recent crystal structures of the *Drosophila* dopamine transporter (Penmatsa et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2015) showed the association of cholesterol with the dopamine transporter protein. Further, it was suggested that cholesterol may hinder the movement of transmembrane segment 1a of the dopamine transporter and stabilize an open-to-out conformation (Penmatsa et al. 2013). Thus, cholesterol may play a role in regulating the function of the dopamine transporter.

Palmer et al. (2007) previously indicated that cholesterol binds to $\sigma_1 Rs$, and Ruoho and colleagues (Pal et al. 2007, 2008; Fontanilla et al. 2008) identified putative steroid-binding-like domains I and II on σ_1 Rs. It is tempting to speculate that in membrane domains where $\sigma_1 R$ and the dopamine transporter form intricate interactions, binding of cholesterol to $\sigma_1 Rs$ may regulate the availability of cholesterol to the dopamine transporter, thereby shifting the equilibrium of transporter proteins between outward-facing and inward-facing conformations. Other studies have suggested that compounds that prefer binding to the inward-facing state of dopamine transporter have diminished stimulant-like actions and may antagonize the effects of standard stimulants (see review by Reith et al. 2015). The recent elucidation of X-ray crystal structure of human $\sigma_1 R$ represents an exciting breakthrough (Schmidt et al. 2016). Different from the two transmembrane-domain topology model derived from previous biochemical studies, the structure shows a homo-trimer of $\sigma_1 R$, with each protomer exhibiting a single transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic domain containing a ligand-binding pocket. As this structure presents a static snapshot of $\sigma_1 R$, it will be fascinating to explore how binding of $\sigma_1 R$ agonists, antagonists, and potentially cholesterol or other membrane lipids to $\sigma_1 R$ dynamically modulates its conformation and differentially affects the interaction of $\sigma_1 R$ with its protein partners.

The behavioral pharmacology of $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration suggests a long-term change in which dopamine systems are uninvolved. The pharmacology of $\sigma_1 R$ agonist self-administration is different from common drugs of abuse. The chaperone functionality of the $\sigma_1 R$ protein (Hayashi and Su 2007) suggests that it may be having its effects by interacting with another protein, and the induction of reinforcing effects of $\sigma_1 R$ agonists virtually ensures that the effect involves a partner membrane protein. As detailed above, the elucidation of molecular mechanisms by which $\sigma_1 Rs$ regulate plasma membrane events is expanding. The involvement of $\sigma_1 Rs$ with several other proteins, including mu- and delta-opioid receptors (Kim et al. 2010), potassium Kv1.2 channels (Kourrich et al. 2013), as well as σ_1 -dopamine D₁ (Navarro et al. 2010) or D₂ (Navarro et al. 2013) receptor heteromers has been studied. However, these findings should not induce tunnel vision excluding other candidate $\sigma_1 R$ partner proteins. The mechanisms underlying long-term changes remain unclear and may involve more than one particular protein partner.

In summary, it is clear that actions of stimulants related to their abuse induce unique changes in $\sigma_1 R$ activity. Further, these potential changes create redundant, and once established independent, reinforcement pathways. These redundant pathways may contribute to the treatment-resistant nature of stimulant abuse. Further, concomitant targeting of both the well-known reinforcing pathways initiated by blockade of the dopamine transporter, as well as $\sigma_1 R$ proteins produces an effective and selective antagonism of stimulant self-administration, suggesting new avenues for combination chemotherapies to specifically combat stimulant abuse.

Acknowledgments Funding for the experiments originating in our laboratories was provided by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) Intramural Research Program and by grants from the National Institute on Drug Abuse [Grant DA023205] and the National Institute of General Medical Sciences [Grant GM104932] to Christopher R. McCurdy. Takato Hiranita was supported in part by the NIDA IRP and by a fellowship from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science. Weimin C. Hong was supported by startup funds from Butler University.

Subjects used in the studies published from the NIDA Intramural Research Program were maintained in facilities fully accredited by the American Association for the Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care, and those experiments were conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the institute's Animal Care and Use Committee.

References

Balster RL (1989) Substitution and antagonism in rats trained to discriminate (+)-Nallylnormetazocine from saline. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 249:749–756

Bardo MT, Bevins RA (2000) Conditioned place preference: what does it add to our preclinical understanding of drug reward? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 153:31–43
- Barrett AC, Miller JR, Dohrmann JM, Caine SB (2004) Effects of dopamine indirect agonists and selective D1-like and D2-like agonists and antagonists on cocaine self-administration and food maintained responding in rats. Neuropharmacology 47(Suppl 1):256–273
- Bhutada PS, Mundhada YR, Ghodki YR, Chaware P, Dixit PV, Jain KS, Umathe SN (2012) Influence of sigma-1 receptor modulators on ethanol-induced conditioned place preference in the extinction-reinstatement model. Behav Pharmacol 23:25–33
- Brady KT, Balster RL, May EL (1982) Stereoisomers of N-allylnormetazocine: phencyclidinelike behavioral effects in squirrel monkeys and rats. Science 215:178–180
- Carr GD, Fibiger HC, Phillips AG (1989) Conditioned place preference as a measure of drug reward. In: Liebman JM, Cooper J (eds) The neuropharmacological basis of reward, Topics in experimental psychopharmacology. Clarendon Press/Oxford University Press, New York, pp 264–319
- Catania AC (2013) Learning, 5th edn. Sloan Publishing, Cornwall on Hudson
- Chen SL, Hsu KY, Huang EY, Lu RB, Tao PL (2011) Low doses of dextromethorphan attenuate morphine-induced rewarding via the sigma-1 receptor at ventral tegmental area in rats. Drug Alcohol Depend 117:164–169
- Chou YC, Liao JF, Chang WY, Lin MF, Chen CF (1999) Binding of dimemorfan to sigma-1 receptor and its anticonvulsant and locomotor effects in mice, compared with dextromethor-phan and dextrophan. Brain Res 821:516–519
- Chu U et al (2015) The sigma-2 receptor and progesterone receptor membrane component 1 are different binding sites derived from independent genes. EBioMedicine 2:1806–1813
- Cohen C, Sanger DJ (1994) Effects of sigma ligands on the cocaine discriminative stimulus in rats. NIDA Res Monogr 153:380
- Collins GT, Witkin JM, Newman AH, Svensson KA, Grundt P, Cao J, Woods JH (2005) Dopamine agonist-induced yawning in rats: a dopamine D3 receptor-mediated behavior. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 314:310–319
- de Costa BR, He XS, Linders JT, Dominguez C, Gu ZQ, Williams W, Bowen WD (1993) Synthesis and evaluation of conformationally restricted N-[2-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)ethyl]-Nmethyl-2-(1-pyrrolidinyl)ethylamines at sigma receptors. 2. Piperazines, bicyclic amines, bridged bicyclic amines, and miscellaneous compounds. J Med Chem 36:2311–2320
- Engel SR, Purdy RH, Grant KA (2001) Characterization of discriminative stimulus effects of the neuroactive steroid pregnanolone. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 297:489–495
- Fontanilla D, Hajipour AR, Pal A, Chu UB, Arbabian M, Ruoho AE (2008) Probing the steroid binding domain-like I (SBDLI) of the sigma-1 receptor binding site using N-substituted photoaffinity labels. Biochemistry 47:7205–7217
- Fritz M, Klement S, El Rawas R, Saria A, Zernig G (2011) Sigma1 receptor antagonist BD1047 enhances reversal of conditioned place preference from cocaine to social interaction. Pharmacology 87:45–48
- Garcés-Ramírez L et al (2011) Sigma receptor agonists: receptor binding and effects on mesolimbic dopamine neurotransmission assessed by microdialysis in rats. Biol Psychiatry 69:208–217
- Gilmore DL, Liu Y, Matsumoto RR (2004) Review of the pharmacological and clinical profile of rimcazole CNS. Drug Rev 10:1–22
- Grabowski J, Shearer J, Merrill J, Negus SS (2004) Agonist-like, replacement pharmacotherapy for stimulant abuse and dependence. Addict Behav 29:1439–1464
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. Cell 131:596–610
- Hiranita T, Soto PL, Newman AH, Katz JL (2009) Assessment of reinforcing effects of benztropine analogs and their effects on cocaine self-administration in rats: comparisons with monoamine uptake inhibitors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 329:677–686
- Hiranita T, Soto PL, Tanda G, Katz JL (2010) Reinforcing effects of sigma-receptor agonists in rats trained to self-administer cocaine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 332:515–524

- Hiranita T et al (2011a) Decreases in cocaine self-administration with dual inhibition of the dopamine transporter and sigma receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 339:662–677
- Hiranita T, Soto PL, Tanda G, Katz JL (2011b) Lack of cocaine-like discriminative-stimulus effects of sigma-receptor agonists in rats. Behav Pharmacol 22:525–530
- Hiranita T, Mereu M, Soto PL, Tanda G, Katz JL (2013a) Self-administration of cocaine induces dopamine-independent self-administration of sigma agonists. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:605–615
- Hiranita T, Soto PL, Tanda G, Kopajtic TA, Katz JL (2013b) Stimulants as specific inducers of dopamine-independent sigma agonist self-administration in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 347:20–29
- Hiranita T, Kohut SJ, Soto PL, Tanda G, Kopajtic TA, Katz JL (2014) Preclinical efficacy of N-substituted benztropine analogs as antagonists of methamphetamine self-administration in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 348:174–191
- Holtzman SG (1985) Drug discrimination studies. Drug Alcohol Depend 14:263-282
- Holtzman SG (1989) Opioid- and phencyclidine-like discriminative effects of ditolylguanidine, a selective sigma ligand. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 248:1054–1062
- Holtzman SG (1993) Discriminative stimulus effects of the PCP/sigma-ligand (+)-Nallylnormetazocine in monkeys. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 44:349–355
- Holtzman SG (1994) Discriminative stimulus effects of dextromethorphan in the rat. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 116:249–254
- Hong WC, Amara SG (2010) Membrane cholesterol modulates the outward-facing conformation of the dopamine transporter and alters cocaine binding. J Biol Chem 285:32616–32626
- Hong WC, Amara SG, Su T-P (2013) Exploring the association of the dopamine transporter with the sigma-1 receptor. Soc Neurosci Abstr, Program No. 228.07
- Horan B, Gardner EL, Dewey SL, Brodie JD, Ashby CR Jr (2001) The selective sigma(1) receptor agonist, 1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenethyl)-4-(phenylpropyl)piperazine (SA4503), blocks the acquisition of the conditioned place preference response to (–)-nicotine in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 426:R1–R2
- Horton DB, Potter DM, Mead AN (2013) A translational pharmacology approach to understanding the predictive value of abuse potential assessments. Behav Pharmacol 24:410–436
- Husbands SM, Izenwasser S, Kopajtic T, Bowen WD, Vilner BJ, Katz JL, Newman AH (1999) Structure-activity relationships at the monoamine transporters and sigma receptors for a novel series of 9-[3-(cis-3, 5-dimethyl-1-piperazinyl)propyl]carbazole (rimcazole) analogues. J Med Chem 42:4446–4455
- Izenwasser S, Newman AH, Katz JL (1993) Cocaine and several sigma receptor ligands inhibit dopamine uptake in rat caudate-putamen. Eur J Pharmacol 243:201–205
- James ML et al (2012) New positron emission tomography (PET) radioligand for imaging sigma-1 receptors in living subjects. J Med Chem 55:8272–8282
- Katz JL (1989) Drugs as reinforcers. In: Liebman JM, Cooper J (eds) The neuropharmacological basis of reward, Topics in experimental psychopharmacology. Clarendon Press/Oxford University Press, New York, pp 164–213
- Katz JL, Higgins ST (2003) The validity of the reinstatement model of craving and relapse to drug use. Psychopharmacology 168:21–30 [erattum: Psychopharmacology 2003 2168: 2244]
- Katz JL, Libby TA, Kopajtic T, Husbands SM, Newman AH (2003) Behavioral effects of rimcazole analogues alone and in combination with cocaine. Eur J Pharmacol 468:109–119
- Katz JL, Hiranita T, Kopajtic TA, Rice KC, Mesangeau C, Narayanan S, Abdelazeem AH, McCurdy CR (2016) Blockade of cocaine or sigma receptor agonist self-administration by subtype-selective sigma receptor antagonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 358:109–124
- Kim FJ, Kovalyshyn I, Burgman M, Neilan C, Chien CC, Pasternak GW (2010) Sigma 1 receptor modulation of G-protein-coupled receptor signaling: potentiation of opioid transduction independent from receptor binding. Mol Pharmacol 77:695–703
- Kitaichi K, Numauchi A, Hasegawa T, Furukawa H, Nabeshima T (1995) Effects of phencyclidine on the condition place preference. Folia Pharmacol Jpn 105:61P

- Kourrich S, Hayashi T, Chuang JY, Tsai SY, Su TP, Bonci A (2013) Dynamic interaction between sigma-1 receptor and Kv1.2 shapes neuronal and behavioral responses to cocaine. Cell 152:236–247
- Lever JR et al (2016) Cocaine occupancy of sigmal receptors and dopamine transporters in mice. Synapse 70:98–111
- Lin M, Goodwin SJ, Khoshbouei H (2012) Sigma-1 receptor interacts with the dopamine transporter and methamphetamine increases the frequency of this interaction. Soc Neurosci Abstr, Program No. 42.19
- Liu X, Banister SD, Christie MJ, Banati R, Meikle S, Coster MJ, Kassiou M (2007a) Trishomocubanes: novel sigma ligands modulate cocaine-induced behavioural effects. Eur J Pharmacol 555:37–42
- Liu Y, Yu Y, Shaikh J, Pouw B, Daniels A, Chen G, Matsumoto R (2007b) σ receptors and drug abuse. In: Sigma receptors. Springer, US, pp 315–336
- Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson JA, Huppler RE, Gilbert PE (1976) The effects of morphineand nalorphine- like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 197:517–532
- Martin BR, Katzen JS, Woods JA, Tripathi HL, Harris LS, May EL (1984) Stereoisomers of [3H]-N-allylnormetazocine bind to different sites in mouse brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 231:539–544
- Martin-Fardon R, Maurice T, Aujla H, Bowen WD, Weiss F (2007) Differential effects of sigmal receptor blockade on self-administration and conditioned reinstatement motivated by cocaine vs natural reward. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:1967–1973
- Matsumoto RR, Bowen WD, Tom MA, Vo VN, Truong DD, De Costa BR (1995) Characterization of two novel sigma receptor ligands: antidystonic effects in rats suggest sigma receptor antagonism. Eur J Pharmacol 280:301–310
- Matsumoto RR, Hewett KL, Pouw B, Bowen WD, Husbands SM, Cao JJ, Hauck Newman A (2001) Rimcazole analogs attenuate the convulsive effects of cocaine: correlation with binding to sigma receptors rather than dopamine transporters. Neuropharmacology 41:878–886
- Matsumoto RR, Li SM, Katz JL, Fantegrossi WE, Coop A (2011) Effects of the selective sigma receptor ligand, 1-(2-phenethyl)piperidine oxalate (AC927), on the behavioral and toxic effects of cocaine. Drug Alcohol Depend 118:40–47
- Matsumoto RR, Nguyen L, Kaushal N, Robson MJ (2014) Sigma (sigma) receptors as potential therapeutic targets to mitigate psychostimulant effects. Adv Pharmacol 69:323–386
- Maurice T (2007) Cognitive effects of σ receptor ligands. In: Matsumoto RR, Bowen WD, Su TP (eds) Sigma receptors. Springer, New York, pp 237–271
- Maurice T, Casalino M, Lacroix M, Romieu P (2003) Involvement of the sigma 1 receptor in the motivational effects of ethanol in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 74:869–876
- Menkel M, Terry P, Pontecorvo M, Katz JL, Witkin JM (1991) Selective sigma ligands block stimulant effects of cocaine. Eur J Pharmacol 201:251–252
- Mésangeau C et al (2008) Conversion of a highly selective sigma-1 receptor-ligand to sigma-2 receptor preferring ligands with anticocaine activity. J Med Chem 51:1482–1486
- Mori A, Noda Y, Mamiya T, Miyamoto Y, Nakajima A, Furukawa H, Nabeshima T (2001) Phencyclidine-induced discriminative stimulus is mediated via phencyclidine binding sites on the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-ion channel complex, not via sigma(1) receptors. Behav Brain Res 119:33–40
- Mori T et al (2012) Sigma-1 receptor function is critical for both the discriminative stimulus and aversive effects of the kappa-opioid receptor agonist U-50488H. Addict Biol 17:717–724
- Mori T, Rahmadi M, Yoshizawa K, Itoh T, Shibasaki M, Suzuki T (2014a) Inhibitory effects of SA4503 on the rewarding effects of abused drugs. Addict Biol 19:362–369
- Mori T et al (2014b) Differential substitution for the discriminative stimulus effects of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine and methylphenidate in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 350:403–411

- Nabeshima T, Kitaichi K, Noda Y (1996) Functional changes in neuronal systems induced by phencyclidine administration. Ann N Y Acad Sci 801:29–38
- Nam Y et al (2012) Dextromethorphan-induced psychotoxic behaviors cause sexual dysfunction in male mice via stimulation of sigma-1 receptors. Neurochem Int 61:913–922
- Narita M, Yoshizawa K, Aoki K, Takagi M, Miyatake M, Suzuki T (2001a) A putative sigmal receptor antagonist NE-100 attenuates the discriminative stimulus effects of ketamine in rats. Addict Biol 6:373–376
- Narita M, Yoshizawa K, Nomura M, Aoki K, Suzuki T (2001b) Role of the NMDA receptor subunit in the expression of the discriminative stimulus effect induced by ketamine. Eur J Pharmacol 423:41–46
- Navarro G et al (2010) Direct involvement of sigma-1 receptors in the dopamine D1 receptormediated effects of cocaine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:18676–18681
- Navarro G et al (2013) Cocaine inhibits dopamine D2 receptor signaling via sigma-1-D2 receptor heteromers. PLoS One 8, e61245
- Nguyen EC, McCracken KA, Liu Y, Pouw B, Matsumoto RR (2005) Involvement of sigma (sigma) receptors in the acute actions of methamphetamine: receptor binding and behavioral studies. Neuropharmacology 49:638–645
- Nicolaysen LC, Pan HT, Justice JB Jr (1988) Extracellular cocaine and dopamine concentrations are linearly related in rat striatum. Brain Res 456:317–323
- Northcutt AL et al (2015) DAT isn't all that: cocaine reward and reinforcement require Toll-like receptor 4 signaling. Mol Psychiatry 20:1525–1537
- O'Connor EC, Chapman K, Butler P, Mead AN (2011) The predictive validity of the rat selfadministration model for abuse liability. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 35:912–938
- Pal A, Hajipour AR, Fontanilla D, Ramachandran S, Chu UB, Mavlyutov T, Ruoho AE (2007) Identification of regions of the sigma-1 receptor ligand binding site using a novel photoprobe. Mol Pharmacol 72:921–933
- Pal A, Chu UB, Ramachandran S, Grawoig D, Guo LW, Hajipour AR, Ruoho AE (2008) Juxtaposition of the steroid binding domain-like I and II regions constitutes a ligand binding site in the sigma-1 receptor. J Biol Chem 283:19646–19656
- Palmer CP, Mahen R, Schnell E, Djamgoz MB, Aydar E (2007) Sigma-1 receptors bind cholesterol and remodel lipid rafts in breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 67:11166–11175
- Penmatsa A, Wang KH, Gouaux E (2013) X-ray structure of dopamine transporter elucidates antidepressant mechanism. Nature 503:85–90
- Pettit HO, Pettit AJ (1994) Disposition of cocaine in blood and brain after a single pretreatment. Brain Res 651:261–268
- Picker M, Dykstra LA (1987) Comparison of the discriminative stimulus properties of U50,488 and morphine in pigeons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 243:938–945
- Pontieri FE, Tanda G, Di Chiara G (1995) Intravenous cocaine, morphine, and amphetamine preferentially increase extracellular dopamine in the "shell" as compared with the "core" of the rat nucleus accumbens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:12304–12308
- Rahmadi M, Mori T, Kanazawa M, Kubota H, Shibasaki M, Suzuki T (2013) Involvement of sigma 1 receptor in the SSRI-induced suppression of the methamphetamine-induced behavioral sensitization and rewarding effects in mice. Nihon Shinkei Seishin Yakurigaku Zasshi (Japanese Journal of Psychopharmacology) 33:49–56
- Reith ME et al (2015) Behavioral, biological, and chemical perspectives on atypical agents targeting the dopamine transporter. Drug Alcohol Depend 147:1–19
- Rodvelt KR, Lever SZ, Lever JR, Blount LR, Fan KH, Miller DK (2011a) SA4503 attenuates cocaine-induced hyperactivity and enhances methamphetamine substitution for a cocaine discriminative stimulus. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 97:676–682
- Rodvelt KR, Oelrichs CE, Blount LR, Fan KH, Lever SZ, Lever JR, Miller DK (2011b) The sigma receptor agonist SA4503 both attenuates and enhances the effects of methamphetamine. Drug Alcohol Depend 116:203–210

- Romieu P, Martin-Fardon R, Maurice T (2000) Involvement of the sigmal receptor in the cocaineinduced conditioned place preference. Neuroreport 11:2885–2888
- Romieu P, Phan VL, Martin-Fardon R, Maurice T (2002) Involvement of the sigma(1) receptor in cocaine-induced conditioned place preference: possible dependence on dopamine uptake blockade. Neuropsychopharmacology 26:444–455
- Romieu P, Martin-Fardon R, Bowen WD, Maurice T (2003) Sigma 1 receptor-related neuroactive steroids modulate cocaine-induced reward. J Neurosci 23:3572–3576
- Romieu P, Meunier J, Garcia D, Zozime N, Martin-Fardon R, Bowen WD, Maurice T (2004) The sigma1 (sigma1) receptor activation is a key step for the reactivation of cocaine conditioned place preference by drug priming. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 175:154–162
- Sage AS, Vannest SC, Fan KH, Will MJ, Lever SZ, Lever JR, Miller DK (2013) N-phenylpropyl-N'-(3-methoxyphenethyl)piperazine (YZ-185) attenuates the conditioned-rewarding properties of cocaine in mice. ISRN Pharmacol 2013:546314, 7 pp
- Schenk S (2002) Effects of GBR 12909, WIN 35,428 and indatraline on cocaine selfadministration and cocaine seeking in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 160:263–270
- Schmidt HR, Zheng S, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human sigma1 receptor. Nature 532:527–530
- Schuster CR, Johanson CE (1988) Relationship between the discriminative stimulus properties and subjective effects of drugs. In: Colpaert F, Balster RL (eds) Transduction mechanisms of drug stimuli. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 161–175
- Sharkey J, Glen KA, Wolfe S, Kuhar MJ (1988) Cocaine binding at sigma receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 149:171–174
- Shin EJ et al (2005) The dextromethorphan analog dimemorfan attenuates kainate-induced seizures via sigmal receptor activation: comparison with the effects of dextromethorphan. Br J Pharmacol 144:908–918
- Singh L, Wong EH, Kesingland AC, Tricklebank MD (1990) Evidence against an involvement of the haloperidol-sensitive sigma recognition site in the discriminative stimulus properties of (+)-N-allylnormetazocine ((+)-SKF 10,047). Br J Pharmacol 99:145–151
- Slifer BL, Balster RL (1983) Reinforcing properties of stereoisomers of the putative sigma agonists N-allylnormetazocine and cyclazocine in rhesus monkeys. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 225:522–528
- Slifer BL, Dykstra LA (1987) Discriminative stimulus effects of N-allylnormetazocine in rats trained to discriminate a kappa from a sigma agonist. Life Sci 40:343–349
- Steinfels GF, Alberici GP, Tam SW, Cook L (1988) Biochemical, behavioral, and electrophysiologic actions of the selective sigma receptor ligand (+)-pentazocine. Neuropsychopharmacology 1:321–327
- Su TP (1982) Evidence for sigma opioid receptor: binding of [3H]SKF-10047 to etorphineinaccessible sites in guinea-pig brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 223:284–290
- Tanda G, Pontieri FE, Di Chiara G (1997) Cannabinoid and heroin activation of mesolimbic dopamine transmission by a common mul opioid receptor mechanism. Science 276:2048–2050
- Ujike H, Kanzaki A, Okumura K, Akiyama K, Otsuki S (1992a) Sigma (sigma) antagonist BMY 14802 prevents methamphetamine-induced sensitization. Life Sci 50:PL129–PL134
- Ujike H, Okumura K, Zushi Y, Akiyama K, Otsuki S (1992b) Persistent supersensitivity of sigma receptors develops during repeated methamphetamine treatment. Eur J Pharmacol 211:323–328
- Ukai M, Mori E, Kameyama T (1997) Modulatory effects of morphine, U-50488H and 1,3-di-(2-tolyl)guanidine on cocaine-like discriminative stimulus in the rat using two-choice discretetrial avoidance paradigm. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 19:541–546
- Valchar M, Hanbauer I (1993) Comparison of [3H]WIN 35,428 binding, a marker for dopamine transporter, in embryonic mesencephalic neuronal cultures with striatal membranes of adult rats. J Neurochem 60:469–476

- Vanecek SA, Essman WD, Taylor DP, Woods JH (1998) Discriminative stimulus characteristics of BMY 14802 in the pigeon. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 284:1–9
- Vidal-Torres A et al (2013) Sigma-1 receptor antagonism as opioid adjuvant strategy: enhancement of opioid antinociception without increasing adverse effects. Eur J Pharmacol 711:63–72
- Wang KH, Penmatsa A, Gouaux E (2015) Neurotransmitter and psychostimulant recognition by the dopamine transporter. Nature 521:322–327
- Werling LL, Derbez AE, Nuwayhid SJ (2007) Modulation of classical neurotransmitter systems by σ receptors. In: Matsumoto RR, Bowen WD, Su TP (eds) Sigma receptors. Springer, New York, pp 195–214
- Willetts J, Balster RL (1988) The discriminative stimulus effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonists in phencyclidine-trained rats. Neuropharmacology 27:1249–1256
- Witkin JM, Terry P, Menkel M, Hickey P, Pontecorvo M, Ferkany J, Katz JL (1993) Effects of the selective sigma receptor ligand, 6-[6-(4-hydroxypiperidinyl)hexyloxy]-3-methylflavone (NPC 16377), on behavioral and toxic effects of cocaine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 266:473–482
- Woods J, Winger G, France C (1987) Reinforcing and discriminative stimulus effects of cocaine: analysis of pharmacological mechanisms. In: Fisher S, Raskin A, Uhlenhuth EH (eds) Cocaine: clinical and biobehavioral aspects. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 21–65
- Wu HE, Schwasinger ET, Terashvili M, Tseng LF (2007) dextro-Morphine attenuates the morphine-produced conditioned place preference via the sigma(1) receptor activation in the rat. Eur J Pharmacol 562:221–226
- Xu YT, Kaushal N, Shaikh J, Wilson LL, Mesangeau C, McCurdy CR, Matsumoto RR (2010) A novel substituted piperazine, CM156, attenuates the stimulant and toxic effects of cocaine in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 333:491–500
- Xu YT, Robson MJ, Szeszel-Fedorowicz W, Patel D, Rooney R, McCurdy CR, Matsumoto RR (2012) CM156, a sigma receptor ligand, reverses cocaine-induced place conditioning and transcriptional responses in the brain. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 101:174–180
- Young AM, Woods JH (1981) Maintenance of behavior by ketamine and related compounds in rhesus monkeys with different self-administration histories. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 218:720–727
- Zernig G et al (2007) Explaining the escalation of drug use in substance dependence: models and appropriate animal laboratory tests. Pharmacology 80:65–119

Sigma Receptors and Alcohol Use Disorders

Valentina Sabino and Pietro Cottone

Contents

1	Epidemiology and Associated Medical Conditions	220
2	Definitions of Alcohol Use Disorders	221
3	Molecular Targets of Alcohol	221
4	Sigma Receptors and the Locomotor-Activating and Sedative Effects of Alcohol	222
5	Sigma Receptors and the Rewarding Properties of Alcohol	223
6	Sigma Receptors and Alcohol Drinking	224
	6.1 Home Cage Drinking	225
	6.2 Operant Self-Administration	227
7	Sigma Receptors and Alcohol Seeking	228
	7.1 Priming-Induced Alcohol Seeking Behavior	229
	7.2 Cue-Induced Alcohol Seeking Behavior	229
8	Sigma Receptors and Cognitive Impairment During Alcohol Withdrawal	230
9	Concluding Remarks	231
Re	ferences	232

Abstract

Although extensive research has focused on understanding the neurobiological mechanisms underlying alcohol addiction, pharmacological treatments for alcohol use disorders are very limited and not always effective. This constraint has encouraged the search for novel pharmacological targets for alcoholism therapy. Sigma receptors were shown to mediate some of the properties of cocaine and amphetamine, which was attributed to the direct binding of psychostimulants to these receptors. More recently, the role of sigma receptors in the rewarding and

V. Sabino (🖂) • P. Cottone

Laboratory of Addictive Disorders, Department of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics and Department of Psychiatry, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA 02118, USA Laboratory of Addictive Disorders, Boston University School of Medicine, 72 E Concord St, R-612, Boston, MA 02118, USA e-mail: vsabino@bu.edu

reinforcing effects of alcohol was also proposed, and it was suggested that their hyperactivity may result in excessive alcohol drinking. This chapter reviews current knowledge on the topic, and suggests that the sigma receptor system may represent a new therapeutic target for the treatment of alcohol use disorders.

Keywords

Addiction • Alcohol • Alcoholism • Alcohol dependence • Consumption • Drinking • Ethanol • Preferring • Withdrawal

1 Epidemiology and Associated Medical Conditions

The global status report on alcohol and health by the World Health Organization (WHO) indicates that worldwide alcohol consumption in 2010 was equal to 6.2 l of pure alcohol consumed per person aged 15 years or older per day (World Health Organization 2014). The WHO also indicates that in 2012, over 3 million deaths (~6% of all global deaths) were attributable to alcohol consumption (World Health Organization 2014). Globally, alcohol misuse is the first risk factor for premature death and disability for people between the ages of 15 and 49, and it is ranked fifth when all ages are accounted for. One-fourth of total deaths in people between 20 and 39 years are dependent on alcohol (World Health Organization 2014; Lim et al. 2012). In addition, estimates of the global economic burden of alcohol consumption suggest that alcohol is responsible for 1.3–3.3% of total health costs, 6.4–14.4% of total public order and safety costs, 0.3–1.4% of gross domestic product GDP for criminal damage costs, 1.0–1.7% of GDP for drunk driving costs, and 2.7–10.9% of GDP for workplace costs (e.g., absenteeism, unemployment, and premature mortality) (Baumberg 2006).

The adverse consequences on health associated with alcohol consumption are numerous. The WHO indicates that alcohol is a causal factor in 60 types of diseases and injury-related health conditions, including addiction, gastrointestinal diseases, cardiovascular diseases, cancers, fetal alcohol spectrum disease, and alcohol-related injuries (World Health Organization 2014).

Acute alcohol consumption is responsible for a variety of physiological and behavioral effects which are resultant of blood alcohol concentrations (BACs), (Koob and Le Moal 2005). At BACs of 10–50 mg/dl, alcohol increases locomotor activity, disinhibits behavior, and relieves anxiety. When BACs reach 80 mg/dl, alcohol impairs judgment, cognition, and motor function. Individuals with BACs of 150 mg/dl experience marked motor impairment and ataxia, memory lapse, as well as decreased reaction time. BACs of 300 mg/dl produce hypnosis and can cause general anesthesia and coma. At BACs of 400 mg/dl, death is observed in 50% of the people (Koob and Le Moal 2005).

Alcohol is responsible for a plethora of psychiatric disorders, the most relevant being alcohol use disorder (AUD). The diagnosis of AUD in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association 2013) integrates in a single disorder the diagnoses of alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence previously described in the fourth edition of the manual. The manual lists 11 criteria for AUD, and the disorder is diagnosed as mild, moderate, or severe as a function of the number of criteria met (2–3 mild, 4–5 moderate, >5 severe). According to the DSM-5, the diagnosis of AUD is therefore based on the presence of impaired control, social impairment, risky use, as well as pharmacological indicators.

2 Definitions of Alcohol Use Disorders

Alcohol represents the most commonly used and abused substance in the world and it has been consumed for centuries in several cultures. Alcohol exerts beneficial effects when consumed in moderation, but it has abuse potential when consumed in excess. According to the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, moderate alcohol consumption is defined as up to one drink per day for women and up to two drinks per day for men. A standard drink is defined as 14 g of pure alcohol, which are equivalent to a 12-ounce can of beer, a 5-ounce glass of wine, or a 1.5-ounce glass of 80-proof liquor. The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) defines binge drinking as a pattern of drinking which results in BAC levels of 80 mg/dL (NIAAA 2004). Binge drinking typically occurs with four drinks for women and five drinks for men in a time window of approximately 2 h. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) defines binge drinking as drinking five or more alcoholic drinks on the same occasion on at least 1 day in the past 30 days, while heavy drinking is defined as drinking five or more drinks on the same occasion on each of 5 or more days in the past 30 days (Koob and Le Moal 2005).

3 Molecular Targets of Alcohol

The molecular mechanisms of action of alcohol are several and complex, and still not entirely understood. The complexity of alcohol mechanisms is mainly due to its molecular structure: alcohol is a very small molecule with both polar and nonpolar properties and as such it can easily travel through both hydrophilic and lipophilic molecular and cellular structures. As a consequence, alcohol interacts with both plasma membrane and intracellular proteins. Given the plethora of molecular effects that alcohol can produce, here we will limit our discussion to a brief description of the main mechanisms underlying ethanol's putative direct interaction with specific target proteins.

A well-known mechanism of action of alcohol is related to its direct interaction with ligand-gated ion channel membrane proteins, especially the pentameric (five subunits) Cys-loop superfamily of neurotransmitter receptors including GABAA receptor (GABAAR), nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChRs), and glycine receptor (GlyR) (Olsen et al. 2014; Trudell et al. 2014). Alcohol directly binds and agonizes GABAAR, and the specific receptor subunit composition makes it more or less responsive to ethanol (Lobo and Harris 2008; Santhakumar et al. 2007; Mehta and Ticku 1988; Suzdak et al. 1988). $\alpha 4\beta 2\delta$, $\alpha 4\beta 3\delta$, and $\alpha 6\beta 3\delta$ GABAARs are very sensitive to alcohol, with concentrations of 0.1–1 mM of ethanol significantly enhancing GABA currents (Sundstrom-Poromaa et al. 2002; Wallner et al. 2003). In addition, alcohol is hypothesized to directly act on nAChRs and the net effect of this interaction depends on the receptor subunit composition; alcohol enhances the function of $\alpha 4\beta 2$, $\alpha 4\beta 4$, $\alpha 2\beta 2$, and $\alpha 2\beta 4$ nAChRs, while it exerts no effect on $\alpha 3\beta 2$ and $\alpha 3\beta 4$ nAChRs, and inhibits $\alpha 7$ nAChRs (Narahashi et al. 1999; Cardoso et al. 1999; Davis and de Fiebre 2006). Furthermore, alcohol can bind and positively modulate GlyRs (Perkins et al. 2010).

Another well-described mechanism of action of alcohol is its antagonistic action on the N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor (NMDAR); alcohol is thought to interact allosterically with NMDARs, reducing the affinity of the agonist for the receptors (Lima-Landman and Albuquerque 1989; Wright et al. 1996).

Alcohol has also been demonstrated to directly interact with G-protein-gated inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels activating them through a direct binding to a hydrophobic pocket. Interestingly, GIRK channels can be occupied and activated by chemical groups different than those of alcohol (Bodhinathan and Slesinger 2013).

Sigma receptor (SigR) ligands have been shown to influence the effects of psychostimulants, in particular cocaine and methamphetamine, which were demonstrated to bind directly to SigR, although at low (micromolar) affinity (Brammer et al. 2006; Nguyen et al. 2005; Sharkey et al. 1988). For this reason, until a few years ago, only a few studies had examined the possibility of a SigR modulation of ethanol's actions. However, growing evidence indicates that indirect SigR-mediated effects may exist for other substances of abuse besides psychostimulants, including ethanol. Therefore it is conceivable that, for example in the context of cocaine, some of the molecular mechanisms described for SigR may also be common to those of alcohol. Important mechanisms include the described interactions of SigR with dopamine D1 and D2 receptors, potassium channels and opioid receptors, as well as proteins of the nuclear envelope and histone deacetylases (Navarro et al. 2010, 2013; Kourrich et al. 2013; Tsai et al. 2010; Mei and Pasternak 2007).

4 Sigma Receptors and the Locomotor-Activating and Sedative Effects of Alcohol

Alcohol effects on locomotor activity are a direct function of the BACs attained. At low BACs, alcohol exerts locomotor-stimulating effects and increases locomotor activity, while at higher BACs, the depressant and sedative effects of alcohol become evident. The locomotor-stimulating properties of alcohol are interpreted as an index of its rewarding properties and abuse liability, and they are thought to be dependent on the activation of the mesolimbic dopaminergic system (Phillips and Shen 1996). In rodents, the locomotor-stimulating effects of alcohol and drugs are typically evaluated by placing subjects in an arena equipped with infrared sensor photobeams; the interruption of these photobeams, caused by the subjects' movement, is recorded by a computer and the number of interruptions is a direct index of the locomotor activity of the subjects.

The selective sigma-1 receptor (Sig-1R) antagonist N-[2-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)ethyl]-N-methyl-2-(dimethylamino)ethylamine (BD1047), injected at doses of 3–30 mg/kg, dose-dependently blocked the locomotor-stimulating effects induced by 1 g/kg of ethanol in Swiss mice (Maurice et al. 2003). In the same study, it was shown that the selective Sig-1R agonist PRE-084, administered at doses of 1–10 mg/kg, failed to affect alcohol-induced locomotion stimulation. Interestingly, neither drug affected locomotor activity when administered alone (Maurice et al. 2003).

Accordingly, in a recent study, Valenza et al. (2015) found that C57BL/6J mice lacking the *SIGMAR1* (previously known as *Oprs1*) gene, which encodes the Sig-1R, were less sensitive to the locomotor-stimulant effects of 1.5 g/kg of ethanol as compared to the wild-type counterpart. Since the C57BL/6J strain is particularly insensitive to the locomotor-stimulant effects of ethanol, mice in this study were pretreated with the benzodiazepine (BDZ) partial inverse agonist Ro 15-4513 (Miczek and Weerts 1987), which is able to unmask the stimulant effects of ethanol by blocking the depressant properties of ethanol (Becker and Hale 1989). These observations, therefore, confirm the notion that Sig-1R is involved in mediating the locomotor-stimulating effects of alcohol. Together these studies suggest that Sig-1R activation may mediate or at least contribute to the locomotor-activating effects of ethanol, and therefore perhaps also to its abuse potential.

In the same study, the effects of *SIGMAR1* knockout (KO) on the sedative effects of high doses of alcohol were tested using the loss of righting reflex procedure. In this procedure, following the administration of a high dose of alcohol (4 g/kg), mice are placed on a V-shaped surface, and the latency to lose the righting reflex (in-ability to right itself from a supine position) and the sleep duration are recorded. *SIGMAR1* KO mice were shown not to differ from wild-type mice neither in the latency to lose the righting reflex nor in time spent sleeping, suggesting a similar sensitivity between the two genotypes and therefore opposing the involvement of Sig-1R in the sedative effects of alcohol (Valenza et al. 2015).

5 Sigma Receptors and the Rewarding Properties of Alcohol

Alcohol can increase the salience of the contextual stimuli, such as places in which positive alcohol effects are experienced. Once, through associative learning, contextual neutral stimuli have acquired rewarding properties, they can then exert powerful control over behavior. This mechanism plays a critical role in maintaining alcohol taking behavior, as approaching an alcohol-associated context can set the occasion for drinking to begin (Bardo and Bevins 2000). An experimental procedure to evaluate whether a substance has rewarding properties is place conditioning (also known as conditioned place preference), a task where a compartment equipped with specific contextual cues is repeatedly paired with a rewarding substance (in this case ethanol) and therefore becomes preferred versus a second, neutral compartment (Bardo and Bevins 2000). Even though technically challenging depending on the specific species and strain used, alcohol is able to induce conditioned place preference in rodents (Cunningham and Noble 1992). Pharmacological agents can be administered either before each of the conditioning sessions to assess their influence on the acquisition of place preference or before the post-conditioning test to instead assess their influence on the expression of place preference.

Sig-1R antagonism has been shown to successfully block the expression of the conditioned place preference induced by alcohol. Indeed, pretreatment with the selective Sig-1R antagonist BD1047 (3-30 mg/kg), administered during conditioning, has been shown to dose dependently block the acquisition of place preference induced by repeated injections of 2 g/kg of alcohol in male mice (Maurice et al. 2003). In the same study, the authors demonstrated a bidirectionality of the process, as the selective Sig-1R agonist 2-(4-morpholino) ethyl 1-phenylcyclohexane-1-carboxylate (PRE-084, 1–10 mg/kg), given before a dose of ethanol (0.5 g/kg) (which was per se inert), resulted in a dramatic dose-dependent facilitation of ethanol-induced place preference (Maurice et al. 2003). These results were confirmed and extended in a study in which Sig-1R ligands were administered intracerebroventricularly (Bhutada et al. 2012). In this study, BD1047 (0.1-10 µg/mouse) dose dependently blocked not only the acquisition, but also the expression of ethanol-induced conditioned place preference. It is important to note that both BD1047 and PRE-084 have been repeatedly shown not to exert any effect on place preference when administered alone (Romieu et al. 2000, 2002; Maurice et al. 2003).

6 Sigma Receptors and Alcohol Drinking

Strong evidence from both human and animal studies supports the overarching hypothesis that SigR activation modulates alcohol intake and proposes a role for Sig-1R antagonists as potential pharmacological agents for the treatment of alcohol-use disorder.

A functional relationship between alcoholism and polymorphisms in the human *SIGMAR1* gene has been shown in a study by Miyatake et al. (2004), who measured the differential representation of *SIGMAR1* functional polymorphisms in a Japanese population of alcoholic subjects. This study showed that the frequency of the A-485 allele and the TT-241-240/Pro2 haplotype, whose transcriptional activity was significantly reduced compared with that of the T-485 allele and the GC-241-240 allele, was higher in controls relative to alcoholic subjects, suggesting that this polymorphism in *SIGMAR1* may act as protective factors for alcohol dependence.

At a preclinical level, a relatively large body of evidence has shown a bidirectional role for SigRs in regulating alcohol drinking, and these studies are reviewed below based on the experimental procedure used to assess alcohol drinking behavior: home cage vs. operant self-administration.

6.1 Home Cage Drinking

A procedure used to evaluate drinking in rats is the two-bottle choice. In this procedure, alcohol drinking is measured in rats that are provided continuous access (24-h day) in their home cage with two bottles: one containing a solution of ethanol (usually 10% v/v), and the other one water. Intake and preference are both measured.

In the context of SigR pharmacology, many studies using the two-bottle choice procedure have been performed in selectively bred Sardinian alcohol-preferring (sP) rat. Lines of rodents genetically selected for high alcohol intake and preference represent a successful tool to study the genetic factors underlying excessive alcohol consumption (Ciccocioppo and Hyytia 2006). In particular, rats of the sP rat line have been shown to voluntarily drink large quantities of ethanol, to have a strong innate preference for ethanol over water, and to possess a heritable component analog to human alcohol dependence (Cloninger et al. 1981; Prescott and Kendler 1999; Sigvardsson et al. 1996). Therefore, sP rats represent a model of genetic predisposition to high ethanol drinking and a tool for identifying potential pharmacotherapies for alcoholism (Colombo et al. 2006).

Sig-1Rs have been demonstrated to exert a key role in both the acquisition and the maintenance of excessive alcohol drinking in sP rats. Sabino and colleagues have shown that chronic systemic administration of the selective Sig-1R antagonist BD1063 (30 mg/kg) dramatically reduced the acquisition of alcohol-drinking behavior in sP rats, reducing both intake and preference for alcohol (Blasio et al. 2015). In this study, vehicle-treated sP rats rapidly escalated their alcohol intake to 6 g/kg of ethanol per day within the 2 weeks of observation. Ethanol drinking acquisition was also accompanied by a rapid increase in the preference for alcohol as the consumption of water gradually decreased to maintain a stable overall fluid intake. On the other hand, BD1063-treated sP rats showed a marked reduction in alcohol drinking accompanied by an increase in water intake. Notably, the drug treatment did not affect overall fluid intake and significantly decreased the preference for alcohol, indicating that Sig-1R antagonism is able to shift the innate inclination to drink alcohol over water of sP rats (Blasio et al. 2015). sP rats were also shown to have innately higher levels of Sig-1R protein in the nucleus accumbens (NAcc) as compared to outbred Wistar rats, which provides critical information about the genetic basis of high alcohol drinking (Blasio et al. 2015). Interestingly, increased Sig-1R levels in the NAcc were normalized by chronic alcohol consumption, which may be consistent with the reduced motivation to drink alcohol which follows recent alcohol consumption (Blasio et al. 2015).

Sig-1R antagonism has also been demonstrated to decrease the maintenance of alcohol drinking in sP rats (Sabino et al. 2009b). The selective Sig-1R antagonist

NE100 (10-30 mg/kg) reduced the intake of alcohol consumed by sP rats when injected either acutely or chronically. Following acute administration, NE100 dramatically reduced excessive ethanol intake, and decreased the preference for alcohol by increasing the volume of water consumed without affecting total fluid intake. In addition, when sP rats were offered a two-bottle choice between sucrose and water, acute NE100 treatment did not decrease the consumption of sucrose. Overall, these results suggest that the effect of the drug was selective for alcohol and that it was not due to malaise or secondary to an overall behavioral deficit (Sabino et al. 2009b). In addition, the alcohol-suppressive effect of NE100 was not due to changes in ethanol pharmacokinetics, as drug treatment did not affect BACs when ethanol was administered by gavage (Sabino et al. 2009b). Chronic NE100 treatment to sP rats (30 mg/kg) also significantly reduced alcohol intake, with a peak reduction by the treatment day 3. Starting from day 6, some tolerance to NE100's effect was evident, similar to what was also observed with opioid receptor antagonists (e.g., naloxone and naltrexone), for which tolerance has been shown to develop after 5-14 days of treatment (Cowen et al. 1999; Overstreet et al. 1999; Parkes and Sinclair 2000). Chronic treatment with NE100 did not affect daily food intake (Sabino et al. 2009b).

NE100 treatment was also shown to fully block the increase in alcohol consumption observed when alcohol access is reinstated following a period of deprivation (Sabino et al. 2009b). This transient increase in alcohol consumption is referred to as "alcohol deprivation effect" and it has been posited to be an animal model for alcohol craving and relapse (Rodd-Henricks et al. 2000; Agabio et al. 2000). In this procedure, sP rats, trained under a two-bottle choice continuous access condition, were forced to abstain from alcohol for 1 week, and on the test day, either NE100 or vehicle was administered to the rats before access renewal. Under vehicle conditions, abstinent sP rats dramatically increased the intake of alcohol upon renewing access to the bottle of alcohol as compared to non-abstinent rats; this alcohol deprivation effect was fully prevented by pretreatment with the selective Sig-1R antagonist (Sabino et al. 2009b).

It has been recently shown that *SIGMAR1* KO mice show greater alcohol intake and greater alcohol preference in a two-bottle choice procedure as compared to WT mice (Valenza et al. 2015). Interestingly, the higher the concentration of alcohol provided (3%, 6%, and 20% v/v), the more pronounced the observed increase in alcohol intake was. Conversely, when mice were tested in two-bottle choice for either saccharin or quinine, neither the intake of the sweet nor of the bitter solution was changed in *SIGMAR1* KO mice, ruling out that the deletion of *SIGMAR1* results in altered taste perception or in a general increase in intake of fluids (Valenza et al. 2015). Results from this study seem to contradict the overarching hypothesis that Sig-1R activation mediates the effects of alcohol and that Sig-1R antagonism decreases excessive alcohol drinking (Sabino et al. 2009a, b, 2011). However, the species difference (mice vs. rats) may be responsible for the differential effects observed. In addition, it cannot be excluded that in whole-body KO mice developmental mechanisms play a counteradaptive role and may confound the results obtained.

6.2 Operant Self-Administration

The reinforcing effects of alcohol are studied using instrumental conditioning, a form of associative learning in which subjects (typically rats or mice) learn to self-administer alcohol (or water) by pressing a lever inside an operant chamber. Following a single press on one of the two levers (fixed ratio 1), a syringe pump containing the solution is activated and the respective fluid is dispensed into a drinking cup. In this procedure alcohol drinking is evaluated as the number of responses emitted on the alcohol lever.

Two major studies have been pivotal in demonstrating the bidirectional modulatory role of SigR in the reinforcing properties of alcohol.

In a first study, the effects of the selective Sig-1R antagonist BD1063 on alcohol reinforcement were evaluated in both a genetic and an environmental animal model of excessive alcohol drinking (Sabino et al. 2009a). The genetic animal model used in this study was the sP rats described above. The environmental animal model was outbred Wistar rats made dependent through the exposure to chronic intermittent ethanol (CIE). Briefly, rats were housed for a period of 4-6 weeks in sealed chambers into which ethanol vapor was intermittently introduced (for review, see Vendruscolo and Roberts 2014); BACs were kept at approximately 150–200 mg% across the exposure period. During acute withdrawal from alcohol, CIE rats show heightened levels of ethanol self-administration, anxiety-like behavior, and increased threshold in the intracranial self-stimulation, compared to control, air-exposed rats (Sabino et al. 2006; Funk et al. 2006; O'Dell et al. 2004). Results from this study showed that the selective Sig-1R antagonist BD1063 (3.3–11 mg/ kg) dose dependently reduced excessive ethanol self-administration in both sP rats and CIE rats during acute withdrawal (Sabino et al. 2009a). BD1063 did not, however, reduce ethanol self-administration in control rats. In addition, BD1063 treatment did not affect responding for water or for an equally reinforcing solution of saccharin, suggesting that the Sig-1R antagonist effects were selective for alcohol (Sabino et al. 2009a).

In the same study, the effects of BD1063 were also tested in a progressive ratio schedule of reinforcement for alcohol, which represents a highly validated operant model to assess subjects' motivation for alcohol (Hodos 1961). In this procedure, the number of lever presses (ratio) required to obtain a single reinforcer increases progressively, with the last ratio defined as the "breakpoint." The breakpoint, therefore, represents the maximum effort a subject expends to obtain the desired reinforcing stimulus, and is an objective measure of the subject's motivation. Results from this study showed that BD1063 (3.3–11 mg/kg) dose dependently reduced the breakpoint for ethanol in sP rats (Sabino et al. 2009a).

Collectively, these data suggest that Sig-1Rs are recruited in conditions of excessive ethanol intake and/or heightened motivation, thus likely contributing to innate and ethanol-induced increases in susceptibility to drink excessively. In addition, the increase in the NAcc Sig-1R expression levels in sP rats compared to outbred Wistar rats observed by Blasio et al. (2015) can be speculated to explain the increased sensitivity of sP rats to pharmacological blockade with Sig-1R antagonists found in this study.

The results of a second study demonstrated the bidirectionality of the modulation of ethanol drinking exerted by the SigR system. Daily systemic treatment (2/day for 7 consecutive days) with the SigR agonist 1.3-di-(2-tolyl)guanidine (DTG) (15 mg/kg) was shown to increase ethanol self-administration in sP rats under a fixed ratio 1 schedule of responding (Sabino et al. 2011). Importantly, the increased self-administration in DTG-treated rats resulted in BACs exceeding 80 mg%, which can therefore be regarded as "binge-like" according to the definition provided by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA 2004). Importantly, SigR agonist treatment might represent a novel way to induce binge drinking in laboratory animals, which historically has been difficult to achieve (Sabino et al. 2011). Treatment with DTG also increased breakpoint for ethanol in a progressive ratio schedule of reinforcement, suggesting a greater motivation to work for alcohol. Notably, the DTG-induced increase in ethanol intake was reversed by a subthreshold dose of the Sig-1R antagonist BD1063, confirming that the Sig-1R subtype mediated the DTG effects (Sabino et al. 2011). In addition, considering that both sP rats and acutely withdrawn CIE rats show alterations of Sig-1R levels in the NAcc (Blasio et al. 2015; Sabino et al. 2009a), it is conceivable that Sig-1R of the NAcc may mediate the susceptibility to excessive drinking, both innate and induced by chronic alcohol exposure.

Repeated treatment with DTG induced an increase in μ - and δ -opioid receptor gene expression in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) of sP rats, suggesting that SigR agonists may facilitate ethanol's ability to activate the mesolimbic dopaminergic system through this mechanism which involved the endogenous opioid system of the VTA. These results suggest a key facilitatory role for SigR in the reinforcing effects of ethanol and identify a potential mechanism that contributes to excessive drinking.

7 Sigma Receptors and Alcohol Seeking

One of the major issues encountered in the treatment of alcohol addiction is relapse following abstinence. In alcoholic individuals, abstinence is accompanied by craving, a strong desire to engage in alcohol drinking often referred to as alcohol seeking behavior, which is in turn responsible for relapse (Martin-Fardon and Weiss 2013; Everitt and Robbins 2000; Le and Shaham 2002). Craving is typically triggered by a number of different factors, of which the most common are exposure to stress, exposure to alcohol (i.e., priming), and exposure to conditioned environmental stimuli previously associated with alcohol (i.e., conditioned cues). In this chapter, we focus on seeking behavior triggered by exposure to either priming or alcohol conditioned cues, as they are factors triggering relapse studied in relation to SigR system.

7.1 Priming-Induced Alcohol Seeking Behavior

In alcoholics, relapse and craving during abstinence are often triggered by acute reexposure to alcohol (Chutuape et al. 1994; Hodgson et al. 1979). Small amounts of alcohol can act much like *hors d'oeuvres*, thereby contributing to the "firstdrink" relapse phenomenon (Ludwig et al. 1974). Literature suggests that SigRs are involved in the mechanisms underlying priming-induced alcohol seeking behavior. Indeed, Bhutada and colleagues examined the effects of SigR ligands on priming-induced reinstatement of ethanol conditioned place preference (Bhutada et al. 2012). This procedure is based on the conditioned place paradigm described previously. Briefly, specific tactile and visual stimuli of one of the two compartments of a place preference apparatus are associated with the effects of alcohol. while the stimuli of the other compartment remain neutral. Once ethanol place preference has been established, subjects are repeatedly exposed to the alcoholpaired compartment until preference is gradually extinguished. Once the alcohol preference is extinguished, it can be reinstated by exposure to alcohol or to another pharmacological agent (i.e., cross-reinstatement). In this study, the authors demonstrated that alcohol seeking behavior could be reinstated by systemic administration of 1 g/kg of ethanol or cross-reinstated by intracerebroventricular microinfusion of the selective Sig-1R PRE-084 (1-10 µg/mouse). In addition, the selective Sig-1R antagonist BD1047 (1–10 µg/mouse), microinfused intracerebroventricularly, was able to dose dependently block both ethanol-induced reinstatement and the PRE-084-induced cross-reinstatement of ethanol-induced conditioned place preference, suggesting that reinstatement of ethanol conditioned place preference involves the activation of central Sig-1Rs (Bhutada et al. 2012).

7.2 Cue-Induced Alcohol Seeking Behavior

As previously mentioned, once contextual stimuli are associated with the positive effects of alcohol through Pavlovian conditioning, they can exert a strong control over behavior. These conditioned cues become particularly relevant in occasions in which the effects of alcohol are not being experienced (i.e., during abstinence), and can lead to resumption of alcohol drinking. In preclinical psychopharmacological research, different animal models of alcohol seeking behavior have been developed to study the influence of stimuli associated with alcohol. Here we will be describing two operant responding alcohol seeking procedures, which have been used to assess the role of SigRs in the modulation of the influence of alcohol-associated cues over behavior.

A classical experimental procedure used to assess seeking behavior is the cue-induced reinstatement of seeking behavior. In this task, subjects are trained to self-administer alcohol by pressing a lever, and each lever response is contiguously paired with a brief presentation of a conditioned stimulus (e.g., an olfactory

stimulus, a light, a tone). Following the initial training, ethanol-reinforced responding is extinguished by withholding both alcohol delivery and presentation of the conditioned stimulus. Once extinction of lever responding is obtained, reinstatement of alcohol seeking behavior is induced by presenting the alcohol-associated conditioned stimulus. Using this procedure, Martin-Fardon and colleagues showed that the selective Sig-1R BD1047 (3–20 mg/kg) was able to block cue-induced reinstatement of alcohol seeking induced by presentation of an olfactory stimulus.

Another classical experimental procedure used to assess seeking behavior is the seeking-taking chain in a second-order schedule of reinforcement, where responding on a seeking lever is maintained not only by the self-administered reinforcer, but also by contingent presentation of reinforcer-paired stimuli that serve as conditioned reinforcers of instrumental behavior (Velazquez-Sanchez et al. 2015; Everitt and Robbins 2000; Giuliano et al. 2015). Typically, a second inactive lever is present and responses on this lever result in no consequences, but are recorded as an index of motor activity. This procedure has been recently established employing alcohol as the reinforcer, and it has been used to determine the role of SigR in alcohol seeking behavior (Blasio et al. 2015). The selective Sig-1R antagonist BD1063 (3–30 mg/kg) systemically administered was shown to be able to dramatically and dose dependently reduce alcohol seeking behavior. All doses of BD1063 tested significantly decreased the number of lever presses and importantly BD1063 did not affect responding on the inactive lever, ruling out an overall behavioral suppression.

Altogether, these data suggest that the ability of alcohol-associated cues to induce seeking behavior involves the activation of Sig-1R.

8 Sigma Receptors and Cognitive Impairment During Alcohol Withdrawal

Withdrawal from chronic consumption of alcohol is characterized by a plethora of physical, motivational, cognitive, and emotional symptoms (Pitel et al. 2007; Beatty et al. 1995; McKeon et al. 2008; Koob 2003). Withdrawal symptoms can be unpleasant and intense, and can develop from several hours to a few days after the cessation (or reduction) of heavy and prolonged alcohol use; while certain symptoms may be short lasting, others can persist for months and contribute to relapse (Koob 2000, 2003; American Psychiatric Association 2013).

The impairment in cognitive function is a symptom associated with chronic alcohol exposure withdrawal (Beatty et al. 1995; Pitel et al. 2007), and has been demonstrated to involve the Sig-1R system (Meunier et al. 2006; Sabeti 2011; Sabeti and Gruol 2008). In a study conducted by Meunier and colleagues, mice were shown to develop cognitive dysfunction in a novel object recognition task, during a 16-day withdrawal period which followed 4 months of chronic alcohol consumption. In this task, mice were tested for their ability to habituate to familiar objects, to correctly locate familiar object in different spatial locations, and to recognize familiar vs. novel objects. Alcohol-withdrawn mice showed increased locomotion, anxiety, and object exploration, which impeded correct reaction to object habituation, spatial change, and novelty. Importantly the authors showed that treatment with either a nonselective Sig-1R agonist (igmesine) or a Sig-1R antagonist (BD1047) restored correct reactions to spatial change and novelty in mice (Meunier et al. 2006). In addition, these mice had upregulated Sig-1R expression in the hippocampus, which was attenuated following repeated administration of either Sig-1R ligand, suggesting that the increase in hippocampal Sig-1R levels may mediate the ethanol withdrawal-induced cognitive impairments (Meunier et al. 2006).

In addition, it was shown using slice electrophysiology that withdrawal from chronic intermittent ethanol vapors during adolescence significantly alters long-term potentiation in the hippocampus via a Sig-1R-related mechanism (Sabeti and Gruol 2008; Sabeti 2011). In a first study, authors examined how chronic ethanol exposure during adolescence affects long-term potentiation (LTP) mechanisms in the hippocampus (Sabeti and Gruol 2008). The study shows that the selective Sig-1R antagonist BD1047 blocked a slow-developing NMDAR-independent LTP in excitatory CA1 synapses in hippocampal slices at 24 h after CIE vapor exposure. In addition, in alcohol-withdrawn early-adolescent animals, authors observed a Sig-1R-dependent increased presynaptic function during NMDAR-independent LTP induction.

In a second study, the same authors found that, in slices obtained from adolescent rats exposed to chronic intermittent alcohol, CA1 neurons responded to the induction of large-amplitude LTP stimulations with a reduced excitability during ethanol withdrawal compared to slices obtained from ethanol-naïve rats. Importantly these impairments, which manifested as decreased spike efficacy and impaired activity-induced field excitatory postsynaptic potential-to-spike (E-S) potentiation, were normalized by the Sig-1R antagonist BD1047. These data suggest that acute ethanol withdrawal recruits Sig-1Rs, which in turn act to depress the efficacy of excitatory inputs in triggering action potentials during LTP.

9 Concluding Remarks

As reviewed above, there is growing evidence that the Sig-1R system may represent a novel target for the pharmacological treatment of alcohol-use disorders. Sig-1R antagonists have proven effective in reducing excessive alcohol drinking and alcohol seeking behavior in multiple animal models, suggesting that Sig-1R activation mediates the susceptibility to drink high quantities of alcohol. However, the exact mechanisms through which the Sig-1R system influences the actions of alcohol are still not entirely clear. Therefore, mechanistic studies aimed at understanding the interaction between the Sig-1R system and alcohol are warranted to improve our understanding of the neurobiological bases of alcoholism and help develop novel therapeutic options for this disorder.

References

- Agabio R, Carai MA, Lobina C, Pani M, Reali R, Vacca G, Gessa GL, Colombo G (2000) Development of short-lasting alcohol deprivation effect in Sardinian alcohol-preferring rats. Alcohol 21(1):59–62
- American Psychiatric Association (2013) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 5th edn. American Psychiatric Association, Washington, DC
- Bardo MT, Bevins RA (2000) Conditioned place preference: what does it add to our preclinical understanding of drug reward? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 153(1):31–43
- Baumberg B (2006) The global economic burden of alcohol: a review and some suggestions. Drug Alcohol Rev 25(6):537–551. doi:10.1080/09595230600944479
- Beatty WW, Katzung VM, Moreland VJ, Nixon SJ (1995) Neuropsychological performance of recently abstinent alcoholics and cocaine abusers. Drug Alcohol Depend 37(3):247–253
- Becker HC, Hale RL (1989) Ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation in C57BL/6 mice following RO15-4513 administration. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 99(3):333–336
- Bhutada PS, Mundhada YR, Ghodki YR, Chaware P, Dixit PV, Jain KS, Umathe SN (2012) Influence of sigma-1 receptor modulators on ethanol-induced conditioned place preference in the extinctionreinstatement model. Behav Pharmacol 23(1):25–33. doi:10.1097/FBP.0b013e32834eafe6
- Blasio A, Valenza M, Iyer MR, Rice KC, Steardo L, Hayashi T, Cottone P, Sabino V (2015) Sigma-1 receptor mediates acquisition of alcohol drinking and seeking behavior in alcoholpreferring rats. Behav Brain Res 287:315–322. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.03.065
- Bodhinathan K, Slesinger PA (2013) Molecular mechanism underlying ethanol activation of G-proteingated inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(45):18309–18314. doi:10.1073/pnas.1311406110
- Brammer MK, Gilmore DL, Matsumoto RR (2006) Interactions between 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine and sigma1 receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 553(1–3):141–145. doi:10.1016/j. ejphar.2006.09.038
- Cardoso RA, Brozowski SJ, Chavez-Noriega LE, Harpold M, Valenzuela CF, Harris RA (1999) Effects of ethanol on recombinant human neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289(2):774–780
- Chutuape MA, Mitchell S, De Wit H (1994) Ethanol preloads increase ethanol preference under concurrent random-ratio schedules in social drinkers. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 2:310–318
- Ciccocioppo R, Hyytia P (2006) The genetic of alcoholism: learning from 50 years of research. Addict Biol 11(3–4):193–194. doi:10.1111/j.1369-1600.2006.00028.x
- Cloninger CR, Bohman M, Sigvardsson S (1981) Inheritance of alcohol abuse: cross-fostering analysis of adopted men. Arch Gen Psychiatry 38(8):861–868
- Colombo G, Lobina C, Carai MA, Gessa GL (2006) Phenotypic characterization of genetically selected Sardinian alcohol-preferring (sP) and -non-preferring (sNP) rats. Addict Biol 11 (3–4):324–338. doi:10.1111/j.1369-1600.2006.00031.x
- Cowen MS, Rezvani AH, Jarrott B, Lawrence AJ (1999) Ethanol consumption by Fawn-Hooded rats following abstinence: effect of naltrexone and changes in mu-opioid receptor density. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 23(6):1008–1014
- Cunningham CL, Noble D (1992) Conditioned activation induced by ethanol: role in sensitization and conditioned place preference. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 43(1):307–313
- Davis TJ, de Fiebre CM (2006) Alcohol's actions on neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Alcohol Res Health 29(3):179–185
- Everitt BJ, Robbins TW (2000) Second-order schedules of drug reinforcement in rats and monkeys: measurement of reinforcing efficacy and drug-seeking behaviour. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 153(1):17–30
- Funk CK, O'Dell LE, Crawford EF, Koob GF (2006) Corticotropin-releasing factor within the central nucleus of the amygdala mediates enhanced ethanol self-administration in withdrawn, ethanol-dependent rats. J Neurosci 26(44):11324–11332

- Giuliano C, Goodlett CR, Economidou D, Garcia-Pardo MP, Belin D, Robbins TW, Bullmore ET, Everitt BJ (2015) The novel mu-opioid receptor antagonist gsk1521498 decreases both alcohol seeking and drinking: evidence from a new preclinical model of alcohol seeking. Neuropsychopharmacology 40(13):2981–2992. doi:10.1038/npp.2015.152
- Hodgson R, Rankin H, Stockwell T (1979) Alcohol dependence and the priming effect. Behav Res Ther 17(4):379–387
- Hodos W (1961) Progressive ratio as a measure of reward strength. Science 134(3483):943-944
- Kim FJ, Kovalyshyn I, Burgman M, Neilan C, Chien CC, Pasternak GW (2010) Sigma 1 receptor modulation of G-protein-coupled receptor signaling: potentiation of opioid transduction independent from receptor binding. Mol Pharmacol 77(4):695–703. doi:10.1124/mol.109.057083
- Koob GF (2000) Animal models of craving for ethanol. Addiction 95(Suppl 2):S73-S81
- Koob GF (2003) Alcoholism: allostasis and beyond. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 27(2):232–243. doi:10.1097/01.ALC.0000057122.36127.C2
- Koob GF, Le Moal M (2005) Neurobiology of addiction. Academic Press, London
- Kourrich S, Hayashi T, Chuang JY, Tsai SY, Su TP, Bonci A (2013) Dynamic interaction between sigma-1 receptor and Kv1.2 shapes neuronal and behavioral responses to cocaine. Cell 152 (1–2):236–247. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.004
- Le A, Shaham Y (2002) Neurobiology of relapse to alcohol in rats. Pharmacol Ther 94(1-2):137-156
- Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, Danaei G, Shibuya K, Adair-Rohani H, Amann M, Anderson HR, Andrews KG, Aryee M, Atkinson C, Bacchus LJ, Bahalim AN, Balakrishnan K, Balmes J, Barker-Collo S, Baxter A, Bell ML, Blore JD, Blyth F, Bonner C, Borges G, Bourne R, Boussinesq M, Brauer M, Brooks P, Bruce NG, Brunekreef B, Bryan-Hancock C, Bucello C, Buchbinder R, Bull F, Burnett RT, Byers TE, Calabria B, Carapetis J, Carnahan E, Chafe Z, Charlson F, Chen H, Chen JS, Cheng AT, Child JC, Cohen A, Colson KE, Cowie BC, Darby S, Darling S, Davis A, Degenhardt L, Dentener F, Des Jarlais DC, Devries K, Dherani M, Ding EL, Dorsey ER, Driscoll T, Edmond K, Ali SE, Engell RE, Erwin PJ, Fahimi S, Falder G, Farzadfar F, Ferrari A, Finucane MM, Flaxman S, Fowkes FG, Freedman G, Freeman MK, Gakidou E, Ghosh S, Giovannucci E, Gmel G, Graham K, Grainger R, Grant B, Gunnell D, Gutierrez HR, Hall W, Hoek HW, Hogan A, Hosgood HD 3rd, Hoy D, Hu H, Hubbell BJ, Hutchings SJ, Ibeanusi SE, Jacklyn GL, Jasrasaria R, Jonas JB, Kan H, Kanis JA, Kassebaum N, Kawakami N, Khang YH, Khatibzadeh S, Khoo JP, Kok C, Laden F, Lalloo R, Lan Q, Lathlean T, Leasher JL, Leigh J, Li Y, Lin JK, Lipshultz SE, London S, Lozano R, Lu Y, Mak J, Malekzadeh R, Mallinger L, Marcenes W, March L, Marks R, Martin R, McGale P, McGrath J, Mehta S, Mensah GA, Merriman TR, Micha R, Michaud C, Mishra V, Mohd Hanafiah K, Mokdad AA, Morawska L, Mozaffarian D, Murphy T, Naghavi M, Neal B, Nelson PK, Nolla JM, Norman R, Olives C, Omer SB, Orchard J, Osborne R, Ostro B, Page A, Pandey KD, Parry CD, Passmore E, Patra J, Pearce N, Pelizzari PM, Petzold M, Phillips MR, Pope D, Pope CA 3rd, Powles J, Rao M, Razavi H, Rehfuess EA, Rehm JT, Ritz B, Rivara FP, Roberts T, Robinson C, Rodriguez-Portales JA, Romieu I, Room R, Rosenfeld LC, Roy A, Rushton L, Salomon JA, Sampson U, Sanchez-Riera L, Sanman E, Sapkota A, Seedat S, Shi P, Shield K, Shivakoti R, Singh GM, Sleet DA, Smith E, Smith KR, Stapelberg NJ, Steenland K, Stöckl H, Stovner LJ, Straif K, Straney L, Thurston GD, Tran JH, Van Dingenen R, van Donkelaar A, Veerman JL, Vijayakumar L, Weintraub R, Weissman MM, White RA, Whiteford H, Wiersma ST, Wilkinson JD, Williams HC, Williams W, Wilson N, Woolf AD, Yip P, Zielinski JM, Lopez AD, Murray CJ, Ezzati M, AlMazroa MA, Memish ZA (2012) A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380(9859):2224-2260. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61766-8
- Lima-Landman MT, Albuquerque EX (1989) Ethanol potentiates and blocks NMDA-activated single-channel currents in rat hippocampal pyramidal cells. FEBS Lett 247(1):61–67
- Lobo IA, Harris RA (2008) GABA(A) receptors and alcohol. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 90(1):90–94. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2008.03.006

- Ludwig AM, Wikler A, Stark LH (1974) The first drink: psychobiological aspects of craving. Arch Gen Psychiatry 30(4):539–547
- Martin-Fardon R, Weiss F (2013) Modeling relapse in animals. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 13:403–432. doi:10.1007/7854_2012_202
- Maurice T, Casalino M, Lacroix M, Romieu P (2003) Involvement of the sigma 1 receptor in the motivational effects of ethanol in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 74(4):869–876
- McKeon A, Frye MA, Delanty N (2008) The alcohol withdrawal syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 79(8):854–862. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2007.128322
- Mehta AK, Ticku MK (1988) Ethanol potentiation of GABAergic transmission in cultured spinal cord neurons involves gamma-aminobutyric acidA-gated chloride channels. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 246(2):558–564
- Mei J, Pasternak GW (2007) Modulation of brainstem opiate analgesia in the rat by sigma 1 receptors: a microinjection study. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 322(3):1278–1285
- Meunier J, Demeilliers B, Célérier A, Maurice T (2006) Compensatory effect by sigma1 (σ 1) receptor stimulation during alcohol withdrawal in mice performing an object recognition task. Behav Brain Res 166(1):166–176
- Miczek KA, Weerts EM (1987) Seizures in drug-treated animals. Science 235(4793):1127-1128
- Miyatake R, Furukawa A, Matsushita S, Higuchi S, Suwaki H (2004) Functional polymorphisms in the sigma1 receptor gene associated with alcoholism. Biol Psychiatry 55(1):85–90
- Narahashi T, Aistrup GL, Marszalec W, Nagata K (1999) Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: a new target site of ethanol. Neurochem Int 35(2):131–141
- Navarro G, Moreno E, Aymerich M, Marcellino D, McCormick PJ, Mallol J, Cortes A, Casado V, Canela EI, Ortiz J, Fuxe K, Lluis C, Ferre S, Franco R (2010) Direct involvement of sigma-1 receptors in the dopamine D1 receptor-mediated effects of cocaine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(43):18676–18681. doi:10.1073/pnas.1008911107
- Navarro G, Moreno E, Bonaventura J, Brugarolas M, Farre D, Aguinaga D, Mallol J, Cortes A, Casado V, Lluis C, Ferre S, Franco R, Canela E, McCormick PJ (2013) Cocaine inhibits dopamine D2 receptor signaling via sigma-1-D2 receptor heteromers. PLoS One 8(4):e61245. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061245
- Nguyen EC, McCracken KA, Liu Y, Pouw B, Matsumoto RR (2005) Involvement of sigma (sigma) receptors in the acute actions of methamphetamine: receptor binding and behavioral studies. Neuropharmacology 49(5):638–645. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2005.04.016
- NIAAA (2004) NIAAA council approves definition of binge drinking. NIAAA Newsletter. http:// pubs.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/Newsletter/winter2004/Newsletter_Number3.pdf
- O'Dell L, Roberts AJ, Smith RT, Koob GF (2004) Enhanced alcohol self-administration after intermittent versus continuous alcohol vapor exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 28:1676–1682
- Olsen RW, Li GD, Wallner M, Trudell JR, Bertaccini EJ, Lindahl E, Miller KW, Alkana RL, Davies DL (2014) Structural models of ligand-gated ion channels: sites of action for anesthetics and ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 38(3):595–603. doi:10.1111/acer.12283
- Overstreet DH, Kampov-Polevoy AB, Rezvani AH, Braun C, Bartus RT, Crews FT (1999) Suppression of alcohol intake by chronic naloxone treatment in P rats: tolerance development and elevation of opiate receptor binding. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 23(11):1761–1771
- Parkes H, Sinclair JD (2000) Reduction of alcohol drinking and upregulation of opioid receptors by oral naltrexone in AA rats. Alcohol 21(3):215–221
- Perkins DI, Trudell JR, Crawford DK, Alkana RL, Davies DL (2010) Molecular targets and mechanisms for ethanol action in glycine receptors. Pharmacol Ther 127(1):53–65. doi:10. 1016/j.pharmthera.2010.03.003
- Phillips TJ, Shen EH (1996) Neurochemical bases of locomotion and ethanol stimulant effects. Int Rev Neurobiol 39:243–282
- Pitel AL, Beaunieux H, Witkowski T, Vabret F, Guillery-Girard B, Quinette P, Desgranges B, Eustache F (2007) Genuine episodic memory deficits and executive dysfunctions in alcoholic subjects early in abstinence. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 31(7):1169–1178. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00418.x

- Prescott CA, Kendler KS (1999) Genetic and environmental contributions to alcohol abuse and dependence in a population-based sample of male twins. Am J Psychiatry 156(1):34–40
- Rodd-Henricks ZA, McKinzie DL, Shaikh SR, Murphy JM, McBride WJ, Lumeng L, Li TK (2000) Alcohol deprivation effect is prolonged in the alcohol preferring (P) rat after repeated deprivations. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 24(1):8–16
- Romieu P, Martin-Fardon R, Maurice T (2000) Involvement of the sigmal receptor in the cocaineinduced conditioned place preference. Neuroreport 11(13):2885–2888
- Romieu P, Phan VL, Martin-Fardon R, Maurice T (2002) Involvement of the sigma(1) receptor in cocaine-induced conditioned place preference: possible dependence on dopamine uptake blockade. Neuropsychopharmacology 26(4):444–455. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(01)00391-8
- Sabeti J (2011) Ethanol exposure in early adolescence inhibits intrinsic neuronal plasticity via sigma-1 receptor activation in hippocampal CA1 neurons. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 35(5):885–904
- Sabeti J, Gruol DL (2008) Emergence of NMDAR-independent long-term potentiation at hippocampal CA1 synapses following early adolescent exposure to chronic intermittent ethanol: role for sigma-receptors. Hippocampus 18(2):148–168
- Sabino V, Cottone P, Koob GF, Steardo L, Lee MJ, Rice KC, Zorrilla EP (2006) Dissociation between opioid and CRF1 antagonist sensitive drinking in Sardinian alcohol-preferring rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 189(2):175–186
- Sabino V, Cottone P, Zhao Y, Iyer MR, Steardo L Jr, Steardo L, Rice KC, Conti B, Koob GF, Zorrilla EP (2009a) The sigma-receptor antagonist BD-1063 decreases ethanol intake and reinforcement in animal models of excessive drinking. Neuropsychopharmacology 34(6):1482–1493. doi:10. 1038/npp.2008.192
- Sabino V, Cottone P, Zhao Y, Steardo L, Koob GF, Zorrilla EP (2009b) Selective reduction of alcohol drinking in Sardinian alcohol-preferring rats by a sigma-1 receptor antagonist. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 205(2):327–335. doi:10.1007/s00213-009-1548-x
- Sabino V, Cottone P, Blasio A, Iyer MR, Steardo L, Rice KC, Conti B, Koob GF, Zorrilla EP (2011) Activation of sigma-receptors induces binge-like drinking in Sardinian alcohol-preferring rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 36(6):1207–1218. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.5
- Santhakumar V, Wallner M, Otis TS (2007) Ethanol acts directly on extrasynaptic subtypes of GABAA receptors to increase tonic inhibition. Alcohol 41(3):211–221. doi:10.1016/j.alcohol. 2007.04.011
- Sharkey J, Glen KA, Wolfe S, Kuhar MJ (1988) Cocaine binding at sigma receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 149(1–2):171–174
- Sigvardsson S, Bohman M, Cloninger CR (1996) Replication of the Stockholm Adoption Study of alcoholism: confirmatory cross-fostering analysis. Arch Gen Psychiatry 53(8):681–687
- Sundstrom-Poromaa I, Smith DH, Gong QH, Sabado TN, Li X, Light A, Wiedmann M, Williams K, Smith SS (2002) Hormonally regulated alpha(4)beta(2)delta GABA(A) receptors are a target for alcohol. Nat Neurosci 5(8):721–722. doi:10.1038/nn888
- Suzdak PD, Schwartz RD, Skolnick P, Paul SM (1988) Alcohols stimulate gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-mediated chloride uptake in brain vesicles: correlation with intoxication potency. Brain Res 444(2):340–345
- Trudell JR, Messing RO, Mayfield J, Harris RA (2014) Alcohol dependence: molecular and behavioral evidence. Trends Pharmacol Sci 35(7):317–323. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2014.04.009
- Tsai SY, Chuang JY, Tsai MS, Wang XF, Xi ZX, Hung JJ, Chang WC, Bonci A, Su TP (2015) Sigma-1 receptor mediates cocaine-induced transcriptional regulation by recruiting chromatinremodeling factors at the nuclear envelope. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112(47):E6562–E6570. doi:10.1073/pnas.1518894112
- Valenza M, DiLeo A, Steardo L, Cottone P, Sabino V (2015) Ethanol-related behaviors in mice lacking the sigma-1 receptor. Behav Brain Res. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.10.013 (Epub ahead of print)
- Velazquez-Sanchez C, Santos JW, Smith KL, Ferragud A, Sabino V, Cottone P (2015) Seeking behavior, place conditioning, and resistance to conditioned suppression of feeding in rats intermittently exposed to palatable food. Behav Neurosci 129(2):219–224. doi:10.1037/bne0000042

- Vendruscolo LF, Roberts AJ (2014) Operant alcohol self-administration in dependent rats: focus on the vapor model. Alcohol 48(3):277–286
- Wallner M, Hanchar HJ, Olsen RW (2003) Ethanol enhances alpha 4 beta 3 delta and alpha 6 beta 3 delta gamma-aminobutyric acid type A receptors at low concentrations known to affect humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(25):15218–15223. doi:10.1073/pnas.2435171100
- World Health Organization (2014) Global status report on alcohol and health. World Health Organization, Geneva
- Wright JM, Peoples RW, Weight FF (1996) Single-channel and whole-cell analysis of ethanol inhibition of NMDA-activated currents in cultured mouse cortical and hippocampal neurons. Brain Res 738(2):249–256

Sigma1 Pharmacology in the Context of Cancer

Felix J. Kim and Christina M. Maher

Contents

1	Intro	duction	238
2	Sign	nal and SIGMAR1 Expression in Tumors	259
	2.1	Sigma1 Protein Expression in Tumors by Immunohistochemistry	260
	2.2	Sigma1 Protein Levels in Tumors Determined by Radioligand Binding	263
	2.3	SIGMAR1 Transcript Levels in Tumors	263
3	Sign	nal and SIGMAR1 Expression in Cancer Cell Lines	265
	3.1	Sigma1 Protein in Cancer Cell Lines Determined by Immunoblot	265
	3.2	Sigma1 Binding Sites in Cancer Cell Lines Evaluated by Radioligand Binding	265
	3.3	Accumulation of Sigma1 Radioligands in Xenografted Tumors In Vivo	266
	3.4	SIGMAR1 Transcript Levels in Cancer Cell Lines	267
4	Cano	cer Pharmacology of Sigma1 Modulators	269
	4.1	Sigma1 Ligands: Putative Agonists and Antagonists	269
	4.2	Prototypic Small Molecule Ligands: Effects In Vitro and In Vivo	270
	4.3	Relationship Between Sigma1/SIGMAR1 Levels and Drug Response	282
	4.4	Relationship Between Reported Ligand Binding Affinity and Functional Potency	
		in Cell Based Assays	284
	4.5	Safety of Treatment with Sigma1 Ligands	286
5	Sign	na1: Receptor, Chaperone, or Scaffold?	288
6	Sign	nal as a Multifunctional Drug Target	288
	6.1	Cell Intrinsic Signaling and Activities	289
	6.2	Immunomodulation	290
	6.3	Cancer-Associated Pain	291
7	Cond	clusions and Perspectives	292
Re	feren	ces	293

F.J. Kim (🖂)

Department of Pharmacology and Physiology, Drexel University College of Medicine, 245 North 15th Street, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: fjk33@drexel.edu

C.M. Maher

Department of Pharmacology and Physiology, Drexel University College of Medicine, 245 North 15th Street, Philadelphia, PA, USA

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_38

237

Abstract

Sigma1 (also known as sigma-1 receptor, Sig1R, σ 1 receptor) is a unique pharmacologically regulated integral membrane chaperone or scaffolding protein. The majority of publications on the subject have focused on the neuropharmacology of Sigma1. However, a number of publications have also suggested a role for Sigma1 in cancer. Although there is currently no clinically used anticancer drug that targets Sigma1, a growing body of evidence supports the potential of Sigma1 ligands as therapeutic agents to treat cancer. In preclinical models, compounds with affinity for Sigma1 have been reported to inhibit cancer cell proliferation and survival, cell adhesion and migration, tumor growth, to alleviate cancer-associated pain, and to have immunomodulatory properties. This review will highlight that although the literature supports a role for Sigma1 in cancer, several fundamental questions regarding drug mechanism of action and the physiological relevance of aberrant SIGMAR1 transcript and Sigma1 protein expression in certain cancers remain unanswered or only partially answered. However, emerging lines of evidence suggest that Sigma1 is a component of the cancer cell support machinery, that it facilitates protein interaction networks, that it allosterically modulates the activity of its associated proteins, and that Sigma1 is a selectively multifunctional drug target.

Keywords

Allosteric modulation • Cancer • Cancer pain • Chaperone • Context • Drug mechanism of action • Immunomodulation • Lipid • Metabolism • Modulator • Multifunctional drug target • Protein homeostasis • Protein–protein interaction • Scaffold • Sigma1 • Sigma-1 receptor • Small molecule

1 Introduction

Sigmal shares no significant homology with any other proteins encoded in the human genome (Hanner et al. 1996; Schmidt et al. 2016). Historically it has been considered a receptor. However, emerging evidence suggests that Sigmal functions as a novel pharmacologically regulated integral membrane chaperone or scaffold-ing protein (Hayashi and Su 2007; Crottes et al. 2011, 2016; Thomas et al. 2017). Consistent with this notion, Sigmal is involved in aspects of cellular protein homeostasis including protein synthesis, folding, trafficking, and degradation (Kim et al. 2012; Hayashi and Su 2007; Crottes et al. 2011, 2016; Schrock et al. 2013; Thomas et al. 2017).

Although most publications regarding Sigma1 describe it in the context of neuropharmacology (Cobos et al. 2008; Maurice and Su 2009), a number of publications over the years have described a potential role for Sigma1 in cancer biology. Until recently, this relationship has been largely based on two lines of

evidence: (1) reports of elevated expression levels of Sigma1 protein and *SIGMAR1* transcripts in some cancer cell lines and some tumors (reviewed in Sects. 2 and 3, below); and (2) antiproliferative and growth inhibiting effects of some small molecule inhibitors (putative antagonists) of Sigma1 on cancer cell lines (reviewed in Sect. 4, below, and Table 1). However, despite well over a hundred publications directly addressing the subject, the physiological role of Sigma1 in cancer cells remains poorly understood.

There is no compelling evidence that *SIGMAR1* is an oncogene or that Sigma1 is an oncogenic driver protein. However, several studies have demonstrated that cancer cells require functional, intact Sigma1 to grow, proliferate, and survive. Sigma1 RNAi and some small molecule inhibitors (putative antagonists) of Sigma1 have been reported to inhibit cell growth, proliferation, and cell survival. Conversely, increased Sigma1 protein levels through overexpression of recombinant Sigma1 and enhancing Sigma1 with small molecule activators (putative agonists) have been reported to promote some of these processes in cancer cells (reviewed in Sects. 4 and 6, below).

Most of our knowledge of Sigma1 comes from pharmacological studies that have implicated this protein in multiple cellular processes including control of apoptosis, cell cycle, cell growth, proliferation, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, protein and lipid homeostasis, autophagy, and ion channel regulation (reviewed in Sects. 4–6, below). As it was originally identified as a receptor, small molecules with affinity for Sigma1, so-called Sigma1 ligands, have been classified as agonists and antagonists. These are evolving concepts, and in light of emerging data these definitions may not be accurate given that Sigma1 is not a bona fide receptor. We propose that the term modulator may be more appropriate for compounds with affinity for Sigma1. However, in this review we will continue to use the terms ligand/modulator, antagonist/inhibitor, and agonist/activator in order to integrate the decades of published data on the pharmacology of Sigma1 in cancer (see Sect. 4, below).

Several review articles have broadly surveyed compounds with affinity for Sigma1 and have described their effects on cancer cell lines (Abate 2012; Megalizzi et al. 2012; van Waarde et al. 2015; Brust et al. 2014). We have listed the published Sigma1 associated functional activities and binding affinities of many of these compounds in Tables 1 and 2. In this review, we will focus on a number of salient examples of how putative Sigma1 ligands have been used in cancer cell lines and what they reveal about Sigma1 biology in the context of cancer. We will review the historical classification of Sigma1 modulators as activators and inhibitors (putative agonists and antagonists), the cellular pathways and processes engaged by Sigma1 modulator compounds, the immunomodulatory effects of these compounds, and their potential as agents to treat cancer-associated comorbidities such as cancer pain as well as inhibit tumor growth (see Sects. 4–6, below). We will also review evidence from clinical trials as well as preclinical animal studies showing that the on-target effects of Sigma1 modulators do not produce adverse effects.

Table 1 Sig	ma ligands tested in cancer ce	ell line studies (presented in c	chronological order of public	ation)	
Reference	Compound name	Cell lines tested	Assays used	Results	MOA (proposed)
(Vilner and Bowen 1993)	Haloperidol, reduced haloperidol, fluphenazine, perphenazine, pimozide, spiperone	C6 rat glioma	Scoring of morphological changes	Loss of processes, discontinued cell division, eventual cell death	Not specified
(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)	Haloperidol, reduced haloperidol, fluphenazine, perphenazine, trifluoperazine, BD737, LR172, BD1008, SH344, trifluperidol, thioridazine, (-)-butaclamol	C6 rat glioma, SK-N-SH, SH-SY5Y, NCB-20, NG108-15, PC12	Scoring of morphological changes, trypan blue exclusion to confirm score	Loss of processes, discontinued cell division, eventual cell death (dependent on time, dose, and pH)	Not specified
(Brent and Pang 1995)	Haloperidol, reduced haloperidol, DTG, (+)- pentazocine, (-)-pantazocine, rimezzole, (+)- and (-)-M' allyInormetazocine (SKF 10047)	MCF-7, LJM 1215, WIDr, melanoma (Chimery)	MTT assay	Inhibition of cell proliferation, cell detachment, rounding of cells	Not specified
(Brent et al. 1996)	Reduced haloperidol	MCF-7, WIDr	Nuclear staining with Hoechst 33258, cellular DNA fragmentation ELISA, condensation of heterchronnatin using transmission electron microscopy, FURA-2/AM calcium assay	Inhibition of cell proliferation, cell death	Induction of apoptosis, potentially through an increase in intracellular calcium
(Labit-Le Bouteiller et al. 1998)	SR31747A	Jijoye, U937, HL60, TF1, MCF-7, B9, CTLL2, M1, COS, CHO	MTT assay, gas chromatography, mass spectroscopy	Inhibition of cell proliferation, reversible by cholesterol	Inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis via emopamil- binding protein
(John et al. 1999)	PIMBA	DU145, LNCaP, PC3	Soft agar colony formation assay	Inhibition of colony formation	Not specified
(Moody et al. 2000)	2-IBP (xenografis), IPAB (xenografis), haloperidol	NCI-H209, NCI-H345, NCI-N417 (xenografis)	MTT assay, soft agar colony formation assay, tumor xenografts	Inhibition of cell proliferation, inhibition of tumor xenograft growth	Not specified
(Crawford and Bowen 2002)	CB-64D, CB-184, haloperidol, reduced hapoperidol, CB-184 in combination with doxcrubicin or actinomycin D, haloperidol in combination with doxcrubicin	MCF-7, T47D, MCF-7/ADR, SKBR3	CytoTox 96 kit to measure lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release, TUNEL staining, ApoAlert annexin-V apoptosis kit	Cell death, potentiation of cytotoxicity with combination treatments	Novel p53- and caspase- independent apoptosis

240

otentially via binding to EBP or ther binding site	lot specified	Decrease in expression of genes nvolved in DNA replication and rogression of cell cycle, ecrease in expression of enzymes (dihydrofolate enzymes, thymidylate symhase, gutctase, thymidylate symhase, nvolved in ucleotide symhesis	aspase-independent apoptosis	aspase-dependent apoptosis, ise in cytosolic calcium, ctivation of phospholipase C, thibition of PI3K pathway	hhibition of K^{+} channel, ccumulation of $p27^{kipl}$, not poptosis	(continued)
Inhibition of cell proliferation, inhibition of tumor xenograft growth (in combination with tamoxifen in MCF-7)	Inhibition of cell growth, Network	Inhibition of cell proliferation	Inhibition of cell proliferation, C	Inhibition of cell survival, C inhibition of xenograft growth inhibition of xenograft growth a a in it in the second structure of the second structure	Inhibition of cell growth (Jurkat, I igmesine) a a	
MTT assay, tumor xenografis	MTT assay	CellTiter 96 Aqueous cell proliferation assay kit, DNA microarray, northern blot, affymetrix HC-G110 cancer gene array	MTT assay, CytoTox-One cytotoxicity assay (lactate dehydrogenase release), Apo-One homogenous caspase- 3/7 kit	MTS CellTitre proliferation assay, colony formation assay, Apo-one homogeneous caspase3/ 7 assay, flow cytometry, FURA- 2/AM calcium assay, tumor xenografis	Whole-cell patch-clamp, trypan blue exclusion, DEVD-pNA cleavage assay to analyze caspase activity, DNA fragmentation	
MCF-7 (xenografis), MDA-MB- 231 (xenografis), LNCaP (xenografis), DU145 (xenografis), PC3 (xenografis), BT20	MCF-7, MDA-MB-231	PC3, DU145, MDA-MB-231	SK-N-SH, C6 rat glioma	MDA-MB-468 (xenografts), MDA-MB-435 (xenografts), MCF-7 (xenografts), H1299 (xenografts), PC3M (xenografts)	NCI-H209, NCI-H146, Jurkat	
SR31747A	Five (1α/1β-arylalkyl) quinolizidines including two thioisosteres and four spiro- [3,4-dihydro-1,2,4- benzorizazino- 3,4'-(1's-ubstituted) piperidines]: ANS-1, ANS-2, ANS-3, ANS-4, ANS-5, FN/C-1, FN/C-2, FN/C- 3, FN/C-4	SR31747.A	PB-28, NE-100, DTG, haloperidol, (+)-pentazocine	Rimcazole (xenografis), IPAG (xenografis), reduced haloperidol, haloperidol (xenografis), BD1047, BD1063, <i>cis</i> -U50488 (xenografis)	(+)-Pentazocine, igmesine, DTG	
(Berthois et al. 2003)	(Barbieri et al. 2003)	(Ferrini et al. 2003)	(Colabufo et al. 2004)	(Spruce et al. 2004)	(Renaudo et al. 2004)	

Table 1 (cor	ntinued)				
Reference	Compound name	Cell lines tested	Assays used	Results	MOA (proposed)
(Wang et al. 2004)	Haloperidol, reduced haloperidol, progesterone, combination of reduced haloperidol + doxorubicin, vinorelbine, paclitaxel, and docetaxel	MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-361, MDA-MB-435, MCF-7, BT20	CellTiter 96 Aqueous One cell proliferation assay	Growth inhibition, additive effect of growth inhibition with reduced haloperidol and chemotherapy combinations	Not specified
(Ostenfeld et al. 2005)	Siramesine	WEHI-S, WEHI-R4 (xenografis), MCF-7, MCF-7S1 (xenografis), MDA-MB-468, HeLa, ME-180	MTT assay, lactate dehydrogenase release, flow cytometry, caspase activity measurement, tumor xenografts	Cell death, cell shrinkage and detachment, inhibition of xenograft growth	Increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS), permeabilization of the lysosomal membrane
(Nordenberg et al. 2005)	Haloperidol, reduced- haloperidol, ifenprodil tartrate, opiprandol, carbetapentane citrate, haloperidol in combination with imatinib mesylate (STI 571)	B16, SK-MEL-28	SRB colorimetric cytotoxicity assay, DNA fragmentation, flow cytometry, ELISA cell death assay, immunoblot, spectroflucometric ATP measurement	Inhibition of cell growth (synergy with haloperidol and imatinib mesylate combination), G1 cell cycle arrest, decrease in cell viability	Apoptosis, decrease in ATP levels, decrease in cyclin D and CDK2 protein levels in cytoplasm and nucleus
(Azzariti et al. 2006)	PB-28, PB-28 in combination with doxorubicin	MCF-7, MCF-7 ADR	MTT assay, annexin-V staining, propidium iodide (PJ) staining, flow cytometry, immunoblot, Apo-one homogenous caspase-3/ 7 kit	Inhibition of cell growth, increase in accumulation of intracellute doxorubicin, increase in cytotoxicity when in combination with doxorubicin when compared to doxorubicin alone	Increase in percent of cells in the Go-G1 phase, induction of caspase-independent apoptosis, decrease in P-gp expression
(Aydar et al. 2006)	(+)SKF10047, ibogaine	MCF-7, MDA-MB-231	Crystal violet staining assay, single-cell adhesion measuring apparatus	SKF10047 – inhibition of proliferation in MDA-MB-231 cells, reduction in adhesion in both cell lines Ibogaine – inhibition of cell proliferation in both cell lines, reduction in adhesion in both cell lines	Not specified
(Wei et al. 2006)	Halopendol	PC12, N2a	MTT assay, lactate dehydrogenase release, flow cytometry, subcellular fractionation, immunoblot	Decrease in cell viability	Increase in Bcl-XS expression and translocation to mitochondria, apoptosis
(Geiger et al. 2007)	Stereoisomeric alcohols and methyl ethers from (R)- and (S)- glutamate	5637, RT-4, A-427, LCLC- 103H, MCF-7	Microtiter assay with crystal violet staining	Inhibition of cell growth (methyl ethers > alcohols) and cell death (methyl ethers)	Not specified

(Kashiwagi et al. 2007)	SV119, WC-26 (tumor allografts), haloperidol	Panc-1, CFPAC-1, ASPC-1, Panc-02 (tumor allografts)	TUNEL staining, flow cytometry, tumor allografts	Cell death, decrease in tumor allograft growth, improved survival	Caspase-3/7-dependent apoptosis
(Megalizzi et al. 2007)	4.lBP	U373-MG (xenografis), C32, A549 (xenografis), PC3	Immunoblot, TUNEL staining, flow cytometry, colorimetric MIT assay, computer-assisted phase-contrast microscopy, scratch fluorescence microscopy, scratch wound assay, tumor xenografts	Inhibition of proliferation, decrease in migration, increased sensitivity to proapoptotic (lomustin) and proautophagic (ternozolonide) durgs, increased survival in vivo (U373-MG), increased therapeutic benefit of ternozolonide (U373-MG) and IRI (A549) in vivo	Not apoptosis or autophagy, alteration to actin cytoskeleton organization, decrease in glucosylceramide synthase and Rho guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor (important for drug resistance)
(Achison et al. 2007)	Rimcazole	HCT-116 (p5 ^{3+th} or ^{−/−}), MDA-MB-231	Immunoblot, CellTiter 96 Aqueous one solution cell proliferation assay (MTS), PI staining, flow cytometry	Cell death	Increase in HIF-1 α levels under normoxic conditions only in cancer cells (partly dependent on 553, apoptosis (more potent in 553^{+4+} cells)
(Renaudo et al. 2007)	Igmesine, DTG, (+)-pentazocine, NPPB	NCI-H209, JA3, HEK-SIG (Sigmal transfected HEK cells)	Trypan blue exclusion, immunoblot, electronic sizing for volume measurements with CASY 1 (SCARFE SYSTEM), whole cell patch clamp	Inhibition of cell proliferation, inhibition of cell cycle, delayed/ eliminated regulatory volume decrease	Inhibition of volume-regulated chloride channels (VRCC), accumulation of <i>p27</i> , affected rate of activation of <i>PCC</i> and cell volume regulation, which could protect cells from
(Rybczynska et al. 2008)	Rimcazole, haloperidol	C6 rat glioma	Competition of ligand binding with ¹¹ C-SA4503, measuring uptake of PET tracers to examine metabolic activity, trypan blue exclusion, morphology observations	Decrease in cell viability, increase in PET tracer uptake (¹⁸ F-FDC) or decrease in PET tracer uptake (¹⁸ F-FLT and ¹¹ C-choline)	Very high occupancy of Sigma2 receptors
(Ostenfeld et al. 2008)	Siramesine	MCF-7 (xenografis), U2OS, WEHI-S	Immunoblot, immunocytochemistry, subcellular fractionation, acridine orang staining, lysotracker staining, measurement of cathepsin activity by zFR-AFC probe, flow cytometry, MTT assay, lactate dehydrogenase release, tumor xenografis	Cathepsin-dependent cell death, no increase in protein degradation, sensitization to cell death with combination of siramesine and autophagy inhibitor (3-MA)	Localization of siramesine in lysosomes, increase in lysosomal pH, inibition of mTORC, acts as a lysosomotropic detergent that leads to destabilization of lysosomes, buildup of protective autophagosomes (in vivo and in vitro)
					(continued)

Table 1 (coi	ntinued)				
Reference	Compound name	Cell lines tested	Assays used	Results	MOA (proposed)
(Megalizzi et al. 2009)	4-IBP, 4-IPAB, haloperidol, BD1008, eliprodil, donepezil, dextromethorphan, IPAG	Hs683 (xenografts), U373, T98G, U87, SW1783, A172, SW1088, U138, H4, U118	Computer-assisted phase- contrast videomicroscopy, scratch wound assay, global growth ratio calculations, tumor xenografis	Decrease in cell recolonization (4-IBP, donepezil, IPAG, dextromethopphan, BD1008, and haloperidol, U373 and T98G), cell death, decrease in cell division and increase of survival in tumor xenografis (particularly with combination of donepezil and temozolomide)	Increase in cell mitosis duration, cell mitotic arrests
(Berardi et al. 2009)	Analogs of PB-28, such as piperidines 24 and 15	SK-N-SH	MTT assay	Inhibition of cell proliferation	Not specified
(Kashiwagi et al. 2009)	SV119, SV119 in combination with gemeitabine and paclitaxel (allografis)	Panc-02 (allografits), CFPAC-1, Panc-1, ASPC-1	TUNEL staining, caspase-3 detection, flow cytometry, tumor allografts	Cell death, decreased tumor growth and increased survival in allografts (combination of SV119 and gencitabine or paclitaxe1)	Apoptosis (particularly when Sigma2 ligands in combination with chemotherapy) in vitro and in vivo
(Holl et al. 2009a, b, c)	6,8-Diazabicyclo[3.2.2]nonane derivatives, such as benzylidene derivatives 17 and benzyl ethers 11	A-427	Microtiter crystal violet staining assay	Inhibition of cell growth	Not specified
(Holl et al. 2009)	Allyl and benzyl substituted 6,8-diazabicyclo[3.2.2]nonan-2- one derivatives 5 , ent- 5 and ent- 14	5637	Microtiter crystal violet staining assay	Inhibition of cell growth	Not specified
(Holl et al. 2009)	6-Ally1-6,8-diazabicyclo[3.2.2] nonane derivatives, such as methy ethers ent- 16b , 21a , ent- 21a , and 21b , and unsubstituted compounds 23a and 23b , and bicyclic acetal 11	A-427	Microtiter crystal violet staining assay	Inhibition of cell growth	Not specified
(Piergentili et al. 2010)	Novel antagonists related to spipethiane, such as 4-10	MCF-7, MCF-7 ADR	SRB assay, annexin-V staining, PI staining, flow cytometry	Inhibition of cell growth, induction of cell death of MCF-7 ADR (high expressers of Sigmal)	Inhibition of cell cycle, induction of apoptosis

244

Decrease in cell viability and lecrease in tumor allograft Activation of caspase-3, increas lecrease in tumor allograft in ROS, induction of apoptosis growth (particularly when igands in combination with generitabine) in ROS, induction of apoptosis	nhibition of cell growth (25b , Not specified 56 , and 27)	nhibition of cell proliferation 9, 3, 15, 19, 20), cytotoxicity	Inhibition of cell growth, Inhibition of cell cycle, lecrease in cell viability posttranscriptional increase in Sigma2, decrease in ERK phosphorylation	nhibition of cell proliferation Not specified	Decrease in cell viability Not specified	Cell death Not specified	Cell death Not specified	Inhibition of cell proliferation particularly HP-C8, and more in induction of caspase-3-mediated ancer cells than normal cells), apoptosis lecrease in cell viability, inhibition of allograft tumor frowth	
CellTiter-Glo assay, caspase-3 1 staining, annexin-V and PI staining, flow vytometry, image- if Tive green reactive oxygen specie detection kit, tumor allografts	Microtiter crystal violet staining assay	Multiplex cytotoxicity assays by Keck-UWCCC small molecule screening facility	MTT assay, immunoblot, flow I cytometry	MTT assay	MTT assay	TCA fixation and SRB staining 0	Calcein-AM, CellTiter-Glo assay, EthD-1	MTT assay, amexin-V and PI ataining, TUNEL staining, flow (cytometry, immunoblot i i	
Panc-02 (allografis), MIA PaCa- 2, Panc-1, BXPC3, CFPAC, ASPC-1	A-427, MCF-7, 5637	NCI-H460, SK-OV-3, DU145, MCF-7, SF-268, A549, MDA-MB-231, HT-29, HCT-15, H1299	A549, MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468	LNCaP, PC3	LNCaP, PC3	MCF-7, HUH7, HCT-116	MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, NCI-H460, A549, H1299, HCT-15, HT-29, SK-0V-3, DU145, SF-268	MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, ZR-75- 1, B16F10 (allografts)	•
SW43. SV119, stramesine, sigma2 ligands in combination with gemetabine	Conformationally restricted ligands derived from a 7,9-diazabicyclo[4.2.2]decane scaffold, such as methyl ether 25b and unsubsituted derivatives 26 and 27	<i>N.N.</i> dialkyl (1–3,) or <i>N</i> -alkyl- <i>N</i> - aralkyl compounds (compounds 4–18)	AG-205	 (-)-Methyl (1S.2R)-2- [[(3-endo)-3-(4-Chlorophenyl)- 3-hydroxy-8-azabicyclo[3.2.1] oct-8-yllmethyl]-1- phenylcyclopro-panecarboxylate (9) 	Phenylbutyrate ester of haloperidol metabolite II (\pm) -MRJF4	Indole scaffold based compounds 1a-c, 3a-b, 4a-b	N-3-(4-nitrophenyl)propyl derivatives of heptylamine (2a and 2b), dodecylamine (3a and 3b)	Haloperidol, cationic lipid- conjugated haloperidol HP-C4, HP-C16 (allografts), HP-C12, HP-C16	
(Hornick et al. 2010)	(Sunnam et al. 2010)	(Hajipour et al. 2010)	(Ahmed et al. 2010)	(Marrazzo et al. 2011a, b)	(Marrazzo et al. 2011a, b)	(Yarim et al. 2011)	(Chu et al. 2011)	(Pal et al. 2011)	

Table 1 (cor	ntinued)				
Reference	Compound name	Cell lines tested	Assays used	Results	MOA (proposed)
(Abate et al. 2011)	Novel cyclohexylpiperazine derivatives cis-7, trans-7, cis-8, trans-8, cis-9, trans-9, cis-10, trans-10, cis-11, trans-11, cis-12, trans-12, cis-13, trans-13, cis-14, trans-14, 1, 1, 5, cis-11, in combination with doxorubicin	SK-N-SH, PC3, MDCK-MDR1	MTT assay, calcein-AM assay	Inhibition of cell proliferation (especially with <i>cis-11</i> in combination with doxontbicin), increased cell death, p-glycoprotein inhibition	Not specified
(Spitzer et al. 2012)	SV119, conjugates S2-CTMP-4, S2-rapamycin, and S2-Bim (allografis), S2-Bim in combination with gemcitabine and radiation	Panc-02 (allografis), Panc-1, ASPC-1, and CFPAC (xenografis)	TUNEL staining, caspase-3 staining, flow cytometry, tumor allografts and xenografts	Cell death (augmented by S2 conjugates), inhibition of allograft growth (S2-Bin SV119), augmented cell death with combination of S2-Bin with gencitabine and radiation in vitro	Disruption of intracellular signaling pathways (AKT for S2-CTMP-4, p/0S6K for S2-rapamycin), apoptosis
(Kim et al. 2012)	IPAG, haloperidol	T47D, MCF-7, MDA-MB-468, LNCaP, PC3	Flow cytometry, trypan blue exclusion, BCA assay, m ⁷ GTP- sepharose bead minicking 5/ mRNA cap pull-down	Reversible decrease in cell mass, cell death with continuous treatment over time	Reversible decrease in cap-dependent translation initiation
(Hornick et al. 2012)	SW43 (xenografts), PB282 (xenografts), SV119 (xenografts), PB-28 (xenografts), derivatives of SW43 and PB282	BXPC3 (xenografis), Panc-02, ASPC-1	Flow cytometry, caspase-3 assay, microscopy, cellular protease assay, CellTiter-Glo assay, image-iT live Green reactive oxygen species detection kit, tumor xenografis	Cell death, inhibition of xenograft growth	Caspase-independent (SW43) or caspase-dependent (B232) death after lysosomal membrane permeabilization, protease (SW43)
(Zeng et al. 2012)	WC-26, SV119, RHM-138, siramesine	EMT-6, MDA-MB-435	CellTiter96 Aqueous one MTS assay, lactate dehydrogenase release, TUNEL staining, flow cytometry, caspase-3 assay, immunoblot, transmission electron microscopy	Cell death	Induction of autophagy, mTOR inhibition, alteration of cell cycle progression, caspase activation, apoptosis
(Riganas et al. 2012a, b, c)	CI-substituted adamantine piperazines 2a (xenografis), 2b, 2c, 2d, 2e, 4	NCL+1460, DMS 114, NCL+169, H69AR, HL-60, MIA PaCa- 2 (xenografis), BXPC3 (xenografis), SKHepL, LOX-IMVI, HCT-116, HCT-15, DU145, PC3, MCF-7, IGR0V-1, OVCAR-5, SF268, SF295, U251	TCA fixation and SRB staining, annexin-V binding, caspase-3 assay, flow cytometry, PI staining, 7-AAD incorporation, turnor xenografts, formalin test	Inhibition of cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, inhibition of xenograft growth, analgesia (2a)	Caspase-3 activation, inhibition of cell cycle, apoptosis

246

Il proliferation, Caspase-3 activation inhibition creased tumor of cell cycle, apoptosis fis, synergistic :1s with reference emografis, stasis, analgesia	Il proliferation, Not specified nograft growth,	Unfolded protein response, autophagy, apoptosis	nograft growth, Not specified 7 staining	Il proliferation, Generation of more ROS and interaction, higher ATP consumption in ization of MCF-7 ADR cells than parenta xorubicin (15 cells cells cells 25)	Il proliferation, Induction of incomplete aurophagy. lipid peroxidation, altered mitechondrial membran potential, caspase-independent apoptosis	Il proliferation, Apoptosis ((R)-2b and combination of PB-28 with (R) 2b)	Il growth, cell Apoptosis
Inhibition of cel cytotoxicity, dec size in xenograf anti-tumor effec compounds in x decreased metas (4a)	Inhibition of cel inhibition of xer analgesia (1a)	Cell death	Inhibition of xei decrease in Ki6	Inhibition of cel p-glycoprotein i increased sensiti increased sensiti ADR cells to dc and 25), collatet (siramesine and	Inhibition of cel cell death	Inhibition of cel cell death	Inhibition of cel death
TCA fixation and SRB staining, PI staining, annexin-V staining, flow cytometry, caspase-3 assay, tumor xenografts, observing auxiliary region and abdominal region for metastases and subsequent isolation and subsequent isolation and origin, formalin test	TCA fixation and SRB staining, tumor xenografts, formalin test	Trypan blue exclusion, PI staining, immunoblot, microscopy	Tumor xenografis	MITT assay, calcein-AM assay, bioluminescence ATP assay	MTT assay, annexin-V and PI staining, caspase staining, flow cytometry	MTT assay, crystal violet staining assay, annexin-V and PI staining	MTT assay, annexin-V and PI staining
BXPC3 (xenografis), PC3 (xenografis), DU145 (xenografis), OVCAR-5 (xenografis), IGROV-1, HL-60 (xenografis), HCT-116, HCT-15, MCF-7, U251, SKHep1, MIA PaCa-2	IGROV-1 (xenografis), HCT-116, HCT-15, Caki, DU145, PC3, MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, OVCAR-5, ADR-res NCI, SF268, U251, NCI-H460, DMS 114, HL-60 (TB), BXPC3, SKHep1, LOX-IMVI, SK-MEL-28, CCS WD6	MDA-MB-468, T47D, MCF-7, PC3, Panc-1, HepG2	A375M	MCF-7, MCF-7 ADR, MDCK- MDR 1	RPMI 8226	RPMI 8226, HL60, LCLC-103H, DAN-G, MCF-7, RT-4, A-427, 5637	RPMI 8226, 5637, A-427, MCF-7
Novel adamantane phenylalkylamines 2a-d. 3a-c, and 4a-e, particularly 4a (xenografts), 4a in combination with 5-fluorouracil and gemcitabine (xenografts)	4-(1-adamanty1)-4,4- diarylbutylamines 1, 5-(1-adamanty1)-5,5- diarylpenylamines 2 and 6-(1-adamanty1)-6,6- diarylhexylamines 3, 1a (xenografis). La in combination with paclitaxel (formalin test)	IPAG	Rimcazole	Siramesine, PB-28, 4, F281, 6, 13, 14, 15, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 15 in combination with doxorubicin, 25 in combination with doxorubicin	Enantiomeric piperazines (S) 4 and (R) 4	PB-28, haloperidol, novel hydroxyethyl piperazine-based sigma ligands such as (R)-2b	Hydroxyethyl substituted piperazines (7c)
(Riganas et al. 2012a, b, c)	(Riganas et al. 2012a, b, c)	(Schrock et al. 2013)	(Rybczynska et al. 2013)	(Niso et al. 2013)	(Korpis et al. 2014)	(Korpis et al. 2014)	(Weber et al. 2014)

Reference	Compound name	Cell lines tested	Assays used	Results	MOA (proposed)
(Garg et al. 2014)	SW IV-134 (SMAC mimetic conjugate)	SKOV3 (xenografis), OVCAR-3, HEY A8, HEY A8 MDR	Annexin-V staining, flow cytometry, immunoblot, CellTitet-flo assay, caspase-Glo assay systems, ELISA, qRT-PCR, tumor xenografis	Cell death, decrease in tumor burden (xenografits), increase in survival (xenografis)	cIAP-1 and cIAP-2 degradation, activation of NF-xB, TNFα-dependent cell death, caspase-dependent apoptosis
(Zeng et al. 2014)	Azabicyclononane analogs SV119, SV166, WC-26, 2b, YUN245: tropane analog RHM-138: siramesine analog siramesine	EMT-6, MDA-MB-435	MTS assay, caspase-3 activation assay	Cell death	Caspase-3 activation
(Fytas et al. 2015)	Novel 1-(2-aryl-2-adamantyl) piperazine derivatives 6-15 (particularly 6 and 13)	HeLa, MDA-MB-231, MIA PaCa-2, NCI H1975	MTT assay	Decrease in percent cell survival	Not specified
(Nicholson et al. 2015)	CM572	SK-N-SH, MCF-7, Panc-1	MTT assay, FURA-2/AM calcium assay, immunoblot	Irreversible cell death	Increase in cytosolic calcium, cleavage of Bid
(Happy et al. 2015)	Rimcazole, in combination with Ad.p53	MCF-7, T47D, MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-157	MTT assay, amexin-V and PI staining, flow cytometry, DCFH- DA staining, immunoblot	Cell growth inhibition, cell death, synergistic anti-tumor effect with Ad.p53	Combination: Increase in ER stress, activation of the p38 MAPK pathway, increase in ROS, increase in Bax and activated caspase-3, induction of apoptosis
(Sozio et al. 2015)	(<i>R</i>)-(+)-MRJF4 and (<i>S</i>)-(-)- MRJF4	C6 rat glioma	Annexin-V and PI staining, MTT assay, transwell chamber migration assay, flow cytometry	Inhibition of cell proliferation, decrease in migration, cell death	Late apoptosis/necrosis, increase in percent of cells in S phase
(Das et al. 2016)	(+)-SKF10047	DU145, PC3, LNCaP	MTT assay, annexin-V binding assay	Reduction in tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) killing	Sigmal plays a role in activation of caspase-3 and caspase-8 after TRAIL
(Nicholson et al. 2016)	CM764	SK-N-SH, MG-63	MTT assay, CyQUANT cell proliferation assay, FUBA-2/AM calcium assay, NAD*/NADH quantification colorimetric kit, ATP colorimetric/fluorometric assay kit, DCFDA stain	Increase in MTT reduction without an increase in DNA replication or proliferation	Increase in cytosolic calcium, increase in NAD*NADH, increase in levels of ATP, reduction in ROS, increase in PEGF and HIF1d, potential induction of glycolysis
(Zampieri et al. 2016)	Novel 1-(4-(aryl(methyl)amino) butyl)-heterocyclic ligands such as Ia and Id	SH-SY5Y	MTT assay	Cytotoxicity	Not specified
(Thomas et al. 2017)	IPAG, CT-189 (xenografi)	LAPC4, LNCaP, 22Rv1 (xenograft), VCaP, C4-2	Soft agar colony formation assay, crystal violet staining assay, trypan blue exclusion, immunoblot, tumor xenograft	Suppression of cell growth and survival, inhibition of xenograft growth	Proteasomal degradation of androgen receptor and androgen receptor splice variants

Table 1 (continued)
		1	1	1
	Binding affinity	Cell lines/	Radioligand	D.C
	(K_i, K_d, IC_{50})	tissue tested	used	Reference
(+)-3-PPP	Sigmal	1	2	1
	• $K_{\rm i} = 86 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	['H](+)-	(Hellewell et al.
	V 100 M	D (111		(IIII II ()
	• $K_i = 109 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 102 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner et al.
		glioma cells	pentazocine	1995a, b)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 75 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Cobos et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2005)
	Sigma2	1	2	1
	• $K_i = 138 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 108 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
4-IBP	Sigma1		-	
	• $K_i = 1.7 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(John et al.
	1	brain	pentazocine	1995a, b)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2.6 \rm nM$	Sf9 cells	[³ H](+)-	(Schmidt et al.
			pentazocine	2016)
	Sigma2			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 25 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(John et al.
				1995a, b)
(+)-Pentazocine	Sigma1			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 3.1 {\rm nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner and
		brain	pentazocine	Bowen 1993)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 5.3 {\rm nM}$	C6 rat	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner et al.
		glioma cells	pentazocine	1995a, b)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2.2 {\rm nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Geiger et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2007)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 5.5 {\rm nM}$	Rat	[³ H](+)-	(Ishiwata et al.
		cerebellum	pentazocine	2006)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2.5 {\rm nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Choi et al. 2001)
		brain	pentazocine	
	• $K_{\rm i} = 3.3 {\rm nM}$	Guinea pig	['H](+)-	(Berardi et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2009)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 4.2 \rm nM$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Holl et al. $2009a$,
		brain	pentazocine	b , c)
	• $K_i = 5.6 \text{ nM}$	brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Sunnam et al. 2010)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2.8 \rm nM$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Abate et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2011)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 3.4 {\rm nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Niso et al. 2013)
		brain	pentazocine	
	• $K_{\rm i} = 5.4 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Weber et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2014)

 Table 2
 Sigma ligand binding affinities

	Binding affinity	Cell lines/	Radioligand	
Compound name	$(K_{\rm i}, K_{\rm d}, {\rm IC}_{50})$	tissue tested	used	Reference
	• $K_{\rm i} = 36.0 {\rm nM}$	RPMI 8226	[³ H](+)-	(Weber et al.
		cells	pentazocine	2014)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 25.8 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)-	(Hellewell et al.
			pentazocine	1994)
	• $K_i = 15.4 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 16.7 {\rm nM}$	SK-N-SH	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner and
		cells	pentazocine	Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 4.4 \text{ nM}$	BE(2)-C cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Ryan-Moro et al. 1996)
	Sigma1	!	ļ 1	ļ,
	• $K_4 = 5.8 \text{ nM}$	DU145	Saturation	(John et al. 1999)
		cells	binding	
	• $K_{\rm d} = 23.1 \rm nM$	SK-N-SH	Saturation	(Colabufo et al.
	ŭ	cells	binding	2004)
	• $K_{\rm d} = 4.7 \ {\rm nM}$	C6 rat	Saturation	(Colabufo et al.
		glioma cells	binding	2004)
	• $K_{\rm d} = 7.5 {\rm nM}$	Rat liver	Saturation	(Hellewell et al.
			binding	1994)
	• $K_{\rm d} = 23.3 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	Saturation binding	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm d} = 7.1 \rm nM$	MCF-7	Saturation	(Azzariti et al.
	u	cells	binding	2006)
	• $K_{\rm d} = 3.9 \rm nM$	MCF-7/	Saturation	(Azzariti et al.
		ADR cells	binding	2006)
	Sigma2			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2,470 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Ishiwata et al. 2006)
	• $K_i = 1,923 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Choi et al. 2001)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 1,542 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2,018 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)-3- PPP	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 3,475 {\rm nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_i = 6,611 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H]DTG	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
(-)-Pentazocine	Sigma1			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 807 {\rm nM}$	SK-N-SH	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner and
		cells	pentazocine	Bowen 2000)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 39 {\rm nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)-	(Hellewell et al.
			pentazocine	1994)
				<i>/</i> • •

	Binding affinity	Cell lines/	Radioligand	
Compound name	$(K_{\rm i}, K_{\rm d}, {\rm IC}_{50})$	tissue tested	used	Reference
	• $K_i = 41 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 40 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat glioma cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)
	Sigma2			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2,324 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H]DTG	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 37 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_i = 42 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
(+)-SKF10047	Sigma1			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 597 {\rm nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$	BE(2)-C cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Ryan-Moro et al. 1996)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 101 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 153 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 420 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat glioma cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)
	Sigma2			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 39,740 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H]DTG	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 11,170 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)-3- PPP	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 154,335 {\rm nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
(-)-SKF10047	Sigma1			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 50,399 {\rm nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 1,339 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2,366 {\rm nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 1,917 {\rm nM}$	C6 rat glioma cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)
	Sigma2			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 41,461 {\rm nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H]DTG	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2,659 {\rm nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 2,929 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)

	Binding affinity	Cell lines/	Radioligand	
Compound name	$(K_{\rm i}, K_{\rm d}, {\rm IC}_{50})$	tissue tested	used	Reference
BD737	Sigma1			
	• $K_i = 9 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH	['H](+)-	(Vilner and
		cells	pentazocine	Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 8 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[⁹ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner et al.
		glioma cells	pentazocine	1995a, b)
	Sigma2		13 MD TO	
	• $K_i = 68 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H]DTG	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 96 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)-3- PPP	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
BD1008	Sigma1	· ·		·
	• $K_{\rm i} = 1 {\rm nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 1 \rm nM$	C6 rat	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner et al.
		glioma cells	pentazocine	1995a, b)
	• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Berardi et al. 2001)
	Sigma2			
	• $K_i = 32 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H]DTG	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 8 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_i = 83 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Berardi et al. 2001)
BD1047	Sigma1	1	1	,
	• $K_i = 0.6 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner et al.
		glioma cells	pentazocine	1995a, b)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 0.9 \rm nM$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Matsumoto et al.
		brain	pentazocine	1995)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 1.9 {\rm nM}$	Mouse	[³ H](+)-	(Entrena et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2009)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 5.3 \rm nM$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Cobos et al.
	Sigma?	Utalli	pentazoenie	2003)
	K = 47 pM	Dat liver		(Mataumata at al
	• $K_i = 47$ mM	Kat livel		(Watsunioto et al. 1995)
BD1063	Sigma1		2	1
	• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat	['H](+)-	(Vilner et al.
		glioma cells	pentazocine	1995a, b)
	• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$	Mouse brain	pentazocine	(Entrena et al. 2009)
				<i>.</i>

	Binding affinity	Cell lines/	Radioligand	
Compound name	$(K_{\rm i}, K_{\rm d}, {\rm IC}_{50})$	tissue tested	used	Reference
	• $K_i = 16 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Cobos et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2005)
	• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$	Mouse	[³ H](+)-	(Nieto et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2012)
	• $K_i = 9 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Matsumoto et al. 1995)
	Sigma2			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 449 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Matsumoto et al. 1995)
CB-64D	Sigma1			
	• $K_i = 5,304 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 3,063 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Bowen et al.
	<u>S'ama</u> 2	brain	pentazocine	1993)
	Sigma2	OZ N CH	1 ³ UDTC	(17:1
	• $K_i = 61 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	THIDIG	(viner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_{:} = 17 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ HIDTG	(Bowen et al.
			[]210	(1995)
CB-64L	Sigma1			,
	• $K_{\rm i} = 102 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 11 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Bowen et al. 1995)
	Sigma2		1	,
	• $K_i = 759 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH	[³ HIDTG	(Vilner and
	1	cells		Bowen 2000)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 154 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Bowen et al. 1995)
CB-184	Sigma1			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 7,436 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Bowen et al. 1995)
	Sigma2		1	,
	• $K_i = 13 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Bowen et al. 1995)
CM764	Sigma1			
	• $K_i = 87 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Nicholson et al. 2016)
	Sigma2		1	,
	• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Nicholson et al. 2016)
DTG	Sigma1		-!	4
	• $K_i = 203 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 60 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Binding affinity	Cell lines/	Radioligand	
	Compound name	$(K_{\rm i}, K_{\rm d}, {\rm IC}_{50})$	tissue tested	used	Reference
• $K_i = 51 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat glioma cells $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)• $K_i = 69 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine2011a)• $K_i = 71 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine2016)Sigma22016)• $K_i = 58 \text{ nM}$ CsK-N-SH cells $[^3H]DTG$ (Vilner and Bowen 2000)• $K_i = 13 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $[^3H]DTG$ (Hellewell et al. 1994)• $K_i = 22 \text{ nM}$ Rat kidney $[^3H]DTG$ (Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 23 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H]DTG$ (Marrazzo et al. 2016)• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $[^3H]DTG$ (Marrazzo et al. 2016)HaloperidolSigma1(Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocineWilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner et al. 2016)HaloperidolSigma1• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner et al. 2016)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 1 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain		• $K_i = 45 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
• $K_i = 69 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 71 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig 		• $K_i = 51 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat glioma cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		• $K_i = 69 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)
Sigma2• $K_i = 58 \text{ nM}$ SK-N-SH cells $\begin{bmatrix} ^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Vilner and Bowen 2000)• $K_i = 13 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $\begin{bmatrix} ^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Hellewell et al. 1994)• $K_i = 22 \text{ nM}$ Rat kidney $\begin{bmatrix} ^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Hellewell et al. 1994)• $K_i = 23 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} ^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $\begin{bmatrix} ^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Zampieri et al. 2016)HaloperidolSigmal• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig glioma cells $\begin{bmatrix} ^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat glioma cells $\begin{bmatrix} ^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner et al. 2006)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} ^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sigwat et al. 		• $K_i = 71 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Zampieri et al. 2016)
• $K_i = 58 \text{ nM}$ SK-N-SH cells $[^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Vilner and Bowen 2000)• $K_i = 13 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $[^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Hellewell et al. 1994)• $K_i = 22 \text{ nM}$ Rat kidney $[^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Hellewell et al. 1994)• $K_i = 23 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $[^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Zampieri et al. 		Sigma2			
• $K_i = 13 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} \text{DTG}$ (Hellewell et al. 1994)• $K_i = 22 \text{ nM}$ Rat kidney $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} \text{DTG}$ (Hellewell et al. 1994)• $K_i = 23 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} \text{DTG}$ (Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} \text{DTG}$ (Zampieri et al. 2016)HaloperidolSigma1(Vilner and Bowen 1993)(Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Vilner et al. 2016)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Vilner et al. 2017)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Geiger et al. 2007)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Ishiwata et al. 2009a brain• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Sunnam et al. 2009a brain• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Marrazzo et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Marrazzo et al. 2019a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Marrazzo et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Marrazzo et al. 2014)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H} \end{bmatrix} (+)-$ (Marrazzo et al. 2014)<		• $K_{\rm i} = 58 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H]DTG	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
• $K_i = 22 \text{ nM}$ Rat kidney $\begin{bmatrix} 1^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}\text{DTG}$ (Hellewell et al. 1994)• $K_i = 23 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} 3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}\text{DTG}$ (Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $\begin{bmatrix} 3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}\text{DTG}$ (Zampieri et al. 2016)HaloperidolSigma1(Vilner and pentazocine provide)(Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig glioma cells $\begin{bmatrix} 3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine 1995a, b)(Vilner et al. 2006)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat glioma cells $\begin{bmatrix} 3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine 2007)(Geiger et al. 2007)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat cerebellum $\begin{bmatrix} 3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - 		• $K_{\rm i} = 13 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
• $K_i = 23 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $[^3\text{H}]\text{DTG}$ (Zampieri et al. 2016)HaloperidolSigmal \cdot $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat glioma cells $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Geiger et al. 2007)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat cerebellum $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Ishiwata et al. 2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 1 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 1 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 1 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo e		• $K_{\rm i} = 22 \text{ nM}$	Rat kidney	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}\text{DTG}$ (Zampieri et al. 2016)HaloperidolSigma1• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat glioma cells $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat glioma cells $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Geiger et al. 2007)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat cerebellum pentazocine $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Ishiwata et al. 2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain pentazocine $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Holl et al. 2009a brain pentazocine• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain pentazocine $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^{3}\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. <br< td=""><td></td><td>• $K_i = 23 \text{ nM}$</td><td>Guinea pig brain</td><td>[³H]DTG</td><td>(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)</td></br<>		• $K_i = 23 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H]DTG	(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)
HaloperidolSigmal• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat 		• $K_i = 54 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Zampieri et al. 2016)
• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner and Bowen 1993)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat glioma cells $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Geiger et al. 2007)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat cerebellum $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Ishiwata et al. 2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Holl et al. 2009a brain• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)	Haloperidol	Sigma1			
• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat glioma cells $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Geiger et al. 2007)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Ishiwata et al. 2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Holl et al. 2009a) 2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Kounam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• <t< td=""><td></td><td>• $K_{\rm i} = 4 {\rm nM}$</td><td>Guinea pig brain</td><td>[³H](+)- pentazocine</td><td>(Vilner and Bowen 1993)</td></t<>		• $K_{\rm i} = 4 {\rm nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner and Bowen 1993)
glioma cellspentazocine1995a, b)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Geiger et al. 2007)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat cerebellum $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Ishiwata et al. 2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Holl et al. 2009a pentazocine• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig 		• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner et al.
• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Geiger et al. 2007)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat cerebellum $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Ishiwata et al. 2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Holl et al. 2009a b, c)• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine			glioma cells	pentazocine	1995a, b)
• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Rat cerebellum $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Ishiwata et al. 2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Holl et al. 2009a) b, c)• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $\begin{bmatrix} {}^3\text{H}\end{bmatrix}(+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine		• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Geiger et al. 2007)
cerebellumpentazocine2006)• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Holl et al. 2009a b, c)• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig 		• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$	Rat	[³ H](+)-	(Ishiwata et al.
• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Holl et al. 2009a) b, c)• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)			cerebellum	pentazocine	2006)
brainpentazocineb, c)• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. pentazocine		• $K_i = 4 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Holl et al. 2009a,
• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{1}H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sunnam et al. 2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $[^{3}H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)			brain	pentazocine	b, c)
oranpentazocine2010)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[{}^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[{}^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[{}^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $[{}^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[{}^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[{}^3\text{H}](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)		• $K_i = 6 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Sunnam et al.
• $K_i = 2 \text{ IM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{-}H](+)^-$ pentazocine (Martazzo et al.) 2011a)• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ pentazocine (Martazzo et al.) 2011a)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ pentazocine (Martazzo et al.) 2011b)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ pentazocine (Weber et al.) 2014)• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $[^{3}H](+)$ pentazocine (Weber et al.) 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ pentazocine (Sozio et al.) pentazocine• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^{3}H](+)$ pentazocine (Sozio et al.) pentazocine		K = 2 mM	Cuince nig		2010)
• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Marrazzo et al. 2011b)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $[^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)		• $K_i = 2 \text{ mM}$	brain	pentazocine	(Marazzo et al. 2011a)
• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ Cuinca pig brain brain brain pentazocine 2011b) • $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain pentazocine 2014) • $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 $[^3\text{H}](+)$ - (Weber et al. pentazocine 2014) • $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain pentazocine 2014) • $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain pentazocine 2015)		• $K_{\rm r} = 2 \rm nM$	Guinea nig	$[^{3}H](\pm)_{-}$	(Marrazzo et al
• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $I^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ RPMI 8226 cells $I^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Weber et al. 2014)• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $I^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain $I^3H](+)$ - pentazocine(Sozio et al. 2015)		$R_1 = 2$ mm	brain	pentazocine	2011b)
• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ • $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$ • $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ •		• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)-	(Weber et al. 2014)
• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig brain brain [³ H](+)- (Sozio et al. pentazocine 2015)		• $K_i = 40 \text{ nM}$	RPMI 8226 cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Weber et al. 2014)
		• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Sozio et al. 2015)
• $K_i = / nM$ Guinea pig brain THJ(+)- (Zampieri et al. 2016)		• $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Zampieri et al. 2016)

Binding affinity Cell lines/ Radioligand $(K_{\rm i}, K_{\rm d}, {\rm IC}_{50})$ Compound name tissue tested used Reference • $K_i = 1 \text{ nM}$ $[^{3}H](+)-$ (Choi et al. 2001) Guinea pig pentazocine brain • $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$ $[^{3}H](+)-$ (Hellewell et al. Rat liver 1994) pentazocine $K_{\rm i} = 8 \, \rm nM$ $[^{3}H](+)-$ Rat kidney (Hellewell et al. pentazocine 1994) $K_{\rm i} = 6 \, \rm nM$ [³H](+)-SK-N-SH (Vilner and cells pentazocine Bowen 2000) Sigma2 $K_{\rm i} = 78 \ {\rm nM}$ Rat liver [³H]DTG (Geiger et al. 2007) • $K_i = 167 \text{ nM}$ [³H]DTG Rat liver (Ishiwata et al. 2006) • $K_i = 78 \text{ nM}$ [³H]DTG Rat liver (Holl et al. 2009a, **b**, **c**) • $K_i = 78 \text{ nM}$ [³H]DTG Rat liver (Sunnam et al. 2010) [³H]DTG • $K_i = 16 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig (Marrazzo et al. brain 2011a) • $K_i = 16 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig [³H]DTG (Marrazzo et al. brain 2011b) • $K_i = 78 \text{ nM}$ [³H]DTG Rat liver (Weber et al. 2014) [³H]DTG $K_{\rm i} = 200 \text{ nM}$ RT-4 cells (Weber et al. 2014)[³H]DTG • $K_i = 18 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig (Sozio et al. brain 2015)• $K_i = 78 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver [³H]DTG (Zampieri et al. 2016) $K_{\rm i} = 38 \text{ nM}$ [³H]DTG Rat liver (Choi et al. 2001) • $K_i = 12 \text{ nM}$ Rat liver [³H]DTG (Hellewell et al. 1994) • $K_i = 18 \text{ nM}$ $[^{3}H](+)-3-$ (Hellewell et al. Rat liver PPP 1994) $K_{\rm i} = 42 \, {\rm nM}$ Rat kidney [³H]DTG (Hellewell et al. 1994) $\overline{K_{\rm i}} = 221 \text{ nM}$ SK-N-SH [³H]DTG (Vilner and cells Bowen 2000) Haloperidol Sigma1 (reduced) • $K_i = 5 \text{ nM}$ Guinea pig $[^{3}H](+)-$ (Vilner and Bowen 1993) brain pentazocine • $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$ C6 rat $[^{3}H](+)-$ (Vilner et al. 1995a, b) glioma cells pentazocine • $K_i = 47 \text{ nM}$ SK-N-SH $[^{3}H](+)-$ (Vilner and cells pentazocine Bowen 2000) Sigma2 • $K_i = 123 \text{ nM}$ SK-N-SH [³H]DTG (Vilner and cells Bowen 2000)

Table 2 (continued)

	Binding affinity	Cell lines/	Radioligand	D.C.
Compound name	(K_i, K_d, IC_{50})	tissue tested	used	Reference
Haloperidol-	Sigmal		3	
metabolite II	• $K_i = 5 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)
	• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Marrazzo et al.
	Sigma?		pentazoenie	20110)
	• $K_{\rm r} = 1 \rm nM$	Guinea nig	[³ HIDTG	(Marrazzo et al
		brain		2011a)
	• $K_i = 1 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H]DTG	(Marrazzo et al. 2011b)
	• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H]DTG	(Sozio et al. 2015)
Igmesine	Sigma1			
	• $IC_{50} = 39 \text{ nM}$	Rat brain	[³ H](+)- SKF10047	(Roman et al. 1990)
IPAG	Sigma1			
	• $K_{\rm d} = 3 \text{ nM}$	MDA-MB-	[¹²⁵ I]IPAG	(Schrock et al.
		468 cells	saturation	2013)
	• $K_{\rm d} = 3 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[¹²⁵ I]IPAG	(Wilson et al.
		brain	saturation	1991)
LR172	Sigma1			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 6 {\rm nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 1 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Hellewell et al. 1994)
	• $K_i = 0.5 \text{ nM}$	C6 glioma cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)
	• $K_i = 0.4 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(McCracken et al. 1999)
	Sigma2			
	• $K_i = 14 \text{ nM}$	SK-N-SH cells	[³ H]DTG	(Vilner and Bowen 2000)
	• $K_i = 2 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(McCracken et al. 1999)
NE-100	Sigma1			:
	• $K_{\rm i} = 15 \text{ nM}$	Mouse brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Marrazzo et al. 2011a)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 13 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Cobos et al. 2005)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 1 \rm nM$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Berardi et al. 2001)
	• $K_{\rm d} = 1 \rm nM$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H]NE-100 saturation	(Tanaka et al. 1995)
	• $IC_{50} = 85 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H]DTG	(Chaki et al. 1994)

Compound name	Binding affinity (K_i, K_d, IC_{50})	Cell lines/ tissue tested	Radioligand used	Reference
compound nume	$\frac{(n_1, n_2, re_{30})}{10}$	Guinea pig		(Cheki et el
	• $1C_{50} = 1$ mvi	brain	pentazocine	(Cliaki et al.
	Si ann a 2	bram	pentazoenie	
	Sigma2	D 11	3.00000	(D. 11. 1
	• $K_i = 212 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[⁵ H]DTG	(Berardi et al.
				2001)
PB-28	Sigmal			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 13 {\rm nM}$	MCF-7	[³ H](+)-	(Azzariti et al.
		cells	pentazocine	2006)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 10 {\rm nM}$	MCF-7/	[³ H](+)-	(Azzariti et al.
		ADR cells	pentazocine	2006)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 0.4 {\rm nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Niso et al. 2013)
		brain	pentazocine	
	• $K_i = 14 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Berardi et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2004)
	Sigma2		-	•
	• $K_{\rm i} = 0.28 \text{ nM}$	MCF-7	[³ H]DTG	(Azzariti et al.
		cells	[11]210	2006)
	• $K = 0.17 \text{ nM}$	MCF-7/	[³ HIDTG	(Azzariti et al
	$R_1 = 0.17$ mm	ADR cells		(1122anti et al. 2006)
	• $K_{\rm r} = 0.68 \rm nM$	Rat liver	1 ³ HIDTG	(Niso et al. 2013)
	$K_1 = 0.00 \text{ mM}$	Dat liver		(Derendi et al.
	• $K_i = 0.34$ nM	Rat liver	['H]DIG	(Berardi et al. 2004)
				(Lever et al. 2014)
PD-144418	Sigma1			·
	• $K_i = 0.08 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Akunne et al.
	1	brain	pentazocine	1997)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 0.46 \rm nM$	Guinea pig	$[^{3}H](+)-$	(Lever et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2014)
	• $K_{\rm c} = 4.30 \rm nM$	Sf9 cells	[³ H](+)-	(Schmidt et al
		bij cens	pentazocine	2016)
	Sigma?		pennaloenne	2010)
	K = 1.277 pM	NC 109 15		(Algunna at al
	• $\Lambda_i = 1,577$ mvi	no 106-15	טוענח ן	(Akulille et al.
	K 1 (54 -)M	Cuinerain		(Lesses et al.
	• $K_i = 1,034$ nM	Guinea pig	['H]DIG	(Lever et al.
	0. 1	Dialii		2014)
PRE-084	Sigmal		3	
	• $IC_{50} = 44 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- SKF10047	(Su et al. 1991)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 46 \text{ nM}$	Mouse	[³ H](+)-	(Entrena et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2009)
	• $K_i = 151 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Cobos et al.
	1 -	brain	pentazocine	2005)
	• $K_i = 53 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Garces-Ramirez
		brain	pentazocine	et al. 2011)
	• $K_{\rm i} = 9 \mathrm{nM}$	Guinea nio	[³ H](+)-	(Brown et al
	$\Lambda_1 = \gamma \min$	brain	pentazocine	2004)
	1	Juni	Pennazoenne	

Compound name	$(K_{\rm i}, K_{\rm d}, {\rm IC}_{50})$	ticana tastad	used		
F	(I) u. 50	lissue lesteu	used	Reference	
	Sigma2				
	• $K_{\rm i} = 32,100 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H]DTG	(Garces-Ramirez et al. 2011)	
Rimcazole	Sigma1				
	• $K_{\rm i} = 406 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat glioma cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Vilner et al. 1995a, b)	
	• $K_i = 1,165 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H]ne-100	(Tanaka et al. 1995)	
	• $IC_{50} = 2,700 \text{ nM}$	MDA-MB- 468 cells	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Spruce et al. 2004)	
	• $IC_{50} = 356 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat glioma cells	[¹¹ C] SA4503	(Rybczynska et al. 2008)	
	• $IC_{50} = 2,649 \text{ nM}$	Rat brain	[³ H](+)- SKF10047	(Roman et al. 1990)	
	• $IC_{50} = 450 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- SKF10047	(Ferris et al. 1986)	
	Sigma2				
	• $K_{\rm i} = 852 {\rm nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Schepmann et al. 2011)	
	• $K_{\rm i} = 571 {\rm nM}$	RT-4 cells	[³ H]DTG	(Schepmann et al. 2011)	
S1RA	Sigma1				
	• $K_i = 30 \text{ nM}$	Mouse brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Nieto et al. 2012)	
	• $K_i = 24 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Romero et al. 2012)	
	• $K_i = 17 \text{ nM}$	Not indicated	Performed by CEREP	(Romero et al. 2012)	
	Sigma2				
	• $K_i = 9,300 \text{ nM}$	Not indicated	Performed by CEREP	(Romero et al. 2012)	
SA4503	Sigma1				
	• $K_{\rm i} = 0.012 \rm nM$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Berardi et al. 2001)	
	• $K_i = 4.63 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Lever et al. 2006)	
	• $IC_{50} = 7 nM$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Lever et al. 2006)	
	• $IC_{50} = 17 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H](+)- pentazocine	(Matsuno et al. 1996a, b)	
	Sigma2				
	• $K_i = 63 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig brain	[³ H]DTG	(Lever et al. 2006)	
	• $K_{\rm i} = 77 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Berardi et al. 2001)	

258

	1	1	1	
	Binding affinity	Cell lines/	Radioligand	
Compound name	$(K_{\rm i}, K_{\rm d}, {\rm IC}_{50})$	tissue tested	used	Reference
	• $IC_{50} = 71 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H]DTG	(Lever et al.
		brain		2006)
	• $IC_{50} = 1.784 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ HIDTG	(Matsuno et al.
	1050 1,701 1101	brain	[11]210	1996a, b)
SH-344	Sigma1	1	1	. ,
	• $K_i = 2.5 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H](+)-	(Hellewell et al.
			pentazocine	1994)
	• $K_i = 2.8 \text{ nM}$	C6 rat	[³ H](+)-	(Vilner et al.
	1	glioma cells	pentazocine	1995a, b)
	Sigma2		1	
	• $K_i = 43 \text{ nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Hellewell et al.
				1994)
Siramesine	Sigma1			
	• $K_{\rm i} = 10 {\rm nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Niso et al. 2013)
		brain	pentazocine	
	• $IC_{50} = 17 \text{ nM}$	Rat brain	[³ H](+)-	(Perregaard et al.
			pentazocine	1995)
	Sigma2			1
	• $K_{\rm i} = 13 {\rm nM}$	Rat liver	[³ H]DTG	(Niso et al. 2013)
	• $IC_{50} = 0.12 \text{ nM}$	Rat brain	[³ H]DTG	(Perregaard et al.
				1995)
SR31747A	Sigma1			
	• $K_i = 1 \text{ nM}$	MDA-MB-	[³ H](+)-	(Maher et al.,
		468 cells	pentazocine	unpublished data)
	• $K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$	Guinea pig	[³ H](+)-	(Laggner et al.
		brain	pentazocine	2005)
	• $K_{\rm d} = 0.15 \ \rm nM$	Yeast	[³ H]	(Jbilo et al. 1997)
		membrane	SR31747A	
	1			

Table 2	(continued	ł)
---------	------------	----

2 Sigma1 and SIGMAR1 Expression in Tumors

Elevated expression levels of a protein or of the mRNA transcripts encoding the protein are often used to justify its relevance in cancer. In this section, we will review the literature describing the expression of *SIGMAR1* mRNA transcripts and Sigma1 protein by immunohistochemistry (IHC) and radioligand binding in tumors.

2.1 Sigma1 Protein Expression in Tumors by Immunohistochemistry

Compared to other cancer-associated proteins, there are relatively few published reports of Sigma1 immunostaining in tumors. These data are summarized in Table 3.

In one of the first reports, Casellas and colleagues performed Sigma 1 IHC staining analysis of tumors from 95 breast cancer patients (Simony-Lafontaine et al. 2000). The authors found a positive correlation between Sigma 1 protein and hormone receptor levels; the strongest positive correlation was with the progesterone receptor (PR) (P = 0.01). Interestingly, the *SIGMAR1* transcriptional promoter region contains a PR binding site (Seth et al. 1997). Together, these data suggest that Sigma 1 expression may be regulated by steroid hormone feedback mechanisms. This was proposed as a rationale for considering Sigma 1 as a marker to identify patients who may benefit from adjuvant hormone therapy (Simony-Lafontaine et al. 2000).

In this study, Sigma1 protein levels showed no significant positive correlation with tumor size, histological grade, nodal status, tumor proliferation (by Ki67), patient age, or whether the patients were pre- or post-menopausal. However, the absence of detectable Sigma1 was most frequently observed in tumors from post-menopausal women (Simony-Lafontaine et al. 2000).

The authors used a mouse monoclonal anti-Sigma1 antibody raised against fulllength Sigma1 that was generated by the authors [first described in (Jbilo et al. 1997)]. The epitope(s) on Sigma1 was (were) not identified (Jbilo et al. 1997). An antigen retrieval step in the IHC protocol was not reported. These are important technical considerations, because depending upon the epitope against which the antibody was generated an antigen retrieval step may be needed to reveal the epitope(s) masked by formalin/formaldehyde cross-linking of the protein of interest (Leong and Leong 2007; Marchio et al. 2011). This is noteworthy because the published IHC analyses of Sigma1 in tumors, described here and below, were based on the use of different anti-Sigma1 antibodies (some without indicated epitopes) and possible variability in tissue processing and immunostaining specificity. Therefore, some of the differences in the conclusions drawn from these studies could be attributed to technical factors and may not necessarily reflect biological or clinical differences.

In a subsequent study Wang et al. performed Sigma1 IHC staining analysis of 109 tissue specimens comprising malignant breast tumors, benign breast tumors, and normal breast tissue from 58 breast cancer patients. The authors reported that Sigma1 protein was present in 60% of invasive cancers, 41% of in situ cancers, 75% of ductal hyperplasias, and 33% of normal breast tissue (Wang et al. 2004). They reported no statistically significant correlation between Sigma1 protein levels and histological grade, nodal status, and patient age. In contrast to the study by Simony-Lafontaine et al., Wang et al. found no statistically significant correlation between Sigma1 levels and estrogen receptor or progesterone receptor status. This difference may be attributable to technical factors such as different antibodies and IHC procedures as

	_	Results and		Antigen
Reference	Cancer	conclusions	Antibody used	retrieval
(Simony- Lafontaine et al. 2000)	Breast Adenocarcinoma (tumors from 95 breast cancer patients)	No significant correlation with tumor size, histological grade, nodal status, tumor proliferation (by Ki67), patient age, or whether the patients were pre- or post- menopausal. Significant correlation with progesterone receptor status	Mouse monoclonal anti-Sigma1 antibody against full-length Sigma1 that was generated by the authors [described in (Jbilo et al. 1997)]	An antigen retrieval step in the IHC protocol was not indicated
(Wang et al. 2004)	Breast Adenocarcinoma (malignant breast tumors, benign breast tumors, normal breast tissue from 58 breast cancer patients)	No significant correlation between Sigma1 protein levels and histological grade, nodal status, and patient age; no statistically significant correlation between Sigma1 levels and estrogen receptor or progesterone receptor	Goat anti-Sigma1 polyclonal antibody raised against unspecified epitope (Sigma1 L-20 antibody, Santa Cruz biotechnology, Inc.). The specificity of this antibody for Sigma1 was not confirmed	Antigen retrieval prior to IHC was performed in this study
(Xu et al. 2012)	Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma (18 low-grade dysplasia, 8 high- grade dysplasia, 18 carcinoma, 12 non-cancerous epithelium from 18 patients)	Significant correlation with pathologic TNM classification; positive correlation with tumor size; Sigma1-positive rates generally lower in normal epithelia than in ESCC tissue	Rabbit anti-Sigma1 polyclonal antibody (Abgent). Antibody generated against a synthetic peptide, residues 47–81 of human Sigma1. The specificity of this antibody for Sigma1 was not confirmed	Antigen retrieval prior to IHC was performed in this study
(Xu et al. 2014)	Hilar Cholangio- carcinoma (HC) (92 HC and paired normal bile duct epithelial tissue)	Significant correlation between the percentage of tumors positive for Sigma1 immunostaining and tumor differentiation (increase in poorly differentiated tumors), lymph node metastasis, disease stage; no correlation between Sigma1 staining and tumor size or brain metastasis	Rabbit polyclonal antibody raised against an unspecified synthetic peptide derived from the C-terminal region of rat Sigma1 (ab53852; Abcam). The specificity of this antibody for Sigma1 was not confirmed	An antigen retrieval step in the IHC protocol was not indicated

	Table 3	Immunohistochemical	Analys	is of	Sigma1	Protein in	Tumors
--	---------	---------------------	--------	-------	--------	------------	--------

well as different patient populations. However, both studies report heterogeneous expression of Sigma1 in invasive breast tumors.

The authors concluded that Sigma1 protein levels did not correlate with patient survival and were not predictive of adjuvant chemotherapy efficacy in this study. They included the caveat that their study should be considered exploratory and that it was not performed to formally evaluate prognostic value, adding that their conclusion regarding lack of statistically significant correlation may have been due to an underpowered study (Wang et al. 2004).

Xu et al. reported that Sigma1 is upregulated in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) and that the upregulation correlates with the pathologic tumor, node, metastasis (TNM) classification (Xu et al. 2012). The authors describe both cytoplasmic and nuclear Sigma1 immunostaining. They also report that nuclear Sigma1 has a stronger positive correlation with TNM classification and lymph node metastasis and suggest that nuclear Sigma1 may contribute to malignant progression of ESCC tumors. This group also found a significant positive correlation between Sigma1 expression and tumor size. They evaluated normal epithelium of the esophagus and compared to ESCC tissue and found that Sigma1-positive immunostaining in non-cancerous epithelium was inconsistent (33.3%, 4 of 12); however, Sigma1-positive rates were generally lower than in ESCC tissue, wherein a pattern of increasing rates of positive Sigma1 staining was observed with low-grade dysplasia (22.2%, 4 of 18) to high-grade dysplasia (61%, 11 of 18). A significant difference was observed, with 35% for low-grade dysplasia versus 60% for ESCC.

The presence or absence of Sigmal failed to show correlation with ESCC patient survival rates; patients with high Sigmal immunostaining had 5-year overall survival rates of 29.7% compared to 37.5% for patients with low Sigmal immunostaining. The authors propose that Sigmal contributes to ESCC pathogenesis and could be regarded as a novel biomarker in the prognosis of ESCC; however, they also state that their study should be regarded as exploratory (Xu et al. 2012).

Xu et al. evaluated the levels of Sigma1 in hilar cholangiocarcinoma (HC) tumors, a hepatobiliary cancer that occurs at the confluence of the right and left hepatic ducts (Xu et al. 2014). The authors performed Sigma1 IHC analysis of tissue microarrays (TMA) containing 92 HC and paired non-cancerous bile duct epithelial tissue. They report overexpression of Sigma1 in 46.7% of the HC tumors. Under their experimental conditions 53% of HC tumors presented low or no Sigma1 immunostaining, and all non-cancerous bile duct epithelial cells presented no or weak Sigma1 immunostaining. The authors report primarily cytoplasmic Sigma1 immunostaining (Xu et al. 2014).

This study found a significant positive correlation between the percentage of tumors that were positive for Sigma1 immunostaining and tumor differentiation (increased in poorly differentiated tumors), lymph node metastasis, and disease stage. However, they found no significant correlation between Sigma1 staining and tumor size or brain metastasis (Xu et al. 2014). The frequency of Sigma1 immunostaining significantly increased with disease stage, with 32.4% Sigma1 positive at TNM classification stage I/II and 56.4% at stage III/IV. They also report

that Sigma1 levels positively correlated with disease progression, poor prognosis, earlier recurrence, and diminished overall survival. HC patients with high intensity Sigma1 immunostaining presented significantly earlier recurrence (15 versus 30 months) and significantly shorter median survival duration (15 versus 42 months) compared to patients with low or no Sigma1 immunostaining. The authors report that tumor invasion, lymph node metastases, and Sigma1 immunostain intensity were independent predictive factors for tumor recurrence (Xu et al. 2014).

2.2 Sigma1 Protein Levels in Tumors Determined by Radioligand Binding

One of the first reports of the presence of sigma receptors in tumors (at the time identified as sigma binding sites) was published by Coscia and colleagues (Bowen et al. 1988; Thomas et al. 1990). The authors evaluated the density of sigma binding sites as well as opioid receptors in human brain tumors and neuroblastoma and glioma cell lines. Sigma receptor binding was performed with [³H]1,3-di-otolylguanidine ([³H]DTG) in the absence or presence of haloperidol to differentiate specific and non-specific binding. Elevated sigma binding site density was detected in 15 of 16 tumors. All brain tumor specimens were obtained from patients immediately after surgical resection. [³H]DTG bound membrane preparations of meningioma with a K_d of 37–57 nM and B_{max} 683–1,260 fmol/mg protein compared to [³H]DTG binding of temporal cortex tissue preps with a K_d of 60 nM and $B_{\rm max}$ 249 \pm 105 fmol/mg protein (mean \pm SE). A brain metastasis from adenocarcinoma of the lung expressed five- to tenfold greater [³H]DTG than other brain tumors (Thomas et al. 1990). A caveat of this study is that haloperidol has affinity for both Sigma1 and Sigma2 binding sites; therefore, these conditions would not distinguish these two binding sites (Thomas et al. 1990).

Subsequently, this group reported increased sigma binding site density in non-neural tumors, including surgical specimens of renal and colorectal carcinoma and sarcoma (Bem et al. 1991). The freshly resected set of 9 tumors comprised 2 colon carcinoma liver metastases, 6 renal carcinomas, and 1 sarcoma metastasis. The tumors were compared to normal renal tissue and colon mucosa specimens excised from tissue adjacent to primary tumors as well as from tissue obtained during necropsy of non-cancer patients (Bem et al. 1991).

2.3 SIGMAR1 Transcript Levels in Tumors

Systematic analyses of *SIGMAR1* gene expression, genome wide association studies, mutational analyses, or epigenetic analyses have not been reported. However, several comprehensive and well-annotated cancer focused gene expression databases are now available. These include The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) (Weinstein et al. 2013) and Oncomine [https://www.oncomine.org/, first described by Chinayan and colleagues (Rhodes et al. 2004)]. These databases are a rich source of information regarding the genomic, genetic, and epigenetic status of *SIGMAR1* in cancer that awaits data mining, analysis, and reporting. Recently, Crottès et al. reported elevated levels of *SIGMAR1* transcripts in colorectal cancers (CRC), acute myeloid leukemia (AML), and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) compared to their paired normal tissue based on their analysis of the Oncomine database (Crottes et al. 2016).

A few focused studies have used reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) based approaches to quantify *SIGMAR1* transcript levels in cancer tissue specimens. In one of the earliest such studies, Wang et al. evaluated the relative *SIGMAR1* transcript levels in 14 breast cancer specimens by quantitative real-time RT-PCR (qRT-PCR). They found that 9 of 14 (64%) of the samples had elevated *SIGMAR1* (ratio of *SIGMAR1* in cancer tissue to a pool of normal breast tissue). The ratio of *SIGMAR1* in cancer versus normal tissue ranged from 2 to 37, with a median ratio of 4 (2.85 at 25% and 17.75 at 75%). However, in 5 of 14 (36%) breast cancer samples the authors found less *SIGMAR1* compared to the reference pool of normal breast tissue, with ratios ranging from 0.8 to 0.02, with a median ratio of 0.11 (0.025 at 25% and 0.51 at 75%) (Wang et al. 2004).

Although not specifically addressed in a study of gene expression in malignant melanoma and benign melanocytic lesions by Talantov et al., a closer review of the data in this publication revealed that some malignant melanomas express extremely high levels of *SIGMAR1* transcripts compared to benign tissue controls (Talantov et al. 2005). The *SIGMAR1* gene transcript data can be found at the NCBI GEO Profile for this study (accession number GSE3189).

Skrzycki and Czeczot used semi-quantitative RT-PCR to evaluate *SIGMAR1* transcript levels in tumors from 30 CRC patients, 18 with primary CRC and 12 with liver metastatic CRC. Using this method, the authors concluded that relative *SIGMAR1* transcript levels are highest in stage III CRC based on the TNM staging system (Skrzycki and Czeczot 2013). This study also reported significantly decreased levels of *SIGMAR1* transcripts in older CRC patients. The authors conclude that increased *SIGMAR1* correlates with CRC stage and metastasis and decreases with patient age (Skrzycki and Czeczot 2013).

Analysis of *SIGMAR1* in patient tumors in the Oncomine and The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) databases and survey of the literature reveals that Sigma1 is not uniformly upregulated in tumors. Interestingly, even among clinical subtypes and individual patients of each cancer, there is variability in the magnitude of enrichment of Sigma1. The significance of this variability in expression is unclear.

3 Sigma1 and SIGMAR1 Expression in Cancer Cell Lines

3.1 Sigma1 Protein in Cancer Cell Lines Determined by Immunoblot

A number of groups have reported Sigma1 protein expression in cancer cell lines by immunoblot; a few are listed here (Vilner et al. 1995b; John et al. 1995b; Spruce et al. 2004; Aydar et al. 2006; Wang et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2010, 2012; Xu et al. 2012; Schrock et al. 2013; Thomas et al. 2017). Aydar et al. confirmed Sigma1 protein expression by immunoblot in lung (H69, H209, H510), breast (MDA-MB-361, MDA-MB-435, BT20 and MCF-7), and prostate (PC3, LNCaP) cancer cell lines (Avdar et al. 2006). Wang et al. performed immunoblots to confirm Sigma1 protein expression in MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-361, MDA-MB-435, MCF-7, and BT20 breast cancer cell lines (Wang et al. 2004). In their hands, T47D cells did not express Sigma1. This is inconsistent with other reports (Kim et al. 2012; Schrock et al. 2013; Vilner et al. 1995b). MCF-7 cells were initially reported to be Sigma1 negative (Vilner et al. 1995b); however, a number of studies demonstrate that MCF-7 cells express Sigma1 and SIGMAR1 and are responsive to Sigma1 ligands (Vilner et al. 1995b; John et al. 1995b; Spruce et al. 2004; Aydar et al. 2006; Wang et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2012; Schrock et al. 2013). Xu et al. reported Sigma1 protein expression in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) cell lines KYSE150, KYSE180, and EC109 (Xu et al. 2012). Kim and colleagues confirmed Sigma1 protein expression by immunoblot in prostate cancer (LAPC4, LNCaP, C4-2, 22Rv1, VCaP, PC3, DU145), breast cancer (T47D, MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468, SKBR3, BT474), pancreas (Panc1), liver cancer (HepG2), and neuroblastoma (SK-N-BE(2)C) cell lines (Kim et al. 2010, 2012; Schrock et al. 2013; Thomas et al. 2017). To date, no clearly Sigma1-negative cancer cell line has been identified.

3.2 Sigma1 Binding Sites in Cancer Cell Lines Evaluated by Radioligand Binding

Most radioligand binding studies to detect and quantify Sigma1 in cancer cell lines were performed with the following three radioligands: $[^{3}H](+)$ -pentazocine, $[^{3}H](+)$ -SKF10047, and $[^{3}H]DTG$ (Table 2). The pharmacological selectivity and specificity of the first two prototypic Sigma1 ligands was confirmed by a study with *SIGMAR1* homozygous knockout mice (Langa et al. 2003). In this study, $[^{3}H](+)$ -pentazocine did not bind to brain membrane preparations from *SIGMAR1^{-/-}* mice, and (+)-SKF10047 stimulation of locomotor activity was not observed in these mice (Langa et al. 2003).

High levels of Sigma1 have been quantified in a number of human and rodent cancer cell lines by radioligand binding saturation assay. These assays have been performed and Sigma1 was detected on extracted cell membrane preparations from cell lines of prostate cancer (Vilner et al. 1995b), breast cancer (Crawford and

Bowen 2002; Vilner et al. 1995b; Spruce et al. 2004; Schrock et al. 2013), colon cancer (Bem et al. 1991), melanoma (Vilner et al. 1995b), small- and non-small-cell lung carcinoma (Maneckjee and Minna 1992; John et al. 1995a; Moody et al. 2000; Vilner et al. 1995b), renal cancer (Bem et al. 1991), bladder cancer (Schepmann et al. 2011), brain tumors (Thomas et al. 1990), glioblastoma (Vilner et al. 1995b), neuroblastoma (Ryan-Moro et al. 1996; Vilner et al. 1995b), multiple myeloma (Brune et al. 2012), and sarcoma (Bem et al. 1991).

Sigma1 has been detected by radioligand binding on a number of rodent cancer cell lines as well, including C6 rat glioma (Vilner et al. 1995b), N1E-115 rat neuroblastoma (Vilner et al. 1995b), NG108-15 rat neuroblastoma x glioma hybrid (Vilner et al. 1995b), and TRAMP (transgenic adenocarcinoma mouse prostate) cells (Colabufo et al. 2008).

3.3 Accumulation of Sigma1 Radioligands in Xenografted Tumors In Vivo

Bowen and colleagues performed Sigma1 ligand biodistribution studies in nude mice xenografted with a human prostate cancer cell line (DU145). They demonstrated that radioiodinated benzamides with affinity for Sigma1 appeared to be retained in tumors compared to normal tissues. 4-[¹²⁵I]-PAB, [¹²⁵I]-PIMBA, 2-[¹²⁵I]-BP had tumor/blood ratios of 14, 70, and 41 at 6 h post-injection, respectively. 4-[¹²⁵I]PAB, [¹²⁵I]-PIMBA, 2-[¹²⁵I]-BP had tumor/muscle ratios of 57, 70, and 28 at 6 h post-injection, respectively. 2-[¹²⁵I]-BP had tumor/blood and tumor/muscle ratios of 35 for both at 24 h post-injection. These data suggest that Sigma1 ligands may preferentially accumulate in tumors compared to other normal tissue (John et al. 1999).

Moody et al. performed a similar biodistribution experiment with $[^{125}I]$ -N-(2-(piperidino)ethyl)-2-iodobenazmide (2-IBP) in mice xenografted with NCI-N417 non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells. In this study as well, the Sigma1 ligand was present in higher concentrations in tumors compared to normal tissue (Moody et al. 2000).

Xie et al. synthesized an ¹⁸F labeled piperidine compound, 8-(4-(2-[¹⁸F] fluoroethoxy)benzyl)-1,4-dioxa-8-azaspiro[4.5]decane ([¹⁸F]5a), with high affinity for Sigma1 ($K_i = 5.4$ nM). The authors demonstrate specific intracellular Sigma1 binding by [¹⁸F]5a in vitro in four cancer cell lines, PC3 and DU145 (prostate adenocarcinoma), MCF-7 (breast adenocarcinoma), and A375 (melanoma). Specificity of [¹⁸F]5a binding to Sigma1 was confirmed with cold blocking ligands haloperidol, SA4503, and fluspidine in cellular uptake assays with all four human cancer cell lines. Consistent with the radioligand binding data, these cell lines have been reported to express different levels of *SIGMAR1* transcripts and Sigma1 by immunoblot. By autoradiography and positron emission tomography (PET) imaging, the authors demonstrate accumulation of high levels of [¹⁸F]5a in subcutaneously xenografted tumors of the above cell lines in mice. Accumulation was highest in PC3 tumors > A431 > A375 > DU145. The accumulation of the [¹⁸F]5a

radiotracer in PC3 and A431 xenografted tumors was significantly decreased by co-administration with haloperidol, suggesting Sigma-selective binding of this radiotracer (Xie et al. 2015).

SA4503 (1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenethyl)-4-(3-phenylpropyl)piperazine dihydrochloride) is a high affinity Sigma1 selective small molecule ligand with negligible affinity for at least 36 other receptors and ion channels (Matsuno et al. 1996b).

A number of reports suggest that SA4503 may be a promising Sigma1 targeted tumor radiotracer (Kawamura et al. 2005; Rybczynska et al. 2009; van Waarde et al. 2004, 2006; Ye et al. 2016). Proposed advantages of [¹¹C]SA4503 are its improved selectivity for tumor cells in inflamed tissue compared to ¹⁸Ffluorodeoxyglucose (18 F-FDG) (van Waarde et al. 2006) as well as its high tumor uptake and retention (van Waarde et al. 2004, 2006). Ramakrishnan et al. found twofold higher levels of [¹¹C]SA4503 accumulation in spontaneous pituitary tumors compared to normal pituitary tissue (Ramakrishnan et al. 2013). Van Waarde et al. evaluated [¹¹C]SA4503 as a PET ligand in rodent models. The authors reported that 1 h post-injection [¹¹C]SA4503 accumulated in C6 tumors at a tumorto-plasma ratio of 13.4 and a tumor-to-muscle ratio of 5.0 (van Waarde et al. 2004). Kawamura et al. reported that [¹¹C]SA4503 accumulated in AH109A hepatoma xenografted tumors in rats. Uptake in this cell line decreased by carrier-loading and pre-treatment with haloperidol ($[^{11}C]$ SA4503, 41% and 22%, respectively, at 30 min after injection), in support of Sigma1 specific binding and accumulation (Kawamura et al. 2005).

Together, these and other studies not reviewed here suggest that radiolabeled Sigma1 ligands preferentially accumulate in tumors and are promising radiotracers for tumor imaging in vivo. Interestingly, this is true even when comparing cancer cells with normal tissues that express high levels of Sigma1 protein, suggesting that Sigma1 may exist in a distinct binding conformation in cancer cells.

3.4 SIGMAR1 Transcript Levels in Cancer Cell Lines

The availability of well-curated and publically available databases such as Cell Miner and the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE), which contain the full gene expression profile of over 1,000 cancer cell lines, provides valuable reference data sets for gene expression studies. We evaluated *SIGMAR1* mRNA transcript expression levels in 1,036 cancer cell lines in the CCLE (Fig. 1). Our analysis of these databases and survey of the literature highlights that *SIGMAR1* is not uniformly upregulated in tumors and in cancer cell lines. Interestingly, even among clinical subtypes and individual patients of each cancer, there is variability in the levels of Sigma1 and *SIGMAR1* transcripts. This is reflected in the 1,036 cancer cell lines representing >20 cancers in the CCLE (Fig. 1). The significance of this variability in expression is unclear but may reflect the context-dependent functions of Sigma1, even within a cancer type.



268



4 Cancer Pharmacology of Sigma1 Modulators

4.1 Sigma1 Ligands: Putative Agonists and Antagonists

Despite compelling evidence that Sigma1 is not a traditional receptor, small molecule compounds with affinity for Sigma1 continue to be described as agonists and antagonists. They were originally classified on the basis of rodent behavior assays. The synthetic Sigma1 ligands di-o-tolylguanidine (DTG) and BD1052 exacerbated cocaine-induced convulsions and locomotor activity and were classified as agonists (Matsumoto et al. 2001). In contrast, other synthetic Sigma1 ligands BD1008, BD1047, BD1063, and LR172 were defined as antagonists because they attenuated cocaine-induced convulsions, abnormal hyper-locomotor activity, and lethality in mice (McCracken et al. 1999). Consistent with pharmacological antagonists, when administered alone the Sigma1 putative antagonists produced no reported changes in behavior (Matsumoto et al. 2001).

A rodent model of memory impairment was also used to classify Sigmal compounds as agonists and antagonists. Maurice and colleagues demonstrated that Sigma1 putative agonists (+)-pentazocine, PRE-084, and SA4503 had antiamnesic effects in a beta-amyloid-related peptide-induced memory impairment behavior assay. Neurosteroids with affinity for Sigma1 including pregnenolone, dehydroepiandrosterone, and their sulfate esters also produced a neuroprotective effect, which was interpreted as Sigma1 agonism. Progesterone and haloperidol blocked these neuroprotective effects and were thus classified as Sigma1 antagonists in this assay. Importantly, although they blocked the beneficial effects of the Sigma1 agonists in attenuating memory impairment, these Sigma1 antagonists, when administered alone, had no effect on (i.e., did not worsen or accelerate or ameliorate) 25–35 peptide-induced symptoms (Maurice et al. 1998). A number of related studies are reviewed by Maurice and Goguadze in this volume (*Sigma-1* (σ_1) Receptor in Memory and Neurodegenerative Diseases).

In experimental models of cancer, inhibition of cancer cell proliferation and survival are considered measures of Sigma1 inhibition (putative antagonism). Spruce et al. and Colabufo et al. were among the first to propose that Sigma1 putative antagonists/inhibitors but not agonists/activators elicit antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects on cancer cells (Spruce et al. 2004; Colabufo et al. 2004). In these seminal studies, Sigma1 antagonism/inhibition, as originally defined on the basis of behavioral endpoints, generally correlated with inhibition of cancer cell proliferation and growth, and in some cases induction of apoptosis (Colabufo et al. 2004; Spruce et al. 2004). However, this does not strictly apply. For instance, although the putative agonists/activators PRE-084 and (+)-SKF10047 do not alter cell proliferation or survival in most published studies, some putative agonists/ activators such as 4-IBP [N-(N-benzylpiperidin-4-yl)-4-iodobenzamide] have been reported to have antiproliferative properties on their own as well as the ability to sensitize cancer cells to proapoptotic and proautophagic drugs (Megalizzi et al. 2009, 2007).

To further complicate attempts at classification, most putative sigma ligands have affinity for both the Sigma1 and Sigma2 subtypes, albeit with broad differences in subtype binding affinity (Table 2). It has been proposed that the antiproliferative and proapoptotic activities of Sigma1 ligands may involve Sigma1 antagonism/inhibition combined with Sigma2 putative agonism (Zeng et al. 2014). However, the identity of Sigma2 is controversial (Pati et al. 2017; Abate et al. 2015) and the definition of Sigma2 agonism is also unclear.

If, based on the above, the physiological role of Sigma1 in cancer cell and tumor biology is to promote growth and survival, then what does it mean to activate or inhibit Sigma1? How can this be measured? To date, there is no established molecular or biochemical mechanism of action that can clearly define Sigma1 agonist/activator and antagonist/inhibitor activity. In contrast to GTP γ S for G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR), kinase activity for receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), and ATP binding for heat shock protein 90 (HSP90), there are no established proximal signaling or enzymatic activities clearly attributable to Sigma1. A standard biochemical assay for defining compounds as Sigma1 agonists/activators and antagonists/inhibitors remains to be established.

4.2 Prototypic Small Molecule Ligands: Effects In Vitro and In Vivo

Despite the aforementioned uncertainty regarding the classification of Sigmal ligands, much of our understanding of Sigmal biology and pharmacology comes from studies with synthetic small molecule compounds (i.e., ligands). Compounds with affinity for Sigmal have been reported to influence cell survival, apoptosis, cell proliferation, growth, cell adhesion, motility, migration, cell cycle progression, lipid homeostasis, and protein homeostasis pathways. In the absence of a coherent, unifying explanation for how Sigmal pharmacology regulates these pathways and processes, thereby producing what appears to be the wide range of therapeutic opportunities, we have selected a number of prototypic Sigmal ligands and provide a compound-centric survey of the literature to describe how they have been used to implicate Sigmal in these cellular processes. In this section, we will review and analyze the reported properties and activities of a selected set of relatively widely published prototypic Sigmal ligands.

4.2.1 (+)-SKF10047

Also known as (+)-*N*-allylnormetazocine, (+)-SKF10047 is a prototypic Sigma1 ligand and putative agonist/activator [see above and (Maurice et al. 1994; Hayashi and Su 2001)]. The Sigma1 selectivity of (+)-SKF10047 was confirmed by the absence of binding and activity in *SIGMAR1* knockout (KO) mice (Langa et al. 2003). Spruce et al. were among the first to delineate that putative Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors, but not agonists/activators, inhibit tumor growth and survival

In some cases, putative agonists/activators promote cancer cell proliferation and tumor growth. For example, in the same publication mentioned above, Spruce et al. show that (+)-SKF10047 and (+)-pentazocine both promoted in vitro proliferation of the MCF-7 breast cancer cell line, suggesting that some cancer cells can respond to agonistic signals that promote cell proliferation and survival (Spruce et al. 2004). In a later study, Happy et al. reported that (+)-SKF10047 treatment alone appeared to increase proliferation of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells (Happy et al. 2015). Consistent with the study by Spruce et al., Happy et al. reported that (+)-SKF10047 blocked the antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects of rimcazole in a panel of breast cancer cell lines (Happy et al. 2015).

Using the same approach as Happy et al., Saune and colleagues recently reported that treatment of DU145, LNCaP, and PC3 prostate cancer cell lines with (+)-SKF10047 or overexpression of recombinant Sigma1 prevented tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-induced apoptosis (Das et al. 2016). The authors proposed that higher levels of active Sigma1 render prostate cancer cells resistant to TRAIL treatment. RNAi knockdown of Sigma1 sensitized TRAIL resistant T47D, MDA-MB-157, and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell lines to the antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects of ectopically expressed, adenoviral vector transduced TRAIL (Das et al. 2016).

In contrast, Aydar et al. reported that (+)-SKF10047 treatment significantly inhibited cell adhesion but did not affect proliferation or migration of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 breast cancer cell lines (Aydar et al. 2016). The authors propose that Sigma1 activation alters cell adhesion through interaction with the neonatal Nav1.5 (nNav1.5) ion channel (Aydar et al. 2016). They propose that because combining Sigma1 knockdown or (+)-SKF10047 with an nNav1.5 activity blocking polyclonal antibody (NESOpAb) had similar effects as each treatment alone, cell adhesion may be mediated through a common mechanism involving Sigmal interaction with nNav1.5 (Aydar et al. 2016). This group also reported that (+)-SKF10047 (albeit at 100 μ M) inhibited MCF-7 cell adhesion by 41% and inhibited MDA-MB-231 cell adhesion by 57%. RNAi knockdown of Sigma1 in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells also resulted in 42% and 29.76% inhibition of cell adhesion, respectively (Aydar et al. 2006). Although interesting, these observations are inconsistent with a definition of (+)-SKF10047 as an agonist/activator. Nevertheless, these data were used as evidence to suggest that Sigma1 may play a role in cancer cell metastasis (Aydar et al. 2006).

Aydar and colleagues have proposed that Sigma1 also alters cell adhesion by regulating the actions of β -integrin (Palmer et al. 2007; Aydar et al. 2006). The authors of these studies postulated that RNAi knockdown (KD) of Sigma1 and (+)-SKF10047 treatment produce effects consistent with β -integrin blockade. Although the mechanisms by which (+)-SKF10047 elicits these effects were not determined, (+)-SKF10047 treatment resulted in dissociation of Sigma1 from lipid rafts and

decreased Sigma1- β -integrin association in lipid raft fractions (Palmer et al. 2007). In this study as well, the correlation between Sigma1 KD and (+)-SKF10047 treatment is inconsistent with a definition of (+)-SKF10047 as an agonist/activator. However, this suggests that Sigma1 can contribute to cholesterol content of the surrounding lipid bilayer and possibly associated proteins, such as integrins and ion channels (Palmer et al. 2007; Aydar et al. 2002, 2004; Balasuriya et al. 2014).

Disruption of cholesterols in lipid rafts alters the functionality and composition of the signaling complexes present in these organizing and stabilizing structures (Jacobson et al. 2007; Simons and Toomre 2000). Palmer et al. have proposed that Sigma1 contains two cholesterol-binding domains (CBD) that have peripheral benzodiazepine receptor and the HIV envelope glycoprotein-like CBD motifs (Palmer et al. 2007). These CBDs are adjacent to the Sigma1 ligand-binding site (Palmer et al. 2007; Schmidt et al. 2016). The authors proposed that Sigma1 contributes to lipid raft modeling and showed that Sigma1 binding to cholesterols was inhibited by (+)-SKF10047 binding to Sigma1 (Palmer et al. 2007).

4.2.2 PRE-084

Sigmal agonists have been reported to augment the production of immune suppressive cytokines that block the host anti-tumor immune response in the tumor microenvironment. In the first report of Sigma1 ligand-mediated suppression of anti-tumor immunity, Zhu et al. showed that Sigma1 agonists/activators enhance tumor growth in part by inducing IL-10 at the tumor site (Zhu et al. 2003). They showed that the Sigma1 putative agonists/activators PRE-084 and (+)-SKF10047 induced the extracellular secretion of IL-10, TGF- β , and PGE2, while decreasing IFN- γ at the tumor site (Zhu et al. 2003). The authors demonstrated that PRE-084 promoted tumor growth in a syngeneic lung cancer model by an IL-10 dependent mechanism (Zhu et al. 2003). In the L1C2 murine alveolar cell carcinoma syngeneic tumor model, PRE-084 (20 mg/kg, i.p) and cocaine (5 mg/kg, i.p) promoted tumor growth by >2and 3-fold, respectively. This effect was associated with induction of IL-10 at the tumor site. The tumor growth promoting effect of PRE-084 was blocked by co-administration of BD1047 (Sigma1 putative antagonist/inhibitor, thus demonstrating that these effects were Sigma1-mediated) and by an anti-IL-10 antibody (JES-2A5, thus demonstrating that IL-10 was required for the tumor growth promoting effect). Furthermore, transplantation of lymphocytes from PRE-084 treated mice transferred the immune suppressive phenotype and promoted tumor growth (Zhu et al. 2003). However, the authors did not show whether BD1047 had immunomodulatory or tumor growth inhibiting effects when administered alone. Interestingly, in contrast to tumor bearing mice, in normal mice (i.e., in the absence of tumor) treatment with Sigma1 agonists/activators did not increase the production or secretion of TGF- β (Zhu et al. 2003). Altogether, these data suggest that Sigma 1 agonists/activators induce immune suppressive cytokine production by the tumor or that they promote tumor-induced cytokine production in the mouse.

4.2.3 (+)-Pentazocine

(+)-Pentazocine is a prototypic Sigmal ligand and putative agonist/activator that is widely accepted as a reference compound for Sigmal specific actions. [³H](+)-pentazocine binding is abolished in tissue preparations from *SIGMAR1* knockout (KO) mice, confirming that it selectively binds Sigmal (Langa et al. 2003).

Spruce and colleagues proposed that Sigma1 functions as a "brake on apoptosis" and reported that the caspase-dependent proapoptotic actions of Sigma1 antagonists were attenuated by (+)-SKF10047 and (+)-pentazocine (Spruce et al. 2004). This group also reported that rimcazole induced hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1 α) protein levels under normoxic conditions in colorectal (HCT-116) and mammary carcinoma (MDA-MB-231) cell lines. They concluded that induction of HIF-1 α contributes to cancer cell apoptosis by rimcazole (Achison et al. 2007). (+)-pentazocine blocked induction of HIF-1 α by rimcazole, supporting that this is, at least in part, a Sigma1-mediated effect. (+)-pentazocine also inhibited HIF-1 α induction and response by the anoxia mimetic deferoxamine mesylate (DFX), suggesting that Sigma1 opposes HIF-1 α induction in response to anoxia.

Renaudo et al. reported that sigma ligand-mediated blockade of voltage-gated K + channels inhibited proliferation of small cell lung cancer (SCLC, NCI-H209, and NCIH146) and leukemic (Jurkat) cells. They found that three putative agonists/ activators, (+)-pentazocine, igmesine, and DTG, all reversibly inhibited voltage-activated K+ currents, in order of descending potency. Consistent with K+ channel blockers tetraethylammonium (TEA) and 4-aminopyridin, treatment of Jurkat and SCLC cells with these sigma ligands resulted in accumulation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor $p27^{Kip1}$ and decreased cyclin A expression and corresponding G1 cell cycle arrest (Renaudo et al. 2004). Of note, it has been reported that the IC₅₀ for blockade of K+ current is 10 times higher in normal cells (Soriani et al. 1998; Lupardus et al. 2000) than in the leukemic and SCLC cell lines.

These results showing that putative Sigma1 agonists/activators can elicit cell cycle arrest and inhibit cancer cell proliferation are inconsistent with other data demonstrating the cell growth and proliferation promoting effects of Sigma1 agonists/activators (see above). It is difficult to reconcile these discrepancies. A systematic evaluation of a broad panel of Sigma1 ligands using a set of cancer cell lines should provide clarity. However, in most publications, (+)-pentazocine alone has no effect on in vitro proliferation or survival of a broad range of cancer cell lines (Labit-Labit-Le Bouteiller et al. 1998; Colabufo et al. 2004; Spruce et al. 2004; Rybczynska et al. 2008; Achison et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2004; Abate 2012; Megalizzi et al. 2012; van Waarde et al. 2015; Brust et al. 2014).

4.2.4 4-IBP

4-(*N*-benzylpiperidin-4-yl)-4-iodobenzamide (4-IBP) was originally synthesized and evaluated as a radiopharmaceutical for in vivo tumor imaging. [¹²⁵I]-*N*-(*N*benzylpiperidin-4-yl)-4-iodobenzamide (4-[¹²⁵I]BP) binds Sigma1 with high affinity, $K_d = 26$ nM. DTG and haloperidol were shown to displace 4-[¹²⁵I]BP with K_i values of 4.6 and 56 nM, respectively, in MCF-7 cells (John et al. 1994, 1995b). It was later classified as an agonist or inverse agonist based on its modulation of glutamatergic responses in hippocampal neurons (Bermack and Debonnel 2005).

Mégalizzi et al. reported that 4-IBP had weak antiproliferative effects on human glioblastoma (U373-MG) and melanoma (C32) cell lines, producing $\leq 10\%$ inhibition of proliferation after 3 days of treatment in vitro (Megalizzi et al. 2007). Human NSCLC (A549) and prostate cancer (PC3) cells were more sensitive. However, in vitro cell migration and motility of all four cell lines were suppressed by sub-micromolar concentrations of 4-IBP using live-cell phase-contrast microscopy. In this study, inhibition of U373-MG cell motility or the organization of the actin cytoskeleton after treatment with 4-IBP was not associated with changes in intracellular [Ca²⁺] (Megalizzi et al. 2007). This contrasts with other reports that Sigma1 ligand induced changes to cancer cell cytoskeleton occur by regulating ER Ca²⁺ efflux through Sigma1 associated IP3R (Hayashi and Su 2001).

In vivo, co-administration with 4-IBP extended survival of temozolomide treated orthotopic (brain) U373-MG glioblastoma xenograft-bearing mice, suggesting that Sigma1 ligands can potentiate the therapeutic benefit of a standard of care agent in the treatment of glioblastoma (Megalizzi et al. 2007). In an A549 metastatic NSCLC orthotopic tumor xenograft model, co-administration of 4-IBP and irinotecan significantly extended survival compared to either drug alone. Tumor analysis (i.e., tumor growth inhibition or biochemical analysis of tumors) was not reported (Megalizzi et al. 2007).

Though their rationale for evaluating these processes is unclear, the authors report that 4-IBP did not induce autophagy or UPR in U373-MG glioblastoma cells; however, 4-IBP sensitized this cell line to proapoptotic (lomustin) and proautophagic (temozolomide) compounds in vitro (Megalizzi et al. 2007).

4.2.5 Adamantane Phenylalkylamines

Riganas et al. describe a series of adamantane phenylalkylamines with affinity for Sigma1 that had antiproliferative effects in vitro on cell lines representing colon cancer (HCT-116, HCT-15), androgen independent prostate cancer (DU145, PC3), hormone-sensitive breast cancer (MCF-7), ovarian cancer (OVCAR-5), brain cancer (U-251), leukemia (HL-60), pancreatic cancer (BxPC-3), and liver cancer (SK-HEP-1). These effects were associated with cell cycle arrest and in some instances, apoptosis (Riganas et al. 2012a, b, c). A particularly interesting analogue, which they named 4a, suppressed growth of xenografted pancreatic (BxPC-3), prostate (PC3, DU145), and ovarian (OVCAR-5) tumors in SCID mice (Riganas et al. 2012a, b, c). The authors report that 4a may also have antimetastatic (measured by decreased incidence of secondary tumors) and analgesic (attenuation of paclitaxel and formalin induced pain using a previously described paw-lick assay) properties (Coderre et al. 1990; Laughlin et al. 2002; Matsumoto et al. 2006; Riganas et al. 2012a, b, c).

4.2.6 Igmesine

Soriani and colleagues have published a series of studies demonstrating the involvement of Sigma1 in ion channel activity (Balasuriya et al. 2014; Crottes et al. 2016, 2011; Gueguinou et al. 2017; Renaudo et al. 2004, 2007). A number of these studies used igmesine (Gueguinou et al. 2017; Crottes et al. 2011; Renaudo et al. 2004, 2007).

Renaudo et al. showed that three Sigma1 putative agonists/activators blocked voltage-activated K+ current amplitude in SCLC (NCI-H209, NCI-H146) and leukemic (Jurkat) cells (Renaudo et al. 2004). This effect was observed with a rank order potency of igmesine > (+)-pentazocine > DTG. Igmesine reduced Jurkat cell density, in vitro, by 23.9 and 82.8% at 10 and 30 μ M, respectively, after 3 days of culture. This effect was also observed with Kv1.3 channel blockers tetraethylammonium (TEA) and 4-aminopyridin. Inhibition of cell proliferation by igmesine was associated with accumulation of total cellular levels of cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p27^{Kip1} and a decrease in cyclin A expression. However, it is unclear whether there were increased levels of p27^{Kip1} in the nucleus of these cells. The authors conclude that Sigma1 ligands can inhibit cancer cell cycle progression and thus proliferation in part through inhibition of K+ channel conductance (Renaudo et al. 2004).

Pharmacological regulation of the potassium channel Kv1.3 by igmesine appears to occur through a mechanism that does not involve changes in the cellular expression or levels of Kv1.3, as igmesine does not alter cellular Kv1.3 levels, at least in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) cells (Szabo et al. 2015). This is consistent with a report from Soriani and colleagues that hERG levels and surface expression are not altered by igmesine in chronic myelogenous leukemia (K562) and human embryonic kidney fibroblast (HEK293) cell lines (Crottes et al. 2011).

Igmesine has been evaluated in clinical trials for depression and diarrhea (Roze et al. 1998; Volz and Stoll 2004). The compound had acceptable safety and PK properties for the depression trial and advanced to Phase III. However, it did not reach statistically significant efficacy in the larger patient population studies in Phase III (Roze et al. 1998; Volz and Stoll 2004).

4.2.7 Haloperidol

In one of the first reports of the anti-cancer cell effects of Sigmal ligands, Vilner, Costa, and Bowen discovered that haloperidol, reduced haloperidol, BD737, BD1008, SH344, and JL-II-147 produced morphological changes consistent with cytotoxicity in human neuroblastoma cell lines SK-N-SH and SH-SY5Y in vitro (Vilner and Bowen 1993; Vilner et al. 1995a). Additionally, a number of other neuroleptic agents with affinity for Sigma1 inhibited in vitro proliferation and survival of C6 glioma cells, albeit at high concentrations, with the following rank order potency: fluphenazine = perphenazine = haloperidol = reduced haloperidol > pimozide = spiperone >>(-)-sulpiride. At the same concentrations, neuroleptic compounds without affinity for Sigma1 lacked antiproliferative or cytotoxic properties (Vilner and Bowen 1993; Vilner et al. 1995a).

Several subsequent publications confirmed the in vitro cancer cell proliferation and cell survival inhibiting effects of haloperidol. Haloperidol and reduced haloperidol inhibited in vitro cell proliferation of MDA-MB-361, MDA-MB-435, MDA-MB-231, BT20, and MCF-7 cells (Wang et al. 2004). Haloperidol had antiproliferative and anti-migratory effects on glioblastoma cells in vitro (Rybczynska et al. 2008; Megalizzi et al. 2009). It also suppressed NCI-N417 lung carcinoma cell growth and survival in proliferation and clonogenic assays in vitro (Moody et al. 2000). Haloperidol inhibited proliferation and induced apoptosis of mouse (B16) and human (SK-MEL-28) melanoma cell lines (Nordenberg et al. 2005). Furthermore, reduced haloperidol combined with doxorubicin, vinorelbine, paclitaxel, and docetaxel produced additive cytotoxic effects in vitro (Wang et al. 2004).

In one study, haloperidol had modest in vivo tumor growth inhibiting properties in xenograft experiments. Combination of haloperidol and an EGFR inhibitor (AG1478) was reported to significantly delay tumor growth in a subcutaneous U87MG glioblastoma xenograft model. At 37 days of treatment, average xenografted tumor volume with combination treatment reportedly suppressed tumor volume to 17% of vehicle treated control mice, whereas tumors in mice treated with either AG1478 or haloperidol alone had average tumor volumes of 49% and 86% of control tumors, respectively (Li et al. 2014).

4.2.8 SR31747A

SR31747A (N-cyclohexyl-N-ethyl-3-(3-chloro-4-cyclohexylphenyl)propen-2vlamine hydrochloride) is a high affinity ($K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$) Sigma1 putative antagonist/ inhibitor that was initially characterized as an immune suppressive agent (Casellas et al. 2004). In murine models of acute and chronic inflammation, SR31747A elicited a dose-related inhibition of proliferative response to mitogens - including concanavalin A, allogeneic stimulation, or phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) plus interleukin-2 (IL-2) - of mouse and human lymphocytes (Casellas et al. 1994). SR31747A modulated the production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. In SR31747A-treated mice, production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 was induced by twofold, whereas lipopolysaccharide (LPS) - or staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB)-induced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-2, IL-4, granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GMCSF), IL-6, and TNF- α was suppressed by up to fourfold (Derocq et al. 1995; Bourrie et al. 1995, 2004). This immune suppressive effect was shown to protect mice against acute and chronic inflammatory conditions such as acute graft-versus-host reaction, SEB infection, and LPS (Casellas et al. 1994; Bourrie et al. 2004). Importantly, SR31747A modulation of cytokine production was only observed in inflammatory conditions, not basal conditions. SR31747A did not appear to directly affect humoral immune responses (Bourrie et al. 1995, 1996, 2004; Casellas et al. 1994; Derocq et al. 1995).

SR31747A has cancer cell antiproliferative as well as immune suppressive properties (Bourrie et al. 2004; Casellas et al. 2004). Casellas and colleagues published a series of papers demonstrating the anti-tumor effects of SR31747A in vitro and in vivo [reviewed in (Casellas et al. 2004)]. This group reported potent

SR31747A inhibition of cancer cell proliferation in vitro, with IC_{50} values in the nanomolar range (Labit-Le Bouteiller et al. 1998). This was surprisingly potent, particularly in these 2-D in vitro assays. These results differed from most other published data demonstrating cancer cell growth and proliferation inhibition in the micromolar drug concentration range (Casellas et al. 2004).

In vivo, the anti-tumor efficacy of SR31747A was demonstrated against xenografted human breast and prostate cancer cell lines, including MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, PC3, DU145, and LNCaP. In all of these xenografted tumor studies, SR31747A was injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) at 25 mg/kg/day into immune deficient mice. SR31747A treatment resulted in similar tumor growth inhibition (TGI) of MDA-MB-231, PC3, DU145, and LNCaP xenografted tumors with TGI values of 60%, 50%, 40%, and 45%, respectively (Berthois et al. 2003). Importantly, in all of these in vivo efficacy studies, the authors observed no weight loss of mice treated with 25 mg/kg/day SR31747A for 2–3 months compared to control mice, indicating that this drug was well tolerated at efficacious doses (Berthois et al. 2003; Labit-Le Bouteiller et al. 1998).

In light of promising developments in the field of immune oncology, it would be of interest to evaluate the dual immune modulatory and cell autonomous growth inhibiting properties of compounds such as SR31747A in relevant preclinical tumor models. However, we were unable to find any published reports of this compound in syngeneic tumor models with immune competent mice.

4.2.9 BD1047

BD1047, a prototypic Sigma1 antagonist/inhibitor, is a modest inhibitor of cell proliferation in vitro. However, it appears not to be cytotoxic (Spruce et al. 2004). BD1047 is often used to selectively block the effects of agonists and thus demonstrate Sigma1-mediated pharmacology. In vivo, BD1047 has been shown to block the tumor growth promoting effects of PRE-084 in an L1C2 murine lung carcinoma tumor model (Gardner et al. 2004). BD1047 administered alone has not been shown to alter tumor growth in vivo.

In an SEB injection model, BD1047 blocked cocaine-induced IL-10 production, but had no effect on IL-10 levels in response to SEB injection when administered alone. Further, BD1047 blocked PRE-084 induction of IL-10 mRNA expression and production of IL-10 in IL-2 treated BALB/c splenocytes (Zhu et al. 2003).

4.2.10 Rimcazole (BW234U)

Rimcazole was initially evaluated in clinical trials to treat schizophrenia but did not advance primarily due to lack of efficacy (Gilmore et al. 2004; Katz et al. 2003). Rimcazole has been classified as a Sigma1 antagonist/inhibitor in part based on its inhibition of the potentiating effects of the Sigma1 agonist/activator (+)-SKF-10047 on neurogenic contractions in the mouse vas deferens and its ability to block cocaine-induced seizures and hypermotility (Matsuno et al. 1993, 1996a; Katz et al. 2003; Gilmore et al. 2004).

Spruce and colleagues proposed this compound as a potential anti-cancer agent (Spruce et al. 2004; Achison et al. 2007). Rimcazole was among a number of prototypic putative Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors that suppressed cell proliferation and viability in cancer cell lines. with rank order potency of IPAG > rimcazole > BD1047 > reduced haloperidol > BD1063. However, several non-transformed, non-cancer cell types such as fibroblasts, primary epithelial cells, and even cerebellar granule neurons (which express high levels of Sigmal) were insensitive to the proapoptotic effects of Sigmal antagonists/ inhibitors rimcazole and IPAG (Spruce et al. 2004). In these studies, consistent with reports from most other groups, the prototypic putative Sigma1 agonists (+)pentazocine and (+)-SKF-10047 did not inhibit cell proliferation and were not cytotoxic. Both of these Sigmal selective putative agonists blocked the antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects of rimcazole and IPAG, demonstrating Sigma1-mediated actions of these compounds (Spruce et al. 2004).

Spruce and colleagues also showed that in vivo tumor growth was suppressed by systemic administration of rimcazole in xenografted tumor models of hormone-insensitive breast cancer (MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468), hormone-sensitive and hormone-insensitive prostate cancer (LNCaP, DU145), and p53-null lung carcinoma (H1299) (Spruce et al. 2004). In a separate study by Rybczynska and colleagues, daily i.p. injection of rimcazole for 2 weeks in nude mice bearing A375M human melanoma xenografts suppressed tumor weight by fourfold compared to vehicle controls, with no observable toxic side effects (Rybczynska et al. 2013).

In a subsequent publication Spruce and colleagues showed that induction of hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1 α) contributes to rimcazole-mediated cancer cell death, at least in some instances. They demonstrated that treatment of colorectal (HCT-116) and breast (MDA-MB-231) cancer cells with rimcazole resulted in increased HIF-1 α protein levels under normoxic conditions and that this is a mediator of apoptosis in this context. Furthermore, HCT-116p53+/+ cells were more sensitive than HCT-116p53-/- cells to the proapoptotic effects of rimcazole, suggesting that p53 contributes to this mechanism of action. Co-administration of (+)-pentazocine significantly attenuated rimcazole induced HIF-1 α , suggesting that these effects were Sigma1-mediated (Achison et al. 2007).

In this study, RNAi knockdown of HIF-1 α attenuated rimcazole induced apoptosis to comparable extents in p53 deficient and wild type cell lines; thus, in this model HIF-1 α was required for rimcazole induced apoptosis (Achison et al. 2007). Of note, (+)-pentazocine also attenuated induction of HIF-1 α by the anoxia mimetic deferoxamine mesylate (DFX), suggesting that promoting Sigma1 acts to suppress proapoptotic HIF-1 α activity. Rimcazole did not induce HIF-1 α in non-transformed, non-cancer fibroblasts or mammary epithelial cells (Achison et al. 2007).

Consistent with the proapoptotic activities of rimcazole, de Bruyn et al. reported that co-treatment with rimcazole potentiates the proapoptotic activities of the bi-functional therapeutic fusion protein, designated anti-MCSP:TRAIL [anti-mela-noma chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan (MCSP):Tumor Necrosis Factor Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL)]. Anti-MCSP:TRAIL was designed to bind

and accumulate at the cell surface of MCSP-positive melanoma cells, subsequently block MCSP-mediated growth signaling, and trigger apoptotic TRAIL-signaling (de Bruyn et al. 2010).

Although these in vitro and in vivo xenograft studies support the notion that pharmacological inhibition of Sigma1 is a valid approach to suppressing tumor growth, some of the potential off-target effects of rimcazole may render this particular compound difficult to develop as an anti-cancer agent. A concern with using doses of rimcazole that may be required for anti-tumor activity is that rimcazole is also a potent dopamine transporter (DAT) inhibitor. Rimcazole binds Sigma1 with low affinity and binds DAT with high affinity [reviewed in (Gilmore et al. 2004; Husbands et al. 1997; Katz et al. 2003)].

4.2.11 IPAG

(1-(4-Iodophenyl)-3-(2-adamantyl)guanidine), a prototypic Sigma1 antagonist/ inhibitor, was synthesized as part of a series of N,N'-di-o-tolylguanidine (DTG) analogue radiotracers for positron emission tomography (Scherz et al. 1990; Wilson et al. 1991; Kimes et al. 1992). [125 I]-IPAG has been used to label and quantify Sigma1 binding sites in vivo, in situ in tissue samples, and in membrane preparations from cancer cell lines (Kimes et al. 1992; Whittemore et al. 1997; Schrock et al. 2013). Recently, a rapid method to radioiodinate [125 I]-IPAG was published that should facilitate future studies with this radioligand (Pickett et al. 2015).

The specificity of IPAG binding to Sigma1 has been demonstrated by multiple groups (Kimes et al. 1992; Whittemore et al. 1997; Spruce et al. 2004; Schrock et al. 2013). For example, RNAi knockdown of Sigma1 produces a corresponding decrease in [¹²⁵I]-IPAG radioligand binding (Schrock et al. 2013). And, blockade of IPAG by (+)-pentazocine and (+)-SKF10047 has been observed in functional assays with cancer cell lines (Spruce et al. 2004).

Spruce and colleagues reported that treatment of MDA-MB-468 and MCF-7 breast adenocarcinoma cell lines with IPAG produced a dose-dependent suppression of cell proliferation and induction of caspase-dependent apoptosis. IPAG treatment was reported to induce calcium-dependent activation of phospholipase C and calcium-independent inhibition of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway signaling. This effect was only observed in Sigma1 antagonist/inhibitor sensitive cells. Non-cancer cells, including cerebellar granule neurons (which express high levels of Sigma1) did not respond in this way to IPAG treatment, and normal mammary epithelial cells were insensitive to IPAG induced cell death (Spruce et al. 2004). The authors confirmed that these responses to IPAG were Sigma1-mediated by blocking with co-administration of (+)-SKF10047 and (+)-pentazocine (Spruce et al. 2004).

A series of more recent publications suggest that IPAG may function as a regulator of cancer cell protein homeostasis (Kim et al. 2012; Schrock et al. 2013; Thomas et al. 2017). Schrock et al. tested a panel of diverse ligands with affinity for Sigma1 and discovered that a subset of them induced the unfolded protein response (UPR) and autophagy in a number of cancer cell lines. Of these ligands, IPAG

emerged as a potent, Sigma1-selective inducer of UPR and autophagy. It does so in a dose- and time-responsive manner in a number of cancer cell lines including breast, prostate, pancreas, and liver carcinoma (Schrock et al. 2013).

Interestingly, treatment with Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors did not activate irreversible signaling cascades toward cell death. On the contrary, Schrock et al. demonstrated that continuous, protracted antagonist/inhibitor treatment was required to produce cell death, and that the effects of IPAG were reversible. When IPAG was washed out of cell culture media, there was a sequential subsiding of autophagy followed by a return of UPR markers to basal levels. The mechanism underlying this process is unclear. However, if the basis of Sigma1 function is protein—protein interactions (PPIs), then the sequential reversal of Sigma1 antagonist/inhibitor actions upon removal of compound suggests that these effects require high Sigma1 occupancy and continuous ligand engagement to maintain the disruption of Sigma1 PPIs.

IPAG has been used in recent studies to show that Sigma1 ligands can selectively regulate the stability, trafficking, and signaling of oncogenic driver proteins in cancer cells. Thomas et al. demonstrated that these Sigma1-mediated actions could be exploited to suppress aberrant androgen receptor (AR) activity and protein levels in prostate cancer cells (Thomas et al. 2017). The dual goals of the Thomas et al. study were to better understand the role of Sigma1 with regard to the stabilization and function of an oncogenic protein, in this case AR, and to determine whether modulation of its activity may have therapeutic value (Thomas et al. 2017). The authors showed that IPAG blocked 5α -dihydrotestosterone (5α -DHT) induced nuclear translocation of AR and suppressed AR transcriptional activity. Treatment with IPAG also induced proteasomal degradation of AR, suppressing the protein levels of both full-length (AR) and constitutively active splice variant AR (ARV). Consistent with these data and with putative antagonist/inhibitor activity of IPAG, RNAi knockdown of Sigma1 also suppressed AR protein levels and transcriptional activity. Furthermore, in support of the importance of Sigma1 in prostate cancer cell growth and survival, RNAi knockdown of Sigma1 and treatment with IPAG both inhibited clonogenic growth and survival of prostate cancer cell lines (Thomas et al. 2017).

The study by Thomas et al. revealed a direct interaction between Sigma1 and the AR axis in prostate cancer and the in vivo efficacy of Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors in suppressing prostate tumor growth through this mechanism (Thomas et al. 2017). The authors further demonstrated with co-immunoprecipitation experiments that Sigma1 physically associates with constitutively active ARVs (in this case, ARV7 and AR^{v567es}) as well as the hormone responsive full-length AR. Antagonists/inhibitors were able to suppress the transcriptional activity and protein levels of these constitutively active ARVs in metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC) cell lines, both in vitro and in vivo. In vivo, inhibition of Sigma1 with a drug-like analog of IPAG significantly inhibited the growth of xenografted 22Rv1 (ARV driven mCRPC cell line) tumors. Importantly, inhibition of tumor growth was associated with elimination of AR and ARV in responsive tumors, consistent with a Sigma1-AR/ARV mechanism-related response. Moreover, this Sigma1

antagonist/inhibitor produced no detectable side effects at efficacious doses; no weight loss and no behavioral abnormalities were observed under these study conditions (Thomas et al. 2017).

Interestingly, the authors observed no measurable change in glucocorticoid (GR) protein levels in response to IPAG treatment. Considering that AR and GR are closely related proteins with conserved sequences and mechanisms on action, this result was unexpected; however, it highlighted the selectivity of Sigma1 modulator actions. The properties of Sigma1 and specific mechanisms that underlie this selectivity remain to be determined.

Sigmal also interacts with ErbB receptors, and in the study by Thomas et al., IPAG dose-responsively suppressed ErbB2/HER2 and ErbB3/HER3 protein levels in prostate cancer cells (Thomas et al. 2017). This is particularly relevant to prostate cancer disease progression and therapy as ErbB2 and 3 levels and activity have been reported to be upregulated in CRPC as an adaptive resistance mechanism engaged by malignant prostate cancer cells in response to treatment with standard of care AR-axis targeted therapies (Gao et al. 2016; Berger et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2010, 2011).

These data suggest that Sigma1 may play a role in feedback mechanisms that regulate AR-associated signaling networks and provide evidence in support of targeting Sigma1 to treat AR-driven cancers. Of particular interest, targeting Sigma1 in order to allosterically modulate AR is an intriguing approach that may bypass or prevent the adaptive resistance inherent to current AR-targeted therapies.

4.2.12 Donepezil

Although better known as an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor approved for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease, donepezil also binds Sigma1 with high affinity (Kato et al. 1999), and some of the cognitive benefits of donepezil have been associated with its affinity for Sigma1 (Maurice et al. 2006; Maurice 2016). In light of these observations, there is emerging interest in the potential use of donepezil to mitigate and treat cognitive impairment associated with radiotherapy and chemotherapy and improve the quality of life in patients being treated for cancer (Loh et al. 2016), particularly those with brain tumors (Correa et al. 2016; Shaw et al. 2006; Rapp et al. 2015). Recently, the results of a randomized, placebo-controlled pilot study to assess the ability of donepezil to improve specific measures of cognitive function in breast cancer patients was published. In this clinical trial, patients in the donepezil treatment group performed significantly better than the placebo administered control group on parameters of the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised (HVLT-R) regarding total recall and recognition discrimination (Lawrence et al. 2016). The benefit of donepezil-mediated attenuation of chemotherapy induced cognitive impairment was also observed in preclinical mouse models; this may provide experimental models to investigate the mechanisms underlying these beneficial effects (Winocur et al. 2011).

Additionally, preclinical studies have suggested that donepezil may also have anti-tumor properties. Donepezil was reported to promote caspase-dependent apoptosis in U937 human histiocytic lymphoma and HL-60 human promyelocytic leukemia cells (Ki et al. 2010). It has been reported to have antiproliferative and anti-migratory effects on glioblastoma cells in vitro (Megalizzi et al. 2009). Furthermore, treatment with a combination of donepezil and temozolomide prolonged survival of mice orthotopically grafted with Hs683 glioblastoma cells compared to temozolomide or donepezil alone (which did not prolong survival) (Megalizzi et al. 2009).

4.2.13 Endogenous Molecules That Bind Sigma1

Several endogenous molecules have been shown to bind Sigma1. These molecules include the steroid hormones didehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), progesterone, and pregnenolone, as well as sphingolipid-derived amines (D-erythro-sphingosine) and cholesterols. Even *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) has been proposed as a Sigma1 ligand [reviewed in (Maurice and Su 2009; Fontanilla et al. 2009; Narayanan et al. 2011)].

4.3 Relationship Between Sigma1/SIGMAR1 Levels and Drug Response

Based on the current literature, it appears that *SIGMAR1* transcript and Sigma1 protein levels alone do not necessarily predict or correlate with cancer cell response to Sigma1 inhibitors.

Evaluation of rimcazole in the National Cancer Institute's NCI-60 screening panel revealed that rimcazole had growth inhibitory effects, with GI₅₀ values for the 59 cell lines currently in this panel ranging from 1.9 to 38 μ M (Spruce et al. 2004). Spruce and colleagues subsequently used transcript data from the NCI-60 associated Cell Miner gene expression database to show that sensitivity to rimcazole's antiproliferative and proapoptotic properties did not correlate with *SIGMAR1* transcript levels (Spruce et al. 2004). These data suggest that the mere presence of *SIGMAR1* or increased levels of *SIGMAR1* do not necessarily correlate with response to Sigma1 ligands (Spruce et al. 2004). In support of this notion, [³H](+)pentazocine radioligand binding studies confirmed that Sigma1 is present at relatively low levels on MCF-7 cells, and it is as sensitive to rimcazole treatment as MDA-MB-468 cells, which express a higher density of Sigma1 sites ($K_d = 7.7$ nM; $B_{max} = 3,250$ fmol/mg of protein) (Spruce et al. 2004).

In general, gene expression data and radioligand binding assay data show that normal, healthy tissues appear to express less *SIGMAR1* and Sigma1 binding sites than corresponding cancer tissue. However, some tissue/cell types intrinsically express high levels of *SIGMAR1* and Sigma1. For example, cerebellar granule neurons (CGN) (Starr and Werling 1994) and hepatocytes (Mei and Pasternak 2001) express high densities of Sigma1, greater than some cancer cell lines. However, Spruce and colleagues showed that although CGN express high levels

of Sigma1, they were not sensitive to the antiproliferative or cytotoxic effects of antagonists/inhibitors (Spruce et al. 2004). Mouse whole brains have Sigma1 density comparable to cancer cell lines with $[^{3}H](+)$ -pentazocine radioligand binding B_{max} values in excess of 1,000 fmol/mg protein (Langa et al. 2003). Yet, neurotoxicity and hepatotoxicity have not been widely reported in animal studies with Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors (see Sect. 4.5, below).

These observations, along with the general absence of cytotoxicity in preclinical animal studies of Sigma1 ligand efficacy and the Phase I safety assessment of selective Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors (Abadias et al. 2013; Gris et al. 2016), altogether suggest a context-dependent response to Sigma1 ligands. In other words, it is possible that Sigma1 is being used differently in different organs/tissues as well as in normal physiological versus pathophysiological conditions.

The specific biochemical and molecular mechanisms underlying these potential context-dependent effects remain poorly understood. However, we propose that the preponderance of published data suggests that these mechanisms involve distinct, context-dependent Sigma1 protein associations. Thus, one explanation is that small molecule modulators of Sigma1 target Sigma1 protein complexes and not Sigma1 per se. The composition of distinct Sigma1 associated protein complexes may determine biochemical and cellular response to Sigma1 targeted drugs. This concept is illustrated in Figs. 2 and 3. This could explain, in part, the differential toxicity of Sigma1 inhibition in cancer versus normal cells. In this case, although Sigma1 is widely expressed, its stabilizing function is more heavily or differentially engaged in conditions such as the proteotoxic stress characteristic of metabolically stressed cancer cells. In contrast, normal cells appear to be markedly less sensitive to disruption by *SIGMAR1* knockout or Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors and may be able to compensate or adapt to treatment.



Fig. 2 Proposed model for Sigmal ligands as allosteric modulators of protein–protein interactions. In this proposed model Sigmal protein association, and not Sigmal itself, determines cellular response to Sigmal ligands. (a) Under basal conditions, Sigmal binds to its associated protein(s), thus allowing for normal associated protein signaling. (b) Sigmal ligand (\bigcirc -x) binding to Sigmal allosterically modulates the signaling of Sigmal associated proteins. (c) Sigmal has no known intrinsic signaling or enzymatic activity, and in the absence of associated proteins, ligand binding does not elicit direct signaling



Fig. 3 Proposed model for Sigma1 as a selectively multi-functional drug target. (a) Under basal, steady-state conditions, Sigma1 associates with its partner proteins (()) and is surrounded by other related proteins with which it does not physically associate or regulate (()). (b) When a Sigma1 inhibitor/antagonist (()-x) binds to Sigma1, it selectively suppresses Sigma1 associated proteins and their downstream interactions and signaling pathways. (c) When a Sigma1 activator/agonist (()-Y) binds Sigma1, it promotes these associated protein pathways. Thick lines in (b) and (c) indicate increased strength of interaction. The circles directly connected to Sigma1 represent associated proteins that are physically bound to Sigma1, and indirectly connected circles represent their downstream signaling pathway components. An example of this concept is Sigma1 regulation of AR (Thomas et al. 2017)

4.4 Relationship Between Reported Ligand Binding Affinity and Functional Potency in Cell Based Assays

An important unresolved question regarding Sigma1 pharmacology in the context of cancer is how to explain apparent discrepancy between ligand binding affinity in biochemical membrane preparations and functional potency (activity) in live-cell-based functional assays. In traditional in vitro binding assays, many Sigma1 ligands bind with low nanomolar (nM) K_i/K_d whereas in cell-based functional assays, the response to Sigma1 ligands is observed at high nM to low μ M concentrations. In this section, we consider a number of potential explanations.

4.4.1 High and Low Affinity Sigma1 Binding Sites

Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and DHEA sulfate (DHEAS), along with other neurosteroids including pregnenolone and progesterone, have been proposed as endogenous modulators of Sigma1; however, their relatively low binding affinity has been the source of dispute regarding this classification. The argument assumes that only the higher affinity, low nanomolar binding sites are meaningful Sigma1 pharmacological sites. However, this has not been confirmed. Some of these "low affinity" sites may be relevant and may elucidate some of the context-dependent physiological roles of Sigma1. These distinct binding sites may reflect distinct Sigma1 conformations, multi-protein complexes, or populations. Although the physiological and pharmacological relevance of these sites remains to be
determined, there is evidence, published over several decades, of higher and lower affinity Sigma1 binding sites.

Thomas et al. performed radioligand binding saturation assays on tumors and non-cancerous tissue from patients (Thomas et al. 1990). The authors detected sigma binding sites in all nine tumors tested with [³H]DTG K_d values ranging from 27 to 83 nM. Interestingly, the authors report that a two-site model fit their binding data better than a one-site model, with a high affinity binding site (K_{d1}) 18–38 nM and lower affinity binding site (K_{d2}) of 165–2,880 nM (Thomas et al. 1990).

Bowen and colleagues quantified Sigma1 binding sites with $[{}^{3}H](+)$ -pentazocine in crude membrane preparations from 13 cancer cell lines including C6 glioma, N1E-115 neuroblastoma, NG108-15 neuroblastoma x glioma hybrid, human T47D breast ductal carcinoma, human NCI-H727 lung carcinoid, and human A375 melanoma (Vilner et al. 1995b). The authors identified two distinct Sigma1 binding sites in most of these cancer cell lines, high affinity ($K_{d1} = 0.67-7.0$ nM) with $B_{max1} = 25-108$ fmol/mg protein, and low affinity sites ($K_{d2} = 127-600$ nM) with $B_{max2} = 942-5,431$ fmol/mg protein. Interestingly, the low affinity site was more abundant than the high affinity site in the cancer cell lines in this study (Vilner et al. 1995b).

Wu et al. described a low affinity Sigma1 binding site in intact NCB-20 (mouse neuroblastoma x Chinese hamster brain hybrid) cells (Wu et al. 1991). This group found that [³H](+)-SKF10047 binds two populations of binding sites in intact NCB-20 cells, a higher affinity binding site ($K_d = 49$ nM, $B_{max} = 1.0$ pmol/mg protein) and a lower affinity binding site ($K_d = 9.6 \mu$ M, $B_{max} = 69$ pmol/mg protein). The rank order potencies of a number of sigma ligands at the lower affinity site correlated (using Spearman rank correlation) with the electrophysiological assay potencies both in this study and in a previously reported study using a guinea pig vas deferens assay (Vaupel and Su 1987). These data indicated that the electrophysiological responses at high and low affinity binding sites were the result of Sigma1 occupancy. The authors of this study noted that it was unclear whether the high and low affinity Sigma1 binding sites represented two separate receptors or the same receptor with two different states (Wu et al. 1991).

More recently, Safrany and colleagues described high and low affinity Sigma1 binding sites or conformations in the Sigma1-positive MDA-MB-468 breast adenocarcinoma cell line (Brimson et al. 2011). When a model assuming single-site binding was used, only the high affinity, 2.5 nM binding site was detected. However, when a multiple-site model was used, IPAG displaced [³H](+)-pentazocine with a K_i of 8 μ M (Brimson et al. 2011), which corresponds to concentrations at which activity is detected in cell-based assays of cancer (Spruce et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2012; Schrock et al. 2013; Thomas et al. 2017).

Spruce and colleagues noted that rimcazole displaces $[{}^{3}H](+)$ -pentazocine with an IC₅₀ of 2.7 \pm 1.8 μ M, which is close to its IC₅₀ in MDA-MB-468 cell proliferation and survival assays (Spruce et al. 2004). Interestingly, this suggests that

rimcazole only binds the putative low affinity Sigma1 binding site or conformation (Spruce et al. 2004). It is noteworthy that the reported binding affinity of rimcazole to Sigma1 ranges from the high nanomolar to low micromolar range (see Table 2).

Similarly, Wilke et al. reported that iodoazidococaine (IAC), a Sigma1 photoprobe, inhibited voltage-activated potassium current (IK) in DMS-114 (small cell lung carcinoma) cells. IAC photolabeling of Sigma1 in cell homogenates was inhibited by (+)-SKF10047 with an IC₅₀ of 7 μ M. This was similar to the half-maximal concentration of (+)-SKF10047 that inhibited IK (14 μ M) (Wilke et al. 1999).

4.4.2 Cell Penetration

One possible explanation is that the cell plasma membrane limits access to intracellular Sigma1 binding sites. Published K_d and K_i values of Sigma1 ligands are based on binding assays performed with membrane preparations or in some instances with permeabilized cells. Does facilitating compound entry increase functional potency? The availability of sufficient free compound within the cell to act on intracellular targets such as Sigma1 may also explain why the effective concentrations of many Sigma1 ligands are significantly higher in cell-based functional assays than their binding affinities – which are largely determined with biochemical membrane preparations and not intact cells.

Although the answer to this question remains unanswered, at least one report suggests that cell penetration may be a contributing factor to functional potency. Banerjee and colleagues (Pal et al. 2011) have reported that facilitating cell entry by conjugating haloperidol with cationic lipids of varying chain lengths increases the functional potency of haloperidol in in vitro cell proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. For example, HP-C8, a cationic lipid-modified haloperidol analogue with a lipid chain of 8 carbon atoms was >100-fold more potent than haloperidol in inhibiting the proliferation and survival of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. HP-C8 was a two- to threefold more potent inducer of apoptosis in these cancer cells compared to non-transformed COS-1 and HEK293 cells. The authors reported that HP-C8 was also efficacious in vivo. Xenografted mice bearing B16F10 melanoma tumors produced a threefold reduction in tumor growth following 5 intraperitoneal injections of 7.5 mg/kg HP-C8 at 2- to 3-day intervals (Pal et al. 2011).

4.5 Safety of Treatment with Sigma1 Ligands

Because Sigma1 is broadly expressed in tissues throughout the body, the safety of Sigma1 modulators is a common concern. However, there is little empirical or clinical evidence to support target-mediated toxicity associated with Sigma1 selective compounds. Indeed, it has been well documented in the literature that

compounds that are active at Sigma1 are generally safe (Abadias et al. 2013; Gris et al. 2016; Nieto et al. 2012; Zamanillo et al. 2013; Luedtke et al. 2012; Blasio et al. 2015; Cendan et al. 2005a; Romero et al. 2012; Maurice and Su 2009; Spruce et al. 2004; Casellas et al. 2004; Riganas et al. 2012a, b, c; Moody et al. 2000; Thomas et al. 2017).

One salient piece of evidence that Sigma1 inhibition is generally benign is that *SIGMAR1* knockout (KO) mice are viable, fertile, and do not display a phenotype overtly different from wild type mice (Langa et al. 2003), which supports the notion that inhibiting Sigma1 has minimal impact on normal tissues. This raises a separate question regarding potential compensatory mechanisms that may be engaged when *SIGMAR1* is eliminated; however, such mechanisms have not yet been identified.

Pharmacological inhibition of Sigma1 appears to be safe (benign) as well. Most recently, clinical trials of the Sigma1 antagonist/inhibitor S1RA have demonstrated lack of toxicity in humans (Abadias et al. 2013; Gris et al. 2016). S1RA (also known as E-52862) was evaluated in single- and multiple-dose phase I clinical studies and demonstrated positive safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetic profiles in healthy human subjects (Abadias et al. 2013). Of the 175 subjects enrolled, no serious adverse events were observed, and no clinically significant changes were observed in electrocardiogram (ECG), Holter monitoring, vital signs, and laboratory assessments. This Sigma1 antagonist/inhibitor is currently in phase II clinical trials for treatment of neuropathic pain of different etiology using a daily oral dose of 400 mg (Abadias et al. 2013; Gris et al. 2016).

Consistent with this observation, in a number of published tumor xenograft studies, no adverse events (including weight loss and behavioral abnormalities) were observed at efficacious doses of Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors (Spruce et al. 2004; Casellas et al. 2004; Riganas et al. 2012a, b, c; Moody et al. 2000; Thomas et al. 2017).

Based on their antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects on cancer cells and tumors, another common concern is whether Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors have the potential to promote neurodegeneration (Tsai et al. 2014). As with the general safety concerns, there is little empirical or clinical evidence demonstrating that Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors promote neurodegeneration or selective exacerbate symptoms of neurodegenerative disease. At the cellular level, cerebellar granule neurons, which express higher levels of Sigma1 than many cancer cells, were not sensitive to the antiproliferative or cytotoxic effects of Sigma1 antagonists in at least one report (Spruce et al. 2004). In behavioral models focusing on cognitive deficits, Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors did not worsen symptoms, and did not promote symptoms (Matsumoto et al. 1995; Maurice et al. 1994, 1998). In most published studies, antagonists were used to block the effects of agonists and demonstrate their Sigma1-mediated actions. However, when administered alone, the antagonists generally manifested no effect in rodent models of behaviors associated with Alzheimer's disease. This has been demonstrated in a number of studies (Wang et al. 2003; Espallergues et al. 2007; Villard et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2012; Maurice 2016).

5 Sigma1: Receptor, Chaperone, or Scaffold?

It is becoming increasingly clear that Sigma1 is not a traditional receptor. Although it remains unclear whether Sigma1 should be defined as a chaperone or scaffolding protein in cancer cells, the absence of clear enzymatic or signaling activity of Sigma1 along with its association with and modulation of diverse signaling molecules are evidence in support of Sigma1 as a scaffolding protein. Scaffolds have no enzymatic or signaling activity; however, they physically interact with other proteins to assemble, localize, and regulate signaling complexes. They coordinate the organization of signaling or chaperone molecules into discrete complexes to facilitate efficient and specific activity (Good et al. 2011; Bauer and Pelkmans 2006). Scaffolding proteins can allosterically modulate signaling or enzymatic activity as well as coordinate the activity of chaperones such as HSP70 and HSP90 (Cesa et al. 2015; Good et al. 2011). Scaffolds can also be inhibitory by blocking protein-protein and protein-lipid interactions (Good et al. 2011; Bauer and Pelkmans 2006). They are flexible platforms that can form multiple oligomeric conformations that comprise combinatorial assemblies of protein interaction domains that enable regulation of diverse biological processes. Consistent with recently published reports, our data suggest that Sigmal is present as oligomers (Gromek et al. 2014; Schmidt et al. 2016). These oligomeric structures may also be a determinant of how Sigmal forms multi-protein complexes. As a potential membrane bound scaffolding protein, Sigma1 is reminiscent of caveolins and tetraspanins (Bauer and Pelkmans 2006; Patel et al. 2008; Hemler 2014).

We propose that Sigma1 is a ligand-regulated scaffolding protein that engages in selective protein interactions. We have found that Sigma1 physically and functionally interacts with AR and ErbB-2 and -3 receptors and that these receptors are regulated by Sigma1 ligands (Thomas et al. 2017). Our data, along with published reports from other groups, suggest that Sigma1 engages in a number of multiprotein complexes, and the composition of these protein complexes appears to be context-dependent. It remains to be determined whether Sigma1 modulators directly alter PPIs or the intracellular transport and localization of Sigma1-associated protein complexes. The biochemical mechanisms and protein determinants that dictate Sigma1 partner and client protein selectivity is unknown. This is a crucial missing link to understanding the complex pharmacology of Sigma1.

6 Sigma1 as a Multifunctional Drug Target

Whether Sigmal is eventually classified as a scaffolding protein or chaperone, it is already clear that it engages in a range of heterogeneous but selective functional protein interactions (illustrated in Fig. 3). Sigmal modulators alter multiple processes and systems in cancer cells by targeting distinct Sigmal associated protein complexes that appear to assemble in a context-dependent manner. The known

biochemical properties and cellular activities of Sigma1 are consistent with a role as a component of the cancer cell support machinery [concept reviewed in (Dobbelstein and Moll 2014)]. Importantly, Sigma1 inhibitors are not pleiotropic, and they suppress or alter oncogenic proteins and pathways by a mechanism distinct from other drugs that target the cancer cell support machinery (Thomas et al. 2017). With respect to Sigma1 drug discovery and pharmacology, a key challenge is to understand how to harness the selective multifunctionality of Sigma1 as a drug target.

6.1 Cell Intrinsic Signaling and Activities

Multifunctional drug targets such as Sigma1 can have a number of advantages over single target therapies in regulating cell intrinsic signaling and processes. Specific targeted therapies such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors, selective receptor antagonists, and targeted monoclonal antibodies are prone to adaptive, acquired drug resistance (Komarova and Wodarz 2005; Bozic et al. 2012; Pao et al. 2005; Schwartz et al. 2015). In contrast, Sigma1 modulators used alone or in combination with targeted therapeutic agents may delay or even bypass such resistance.

In the case of prostate cancer, the inevitable resistance to androgen receptor (AR)-targeting agents is associated with reactivation of the AR axis through induction of intratumoral steroidogenesis, increased expression of AR, gain-of-function mutant AR, and constitutively active AR splice variants (Mostaghel et al. 2014; Knudsen and Kelly 2011; Attard et al. 2016; Ferraldeschi et al. 2015; Bambury and Scher 2015). This is further complicated by compensatory upregulation or feedback regulation of associated pathways such as ErbB receptor upregulation and PI3K (phosphatidyl inositol-3-kinase) activation in PTEN (*phosphatase and tens*in homolog) deficient prostate cancers (Gao et al. 2016; Carver et al. 2011). For prostate cancer, these examples demonstrate the importance of discovering and developing novel approaches to co-targeting the AR axis and the networks on which it depends.

Recently, Thomas et al. showed that three CRPC lines (C4-2, VCaP, and 22Rv1) evaluated were all responsive to small molecule Sigma1 inhibition. AR levels were suppressed in C4-2 cells and AR and ARV levels were suppressed in the AR splice variant driven VCaP and 22Rv1 cell lines. In vitro colony formation of all three lines was dose-responsively suppressed by treatment with IPAG (Thomas et al. 2017). IPAG also reduced ErbB2/HER2 and ErbB3/HER3 protein levels (Thomas et al. 2017), thus abrogating the compensatory upregulation of ErbB2/HER2 and ErbB3/HER3 that occurs in response to AR-targeted therapies (Carver et al. 2011; Mostaghel et al. 2014; Gao et al. 2016).

PTEN deficiency, by mutation or loss of PTEN, has a significant impact on prostate cancer progression. Indeed, over 50% of advanced prostate cancers are PTEN deficient (Li et al. 1997; Mulholland et al. 2011; Carver et al. 2011). Small

molecule Sigma1 inhibitors suppress growth pathway signaling in PTEN mutant LNCaP and C4-2 and PTEN null PC3 cells (Kim et al. 2012; Thomas et al. 2017). These data suggest that Sigma1 inhibitors can engage mechanisms downstream of PTEN or mechanisms that cooperate with but are distinct from canonical PI3K/Akt growth and survival signaling pathways. The ability to suppress growth signaling in PTEN deficient cancers (Kim et al. 2012; Schrock et al. 2013; Thomas et al. 2017) as well as the ability to suppress compensatory mechanisms that emerge in response to AR-targeted inhibition demonstrates that Sigma1 ligands may provide a way to bypass or suppress the redundancies and complex feedback mechanisms that render current therapeutic approaches to target growth regulatory pathways susceptible to resistance (She et al. 2010; Carver et al. 2011; Zhang and Yu 2010; Hsieh et al. 2011; Mostaghel et al. 2014; Gao et al. 2016).

Thus, the ability to pharmacologically modulate multifunctional targets such as Sigma1 is advantageous in cancer, as it imposes a barrier to compensatory response mechanisms to targeted therapies without the broad and often toxic effects of chemotherapy.

6.2 Immunomodulation

The multifunctionality of Sigma1 as a drug target may extend beyond cell intrinsic signaling and regulation of oncogenic driver proteins and pathways. For example, a series of papers in the late 1990s and early 2000s have reported immunomodulatory effects of Sigma1 ligands (Bourrie et al. 1995, 1996, 2002, 2004; Carayon et al. 1995, 1996; Derocq et al. 1995; Gardner et al. 2004; Zhu et al. 2003). These papers, which describe the cytokine modulating effects of SR31747A, PRE-084, and (+)-SKF10047, are discussed in Sect. 4, above. In summary, this work demonstrates that Sigma1 agonists/activators promote tumor growth, in part by suppressing anti-tumor immunity. However, these studies stopped short of evaluating the ability of Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors to promote anti-tumor immunity. Although proto-typic Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors were used to block the immune suppressive and tumor promoting effects of Sigma1 agonists/activators, the direct effects of Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors on anti-tumor immunity were not determined.

Recently, we discovered that the Sigma1 agonist/activator (SA4503) and antagonist/inhibitor (IPAG) differentially regulate the stability, trafficking, and activity of the checkpoint molecule programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1, also known as B7-H1 and CD274). We found that IPAG induced autophagic degradation of PD-L1 in androgen independent prostate cancer (PC3) and triple negative breast cancer (MDA-MB-231) cell lines. This resulted in decreased functional PD-L1 at the surface of these cancer cells. Consistent with this effect, RNAi knockdown of Sigma1 resulted in decreased PD-L1 levels. Conversely, treatment with SA4503 blocked these IPAG-mediated effects, and SA4503 alone promoted increased cell surface PD-L1 levels (Maher et al., unpublished data).

Taken together, these data suggest that pharmacological modulation of Sigma1 can regulate PD-L1 production and activity via immune response-induced

cytokine-mediated extracellular feedback loops as well as directly, via cell intrinsic mechanisms. Thus, Sigmal ligands may be used as regulators of the tumor microenvironment.

6.3 Cancer-Associated Pain

Sigmal has been extensively investigated in pain. For recent, detailed reviews of the subject see the chapters in this volume by Pasternak (Allosteric Modulation of Opioid G-Protein Coupled Receptors by Sigma₁ Receptors) and by Merlos et al. (Sigmal Receptor and Pain). A number of studies over several decades have demonstrated that Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors, but not agonists/activators, can potentiate opioid analgesia, and some Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors produce analgesia on their own. The precise biochemical mechanism by which Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors produce analgesia remains unclear. However, consistent with the antinociceptive effects of pharmacological inhibition, SIGMAR1 KO mice (Langa et al. 2003) have demonstrated a decreased sensitivity to neuropathic pain in preclinical murine models (Cendan et al. 2005a, b; Entrena et al. 2009; de la Puente et al. 2009; Tejada et al. 2014). A potent and safe Sigmal antagonist/ inhibitor, S1RA (also known as E-52862), is currently in phase II clinical trials as a non-opioid analgesic, providing clinical proof of concept of safety and efficacy (Abadias et al. 2013; Gris et al. 2016; Zamanillo et al. 2013; Romero et al. 2016) (also see Sect. 4.5, above).

Sigmal pharmacology has not been well studied in the context of cancer pain. However, a few preliminary reports suggest that Sigmal antagonists/inhibitors may be effective analgesics to treat neuropathic pain associated with cancer (Nieto et al. 2012, 2014; Zamanillo et al. 2013). Cancer-associated pain can be mechanical, caused by pressure of a growing tumor on nerves, bone, and other tissue (Glare et al. 2014). It also can be caused by damage to nerves that can occur with treatments such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and surgery.

Nieto et al. compared the ability of paclitaxel to induce cold and mechanical allodynia in *SIGMAR1* KO and wild type (WT) *SIGMAR1* mice. They demonstrated that whereas cold and mechanical allodynia were similar in KO and WT mice, treatment with paclitaxel only produced these forms of allodynia in WT mice. Consistent with the absence of paclitaxel-induced neuropathy in *SIGMAR1* KO mice, administration of the Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors BD1063 and S1RA prior to paclitaxel prevented both cold and mechanical allodynia in *SIGMAR1* WT mice. Furthermore, administration of BD1063 and S1RA after the onset of allodynia reversed paclitaxel-induced neuropathic pain (Nieto et al. 2012, 2014).

Pain associated with bone metastatic tumors is particularly problematic with myelomas and with lung, prostate, and breast cancers (Lozano-Ondoua et al. 2013; Suva et al. 2011; Roodman 2004; Mundy 2002). To evaluate the potential analgesic properties of Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors, Zhu et al. implanted Walker 256 rat mammary carcinoma cells into the tibia of Sprague–Dawley rats to induce bone cancer pain. Administration of BD1047 attenuated mechanical allodynia.

Interestingly, Sigma1 expression in the spinal cord was elevated in tumor bearing rats compared to control (sham) rats (Zhu et al. 2015a). The Walker 256 rat mammary carcinoma cell bone pain model is reviewed elsewhere (Shenoy et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2015b; Slosky et al. 2015).

These data raise the question, can antineoplastic small molecule Sigma1 antagonists/inhibitors also be analgesic in the context of cancer-associated pain? A compound that integrates these properties of Sigma1 pharmacology has yet to be reported.

7 Conclusions and Perspectives

A principal take-away message of this review is that the pharmacology of Sigma1 is complex, and there is still much to be done to define the mechanisms of action of Sigma1 ligands. Although their classification as agonists and antagonists is still commonly used in the literature (including this review), these putative pharmacological activities have remained undefined at the molecular level and may be inaccurate designations. Insights into the specific pharmacological and biochemical mechanisms by which Sigma1 ligands suppress cancer cell growth and survival are just beginning to emerge. As Sigma1 has no clearly defined enzymatic or signaling activity, most cellular responses to Sigma1 ligands are defined by the proteins and/or cellular systems engaged by Sigma1 (illustrated in Figs. 2 and 3). Thus, it may be more accurate to describe compounds with activity at Sigma1 as allosteric modulators of Sigma1 associated proteins (as illustrated in Fig. 2).

The concept of Sigma1 is rapidly evolving. A growing body of evidence supports the notion that Sigma1 is a novel chaperone or scaffolding protein that engages in diverse but selective protein interactions (see Sects. 4 and 5). Given the number of proteins with which it interacts, it is likely that Sigma1 has multiple "innate" functions. However, although Sigma1 modulators alter multiple processes and systems in cancer cells, the effects of Sigma1 ligands are not pleiotropic (see Sect. 4). Thus, Sigma1 is a selectively multifunctional drug target (concept illustrated in Fig. 3).

Multifunctional drug targets such as Sigma1 can have a number of advantages over single activity targeted therapies, which are prone to adaptive drug resistance (Komarova and Wodarz 2005; Bozic et al. 2012; Pao et al. 2005; Schwartz et al. 2015). In contrast to specific target-based therapies such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors, selective receptor antagonists, and monoclonal antibodies, Sigma1 modulators used alone or in combination with these agents may prolong or even prevent drug resistance. Most complex pathologies and disorders, including cancer, are not usually driven by a single cellular factor. Indeed, cancer is a heterogeneous, highly adaptive, and constantly evolving disease. Consequently, drug resistance in cancer is often accelerated by the targeted agents designed specifically to suppress individual oncogenic driver proteins. Therefore, a major challenge is to address not only the primary, existing target, but also latent targets that emerge as a result of mutations or other adaptive, compensatory mechanisms. This, of course, is the

rationale behind drug combinations. However, the potential efficacy of combining multiple targeted drugs must be balanced against potential adverse drug–drug interactions and differences in drug metabolism and pharmacokinetic (DMPK) properties that can add to the complexity of designing combinations. The development of a single drug addressing an array of targets (i.e., polypharmacology) also poses several challenges as well as advantages (Antolin et al. 2016; Azmi 2013). Modulation of Sigma1 would enable the selective inhibition of multiple nodes through one drug target (Fig. 3). Harnessing the strengths of these approaches would offer promising new possibilities to enhance therapeutic efficacy and bypass or prevent drug resistance.

Additionally, a number of studies demonstrate that Sigma1 modulators are not necessarily cytotoxic agents, and that they may be considerably more versatile (see Sects. 4 and 6). It is tempting to speculate that certain Sigma1 modulator compounds may be used not only as antineoplastic agents, but also to improve the quality of life of cancer patients, with decreased side effects and even benefits such as attenuation of cancer-associated pain (see Sect. 6).

Despite the number of studies suggesting that it is a valid drug target, there still are no Sigma1 drugs in the clinic to treat cancer. This is in large part because fundamental questions regarding the mechanism of action of Sigma1 modulators in the context of cancer remain unanswered or only partially answered. To understand how to use Sigma1 modulators for therapeutic benefit in cancer, there is a need for more detailed and definitive studies leading to a deeper understanding of Sigma1's role in tumor biology.

Acknowledgements We thank Drs. Paul McGonigle and James Barrett and members of the Kim Lab for critical reading of this manuscript. We thank John Vaillancourt for technical support in performing the *SIGMAR1* gene expression analysis in Fig. 1.

References

- Abadias M, Escriche M, Vaque A, Sust M, Encina G (2013) Safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of single and multiple doses of a novel sigma-1 receptor antagonist in three randomized phase I studies. Br J Clin Pharmacol 75(1):103–117. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04333.x
- Abate C (2012) Sigma receptor research: progress towards diagnostic and therapeutic uses of sigma ligands. Curr Pharm Des 18(7):861–862
- Abate C, Niso M, Contino M, Colabufo NA, Ferorelli S, Perrone R, Berardi F (2011) 1-Cyclohexyl-4-(4-arylcyclohexyl)piperazines: mixed sigma and human Delta(8)-Delta(7) sterol isomerase ligands with antiproliferative and P-glycoprotein inhibitory activity. ChemMedChem 6(1):73–80. doi:10.1002/cmdc.201000371
- Abate C, Niso M, Infantino V, Menga A, Berardi F (2015) Elements in support of the "nonidentity" of the PGRMC1 protein with the sigma2 receptor. Eur J Pharmacol 758:16–23. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.03.067
- Achison M, Boylan MT, Hupp TR, Spruce BA (2007) HIF-1alpha contributes to tumour-selective killing by the sigma receptor antagonist rimcazole. Oncogene 26(8):1137–1146

- Ahmed IS, Rohe HJ, Twist KE, Mattingly MN, Craven RJ (2010) Progesterone receptor membrane component 1 (Pgrmc1): a heme-1 domain protein that promotes tumorigenesis and is inhibited by a small molecule. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 333(2):564–573. doi:10.1124/jpet.109. 164210
- Akunne HC, Whetzel SZ, Wiley JN, Corbin AE, Ninteman FW, Tecle H, Pei Y, Pugsley TA, Heffner TG (1997) The pharmacology of the novel and selective sigma ligand, PD 144418. Neuropharmacology 36(1):51–62
- Antolin AA, Workman P, Mestres J, Al-Lazikani B (2016) Polypharmacology in precision oncology: current applications and future prospects. Curr Pharm Des 22(46):6935–6945
- Attard G, Parker C, Eeles RA, Schroder F, Tomlins SA, Tannock I, Drake CG, de Bono JS (2016) Prostate cancer. Lancet 387(10013):70–82. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(14)61947-4
- Aydar E, Palmer CP, Klyachko VA, Jackson MB (2002) The sigma receptor as a ligand-regulated auxiliary potassium channel subunit. Neuron 34(3):399–410
- Aydar E, Palmer CP, Djamgoz MB (2004) Sigma receptors and cancer: possible involvement of ion channels. Cancer Res 64(15):5029–5035
- Aydar E, Onganer P, Perrett R, Djamgoz MB, Palmer CP (2006) The expression and functional characterization of sigma (sigma) 1 receptors in breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Lett 242 (2):245–257
- Aydar E, Stratton D, Fraser SP, Djamgoz MB, Palmer C (2016) Sigma-1 receptors modulate neonatal Nav1.5 ion channels in breast cancer cell lines. Eur Biophys J. doi:10.1007/s00249-016-1135-0
- Azmi AS (2013) Adopting network pharmacology for cancer drug discovery. Curr Drug Discov Technol 10(2):95–105
- Azzariti A, Colabufo NA, Berardi F, Porcelli L, Niso M, Simone GM et al (2006) Cyclohexylpiperazine derivative PB28, a sigma2 agonist and sigma1 antagonist receptor, inhibits cell growth, modulates P-glycoprotein, and synergizes with anthracyclines in breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 5(7):1807–1816. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0402
- Balasuriya D, D'Sa L, Talker R, Dupuis E, Maurin F, Martin P, Borgese F, Soriani O, Edwardson JM (2014) A direct interaction between the sigma-1 receptor and the hERG voltage-gated K+ channel revealed by atomic force microscopy and homogeneous time-resolved fluorescence (HTRF(R)). J Biol Chem 289(46):32353–32363. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.603506
- Bambury RM, Scher HI (2015) Enzalutamide: development from bench to bedside. Urol Oncol 33 (6):280–288. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2014.12.017
- Barbieri F, Sparatore A, Alama A, Novelli F, Bruzzo C, Sparatore F (2003) Novel sigma binding site ligands as inhibitors of cell proliferation in breast cancer. Oncol Res 13(11):455–461
- Bauer M, Pelkmans L (2006) A new paradigm for membrane-organizing and -shaping scaffolds. FEBS Lett 580(23):5559–5564. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2006.08.077
- Bem WT, Thomas GE, Mamone JY, Homan SM, Levy BK, Johnson FE, Coscia CJ (1991) Overexpression of sigma receptors in nonneural human tumors. Cancer Res 51(24):6558–6562
- Berardi F, Ferorelli S, Colabufo NA, Leopoldo M, Perrone R, Tortorella V (2001) A multireceptorial binding reinvestigation on an extended class of sigma ligands: N-[omega-(indan-1-yl and tetralin-1-yl)alkyl] derivatives of 3,3-dimethylpiperidine reveal high affinities towards sigma1 and EBP sites. Bioorg Med Chem 9(5):1325–1335
- Berardi F, Ferorelli S, Abate C, Colabufo NA, Contino M, Perrone R, Tortorella V (2004) 4-(tetralin-1-yl)- and 4-(naphthalen-1-yl)alkyl derivatives of 1-cyclohexylpiperazine as sigma receptor ligands with agonist sigma2 activity. J Med Chem 47(9):2308–2317. doi:10.1021/jm031026e
- Berardi F, Abate C, Ferorelli S, Uricchio V, Colabufo NA, Niso M, Perrone R (2009) Exploring the importance of piperazine N-atoms for sigma(2) receptor affinity and activity in a series of analogs of 1-cyclohexyl-4-[3-(5-methoxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydronaphthalen-1-yl)propyl]piperazine (PB28). J Med Chem 52(23):7817–7828. doi:10.1021/jm9007505

- Berger R, Lin DI, Nieto M, Sicinska E, Garraway LA, Adams H, Signoretti S, Hahn WC, Loda M (2006) Androgen-dependent regulation of Her-2/neu in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 66 (11):5723–5728. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3928
- Bermack JE, Debonnel G (2005) Distinct modulatory roles of sigma receptor subtypes on glutamatergic responses in the dorsal hippocampus. Synapse 55(1):37–44. doi:10.1002/syn. 20085
- Berthois Y, Bourrie B, Galiegue S, Vidal H, Carayon P, Martin PM, Casellas P (2003) SR31747A is a sigma receptor ligand exhibiting antitumoural activity both in vitro and in vivo. Br J Cancer 88(3):438–446
- Blasio A, Valenza M, Iyer MR, Rice KC, Steardo L, Hayashi T, Cottone P, Sabino V (2015) Sigma-1 receptor mediates acquisition of alcohol drinking and seeking behavior in alcoholpreferring rats. Behav Brain Res 287:315–322. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.03.065
- Bourrie B, Bouaboula M, Benoit JM, Derocq JM, Esclangon M, Le Fur G, Casellas P (1995) Enhancement of endotoxin-induced interleukin-10 production by SR 31747A, a sigma ligand. Eur J Immunol 25(10):2882–2887. doi:10.1002/eji.1830251026
- Bourrie B, Benoit JM, Derocq JM, Esclangon M, Thomas C, Le Fur G, Casellas P (1996) A sigma ligand, SR 31747A, potently modulates staphylococcal enterotoxin B-induced cytokine production in mice. Immunology 88(3):389–393
- Bourrie B, Bribes E, De Nys N, Esclangon M, Garcia L, Galiegue S, Lair P, Paul R, Thomas C, Vernieres JC, Casellas P (2002) SSR125329A, a high affinity sigma receptor ligand with potent anti-inflammatory properties. Eur J Pharmacol 456(1–3):123–131
- Bourrie B, Bribes E, Derocq JM, Vidal H, Casellas P (2004) Sigma receptor ligands: applications in inflammation and oncology. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 5(11):1158–1163
- Bowen WD, Kirschner BN, Newman AH, Rice KC (1988) Sigma receptors negatively modulate agonist-stimulated phosphoinositide metabolism in rat brain. Eur J Pharmacol 149(3):399–400
- Bowen WD, Bertha CM, Vilner BJ, Rice KC (1995) CB-64D and CB-184: ligands with high sigma 2 receptor affinity and subtype selectivity. Eur J Pharmacol 278(3):257–260
- Bozic I, Allen B, Nowak MA (2012) Dynamics of targeted cancer therapy. Trends Mol Med 18 (6):311–316. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2012.04.006
- Brent PJ, Pang GT (1995) Sigma binding site ligands inhibit cell proliferation in mammary and colon carcinoma cell lines and melanoma cells in culture. Eur J Pharmacol 278(2):151–160
- Brent PJ, Pang G, Little G, Dosen PJ, Van Helden DF (1996) The sigma receptor ligand, reduced haloperidol, induces apoptosis and increases intracellular-free calcium levels [Ca2+]i in colon and mammary adenocarcinoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 219(1):219–226
- Brimson JM, Brown CA, Safrany ST (2011) Antagonists show GTP-sensitive high-affinity binding to the sigma-1 receptor. Br J Pharmacol 164(2b):772–780. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381. 2011.01417.x
- Brown C, Fezoui M, Selig WM, Schwartz CE, Ellis JL (2004) Antitussive activity of sigma-1 receptor agonists in the guinea-pig. Br J Pharmacol 141(2):233–240. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp. 0705605
- Brune S, Schepmann D, Lehmkuhl K, Frehland B, Wunsch B (2012) Characterization of ligand binding to the sigma(1) receptor in a human tumor cell line (RPMI 8226) and establishment of a competitive receptor binding assay. Assay Drug Dev Technol 10(4):365–374. doi:10.1089/ adt.2011.0376
- Brust P, Deuther-Conrad W, Lehmkuhl K, Jia H, Wunsch B (2014) Molecular imaging of sigmal receptors in vivo: current status and perspectives. Curr Med Chem 21(1):35–69
- de Bruyn M, Rybczynska AA, Wei Y, Schwenkert M, Fey GH, Dierckx RA, van Waarde A, Helfrich W, Bremer E (2010) Melanoma-associated chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan (MCSP)targeted delivery of soluble TRAIL potently inhibits melanoma outgrowth in vitro and in vivo. Mol Cancer 9:301. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-9-301
- Carayon P, Bouaboula M, Loubet JF, Bourrie B, Petitpretre G, Le Fur G, Casellas P (1995) The sigma ligand SR 31747 prevents the development of acute graft-versus-host disease in mice by

blocking IFN-gamma and GM-CSF mRNA expression. Int J Immunopharmacol 17 (9):753-761

- Carayon P, Petitpretre G, Bourrie B, Le Fur G, Casellas P (1996) In vivo effects of a new immunosuppressive sigma ligand, SR 31747, on mouse thymus. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol 18(2):179–191. doi:10.3109/08923979609052731
- Carver BS, Chapinski C, Wongvipat J, Hieronymus H, Chen Y, Chandarlapaty S, Arora VK, Le C, Koutcher J, Scher H, Scardino PT, Rosen N, Sawyers CL (2011) Reciprocal feedback regulation of PI3K and androgen receptor signaling in PTEN-deficient prostate cancer. Cancer Cell 19(5):575–586. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.04.008
- Casellas P, Bourrie B, Canat X, Carayon P, Buisson I, Paul R, Breliere JC, Le Fur G (1994) Immunopharmacological profile of SR 31747: in vitro and in vivo studies on humoral and cellular responses. J Neuroimmunol 52(2):193–203
- Casellas P, Galiegue S, Bourrie B, Ferrini JB, Jbilo O, Vidal H (2004) SR31747A: a peripheral sigma ligand with potent antitumor activities. Anticancer Drugs 15(2):113–118
- Cendan CM, Pujalte JM, Portillo-Salido E, Baeyens JM (2005a) Antinociceptive effects of haloperidol and its metabolites in the formalin test in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 182 (4):485–493. doi:10.1007/s00213-005-0127-z
- Cendan CM, Pujalte JM, Portillo-Salido E, Montoliu L, Baeyens JM (2005b) Formalin-induced pain is reduced in sigma(1) receptor knockout mice. Eur J Pharmacol 511(1):73–74. doi:10. 1016/j.ejphar.2005.01.036
- Cesa LC, Mapp AK, Gestwicki JE (2015) Direct and propagated effects of small molecules on protein-protein interaction networks. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 3:119. doi:10.3389/fbioe.2015. 00119
- Chaki S, Tanaka M, Muramatsu M, Otomo S (1994) NE-100, a novel potent sigma ligand, preferentially binds to sigma 1 binding sites in guinea pig brain. Eur J Pharmacol 251(1): R1–R2
- Chen L, Siddiqui S, Bose S, Mooso B, Asuncion A, Bedolla RG, Vinall R, Tepper CG, Gandour-Edwards R, Shi X, Lu XH, Siddiqui J, Chinnaiyan AM, Mehra R, Devere White RW, Carraway KL 3rd, Ghosh PM (2010) Nrdp1-mediated regulation of ErbB3 expression by the androgen receptor in androgen-dependent but not castrate-resistant prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 70 (14):5994–6003. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4440
- Chen L, Mooso BA, Jathal MK, Madhav A, Johnson SD, van Spyk E, Mikhailova M, Zierenberg-Ripoll A, Xue L, Vinall RL, deVere White RW, Ghosh PM (2011) Dual EGFR/HER2 inhibition sensitizes prostate cancer cells to androgen withdrawal by suppressing ErbB3. Clin Cancer Res 17(19):6218–6228. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1548
- Choi SR, Yang B, Plossl K, Chumpradit S, Wey SP, Acton PD, Wheeler K, Mach RH, Kung HF (2001) Development of a Tc-99m labeled sigma-2 receptor-specific ligand as a potential breast tumor imaging agent. Nucl Med Biol 28(6):657–666
- Chu UB, Hajipour AR, Ramachandran S, Ruoho AE (2011) Characterization of interactions of 4-nitrophenylpropyl-N-alkylamine with sigma receptors. Biochemistry 50(35):7568–7578. doi:10.1021/bi2004872
- Cobos EJ, Baeyens JM, Del Pozo E (2005) Phenytoin differentially modulates the affinity of agonist and antagonist ligands for sigma 1 receptors of guinea pig brain. Synapse 55 (3):192–195. doi:10.1002/syn.20103
- Cobos EJEJ, Nieto FR, Cendán CM, Del Pozo E (2008) Pharmacology and therapeutic potential of sigma1 receptor ligands. Curr Neuropharmacol 6(4):344–366
- Coderre TJ, Vaccarino AL, Melzack R (1990) Central nervous system plasticity in the tonic pain response to subcutaneous formalin injection. Brain Res 535(1):155–158
- Colabufo NA, Berardi F, Contino M, Niso M, Abate C, Perrone R, Tortorella V (2004) Antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects of some sigma2 agonists and sigma1 antagonists in tumour cell lines. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 370(2):106–113. doi:10.1007/ s00210-004-0961-2

- Colabufo NA, Abate C, Contino M, Inglese C, Niso M, Berardi F, Perrone R (2008) PB183, a sigma receptor ligand, as a potential PET probe for the imaging of prostate adenocarcinoma. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 18(6):1990–1993. doi:10.1016/j.bmcl.2008.01.109
- Correa DD, Kryza-Lacombe M, Baser RE, Beal K, DeAngelis LM (2016) Cognitive effects of donepezil therapy in patients with brain tumors: a pilot study. J Neurooncol 127(2):313–319. doi:10.1007/s11060-015-2035-3
- Crawford KW, Bowen WD (2002) Sigma-2 receptor agonists activate a novel apoptotic pathway and potentiate antineoplastic drugs in breast tumor cell lines. Cancer Res 62(1):313–322
- Crottes D, Martial S, Rapetti-Mauss R, Pisani DF, Loriol C, Pellissier B, Martin P, Chevet E, Borgese F, Soriani O (2011) Sig1R protein regulates hERG channel expression through a posttranslational mechanism in leukemic cells. J Biol Chem 286(32):27947–27958. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M111.226738
- Crottes D, Rapetti-Mauss R, Alcaraz-Perez F, Tichet M, Gariano G, Martial S, Guizouarn H, Pellissier B, Loubat A, Popa A, Paquet A, Presta M, Tartare-Deckert S, Cayuela ML, Martin P, Borgese F, Soriani O (2016) SIGMAR1 regulates membrane electrical activity in response to extracellular matrix stimulation to drive cancer cell invasiveness. Cancer Res 76(3):607–618. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1465
- Das D, Persaud L, Dejoie J, Happy M, Brannigan O, De Jesus D, Sauane M (2016) Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) activates caspases in human prostate cancer cells through sigma 1 receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 470(2):319–323. doi:10.1016/ j.bbrc.2016.01.055
- Derocq JM, Bourrie B, Segui M, Le Fur G, Casellas P (1995) In vivo inhibition of endotoxininduced pro-inflammatory cytokines production by the sigma ligand SR 31747. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 272(1):224–230
- Dobbelstein M, Moll U (2014) Targeting tumour-supportive cellular machineries in anticancer drug development. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13(3):179–196. doi:10.1038/nrd4201
- Entrena JM, Cobos EJ, Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Gris G, Del Pozo E, Zamanillo D, Baeyens JM (2009) Sigma-1 receptors are essential for capsaicin-induced mechanical hypersensitivity: studies with selective sigma-1 ligands and sigma-1 knockout mice. Pain 143(3):252–261. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2009.03.011
- Espallergues J, Lapalud P, Christopoulos A, Avlani VA, Sexton PM, Vamvakides A, Maurice T (2007) Involvement of the sigmal (sigmal) receptor in the anti-amnesic, but not antidepressant-like, effects of the aminotetrahydrofuran derivative ANAVEX1-41. Br J Pharmacol 152(2):267–279. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0707386
- Ferraldeschi R, Welti J, Luo J, Attard G, de Bono JS (2015) Targeting the androgen receptor pathway in castration-resistant prostate cancer: progresses and prospects. Oncogene 34 (14):1745–1757. doi:10.1038/onc.2014.115
- Ferrini JB, Jbilo O, Peleraux A, Combes T, Vidal H, Galiegue S, Casellas P (2003) Transcriptomic classification of antitumor agents: application to the analysis of the antitumoral effect of SR31747A. Gene Expr 11(3–4):125–139
- Ferris RM, Tang FL, Chang KJ, Russell A (1986) Evidence that the potential antipsychotic agent rimcazole (BW 234U) is a specific, competitive antagonist of sigma sites in brain. Life Sci 38 (25):2329–2337
- Fontanilla D, Johannessen M, Hajipour AR, Cozzi NV, Jackson MB, Ruoho AE (2009) The hallucinogen N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) is an endogenous sigma-1 receptor regulator. Science 323(5916):934–937
- Fytas C, Zoidis G, Tsotinis A, Fytas G, Khan MA, Akhtar S et al (2015) Novel 1-(2-aryl-2adamantyl)piperazine derivatives with antiproliferative activity. Eur J Med Chem 93:281–290. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2015.02.021
- Gao S, Ye H, Gerrin S, Wang H, Sharma A, Chen S, Patnaik A, Sowalsky AG, Voznesensky O, Han W, Yu Z, Mostaghel E, Nelson PS, Taplin ME, Balk SP, Cai C (2016) ErbB2 signaling increases androgen receptor expression in Abiraterone-resistant prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2309

- Garces-Ramirez L, Green JL, Hiranita T, Kopajtic TA, Mereu M, Thomas AM, Mesangeau C, Narayanan S, McCurdy CR, Katz JL, Tanda G (2011) Sigma receptor agonists: receptor binding and effects on mesolimbic dopamine neurotransmission assessed by microdialysis. Biol Psychiatry 69(3):208–217. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.07.026
- Gardner B, Zhu LX, Roth MD, Tashkin DP, Dubinett SM, Sharma S (2004) Cocaine modulates cytokine and enhances tumor growth through sigma receptors. J Neuroimmunol 147 (1–2):95–98
- Garg G, Vangveravong S, Zeng C, Collins L, Hornick M, Hashim Y et al (2014) Conjugation to a SMAC mimetic potentiates sigma-2 ligand induced tumor cell death in ovarian cancer. Mol Cancer 13:50. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-13-50
- Geiger C, Zelenka C, Weigl M, Frohlich R, Wibbeling B, Lehmkuhl K et al (2007) Synthesis of bicyclic sigma receptor ligands with cytotoxic activity. J Med Chem 50(24):6144–6153. doi:10.1021/jm070620b
- Gilmore DL, Liu Y, Matsumoto RR (2004) Review of the pharmacological and clinical profile of rimcazole. CNS Drug Rev 10(1):1–22
- Glare PA, Davies PS, Finlay E, Gulati A, Lemanne D, Moryl N, Oeffinger KC, Paice JA, Stubblefield MD, Syrjala KL (2014) Pain in cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol 32 (16):1739–1747. doi:10.1200/jco.2013.52.4629
- Good MC, Zalatan JG, Lim WA (2011) Scaffold proteins: hubs for controlling the flow of cellular information. Science 332(6030):680–686. doi:10.1126/science.1198701
- Gris G, Portillo-Salido E, Aubel B, Darbaky Y, Deseure K, Vela JM, Merlos M, Zamanillo D (2016) The selective sigma-1 receptor antagonist E-52862 attenuates neuropathic pain of different aetiology in rats. Sci Rep 6:24591. doi:10.1038/srep24591
- Gromek KA, Suchy FP, Meddaugh HR, Wrobel RL, LaPointe LM, Chu UB, Primm JG, Ruoho AE, Senes A, Fox BG (2014) The oligomeric states of the purified sigma-1 receptor are stabilized by ligands. J Biol Chem 289(29):20333–20344. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.537993
- Gueguinou M, Crottes D, Chantome A, Rapetti-Mauss R, Potier-Cartereau M, Clarysse L, Girault A, Fourbon Y, Jezequel P, Guerin-Charbonnel C, Fromont G, Martin P, Pellissier B, Schiappa R, Chamorey E, Mignen O, Uguen A, Borgese F, Vandier C, Soriani O (2017) The SigmaR1 chaperone drives breast and colorectal cancer cell migration by tuning SK3-dependent Ca2+ homeostasis. Oncogene. doi:10.1038/onc.2016.501
- Hajipour AR, Fontanilla D, Chu UB, Arbabian M, Ruoho AE (2010) Synthesis and characterization of N,N-dialkyl and N-alkyl-N-aralkyl fenpropimorph-derived compounds as high affinity ligands for sigma receptors. Bioorg Med Chem 18(12):4397–4404. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2010. 04.078
- Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Knaus HG, Striessnig J, Kempner E, Glossmann H (1996) Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian sigma1-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(15):8072–8077
- Happy M, Dejoie J, Zajac CK, Cortez B, Chakraborty K, Aderemi J, Sauane M (2015) Sigma 1 receptor antagonist potentiates the anti-cancer effect of p53 by regulating ER stress, ROS production, Bax levels, and caspase-3 activation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 456 (2):683–688. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.12.029
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2001) Regulating ankyrin dynamics: roles of sigma-1 receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(2):491–496
- Hayashi T, Su TP (2007) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. Cell 131(3):596–610
- Hellewell SB, Bruce A, Feinstein G, Orringer J, Williams W, Bowen WD (1994) Rat liver and kidney contain high densities of sigma 1 and sigma 2 receptors: characterization by ligand binding and photoaffinity labeling. Eur J Pharmacol 268(1):9–18
- Hemler ME (2014) Tetraspanin proteins promote multiple cancer stages. Nat Rev Cancer 14 (1):49-60
- Holl R, Schepmann D, Bednarski PJ, Grunert R, Wunsch B (2009a) Relationships between the structure of 6-substituted 6,8-diazabicyclo[3.2.2]nonan-2-ones and their sigma receptor

affinity and cytotoxic activity. Bioorg Med Chem 17(4):1445–1455. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2009. 01.012

- Holl R, Schepmann D, Frohlich R, Grunert R, Bednarski PJ, Wunsch B (2009b) Dancing of the second aromatic residue around the 6,8-diazabicyclo[3.2.2]nonane framework: influence on sigma receptor affinity and cytotoxicity. J Med Chem 52(7):2126–2137. doi:10.1021/ jm801522j
- Holl R, Schepmann D, Grunert R, Bednarski PJ, Wunsch B (2009c) Relationships between the structure of 6-allyl-6,8-diazabicyclo[3.2.2]nonane derivatives and their sigma receptor affinity and cytotoxic activity. Bioorg Med Chem 17(2):777–793. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2008.11.043
- Hornick JR, Xu J, Vangveravong S, Tu Z, Mitchem JB, Spitzer D et al (2010) The novel sigma-2 receptor ligand SW43 stabilizes pancreas cancer progression in combination with gemcitabine. Mol Cancer 9:298. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-9-298
- Hornick JR, Vangveravong S, Spitzer D, Abate C, Berardi F, Goedegebuure P et al (2012) Lysosomal membrane permeabilization is an early event in Sigma-2 receptor ligand mediated cell death in pancreatic cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 31:41. doi:10.1186/1756-9966-31-41
- Hsieh AC, Truitt ML, Ruggero D (2011) Oncogenic AKTivation of translation as a therapeutic target. Br J Cancer 105(3):329–336. doi:10.1038/bjc.2011.241
- Husbands SM, Izenwasser S, Loeloff RJ, Katz JL, Bowen WD, Vilner BJ, Newman AH (1997) Isothiocyanate derivatives of 9-[3-(cis-3,5-dimethyl-1-piperazinyl)propyl]carbazole (rimcazole): irreversible ligands for the dopamine transporter. J Med Chem 40 (26):4340–4346. doi:10.1021/jm9705519
- Ishiwata K, Kawamura K, Yajima K, QingGeLeTu MH, Shiba K (2006) Evaluation of (+)-p-[11C] methylvesamicol for mapping sigma1 receptors: a comparison with [11C]SA4503. Nucl Med Biol 33(4):543–548. doi:10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2006.01.008
- Jacobson K, Mouritsen OG, Anderson RG (2007) Lipid rafts: at a crossroad between cell biology and physics. Nat Cell Biol 9(1):7–14. doi:10.1038/ncb0107-7
- Jbilo O, Vidal H, Paul R, De Nys N, Bensaid M, Silve S, Carayon P, Davi D, Galiegue S, Bourrie B, Guillemot JC, Ferrara P, Loison G, Maffrand JP, Le Fur G, Casellas P (1997) Purification and characterization of the human SR 31747A-binding protein. A nuclear membrane protein related to yeast sterol isomerase. J Biol Chem 272(43):27107–27115
- John CS, Vilner BJ, Bowen WD (1994) Synthesis and characterization of [1251]-N-(N-benzylpiperidin-4-yl)-4-iodobenzamide, a new sigma receptor radiopharmaceutical: highaffinity binding to MCF-7 breast tumor cells. J Med Chem 37(12):1737–1739
- John CS, Bowen WD, Varma VM, McAfee JG, Moody TW (1995a) Sigma receptors are expressed in human non-small cell lung carcinoma. Life Sci 56(26):2385–2392
- John CS, Vilner BJ, Gulden ME, Efange SM, Langason RB, Moody TW, Bowen WD (1995b) Synthesis and pharmacological characterization of 4-[1251]-N-(N-benzylpiperidin-4-yl)-4iodobenzamide: a high affinity sigma receptor ligand for potential imaging of breast cancer. Cancer Res 55(14):3022–3027
- John CS, Vilner BJ, Geyer BC, Moody T, Bowen WD (1999) Targeting sigma receptor-binding benzamides as in vivo diagnostic and therapeutic agents for human prostate tumors. Cancer Res 59(18):4578–4583
- Kashiwagi H, McDunn JE, Simon PO Jr, Goedegebuure PS, Xu J, Jones L et al (2007) Selective sigma-2 ligands preferentially bind to pancreatic adenocarcinomas: applications in diagnostic imaging and therapy. Mol Cancer 6:48. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-6-48
- Kashiwagi H, McDunn JE, Simon PO Jr, Goedegebuure PS, Vangveravong S, Chang K et al (2009) Sigma-2 receptor ligands potentiate conventional chemotherapies and improve survival in models of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Transl Med 7:24. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-7-24
- Kato K, Hayako H, Ishihara Y, Marui S, Iwane M, Miyamoto M (1999) TAK-147, an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, increases choline acetyltransferase activity in cultured rat septal cholinergic neurons. Neurosci Lett 260(1):5–8
- Katz JL, Libby TA, Kopajtic T, Husbands SM, Newman AH (2003) Behavioral effects of rimcazole analogues alone and in combination with cocaine. Eur J Pharmacol 468(2):109–119

- Kawamura K, Kubota K, Kobayashi T, Elsinga PH, Ono M, Maeda M, Ishiwata K (2005) Evaluation of [11C]SA5845 and [11C]SA4503 for imaging of sigma receptors in tumors by animal PET. Ann Nucl Med 19(8):701–709
- Ki YS, Park EY, Lee HW, Oh MS, Cho YW, Kwon YK, Moon JH, Lee KT (2010) Donepezil, a potent acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, induces caspase-dependent apoptosis in human promyelocytic leukemia HL-60 cells. Biol Pharm Bull 33(6):1054–1059
- Kim FJ, Kovalyshyn I, Burgman M, Neilan C, Chien CC, Pasternak GW (2010) Sigma 1 receptor modulation of G-protein-coupled receptor signaling: potentiation of opioid transduction independent from receptor binding. Mol Pharmacol 77(4):695–703. doi: mol.109.057083 [pii] 10.1124/mol.109.057083
- Kim FJ, Schrock JM, Spino CM, Marino JC, Pasternak GW (2012) Inhibition of tumor cell growth by Sigma1 ligand mediated translational repression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 426 (2):177–182. doi:S0006-291X(12)01562-8 [pii] 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.08.052
- Kimes AS, Wilson AA, Scheffel U, Campbell BG, London ED (1992) Radiosynthesis, cerebral distribution, and binding of [1251]-1-(p-iodophenyl)-3-(1-adamantyl)guanidine, a ligand for sigma binding sites. J Med Chem 35(25):4683–4689
- Knudsen KE, Kelly WK (2011) Outsmarting androgen receptor: creative approaches for targeting aberrant androgen signaling in advanced prostate cancer. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab 6 (3):483–493. doi:10.1586/eem.11.33
- Komarova NL, Wodarz D (2005) Drug resistance in cancer: principles of emergence and prevention. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(27):9714–9719. doi:10.1073/pnas.0501870102
- Korpis K, Weber F, Brune S, Wunsch B, Bednarski PJ (2014a) Involvement of apoptosis and autophagy in the death of RPMI 8226 multiple myeloma cells by two enantiomeric sigma receptor ligands. Bioorg Med Chem 22(1):221–233. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2013.11.033
- Korpis K, Weber F, Wunsch B, Bednarski PJ (2014b) Cytotoxic activities of hydroxyethyl piperazine-based sigma receptor ligands on cancer cells alone and in combination with melphalan, PB28 and haloperidol. Pharmazie 69(12):917–922
- Labit-Le Bouteiller C, Jamme MF, David M, Silve S, Lanau C, Dhers C, Picard C, Rahier A, Taton M, Loison G, Caput D, Ferrara P, Lupker J (1998) Antiproliferative effects of SR31747A in animal cell lines are mediated by inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis at the sterol isomerase step. Eur J Biochem 256(2):342–349
- Laggner C, Schieferer C, Fiechtner B, Poles G, Hoffmann RD, Glossmann H, Langer T, Moebius FF (2005) Discovery of high-affinity ligands of sigma1 receptor, ERG2, and emopamil binding protein by pharmacophore modeling and virtual screening. J Med Chem 48(15):4754–4764. doi:10.1021/jm049073+
- Langa F, Codony X, Tovar V, Lavado A, Gimenez E, Cozar P, Cantero M, Dordal A, Hernandez E, Perez R, Monroy X, Zamanillo D, Guitart X, Montoliu L (2003) Generation and phenotypic analysis of sigma receptor type I (sigma 1) knockout mice. Eur J Neurosci 18(8):2188–2196
- Laughlin TM, Tram KV, Wilcox GL, Birnbaum AK (2002) Comparison of antiepileptic drugs tiagabine, lamotrigine, and gabapentin in mouse models of acute, prolonged, and chronic nociception. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 302(3):1168–1175
- Lawrence JA, Griffin L, Balcueva EP, Groteluschen DL, Samuel TA, Lesser GJ, Naughton MJ, Case LD, Shaw EG, Rapp SR (2016) A study of donepezil in female breast cancer survivors with self-reported cognitive dysfunction 1 to 5 years following adjuvant chemotherapy. J Cancer Surviv 10(1):176–184. doi:10.1007/s11764-015-0463-x
- Leong TY, Leong AS (2007) How does antigen retrieval work? Adv Anat Pathol 14(2):129–131. doi:10.1097/PAP.0b013e31803250c7
- Lever JR, Gustafson JL, Xu R, Allmon RL, Lever SZ (2006) Sigma1 and sigma2 receptor binding affinity and selectivity of SA4503 and fluoroethyl SA4503. Synapse 59(6):350–358. doi:10.1002/syn.20253

- Lever JR, Miller DK, Fergason-Cantrell EA, Green CL, Watkinson LD, Carmack TL, Lever SZ (2014) Relationship between cerebral sigma-1 receptor occupancy and attenuation of cocaine's motor stimulatory effects in mice by PD144418. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 351(1):153–163. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.216671
- Li J, Yen C, Liaw D, Podsypanina K, Bose S, Wang SI, Puc J, Miliaresis C, Rodgers L, McCombie R, Bigner SH, Giovanella BC, Ittmann M, Tycko B, Hibshoosh H, Wigler MH, Parsons R (1997) PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. Science 275(5308):1943–1947
- Li J, Zhu S, Kozono D, Ng K, Futalan D, Shen Y, Akers JC, Steed T, Kushwaha D, Schlabach M, Carter BS, Kwon CH, Furnari F, Cavenee W, Elledge S, Chen CC (2014) Genome-wide shRNA screen revealed integrated mitogenic signaling between dopamine receptor D2 (DRD2) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in glioblastoma. Oncotarget 5 (4):882–893. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.1801
- Loh KP, Janelsins MC, Mohile SG, Holmes HM, Hsu T, Inouye SK, Karuturi MS, Kimmick GG, Lichtman SM, Magnuson A, Whitehead MI, Wong ML, Ahles TA (2016) Chemotherapyrelated cognitive impairment in older patients with cancer. J Geriatr Oncol 7(4):270–280. doi:10.1016/j.jgo.2016.04.008
- Lozano-Ondoua AN, Symons-Liguori AM, Vanderah TW (2013) Cancer-induced bone pain: mechanisms and models. Neurosci Lett 557(Pt A):52–59. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2013.08.003
- Luedtke RR, Perez E, Yang SH, Liu R, Vangveravong S, Tu Z, Mach RH, Simpkins JW (2012) Neuroprotective effects of high affinity Sigma1 receptor selective compounds. Brain Res 1441:17–26. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2011.12.047
- Lupardus PJ, Wilke RA, Aydar E, Palmer CP, Chen Y, Ruoho AE, Jackson MB (2000) Membranedelimited coupling between sigma receptors and K+ channels in rat neurohypophysial terminals requires neither G-protein nor ATP. J Physiol 526(Pt 3):527–539
- Maneckjee R, Minna JD (1992) Biologically active MK-801 and SKF-10,047 binding sites distinct from those in rat brain are expressed on human lung cancer cells. Mol Biol Cell 3(6):613–619
- Marchio C, Dowsett M, Reis-Filho JS (2011) Revisiting the technical validation of tumour biomarker assays: how to open a Pandora's box. BMC Med 9:41. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-9-41
- Marrazzo A, Fiorito J, Zappala L, Prezzavento O, Ronsisvalle S, Pasquinucci L et al (2011a) Antiproliferative activity of phenylbutyrate ester of haloperidol metabolite II [(+/-)-MRJF4] in prostate cancer cells. Eur J Med Chem 46(1):433–438. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2010.10.012
- Marrazzo A, Cobos EJ, Parenti C, Arico G, Marrazzo G, Ronsisvalle S et al (2011b) Novel potent and selective sigma ligands: evaluation of their agonist and antagonist properties. J Med Chem 54(10):3669–3673. doi:10.1021/jm200144j
- Matsumoto RR, Bowen WD, Tom MA, Vo VN, Truong DD, De Costa BR (1995) Characterization of two novel sigma receptor ligands: antidystonic effects in rats suggest sigma receptor antagonism. Eur J Pharmacol 280(3):301–310
- Matsumoto RR, McCracken KA, Pouw B, Miller J, Bowen WD, Williams W, De Costa BR (2001) N-alkyl substituted analogs of the sigma receptor ligand BD1008 and traditional sigma receptor ligands affect cocaine-induced convulsions and lethality in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 411(3):261–273
- Matsumoto M, Inoue M, Hald A, Xie W, Ueda H (2006) Inhibition of paclitaxel-induced A-fiber hypersensitization by gabapentin. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 318(2):735–740. doi:10.1124/jpet. 106.103614
- Matsuno K, Senda T, Mita S (1993) Correlation between potentiation of neurogenic twitch contraction and benzomorphan sigma receptor binding potency in the mouse vas deferens. Eur J Pharmacol 231(3):451–457
- Matsuno K, Kobayashi T, Mita S (1996a) Involvement of sigma-receptors in the increase in contraction of mouse vas deferens induced by exogenous ATP. J Pharm Pharmacol 48 (1):96–99
- Matsuno K, Nakazawa M, Okamoto K, Kawashima Y, Mita S (1996b) Binding properties of SA4503, a novel and selective sigma 1 receptor agonist. Eur J Pharmacol 306(1–3):271–279

- Maurice T (2016) Protection by sigma-1 receptor agonists is synergic with donepezil, but not with memantine, in a mouse model of amyloid-induced memory impairments. Behav Brain Res 296:270–278. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.09.020
- Maurice T, Su TP (2009) The pharmacology of sigma-1 receptors. Pharmacol Ther 124 (2):195–206
- Maurice T, Hiramatsu M, Itoh J, Kameyama T, Hasegawa T, Nabeshima T (1994) Behavioral evidence for a modulating role of sigma ligands in memory processes. I. Attenuation of dizocilpine (MK-801)-induced amnesia. Brain Res 647(1):44–56
- Maurice T, TP S, Privat A (1998) Sigma1 (sigma 1) receptor agonists and neurosteroids attenuate B25-35-amyloid peptide-induced amnesia in mice through a common mechanism. Neuroscience 83(2):413–428
- Maurice T, Meunier J, Feng B, Ieni J, Monaghan DT (2006) Interaction with sigma(1) protein, but not N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, is involved in the pharmacological activity of donepezil. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 317(2):606–614. doi:10.1124/jpet.105.097394
- McCracken KA, Bowen WD, de Costa BR, Matsumoto RR (1999) Two novel sigma receptor ligands, BD1047 and LR172, attenuate cocaine-induced toxicity and locomotor activity. Eur J Pharmacol 370(3):225–232
- Megalizzi V, Mathieu V, Mijatovic T, Gailly P, Debeir O, De Neve N, Van Damme M, Bontempi G, Haibe-Kains B, Decaestecker C, Kondo Y, Kiss R, Lefranc F (2007) 4-IBP, a sigmal receptor agonist, decreases the migration of human cancer cells, including glioblastoma cells, in vitro and sensitizes them in vitro and in vivo to cytotoxic insults of proapoptotic and proautophagic drugs. Neoplasia 9(5):358–369
- Megalizzi V, Decaestecker C, Debeir O, Spiegl-Kreinecker S, Berger W, Lefranc F, Kast RE, Kiss R (2009) Screening of anti-glioma effects induced by sigma-1 receptor ligands: potential new use for old anti-psychiatric medicines. Eur J Cancer 45(16):2893–2905. doi: S0959-8049(09) 00548-6 [pii] 10.1016/j.ejca.2009.07.011
- Megalizzi V, Le Mercier M, Decaestecker C (2012) Sigma receptors and their ligands in cancer biology: overview and new perspectives for cancer therapy. Med Res Rev 32(2):410–427. doi:10.1002/med.20218
- Mei J, Pasternak GW (2001) Molecular cloning and pharmacological characterization of the rat sigmal receptor. Biochem Pharmacol 62(3):349–355
- Moody TW, Leyton J, John C (2000) Sigma ligands inhibit the growth of small cell lung cancer cells. Life Sci 66(20):1979–1986
- Mostaghel EA, Plymate SR, Montgomery B (2014) Molecular pathways: targeting resistance in the androgen receptor for therapeutic benefit. Clin Cancer Res 20(4):791–798. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-12-3601
- Mulholland DJ, Tran LM, Li Y, Cai H, Morim A, Wang S, Plaisier S, Garraway IP, Huang J, Graeber TG, Wu H (2011) Cell autonomous role of PTEN in regulating castration-resistant prostate cancer growth. Cancer Cell 19(6):792–804. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.05.006
- Mundy GR (2002) Metastasis to bone: causes, consequences and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer 2(8):584–593. doi:10.1038/nrc867
- Narayanan S, Bhat R, Mesangeau C, Poupaert JH, McCurdy CR (2011) Early development of sigma-receptor ligands. Future Med Chem 3(1):79–94. doi:10.4155/fmc.10.279
- Nicholson H, Comeau A, Mesangeau C, McCurdy CR, Bowen WD (2015) Characterization of CM572, a selective irreversible partial agonist of the Sigma-2 receptor with antitumor activity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 354(2):203–212. doi:10.1124/jpet.115.224105
- Nicholson H, Mesangeau C, McCurdy CR, Bowen WD (2016) Sigma-2 receptors play a role in cellular metabolism: stimulation of glycolytic hallmarks by CM764 in human SK-N-SH neuroblastoma. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 356(2):232–243. doi:10.1124/jpet.115.228387
- Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Sanchez-Fernandez C, Cobos EJ, Entrena JM, Tejada MA, Zamanillo D, Vela JM, Baeyens JM (2012) Role of sigma-1 receptors in paclitaxel-induced neuropathic pain in mice. J Pain 13(11):1107–1121. doi: S1526-5900(12)00782-1 [pii] 10.1016/j. jpain.2012.08.006

- Nieto FR, Cendan CM, Canizares FJ, Cubero MA, Vela JM, Fernandez-Segura E, Baeyens JM (2014) Genetic inactivation and pharmacological blockade of sigma-1 receptors prevent paclitaxel-induced sensory-nerve mitochondrial abnormalities and neuropathic pain in mice. Mol Pain 10:11. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-10-11
- Niso M, Abate C, Contino M, Ferorelli S, Azzariti A, Perrone R et al (2013) Sigma-2 receptor agonists as possible antitumor agents in resistant tumors: hints for collateral sensitivity. ChemMedChem 8(12):2026–2035. doi:10.1002/cmdc.201300291
- Nordenberg J, Perlmutter I, Lavie G, Beery E, Uziel O, Morgenstern C, Fenig E, Weizman A (2005) Anti-proliferative activity of haloperidol in B16 mouse and human SK-MEL-28 melanoma cell lines. Int J Oncol 27(4):1097–1103
- Ostenfeld MS, Fehrenbacher N, Hoyer-Hansen M, Thomsen C, Farkas T, Jaattela M (2005) Effective tumor cell death by sigma-2 receptor ligand siramesine involves lysosomal leakage and oxidative stress. Cancer Res 65(19):8975–8983. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0269
- Ostenfeld MS, Hoyer-Hansen M, Bastholm L, Fehrenbacher N, Olsen OD, Groth-Pedersen L et al (2008) Anti-cancer agent siramesine is a lysosomotropic detergent that induces cytoprotective autophagosome accumulation. Autophagy 4(4):487–499
- Pal K, Pore S, Sinha S, Janardhanan R, Mukhopadhyay D, Banerjee R (2011) Structure-activity study to develop cationic lipid-conjugated haloperidol derivatives as a new class of anticancer therapeutics. J Med Chem 54(7):2378–2390. doi:10.1021/jm101530j
- Palmer CP, Mahen R, Schnell E, Djamgoz MB, Aydar E (2007) Sigma-1 receptors bind cholesterol and remodel lipid rafts in breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 67(23):11166–11175
- Pao W, Miller VA, Politi KA, Riely GJ, Somwar R, Zakowski MF, Kris MG, Varmus H (2005) Acquired resistance of lung adenocarcinomas to gefitinib or erlotinib is associated with a second mutation in the EGFR kinase domain. PLoS Med 2(3):e73. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed. 0020073
- Patel HH, Murray F, Insel PA (2008) Caveolae as organizers of pharmacologically relevant signal transduction molecules. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 48:359–391. doi:10.1146/annurev. pharmtox.48.121506.124841
- Pati ML, Groza D, Riganti C, Kopecka J, Niso M, Berardi F, Hager S, Heffeter P, Hirai M, Tsugawa H, Kabe Y, Suematsu M, Abate C (2017) Sigma-2 receptor and progesterone receptor membrane component 1 (PGRMC1) are two different proteins: proofs by fluorescent labeling and binding of sigma-2 receptor ligands to PGRMC1. Pharmacol Res 117:67–74. doi:10.1016/ j.phrs.2016.12.023
- Perregaard J, Moltzen EK, Meier E, Sanchez C (1995) Sigma ligands with subnanomolar affinity and preference for the sigma 2 binding site. 1. 3-(omega-aminoalkyl)-1H-indoles. J Med Chem 38(11):1998–2008
- Pickett JE, Varadi A, Palmer TC, Grinnell SG, Schrock JM, Pasternak GW, Karimov RR, Majumdar S (2015) Mild, Pd-catalyzed stannylation of radioiodination targets. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 25(8):1761–1764. doi:10.1016/j.bmcl.2015.02.055
- Piergentili A, Amantini C, Del Bello F, Giannella M, Mattioli L, Palmery M et al (2010) Novel highly potent and selective sigma 1 receptor antagonists related to spipethiane. J Med Chem 53 (3):1261–1269. doi:10.1021/jm901542q
- de la Puente B, Nadal X, Portillo-Salido E, Sanchez-Arroyos R, Ovalle S, Palacios G, Muro A, Romero L, Entrena JM, Baeyens JM, Lopez-Garcia JA, Maldonado R, Zamanillo D, Vela JM (2009) Sigma-1 receptors regulate activity-induced spinal sensitization and neuropathic pain after peripheral nerve injury. Pain 145(3):294–303. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2009.05.013
- Ramakrishnan NK, Rybczynska AA, Visser AK, Marosi K, Nyakas CJ, Kwizera C, Sijbesma JW, Elsinga PH, Ishiwata K, Pruim J, Dierckx RA, van Waarde A (2013) Small-animal PET with a sigma-ligand, 11C-SA4503, detects spontaneous pituitary tumors in aged rats. J Nucl Med 54 (8):1377–1383. doi:10.2967/jnumed.112.115931
- Rapp SR, Case LD, Peiffer A, Naughton MM, Chan MD, Stieber VW, Moore DF Jr, Falchuk SC, Piephoff JV, Edenfield WJ, Giguere JK, Loghin ME, Shaw EG (2015) Donepezil for irradiated

brain tumor survivors: a phase III randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Clin Oncol 33 (15):1653–1659. doi:10.1200/jco.2014.58.4508

- Renaudo A, Watry V, Chassot AA, Ponzio G, Ehrenfeld J, Soriani O (2004) Inhibition of tumor cell proliferation by sigma ligands is associated with K+ channel inhibition and p27kip1 accumulation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 311(3):1105–1114. doi:10.1124/jpet.104.072413
- Renaudo A, L'Hoste S, Guizouarn H, Borgese F, Soriani O (2007) Cancer cell cycle modulated by a functional coupling between sigma-1 receptors and Cl- channels. J Biol Chem 282 (4):2259–2267. doi:10.1074/jbc.M607915200
- Rhodes DR, Yu J, Shanker K, Deshpande N, Varambally R, Ghosh D, Barrette T, Pandey A, Chinnaiyan AM (2004) ONCOMINE: a cancer microarray database and integrated datamining platform. Neoplasia 6(1):1–6
- Riganas S, Papanastasiou I, Foscolos GB, Tsotinis A, Serin G, Mirjolet JF, Dimas K, Kourafalos VN, Eleutheriades A, Moutsos VI, Khan H, Georgakopoulou S, Zaniou A, Prassa M, Theodoropoulou M, Mantelas A, Pondiki S, Vamvakides A (2012a) New adamantane phenylalkylamines with sigma-receptor binding affinity and anticancer activity, associated with putative antagonism of neuropathic pain. J Med Chem 55(22):10241–10261. doi:10.1021/jm3013008
- Riganas S, Papanastasiou I, Foscolos GB, Tsotinis A, Bourguignon JJ, Serin G et al (2012b) Synthesis, sigma(1), sigma(2)-receptors binding affinity and antiproliferative action of new C1-substituted adamantanes. Bioorg Med Chem 20(10):3323–3331. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2012. 03.038
- Riganas S, Papanastasiou I, Foscolos GB, Tsotinis A, Dimas K, Kourafalos VN et al (2012c) New adamantane derivatives with sigma affinity and antiproliferative activity. Med Chem 8 (4):569–586
- Roman FJ, Pascaud X, Martin B, Vauche D, Junien JL (1990) JO 1784, a potent and selective ligand for rat and mouse brain sigma-sites. J Pharm Pharmacol 42(6):439–440
- Romero L, Zamanillo D, Nadal X, Sanchez-Arroyos R, Rivera-Arconada I, Dordal A, Montero A, Muro A, Bura A, Segales C, Laloya M, Hernandez E, Portillo-Salido E, Escriche M, Codony X, Encina G, Burgueno J, Merlos M, Baeyens JM, Giraldo J, Lopez-Garcia JA, Maldonado R, Plata-Salaman CR, Vela JM (2012) Pharmacological properties of S1RA, a new sigma-1 receptor antagonist that inhibits neuropathic pain and activity-induced spinal sensitization. Br J Pharmacol 166(8):2289–2306. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.01942.x
- Romero L, Merlos M, Vela JM (2016) Antinociception by sigma-1 receptor antagonists: central and peripheral effects. Adv Pharmacol 75:179–215. doi:10.1016/bs.apha.2015.11.003
- Roodman GD (2004) Mechanisms of bone metastasis. N Engl J Med 350(16):1655–1664. doi:10. 1056/NEJMra030831
- Roze C, Bruley Des Varannes S, Shi G, Geneve J, Galmiche JP (1998) Inhibition of prostaglandininduced intestinal secretion by igmesine in healthy volunteers. Gastroenterology 115 (3):591–596
- Ryan-Moro J, Chien CC, Standifer KM, Pasternak GW (1996) Sigma binding in a human neuroblastoma cell line. Neurochem Res 21(11):1309–1314
- Rybczynska AA, Dierckx RA, Ishiwata K, Elsinga PH, van Waarde A (2008) Cytotoxicity of sigma-receptor ligands is associated with major changes of cellular metabolism and complete occupancy of the sigma-2 subpopulation. J Nucl Med 49(12):2049–2056. doi:10.2967/jnumed. 108.053876
- Rybczynska AA, Elsinga PH, Sijbesma JW, Ishiwata K, de Jong JR, de Vries EF, Dierckx RA, van Waarde A (2009) Steroid hormones affect binding of the sigma ligand 11C-SA4503 in tumour cells and tumour-bearing rats. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 36(7):1167–1175. doi:10.1007/ s00259-009-1076-2
- Rybczynska AA, de Bruyn M, Ramakrishnan NK, de Jong JR, Elsinga PH, Helfrich W, Dierckx RA, van Waarde A (2013) In vivo responses of human A375M melanoma to a sigma ligand: 18F-FDG PET imaging. J Nucl Med 54(9):1613–1620. doi:10.2967/jnumed.113.122655

- Schepmann D, Lehmkuhl K, Brune S, Wunsch B (2011) Expression of sigma receptors of human urinary bladder tumor cells (RT-4 cells) and development of a competitive receptor binding assay for the determination of ligand affinity to human sigma(2) receptors. J Pharm Biomed Anal 55(5):1136–1141. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2011.03.044
- Scherz MW, Fialeix M, Fischer JB, Reddy NL, Server AC, Sonders MS, Tester BC, Weber E, Wong ST, Keana JF (1990) Synthesis and structure-activity relationships of N,N'-di-otolylguanidine analogues, high-affinity ligands for the haloperidol-sensitive sigma receptor. J Med Chem 33(9):2421–2429
- Schmidt HR, Zheng S, Gurpinar E, Koehl A, Manglik A, Kruse AC (2016) Crystal structure of the human sigma receptor. Nature. doi:10.1038/nature17391
- Schrock JM, Spino CM, Longen CG, Stabler SM, Marino JC, Pasternak GW, Kim FJ (2013) Sequential cytoprotective responses to Sigma1 ligand-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress. Mol Pharmacol 84(5):751–762. mol.113.087809 [pii] 10.1124/mol.113.087809
- Schwartz H, Scroggins B, Zuehlke A, Kijima T, Beebe K, Mishra A, Neckers L, Prince T (2015) Combined HSP90 and kinase inhibitor therapy: insights from the cancer genome Atlas. Cell Stress Chaperones 20(5):729–741. doi:10.1007/s12192-015-0604-1
- Seth P, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1997) Cloning and structural analysis of the cDNA and the gene encoding the murine type 1 sigma receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 241 (2):535–540
- Shaw EG, Rosdhal R, D'Agostino RB Jr, Lovato J, Naughton MJ, Robbins ME, Rapp SR (2006) Phase II study of donepezil in irradiated brain tumor patients: effect on cognitive function, mood, and quality of life. J Clin Oncol 24(9):1415–1420. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.03.3001
- She QB, Halilovic E, Ye Q, Zhen W, Shirasawa S, Sasazuki T, Solit DB, Rosen N (2010) 4E-BP1 is a key effector of the oncogenic activation of the AKT and ERK signaling pathways that integrates their function in tumors. Cancer Cell 18(1):39–51. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2010.05.023
- Shenoy PA, Kuo A, Vetter I, Smith MT (2016) The Walker 256 breast cancer cell-induced bone pain model in rats. Front Pharmacol 7:286. doi:10.3389/fphar.2016.00286
- Simons K, Toomre D (2000) Lipid rafts and signal transduction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1 (1):31–39. doi:10.1038/35036052
- Simony-Lafontaine J, Esslimani M, Bribes E, Gourgou S, Lequeux N, Lavail R, Grenier J, Kramar A, Casellas P (2000) Immunocytochemical assessment of sigma-1 receptor and human sterol isomerase in breast cancer and their relationship with a series of prognostic factors. Br J Cancer 82(12):1958–1966
- Skrzycki M, Czeczot H (2013) Altered expression level of Sigma1 receptor gene in human colorectal cancer. J Recept Signal Transduct Res 33(5):313–318. doi:10.3109/10799893. 2013.822891
- Slosky LM, Largent-Milnes TM, Vanderah TW (2015) Use of animal models in understanding cancer-induced bone pain. Cancer Growth Metastasis 8(Suppl 1):47–62. doi:10.4137/cgm. s21215
- Soriani O, Vaudry H, Mei YA, Roman F, Cazin L (1998) Sigma ligands stimulate the electrical activity of frog pituitary melanotrope cells through a G-protein-dependent inhibition of potassium conductances. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 286(1):163–171
- Sozio P, Fiorito J, Di Giacomo V, Di Stefano A, Marinelli L, Cacciatore I et al (2015) Haloperidol metabolite II prodrug: asymmetric synthesis and biological evaluation on rat C6 glioma cells. Eur J Med Chem 90:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.11.012
- Spitzer D, Simon PO Jr, Kashiwagi H, Xu J, Zeng C, Vangveravong S et al (2012) Use of multifunctional sigma-2 receptor ligand conjugates to trigger cancer-selective cell death signaling. Cancer Res 72(1):201–209. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1354
- Spruce BA, Campbell LA, McTavish N, Cooper MA, Appleyard MV, O'Neill M, Howie J, Samson J, Watt S, Murray K, McLean D, Leslie NR, Safrany ST, Ferguson MJ, Peters JA, Prescott AR, Box G, Hayes A, Nutley B, Raynaud F, Downes CP, Lambert JJ, Thompson AM, Eccles S (2004) Small molecule antagonists of the sigma-1 receptor cause selective release of

the death program in tumor and self-reliant cells and inhibit tumor growth in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Res 64(14):4875–4886

- Starr JB, Werling LL (1994) Sigma-receptor regulation of [3H]arachidonic acid release from rat neonatal cerebellar granule cells in culture. J Neurochem 63(4):1311–1318
- Su TP, Wu XZ, Cone EJ, Shukla K, Gund TM, Dodge AL, Parish DW (1991) Sigma compounds derived from phencyclidine: identification of PRE-084, a new, selective sigma ligand. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 259(2):543–550
- Sunnam SK, Schepmann D, Rack E, Frohlich R, Korpis K, Bednarski PJ, Wunsch B (2010) Synthesis and biological evaluation of conformationally restricted sigma(1) receptor ligands with 7,9-diazabicyclo[4.2.2]decane scaffold. Org Biomol Chem 8(24):5525–5540. doi:10. 1039/c0ob00402b
- Suva LJ, Washam C, Nicholas RW, Griffin RJ (2011) Bone metastasis: mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Endocrinol 7(4):208–218. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2010.227
- Szabo I, Trentin L, Trimarco V, Semenzato G, Leanza L (2015) Biophysical characterization and expression analysis of Kv1.3 potassium channel in primary human leukemic B cells. Cell Physiol Biochem 37(3):965–978. doi:10.1159/000430223
- Talantov D, Mazumder A, JX Y, Briggs T, Jiang Y, Backus J, Atkins D, Wang Y (2005) Novel genes associated with malignant melanoma but not benign melanocytic lesions. Clin Cancer Res 11(20):7234–7242. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0683
- Tanaka M, Shirasaki T, Kaku S, Muramatsu M, Otomo S (1995) Characteristics of binding of [3H] NE-100, a novel sigma-receptor ligand, to guinea-pig brain membranes. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 351(3):244–251
- Tejada MA, Montilla-Garcia A, Sanchez-Fernandez C, Entrena JM, Perazzoli G, Baeyens JM, Cobos EJ (2014) Sigma-1 receptor inhibition reverses acute inflammatory hyperalgesia in mice: role of peripheral sigma-1 receptors. Psychopharmacology (Berl). doi:10.1007/s00213-014-3524-3
- Thomas GE, Szucs M, Mamone JY, Bem WT, Rush MD, Johnson FE, Coscia CJ (1990) Sigma and opioid receptors in human brain tumors. Life Sci 46(18):1279–1286
- Thomas JD, Longen CG, Oyer HM, Chen N, Maher CM, Salvino JM, Kania B, Anderson KN, Ostrander WF, Knudsen KE, Kim FJ (2017) Sigma1 targeting to suppress aberrant androgen receptor signaling in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-16-1055
- Tsai SY, Pokrass MJ, Klauer NR, De Credico NE, Su TP (2014) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones in neurodegenerative and psychiatric disorders. Expert Opin Ther Targets 18(12):1461–1476. doi:10.1517/14728222.2014.972939
- Vaupel DB, Su TP (1987) Guinea-pig vas deferens preparation may contain both receptors and phencyclidine receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 139(1):125–128
- Villard V, Espallergues J, Keller E, Alkam T, Nitta A, Yamada K, Nabeshima T, Vamvakides A, Maurice T (2009) Antiamnesic and neuroprotective effects of the aminotetrahydrofuran derivative ANAVEX1-41 against amyloid beta(25-35)-induced toxicity in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 34(6):1552–1566. doi:10.1038/npp.2008.212
- Vilner BJ, Bowen WD (1993) Sigma receptor-active neuroleptics are cytotoxic to C6 glioma cells in culture. Eur J Pharmacol 244(2):199–201
- Vilner BJ, Bowen WD (2000) Modulation of cellular calcium by sigma-2 receptors: release from intracellular stores in human SK-N-SH neuroblastoma cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 292 (3):900–911
- Vilner BJ, de Costa BR, Bowen WD (1995a) Cytotoxic effects of sigma ligands: sigma receptormediated alterations in cellular morphology and viability. J Neurosci 15(1 Pt 1):117–134
- Vilner BJ, John CS, Bowen WD (1995b) Sigma-1 and sigma-2 receptors are expressed in a wide variety of human and rodent tumor cell lines. Cancer Res 55(2):408–413
- Volz HP, Stoll KD (2004) Clinical trials with sigma ligands. Pharmacopsychiatry 37(Suppl 3): S214–S220. doi:10.1055/s-2004-832680

- van Waarde A, Buursma AR, Hospers GA, Kawamura K, Kobayashi T, Ishii K, Oda K, Ishiwata K, Vaalburg W, Elsinga PH (2004) Tumor imaging with 2 sigma-receptor ligands, 18F-FE-SA5845 and 11C-SA4503: a feasibility study. J Nucl Med 45(11):1939–1945
- van Waarde A, Jager PL, Ishiwata K, Dierckx RA, Elsinga PH (2006) Comparison of sigmaligands and metabolic PET tracers for differentiating tumor from inflammation. J Nucl Med 47 (1):150–154
- van Waarde A, Rybczynska AA, Ramakrishnan NK, Ishiwata K, Elsinga PH, Dierckx RA (2015) Potential applications for sigma receptor ligands in cancer diagnosis and therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta 1848(10 Pt B):2703–2714. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.08.022
- Wang HH, Chien JW, Chou YC, Liao JF, Chen CF (2003) Anti-amnesic effect of dimemorfan in mice. Br J Pharmacol 138(5):941–949. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0705117
- Wang B, Rouzier R, Albarracin CT, Sahin A, Wagner P, Yang Y, Smith TL, Meric-Bernstam F, Marcelo Aldaz C, Hortobagyi GN, Pusztai L (2004) Expression of sigma 1 receptor in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 87(3):205–214. doi:10.1007/s10549-004-6590-0
- Weber F, Brune S, Korpis K, Bednarski PJ, Laurini E, Dal Col V et al (2014) Synthesis, pharmacological evaluation, and sigmal receptor interaction analysis of hydroxyethyl substituted piperazines. J Med Chem 57(7):2884–2894. doi:10.1021/jm401707t
- Wei Z, Mousseau DD, Dai Y, Cao X, Li XM (2006) Haloperidol induces apoptosis via the sigma2 receptor system and Bcl-XS. Pharmacogenomics J 6(4):279–288. doi:10.1038/sj.tpj.6500373
- Weinstein JN, Collisson EA, Mills GB, Shaw KR, Ozenberger BA, Ellrott K, Shmulevich I, Sander C, Stuart JM (2013) The cancer genome Atlas pan-cancer analysis project. Nat Genet 45(10):1113–1120. doi:10.1038/ng.2764
- Whittemore ER, Ilyin VI, Woodward RM (1997) Antagonism of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors by sigma site ligands: potency, subtype-selectivity and mechanisms of inhibition. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 282(1):326–338
- Wilke RA, Mehta RP, Lupardus PJ, Chen Y, Ruoho AE, Jackson MB (1999) Sigma receptor photolabeling and sigma receptor-mediated modulation of potassium channels in tumor cells. J Biol Chem 274(26):18387–18392
- Wilson AA, Dannals RF, Ravert HT, Sonders MS, Weber E, Wagner HN Jr (1991) Radiosynthesis of sigma receptor ligands for positron emission tomography: 11C- and 18F-labeled guanidines. J Med Chem 34(6):1867–1870
- Winocur G, Binns MA, Tannock I (2011) Donepezil reduces cognitive impairment associated with anti-cancer drugs in a mouse model. Neuropharmacology 61(8):1222–1228. doi:10.1016/j. neuropharm.2011.07.013
- Xie F, Bergmann R, Kniess T, Deuther-Conrad W, Mamat C, Neuber C, Liu B, Steinbach J, Brust P, Pietzsch J, Jia H (2015) (18)F-labeled 1,4-Dioxa-8-azaspiro[4.5]decane derivative: synthesis and biological evaluation of a sigma1 receptor radioligand with low lipophilicity as potent tumor imaging agent. J Med Chem 58(14):5395–5407. doi:10.1021/acs.jmedchem. 5b00593
- Xu QX, Li EM, Zhang YF, Liao LD, Xu XE, Wu ZY, Shen JH, Xu LY (2012) Overexpression of sigmal receptor and its positive associations with pathologic TNM classification in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. J Histochem Cytochem 60(6):457–466. doi:10.1369/ 0022155412443542
- Xu D, Yi W, Chen Y, Ma L, Wang J, Yu G (2014) Overexpression of Sig1R is closely associated with tumor progression and poor outcome in patients with hilar cholangiocarcinoma. Med Oncol 31(12):261. doi:10.1007/s12032-014-0261-8
- Wu XZ, Bell JA, Spivak CE, London ED, Su TP (1991) Electrophysiological and binding studies on intact NCB-20 cells suggest presence of a low affinity sigma receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257(1):351–359
- Yang R, Chen L, Wang H, Xu B, Tomimoto H, Chen L (2012) Anti-amnesic effect of neurosteroid PREGS in Abeta25-35-injected mice through sigma1 receptor- and alpha7nAChR-mediated neuroprotection. Neuropharmacology 63(6):1042–1050. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.07. 035

- Yarim M, Koksal M, Schepmann D, Wunsch B (2011) Synthesis and in vitro evaluation of novel indole-based sigma receptors ligands. Chem Biol Drug Des 78(5):869–875. doi:10.1111/j. 1747-0285.2011.01215.x
- Ye J, Wang X, Deuther-Conrad W, Zhang J, Li J, Zhang X, Wang L, Steinbach J, Brust P, Jia H (2016) Synthesis and evaluation of a 18 F-labeled 4-phenylpiperidine-4-carbonitrile radioligand for sigmal receptor imaging. J Labelled Comp Radiopharm. doi:10.1002/jlcr.3408
- Zamanillo D, Romero L, Merlos M, Vela JM (2013) Sigma 1 receptor: a new therapeutic target for pain. Eur J Pharmacol 716(1–3):78–93. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.01.068
- Zampieri D, Vio L, Fermeglia M, Pricl S, Wunsch B, Schepmann D et al (2016) Computer-assisted design, synthesis, binding and cytotoxicity assessments of new 1-(4-(aryl(methyl)amino) butyl)-heterocyclic sigma 1 ligands. Eur J Med Chem 121:712–726. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech. 2016.06.001
- Zeng C, Rothfuss J, Zhang J, Chu W, Vangveravong S, Tu Z et al (2012) Sigma-2 ligands induce tumour cell death by multiple signalling pathways. Br J Cancer 106(4):693–701. doi:10.1038/bjc.2011.602
- Zeng C, Rothfuss JM, Zhang J, Vangveravong S, Chu W, Li S, Tu Z, Xu J, Mach RH (2014) Functional assays to define agonists and antagonists of the sigma-2 receptor. Anal Biochem 448:68–74. doi:10.1016/j.ab.2013.12.008
- Zhang S, Yu D (2010) PI(3)king apart PTEN's role in cancer. Clin Cancer Res 16(17):4325–4330. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-2990
- Zhu LX, Sharma S, Gardner B, Escuadro B, Atianzar K, Tashkin DP, Dubinett SM (2003) IL-10 mediates Sigma1 receptor-dependent suppression of antitumor immunity. J Immunol 170 (7):3585–3591. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.7.3585
- Zhu S, Wang C, Han Y, Song C, Hu X, Liu Y (2015a) Sigma-1 receptor antagonist BD1047 reduces mechanical allodynia in a rat model of bone cancer pain through the inhibition of spinal NR1 phosphorylation and microglia activation. Mediators Inflamm 2015:265056. doi:10.1155/2015/265056
- Zhu XC, Zhang JL, Ge CT, Yu YY, Wang P, Yuan TF, Fu CY (2015b) Advances in cancer pain from bone metastasis. Drug Des Devel Ther 9:4239–4245. doi:10.2147/dddt.s87568

Molecular Probes for Imaging the Sigma-2 Receptor: In Vitro and In Vivo Imaging Studies

Chenbo Zeng, Elizabeth S. McDonald, and Robert H. Mach

Contents

1	Introduction	310
2	Relationship Between the Density of σ_2 Receptors and Measures of Cell Proliferation	310
3	Identification of σ_2 Receptor Selective Ligands	312
4	Development of Fluorescent Probes for Studying the Subcellular Distribution of σ_2	
	Receptors	313
5	In Vivo Imaging Studies of σ_2 Receptors	317
6	The Importance of Imaging Proliferative Status in Cancer Patients	321
7	Molecular Identification of the σ_2 Receptor	323
8	Conclusions	326
Re	References	

Abstract

The sigma-2 (σ_2) receptor has been validated as a biomarker of the proliferative status of solid tumors. Therefore, radiotracers having a high affinity and high selectivity for σ_2 receptors have the potential to assess the proliferative status of human tumors using noninvasive imaging techniques such as Positron Emission Tomography (PET). Since the σ_2 receptor has not been cloned, the current knowledge of this receptor has relied on receptor binding studies with the radiolabeled probes and investigation of the effects of the σ_2 receptor ligands on tumor cells. The development of the σ_2 selective fluorescent probes has proven to be useful for studying subcellular localization and biological functions of the σ_2 receptor, for revealing pharmacological properties of the σ_2 receptor ligands, and for imaging cell proliferation. Preliminary clinical imaging studies with [¹⁸F]ISO-1, a σ_2 receptor probe, have shown promising results in cancer

C. Zeng • E.S. McDonald • R.H. Mach (🖂)

Department of Radiology, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA e-mail: rmach@mail.med.upenn.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

F.J. Kim, G.W. Pasternak (eds.), Sigma Proteins: Evolution of the Concept of Sigma Receptors, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 244, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_96

patients. However, the full utility of imaging the σ_2 receptor status of solid tumors in the diagnosis and prediction of cancer therapeutic response will rely on elucidation of the functional role of this protein in normal and tumor cell biology.

Keywords

Breast cancer • Cell proliferation • Confocal microscopy • Positron emission tomography • Sigma-2 receptor

1 Introduction

Sigma (σ) receptors represent a class of proteins that were initially identified as a subtype of the opiate receptors. Subsequent studies revealed that they represented a distinct class of receptors that are located in a variety of tissues and organs including the central nervous system (Hellewell et al. 1994; Walker et al. 1990). Two separate σ receptors, σ_1 and σ_2 receptors, were distinguished based on differences in the binding profile of benzomorphan compounds and respective molecular weights based on photoaffinity labeling. σ_1 receptors have a molecular weight of ~25 kDa, whereas σ_2 receptors have a molecular weight of ~21.5 kDa (Rothman et al. 1991). The σ_1 receptor has been cloned and displays a 30% sequence homology with the enzyme, yeast C8-C7 sterol isomerase (Seth et al. 1997; Hanner et al. 1996), but this receptor lacks C8-C7 isomerase activity. Studies have shown that some neuroactive steroids bind with moderate affinity to σ_1 sites and suggested that σ_1 receptors may modulate the activity of GABA and NMDA receptors in the CNS (Maurice et al. 1996, 1997; Romieu et al. 2003). More recently, the s_1 receptor was classified as a receptor chaperone which forms a complex with the inositol triphosphate receptor at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane, thereby regulating ER-mitochondrial Ca²⁺ signaling and cell survival (Tsai et al. 2009). Since the σ_2 receptor has not been cloned, most of what is known regarding the biology, function, and subcellular distribution of this receptor has been obtained through the use of in vitro receptor binding studies in tissues having a high receptor expression, and fluorescent microscopy studies in cancer cells under cell culture conditions.

2 Relationship Between the Density of σ₂ Receptors and Measures of Cell Proliferation

The first group to report that sigma receptors were overexpressed in cancer cells was Bem et al. (1991), who demonstrated that there is a twofold higher expression of σ receptors in tumor cells than in nonmalignant tissue. Vilner et al. (1995) later reported a high density of σ_2 receptors in a panel of murine and human tumor cells grown under cell culture conditions. The density of σ_2 receptors in the cancer cells was generally much higher than that of the σ_1 receptor. These results suggested that the σ_2 receptor may function as a biomarker for differentiating solid tumors from the surrounding, normal tissues. However, this study did not explore the relationship between the density of σ_2 receptors and the two key properties of cell proliferation, *proliferative status* and *proliferation rate*. The proliferative status of cancer cells is defined as the ratio of proliferating (P) cells to quiescent (Q) cells in either a solid tumor or cell culture dish (i.e., the P:Q ratio). Proliferating cells are driven into a quiescent state by either nutrient deprivation and/or hypoxia in a solid tumor or by nutrient deprivation or contact inhibition under cell culture conditions. The second property of cell proliferation, proliferation rate, refers to the time it takes a proliferating (P) cell to pass through the four different phases of the cell cycle, G1, S, G2, and M phase. Since quiescent cells are not dividing, they are typically described as being in G0 phase.

In order to determine the relationship between the density of σ_2 receptors and the proliferative status of cancer cells, Wheeler et al. used the mouse mammary adenocarcinoma cell line 66 (Wallen et al. 1984a, b) to determine if there was a difference in the density of σ_2 receptors between proliferating (66P) and quiescent (66Q) tumor cells under cell culture conditions. They observed that the density of σ_2 receptors in 66P cells was ~10 times greater than the density measured in 66Q cells (Fig. 1a) (Mach et al. 1997). The density of σ_2 receptors in 66P cells was



 $\frac{B_{max} \text{ of tumor}}{Q} = B_{max} \text{ of P cell (P/Q) + } B_{max} \text{ of Q cell,}$

and: P:Q Ratio of σ_2 receptors = slope / intercept

~900,000 copies/cell versus ~90,000 receptors/cell in the 66Q cells. This group also reported that the expression kinetics of σ_2 receptors follows the growth kinetics of the 66 cells (Al-Nabulsi et al. 1999). Since it took ~4 days for the σ_2 receptor to downregulate in the 66Q cells, the density of the σ_2 receptor appears to be independent of the phase of the cell cycle. Using a graphical method that correlates the density of σ_2 receptors with the P:Q ratio of a tumor determined by flow cytometry (i.e., the Wheeler equation), a similar P:Q ratio of σ_2 receptor density was observed in solid tumor xenografts of 66 tumors (Fig. 1b) (Wheeler et al. 2000; Shoghi et al. 2013). These results indicate that the σ_2 receptor is a biomarker of the *proliferative status* of cancer cells and the density of the receptor is independent of the *proliferative status* of human breast tumors using noninvasive imaging techniques such as Positron Emission Tomography (PET) and Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT). Since many cancer cells of different origin have a high density of σ_2 receptors (Vilner et al. 1995), it is likely that this approach

can be extended to assess the proliferative status of other human tumors, including

3 Identification of σ_2 Receptor Selective Ligands

head and neck, melanoma, and lung tumors.

Although a number of structurally diverse compounds have been shown to possess a high affinity to σ receptors (Walker et al. 1990), most of these compounds bind selectively to the σ_1 receptor or have similar affinities to both σ_1 and σ_2 receptors. The first σ_2 selective ligand reported was the benzomorphan-7-one analog, CB-64D (Fig. 2) (Bowen et al. 1995a). This compound was synthesized as part of a structureactivity relationship (SAR) study aimed at improving the affinity of (-)-2-methyl-5-(3-hydroxyphenyl)morphan-7-one for μ versus κ opioid receptors (Bertha et al. 1994). A second class of compounds having a high affinity for σ_2 receptors are the $3-(\omega-\text{aminoalkyl})-1\text{H-indole analogs}$ (Perregaard et al. 1995; Moltzen et al. 1995). These compounds were originally designed to be serotonin 5-HT_{1A} agonists, but SAR studies resulted in the identification of Lu 28-179 (Soby et al. 2002), also known as siramesine, which has a high affinity for σ_2 receptors and a 140-fold selectivity for σ_2 versus σ_1 receptors. Other compounds that were reported to have a higher affinity for σ_2 versus σ_1 receptors are: (1) the hallucinogen, ibogaine (Bowen et al. 1995b; Mach et al. 1995), (2) the mixed serotonin 5-HT₃ antagonist/5-HT₄ agonist BIMU-1 (Bonhaus et al. 1993), (3) the tropane analog SM-21 (Mach et al. 1999; Ghelardini et al. 2000), (4) the trishomocubane analog ANSTO-19 (Nguyen et al. 1996), (5) the piperazine analog PB28 (Azzariti et al. 2006), and (6) the conformational-flexible benzamide analog YUN252 (Mach et al. 2004). Many of these structures have served as the lead compounds for fluorescent probes and radioligands for imaging σ_2 receptors both in vitro and in vivo.



Fig. 2 Structures of σ_2 receptor ligands in the literature

4 Development of Fluorescent Probes for Studying the Subcellular Distribution of σ₂ Receptors

A number of SAR studies using BIMU-1 as the lead compound have resulted in the identification of high affinity, high selectivity σ_2 receptor ligands (Vangveravong et al. 2006; Ariazi et al. 2006; Arttamangkul et al. 2000). The most promising analog from the initial SAR study was the compound SV-119 which had a σ_2 receptor affinity of 5.2 nM and a σ_2 : σ_1 selectivity of ~275 (Fig. 3a) (Ariazi et al. 2006). SV-119 was used as a lead compound for the development of the fluorescent probes, K05-138, SW120, SW107, and SW116 that have proven useful in two-photon and confocal microscopy studies of σ_2 receptors in tumor cells growing under cell culture conditions (Zeng et al. 2007, 2011). This was accomplished by the recognition that introduction of a spacer group onto the bridgehead nitrogen group in SV-119 allowed for the introduction of bulky large fluorescent moieties with only a modest loss in affinity for the σ_2 receptor.

A second compound which has proven to be useful in developing fluorescent probes for σ_2 receptors is PB28. In this case, introduction of a spacer group into the



Fig. 3 Structures of SV-119 and the fluorescent probes, K05-138, SW120, SW107, and SW116 (a). Structures of the fluorescent probes based on PB28 and the 3,4-dihydroisoquinoline-1-one scaffold (b)

5-methoxy group enabled the introduction of fluorescent moieties having a high affinity for σ_2 receptors and a good $\sigma_1:\sigma_2$ selectivity ratio (Abate et al. 2011). Another promising fluorescent probe for studying the σ_2 receptor utilized the 3,4-dihydroisoquinoline-1-one scaffold (Niso et al. 2015) (Fig. 3b). Examples of



Fig. 4 Subcellular distribution of SW120 in MDA-MB-435 cells with and without MitoTracker (a), and ER-Tracker (b). Ki-67 expression and SW120 fluorescent intensity in solid mouse breast tumors and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) of mice by flow cytometric analysis (c)

fluorescent probes based on SV-119, PB28, and the 3,4-dihydroisoquinoline-1-one scaffold are shown in Fig. 3.

The fluorescent probes shown in Fig. 3 have provided valuable information regarding the localization of σ_2 receptors in breast tumor cells. Zeng et al. (2007, 2011) conducted a series of confocal and two-photon microscopy studies in MDA-MB-435 cells incubated with 30 nM K05-138 (confocal microscopy studies) and SW120 (two-photon microscopy studies) and five subcellular organelle markers: the mitochondria tracker, MitoTracker Red CMXRos (20 nM), the endoplasmic reticulum tracker, ER-TrackerTM Red (500 nM), the lysosome tracker, LysoTracker Red DND-99 (50 nM), the nuclear marker, DAPI (300 nM), or the plasma membrane tracker, FM 4-64FX (5 µg/mL). The results showed that SW120 and K05-138 partially co-localized with MitoTracker (Fig. 4a), ER-Tracker (Fig. 4b), LysoTracker, and the plasma membrane tracker,

suggesting that σ_2 receptors may localize in mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum, lysosomes, and the plasma membrane. The data also showed that SW120 and K05-138 did not co-localize with the nuclear marker, DAPI, suggesting that either the σ_2 receptor does not exist in the nucleus or SW120 does not enter the nucleus. Similar results were obtained for the other σ_2 fluorescent probes (SW116 and SW107) (Zeng et al. 2007, 2011). This subcellular distribution of σ_2 receptors was recently confirmed with confocal microscopy studies by Abate et al. using the fluorescent probes based on PB28 (Abate et al. 2011) and the 3,4-dihydroisoquinoline-1-one scaffold (Niso et al. 2015) (Fig. 3b).

The microscopy studies conducted by Zeng et al. (2007) and Abate et al. (2011) have provided useful information for the interpretation of studies evaluating σ_2 receptor ligands as potential cancer chemotherapeutic agents. Mitochondria are a key organelle to regulate the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis. Apoptotic signals such as UV irradiation or treatment with chemotherapeutic agents cause the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondria and the subsequent activation of caspase-3 leading to an apoptotic cell death (Jiang and Wang 2004). The subcellular localization of σ_2 ligands in mitochondria is consistent with previous studies demonstrating that σ_2 ligands trigger apoptosis in tumor cells by acting on mitochondria (Balakumaran et al. 2009). The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) serves as a dynamic Ca²⁺ storage pool (Berridge 2002). σ_2 selective ligands have been reported to induce transient Ca^{2+} release from the ER, which may be a mechanism for σ_2 ligand-induced cell death (Vilner and Bowen 2000). The presence of the σ_2 fluorescent probes in the ER is consistent with these results. Lysosomal proteases, such as cathepsins, calpains, and granzymes, have been reported to contribute to apoptosis (Chwieralski et al. 2006). Under physiological conditions, these proteases are found within the lysosomes but are released into the cytoplasm upon exposure to cell damaging agents, thereby triggering a cascade of intracellular events leading to cell death. The σ_2 selective ligand siramesine has been reported to cause lysosomal leakage and induce cell death by caspase-independent mechanisms (Ostenfeld et al. 2005, 2008). The localization of fluorescent σ_2 receptor probes in the lysosomes is consistent with the premise that siramesine induces cell death partially by targeting lysosomes to cause lysosomal damage, the release of proteases, and eventually cell death. Evidence has also been reported that σ_2 receptors exist in lipid rafts which are mainly found in the plasma membrane (Gebreselassie and Bowen 2004). Lipid rafts play an important role in the signaling associated with a variety of cellular events including adhesion, motility, and membrane trafficking (Brown and London 1998; Simons and Toomre 2000). The observation that σ_2 fluorescent ligands are co-localized with cytoplasmic membrane markers, and undergo receptor mediated endocytosis, is consistent with their localization in lipid rafts.

Since the σ_2 receptor has been validated as a proliferation marker in cell culture and in solid tumors, it is possible that σ_2 fluorescent probes could preferentially label proliferating cells versus nonproliferating cells and serve as agents to image cell proliferation in vivo. To test this hypothesis, nude mice implanted with murine mammary adenocarcinoma 66 cells (Zeng et al. 2011) were treated with SW120 (50 µg in 100 µL PBS) for 1 h. Both peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), which are commonly used as controls for nonproliferative cells, and tumor cells were isolated from the mice. These cells were analyzed by flow cytometry for SW120 uptake and for Ki67 expression, a commonly used proliferation marker. The data showed that PBMC were Ki67 negative, whereas a large portion of the tumor cells were Ki-67 positive (Fig. 4c). The data also showed that PBMC were not labeled by SW120, whereas a portion of the tumor cells were labeled with SW120. The trend of the positive correlation between Ki67 expression and SW120 labeling indicates that the fluorescent probe may possess in vivo selectivity toward proliferating cells versus nonproliferative cells. The data also suggest that σ_2 receptor ligands hold a potential to serve as cancer chemotherapeutics since they may selectively target tumor cells in vivo.

5 In Vivo Imaging Studies of σ_2 Receptors

The conformationally flexible benzamide analog YUN252 has been used in the development of PET radiotracers for imaging the σ_2 receptor status of solid tumors. The first PET radiotracers prepared were the ¹¹C-labeled analogs shown in Fig. 5a (Tu et al. 2005). MicroPET and tumor uptake studies were conducted with [¹¹C]1-4; the most promising analog proved to be [¹¹C]4. Although all four analogs had a high affinity for σ_2 receptors, the optimal lipophilicity of [¹¹C]4 played an important role for the high tumor uptake and suitable signal:normal tissue ratios for imaging (Fig. 5b). These data indicate that both receptor affinity and lipophilicity are important properties for successful receptor-based tumor imaging agents. MicroPET/CT imaging studies in EMT-6 breast tumors show the potential of [¹¹C]4 as a radiotracer for imaging the σ_2 receptor status of breast tumors with PET.

Although [¹¹C]4 demonstrated feasibility in the microPET imaging studies described above, the short half-life of carbon 11 ($t_{1/2} = 20.4$ min) is not ideal for the utilization of PET radiotracers in multicenter clinical PET imaging studies. The longer half-life of ¹⁸F $(t_{1/2} = 109.8 \text{ min})$ compared to ¹¹C places fewer time constraints on tracer synthesis, allows imaging studies to be conducted up to 2 h after injection of the radiotracers, and often results in higher tumor:normal tissue ratios relative to their ¹¹C-labeled analogs. A number of ¹⁸F-labeled conformationally flexible benzamide analogs (Fig. 6a) have been evaluated in murine breast tumor models (Tu et al. 2007). The design of these analogs involved replacement of the 2-methoxy group in the benzamide ring with a 2-fluoroethoxy group. The 2-fluoroethoxy- for methoxy-substitution is a common strategy used in the development of ¹⁸F-labeled radiotracers. Biodistribution studies in female Balb/c mice bearing EMT-6 tumor allografts demonstrated that all four ¹⁸Flabeled compounds had a high tumor uptake (2.5-3.7% ID/g) and acceptable tumor: normal tissue ratios at 1 and 2 h post-i.v. injection. The moderate to high tumor/ normal tissue ratios and the rapid clearance from the blood for $[^{18}F]ISO-1$ and $[^{18}F]$ ISO-2 suggest that these radiotracers are likely the best candidates for imaging of solid tumors with PET. MicroPET imaging studies indicate that [¹⁸F]ISO-1 and [¹⁸F]ISO-2 are suitable probes for imaging the σ_2 receptor status of solid tumors with PET (Fig. 6b).



Fig. 5 Structure of YUN252 and ¹¹C-labeled radiotracers, $[^{11}C]1-4$ (**a**). The relationship between tumor uptake and log P is shown in (**b**)

A number of ¹⁸F- and ¹¹C-labeled analogs of the σ_2 receptor ligands developed in the Abate lab have been reported in the literature. The 3,4-dihydroisoquinoline-1-one analog, [¹⁸F]5, which can be considered to be a rigid analog of the conformationally flexible benzamide derivatives described above, was found to have a high affinity for σ_2 receptors and an excellent selectivity for σ_2 versus σ_1 receptors (Fig. 6c). This compound was developed as a radiotracer for imaging σ_2 receptors in the CNS; unfortunately, the radiotracer has very low brain uptake, which may be a consequence of it being a substrate for P-glycoprotein. The aminotetralin analog, [¹¹C](*S*)-6, which is structurally related to PB28 and has a good σ_2 affinity and reasonable selectivity versus σ_1 receptors, was evaluated in a similar manner and was found to have a high uptake in



Fig. 6 Structures of $[1^{18}F]$ ISO-1 and $[1^{18}F]$ ISO-2 (a) and microPET imaging studies of these radiotracers in a murine model of breast cancer (b). Structures of the PET radiotracers based on **PB28** and the 3,4-dihydroisoquinoline-1-one scaffold (c)

rodent brain. Surprisingly, this radiotracer had only a modest uptake in EMT6 mouse breast tumor allografts. However, the tumors used in this imaging study were quite large and likely had regions of tumor necrosis, and possibly quiescence, which could reduce the uptake of a σ_2 receptor imaging agent.

A second technique which could be used in molecular imaging studies of tumors is Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography or SPECT. This technique was the Nuclear Medicine imaging procedure of choice prior to the emergence of clinical PET imaging studies. Although it does not have the prominence it once had, SPECT still represents a sensitive molecular imaging technique and would benefit from the



Fig. 7 Structure of [¹²³I]ISO-2 and gammaSPECT imaging in a murine model of breast cancer (a). Structure of [^{99m}Tc]7 and microSPECT studies in the same murine model of breast cancer (b). The *arrow* points to the tumor in each image

development of receptor-targeting radiotracers for tumor imaging studies. One advantage SPECT has over PET is that it does not require a cyclotron to produce the radionuclides used in the radiolabeling studies; the longer half-lives of the SPECT radionuclides (e.g., 6 h for ^{99m}Tc and 13.2 h for ¹²³I) make it more accessible for delayed imaging studies. A limited number of ¹²³I- and ^{99m}Tc-labeled σ_2 receptor probes have been reported in the literature. The presence of an iodo group in compound ISO-2 indicates that it can be readily labeled with ¹²³I, and gammaSPECT/CT images of [123] ISO-2 in a murine model of breast cancer indicate that it has potential as an SPECT radiotracer for translational imaging studies (Fig. 7a). A ^{99m}Tc-labeled analog of SV-119 (Fig. 7b) has also been prepared and evaluated in a murine model of breast cancer (Mach et al. 2001). Since there are no stable isotopes of Tc, in vitro binding studies to determine the σ_2 receptor affinity and selectivity versus σ_1 receptors were conducted with the corresponding rhenium (Re) analog. Re-7 was found to have a reasonable σ_2 affinity and good selectivity versus σ_1 receptors. In vivo studies with [99mTc]7 demonstrated a clear visualization of 66 murine breast tumor xenografts in nude mice (Fig. 7b). These data suggest that [^{99m}Tc]7 may also be a useful radiotracer for SPECT imaging studies of breast cancer patients.
6 The Importance of Imaging Proliferative Status in Cancer Patients

Treatments that specifically target proliferation and produce a cytostatic response are not well evaluated by traditional imaging methods such as MRI, CT, and bone scan (Marinovich et al. 2013). Measures of cancer metabolism using the radiolabeled glucose analog, [¹⁸F]FDG, provide information about cancer response to cytotoxic and endocrine agents, but cannot measure proliferation (Avril et al. 2001), proliferation rate, or tumor proliferative status (Shoghi et al. 2013). Many researchers have noted that there is a need for new biomarkers to enable patient selection for new cell-cycle drugs and sophisticated methods need to be developed to measure the effect of these drugs on cellular proliferation (Migliaccio et al. 2014).

An excellent method of imaging cell proliferation would be to develop a tracer that closely mimics the expression of Ki-67, the "gold standard" method for measuring proliferation in histology studies. Ki-67 is expressed in all phases of the cell cycle and has low expression in quiescent tumor cells and senescent normal tissue. While the radiolabeled thymidine analog, [¹⁸F]FLT, is well established as a proliferation marker, there are two key features that create the need to find an alternative agent to image proliferation: (1) [¹⁸F]FLT has high background uptake in bone marrow, making it impossible to monitor bone metastasis and (2) [¹⁸F]FLT is taken up only during S phase, measuring proliferation rate, and not during G1, M, and G2, like Ki-67, which measures proliferative status.

While Ki-67 is a good biomarker for measuring proliferative status in biopsy specimens, there are no small molecules that could be used in the development of PET radiotracers for imaging Ki-67. The σ_2 receptor behaves exactly like Ki-67 and has small molecules that bind with high affinity, allowing PET radiotracer development. Therefore, the σ_2 receptor radiotracers described above provide the only means to date to image the proliferative status of solid tumors with PET.

The only σ_2 selective PET radiotracer that has been used in human studies is [¹⁸F] ISO-1 (Fig. 6). There is a high correlation between uptake of [¹⁸F]ISO-1 and the P:Q ratio of 66 solid mammary tumors (Fig. 8a) (Shoghi et al. 2013). These data indicate that [¹⁸F]ISO-1 images both proliferating and quiescent tumor cells. An early validation study in a dichotomous group of patients with head and neck, lymphoma, and breast cancer demonstrated specific uptake in cancer with ability to stratify patients into high or low Ki-67 scores based on [¹⁸F]ISO-1 uptake (Fig. 8b) (Dehdashti et al. 2013). The results of this study provided the foundation for an expanded clinical trial in breast cancer patients which is currently ongoing at the University of Pennsylvania. Additionally, bone marrow uptake was at a low level, making this a possible imaging agent for bone metastasis (Fig. 8c), in contrast to what has been reported for [¹⁸F]FLT (Mankoff et al. 2005; Shields et al. 1998).

In addition to identifying primary tumors and metastases, imaging the proliferative status with [¹⁸F]ISO-1 could be used to guide cancer therapy. An example of this is the therapies targeting the cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 (CDK4/6). The current indication for the newly approved CDK 4/6 inhibitor, palbociclib, is for primary therapy of ER-expressing metastatic breast cancer, where the addition of palbociclib has been shown to



Fig. 8 Correlation of $[1^{18}$ F]ISO-1 uptake and P:Q ratio in a murine model of breast cancer (**a**) and with Ki-67 score in a heterogeneous population of cancer patients (**b**). PET imaging studies of $[1^{18}$ F]ISO-1 in a patient with lymphoma having a bone metastasis (**c**)

provide an average clinical benefit (Beaver et al. 2015). Currently, the use of palbociclib is guided by the same marker used to direct endocrine therapy, namely the presence of hormone receptors. However, it is difficult to predict which individual patients will benefit from this intervention (Carey and Perou 2015). There is evidence that proliferative measures, like Ki-67, provide an early indication of response to endocrine therapy. In the Immediate Preoperative Anastrozole, Tamoxifen, or Combined with Tamoxifen (IMPACT) trial, pretreatment Ki-67 levels were prognostic for endocrine response and the change in Ki-67 from baseline to 2 weeks after therapy initiation was predictive; in multivariate analysis only the 2-week value was an independent predictor of risk and long-term outcome (Klintman and Dowsett 2015). Therefore, a PET study with [¹⁸F]ISO-1 to measure proliferative status is expected to be useful in identifying patients likely to have a favorable response to CDK4/6 inhibitors.

7 Molecular Identification of the σ_2 Receptor

Although the above preclinical and clinical imaging studies have identified the σ_2 receptor as a biomarker for imaging solid tumors, the clinical significance of this protein as a receptor-based marker of cell proliferation has been impeded by the fact that the molecular identity of this protein was not known. The early work of Bowen et al. yielded valuable information regarding the molecular weight of the σ_2 receptor, its localization in lipid rafts, and its involvement as a mediator of cell death (Bowen 2000; Gebreselassie and Bowen 2004). However, these studies did not lead to either the sequencing of the σ_2 receptor protein or the identification of the gene encoding this protein.

In 2011, the Mach group reported their work to determine the molecular identity of the σ_2 receptor. This group developed a strategy to utilize a σ_2 selective photoaffinity probe, WC-21, to irreversibly label σ_2 receptors in rat liver membrane homogenates (Xu et al. 2011). WC-21 contains an azide moiety for the photoaffinity tagging of the protein and an FITC group for protein visualization (Fig. 9a). WC-21 exhibits high binding affinity for sigma-2 receptors (Ki = 8.7 nM) and relatively low binding affinity for sigma-1 receptors (Ki > 4,000 nM). The rat liver membrane homogenates were photolabeled with 100 nM WC-21 and then separated by gel electrophoresis. The western blot analysis using anti-FITC antibodies showed that WC-21 labeled a protein band at ~24 kD. Labeling of this protein band with WC-21 could be blocked by DTG and haloperidol, which are ligands with high affinities to σ_1 and σ_2 receptors, as well as RHM-1, which is the σ_2 ligand. These data suggest that WC-21 labeled proteins are σ_2 receptors. Proteomic studies of the protein in the ~24 kD band labeled by WC-21 identified progesterone receptor membrane component 1 (PGRMC1). A review of the literature revealed a number of similarities between PGRMC1 and sigma-2 receptors: (1) both PGRMC1 and σ_2 receptors are cancer biomarkers and therapeutic targets, (2) both are found in microsomal membranes and have similar subcellular localization, (3) both are associated with cytochrome P-450 proteins, and (4) progesterone binds to both PGRMC1 and σ_2 receptors with the modest affinity. It is also important to note that the molecular weight of the protein sequence of the PGRMC1 is 21.4 kDa, which is virtually identical to the 21.5 kDa of the σ_2 receptor identified previously (Hellewell et al. 1994). Therefore, PGRMC1 was chosen for further validation.

Receptor binding studies showed that the PGRMC1 ligand, AG-205, and the known σ_2 ligands, DTG, siramesine, SV119, and WC-26, readily displaced σ_2 radioligand, [¹²⁵I]RHM-4, binding in HeLa cell membrane homogenates. Knockdown of PGRMC1 using a PGRMC1-specific siRNA reduced the binding of [¹²⁵I] RHM-4 to HeLa cells (Fig. 9a), whereas the overexpression of PGRMC1 in HeLa cells increased the binding of [¹²⁵I]RHM-4. Knocking down PGRMC1 in HeLa cells decreased caspase-3 activation induced by WC-26, suggesting that σ_2 ligand-induced caspase-3 activation is mediated by PGRMC1. Taken collectively, the results of these studies suggest that the PGRMC1 protein complex is the putative σ_2 receptor binding site.



Fig. 9 Photoaffinity labeling of the PGRMC1 using the σ_2 receptor photoaffinity probe WC-21 (a). Co-localization of the PGRMC1 with the σ_2 fluorescent probe SW120 (b)

Recently, Izzo and colleagues reported the link between the σ_2 receptor and PGRMC1 during the discovery and development of small molecule therapeutics targeting beta amyloid (A β) 1-42 oligomers for treating Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Izzo et al. 2014). Soluble oligomers of A β have been recognized to be early and key intermediates in AD related synaptic dysfunction. Soluble A β oligomers caused synaptic dysfunction and impaired performance in memory tasks. Alterations in membrane trafficking induced by A β oligomers are believed to mediate synaptic dysfunction. By screening a library of central nervous system drug-like small molecules for their abilities to reverse A β -induced membrane trafficking deficit in primary neurons, the lead compounds were identified. These compounds can displace A β oligomer binding to synaptic puncta, and prevent and reverse A β oligomer-induced synapse loss in primary neuronal culture, as well as reverse the memory loss in mouse models of AD. In order to identify the molecular target of the lead compounds, these compounds were examined for their activities to displace radioligand binding to receptors or for their effects on enzyme activities for 100 receptors and enzymes in the central nervous system. As a result, these compounds were found to be σ_2 receptor ligands. Since PGRMC1 has been reported to be associated with the σ_2 receptor, validation of PGRMC1 as a potential molecular target of the σ_2 ligands was conducted. The data showed that knockdown of PGRMC1 with increasing doses of siRNA decreased A β binding to neurons up to 91% in a dose dependent manner. Incubation of PGRMC1 antibody against the C-terminal amino acids 185-195 of PGRMC1 in live cells for 30 min significantly reduced A β oligomer binding to hippocampal and cortical neurites. These data suggest that PGRMC1 is a key mediator in $A\beta$ oligomer-induced synaptic dysfunction. That both σ_2 ligand treatment and knockdown of PGRMC1 can reduce A β oligomer binding to neurons strongly supports the concept that PGRMC1 or its closely associated proteins contain the σ_2 receptor binding site.

In another recent report, the Mach group demonstrated the positive correlation between PGRMC1 protein expression and σ_2 fluorescent probe binding activity in rat hippocampal cell culture (Zeng et al. 2015). In this study, the PGRMC1 protein levels were examined in rat primary cultures of neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia cells by immunohistochemistry. The σ_2 receptor binding activities of SW120, a σ_2 fluorescent probe, were also examined in the aforementioned cell types. The data showed that the PGRMC1 is expressed in all brain cell types but with different expression levels. The expression level of PGRMC1 in neurons is consistently higher than that in astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia. Similarly, SW120 binding activity is also high in neurons and relatively low in astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia. In order to study whether PGRMC1 and SW120 co-localize in the cells, double staining of a rat hippocampal cell mixture for PGRMC1 with anti-PGRMC1 antibodies and the σ_2 receptor with SW120 was performed. The results showed that PGRMC1 and SW120 partially co-localized in the same subcellular organelles of cells and PGRMC1 protein levels and SW120 binding activity were highly correlated (the Pearson correlation coefficient is 0.818) (Fig. 9b). These results are consistent with our previous report that the PGRMC1 protein complex is the putative σ_2 receptor binding site.

Two recent reports have challenged the concept that the σ_2 receptor binding site resides within the PGRMC1 protein complex. Abate and colleagues (Abate et al. 2015) stably silenced PGRMC1 with shRNA targeting PGRMC1 or overexpressed PGRMC1 in human MCF7 adenocarcinoma cells. Western blot analyses showed that PGRMC1 protein level was reduced by about 80% in PGRMC1 knockdown cells, whereas PGRMC1 protein level is increased by about twofold in PGRMC1 overexpressed cells. Scatchard analyses with radioligand [³H]DTG showed that the σ_2 receptor densities in wild-type, PGRMC1 knockdown and PGRMC1 overexpressed cells are essentially the same. They also showed that AG205, a known PGRMC1 ligand, did not displace [³H]-DTG in the competition binding assay in rat liver membranes (Ki > 10,000 nM). The data suggest that PGRMC1 is not the binding site of DTG and does not affect the DTG binding site either.

In another report, the Ruoho group knocked out or overexpressed PGRMC1 using CRISPR/cas9 inhibition technology in a mouse motor neuron-like cell line, NSC34 cells (Chu et al. 2015). Western blot analysis showed that PGRMC1 expression was reduced by more than 90% in knockdown cells and dramatically increased in over-expression cells. Scatchard analysis using [³H]DTG showed that the maximal σ_2 receptor densities (Bmax) and the binding affinities (Kd) of [³H]DTG were similar in the wild-type, PGRMC1 knockout and overexpression cells. In addition, using a σ_2 photoaffinity probe [¹²⁵I]-iodoazido-fenpropimorph ([¹²⁵I]IAF) developed in this group (Fontanilla et al. 2008), they showed that the intensities of the [¹²⁵I]IAF photolabeled protein band (~18 kDa) on an SDS gel were similar in the wild-type and PGRMC1 knockout cells, and this band could be protected by DTG but not (+)-pentazocine, a specific σ_1 ligand. These results suggested that PGRMC1 and the σ_2 receptor are distinct binding sites. However, the molecular weight of the protein labeled by [¹²⁵I]IAF (~18 kDa) is significantly lower than the 21.5 kDa molecular weight of the σ_2 receptor reported previously (Hellewell et al. 1994).

One possible explanation for these discordant findings is that since the PGRMC1 is a protein complex containing one or more partner proteins, the ligands used in the above studies label different members of the PGRMC1 protein complex. That is, the azide group of WC-21 comes in contact with PGRMC1, but the DTG binding site resides on one of the partner proteins making up the PGRMC1 protein complex. Studies aimed at identifying the different partner proteins that bind to the PGRMC1 and form the σ_2 receptor binding site should clear up the discordant observations described above.

8 Conclusions

The σ_2 receptor continues to be an important protein in the field of tumor biology. The high expression of this receptor in proliferating versus quiescent breast tumors indicates that the σ_2 receptor is an important clinical biomarker for determining the proliferative status of solid tumors using the functional imaging techniques PET and SPECT. The σ_2 receptor fluorescent probes identified the subcellular localization of σ_2 receptors using confocal and two-photon microscopy techniques, and this information has proven useful in identifying the mechanism of action of σ_2 receptor ligands as cancer chemotherapeutics. The full utility of the σ_2 receptor in the diagnosis, prediction of therapeutic response, and treatment of cancer will rely on additional studies clarifying the functional relationship between the σ_2 receptor binding site and PGRMC1, and the functional role of this protein complex in normal and tumor cell biology.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank Dr. Hank Kung for providing the SPECT image in Fig. 8b. ESM was partially supported by Department of Energy training grant number: DE-FOA-0001075.

References

- Abate C, Hornick JR, Spitzer D, Hawkins WG, Niso M, Perrone R, Berardi F (2011) Fluorescent derivatives of sigma receptor ligand 1-cyclohexyl-4-[3-(5-methoxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydronaphthalen-1-yl)propyl]piperazine (PB28) as a tool for uptake and cellular localization studies in pancreatic tumor cells. J Med Chem 54(16):5858–5867. doi:10.1021/jm200591t
- Abate C, Niso M, Infantino V, Menga A, Berardi F (2015) Elements in support of the 'nonidentity' of the PGRMC1 protein with the sigma2 receptor. Eur J Pharmacol 758:16–23. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.03.067
- Al-Nabulsi I, Mach RH, Wang LM, Wallen CA, Keng PC, Sten K, Childers SR, Wheeler KT (1999) Effect of ploidy, recruitment, environmental factors, and tamoxifen treatment on the expression of sigma-2 receptors in proliferating and quiescent tumour cells. Br J Cancer 81 (6):925–933
- Ariazi EA, Ariazi JL, Cordera F, Jordan VC (2006) Estrogen receptors as therapeutic targets in breast cancer. Curr Top Med Chem 6(3):181–202
- Arttamangkul S, Alvarez-Maubecin V, Thomas G, Williams JT, Grandy DK (2000) Binding and internalization of fluorescent opioid peptide conjugates in living cells. Mol Pharmacol 58 (6):1570–1580
- Avril N, Menzel M, Dose J, Schelling M, Weber W, Janicke F, Nathrath W, Schwaiger M (2001) Glucose metabolism of breast cancer assessed by 18F-FDG PET: histologic and immunohistochemical tissue analysis. J Nucl Med 42(1):9–16
- Azzariti A, Colabufo NA, Berardi F, Porcelli L, Niso M, Simone GM, Perrone R, Paradiso A (2006) Cyclohexylpiperazine derivative PB28, a sigma2 agonist and sigma1 antagonist receptor, inhibits cell growth, modulates P-glycoprotein, and synergizes with anthracyclines in breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 5(7):1807–1816. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0402
- Balakumaran BS, Porrello A, Hsu DS, Glover W, Foye A, Leung JY, Sullivan BA, Hahn WC, Loda M, Febbo PG (2009) MYC activity mitigates response to rapamycin in prostate cancer through eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1-mediated inhibition of autophagy. Cancer Res 69(19):7803–7810
- Beaver JA, Amiri-Kordestani L, Charlab R, Chen W, Palmby T, Tilley A, Zirkelbach JF, Yu J, Liu Q, Zhao L, Crich J, Chen XH, Hughes M, Bloomquist E, Tang S, Sridhara R, Kluetz PG, Kim G, Ibrahim A, Pazdur R, Cortazar P (2015) FDA approval: palbociclib for the treatment of postmenopausal patients with estrogen receptor-positive, HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 21(21):4760–4766. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-15-1185
- Bem WT, Thomas GE, Mamone JY, Homan SM, Levy BK, Johnson FE, Coscia CJ (1991) Overexpression of sigma receptors in nonneural human tumors. Cancer Res 51(24):6558–6562
- Berridge MJ (2002) The endoplasmic reticulum: a multifunctional signaling organelle. Cell Calcium 32(5-6):235–249
- Bertha CM, Mattson MV, Flippen-Anderson JL, Rothman RB, Xu H, Cha XY, Becketts K, Rice KC (1994) A marked change of receptor affinity of the 2-methyl-5-(3-hydroxyphenyl)morphans upon attachment of an (*E*)-8-benzylidene moiety: synthesis and evaluation of a new class of sigma receptor ligands. J Med Chem 37(19):3163–3170. doi:10.1021/jm00045a022
- Bonhaus DW, Loury DN, Jakeman LB, To Z, DeSouza A, Eglen RM, Wong EH (1993) [³H] BIMU-1, a 5-hydroxytryptamine₃ receptor ligand in NG-108 cells, selectively labels sigma-2 binding sites in guinea pig hippocampus. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 267(2):961–970
- Bowen WD (2000) Sigma receptors: recent advances and new clinical potentials. Pharm Acta Helv 74(2–3):211–218

- Bowen WD, Bertha CM, Vilner BJ, Rice KC (1995a) CB-64D and CB-184: ligands with high sigma 2 receptor affinity and subtype selectivity. Eur J Pharmacol 278(3):257–260
- Bowen WD, Vilner BJ, Williams W, Bertha CM, Kuehne ME, Jacobson AE (1995b) Ibogaine and its congeners are sigma 2 receptor-selective ligands with moderate affinity. Eur J Pharmacol 279(1):R1–R3
- Brown DA, London E (1998) Functions of lipid rafts in biological membranes. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 14:111–136
- Carey LA, Perou CM (2015) Palbociclib taking breast-cancer cells out of gear. N Engl J Med 373 (3):273–274. doi:10.1056/NEJMe1506680
- Chu UB, Mavlyutov TA, Chu ML, Yang H, Schulman A, Mesangeau C, McCurdy CR, Guo LW, Ruoho AE (2015) The sigma-2 receptor and progesterone receptor membrane component 1 are different binding sites derived from independent genes. EBioMedicine 2(11):1806–1813. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.10.017
- Chwieralski CE, Welte T, Buhling F (2006) Cathepsin-regulated apoptosis. Apoptosis 11(2):143-149
- Dehdashti F, Laforest R, Gao F, Shoghi KI, Aft RL, Nussenbaum B, Kreisel FH, Bartlett NL, Cashen A, Wagner-Johnston N, Mach RH (2013) Assessment of cellular proliferation in tumors by PET using ¹⁸F-ISO-1. J Nucl Med 54(3):350–357. doi:10.2967/jnumed.112.111948
- Fontanilla D, Hajipour AR, Pal A, Chu UB, Arbabian M, Ruoho AE (2008) Probing the steroid binding domain-like I (SBDLI) of the sigma-1 receptor binding site using N-substituted photoaffinity labels. Biochemistry 47(27):7205–7217
- Gebreselassie D, Bowen WD (2004) Sigma-2 receptors are specifically localized to lipid rafts in rat liver membranes. Eur J Pharmacol 493(1–3):19–28
- Ghelardini C, Galeotti N, Bartolini A (2000) Pharmacological identification of SM-21, the novel sigma(2) antagonist. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 67(3):659–662
- Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Knaus HG, Striessnig J, Kempner E, Glossmann H (1996) Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian sigma1-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(15):8072–8077
- Hellewell SB, Bruce A, Feinstein G, Orringer J, Williams W, Bowen WD (1994) Rat liver and kidney contain high densities of sigma 1 and sigma 2 receptors: characterization by ligand binding and photoaffinity labeling. Eur J Pharmacol 268(1):9–18
- Izzo NJ, Xu J, Zeng C, Kirk MJ, Mozzoni K, Silky C, Rehak C, Yurko R, Look G, Rishton G, Safferstein H, Cruchaga C, Goate A, Cahill MA, Arancio O, Mach RH, Craven R, Head E, LeVine H 3rd, Spires-Jones TL, Catalano SM (2014) Alzheimer's therapeutics targeting amyloid beta 1-42 oligomers II: sigma-2/PGRMC1 receptors mediate Abeta 42 oligomer binding and synaptotoxicity. PLoS One 9(11):e111899. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111899
- Jiang X, Wang X (2004) Cytochrome C-mediated apoptosis. Annu Rev Biochem 73:87–106
- Klintman M, Dowsett M (2015) Early surrogate markers of treatment activity: where are we now? J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2015(51):24–28. doi:10.1093/jncimonographs/lgv002
- Mach RH, Smith CR, Childers SR (1995) Ibogaine possesses a selective affinity for sigma 2 receptors. Life Sci 57(4):PL57–PL62
- Mach RH, Smith CR, al-Nabulsi I, Whirrett BR, Childers SR, Wheeler KT (1997) Sigma 2 receptors as potential biomarkers of proliferation in breast cancer. Cancer Res 57(1):156–161
- Mach RH, Wu L, West T, Whirrett BR, Childers SR (1999) The analgesic tropane analogue (+/-)-SM 21 has a high affinity for sigma2 receptors. Life Sci 64(10):PL131–PL137
- Mach RH, Wheeler KT, Blair S, Yang B, Day CS, Blair JB, Choi SR, Kung HF (2001) Preparation of a technetium-99m SPECT agent for imaging the sigma-2 receptor status of solid tumors. J Label Compd Radiopharm 44(13):899–908
- Mach RH, Huang Y, Freeman RA, Wu L, Vangveravong S, Luedtke RR (2004) Conformationallyflexible benzamide analogues as dopamine D₃ and sigma-2 receptor ligands. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 14(1):195–202
- Mankoff DA, Shields AF, Krohn KA (2005) PET imaging of cellular proliferation. Radiol Clin North Am 43(1):153–167

- Marinovich ML, Macaskill P, Irwig L, Sardanelli F, von Minckwitz G, Mamounas E, Brennan M, Ciatto S, Houssami N (2013) Meta-analysis of agreement between MRI and pathologic breast tumour size after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Br J Cancer 109(6):1528–1536. doi:10.1038/bjc. 2013.473
- Maurice T, Roman FJ, Privat A (1996) Modulation by neurosteroids of the in vivo (+)-[3H]SKF-10,047 binding to sigma 1 receptors in the mouse forebrain. J Neurosci Res 46(6):734–743
- Maurice T, Junien JL, Privat A (1997) Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate attenuates dizocilpineinduced learning impairment in mice via sigma 1-receptors. Behav Brain Res 83(1–2):159–164
- Migliaccio I, Di Leo A, Malorni L (2014) Cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors in breast cancer therapy. Curr Opin Oncol 26(6):568–575. doi:10.1097/cco.00000000000129
- Moltzen EK, Perregaard J, Meier E (1995) Sigma ligands with subnanomolar affinity and preference for the sigma 2 binding site. 2. Spiro-joined benzofuran, isobenzofuran, and benzopyran piperidines. J Med Chem 38(11):2009–2017
- Nguyen VH, Kassiou M, Johnston GA, Christie MJ (1996) Comparison of binding parameters of sigma 1 and sigma 2 binding sites in rat and guinea pig brain membranes: novel subtype-selective trishomocubanes. Eur J Pharmacol 311(2–3):233–240
- Niso M, Riganti C, Pati ML, Ghigo D, Berardi F, Abate C (2015) Novel and selective fluorescent sigma2-receptor ligand with a 3,4-dihydroisoquinolin-1-one scaffold: a tool to study sigma2 receptors in living cells. Chembiochem 16(7):1078–1083. doi:10.1002/cbic.201402712
- Ostenfeld MS, Fehrenbacher N, Hoyer-Hansen M, Thomsen C, Farkas T, Jaattela M (2005) Effective tumor cell death by sigma-2 receptor ligand siramesine involves lysosomal leakage and oxidative stress. Cancer Res 65(19):8975–8983
- Ostenfeld MS, Hoyer-Hansen M, Bastholm L, Fehrenbacher N, Olsen OD, Groth-Pedersen L, Puustinen P, Kirkegaard-Sorensen T, Nylandsted J, Farkas T, Jaattela M (2008) Anti-cancer agent siramesine is a lysosomotropic detergent that induces cytoprotective autophagosome accumulation. Autophagy 4(4):487–499
- Perregaard J, Moltzen EK, Meier E, Sanchez C (1995) Sigma ligands with subnanomolar affinity and preference for the sigma 2 binding site. 1. 3-(omega-aminoalkyl)-1*H*-indoles. J Med Chem 38(11):1998–2008
- Romieu P, Martin-Fardon R, Bowen WD, Maurice T (2003) Sigma 1 receptor-related neuroactive steroids modulate cocaine-induced reward. J Neurosci 23(9):3572–3576
- Rothman RB, Reid A, Mahboubi A, Kim CH, De Costa BR, Jacobson AE, Rice KC (1991) Labeling by [3H]1,3-di(2-tolyl)guanidine of two high affinity binding sites in guinea pig brain: evidence for allosteric regulation by calcium channel antagonists and pseudoallosteric modulation by sigma ligands. Mol Pharmacol 39(2):222–232
- Seth P, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V (1997) Cloning and structural analysis of the cDNA and the gene encoding the murine type 1 sigma receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 241(2):535–540
- Shields AF, Grierson JR, Dohmen BM, Machulla HJ, Stayanoff JC, Lawhorn-Crews JM, Obradovich JE, Muzik O, Mangner TJ (1998) Imaging proliferation in vivo with [F-18]FLT and positron emission tomography. Nat Med 4(11):1334–1336. doi:10.1038/3337
- Shoghi KI, Xu J, Su Y, He J, Rowland D, Yan Y, Garbow JR, Tu Z, Jones LA, Higashikubo R, Wheeler KT, Lubet RA, Mach RH, You M (2013) Quantitative receptor-based imaging of tumor proliferation with the sigma-2 ligand [(18)F]ISO-1. PLoS One 8(9):e74188. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0074188
- Simons K, Toomre D (2000) Lipid rafts and signal transduction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1(1):31-39
- Soby KK, Mikkelsen JD, Meier E, Thomsen C (2002) Lu 28-179 labels a sigma(2)-site in rat and human brain. Neuropharmacology 43(1):95–100
- Tsai SY, Hayashi T, Mori T, Su TP (2009) Sigma-1 receptor chaperones and diseases. Cent Nerv Syst Agents Med Chem 9(3):184–189
- Tu Z, Dence CS, Ponde DE, Jones L, Wheeler KT, Welch MJ, Mach RH (2005) Carbon-11 labeled sigma2 receptor ligands for imaging breast cancer. Nucl Med Biol 32(5):423–430
- Tu Z, Xu J, Jones LA, Li S, Dumstorff C, Vangveravong S, Chen DL, Wheeler KT, Welch MJ, Mach RH (2007) Fluorine-18-labeled benzamide analogues for imaging the sigma-2 receptor status of solid tumors with positron emission tomography. J Med Chem 50(14):3194–3204

- Vangveravong S, Xu J, Zeng C, Mach RH (2006) Synthesis of N-substituted 9-azabicyclo[3.3.1] nonan-3alpha-yl carbamate analogs as sigma2 receptor ligands. Bioorg Med Chem 14 (20):6988–6997
- Vilner BJ, Bowen WD (2000) Modulation of cellular calcium by sigma-2 receptors: release from intracellular stores in human SK-N-SH neuroblastoma cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 292 (3):900–911
- Vilner BJ, John CS, Bowen WD (1995) Sigma-1 and sigma-2 receptors are expressed in a wide variety of human and rodent tumor cell lines. Cancer Res 55(2):408–413
- Walker JM, Bowen WD, Walker FO, Matsumoto RR, De Costa B, Rice KC (1990) Sigma receptors: biology and function. Pharmacol Rev 42(4):355–402
- Wallen CA, Higashikubo R, Dethlefsen LA (1984a) Murine mammary tumour cells in vitro. I. The development of a quiescent state. Cell Tissue Kinet 17(1):65–77
- Wallen CA, Higashikubo R, Dethlefsen LA (1984b) Murine mammary tumour cells in vitro. II. Recruitment of quiescent cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 17(1):79–89
- Wheeler KT, Wang LM, Wallen CA, Childers SR, Cline JM, Keng PC, Mach RH (2000) Sigma-2 receptors as a biomarker of proliferation in solid tumours. Br J Cancer 82(6):1223–1232
- Xu J, Zeng C, Chu W, Pan F, Rothfuss JM, Zhang F, Tu Z, Zhou D, Zeng D, Vangveravong S, Johnston F, Spitzer D, Chang KC, Hotchkiss RS, Hawkins WG, Wheeler KT, Mach RH (2011) Identification of the PGRMC1 protein complex as the putative sigma-2 receptor binding site. Nat Commun 2:380. doi:10.1038/ncomms1386
- Zeng C, Vangveravong S, Xu J, Chang KC, Hotchkiss RS, Wheeler KT, Shen D, Zhuang ZP, Kung HF, Mach RH (2007) Subcellular localization of sigma-2 receptors in breast cancer cells using two-photon and confocal microscopy. Cancer Res 67(14):6708–6716. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-06-3803
- Zeng C, Vangveravong S, Jones LA, Hyrc K, Chang KC, Xu J, Rothfuss JM, Goldberg MP, Hotchkiss RS, Mach RH (2011) Characterization and evaluation of two novel fluorescent sigma-2 receptor ligands as proliferation probes. Mol Imaging 10(6):420–433
- Zeng C, Garg N, Mach RH (2015) The PGRMC1 protein level correlates with the binding activity of a sigma-2 fluorescent probe (SW120) in rat brain cells. Mol Imaging Biol. doi:10.1007/s11307-015-0891-z